Alibaba Cloud

ApsaraDB for RDS RDS MySQL Database

Document Version: 20220712

C-J Alibaba Cloud

Legal disclaimer

Alibaba Cloud reminds you to carefully read and fully understand the terms and conditions of this legal disclaimer before you read or use this document. If you have read or used this document, it shall be deemed as your total acceptance of this legal disclaimer.

- You shall download and obtain this document from the Alibaba Cloud website or other Alibaba Cloudauthorized channels, and use this document for your own legal business activities only. The content of this document is considered confidential information of Alibaba Cloud. You shall strictly abide by the confidentiality obligations. No part of this document shall be disclosed or provided to any third party for use without the prior written consent of Alibaba Cloud.
- 2. No part of this document shall be excerpted, translated, reproduced, transmitted, or disseminated by any organization, company or individual in any form or by any means without the prior written consent of Alibaba Cloud.
- 3. The content of this document may be changed because of product version upgrade, adjustment, or other reasons. Alibaba Cloud reserves the right to modify the content of this document without notice and an updated version of this document will be released through Alibaba Cloud-authorized channels from time to time. You should pay attention to the version changes of this document as they occur and download and obtain the most up-to-date version of this document from Alibaba Cloud-authorized channels.
- 4. This document serves only as a reference guide for your use of Alibaba Cloud products and services. Alibaba Cloud provides this document based on the "status quo", "being defective", and "existing functions" of its products and services. Alibaba Cloud makes every effort to provide relevant operational guidance based on existing technologies. However, Alibaba Cloud hereby makes a clear statement that it in no way guarantees the accuracy, integrity, applicability, and reliability of the content of this document, either explicitly or implicitly. Alibaba Cloud shall not take legal responsibility for any errors or lost profits incurred by any organization, company, or individual arising from download, use, or trust in this document. Alibaba Cloud shall not, under any circumstances, take responsibility for any indirect, consequential, punitive, contingent, special, or punitive damages, including lost profits arising from the use or trust in this document (even if Alibaba Cloud has been notified of the possibility of such a loss).
- 5. By law, all the contents in Alibaba Cloud documents, including but not limited to pictures, architecture design, page layout, and text description, are intellectual property of Alibaba Cloud and/or its affiliates. This intellectual property includes, but is not limited to, trademark rights, patent rights, copyrights, and trade secrets. No part of this document shall be used, modified, reproduced, publicly transmitted, changed, disseminated, distributed, or published without the prior written consent of Alibaba Cloud and/or its affiliates. The names owned by Alibaba Cloud shall not be used, published, or reproduced for marketing, advertising, promotion, or other purposes without the prior written consent of Alibaba Cloud. The names owned by Alibaba Cloud and/or its affiliates Cloud include, but are not limited to, "Alibaba Cloud", "Aliyun", "HiChina", and other brands of Alibaba Cloud and/or its affiliates, which appear separately or in combination, as well as the auxiliary signs and patterns of the preceding brands, or anything similar to the company names, trade names, trademarks, product or service names, domain names, patterns, logos, marks, signs, or special descriptions that third parties identify as Alibaba Cloud and/or its affiliates.
- 6. Please directly contact Alibaba Cloud for any errors of this document.

Document conventions

Style	Description	Example
<u>↑</u> Danger	A danger notice indicates a situation that will cause major system changes, faults, physical injuries, and other adverse results.	Danger: Resetting will result in the loss of user configuration data.
O Warning	A warning notice indicates a situation that may cause major system changes, faults, physical injuries, and other adverse results.	Warning: Restarting will cause business interruption. About 10 minutes are required to restart an instance.
C) Notice	A caution notice indicates warning information, supplementary instructions, and other content that the user must understand.	Notice: If the weight is set to 0, the server no longer receives new requests.
? Note	A note indicates supplemental instructions, best practices, tips, and other content.	Note: You can use Ctrl + A to select all files.
>	Closing angle brackets are used to indicate a multi-level menu cascade.	Click Settings> Network> Set network type.
Bold	Bold formatting is used for buttons , menus, page names, and other UI elements.	Click OK.
Courier font	Courier font is used for commands	Run the cd /d C:/window command to enter the Windows system folder.
Italic	Italic formatting is used for parameters and variables.	bae log listinstanceid Instance_ID
[] or [a b]	This format is used for an optional value, where only one item can be selected.	ipconfig [-all -t]
{} or {a b}	This format is used for a required value, where only one item can be selected.	switch {active stand}

Table of Contents

1.Overview of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL 12		
2.Limits	14	
3.Features	20	
3.1. MySQL 8.0	20	
3.2. MySQL 5.7	33	
3.3. MySQL 5.6	47	
3.4. MySQL 5.5	51	
4.Specifications	57	
4.1. Primary ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance types	57	
4.2. Read-only ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance types	57	
5.Quick start	62	
5.1. General workflow to use ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL	62	
5.2. Get ready to use ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL	62	
5.3. Create an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	65	
5.4. Create databases and accounts for an ApsaraDB RDS for	73	
5.5. Use DMS to log on to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instan	75	
5.6. Use a database client or the CLI to connect to an Apsara	76	
6.Data migration	86	
6.1. Overview of data migration methods	86	
6.2. Data Migration from a User-created Database to an Apsar	86	
6.2.1. Migrate data from a self-managed MySQL database to	87	
6.2.2. Migrate the data of a self-managed MySQL 5.7 or MyS	95	
6.2.3. Migrate data from a self-managed Oracle database to	104	
6.2.4. Migrate data from a self-managed MySQL database co	112	
6.2.5. Migrate data from a self-managed MySQL database co	122	
6.2.6. Migrate data from a self-managed Db2 database to an	132	

6.2.7. Use mysqldump to migrate data from a self-managed	140
6.3. Migrate data from a third-party cloud database to Apsara	143
6.3.1. Migrate a MySQL database from Google Cloud to Aliba	143
6.3.2. Migrate data from an Amazon RDS for MySQL instanc	150
6.4. Migrate data between ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances	161
7.Data synchronization	173
7.1. Overview of data synchronization	173
7.2. Synchronize data from MySQL to MySQL	173
7.2.1. Configure one-way data synchronization between Apsar	173
7.2.2. Configure two-way data synchronization between Apsa	180
7.2.3. Synchronize data from a self-managed MySQL databas	192
7.2.4. Synchronize data between ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL in	199
7.2.5. Synchronize data from a self-managed MySQL databas	206
7.2.6. Synchronize data from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL in	213
7.3. Synchronize data from MySQL to other databases	219
7.3.1. Synchronize data from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL in	219
7.3.2. Synchronize data from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL in	231
7.3.3. Synchronize data from a self-managed MySQL databas	239
7.3.4. Synchronize data from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL in	245
8.Instance lifecycle	253
8.1. Create an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	253
8.2. Restart an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	261
8.3. Renew instance	261
8.3.1. Manually renew an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	262
8.3.2. Enable auto-renewal for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL	263
8.4. Release or unsubscribe from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL	266
8.5. Manage ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances in the recycle	268
9.Database connection	271

9.1. Use a database client or the CLI to connect to an ApsaraD	271
9.2. Apply for or release a public endpoint for an ApsaraDB R	279
9.3. Use DMS to log on to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instan	281
9.4. Use an application to connect to an ApsaraDB RDS for M	282
9.5. View and change the internal and public endpoints and p	284
9.6. Change the network type of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL	286
9.7. Configure the hybrid access solution for an ApsaraDB RDS	290
9.8. Troubleshoot failures in connecting to an ApsaraDB RDS f	293
10.Database proxy (read/write splitting)	298
10.1. Release notes of dedicated proxy versions	298
10.2. What are database proxies?	302
10.3. What is read/write splitting?	307
10.4. Billing rules for dedicated proxy instances that are enabl	310
10.5. Usage notes for database proxies	311
10.6. FAQ about dedicated proxies	312
10.7. Proxy Terminal	313
10.7.1. Enable and configure the dedicated proxy feature for	313
10.7.2. Set the connection pool type of an ApsaraDB RDS for	318
10.7.3. Use the transaction splitting feature on an ApsaraDB	322
10.7.4. Manage the dedicated proxy endpoints of an ApsaraD	324
10.7.5. Configure SSL encryption for a proxy endpoint on an	326
10.7.6. View the proxy monitoring data of an ApsaraDB RDS	328
10.7.7. Adjust the number of dedicated proxies on an Apsara	329
10.8. Other features	330
10.8.1. Upgrade the database proxy of an ApsaraDB RDS for	330
10.8.2. Upgrade the dedicated proxy version of an ApsaraDB	333
10.8.3. Disable the dedicated proxy of an ApsaraDB RDS for	334
10.8.4. Execute hints on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instan	334

11.Instance changes	336
11.1. ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL configuration items	336
11.2. Change the specifications of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQ	340
11.3. Upgrade the storage type of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQ	346
11.4. Configure automatic storage expansion for an ApsaraDB	348
11.5. Enable the automatic scale-up feature for an ApsaraDB R	349
11.6. Switch workloads over between primary and secondary A	352
11.7. Reasons for primary/secondary switchovers	355
11.8. Set the maintenance window of an ApsaraDB RDS for M	356
11.9. Migrate an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance across zon	357
11.10. Change the data replication mode of an ApsaraDB RDS	358
11.11. Change the billing method of an ApsaraDB RDS for MyS	361
11.12. Change the billing method of an ApsaraDB RDS for MyS	362
12.Version upgrade	364
12.1. Upgrade an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from Basi	364
12.2. Update the minor engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS fo	365
12.3. Upgrade the major engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS f	367
13.Instance parameters	378
13.1. View the parameters of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL inst	378
13.2. Modify the parameters of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL i	379
13.3. Change the size of the InnoDB buffer pool for an Apsara	386
13.4. Use a parameter template to configure the parameters of	389
13.5. Optimize parameters of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL inst	394
14.Backup	398
14.1. Overview	398
14.2. View and manage the size of backup files for an Apsara	399
14.3. Backup storage pricing of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL i	402
14.4. Perform backups	404

14.4.1. Methods of backing up and restoring an ApsaraDB RD 40	04
14.4.2. Enable the automatic backup feature for an ApsaraD	05
14.4.3. Create a backup for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL ins41	JS 12
14.4.4. Back up the individual databases and tables of an A 41	13
14.4.5. Enable cross-region backups for an ApsaraDB RDS for41	14
14.5. Manage backups 42	21
14.5.1. Retain the backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQ 42	22
14.5.2. Download the backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS for 42	23
14.5.3. Delete the backup files or reduce the backup frequen43	32
14.5.4. Query data from DBS-generated logical backup files 43	33
14.6. Introduction to binary log files and log backup files of a 43	35
14.7. ApsaraDB RDS-generated backups and DBS-generated bac43	38
15.Restoration 44	42
15.1. Overview of data restoration methods 44	42
15.2. Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instanc 44	44
15.3. Restore individual databases and tables of an ApsaraDB45	50
15.4. Use the data tracking feature of DMS to restore the dat	56
15.5. Create a sandbox instance for the emergency disaster rec45	59
15.6. Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instanc46	63
15.7. Restore from backup files 46	68
15.7.1. Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL insta 46	68
15.7.2. Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL inst 47	75
15.7.3. Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL inst47	79
15.7.4. Migrate the data of a self-managed MySQL instance t48	81
16.Read-only instances 48	88
16.1. Overview of read-only ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances 48	88
16.2. Create a read-only ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance 49	90
16.3. Set the data replication latency of a read-only ApsaraDB49	95

17.Disaster recovery instances	497
17.1. Create a disaster recovery ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL insta	497
17.2. Switch an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from the di	504
17.3. Billing cases for disaster recovery instances	504
18.Performance optimization and diagnosis	507
18.1. Troubleshoot slow SQL statements on an ApsaraDB RDS f	507
18.2. Troubleshoot memory consumption issues on an ApsaraD	510
18.3. Troubleshoot storage issues on an ApsaraDB RDS for My	513
18.4. Troubleshoot high I/O on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL i	516
18.5. Troubleshoot excessive active threads on an ApsaraDB RD	519
18.6. DAS overview	520
18.7. Diagnostics	521
18.7.1. Diagnostics	521
18.7.2. Autonomy center	522
18.7.3. Session management	523
18.7.4. Real-time monitoring	523
18.7.5. Storage analysis	524
18.7.6. Capacity assessment	525
18.7.7. Deadlock analysis	525
18.7.8. Performance insight	526
18.8. Dashboard	526
18.9. Slow query logs	527
18.10. Use the SQL Explorer and Audit feature on an ApsaraD	527
18.11. Report	529
18.12. Use the inspection and scoring feature	530
18.13. Use the monitoring dashboard feature	533
19.Monitoring and alerts	538
19.1. Set the monitoring frequency of an ApsaraDB RDS for M	538

19.2. Configure an alert rule for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL	539
20.Account	541
20.1. Create an account on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL insta	541
20.2. Configure a custom password policy for an ApsaraDB RD	545
20.3. Reset the password of an account on an ApsaraDB RDS	548
20.4. Reset the permissions of the privileged account for an A	549
20.5. Authorize the service account of an ApsaraDB RDS for M	549
20.6. Delete a standard account from an ApsaraDB RDS for M	550
20.7. Account permission	551
20.7.1. Modify the permissions of a standard account on an A	551
20.7.2. Account permissions	552
20.8. Authorize an account to access its authorized databases	554
20.9. Authorize accounts to manage tables, views, and fields	556
20.10. System accounts of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instan	558
21.Database	560
21.1. Create a database on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instan	560
21.2. Delete a database from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL ins	561
22.Data security	563
22.1. Change the network isolation mode of an ApsaraDB RDS	563
22.2. Set the whitelist	564
22.2.1. Configure an IP address whitelist for an ApsaraDB RD	564
22.2.2. Configure a security group for an ApsaraDB RDS for	568
22.2.3. Errors and FAQ about IP address whitelist settings in	569
22.3 Configure SSL encryption for an AnsaraDB RDS for MySO	
22.3. compute sse encryption for an Apsalabb Rbs for MysQ	572
22.4. Configure TDE for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	572 580
22.4. Configure TDE for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance 22.5. Configure the disk encryption feature for an ApsaraDB R	572 580 583
22.4. Configure TDE for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance 22.5. Configure the disk encryption feature for an ApsaraDB R 22.6. Enable or disable the release protection feature for an A	572 580 583 584

23.Events Management	590
23.1. View the event history of an ApsaraDB RDS instance	590
23.2. Manage scheduled events	594
23.3. Subscribe to event notifications	597
24.Audit	601
24.1. Use the SQL Explorer feature on an ApsaraDB RDS for M	601
24.2. View the logs of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	605
24.3. View the slow log details of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQ	607
24.4. Delete the binary log files of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQ	608
25.Tag	611
25.1. Add tags to ApsaraDB RDS instances	611
25.2. Remove tags from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	613
25.3. Use tags to filter ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances	614
26.Appendixes	616
26.1. Reserved keywords of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instan	616
26.2. Commonly used SQL statements for MySQL	617
26.3. Grant backup file download permissions to a RAM user w	618
26.4. Authorize an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance to acces	619
26.5. Cached data persistence	621

1.Overview of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL

This topic provides an overview of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL and describes the related terms.

ApsaraDB for RDS is a stable, reliable, and scalable online database service. It is designed based on the Apsara Distributed File System and high-performance SSD storage media of Alibaba Cloud. It supports five database engines: MySQL, SQL Server, PostgreSQL, and MariaDB. It also provides a complete suite of solutions for various scenarios, such as disaster recovery, backup, restoration, monitoring, and migration. These solutions facilitate database operation and maintenance (O&M). For more information about the benefits of ApsaraDB for RDS, see Competitive advantages of ApsaraDB RDS instances over self-managed databases.

You can submit a if you require technical support. If your workloads are complex, you can purchase a support plan on the Alibaba Cloud After-Sales Support page. This allows you to seek advice from instant messaging (IM) enterprise groups, technical account managers (TAMs), and service managers.

For more information about ApsaraDB for RDS, visit the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL product page.

Disclaimer

Some features or functions that are described in this document may be unavailable. For more information, see the specific terms and conditions in your commercial contract. This document serves as a user guide that is for reference only. No content in this document can constitute any expressed or implied warranty.

ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL

ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL is developed based on a branch of the MySQL source code. Its excellent performance has been proven over years of Double 11, during which it needs to handle large volumes of concurrent traffic. ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL provides basic features, such as instance management, account management, database management, backup and restoration, control access, Transparent Data Encryption (TDE), and data migration. ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL also provides the following advanced features and functions:

- ApsaraDB MyBase dedicated clusters: An ApsaraDB MyBase dedicated cluster consists of multiple hosts, such as ECS instances of the ecs.i2.xlarge instance type and ECS Bare Metal instances. You can run instances on these hosts. For more information, see What is ApsaraDB for MyBase?
- Read-only RDS instances: If the primary RDS instance is overwhelmed by a large number of read requests, your workloads may be interrupted. In this case, you can create one or more read-only RDS instances to offload read requests from the primary RDS instance. For more information, see Overview of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL read-only instances. This scales up the read capability of your database system and increases the throughput of your application.
- Read/write splitting: The read/write splitting function provides a read/write splitting endpoint. This endpoint connects to the primary RDS instance and all of the read-only RDS instances to establish an automatic read/write splitting link. For more information, see Read/write splitting. Your application can read and write data into your database system after it connects to this endpoint. ApsaraDB for RDS distributes write requests to the primary RDS instance and read requests to the read-only RDS instances based on the specified read weights. You can create more read-only RDS instances to scale up the read capability of your database system. In addition, you do not need to modify your application.
- Dedicated proxy: A dedicated proxy uses dedicated computing resources. It provides more advanced

functions, such as read/write splitting, short-lived connection optimization, and transaction splitting. For more information, see What are database proxies?.

• Database Autonomy Service (DAS): DAS supports intelligent diagnostics and optimization at the instance level based on various metrics. These metrics include SQL execution performance, CPU utilization, input/output operations per second (IOPS) utilization, memory usage, disk usage, number of connections, locks, and hotspot tables. For more information, see DAS overview. DAS allows you to identify existing and potential issues that may compromise the health of your database system. In addition, DAS provides details and solutions for the identified issues. This facilitates database maintenance.

ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL supports only two storage engines: InnoDB and X-Engine. For more information, see Features of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances.

Basic terms

- Instance: An RDS instance is a database process that consumes independent physical memory resources. You can specify a specific memory size, disk capacity, and database type for an RDS instance. The performance of an RDS instance varies based on the specified memory size. After an RDS instance is created, you can change its specifications or delete the instance.
- Database: A database is a logical unit that is created on an RDS instance. One RDS instance can have multiple databases. Each database must have a unique name on the RDS instance where it is created.
- Region and zone: Each region is a physical data center. Each region contains a number of isolated locations that are known as zones. Each zone has an independent power supply and network. For more information, visit the Alibaba Cloud's Global Infrastructure page.

General terms

Term	Description
On-premises database	A database that is deployed in an on-premises data center or a database that is not deployed on an ApsaraDB for RDS instance.
ApsaraDB RDS for XX (XX represents one of the following database engines: MySQL, SQL Server, PostgreSQL, and MariaDB.)	ApsaraDB for RDS with a specific database engine. For example, ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL indicates an ApsaraDB for RDS instance that runs MySQL.

2.Limits

This topic describes the limits of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL. Before you use ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL, we recommend that you take note of these limits to ensure the stability and security of your database system.

For more information about the limits of ApsaraDB RDS that is used together with a different database engine, see the following topics:

- Limits of ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server
- Limits of ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL
- Limits of ApsaraDB RDS for MariaDB TX

Limits on specifications and performance

ltem	Specification	Description
Storage capacity	 RDS instances that use local SSDs: up to 6,000 GB. RDS instances that use standard SSDs: up to 6,000 GB. RDS instances that use enhanced SSDs (ESSDs): up to 32,000 GB. 	The maximum storage capacity that is allowed for an RDS instance varies based on the instance type. For more information, see Primary ApsaraDB RDS instance types.
Temporary table size	 RDS instances that use local SSDs: up to 300 GB. RDS instances that use standard SSDs or ESSDs: unlimited. 	If the size of temporary tables in an RDS instance is larger than 300 GB, we recommend that you change the storage type to ESSDs. The maximum size of temporary tables in an RDS instance that uses local SSDs is 300 GB. If the size of temporary tables exceeds 300 GB, the RDS instance may encounter frequent high-availability switchovers and downtime issues.
Number of connections	Up to 100,000.	The maximum number of connections that are allowed for an RDS instance varies based on the instance type. For more information, see Primary ApsaraDB RDS instance types.
IOPS	 RDS instances that use local SSDs: up to 144,000. RDS instances that use standard SSDs or ESSDs: For more information, see Maximum IOPS for standard SSDs and ESSDs. 	None.

ltem	Specification	Description
Memory capacity	 RDS instances that use local SSDs: up to 720 GB. RDS instances that use standard SSDs or ESSDs: up to 768 GB. 	 For RDS instances that use standard SSDs or ESSDs, the memory includes the memory that is occupied by the RDS-related management services and the underlying operating system. Therefore, the available memory of an RDS instance may be less than the memory capacity that is supported by the instance type. The following list provides the amount of memory that is occupied by different components: The underlying operating system occupies 500 MB to 700 MB of memory. The RDS-related management services occupy approximately 500 MB of memory.

Limits on quotas

ltem	Description
Read-only RDS instances	 If the memory capacity of a primary RDS instance is greater than or equal to 64 GB, up to 10 read-only RDS instances can be created and attached to the primary RDS instance. If the memory capacity of a primary RDS instance is less than 64 GB, up to 5 read-only RDS instances can be created and attached to the primary RDS instance. For more information about read-only RDS instances, see Overview of read-only ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances.
Primary RDS instances	Up to 30 pay-as-you-go primary RDS instances can be created within each Alibaba Cloud account. You can go to the Quota Center to apply for a quota increase for your Alibaba Cloud account.
Tags	The key of a tag must be unique. You can add up to 20 tags to an RDS instance. You can add tags to up to 50 RDS instances at a time. For more information, see Add tags to ApsaraDB RDS instances.
Free quota for backup storage	 RDS instances that use local SSDs: Free quota for backup storage = 50% × Purchased storage capacity RDS instances that use standard SSDs or ESSDs: Free quota for backup storage = 200% × Purchased storage capacity If your backup storage exceeds the free quota, you are charged for the excess backup storage that you use. You can calculate your excess backup storage by using the following formula: Excess backup storage = Size of data backup files + Size of log backup files - Free quota. Unit: GB. You can round the obtained result only up to the next integer. For more information, see Backup storage pricing of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

ltem	Description
Backup retention period	The default retention period is 7 days, and the maximum retention period is 730 days. Data backup files that are retained for more than 730 days are archived. You are charged less for archived backup files than for regular backup files. For more information, see Backup storage pricing of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
Log retention period	 Error logs are retained for 30 days. The details about slow query logs are retained for seven days. The summary of slow query logs is retained for seven days. Primary/secondary switchover logs are retained for 30 days. For more information, see View the logs of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Limits on names

ltem	Description
Instance names	 The name of an RDS instance must be 2 to 255 characters in length. The name of an RDS instance can contain letters, digits, underscores (_), and hyphens (-). The name of an RDS instance must start with a letter.
Usernames	 For RDS instances that run MySQL 8.0 or MySQL 5.7, the username of an account must be 2 to 32 characters in length. For RDS instances that run MySQL 5.6, the username of an account must be 2 to 16 characters in length. The username of an account can contain lowercase letters, digits, and underscores (_). The username of an account must start with a lowercase letter and end with a lowercase letter or a digit. The username of an account must be unique. The username of an account cannot contain SQL keywords. For more information, see SQL keywords.
Dat <i>a</i> base names	 The name of a database can contain up to 64 characters in length. The name of a database can contain lowercase letters, digits, underscores (_), and hyphens (-). The name of a database must start with a lowercase letter and end with a lowercase letter or a digit. The name of a database must be unique. The username of an account cannot contain SQL keywords. For more information, see SQL keywords.
User-defined function (UDF) name	Do not use the reserved keywords in the name of a UDF. For more information, see Reserved keywords of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Limits on security

ltem	Description
Passwords	 The password of an account must meet the following requirements: The password of the account must be 8 to 32 characters in length. The password must contain at least three of the following character types: uppercase letters, lowercase letters, digits, and special characters. The password can contain the following special characters: @ # \$ % ^ & * () _ + - =
Ports	By default, an RDS instance is connected over port 3306. You can change the port number based on your business requirements. For more information, see View and change the internal and public endpoints and port numbers of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
Disk encryption	You can enable disk encryption for an RDS instance only when you purchase the instance. Disk encryption cannot be disabled after it is enabled. For more information, see Configure the disk encryption feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
Number of security groups	 You can configure up to 10 security groups for an RDS instance. After you configure security groups for an RDS instance, the Elastic Compute Service (ECS) instances in the configured security groups can communicate with the RDS instance. The security groups that you configured for an RDS instance must have the same network type as the RDS instance. This means that the network types of the RDS instance and the security groups that you want to configure must both be Virtual Private Cloud (VPC) or classic network. For more information, see Configure a security group for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
Number of IP address whitelists	You can configure up to 50 IP address whitelists for an RDS instance and add up to 1,000 IP addresses and CIDR blocks to an IP address whitelist. For more information, see Configure an IP address whitelist for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
Account permissions	 The permissions of the root account or the system administrator account are not provided. The XA_RECOVER_ADMIN permission is subject to the following limits: The permission is supported only for RDS instances that run MySQL 8.0. Only the accounts that you create in the ApsaraDB RDS console have the permission. The accounts that you create by using the CREATE USER statement in the Data Management (DMS) console or on a database client do not have the permission and cannot be granted the permission.
Privileged accounts	You can create and manage privileged accounts in the ApsaraDB RDS console or by using the ApsaraDB RDS API. The privileged account of an RDS instance has permissions to disconnect the database connections that are established by using standard accounts. Only one privileged account can be created for each RDS instance. For more information, see Create an account on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

ltem	Description
	• You can create and manage standard accounts in the ApsaraDB RDS console. You can also use the ApsaraDB RDS API or execute SQL statements to create and manage standard accounts.
	• You cannot use a standard account to create and manage accounts, or disconnect the database connections that are established by using other accounts.
Standard accounts	• By default, a standard account has the permissions only on the database to which the standard account is connected. You must manually grant the permissions on specified databases to each standard account. For more information, see Modify the permissions of a standard account on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. You can also execute the GRANT statement to grant the specified permissions to a standard account. For more information, see Account permissions.
Instance parameters	You can modify most of the instance parameters in the ApsaraDB RDS console or by using the ApsaraDB RDS API. For security and stability purposes, some parameters cannot be modified. For more information, see Modify the parameters of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Limits on operations

ltem	Description
Backup and restoration	 Limits on backups: You can perform logical backups by using the CLI or the GUI. You can perform physical backups in the ApsaraDB RDS console or by using the ApsaraDB RDS API. Limits on restoration: You can restore data from logical backup files by using the CLI or the GUI. You can restore data from physical backup files in the ApsaraDB RDS console or by using the ApsaraDB RDS API.
Storage engines	 Only the InnoDB storage engine and the X-Engine storage engine are supported. For more information about X-Engine, see Introduction to X-Engine. The TokuDB storage engine is not supported. Percona no longer provides support for TokuDB. A large number of known issues in TokuDB cannot be fixed. In extreme cases, these issues may cause business loss. Therefore, ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL no longer supports TokuDB as of August 1, 2019. For more information about how to switch an RDS instance from TokuDB to a different storage engine, see [Notice] The storage engine was switched from TokuDB to InnoDB. The MyISAM storage engine is not supported due to its inherent defects that may cause data loss. If you create a MyISAM table, ApsaraDB RDS converts the MyISAM table to an InnoDB table. For more information, see Why does ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL not support the MyISAM storage engine? The MEMORY storage engine is not supported. If you create a Memory table, ApsaraDB RDS converts the MEMORY table to an InnoDB table.

ltem	Description
Binlog	 By default, the binary logging feature is enabled. The binary logging feature cannot be disabled after it is enabled. The value of the binlog_format parameter is fixed as ROW. This value cannot be changed.
Primary/secondary replication	ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL provides a primary/secondary replication architecture. In this architecture, a secondary RDS instance is provided as a hot standby for the primary RDS instance that you create. The secondary RDS instance is hidden and inaccessible. This architecture is not supported for RDS Basic Edition.
Instance restart	You can restart an RDS instance in the ApsaraDB RDS console or by using the ApsaraDB RDS API.
Network settings	If an RDS instance runs MySQL 5.5 or MySQL 5.6 in the classic network and the database proxy feature is enabled for the RDS instance, you cannot enable timestamps in SNAT mode by configuring the net.ipv4.tcp_timestamps parameter.
Storage	If the storage usage of an RDS instance is excessively high, ApsaraDB RDS locks the RDS instance to prevent data loss that may be caused by accidental operations. You can upgrade the instance type to unlock the RDS instance.
	The maximum size of a single table is 2 TB due to the maximum file size that is allowed by the operating system. For more information, see Limits on the size of a single table in ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL.
Size of a single table	 Note We recommend that you make sure all tables in your RDS instance meet the following requirements to ensure optimal performance: The number of data records in each table does not exceed 20 million. The size of each table does not exceed 10 GB.
Help information	If an RDS instance runs MySQL 8.0, you can query detailed help information from the mysql.help_topic table. If an RDS instance does not run MySQL 8.0, the mysql.help_topic table is empty.
Public endpoints	If you want to connect to an RDS instance by using a public endpoint, you must manually apply for a public endpoint. For more information, see Apply for or release a public endpoint for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
Instance restart	You can restart an RDS instance in the ApsaraDB RDS console or by using the ApsaraDB RDS API.

3.Features 3.1. MySQL 8.0

This topic provides an overview of the features supported by ApsaraDB RDS instances that run MySQL 8.0. In the following table, ticks (\checkmark) indicate that a feature is supported, and crosses (×) indicate that a feature is not supported.

Category	Feature	MySQL 8.0						
		RDS Enterprise Edition	RDS High-availability Edition			RDS Basic Edition		
		Local SSD	Local SSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	
Data migration	Overview of data migration methods	s ®	√ ®	√ ®	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	
Data synchroni zation	Overview of data synchroni zation	f ®	/ ®	√ ®	\$ ®	\$ ®	f (b)	
	Create an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	* ®	* ©	* ©	* B	* ®	✔ ®	
	Change the specificati ons of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	* ®	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	s	* ®	✔ ®	
	Configure automatic storage expansion for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance			✔ ®	√ ⊕			

	Feature	MySQL 8.0					
Category		RDS Enterprise Edition	RDS High-availability Edition			RDS Basic Edition	
		Local SSD	Local SSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	Standard SSD	ESSD
	Enable the automatic scale-up feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance		√ ⊕	✔ ®	s (9)		
	Migrate an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance across zones in the same region		s	√ ⊕	s B	s 9	s
	Switch workload s over between a primary RDS instance and its secondary ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	✔ ®		
lnst ance managem ent	Change the data replicatio n mode of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance		√ ⊕				

	Feature	MySQL 8.0						
Category		RDS Enterprise Edition	RDS High-availability Edition			RDS Basic Edition		
		Local SSD	Local SSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	
	Use a paramete r template to manage the paramete rs of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®	✔ ®	 ✓ ⊕ 	✔ ®	✔ ®	✔ ®	
	Create a disaster recovery ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®	√ ⊕	• ©	✔ ®			
	Restart an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®	✔ ®	* ®	* ®	* ®	* B	
	Set the maintena nce window of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®	✔ ®	√ ⊕	* B	√ ⊕	√ ®	
	Release an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ @	* ®	* ®	√ ®	* ®	√ ⊕	

	Feature	MySQL 8.0					
Category		RDS Enterprise Edition	RDS High-av	ailability Editic	RDS Basic Edition		
		Local SSD	Local SSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	Standard SSD	ESSD
	Manage ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances in the recycle bin	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ ©	√ ©	√ ⊕	√ ⊕
	Update the minor engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊕	√ ®	√ ®	√ ®	√ ®	√ ®
	Upgrade the major engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance						
lnst ance upgrade	Upgrade an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from Basic Edition to High- availabilit y Edition					√ ®	√ ⊕

	Feature	MySQL 8.0						
Category		RDS Enterprise Edition	RDS High-availability Edition			RDS Basic Edition		
		Local SSD	Local SSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	
	Create an account on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®	√ ®	√ ®	√ ®	√ ®	√ ®	
	Configure a custom password policy for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance							
	Reset the password of an account of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	 ✓ ⊕ 	√ ⊕	✔ ®	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	
	Modify the permissio ns of an account of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	✔ ®	✓ (2)	✔ ®	✔ ®	✓ (2)	✔ ®	
Account managem ent								

		MySQL 8.0						
Category	Feature	RDS Enterprise Edition	RDS High-av	ailability Editio	n	RDS Basic Edition		
		Local SSD	Local SSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	
	Grant permissio ns to the service account of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊕	√ ⊕					
	Delete an account from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	
	Reset the permissio ns of the privileged account for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊕	√ ®	* ®	* ®	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	
	Create a database on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊕	√ ®	√ ®	* ®	√ ⊕	✔ ®	
Database managem ent	Delete a database from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ ®	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	* ®	

		MySQL 8.0							
Category	Feature	RDS Enterprise Edition	RDS High-av	ailability Editio	'n	RDS Basic Edition			
		Local SSD	Local SSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	Standard SSD	ESSD		
	Connect to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	✔ ®	✔ ®	√ ©	* ©	* ©	✔ ®		
	Configure endpoints for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊕	\$ B	√ ®	√ ®	√ ®	√ ⊕		
Database connectio n	View and change the internal and public endpoints and port numbers of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	✔ ®	✔ ®	 ✓ ⊕ 	 ✓ ⊕ 	 ✓ ⊕ 	✔ ®		
	Apply for a public endpoint for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	« B	√ ⊕	√ ©	√ ©	√ ©	« B		

		MySQL 8.0							
Category	Feature	RDS Enterprise Edition	RDS High-av	ailability Editio	'n	RDS Basic Edition			
		Local SSD	Local SSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	Standard SSD	ESSD		
Monitorin g and alerting	View the resource metrics, engine metrics, and deployme nt metrics of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ @	√ ©	√ ⊕	√ ⊕		
	Set the monitorin g frequency of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊜	√ ⊚	√ ⊕	√ ⊚	√ ⊚	√ ⊚		
	Configure an alert rule for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊕	* ®	√ ®	√ ®	* ®	* ®		
	Change the network type of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊕	√ ®						

ApsaraDB for RDS

Network managem		MySQL 8.0						
managem ent Category	Feature	RDS Enterprise Edition	RDS High-av	ailability Editio	'n	RDS Basic Ec	RDS Basic Edition	
		Local SSD	Local SSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	
	Switch an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance to a new VPC and a new vSwitch	√ ®	√ ®	√ ⊕	√ ©	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	
	Create a read-only ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®	√ ⊕	* ®	* ®			
Read-only instance and read/writ e splitting	Enable the read/writ e splitting feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®	√ ⊕	* ®	√ ®			
	Change the network type of the read/writ e splitting endpoint of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®	√ (5)	 ✓ ⊕ 	✓ ⊕			

		MySQL 8.0							
Category	Feature	RDS Enterprise Edition	RDS High-av	ailability Editic	n	RDS Basic Ec	lition		
		Local SSD	Local SSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	Standard SSD	ESSD		
	Configure an IP address whitelist for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	* B	* B	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	* ®	* B		
	Switch an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance to the enhanced whitelist mode								
	Configure SSL encryptio n for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	* ®	√ ⊕	√ ®	√ ®				
	Configure T DE for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance		√ ®						
Security managem ent									

		MySQL 8.0						
Category	Feature	RDS Enterprise Edition	RDS High-av	ailability Editio	n	RDS Basic Edition		
		Local SSD	Local SSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	
	Enable or disable the release protectio n feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	* ®	* ®	√ ®	√ ®	√ ⊚	* ®	
	Configure disk encryptio n for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance			√ ®	√ ®			
	Use the SQL Explorer feature on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊕	√ ⊚	√ ®	√ ®			
	Manage the logs of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ ©	√ ⊕	D	D	
Audit								

	MySQL 8.0							
Feature	RDS Enterprise Edition	RDS High-av	ailability Editio	n	RDS Basic Edition			
	Local SSD	Local SSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	Standard SSD	ESSD		
View the event history of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	✔ ®	√ ®	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	f B	√ ⊕		
Back up an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®	√ ©	√ ®	√ ®	* ®	√ ®		
Free quota for backup storage for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	✔ ®	√ ®	√ ⊚	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	* ®		
Download the backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	✔ ®	√ ®	√ ⊚	* ®	√ ⊕	* ®		
Enable cross- region backups for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance		√ ®						
	FeatureView the event history of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instanceBack up an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instanceFree quota for backup storage for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instanceDownload the backup sior an ApsaraDB RDS for mySQL instanceDownload the backup sior an ApsaraDB RDS for mySQL instanceDownload the backup sior an ApsaraDB RDS for mySQL instanceDownload the backup sior an ApsaraDB RDS for mySQL instance	MysQL 8.0FeatureRDS Enterprise EditionView the event history of ansaraDB RDS for sysQL	MySQL 8.0 RDS RDS High-averestication Icocal SSD Icocal SSD View the shstory of shstory of	MySQL 8.0PeatureRDS strengtoniseRDS High-J-Willy EditedIcoal SSDLocal SSDStandardVisent shistory of shysenabeImage: Standard StandardImage: Standard StandardReskup SysenabeSysenabe Sysenabe Sysenabe Sysenabe Sysenabe SysenabeSysenabe Sysenabe Sysenabe Sysenabe SysenabeSysenabe Sysenabe SysenabeSysenabe Sysenabe Sysenabe SysenabeSysenabe Sysenabe Sysenabe SysenabeSysenabe Sysenabe SysenabeSysenabe Sysenabe Sysenabe SysenabeSysenabe Sysenabe SysenabeSysenabe Sysenabe SysenabeSysenabe Sysenabe SysenabeSysenabe Sysenabe SysenabeSysenabe Sysenabe SysenabeSysenabe Sysenabe SysenabeSysenabe Sysenabe SysenabeSysenabe Sysenabe SysenabeSysenabe Sysenabe SysenabeSysenabe Sysenabe SysenabeSysenabe Sysenabe SysenabeSysenabe Sysenabe SysenabeSysenabe Sysenabe SysenabeSysenabe Sysenabe SysenabeS	MySQL 8.0EventureDS StrepriseSC> High-sublity EditiveLocal SSDLocal SSDStandardESSDNistory of SySQL 8.0Nistory of SySQL 8.0Nistory of SySQL 8.0Nistory of SySQL 8.0Nistory of SySQL 8.0Nistory of SySQL 8.0	Preature FOS Edition RDS Highy-libility Editive Totive		

		MySQL 8.0							
Category	Feature	RDS Enterprise Edition	RDS High-av	ailability Editio	'n	RDS Basic Ec	RDS Basic Edition		
		Local SSD	Local SSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	Standard SSD	ESSD		
Restorati on	Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®	√ ®	√ ®	√ ®	√ ®	* ®		
	Restore individual database s and tables of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance		* ®						
	Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance across regions		* ®						
Dedicated proxy	Use the dedicated proxy feature on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	✓ (B)	 ✓ (2) 	 ✓ (2) 	√ ®				
Diagnosis and optimizati on	DAS overview	f @	f @	s @	√ ©				
AliSQL	AliSQL	√ ⊛	√ ⊛	√ ⊛	√ ⊛	√ ⊛	√ ®		

	Feature	MySQL 8.0							
Category		RDS Enterprise Edition	RDS High-av	RDS High-availability Edition			RDS Basic Edition		
		Local SSD	Local SSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	Standard SSD	ESSD		
T ag managem ent	Add tags to ApsaraDB RDS instances	√ ⊕	* ®	* ®	* ®	√ ⊕	√ ⊕		
	Remove tags from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊕	* ®	* ®	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ ⊕		
	Use tags to filter ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances	* ®	4 B	f ©	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	✔ ®		

3.2. MySQL 5.7

This topic provides an overview of the features supported by ApsaraDB RDS instances that run MySQL 5.7. In the following table, ticks ($\sqrt{}$) indicate that a feature is supported, and crosses (×) indicate that a feature is not supported.

Category	Feature	MySQL 5.7							
		RDS Enterprise Edition	RDS High-availability Edition			RDS Basic Edition			
		Local SSD	Local SSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	Standard SSD	ESSD		
Data migration	Overview of data migration methods	√ ®	✔ ®	✔ ®	✔®	✔ ®	√ ®		

		MySQL 5.7						
Category	Feature	RDS Enterprise Edition	RDS High-av	ailability Editio	n	RDS Basic Edition		
		Local SSD	Local SSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	
Data synchroni zation	Overview of data synchroni zation	√ ®	√ ®	\$ B	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	f B	
	Create an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ @	√ ®	* ®	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	* ®	
	Change the specificati ons of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ @	√ ®	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	* ®	
	Configure automatic storage expansion for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance			√ ⊕	s (9)			
	Enable the automatic scale-up feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance		√ ®	\$ B	* B			

		MySQL 5.7						
Category	Feature	RDS Enterprise Edition	RDS High-av	ailability Editio	'n	RDS Basic Edition		
		Local SSD	Local SSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	
	Migrate an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance across zones in the same region		√ ⊕	√ ©	√ ©	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	
	Switch workload s over between a primary RDS instance and its secondary ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ©	√ ⊚	√ ®	√ ⊚			
Instance	Change the data replicatio n mode of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance		√ ®					
managem ent								

Category	Feature	MySQL 5.7					
		RDS Enterprise Edition	RDS High-availability Edition			RDS Basic Edition	
		Local SSD	Local SSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	Standard SSD	ESSD
	Use a paramete r template to manage the paramete rs of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊕	✔ ®	 ✓ ⊕ 	√ ⊕	✔ ®	✔ ®
	Create a disaster recovery ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	✔ ®	* ®	• ©	√ ⊜		
	Restart an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	* ®	* ®	• @	* ®	* ®	* ®
	Set the maintena nce window of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	✔ ®	√ ⊕	√ ⊚	√ ®	√ ⊕	√ ⊚
	Release an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	* ®	√ ®	* ®	√ ®	√ ®	√ ®
		MySQL 5.7					
----------------------	---	------------------------------	-------------	-------------------	------------	-------------------	------------
Category	Feature	RDS Enterprise Edition	RDS High-av	ailability Editio	'n	RDS Basic Edition	
		Local SSD	Local SSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	Standard SSD	ESSD
	Manage ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances in the recycle bin	* ®	* ©	√ ⊕	* ©	* ©	✔ ®
	Update the minor engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	* ®	✔ ®
	Upgrade the major engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance						
lnst ance upgrade	Upgrade an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from Basic Edition to High- availabilit y Edition					√ ®	√ ⊕

		MySQL 5.7							
Category	Feature	RDS Enterprise Edition	RDS High-av	ailability Editio	n	RDS Basic Ec	lition		
		Local SSD	Local SSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	Standard SSD	ESSD		
	Create an account on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	✔ ®	√ ⊕	√ ⊚	* ®	√ ⊕	√ ⊕		
	Configure a custom password policy for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance		√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ ⊕		
	Reset the password of an account of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	* ®	* ®	√ ®	✓ (B)	* ®	√ ⊕		
	Modify the permissio ns of an account of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	* ®	* B	✔ ®	✔ ®	f B	✔ ®		
Account managem ent									

RDS MySQL Dat abase • Feat ures

	Feature	MySQL 5.7						
Category		RDS Enterprise Edition	RDS High-av	ailability Editio	n	RDS Basic Ec	RDS Basic Edition	
		Local SSD	Local SSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	
	Grant permissio ns to the service account of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊕	√ ⊕					
	Delete an account from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	
	Reset the permissio ns of the privileged account for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊕	√ ®	* ®	* ®	√ ⊕	* ®	
	Create a database on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊕	√ ®	√ ®	* ®	√ ⊕	✔ ®	
Database managem ent	Delete a database from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ ®	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	* ®	

		MySQL 5.7							
Category	Feature	RDS Enterprise Edition	RDS High-av	ailability Editio	'n	RDS Basic Ec	RDS Basic Edition		
		Local SSD	Local SSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	Standard SSD	ESSD		
	Connect to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	✔ ®	f @	√ ©	√ ©	f (9)	√ ⊕		
Database connectio n	Configure endpoints for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊕	√ ®	✔ ®	✔ ®	√ ®	√ ⊕		
	View and change the internal and public endpoints and port numbers of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®	✓ ®	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	✔ ®		
	Apply for a public endpoint for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ ©	√ ©	√ ©	* ©		

RDS MySQL Dat abase • Feat ures

	Feature	MySQL 5.7							
Category		RDS Enterprise Edition	RDS High-av	ailability Editio	n	RDS Basic Edition			
		Local SSD	Local SSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	Standard SSD	ESSD		
Monitorin g and alerting	View the resource metrics, engine metrics, and deployme nt metrics of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ ©	√ ©	√ ⊕	√ ⊕		
	Set the monitorin g frequency of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	✔ ®	✔ ®	√ ⊕	√ ⊕		
	Configure an alert rule for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	* ®	✔ ®		
	Change the network type of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	* ®	√ ®			√ ®	√ ®		

ApsaraDB for RDS

Network		MySQL 5.7							
managem ent Category	Feature	RDS Enterprise Edition	RDS High-av	ailability Editio	n	RDS Basic Ec	lition		
	Local SSD	Local SSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	Standard SSD	ESSD			
	Switch an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance to a new VPC and a new vSwitch	√ ®	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ ⊕		
	Create a read-only ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ @	√ ⊕	√ ®	* ®				
Read-only instance and read/writ e splitting	Enable the read/writ e splitting feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®	√ ®	* ®	* B				
	Change the network type of the read/writ e splitting endpoint of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	s	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	 ✓ ⊕ 				

RDS MySQL Dat abase • Feat ures

		MySQL 5.7							
Category	Feature	RDS Enterprise Edition	RDS High-av	ailability Editic	n	RDS Basic Edition			
		Local SSD	Local SSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	Standard SSD	ESSD		
	Configure an IP address whitelist for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®	√ ®	√ ®	√ ®	√ ®	√ ®		
	Switch an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance to the enhanced whitelist mode	√ ®	√ ®	✔ ®	✔ ®				
	Configure SSL encryptio n for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®	√ ®	√ ®	√ ®				
	Configure T DE for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®	√ ®						
Security managem ent									

		MySQL 5.7							
Category	Feature	RDS Enterprise Edition	RDS High-availability Edition			RDS Basic Ec	RDS Basic Edition		
		Local SSD	Local SSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	Standard SSD	ESSD		
	Enable or disable the release protectio n feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊚	√ ®	√ ®	√ ®	√ ®	√ ®		
	Configure disk encryptio n for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance			√ ®	√ ®				
	Use the SQL Explorer feature on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®	√ ®	✔ ®	✔ ®				
	Manage the logs of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®	√ ®	✔ ®	√ ®				
Audit									

		MySQL 5.7							
Category	Feature	RDS Enterprise Edition	RDS High-av	ailability Editio	n	RDS Basic Ec	RDS Basic Edition		
		Local SSD	Local SSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	Standard SSD	ESSD		
	View the event history of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®	✔ ®	s (b)	✔ ®	s (b)	✔ ®		
	Back up an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ©	* ®	√ ®	√ ®	* ®	* ®		
	Free quota for backup storage for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ ⊕		
Backup	Download the backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ @	✔ ®						
	Enable cross- region backups for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance		√ ⊕						

		MySQL 5.7							
Category	Feature	RDS Enterprise Edition	RDS High-av	ailability Editio	'n	RDS Basic Ec	RDS Basic Edition		
		Local SSD	Local SSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	Standard SSD	ESSD		
	Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊕	√ ®	√ ®	√ ®	√ ®	√ ⊕		
Restorati on	Restore individual database s and tables of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊕	√ ®						
	Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance across regions		√ ®						
Dedicated proxy	Use the dedicated proxy feature on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	✓ ⊕	 ✓ ⊕ 	 ✓ ⊕ 	√ ®				
Diagnosis and optimizati on	DAS overview	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	s @	√ ©				
AliSQL	AliSQL	√ ⊛	√ ⊛	√ ⊛	√ ⊛	√ ⊛	√ ®		

		MySQL 5.7							
Category	Feature	RDS Enterprise Edition	RDS High-availability Edition			RDS Basic Edition			
		Local SSD	Local SSD	Standard SSD	ESSD	Standard SSD	ESSD		
T ag managem ent	Add tags to ApsaraDB RDS instances	√ ⊕	* ®	* ®	* ®	√ ⊕	√ ⊕		
	Remove tags from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊕	* ®	* ®	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ ⊕		
	Use tags to filter ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances	√ ⊕	4 ©	4 ©	√ ⊕	√ ⊕	√ ⊕		

3.3. MySQL 5.6

This topic provides an overview of the features that are supported by ApsaraDB RDS instances that run MySQL 5.6. In the following tables, ticks (\checkmark) indicate that a feature is supported and crosses (×) indicate that a feature is not supported.

		Features of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL	
Category	Feature	RDS High-availability Edition	
		Local SSD	
Data migration	Overview of data migration methods	 ✓ (B) 	
Data synchronization	Overview of data synchronization	√ ®	
	Create an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	✓ ®	
	Change the specifications of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊕	

			Features of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL
	Category Instance management Instance upgrade	Feature	RDS High-availability Edition
			Local SSD
		Configure automatic storage expansion for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	0
	Instance management	Enable the automatic scale-up feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®
		Migrate an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance across zones in the same region	√ ⊛
		Switch workloads over between primary and secondary ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances	√ ⊛
		Change the data replication mode of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊛
		Use a parameter template to manage the parameters of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊛
		Restart an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊛
		Set the maintenance window of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊛
		Release or unsubscribe from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊛
		Manage ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances in the recycle bin	√ ®
	Instance ungrade	Update the minor engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊛
		Upgrade the major engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®
		Create an account on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ©

		Features of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL
Category	Feature	RDS High-availability Edition
		Local SSD
	Reset the password of an account of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®
Account management	Modify the permissions of a standard account of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®
	Authorize the service account of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®
	Delete a standard account from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®
	Reset the permissions of the privileged account of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	 ✓ (b)
	Configure a custom password policy for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	0
Database management	Create a database on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	< ⊕
Database management	Delete a database from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	 ✓ ⊕
	Use a database client or the CLI to connect to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	 ✓ ⊕
	Configure an endpoint for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	✓ ®
	View and change the internal and public endpoints and port numbers of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	 ✓ ⊕
Database connection	Apply for or release a public endpoint for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®

		Features of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL	
Category	Feature	RDS High-availability Edition	
		Local SSD	
	View the resource, engine, and deployment metrics of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	✔ ®	
Monitoring and altering	Set the monitoring frequency of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	✔ ®	
	Configure an alert rule for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	 ✓ ⊕ 	
	Change the network type of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	 ✓ ⊕ 	
Network management	Migrate an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance to a new VPC and a new vSwitch	✔ ®	
Read-only instance and read/write splitting	Create a read-only ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	✓ ⊕	
	Enable the read/write splitting feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance (shared proxy)	 ✓ ⊕ 	
	Change the network type of the read/write splitting endpoint of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	✓ ⊕	
	Configure an IP address whitelist for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	✔ ®	
Security management	Switch the network isolation mode of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance to the enhanced whitelist mode	 ✓ ⊕ 	
	Configure SSL encryption on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	 ✓ ☺ 	
	Configure TDE for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	 ✓ ⊕ 	
	Use the SQL Explorer feature on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	 ✓ ⊕ 	

Audit		Features of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL
Category	Feature	RDS High-availability Edition
		Local SSD
	View the logs of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	 ✓ ®
	Enable automatic backups for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	✔ ®
	Backup storage pricing for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	✓ ®
Backup	Download the backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	 ✓ ⊕
	Enable cross-region backups for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®
Restoration	Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	 ✓ ⊕
	Restore specific individual databases or tables of an RDS instance	√ ®
	Restore the individual databases and tables of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®
Dedicated proxy	Introduction to database proxies	0
AliSQL	Overview of AliSQL features	√ ®
	Add tags to ApsaraDB RDS instances	 ✓ ⊕
Tag management	Remove tags from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	 ✓ ⊕
	Use tags to filter ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances	√ ⊛

3.4. MySQL 5.5

This topic provides an overview of the features supported by ApsaraDB RDS instances that run MySQL 5.5. In the following table, ticks (\checkmark) indicate that a feature is supported, and crosses (×) indicate that a feature is not supported.

		MySQL 5.5
Category	Feature	RDS High-availability Edition
		Local SSD
Data migration	Overview of data migration methods	✔ ®
Data synchronization	Overview of data synchronization	✓ [®]
	Create an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®
	Change the specifications of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	 ✓ ⊕
	Enable the automatic scale-up feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®
Instance management	Migrate an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance across zones within the same region	√ ®
	Switch workloads over between primary and secondary ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances	✓ ⊕
	Change the data replication mode of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	 ✓ ☺
	Use a parameter template to manage the parameters of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	٥
	Create a disaster recovery ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	۵
	Restart an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	 ✓ ⊕
	Set the maintenance window of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	✓ (B)
	Release an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	 ✓ ⊕
	Manage ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances in the recycle bin	✓ (B)

		MySQL 5.5
Category	Feature	RDS High-availability Edition
		Local SSD
last anco ungrado	Update the minor engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ @
Instance upgrade	Upgrade the major engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ⊕
	Create an account on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	 ✓ ⊕
	Reset the password of an account of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®
Account management	Modify the permissions of an account of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®
	Grant permissions to the service account of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	 ✓ ⊕
	Delete an account from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	 ✓ ⊕
	Reset the permissions of the privileged account of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	 ✓ ⊕
	Configure a custom password policy for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	0
Database management	Create a database on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	 ✓ ⊕
	Delete a database from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	✓ [™]
	Connect to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	 ✓ ⊕
	Configure endpoints for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	✔ ®

		MySQL 5.5
Database connection Category	Feature	RDS High-availability Edition
		Local SSD
	View and change the internal and public endpoints and port numbers of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®
	Apply for a public endpoint for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®
	View the resource metrics, engine metrics, and deployment metrics of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®
Monitoring and alerting	Set the monitoring frequency of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®
	Configure an alert rule for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	✔ ®
	Change the network type of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	 ✓ (b)
Network management	Switch an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance to a new VPC and a new vSwitch	 ✓ (b)
	Create a read-only ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	0
Read-only instances and read/write splitting	Enable the read/write splitting feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	0
	Change the network type of the read/write splitting endpoint for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	
	Configure an IP address whitelist for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	 ✓ ⊕
	Switch an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance to the enhanced whitelist mode	 ✓ ⊕

Security management		MySQL 5.5
Category	Feature	RDS High-availability Edition
		Local SSD
	Configure SSL encryption for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	٥
	Configure TDE for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	Ω
Audit	Use the SQL Explorer feature on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	√ ®
	Manage the logs of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	✓ [®]
	Back up an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	✔ ®
Backup	Free quota for backup storage of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	✔ ®
	Download the backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	✓ [®]
	Enable cross-region backups for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	0
	Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	✓ ⊕
Restoration	Restore the individual databases and tables of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	
	Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance across regions	
Dedicated proxy	Use the dedicated proxy feature on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	٥
AliSQL	AliSQL	٥
	Add tags to ApsaraDB RDS instances	✓ [®]
	Remove tags from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	✔ ☺

Categrany agement		MySQL 5.5	
	Feature	RDS High-availability Edition	
		Local SSD	
	Use tags to filter ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances	√ ®	

4.Specifications

4.1. Primary ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance types

This topic provides an overview of primary ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance types, which include the most recent and earlier instance types. The overview includes the specifications for each instance type.

Note Some instances may no longer be available. You can select only the instance types that are available on the ApsaraDB RDS buy page.

4.2. Read-only ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance types

This topic provides an overview of read-only ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance types. This overview includes the most recent instance types and the specifications for each instance type.

For more information about how to create a read-only ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance, see Create a read-only ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Note The subscription and pay-as-you-go billing methods are supported for read-only ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances. For more information, see **Pricing**. For more information about the prices, go to the ApsaraDB RDS buy page.

Role	MySQL version	Instance family	Instance type	CPU and memory specificatio ns	Maximum number of connectio ns	Maximu m IOPS	Storage capacity
			rds.mysql .t1.small	1 core, 1 GB	300	600	
			rds.mysql .s1.small	1 core, 2 GB	600	1,000	
			rds.mysql .s2.large	2 cores, 4 GB	1,200	2,000	
			rds.mysql .s2.xlarge	2 cores, 8 GB	2,000	4,000	
			rds.mysql .s3.large	4 cores, 8 GB	2,000	5,000	
							5 GB to

Read-only ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances with local SSDs

Role	MySQL version	General- ନିକ୍ଷମହନ୍ତି ମହନ୍ୟାଦୁce family	lnstance type	CPU and memory specificatio ns	Maximum number of connectio ns	Maximu m IOPS	2,000 GB Storage capacity
			rds.mysql .m1.medi um	4 cores, 16 GB	4,000	7,000	
			rds.mysql .c1.large	8 cores, 16 GB	4,000	8,000	
			rds.mysql .c1.xlarge	8 cores, 32 GB	8,000	12,000	
			rds.mysql .c2.xlarge	16 cores, 64 GB	16,000	14,000	5 GB to
			rds.mysql .c2.xlp2	16 cores, 96 GB	24,000	16,000	3,000 GB
		AySQL 8.0, AySQL 5.7, and AySQL 5.6 instance	mysqlro.x 8.medium .1	2 cores, 16 GB	2,500	4,500	50 GB to 2,000 GB
Read-only	MySQL 8.0, MySQL 5.7, and MySQL 5.6		mysqlro.x 8.large.1	4 cores, 32 GB	5,000	9,000	50 GB to 2,000 GB
instance			mysqlro.x 8.xlarge.1	8 cores, 64 GB	10,000	18,000	500 GB to 3,000 GB
	(with a large memory capacity)	mysqlro.x 8.2xlarge. 1	16 cores, 128 GB	20,000	36,000	500 GB to 3,000,GB	
	Dedicated		mysqlro.x 8.4xlarge. 1	32 cores, 256 GB	40,000	72,000	1,000 GB to 6,000 GB
			mysqlro.x 8.8xlarge. 1	64 cores, 512 GB	80,000	144,000	1,000 GB to 6,000 GB
			mysqlro.x 4.large.1	4 cores, 16 GB	2,500	4,500	50 GB to 2,000GB
			mysqlro.x 4.xlarge.1	8 cores, 32 GB	5,000	9,000	500 GB to 3,000 GB
		Dedicated instance	mysqlro.x 4.2xlarge. 1	16 cores, 64 GB	10,000	18,000	500 GB to 3,000 GB
		(with a					

Role	MySQL version	number of cores) Instance family	lnstance type	CPU and memory specificatio ns	Maximum number of connectio ns	Maximu m IOPS	Storage capacity
			mysqlro.x 4.4xlarge. 1	32 cores, 128 GB	20,000	36,000	1,000 GB to 6,000 GB
	D hi in fa	Dedicat ed host	rds.mysql .st.h43	60 cores, 470 GB	100,000	120,000	3,000 GB or 6,000 GB
		instance family	rds.mysql .st.v52	90 cores, 720 GB	150,000	140,000	1,000 GB to 6,000 GB

Read-only ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances with standard SSDs or enhanced SSDs (ESSDs)

					PU and num nemory ber pecificat of ons conn ectio ns	Storage		
Role	MySQL version	Instanc e family	Instance type	CPU and memory specificat ions		Maxi mum IOPS	Maxim um I/O bandwi dth (Mbit/s)	Storage capacity
		General - purpos e instanc e family	mysqlro.n2.smal l.1c	1 core, 2 GB	2,00 0	10,0 00	1,024	
			mysqlro.x2.medi um.1c	2 cores, 4 GB	4,00 0	10,0 00	1,024	
			mysqlro.x2.large .1c	4 cores, 8 GB	6,00 0	20,0 00	1,536	
			mysqlro.x2.xlarg e.1c	8 cores, 16 GB	8,00 0	25,0 00	2,048	
			mysqlro.x2.3larg e.1c	12 cores, 24 GB	12,0 00	30,0 00	2,560	
			mysqlro.x2.2xlar ge.1c	16 cores, 32 GB	16,0 00	40,0 00	3,072	

					Maxi	Storag	е	
Role MySQL version	MySQL version	Instanc e family	Instance type	CPU and memory specificat ions	num ber of conn ectio ns	Maxi mum IOPS	Maxim um I/O bandwi dth (Mbit/s)	Storage capacity
			mysqlro.x2.3xlar ge.1c	24 cores, 48 GB	24,0 00	50,0 00	4,096	
			mysqlro.x2.4xlar ge.1c	32 cores, 64 GB	32,0 00	60,0 00	5,120	i Storage capacity
			mysqlro.x2.13lar ge.1c	52 cores, 96 GB	52,0 00	100, 000	8,192	
			mysqlro.x2.13xl arge.1c	104 cores, 192 GB	104, 000	200, 000	16,384	
			mysqlro.x4.medi um.1c	2 cores, 8 GB	6,00 0	10,0 00	1,024	
			mysqlro.x4.large .1c	4 cores, 16 GB	8,00 0	20,0 00	1,536	Read-only ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances with standard SSDs: 20 GB to
Dead	MySQL 8.0,		mysqlro.x4.xlarg e.1c	8 cores, 32 GB	10,0 00	25,0 00	2,048	
only instanc	MySQL 5.7, and		mysqlro.x4.3larg e.1c	12 cores, 48 GB	15,0 00	50,0 00	4,096	
e	MySQL 5.6	Dedicat ed inst <i>a</i> nc	mysqlro.x4.2xlar ge.1c	16 cores, 64 GB	20,0 00	40,0 00	3,072	SSDs: 20 GB to
		e family	mysqlro.x4.3xlar ge.1c	24 cores, 96 GB	30,0 00	50,0 00	bandwi dth (Mbit/s) 4,096 5,120 8,192 16,384 1,024 1,536 2,048 4,096 3,072 4,096 5,120 8,192 1,536 1,024 1,034 1,036 1,034 1,035 1,024 1,0384	0,000 GB
			mysqlro.x4.4xlar ge.1c	32 cores, 128 GB	40,0 00	60,0 00	5,120	nStorage capacity/sStorage capacity/sStorage capacity/sStorage capacity/sRead-only ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances with standard SSDs: 20 GB to 6,000 GB/sRead-only ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances with standard SSDs: 20 GB to 6,000 GB/sRead-only ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances with standard SSDs: 20 GB to 6,000 GB
			mysqlro.x4.13lar ge.1c	52 cores, 192 GB	65,0 00	100, 000	8,192	
			mysqlro.x4.13xl arge.1c	104 cores <i>,</i> 384 GB	130, 000	200, 000	16,384	
			mysqlro.x8.medi um.1c	2 cores, 16 GB	8,00 0	10,0 00	1,024	
			mysqlro.x8.large .1c	4 cores, 32 GB	12,0 00	20,0 00	1,536	

RDS MySQL Dat abase • Specifications

			Instanc c e Instance type s family i		Maxi mum num ber of conn ectio ns	Storage		
Role MySQL version	MySQL version	Instanc e family		CPU and memory specificat ions		Maxi mum IOPS	Maxim um I/O bandwi dth (Mbit/s)	Storage capacity
			mysqlro.x8.xlarg e.1c	8 cores, 64 GB	16,0 00	25,0 00	2,048	
			mysqlro.x8.3larg e.1c	12 cores, 96 GB	24,0 00	30,0 00	2,560	
			mysqlro.x8.2xlar ge.1c	16 cores, 128 GB	32,0 00	40,0 00	3,072	
			mysqlro.x8.3xlar ge.1c	24 cores, 192 GB	48,0 00	50,0 00	4,096	
			mysqlro.x8.4xlar ge.1c	32 cores, 256 GB	64,0 00	60,0 00	5,120	
			mysqlro.x8.13lar ge.1c	52 cores, 384 GB	104, 000	100, 000	8,192	
			mysqlro.x8.8xlar ge.1c	64 cores, 512 GB	128, 000	120, 000	10,240	
			mysqlro.x8.13xl arge.1c	104 cores, 768 GB	208, 000	200, 000	16,384	

5.Quick start 5.1. General workflow to use ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL

This topic walks you through the general workflow of creating an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance, configuring the basic parameters of the RDS instance, and connecting to the RDS instance.

General workflow

To use ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL, you must perform three steps. For more information, see the following topics:

- 1. Create an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance
- 2. Create databases and accounts for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance
- 3. Use DMS to log on to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

More operations

- Use a database client or the CLI to connect to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance
- Migrate data from a self-managed MySQL database to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

? Note

For more information about the general workflow to use an RDS instance that runs a different database engine, see the following topics:

- General workflow to use ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server
- General workflow to use ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL
- General workflow to use ApsaraDB RDS for MariaDB TX

5.2. Get ready to use ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL

This topic describes how to get ready before you use ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL. An RDS instance is a virtual database server. can communicate with RDS instances, and the data of application servers can be stored in RDS instances. Before you create an RDS instance or connect an application server to an RDS instance, you must obtain the information about the application server. Application servers

Procedure

- 1. Check whether your application has been deployed or will be deployed on an Alibaba Cloud service such as an .
 - If your application has been deployed or will be deployed on an ECS instance, go to Step 2.
 - If your application has not been deployed or will not be deployed on an ECS instance and you do not want to migrate data to an RDS instance, skip the following operations. In this case, create

an RDS instance and connect to the RDS instance over the Internet.

Note Communication over an internal network provides higher security, performance, and stability than communication over the Internet.

Elastic Compute Service (ECS) instance

2. Confirm the ECS instance.

i. Log on to the ECS console. In the left-side navigation pane, click Instances. In the top navigation bar, select the region where the ECS instance resides. The number in a blue circle indicates the number of ECS instances that reside in the region.

Select a region

Confirm the ECS instance

☆ Workbench ■ All Resources ∨	China (Hangzhou) 🔨
Elastic Compute Service / Instances	China (Qingdao)
Instances	China (Beijing) 1
	China (Zhangjiakou)
 Management of the second s	China (Hohhot)
	China (Ulanqab)
Create Instance Select an instance attr	China (Hangzhou) 38
C Indexe ID Alexand	China (Shanghai)
instance iD/Name lag	China (Shenzhen)

Note If no ECS instance is created, you must create an ECS instance. For more information, see Create and manage an ECS instance by using the ECS console.

ii. Find the ECS instance on which your application has been deployed or will be deployed. This instance is the ECS instance that you want to connect to the RDS instance. The following figure shows a sample ECS instance.

Elastic Compute Service	Elastic Compute Service / Instances			
Overview	Instances			
Events	• ************************************	10100		
Tags				
Troubleshooting	Create Instance Select a	n instance attribute or e	nter a keyword	0
ECS Cloud Assistant	Instance ID/Name	Tag	Monitoring	Zone
Instances & Images A		ECS Instance A		Hangzhou Zone H
Instances				

3. View the region and

Note If the ECS instance resides in the classic network, we recommend that you migrate the ECS instance to a VPC. For more information, see Migrate ECS instances from the classic network to a VPC.

View the region and network type of the ECS instance

🛱 Workbench 📑 All Resource	es 🗸 🗾	China (Hangzho	u) V Region			
Elastic Compute Service / Instances						
Instances						
· server begans are		-		00000		
Create Instance Select an instance	tance attribute o	r enter a keyword	i 🕜 C	۲ags		
Instance ID/Name	Tag	Monitoring	Zone	IP Address	Status	Network Type 🏆
ECS Instance A	♥ ♥ ■		Hangzhou Zone H	(Private)	Network Typ	e VPC

networktype

4. View the VPC information of the ECS instance.

If the ECS instance resides in a VPC, click the Instance ID and go to the Instance Details tab. You can view the ID and name of the VPC in the **Network Information** section of the tab.

Click the Instance ID

Elastic Compute Service	Elastic Compute Service / Instances	
Overview	Instances	
Events	 Arts Court & Advances Art Court and 	the state of the state of the
Tags		COLUMN STATE OF CASE
Troubleshooting	Create Instance Select an instance attribute or	enter a keyword 💿 🖸
ECS Cloud Assistant	Instance ID/Name Tag Instance ID	Monitoring Zone
Instances & Images A	i-bp 🗢 🗢 📬	Hangzhou Zone H

View the ID and name of the VPC

Network Information	
Network Type VPC	VPC
ENIs eni- Primary Private IP Address	ID vpc-bp Name ncluster-vpc IPv4 CIDR B
IPv6 Address -	IPv6 CIDR B - lock Created At

What to do next

Create an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

5.3. Create an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to create an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Note You are offered a reduced price on your first purchase of an RDS instance. For more information, visit the ApsaraDB RDS promotion page.

Prerequisites

The AliyunRDSFullAccess policy is attached to the RAM user that you used to create the RDS instance. For more information, see Use RAM for resource authorization.

Procedure

- 1. Go to the ApsaraDB RDS buy page.
- 2. Configure the Billing Method parameter.

Billing method	Description	Benefit
Subscription	A subscription instance is an instance for which you pay an upfront fee. If you want to use an instance for a long period of time, we recommend that you select the Subscription billing method. If you select the subscription billing method, configure the Duration parameter in the lower part of the page.	In most cases, the subscription billing method is more cost- effective than the pay-as-you- go billing method for long- term usage. Alibaba Cloud provides lower prices for longer subscription periods.
Pay-As-You- Go	You are charged on an hourly basis for a pay-as- you-go instance based on your actual resource usage. If you want to use an instance for a short period of time, we recommend that you select the Pay-As-You-Go billing method. You can create a pay-as-you-go RDS instance. After you confirm that the new RDS instance meets your business requirements, you can change the billing method of the RDS instance from pay-as-you-go to subscription .	You can release a pay-as-you- go RDS instance based on your business requirements. The billing cycle of a pay-as-you-go RDS instance immediately stops after you release the instance.

? Note You can view the price in the lower-right corner of the page. The price is displayed only after you configure all required parameters.

3. Configure the **Region** parameter.

We recommend that you use an RDS instance that resides in the same region as on which your application is deployed. If the RDS instance and the ECS instance reside in different regions, you cannot connect these instances over an internal network. In this case, these instances cannot

deliver the optimal performance.

? Note

- After an RDS instance is created, you cannot change the region of the RDS instance. If you want to connect an ECS instance and an RDS instance over an internal network, make sure that the RDS instance and the ECS instance reside in the same region.
- For more information about how to view the region in which an ECS instance resides, see Get ready to use ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL.
- If your application is deployed on an on-premises server or on-premises computer, we recommend that you select a region that is near your on-premises server or on-premises computer. This way, you can use the public endpoint of the RDS instance to connect to the RDS instance from your application.

the Elastic Compute Service (ECS) instance

4. Configure the **Database Engine** parameter.

In this example, select MySQL.

We recommend that you select MySQL 8.0 or MySQL 5.7 or select the database engine version that your self-managed MySQL instance runs. The default value of this parameter is 8.0.

5. Configure the **Edition** parameter. The default value of this parameter is **High-availability**.

Edition	Description	Benefit
Basic	In RDS Basic Edition, the database system consists of only a primary RDS instance.	RDS Basic Edition is cost-effective and is suitable for learning and testing scenarios. RDS instances that run RDS Basic Edition require a long period of time to restart or recover from faults.
High- availability	This is the recommended RDS edition. In RDS High-availability Edition, the database system consists of a primary RDS instance and a secondary RDS instance. You can create read-only RDS instances and attach the read-only RDS instances to the primary RDS instance.	RDS High-availability Edition is suitable for more than 80% of business scenarios that require production environments.
Enterprise	In RDS Enterprise Edition, the database system consists of a primary RDS instance, a secondary RDS instance, and a logger RDS instance. You can create read-only RDS instances and attach the read-only RDS instances to the primary RDS instance.	RDS Enterprise Edition is suitable for financial institutions that have high requirements for reliability.

? Note

- The available RDS editions vary based on the region and database engine version that you select. If you select MySQL 5.6, Basic is not displayed.
- For more information, see Overview of ApsaraDB RDS editions.

6. Configure the **Storage Type** parameter.

Comparis on item	ESSD (recommended)	Local SSD
Scalability	 **** You can increase the storage capacity up to 32 TB. No transient connections occur during storage expansion. You can upgrade, downgrade, create, or release the RDS instance in minutes. Automatic storage expansion is supported. 	 You can increase the storage capacity up to 6 TB. Transient connections occur during storage expansion. A few hours may be required to upgrade, downgrade, create, or release the RDS instance. Automatic storage expansion is not supported.
Performa nce	 **** PL1<pl2<pl3< li=""> An enhanced SSD (ESSD) of performance level 2 (PL2) provides twice the IOPS and throughput of an ESSD of performance level 1 (PL1). An ESSD of PL3 provides 20 times the IOPS and 11 times the throughput of an ESSD of PL1. </pl2<pl3<>	****
Backup	 ★ ★ ★ ★ A backup can be completed in minutes or seconds. The highest backup frequency is one backup every 15 minutes. 	 ★ ★ ★ A backup requires a long period of time to complete. The highest backup frequency is one backup every day.

? Note

- RDS instances that run MySQL 5.7 or MySQL 8.0 on RDS Basic Edition support only standard SSDs and ESSDs. RDS instances that run MySQL 8.0 or MySQL 5.7 on RDS Enterprise Edition support only local SSDs. RDS instances that run MySQL 5.6 or MySQL 5.5 on RDS High-availability Edition support only local SSDs. Serverless RDS instances support only standard SSDs and ESSDs.
- The available features vary based on the storage type that you select. For more information, see MySQL 8.0.
- For more information about different types of storage media, see Features.
- 7. Select the . zone
 - Select a zone.
 - No significant differences exist between the zones in the same region.
 - If the RDS instance resides in the same zone as the ECS instance on which your application is deployed, these instances can provide the optimal performance. If the RDS instance and the ECS instance reside in different zones in the same region, the performance of the RDS instance and the ECS instance is slightly lower than the performance of the RDS instance and the ECS instance that reside in the same zone.
 - Select a deployment method.
 - Multi-zone Deployment: The RDS instance and its secondary RDS instance reside in different zones to allow users to perform zone-disaster recovery. This is the recommended deployment method.
 - Single-zone Deployment: The RDS instance and its secondary RDS instance reside in the same zone.

Onte If you select Basic for the Edition parameter, only the Single-zone Deployment method is supported.

8. Configure the Instance Type parameter.

Description	Benefit
A general-purpose RDS instance occupies all the allocated memory and I/O resources. A general-purpose RDS instance shares CPU and storage resources with other general-purpose RDS instances that are deployed on the same nost.	General-purpose RDS instances are cost-effective.
A dedicated RDS instance occupies all the allocated CPU, memory, storage, and I/O resources.	A dedicated RDS instance provides higher performance and higher stability.
Note The dedicated host instance family is the highest configuration of the dedicated instance family. A dedicated host RDS instance occupies all CPU, memory, storage, and I/O resources of the host on which the RDS instance is deployed.	Note An RDS instance that runs RDS Basic Edition does not support the dedicated instance family.
	Description A general-purpose RDS instance occupies all he allocated memory and I/O resources. A general-purpose RDS instance shares CPU and torage resources with other general-purpose RDS instances that are deployed on the same nost. A dedicated RDS instance occupies all the allocated CPU, memory, storage, and I/O esources. Note The dedicated host instance family is the highest configuration of the dedicated instance family. A dedicated host RDS instance occupies all CPU, memory, storage, and I/O resources of the host on which the RDS instance is deployed.

i. Select an instance family. You can select General-purpose or Dedicated.

- ii. Select an instance type.
 - In a test environment, select an instance type that provides one or more CPU cores.
 - In a production environment, select an instance type that provides four or more CPU cores.

(?)	Note	For more information, see Primary ApsaraDB RDS for MySOL instance types.
0	NOLC	Tor more in ormation, see r finally Apsarabbilities for mysqe instance types.

Category	Dedicated	General-purpose			
	We recommend that	at you select the dedicat	ed instance family to	enjoy dedicated CPU	and memory resources that
	Instance Family	Instance Type 🥡	CPU (Cores) 🗏	Memory 🕸	Maximum Connections
2					-
		4.000			
	100	$(1-\varepsilon_{1})_{1} = (1-\varepsilon_{1})_{1} = (1-\varepsilon_{1})_{1$			
	lines.				
		1.00			
Currently Selected Specification	15:				-

9. Configure the **Capacity** parameter.

The value range of the storage capacity varies based on the instance type and storage type that you select.

You can change the storage capacity at a step size of 5 GB.

10. Configure the following parameters. This step is required only if you select the **Subscription** billing method and the **Local SSD** storage type.

We recommend that you set the **Backup Retention After Release** parameter to **Latest** or **All**. This way, you can retrieve the data of the RDS instance if the RDS instance is released due to overdue payments and data is lost.

Capacity	The minimum increment is 5 GB The storage space of some instances with local SSDs is determined by SSDs.View all instance types.			
Backup Retention After Release	🔿 None 🌑 Latest 🔿 All			

11. In the lower-right corner of the page, click **Next: Instance Configuration**.



12. Configure the . Network Type

i. **Network Type**: If your application is deployed on an ECS instance, the network type of the ECS instance and the RDS instance must be the same. Otherwise, you cannot connect the ECS instance and the RDS instance over an internal network.

? Note

- For more information about how to view the network type of the ECS instance, see Get ready to use ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL.
- If you do not want to connect the ECS instance and the RDS instance over an internal network, you can select the classic network type or the VPC network type.
- Specific RDS instances do not support the classic network type.

ii. VPC and vSwitch: If you select the VPC network type, you must also select a VPC and a vSwitch. We recommend that you select the VPC of the ECS instance on which your application is deployed. If the RDS instance and the ECS instance reside in different VPCs, you cannot connect these instances over an internal network.

? Note

- For more information about how to view the VPC in which your ECS instance resides, see Get ready to use ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL.
- You can connect the RDS instance and the ECS instance over an internal network even if the instances use different vSwitches in the same VPC.

13. Configure other custom parameters. If you do not have special business requirements, you can use the default values of these parameters.

Parameter	Description		
Release Protection nSpecifies whether to enable the release protection feature. The release protect feature is used to prevent a pay-as-you-go RDS instance from being released of incorrect operations. For more information, see Enable or disable the release protect feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.			
Minor Version Upgrade Policy	 The policy based on which the minor engine version of the RDS instance is updated. Automatic Upgrade: ApsaraDB RDS automatically updates the minor engine version of the RDS instance to the most recent version during the scheduled maintenance window. For more information about how to change the maintenance window, see Set the maintenance window of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. For more information about how to change the upgrade time, see Manage scheduled events. Manual Upgrade: You must manually update the minor engine version of the RDS instance on the Basic Information page. If you do not want to use the latest minor engine version, select Select Minor Version. Then, you can select a minor engine version from the drop-down list that is displayed. 		
Resource Group	The resource group to which the RDS instance belongs. You can use the default resource group or select a custom resource group based on your business requirements.		

14. In the lower-right corner of the page, click Next: Confirm Order.

0	Previous:Basic Configurations	Next:Confirm Order	Add to Cart

15. Confirm the configuration of the RDS instance in the Parameters section, configure the Purchase Plan and Duration parameters, read and select Terms of Service, and then click Pay Now. You must configure the Duration parameter only if you select the subscription billing method for the RDS instance.

? Note If you select the subscription billing method for the RDS instance, we recommend that you select **Auto-Renew Enabled**. This way, you can prevent interruptions on your application even if you forget to renew the RDS instance.

The "**Congratulations.**" or "**The service is activated**" message is displayed in the ApsaraDB RDS console.

16. View the RDS instance.

Go to the Instances page. In the top navigation bar, select the region where the RDS instance resides. Then, find the RDS instance based on the **Creation Time** parameter.

ApsaraDB RDS requires 1 to 10 minutes to create an RDS instance. You can refresh the page to view the RDS instance that you created.

Instance ID/Name	Instance Status	Creation Time	Instance Role $\ \begin{tabular}{lllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Database Engine 🏆
10000	Creating	09:54:56	Primary Instance	MySQL 8.0

What to do next

Create databases and accounts for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

FAQ

Why am I unable to find the RDS instance that I created?

Possible cause	Description	Suggestion
Incorrect region	The RDS instance does not reside in the region that you selected.	In the top navigation bar, select the region where the RDS instance resides. Then, you can find the RDS instance.
Insufficient resources	The zone that you selected cannot provide sufficient resources. If the RDS instance cannot be created, you can go to the Orders page in the Billing Management console to view the refunded fee.	We recommend that you select a different zone and try again.
RAM policies that do not allow users to create unencrypte d RDS instances	 RAM policies that do not allow users to create unencrypted RDS instances are attached to RAM users. If you use the credentials of a RAM user to create an RDS instance that uses local SSDs, the RDS instance cannot be created. When you create an RDS instance that uses local SSDs, you cannot enable disk encryption. If you use the credentials of a RAM user to create an RDS instance that uses standard SSDs or ESSDs and you do not enable disk encryption for the RDS instance, the RDS instance cannot be created. For more information, see Use RAM policies to manage the permissions of RAM users on ApsaraDB RDS instances. 	When you create an RDS instance, select the standard SSD or ESSD storage type, select Disk Encryption, set the Key parameter, and then try again.

References
- For more information about how to create an RDS instance by calling an API operation, see Create an instance.
- For more information about how to create an RDS instance that runs a different database engine, see the following topics:
 - Create an ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server instance
 - Create an ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL instance
 - Create an ApsaraDB RDS for MariaDB TX instance

5.4. Create databases and accounts for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to create databases and accounts for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Create a database

- 1.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Databases**.
- 3. Click Create Database.

Basic Information	Create Database	Import Database	
Accounts	Database Name		Database Status
Databases	testlhx		✓ Running

4. Configure the following parameters.

Parameter	Description
Dat abase Name	 The name must be 2 to 64 characters in length. The name must start with a lowercase letter and end with a lowercase letter or a digit. The name can contain lowercase letters, digits, underscores (_), and hyphens (-). The name must be unique within the RDS instance.
Supported Character Set	Select the character set that is supported by the database.

5. Click Create.

Create an account

1.

2. In the left-side navigation pane, click Accounts.

- 3. Click Create Account.
- 4. In the Database Account field, enter the username of the account.
 - The name must start with a lowercase letter and end with a lowercase letter or a digit.
 - The name can contain lowercase letters, digits, and underscores (_).
- 5. Specify the Account Type parameter.
 - Standard Account: Select databases from the Unauthorized Databases section, click the right arrow to move the selected databases to the Authorized Databases section, and then grant the Read /Write (DDL + DML), Read-only, DDL Only, or DML Only permissions to the account.
 - **Privileged Account**: The privileged account has permissions on all databases that are created on the RDS instance. You do not need to grant permissions on specific databases to the privileged account.
 - ? Note
 - For more information about the differences between privileged accounts and standard accounts, see Account types.
 - If the **Privileged Account** option is dimmed, a privileged account has been created on the RDS instance.
- 6. In the **Password** field, enter the password of the account.
 - The password must be 8 to 32 characters in length.
 - The password must contain at least three of the following character types: uppercase letters, lowercase letters, digits, and special characters. The password can contain the following special characters: !@ # \$ % ^ & * ()_ + =
- 7. Click OK.

FAQ

• Can I manage accounts at fine-grained levels, such as the source IP address level and the table level?

For more information, see Authorize an account to access its authorized databases from specified IP addresses in an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance and Authorize accounts to manage tables, views, and fields.

• Does ApsaraDB RDS provide accounts that are equivalent to root or superuser accounts?

No, ApsaraDB RDS does not provide accounts that are equivalent to root or superuser accounts. This way, your RDS instance can be protected from data loss and leaks that are caused by accidental operations.

References

- For more information about how to create an account for an RDS instance by calling an API operation, see Create an account.
- For more information about how to create a database for an RDS instance by calling an API operation, see Create database.
- For more information about how to create databases and accounts for an RDS instance that runs a different database engine, see the following topics:
 - Create an account and a database for an ApsaraDB RDS instance that runs SQL Server 2012, 2014,

2016, 2017 SE, or 2019 SE

- Create an account and a database for an ApsaraDB RDS instance that runs SQL Server 2008 R2
- Create databases and accounts for an ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL instance
- Create databases and accounts for an ApsaraDB RDS for MariaDB TX instance

5.5. Use DMS to log on to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to log on to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance by using Data Management (DMS). DMS supports features such as data management, user authorization, security audit, lock-free changes, data tracking, and data visualization.

Prerequisites

The following operations are complete:

- 1. Create an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance
- 2. Create databases and accounts for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

Procedure

1.

2. In the upper-right corner of the Basic Information page, click Log On to Database.

← rm-' Llog (Llog (Log On to Database	Opera	
Basic Information	Basic Information	Configure Whitelist			
Accounts	Instance ID	rm-1	Name	rm-i	
Databases	Zone 😰	China (Hangzhou) ZoneH(Primary) + ZoneH(Secondary)+ZoneH(Secondary)	Instance Role & Edition 🔞	Primary Instance (Enterprise Edition)	
Backup and Restoration	Network Type	VPC See Detail	Storage Type 🔞	Local SSD	

3. In the Login instance dialog box, enter the username and password of the account that is used to log on to the RDS instance. Then, click Login.

Onte To obtain the username and password of an account, you can perform the following operations:

i.

ii. In the left-side navigation pane, click Accounts.

* Database Type	MySQL	o ~
* Instance Region	China (Hangzhou)	⊘∨
* Instance ID	rm-1	⊘∨
* Database		ø
Account		
* Database		•
password		

4. After you log on to the RDS instance, manage the databases on which the account has permissions based on your business requirements. You can click the name of a database to switch to that database. In the example shown in the following figure, you switch from the information_schema database to a different database.



Onte The information_schema database and the mysql database are system databases.

5.6. Use a database client or the CLI to connect to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to configure IP address whitelists and use a database client or the CLI to connect to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Prerequisites

The operations that are described in the following topics are complete:

- Create an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance
- Create databases and accounts for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

Step 1: Check whether your application can connect to the RDS instance over an internal network

- 1. View the region of the instance on which your application is deployed. For more information, see Get ready to use ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL. Elastic Compute Service (ECS)network type
- 2. View the region and network type of the RDS instance.

Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console and go to the Instances page. In the top navigation bar, select the region where the RDS instance resides. Then, find the RDS instance and click the instance ID. On the page that appears, you can view the region, network type, and virtual private cloud (VPC) ID of the RDS instance.

ක Wo	orkbench	All Resou	urces 🗸 🗾	China (Han	gzhou) 🗡 Re	gion ^{Q Search}		Expenses
ApsaraD	B RDS / Instan	ces						
Inst	ances						Log On to Databa	Data Import
Basic	Information	Tags	High-performan	ce Edition				
Create	Instance	Instance ID/	Name 🗸 Pleas	se Enter Cor	ntent Q	Please select the	e label 🗸 🗸	
	Instance ID/	'Name	Instance Status	Creation Time	Instance Role	Database Engine	Billing Method	Network Type 🛛
			-	8.	Roman, Source	. 19×1	Ne	twork type VPC vpc- bp1

- 3. Check whether the ECS instance and the RDS instance meet the following conditions for communication over an internal network:
 - i. The ECS instance and the RDS instance reside in the same region.
 - ii. The ECS instance and the RDS instance reside in the same type of network. If the ECS instance and the RDS instance both reside in VPCs, these instances must reside in the same VPC.

Note If one of the preceding conditions is not met, the ECS instance cannot communicate with the RDS instance over an internal network.

Step 2: Configure IP address whitelists for the RDS instance

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click Data Security.
- 3. View the network isolation mode of the RDS instance.

(?) Note Existing RDS instances may run in enhanced whitelist mode. New RDS instances run in standard whitelist mode.

Standard whitelist mode

Whitelist Settings	Installers Ithink I
Create Whitelist	Network isolation mode standard whitelist.
Enhanced whitelist mode	2
Whitelist Settings	Installers 10.448 10
Create Whitelist	Network isolation mode <mark>r</mark> enhanced whitelist

4. Click **Modify** to the right of the IP address whitelist named **default**.

? Note	You can also click Create Whitelist to create an IP address whitelist.
The second se	Create Whitelist 🛈 Network isolation mode: standard whitelist. The following whitelists contain IP addresses from both classic networks and VPCs.
his silender	
allower to see here	V default Modify
	127.0.0.1
Data Security	O Note: You can specify CIDR blocks in the IP address whitelist, such as X.X.X.Y.X. The IP address 127.0.0.1 indicates that no IP addresses are allowed to access the KDS instance. Whitelist Setting Description

5. Add the IP address of the server on which your application is deployed to the default IP address whitelist.

The server can communicate with the RDS instance only after you add the IP address of the server to the default IP address whitelist.

* IP Addresses	

The following table describes various connection scenarios. You can obtain the required IP address based on your connection scenario and add the IP address to an IP address whitelist of the RDS instance. Obtain IP addresses

Connection scenario	IP address to be obtained	How to obtain the IP address
the conditions for communicatio n over an internal network	The private IP address of the ECS instance	
		i. Log on to the ECS console and go to the Instances page.

RDS MySQL Dat abase • Quick start

ApsaraDB for RDS

Connection scenario	IP address to be obtained	ii. In the top navigation bar, select the region where the ECS How instantsing and ress iii. View the public IP address and private IP address of the ECS		
You want to connect to the RDS instance from an ECS instance. The ECS instance and the RDS instance do not meet the conditions for communicatio n over an internal network.	The public IP address of the ECS instance	iii. View the public IP address and private IP address of the ECS instance. Hangzhou Hangzhou Zone H Hangzhou		
V		On the on-premises device, use a search engine such as Google to search for IP .		
connect to the RDS instance from an on- premises device.	The public IP address of the on- premises device	Note The IP address that you obtain by using this method may be inaccurate. For more information about how to obtain the accurate IP address of an on-premises device, see Why am I unable to connect to my ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL or ApsaraDB RDS for MariaDB instance from a local server over the Internet?		

? Note

- If you add multiple IP addresses and CIDR blocks to an IP address whitelist, you must separate the IP addresses and CIDR blocks with commas (,) and leave no spaces before and after each comma.
- You can add a maximum of 1,000 IP addresses and CIDR blocks in total for each RDS instance. If you want to add a large number of IP addresses, we recommend that you merge the IP addresses into CIDR blocks, such as 10.10.10.0/24.
- If an RDS instance runs in standard whitelist mode, you do not need to take note of special considerations when you configure IP address whitelists for the RDS instance. If an RDS instance runs in enhanced whitelist mode, you must take note of the following considerations when you configure IP address whitelists for the RDS instance:
 - Add public IP addresses or the private IP addresses of -hosted ECS instances to IP address whitelists of the classic network type. classic network
 - Add the private IP addresses of VPC-hosted ECS instances to IP address whitelists of the VPC network type.

6. Click OK.

Step 3: Connect to the RDS instance

To connect to the RDS instance by using the CLI, perform the following steps:

1. Log on to the server from which you want to connect to the RDS instance. For example, the server can be an ECS instance or an on-premises device.

Note For more information about how to log on to an ECS instance, see the "Connect to an instance" section in Create and manage an ECS instance by using the ECS console (express version).

2. Run the following command:

```
mysql -hEndpoint -PPort number -uUsername -p
P precedes the lowercase letter p.
```

 $//\ensuremath{\mathsf{Take}}$ note that the uppercase letter

• Endpoint and port number: Enter the endpoint and port number that are used to connect to the RDS instance.

|--|

Connection scenario	Endpoint to be obtained	How to obtain the endpoint
You want to connect to the RDS instance from an ECS instance. The ECS instance and the RDS instance meet the conditions for communicati on over an internal network. For more information, see the "Step 1: Check whether your application can connect to the RDS instance over an internal network" section of this topic.	The internal endpoint of the RDS instance	A. b. In the Basic Information section of the page that appears, click See Details to the right of the Network Type parameter to view the endpoint and port number that are used to connect to the RDS instance.
You want to connect to the RDS instance from an ECS instance. The ECS instance and the RDS instance do not meet the conditions for communicati on over an internal network.	The public endpoint of the RDS instance	 Before you can view the endpoint and port number that are used to connect to the RDS instance, you must configure IP address whitelists for the RDS instance. A public endpoint is displayed only after you click Apply for Public Endpoint to apply for a public endpoint for the RDS instance. Database Connection Switch VSwitch Change Endpoint Apply for Public Endpoint Network Type VPC(VPC) Internal Endpoint Configure WhitelistConfigure a whitelist first.

Connection scenario	Endpoint to be obtained	How to obtain the endpoint
Connect to the RDS instance from an on- premises device.		

• Username and password: Obtain the username and password of the account that is used to connect to the RDS instance from the page. Accounts

Example

root@ Enter password:	-> mysql -	h	.mysql.rds.aliyunc	s.com -P3306 -u -p
Successful con	nection			
Welcome to th Your MySQL co Server versio	e MySQL monitor. nnection id is 5 n: 8.0.18 Source	Commands end 1325 distribution	with ; or \g.	
⑦ Note Internation	f connection error	s occur, you can mmon connectio	troubleshoot the n errors.	errors by following

To connect to the RDS instance by using a database client, perform the following steps:

You can use a general-purpose MySQL client to connect to the RDS instance. In this example, MySQL Workbench is used. The methods of using other database clients to connect to the RDS instance are similar.

- 1. Go to the MySQL Community Downloads page, select the MySQL Workbench software package that can be used with your operating system, and then click **Download**.
- 2. Install MySQL Workbench.
- 3. Start MySQL Workbench and choose Database > Connect to Database.
- 4. Enter the information that is used to connect to the RDS instance.

🕅 Connect to Database					
Stored	Connection:		~		
Connect	tion Method:	Standard (TCP/IP)	~		
Parame	Parameters SSL Advanced				
	Hostname:	rm-bp la la charte man.mysc Port: 3306	Name or IP ad TCP/IP port.		
	Username:	shuhur	Name of the u		
	Password:	Store in Vault Clear	The user's pa not set.		
Default Schema:			The schema t blank to selec		

• **Host name** and **Port**: Enter the endpoint and port number that are used to connect to the RDS instance.

Connection scenario	Endpoint to be obtained	How to obtain the endpoint				
You want to connect to the RDS instance from an ECS instance. The ECS instance and the RDS instance meet the conditions for communicati on over an internal network. For more information, see the "Step 1: Check whether your application can connect to the RDS instance over an internal network" section of this topic.	The internal endpoint of the RDS instance	a. b. In the Basic Information section of the page that appears, click See Details to the right of the Network Type parameter to view the endpoint and port number that are used to connect to the RDS instance. Seconds Seconds Seconds Seconds Seconds Seconds				
You want to connect to the RDS instance from an ECS instance. The ECS instance and the RDS instance do not meet the conditions for communicati on over an internal network.	The public endpoint of the RDS instance	 that are used to connect to the RDS instance, you must configure IP address whitelists for the RDS instance. A public endpoint is displayed only after you click Apply for Public Endpoint to apply for a public endpoint for the RDS instance. Database Connection Switch VSwitch Change Endpoint Apply for Public Endpoint Network Type VPC(VPC) Internal Endpoint Configure WhitelistConfigure a whitelist first. 				

Connection scenario	Endpoint to be obtained	How to obtain the endpoint
Connect to the RDS instance from an on- premises device.		

• **Username** and **Password**: Obtain the username and password of the account that is used to connect to the RDS instance from the page. Accounts

Error message	Cause and solution
mysql command not found	 MySQL is not installed. Run the following commands to install MySQL: If you use a CentOS operating system, run the y um install mysql command. If you use an Ubuntu operating system, run the apt-get update command and then the apt install mysql-server command.
SSL connection error: SSL is required but the server doesn't support it	You are using the latest version of MySQL Workbench. In this version, standard TCP/IP connections require SSL encryption. However, the connected server does not support SSL encryption. In this case, you can download an earlier version of MySQL Workbench to establish regular connections.
Can't connect to MySQL server on 'rm- bp1xxxxxxxxxxxx.mysql.rds.aliyuncs.com'(10060) Cannot Connect to Database Server Your connection attempt failed for user 'xx" to the MySQL server	 In most cases, this error occurs because the IP address whitelists that you configured are inappropriate. For more information, see the "Step 2: Configure IP address whitelists for the RDS instance section of this topic. In a few cases, this error occurs because the RDS instance and the ECS instance do not meet the but you attempt to connect to the internal endpoint of the RDS instance. conditions for communication over an internal network
Access denied for user 'xxxxx'@'xxxxx'(using password:YES)	This error occurs because the username and password that you entered are incorrect. You can obtain the correct username and password from the page. Accounts
Unknown MySQL server host 'xxxxxxxx'(11001)	This error occurs because the endpoint that you entered is invalid. Valid endpoints are in the rm- xxxxxx.mysql.rds.aliyuncs.com format.

Common connection errors

References

- For more information about how to troubleshoot connection errors, see What do I do if I cannot connect an ECS instance to an ApsaraDB for RDS instance?
- For more information about how to connect to an RDS instance in a more convenient and efficient manner, see Use DMS to log on to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- For more information about how to connect to an RDS instance that runs a different database engine, see the following topics:
 - Connect to an ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server instance
 - Connect to an ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL instance
 - Connect to an ApsaraDB RDS for MariaDB TX instance

6.Data migration 6.1. Overview of data migration methods

This topic describes the methods that you can use to migrate data among self-managed data centers, third-party clouds, and ApsaraDB RDS with no downtime.

Scenario	References			
Migrate data from a MySQL database in a self-managed data center to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	 Migrate the data of a self-managed MySQL 5.7 or MySQL 8.0 instance to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance Migrate data from a self-managed MySQL database to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance Migrate data from a self-managed MySQL database connected over Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance Migrate data from a self-managed Db2 database to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance Use mysqldump to migrate data from a self-managed MySQL instance Migrate data from a self-managed DDS for MySQL instance Use mysqldump to migrate data from a self-managed MySQL instance Migrate data from a self-managed Oracle database to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance 			
Migrate data from a MySQL database on a third-party cloud to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	 Migrate data from an Amazon RDS for MySQL instance to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance Migrate data from an Amazon RDS for Oracle instance to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance Migrate data from an Amazon Aurora MySQL cluster to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance Migrate a MySQL database from Google Cloud to Alibaba Cloud 			
Migrate data between ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances	 Migrate data between RDS instances Migrate data between databases that have different names Migrate data between RDS instances of different Alibaba Cloud accounts Database clone 			

6.2. Data Migration from a Usercreated Database to an ApsaraDB RDS MySQL Instance

6.2.1. Migrate data from a self-managed MySQL database to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to migrate data from a self-managed MySQL database to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance by using Data Transmission Service (DTS). DTS supports schema migration, full data migration, and incremental data migration. When you migrate data from a self-managed MySQL database to Alibaba Cloud, you can use all of the supported migration types to ensure service continuity.

Prerequisites

- An ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance is created. For more information, see Create an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- The version of the self-managed MySQL database is 5.1, 5.5, 5.6, 5.7, or 8.0.
- The available storage space of the destination ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance is larger than the total size of the data in the self-managed MySQL database.

Precautions

- DTS uses read and write resources of the source and destination databases during full data migration. This may increase the loads of the database servers. If the database performance is unfavorable, the specification is low, or the data volume is large, database services may become unavailable. For example, DTS occupies a large amount of read and write resources in the following cases: a large number of slow SQL queries are performed on the source database, the tables have no primary keys, or a deadlock occurs in the destination database. Before you migrate data, evaluate the impact of data migration on the performance of the source and destination databases. We recommend that you migrate data during off-peak hours. For example, you can migrate data when the CPU utilization of the source and destination databases is less than 30%.
- The tables to be migrated in the source database must have PRIMARY KEY or UNIQUE constraints and all fields must be unique. Otherwise, the destination database may contain duplicate data records.
- DTS uses the ROUND (COLUMN, PRECISION) function to retrieve values from columns of the FLOAT or DOUBLE data type. If you do not specify a precision, DTS sets the precision for the FLOAT data type to 38 digits and the precision for the DOUBLE data type to 308 digits. You must check whether the precision settings meet your business requirements.
- DTS automatically creates a destination database in the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. However, if the name of the source database is invalid, you must manually create a database in the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance before you configure the data migration task.

? Note For more information about the naming conventions of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL databases and how to create a database, see Create a database on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

• If a data migration task fails, DTS automatically resumes the task. Before you switch your workloads to the destination instance, stop or release the data migration task. Otherwise, the data in the source database will overwrite the data in the destination instance after the task is resumed.

Billing

Migration type Task configuration fe		Internet traffic fee
Schema migration and full data migration	Free of charge.	Charged only when data is migrated from
Incremental data migration	Charged. For more information, see Pricing.	information, see Pricing.

Migration types

• Schema migration

DTS migrates the schemas of the required objects to the destination instance. DTS supports schema migration for the following types of objects: table, view, trigger, stored procedure, and function.

? Note

- During schema migration, DTS changes the value of the SECURITY attribute from DEFINER to INVOKER for views, stored procedures, and functions.
- DTS does not migrate user information. Before a user can call views, stored procedures, and functions of the destination database, you must grant the read and write permissions to the user.

• Full data migration

DTS migrates historical data of the required objects from the self-managed MySQL database to the destination database in the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

? Note During full data migration, concurrent INSERT operations cause fragmentation in the tables of the destination database. After full data migration is complete, the tablespace of the destination database is larger than that of the source database.

• Incremental data migration

After full data migration is complete, DTS retrieves binary log files from the self-managed MySQL database. Then, DTS synchronizes incremental data from the self-managed MySQL database to the destination ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. Incremental data migration allows you to ensure service continuity when you migrate data from a self-managed MySQL database to Alibaba Cloud.

SQL operations that can be synchronized during incremental data migration

Operatio n type	SQL statements
DML	INSERT, UPDATE, DELETE, and REPLACE

n

Operatio n type	SQL statements
DDL	 ALTER TABLE and ALTER VIEW CREATE FUNCTION, CREATE INDEX, CREATE PROCEDURE, CREATE TABLE, and CREATE VIEW DROP INDEX and DROP TABLE RENAME TABLE TRUNCATE TABLE

Permissions required for database accounts

Database	Schema migration	Full data migration	Incremental data migration
Self-managed MySQL database	The SELECT permission	The SELECT permission	The REPLICATION SLAVE, REPLICATION CLIENT, SHOW VIEW, and SELECT permissions
ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	The read and write permissions	The read and write permissions	The read and write permissions

For more information about how to create and authorize a database account, see the following topics:

- Self-managed MySQL database: Create an account for a user-created MySQL database and configure binary logging
- ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance: Create an account on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance and Modify the permissions of a standard account on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Before you begin

Create an account for a user-created MySQL database and configure binary logging

Procedure

- 1. Log on to the DTS console.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Data Migration**.
- 3. In the upper part of the **Migration Tasks** page, select the region where the RDS instance resides.
- 4. In the upper-right corner of the page, click Create Migration Task.
- 5. Configure the source and destination databases.

RDS MySQL Dat abase · Dat a migratio

ApsaraDB for RDS

1.Configure Source and Destination	n 2.Configure Migration Types and Objects 🔪		3.Map name modification	\rightarrow	4	.Precheck
		_				
* Task Name: M	IySQL_TO_MySQL					
Source Database						
		_				
* Instance Type:	User-Created Database with Public IP Address	*				
* Instance Region:	Singapore	٣	Get IP Address Segment of DTS			
* Database Type:	MySQL	•				
* Hostname or IP Address:						
* Port Number:	3306					
* Database Account:	dtstest					
* Database Password:	•••••	∮	Test Connectivity Sease	d		
Destination Database						
		_				
* Instance Type:	RDS Instance	۳				
* Instance Region:	Singapore	*				
* RDS Instance ID:	100000000	•				
* Database Account:	dtstest					
* Database Password:	•••••	<	Test Connectivity Seaso	ed		
					Cancel	Set Whitelist and Next

Section	Parameter	Description	
N/A	Task Name	DTS automatically generates a task name. We recommend that you specify an informative name for easy identification. You do not need to use a unique task name.	
		Select an instance type based on the deployment of the source database. In this example, select User-Created Database with Public IP Address .	
	Instance Type	Note If you select other instance types, you must deploy the network environment for the source database. For more information, see Preparation overview .	
		If the instance type is set to User-Created Database with Public IP Address , you do not need to specify the instance region .	
	Instance Region	Note If a whitelist is configured for the self-managed MySQL database, you must manually add the CIDR blocks of DTS servers to the whitelist of the database. You can click Get IP Address Segment of DTS next to Instance Region to obtain the CIDR blocks of DTS servers.	
	Database Type	Select MySQL.	
Source			

RDS MySQL Dat abase • Dat a migratio

n

Database Section	Parameter	Description
	Hostname or IP Address	Enter the endpoint that is used to connect to the self-managed MySQL database. In this example, enter the public IP address.
	Port Number	Enter the service port number of the self-managed MySQL database. The port must be accessible over the Internet. The default port number is 3306 .
	Dat abase Account	Enter the account of the self-managed MySQL database. For more information about the permissions that are required for the account, see Permissions required for database accounts.
		Enter the password of the database account.
	Dat abase Password	? Note After you specify the information about the self- managed Oracle database, you can click Test Connectivity next to Database Password to check whether the information is valid. If the information is valid, the Passed message appears. If the Failed message appears, click Check next to Failed . Then, modify the information based on the check results.
	Instance Type	Select RDS Instance.
	Instance Region	Select the region where the destination RDS instance resides.
	RDS Instance ID	Select the ID of the destination RDS instance.
	Dat abase Account	Enter the database account of the destination RDS instance. For more information about the permissions that are required for the account, see Permissions required for database accounts.
		Enter the password of the database account.
Destinatio n Database	Dat abase Password	Note After you specify the information about the RDS instance, you can click Test Connectivity next to Database Password to check whether the information is valid. If the information is valid, the Passed message appears. If the Failed message appears, click Check next to Failed . Then, modify the information based on the check results.
		Select Non-encrypted or SSI-encrypted. If you want to select
	Encryption	SSL-encrypted, you must enable SSL encryption for the RDS instance before you configure the data migration task. For more information, see Configure SSL encryption on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
		Note The Encryption parameter is available only for regions in mainland China and the China (Hong Kong) region.

6. In the lower-right corner of the page, click **Set Whitelist and Next**.

Note DTS adds the CIDR blocks of DTS servers to the whitelist of the destination RDS instance. This ensures that DTS servers can connect to the destination RDS instance.

7. Select the migration types and the objects to be migrated.

		2.Configure Migration Typ	oes and	3.Advanced Settin	ngs 🗡	4.Precheck
* Migration Types: triggers. For more in	: 🗹 Schema Migration formation, see Referen	✓ Full Data Migration ce	✓ Incremental D	ata Migration Note	: Incremental data migrat	ion does not support
Note: do not clea cleans up the log	n up the incremental da too early, the DTS incre	ata log generated by the source emental task may fail	e database after the I	OTS task is started whe	n the DTS full task is runn	ing. If the source database
Data migration ap between Apsara S For long-term dat	pplies to short-term mig Stack databases. ta synchronization in rea	ration scenarios. Typical scenar al time, use the data synchroniz	rios include migrating zation feature.) data to the doud, sca	ling and sharding databas	es, and migrating data
Available				Selected (To edit an Edit.) Learn more.	object name or its filter, l	nover over the object and click
Expand the tree	before you perform a g	lol Q				Q
🖃 📑 dtstestd	data			ា dtstestdata	(20bjects)	
E View	s			customer		
			>	order		
			-			
			<			
Select All				Remove All		
Select All *Rename Databases	s and Tables:	 Do Not Change Database 	and Table Names	Remove All Change Database	e and Table Names	
Select All *Rename Databases * Retry Time for Fai	s and Tables: iled Connection	Do Not Change Database 720 Minutes	and Table Names	Remove All Change Database	e and Table Names	
Select All *Rename Databases * Retry Time for Fai	s and Tables: iled Connection	Do Not Change Database 720 Minutes	and Table Names	Remove All Change Database	e and Table Names	
Select All *Rename Databases * Retry Time for Fail	s and Tables: iled Connection	Do Not Change Database 720 Minutes	and Table Names	Remove All Change Database	e and Table Names	
Select All *Rename Databases * Retry Time for Fail Information:	s and Tables: iled Connection	Do Not Change Database 720 Minutes	and Table Names	Remove All Change Database	e and Table Names	
Select All *Rename Databases * Retry Time for Fail Information: 1. Data migration on in the source databa	s and Tables: iled Connection nly copies the data and :	Do Not Change Database 720 Minutes schema in the source database	and Table Names (?) and saves the copy	Remove All Change Database in the destination database	e and Table Names	t affect any data or schema
Select All *Rename Databases * Retry Time for Fai Information: 1. Data migration on in the source databa 2. Do not do DDL op	s and Tables: iled Connection nly copies the data and i ase, peration during structure	Do Not Change Database 720 Minutes schema in the source database and full migration, otherwise I	and Table Names (?) and saves the copy the task may fail	Remove All Change Database in the destination database	e and Table Names base. The process does no	t affect any data or schema
Select All *Rename Databases * Retry Time for Fai Informations Data migration on in the source databa 2. Do not do DDL op	s and Tables: iled Connection nly copies the data and ase. peration during structure	Do Not Change Database 720 Minutes schema in the source database e and full migration, otherwise i	and Table Names ② and saves the copy the task may fail	Remove All Change Database In the destination datab	e and Table Names	t affect any data or schema
Select All *Rename Databases * Retry Time for Fai Information: 1. Data migration on in the source databa 2. Do not do DDL op	s and Tables: iled Connection hly copies the data and see, peration during structure	Do Not Change Database 720 Minutes schema in the source database e and full migration, otherwise t	and Table Names (?) and saves the copy the task may fail	Remove All Change Database In the destination database Can	e and Table Names	t affect any data or schema Save Precheck
Select All *Rename Databases * Retry Time for Fai Information: 1. Data migration on in the source databa 2. Do not do DDL op	s and Tables: iled Connection nly copies the data and i ase. peration during structure	Do Not Change Database 720 Minutes schema in the source database e and full migration, otherwise	and Table Names Image: Control of the second sec	Remove All Change Database	e and Table Names	t affect any data or schema Save Precheck

n

Setting	Description
Select the migratio n types	 To perform only full data migration, select Schema Migration and Full Data Migration. To migrate data with minimal downtime, select Schema Migration, Full Data Migration, and Incremental Data Migration. Note If Incremental Data Migration is not selected, do not write data to the source database during full data migration. This ensures data consistency between the source and destination databases.
Select the objects to be migrate d	 Select one or more objects from the Available section and click the > icon to move the objects to the Selected section. Note You can select columns, tables, or databases as the objects to be migrated. If you select tables or columns as the objects to be migrated, DTS does not migrate other objects such as views, triggers, and stored procedures to the destination database. By default, after an object is migrated to the destination database, the name of the object remains unchanged. You can use the object name mapping feature to change the names of the objects that are migrated to the destination database. If you use the object name mapping feature on an object, other objects that are dependent on the object may fail to be migrated.
Specify whether to rename object names	You can use the object name mapping feature to change the names of the objects that are migrated to the destination instance. For more information, see Object name mapping.
Specify the retry time for failed connecti ons to the source or	By default, if DTS fails to connect to the source or destination database, DTS retries within the next 12 hours. You can specify the retry time based on your needs. If DTS reconnects to the source and destination databases within the specified time, DTS resumes the data migration task. Otherwise, the data migration task fails. Note When DTS retries a connection, you are charged for the DTS instance. We recommend that you specify the retry time based on your business needs. You can also release the DTS instance at your earliest opportunity after the source and
on databas e	destination instances are released.

Setting	Description		
Specify whether to copy tempora ry tables to the destinati on databas e when	 If you use Data Management (DMS) to perform online DDL operations on the source database, you can specify whether to migrate temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. Yes: DTS migrates the data of temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. Note If online DDL operations generate a large amount of data, the migration task will be delayed. 		
perform s online	• No : DTS does not migrate the data of temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. Only the original DDL data of the source database is migrated.		
operatio ns on the source table	? Note If you select No, the tables in the destination database may be locked.		

8. Click Precheck.

? Note

- A precheck is performed before the migration task starts. The migration task only starts after the precheck succeeds.
- If the precheck fails, click the

1

icon next to each failed check item to view the related details. Fix the issues as instructed and run the precheck again.

- 9. After the data migration task passes the precheck, click Next.
- 10. In the **Confirm Settings** dialog box, configure the **Channel Specification** parameter. Then, read and select **Data Transmission Service (Pay-as-you-go) Service Terms**.
- 11. Click **Buy and Start** to start the data migration task.

Stop the migration task

Warning We recommend that you prepare a rollback solution to migrate incremental data from the destination database to the source database in real time. This allows you to minimize the negative impact of switching your workloads to the destination database. For more information, see Switch workloads to the destination database. If you do not need to switch your workloads, you can perform the following steps to stop the migration task.

• Full data migration

Do not manually stop a task during full data migration. Otherwise, the system may fail to migrate all data. Wait until the migration task automatically ends.

• Incremental data migration

The task does not automatically end during incremental data migration. You must manually stop the migration task.

- i. Wait until the task progress bar shows **Incremental Data Migration** and **The migration task is not delayed**. Then, stop writing data to the source database for a few minutes. In some cases, the progress bar shows the delay time of **incremental data migration**.
- ii. After the status of **incremental data migration** changes to **The migration task is not delayed**, manually stop the migration task.

hsk Name v Search by migration task name. Search Sort: Default Sorting v Status: All	✓ Son Tag
Task ID/Name: Status: Migrating Quick Diagnostics Pause Task View Detail	Is Duplicate Task Upgrade Configure Monitoring and Alerting Change password Edit Tag
4 Nov 2021, 09:59:01 Created Schema Migration 100% Full Data Migration 100%(Migrated Rows: 1)	Completed
Pause Stop Delete Edit Tag	Total: 1 item(s), Per Page: 20 item(s) 🛛 🖌 🕴

What to do next

The database accounts that are used for data migration have the read and write permissions. After you migrate data, you must delete the database accounts to ensure security.

FAQ

• Q: What can I do if a migration task fails to pass the precheck?

A: For more information, see Source database connectivity.

• Q: How can I troubleshoot a failed migration task?

A: For more information, see Fix a failed data migration task.

6.2.2. Migrate the data of a self-managed MySQL 5.7 or MySQL 8.0 instance to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to migrate the data of a self-managed MySQL instance to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance that runs the same MySQL version as the self-managed MySQL instance. You can perform a full backup on the self-managed MySQL instance, upload the full backup file to an Object Storage Service (OSS) bucket, import the full backup file from the OSS bucket into a temporary RDS instance, and then restore the data from the full backup file to the destination RDS instance.

Prerequisites

- An Alibaba Cloud account is created.
- The self-managed instance meets the migration conditions. For more information, see Appendix 5: Limits.
- An OSS bucket is created in the region where the destination RDS instance resides. For more information, see Create buckets.

Onte The OSS bucket that you create must reside in the same region as the destination RDS instance.

Migration process

The migration process consists of the following steps:

Step 1: Install Percona XtraBackup

Step 2: Install MySQL Backup Helper

Step 3: Back up the self-managed MySQL instance and migrate the backup data to the RDS instance

Onte For more information, seeVideo tutorial.

Environment

In this topic, the self-managed MySQL instance is deployed on an Elastic Compute Service (ECS) instance. The image that is used to create the self-managed MySQL instance runs CentOS Linux V8.3.2011. For more information, see Create an instance by using the wizard.

Step 1: Install Percona XtraBackup

Percona XtraBackup is developed by Percona to help you back up MySQL databases without impacting uptime. Percona XtraBackup is compatible with various storage engines. If you use an Ubuntu operating system, see Appendix 1: Install Percona XtraBackup in an Ubuntu operating system.

1. Install the Percona repository.

yum install -y https://repo.percona.com/yum/percona-release-latest.noarch.rpm

2. Enable the Percona repository.

percona-release enable-only tools release

3. Install Percona XtraBackup 2.4 or Percona XtraBackup 8.0.

```
yum install -y percona-xtrabackup-24 # Install Percona XtraBackup 2.4.
yum install -y percona-xtrabackup-80 # Install Percona XtraBackup 8.0.
```

- Onte You must select the version of Percona XtraBackup based on the MySQL version.
 - MySQL 5.7: Install Percona XtraBackup 2.4.
 - MySQL 8.0: Install Percona XtraBackup 8.0.

Step 2: Install MySQL Backup Helper

Prerequisites

• The Go programming language is installed. If Go is not installed, run the following command in the CLI to install Go:

yum install -y go

• The UnZip utility is installed. If UnZip is not installed, run the following command in the CLI to install

n

UnZip:

yum install -y unzip

Note The preceding commands are supported only for CentOS. If you use an Ubuntu operating system, see Appendix 2: Install Go and UnZip in an Ubuntu operating system.

1. Download the MySQL Backup Helper source package.

wget https://github.com/aliyun/mysql-backup-helper/archive/refs/heads/master.zip

Note You can download the MySQL Backup Helper source package from the mysql-backup-helper page.

2. Decompress the MySQL Backup Helper source package.

unzip master.zip

3. Go to the *mysql-backup-helper-master* folder and compile the main.go file into an executable file named backup_helper.

```
cd mysql-backup-helper-master
go build -a -o backup-helper main.go
```

4. Go to the *oss_stream* folder and compile the oss_stream.go file into an executable file named oss_stream.

```
cd oss_stream
go build -a -o oss_stream oss_stream.go
```

Step 3: Back up the self-managed MySQL instance and migrate the backup data to the RDS instance

1. Use MySQL Backup Helperto check whether the self-managed MySQL instance supports backups.

cd ~/mysql-backup-helper-master && ./backup-helper -host <The IP address of the host in which the self-managed MySQL instance resides> -port <The port number that is used to c onnect to the self-managed MySQL instance> -user <The username of the root account that is used to connect to the self-managed MySQL instance> --password <The password of the root account that is used to connect to the self-managed MySQL instance>

2. After the self-managed MySQL instance passes the check, perform a full backup on the instance and upload the full backup file to your OSS bucket. If no OSS bucket is created, create one. For more information, see the "Prerequisites" section of this topic.

innobackupex --backup --host=<The IP address of the host in which the self-managed MySQ L instance resides> --port=<The port number that is used to connect to the self-managed MySQL instance> --user=<The username of the root account that is used to connect to the self-managed MySQL instance> --password=<The password of the root account that is used to connect to the self-managed MySQL instance> --stream=xbstream --compres <The tempora ry directory that is used to store the full backup file> | ./mysql-backup-helper-master /oss_stream/oss_stream -accessKeyId <The AccessKey ID of your Alibaba Cloud account> -a ccessKeySecret <The AccessKey secret of your Alibaba Cloud account> -bucketName <The na me of your OSS bucket> -endpoint <The endpoint that is used to connect to your OSS buck et> -objectName <The name of the full backup file after the file is uploaded as an obje ct to your OSS bucket>

Examples:

innobackupex --backup --host=127.0.0.1 --port=3306 --user=root --password=Aa123456@ --s
tream=xbstream --compress /root/mysql/data | ./mysql-backup-helper-master/oss_stream/os
s_stream -accessKeyId LTAI5tCqY18jvvKk******* -accessKeySecret 4A5Q7ZVzcYnWMQPysXFxld*
******* -bucketName test -endpoint oss-*******.aliyuncs.com -objectName backup qp.xb

⑦ Note

- The status of the self-managed MySQL instance during the full backup affects the time that is required to complete the full backup. For example, if a large number of redo log records are generated from a large number of write operations or large transactions are run during the full backup, the time that is required increases. When the full backup is complete, the system displays the "completed OK ! "message.
- The amount of data in the self-managed MySQL instance also affects the time that is required to complete the full backup. A larger amount of data requires a longer period of time. If the self-managed MySQL instance has a large amount of data, we recommend that you run the nohup command to perform the full backup in the background. This way, you can prevent interruptions to the full backup in the event of unexpected logoffs. Sample statement:

```
nohup sh -c 'innobackupex --backup --host=127.0.0.1 --port=3306 --user=root -
-password=Aal23456@ --stream=xbstream --compress /root/mysql/data | ./mysql-b
ackup-helper-master/oss_stream/oss_stream -accessKeyId LTAI5tCqY18jvvKk*****
** -accessKeySecret 4A5Q7ZVzcYnWMQPysXFxld******* -bucketName test -endpoint
oss-ap-southeast-1.aliyuncs.com -objectName backup_qp.xb' &
```

- If your OSS bucket is temporarily inaccessible, we recommend that you save the full backup file to your computer. When your OSS bucket is restored to normal, you can upload the full backup file to your OSS bucket. For more information, see Appendix 3: Perform a full backup, save the full backup file to your computer, and then upload the full backup file to your OSS bucket.
- After you upload the full backup file to your OSS bucket, you can log on to the OSS console to check whether the upload is successful. If the upload failed, you can repeat this step.
- 3. Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console. In the top navigation bar, select the region of the RDS instance to which you want to restore the data of the self-managed MySQL instance.
- 4. In the left-side navigation pane, click Backups.

- 5. On the tab that appears, click **Import Backup**. In the wizard that appears, read the messages that are displayed and click **Next** until you enter the **3**. **Import Data** step.
- 6. Select the name of your OSS bucket from the OSS Bucket drop-down list. In the File Name section, select the full backup file that you want to import. Select the zone to which you want to import the full backup file from the Zonedrop-down list. Then, click OK.

? Note

- If ApsaraDB RDS is not authorized to access OSS resources, click Authorize. In the lower-left corner of the page that appears, click Confirm Authorization Policy.
- ApsaraDB RDS creates a task to check the backup file. You can view the status of the task on the **User Backups** page. When **Status** of the task changes from **Verifying** to **Completed**, the task is complete. The time that is required to complete the task varies based on the status of the self-managed MySQL instance during the full backup. For example, if a large number of redo log records are generated from a large number of write operations or large transactions are run during the full backup, the time that is required to complete the task increases.

7.

8. Configure the following parameters and click **Next: Instance Configuration**.

Parameter	Description		
	The zone to which the primary RDS instance belongs.		
Zone of Primary Node	Note If you did not select a zone for the OSS bucket that stores the full backup file when you import the file, this parameter is displayed. If you selected a zone for the OSS bucket that stores the full backup file when you import the file, this parameter is not displayed.		
Storage type	 • ESSD PL1: An enhanced SSD (ESSD) of performance level 1 (PL1) is a regular ESSD. • Standard SSD: A standard SSD is an elastic block storage device that is designed based on the distributed storage architecture of Alibaba Cloud. You can store data on standard SSDs to separate computing from storage. ⑦ Note For more information about storage types, see Storage types. 		
Instance Type	General-purpose: specifies the general-purpose instance family. A general- purpose instance exclusively occupies the allocated memory and I/O resources. However, it shares CPU and storage resources with the other general-purpose instances that are deployed on the same server.		
	capacity, maximum number of connections, and maximum IOPS. For more information, see Primary ApsaraDB RDS instance types .		

Parameter	Description
Capacity	The storage capacity that is used to store data files, system files, binary log files, and transaction files in the RDS instance. You can adjust the storage capacity at a step size of 5 GB.

9.

10.

Appendix 1: Install Percona XtraBackup in an Ubuntu operating system

1. Download the latest Percona package.

wget https://repo.percona.com/apt/percona-release latest.\$(lsb release -sc) all.deb

2. Install the downloaded Percona package.

sudo dpkg -i percona-release_latest.\$(lsb_release -sc)_all.deb

3. Enable the Percona repository.

percona-release enable-only tools release

4. Update the list of software applications in the local repository.

apt-get update

5. Install Percona XtraBackup 2.4 or Percona XtraBackup 8.0.

```
sudo apt-get install -y percona-xtrabackup-24 //Install Percona XtraBackup 2.4.
sudo apt-get install percona-xtrabackup-80 //Install Percona XtraBackup 8.0.
```

- ONOTE You must select the version of Percona XtraBackup based on the MySQL version.
 - MySQL 5.7: Install Percona XtraBackup 2.4.
 - MySQL 8.0: Install Percona XtraBackup 8.0.

6. Install the qpress tool.

sudo apt-get install -y qpress

(?) Note The qpress tool is used to unzip the backup files that are generated by Percona XtraBackup. If you are using an Ubuntu operating system, Percona XtraBackup is not integrated with the qpress tool and you must install this tool.

(?) Note If a message similar to "The following packages have unmet dependencies" is displayed when you perform any of the preceding steps, run the apt-get -f install command to install the required dependency packages. Then, perform the step again.

Appendix 2: Install Go and UnZip in an Ubuntu operating system

• Install the Go programming language.

```
sudo apt-get install -y software-properties-common
sudo add-apt-repository ppa:longsleep/golang-backports
sudo apt-get update
sudo apt-get install -y golang-go
```

• Install the UnZip utility.

sudo apt-get -y install unzip

Appendix 3: Perform a full backup, save the full backup file to your computer, and then upload the full backup file to your OSS bucket

1. Perform a full backup on the self-managed MySQL instance and save the full backup file to your computer.

innobackupex --backup --host=<The IP address of the host in which the self-managed MySQ L instance resides> --port=<The port number that is used to connect to the self-managed MySQL instance> --user=<The username of the root account that is used to connect to the self-managed MySQL instance> --password=<The password of the root account that is used to connect to the self-managed MySQL instance> --stream=xbstream --compress <The tempor ary directory that is used to store the full backup file> > /<The directory that is use d to store the full backup file>/<The name of the full backup file> qp.xb

Examples:

innobackupex --backup --host=127.0.0.1 --port=3306 --user=root --password=Aa123456@ --s
tream=xbstream --compress /root/mysql/data > /root/backup qp.xb

2. Upload the full backup file to your OSS bucket by using OSS_Stream.

cat /<The directory that is used to store the full backup file>/<The name of the full b ackup file>_qp.xb | ./mysql-backup-helper-master/oss_stream/oss_stream -accessKeyId LTA I5tCqY18jvvKk******* -accessKeySecret 4A5Q7ZVzcYnWMQPysXFxld******* -bucketName test -endpoint oss-*******.aliyuncs.com -objectName backup_qp.xb

Examples:

cat /root/backup_qp.xb | ./mysql-backup-helper-master/oss_stream/oss_stream -accessKeyI d LTAI5tCqY18jvvKk******* -accessKeySecret 4A5Q7ZVzcYnWMQPysXFxld******* -bucketName test -endpoint oss-*******.aliyuncs.com -objectName backup_qp.xb

Appendix 5: Limits

ltem

Description

> Document Version: 20220712

ltem	Description
	The self-managed MySQL instance must run one of the following MySQL versions:MySQL 5.7.32 or earlierMySQL 8.0.18 or earlier
MySQL version	Note The self-managed MySQL instance must run the same MySQL version as the destination RDS instance. For example, the backup data of a self-managed MySQL instance that runs MySQL 5.7 can be restored only to an RDS instance that runs MySQL 5.7.
Self-managed MySQL instance	 The data of the self-managed MySQL instance must be stored in the datadir directory on the host in which the instance resides. You can run the following command in the CLI to access the datadir directory: mysqladmin -u<the account="" connect="" d="" instance="" is="" mysql="" name="" of="" root="" self-manage="" that="" the="" to="" used="" user=""> -p<the account="" connect="" instance="" is="" mysql="" of="" password="" root="" self-managed="" that="" the="" to="" used=""> variables grep dat adir .</the></the> You must set the innodb_data_file_path parameter to the default value ibdata1 .
Backup	 After the full backup of the self-managed MySQL instance is complete, the incremental data that is generated in the self-managed instance is not included in the full backup file. If the self-managed MySQL instance runs MySQL 5.7, you must use Percona XtraBackup 2.4 to back up the instance. When you use Percona XtraBackup to back up the self-managed MySQL instance, you cannot configure thetables ,tables-exclude ,tables-file ,databases , ordatabases-file option. You cannot read encrypted objects from OSS buckets. Therefore, you must set the Encryption Method parameter to None when you create an OSS bucket. Differential backup files and log backup files are not supported. The name of the full backup file cannot contain special characters. If the name of the full backup file contains special characters, the file cannot be imported into the destination RDS instance. After you authorize the service account of ApsaraDB RDS to access OSS buckets, a RAM role named AliyunRDSImportRole is created in Resource Access Management (RAM). Do not modify or delete this RAM role. If you modify or delete this RAM role, ApsaraDB RDS cannot download objects from OSS buckets. Before the migration is complete, do not delete the full backup file from the OSS bucket. If you delete the full backup file before the migration is complete, the migration fails.

ltem	Description
OSS	 If you use the CLI to upload the full backup file as a set of parts to your OSS bucket, you must make sure that the size of the file does not exceed 16 TB. For more information, see Limits. Your OSS bucket must reside in the same region as the destination RDS instance.
Restoration	 You can migrate the data of the self-managed MySQL instance only to a new RDS instance. This way, you can prevent data overwrites in an existing RDS instance due to unintended operations. You cannot migrate the data of the self-managed MySQL instance to an RDS instance whose storage capacity is less than the amount of data in the self-managed MySQL instance. For more information, see Primary ApsaraDB RDS instance types. When you import the full backup file from your OSS bucket into ApsaraDB RDS, ApsaraDB RDS creates a temporary RDS instance, imports the full backup file into the temporary RDS instance, and then restores the data from the temporary RDS instance to the destination RDS instance. The default storage capacity of the temporary RDS instance is five times the size of the full backup file. If the available storage on the temporary RDS instance. You must record the accounts, custom functions, and stored procedures of the self-managed MySQL instance. You must record the accounts, custom functions, and stored procedures. After the migration is complete, you must manually add the accounts, custom functions, and stored procedures. After the migration is complete, you must mecord the time zone information of the self-managed MySQL instance cannot be migrated to the destination RDS instance. The time zone information of the self-managed MySQL instance cannot be migrated to the destination RDS instance. The destination RDS instance. You must record the accounts and stored procedures to the destination RDS instance. The destination RDS instance. You must manually configure the time zone of the destination RDS instance. The destination RDS instance. The destination RDS instance was be a pay-as-you-go instance that runs MySQL S.7 or MySQL 8.0 on RDS Basic Edition with standard SSDs. Øperade the major engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance Upgrade the major engine version o

ltem	Description
	• Data can be replicated based only on global transaction identifiers (GTIDs). Therefore, you must enable GTID-based replication and set the gtid_mode parameter and the enforce_gtid_consistency parameter to ON in the self- managed MySQL instance.
Replication	 The default retention period of backup validation records is seven days. ApsaraDB RDS automatically deletes the backup validation records that are generated seven days ago and the snapshots of these records. Therefore, after the migration is complete, we recommend that you replicate the incremental data of the self-managed MySQL instance to the destination RDS instance at your earliest opportunity.

6.2.3. Migrate data from a self-managed Oracle database to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to migrate data from a self-managed Oracle database to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance by using Data Transmission Service (DTS). DTS supports schema migration, full data migration, and incremental data migration. When you migrate data from a self-managed Oracle database, you can select all of the supported migration types to ensure service continuity.

Prerequisites

- The version of the self-managed Oracle database is 9i, 10g, 11g, 12c, 18c, or 19c.
- Supplement al logging, SUPPLEMENTAL_LOG_DATA_PK, and SUPPLEMENTAL_LOG_DATA_UI are enabled for the self-managed Oracle database. For more information, see Supplement al Logging.
- The self-managed Oracle database runs in ARCHIVELOG mode. Archived log files of the Oracle database are accessible, and an appropriate retention period is specified for the archived log files. For more information, see Managing Archived Redo Log Files.
- The size of available storage in the RDS instance is larger than the size of data that you want to migrate from the self-managed Oracle database.

Precautions

- DTS uses read and write resources of the source and destination databases during full data migration. This may increase the loads of the database servers. If the database performance is unfavorable, the specification is low, or the data volume is large, database services may become unavailable. For example, DTS occupies a large amount of read and write resources in the following cases: a large number of slow SQL queries are performed on the source database, the tables have no primary keys, or a deadlock occurs in the destination database. Before you migrate data, evaluate the impact of data migration on the performance of the source and destination databases. We recommend that you migrate data during off-peak hours. For example, you can migrate data when the CPU utilization of the source and destination databases is less than 30%.
- The tables to be migrated in the source database must have PRIMARY KEY or UNIQUE constraints and all fields must be unique. Otherwise, the destination database may contain duplicate data records.
- If the self-managed Oracle database is deployed in a Real Application Cluster (RAC) architecture and is connected to DTS over an Alibaba Cloud virtual private cloud (VPC), you must connect the Single Client Access Name (SCAN) IP address of the Oracle RAC and the virtual IP address (VIP) of each node

to the VPC and configure routes. The settings ensure that your DTS task can run as expected. For more information, see Configure a route between DTS and Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway.

Notice When you configure the source Oracle database in the DTS console, you can specify the SCAN IP address of the Oracle RAC as the database endpoint or IP address.

• Table names in the RDS instance are not case-sensitive. If a table name in the self-managed Oracle database contains uppercase letters, ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL converts all uppercase letters to lowercase letters and then creates the table.

If the self-managed Oracle database contains identical table names that differ only in capitalization, the table names are identified as duplicates. As a result, the "The object already exists" message may be displayed during schema migration. To prevent table name conflicts in the RDS instance, you can rename the migrated objects by using the object name mapping feature of DTS. For more information, see Object name mapping.

• DTS automatically creates a destination database in the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. If the name of the source database is invalid, you must manually create a destination database in the RDS instance before you configure a data migration task. For more information about the naming conventions of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL databases and how to create a database, see Create a database.

Billing

Migration type	Task configuration fee	Internet traffic fee
Schema migration and full data migration	Free of charge.	Charged only when data is migrated from
Incremental data migration	Charged. For more information, see Pricing.	information, see Pricing.

Migration types

• Schema migration

DTS supports schema migration for tables and indexes. DTS does not support schema migration for the following types of objects: views, synonyms, triggers, stored procedures, stored functions, packages, and user-defined data types. DTS has the following limits on schema migration for tables and indexes:

- DTS does not support schema migration for nested tables. DTS converts clustered tables and index-organized tables into standard tables in the destination database.
- DTS does not support schema migration for function-based indexes, domain indexes, bit map indexes, or reverse indexes.
- Full data migration

DTS migrates the historical data of specified objects from the self-managed Oracle database to the destination database in the RDS instance.

• Incremental data migration

DTS uses the round-robin algorithm to retrieve redo log files from the self-managed Oracle database. Then, DTS synchronizes incremental data from the self-managed Oracle database to the destination database in the RDS instance. Incremental data migration ensures service continuity when you migrate data from the self-managed Oracle database to the destination database in the RDS instance.

SQL operations that can be synchronized during incremental data migration

- INSERT, DELETE, and UPDATE
- CREATE TABLE

? Note DTS cannot synchronize the CREATE TABLE operations that are performed to create tables in which functions are nested.

- ALTER TABLE, ADD COLUMN, DROP COLUMN, RENAME COLUMN, and ADD INDEX
- DROP TABLE
- RENAME TABLE, TRUNCATE TABLE, and CREATE INDEX

Data type mappings

For more information, see Data type mappings between heterogeneous databases.

Before you begin

Log on to the self-managed Oracle database, create an account that you want to use to collect data, and grant permissions to the account.

Note If you created an account that is granted the permissions listed in the following table, you can skip this step.

Database	Schema migration	Full data migration	Incremental data migration
Self-managed Oracle database	Permissions of the schema owner	Permissions of the schema owner	DBA
ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	Write permissions on the destination database	Write permissions on the destination database	Write permissions on the destination database

For more information about how to create an account and grant permissions to the account, see the following topics:

- Self-managed Oracle dat abase: CREATE USER and GRANT.
- ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance: Create an account on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance and Modify the permissions of a standard account for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Procedure

- 1. Log on to the DTS console.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Data Migration**.

- 3. In the upper part of the **Migration Tasks** page, select the region where the RDS instance resides.
- 4. In the upper-right corner of the page, click **Create Migration Task**.
- 5. Configure the self-managed Oracle database and RDS instance.

1.Configure Source and Destination D	Databases 2.Configure Migration Types and Objects	\rangle	3.Map name m	odification	>	4.Precheck
* Task Name:						
Task Name. U	Uracle_TO_RDS					
Source Database						
* Instance Type:	User-Created Database with Public IP Address	•	DTS support type			
* Instance Region:	China (Hangzhou)	۳	Get IP Address Segment of D	OTS		
* Database Type:	Oracle	•				
* Hostname or IP Address:						
* Port Number:	1521					
* Instance Type:	Non-RAC Instance RAC Instance					
* SID:						
* Database Account:						
* Database Password:		\$ >	Test Connectivity			
Destination Database						
* Instance Type:	RDS Instance	•				
* Instance Region:	China (Hangzhou)	Ŧ				
* RDS Instance ID:	an an Andreas State (•				
* Database Account:						
* Database Password:	•••••••••••••	\$ >	Test Connectivity			
* Encryption: Non-encrypted SSL-encrypted						
				Cancel	Assess Data Migration to Cloud	Set Whitelist and Next

Section	Parameter	Description		
N/A	Task Name	DTS automatically generates a task name. We recommend that you specify a name that can help you identify the task. You do not need to specify a unique task name.		
Instance Ty		Select an instance type based on the deployment of the self- managed Oracle database. In this example, select User-Created Database with Public IP Address .		
	Instance Type	Note If you select other instance types, you must set up the environment that is required for the self-managed Oracle database. For more information, see Preparation overview .		

Section	Parameter	Description
Source Dat abase		If you select User-Created Database with Public IP Address as the instance type, you do not need to configure the Instance Region parameter.
	Instance Region	? Note If an IP address whitelist is configured for the self- managed Oracle database, you must add the CIDR blocks of DTS servers to the IP address whitelist of the database. You can click Get IP Address Segment of DTS next to Instance Region to obtain the CIDR blocks of DTS servers.
	Database Type	Select Oracle.
	Hostname or IP Address	Enter the endpoint that is used to connect to the self-managed Oracle database. In this example, enter the public IP address.
	Port Number	Enter the port number that is used to connect to the self-managed Oracle database. The port must be accessible over the Internet. The default port number is 1521 .
	Instance Type	 If you select Non-RAC Instance, you must configure the SID parameter. If you select RAC or PDB Instance, you must configure the Service Name parameter.
	Dat abase Account	Enter the account that you created in the self-managed Oracle database. For more information about the permissions that are required for the account, see Before you begin.
		Enter the password of the preceding account.
	Dat abase Password	Note After you specify the information about the self- managed Oracle database, you can click Test Connectivity next to Database Password to check whether the information is valid. If the information is valid, the Passed message appears. If the Failed message appears, click Check next to Failed . Then, modify the information based on the check results.
	Instance Type	Select RDS Instance.
	Instance Region	Select the region where the RDS instance resides.
	RDS Instance ID	Select the ID of the RDS instance.
	Dat abase Account	Enter the account that is used to connect to the RDS instance. For more information about the permissions that are required for the account, see Before you begin.
Destinatio		
Betabase	Parameter	Description
----------	-----------------------	--
		Enter the password of the preceding account.
	Dat abase Password	Note After you specify the information about the RDS instance, you can click Test Connectivity next to Database Password to check whether the information is valid. If the information is valid, the Passed message appears. If the Failed message appears, click Check next to Failed . Then, modify the information based on the check results.

6. In the lower-right corner of the page, click Set Whitelist and Next.

☐ Warning

- If the source or destination database instance is an Alibaba Cloud database instance, such as an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL or ApsaraDB for MongoDB instance, or is a self-managed database hosted on Elastic Compute Service (ECS), DTS automatically adds the CIDR blocks of DTS servers to the whitelist of the database instance or ECS security group rules. For more information, see Add the CIDR blocks of DTS servers to the security settings of on-premises databases. If the source or destination database is a self-managed database on data centers or is from other cloud service providers, you must manually add the CIDR blocks of DTS servers to allow DTS to access the database.
- If the CIDR blocks of DTS servers are automatically or manually added to the whitelist of the database instance or ECS security group rules, security risks may arise. Therefore, before you use DTS to migrate data, you must understand and acknowledge the potential risks and take preventive measures, including but not limited to the following measures: enhance the security of your account and password, limit the ports that are exposed, authenticate API calls, regularly check the whitelist or ECS security group rules and forbid unauthorized CIDR blocks, or connect the database to DTS by using Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway.
- After the DTS task is completed or released, we recommend that you manually detect and remove the added CIDR blocks from the whitelist of the database instance or ECS security group rules.
- 7. Select the migration types and the objects that you want to migrate.

1.Configure So	urce and Destination 2.Configure Migration Types and 3.Advanced Settings 4.Precheck
* Migrati triggers, Fo Note: do cleans u	on Types: Schema Migration Full Data Migration Incremental Data Migration Note: Incremental data migration does not support or more information, see Reference
Available Expand	Selected (To edit an object name or its filter, hover over the object and dick Edit.) Learn more.
Select All	Remove All Databases and Tables:
* Retry Tin Informati 1. Data mig in the sour 2. Do not c	ne for Failed Connection 720 Minutes 7 pration only copies the data and schema in the source database and saves the copy in the destination database. The process does not affect any data or schema ce database. No DDL operation during structure and full migration, otherwise the task may fail Cancel Previous Save Precheck
Setting	Description
Select the migratio n types	 If you want to perform only full data migration, select Schema Migration and Full Data Migration. If you want to ensure service continuity during data migration, select Schema Migration, Full Data Migration, and Incremental Data Migration. Note If you do not select Incremental Data Migration, make sure that no data is written to the self-managed Oracle database during full data migration. This ensures data consistency between the self-managed Oracle database and the RDS instance

Setting	Description
Select the objects that you want to migrate	Select one or more objects in the Available section and click the > icon to move the objects to the Selected section.
	 Note You can select columns, tables, or databases. By default, the name of an object that is migrated to the RDS instance remains the same as that in the self-managed Oracle database. You can use the object name mapping feature to rename the objects that are migrated to the RDS instance. For more information, see Object name mapping.
Specify whether to rename objects	You can use the object name mapping feature to rename the objects that are migrated to the RDS instance. For more information, see Object name mapping.
Specify the retry time range for failed connecti ons to the self- manage d Oracle databas e or RDS	By default, if DTS fails to connect to the self-managed Oracle database or RDS instance, DTS retries within the following 12 hours. You can specify the retry time range based on your business requirements. If DTS is reconnected to the self-managed Oracle database and RDS instance within the specified time range, DTS resumes the data migration task. Otherwise, the data migration task fails.
	Note Within the time range in which DTS attempts to reconnect to the self- managed Oracle database and RDS instance, you are charged for the DTS instance. We recommend that you specify the retry time range based on your business requirements. You can also release the DTS instance at the earliest opportunity after the self-managed Oracle database and RDS instance are released.
instance	

8. Click Precheck.

? Note

- A precheck is performed before the migration task starts. The migration task only starts after the precheck succeeds.
- If the precheck fails, click the

icon next to each failed check item to view the related details. Fix the issues as instructed and run the precheck again.

- 9. After the data migration task passes the precheck, click Next.
- 10. In the **Confirm Settings** dialog box, configure the **Channel Specification** parameter. Then, read and select **Data Transmission Service (Pay-as-you-go) Service Terms**.

- 11. Click **Buy and Start** to start the data migration task.
 - Full data migration

Do not manually stop a full data migration task. If you manually stop a full data migration task, the data that is migrated to the RDS instance may be incomplete. You can wait until the full data migration task automatically stops.

• Incremental data migration

An incremental data migration task does not automatically stop. You must manually stop the task.

? Note We recommend that you manually stop an incremental data migration task at an appropriate point in time. For example, you can stop the task during off-peak hours or before you switch your workloads over to the RDS instance.

- a. Wait until Incremental Data Migration and The data migration task is not delayed appear in the progress bar of the data migration task. Then, stop writing data to the selfmanaged Oracle database for a few minutes. The delay time of incremental data migration may be displayed in the progress bar.
- b. Wait until the status of **incremental data migration** changes to **The data migration task is not delayed** again. Then, manually stop the migration task.

Task Name Search by migration task name.	Search Sort: Default Sorting V Status: All V	Tag
Task ID/Name:	Status: Migrating Quick Diagnostics Pause Task View Details Duplicate Task	Upgrade Configure Monitoring and Alerting Change password Edit Tag
4 Nov 2021, 09:59:01 Created Schema Migration 100%	Full Data Migration 100%(Migrated Rows: 1)	Completed
Pause Stop Delete Edit Tag		Total: 1 item(s), Per Page: 20 item(s) < < 1 > >

12. Switch your workloads over to the RDS instance.

What to do next

The accounts that are used to migrate data are granted the read and write permissions. After the data migration is complete, you must delete the accounts of the self-managed Oracle database and the RDS instance to ensure database security.

Additional information

DTS supports reverse data transmission when you migrate data from a self-managed Oracle database to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. You can use this feature to synchronize data changes from the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance to the self-managed Oracle database. If you want to use the reverse data transmission feature, submit a ticket.

6.2.4. Migrate data from a self-managed MySQL database connected over Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to migrate data from a self-managed MySQL database that is connected over Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL database by using Data Transmission Service (DTS). DTS supports schema migration, full data migration, and incremental data migration. When you migrate data from a self-managed MySQL database, you can select all of the supported migration types to ensure service continuity.

Prerequisites

- The version of the self-managed MySQL database is 5.1, 5.5, 5.6, 5.7, or 8.0.
- The available storage space of the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance is larger than the total size of the data in the self-managed MySQL database.
- The on-premises network to which the self-managed MySQL database belongs is connected to Alibaba Cloud over Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway.

⑦ Note For more information, see Connect an on-premises database to DTS by using CEN.

Precautions

- DTS uses read and write resources of the source and destination databases during full data migration. This may increase the loads of the database servers. If the database performance is unfavorable, the specification is low, or the data volume is large, database services may become unavailable. For example, DTS occupies a large amount of read and write resources in the following cases: a large number of slow SQL queries are performed on the source database, the tables have no primary keys, or a deadlock occurs in the destination database. Before you migrate data, evaluate the impact of data migration on the performance of the source and destination databases. We recommend that you migrate data during off-peak hours. For example, you can migrate data when the CPU utilization of the source and destination databases is less than 30%.
- The tables to be migrated in the source database must have PRIMARY KEY or UNIQUE constraints and all fields must be unique. Otherwise, the destination database may contain duplicate data records.
- DTS uses the ROUND (COLUMN, PRECISION) function to retrieve values from columns of the FLOAT or DOUBLE data type. If you do not specify a precision, DTS sets the precision for the FLOAT data type to 38 digits and the precision for the DOUBLE data type to 308 digits. You must check whether the precision settings meet your business requirements.
- DTS automatically creates a destination database in the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. However, if the name of the source database is invalid, you must manually create a database in the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance before you configure the data migration task.

(?) Note For more information about the naming conventions of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL databases and how to create a database, see Create a database on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

• If a data migration task fails, DTS automatically resumes the task. Before you switch your workloads to the destination instance, stop or release the data migration task. Otherwise, the data in the source instance will overwrite the data in the destination instance after the task is resumed.

Billing

Migration type	Task configuration fee	Internet traffic fee
Schema migration and full data migration	Free of charge.	Charged only when data is migrated from
Incremental data migration	Charged. For more information, see Pricing.	information, see Pricing.

Migration types

• Schema migration

DTS migrates the schemas of the required objects to the destination instance. DTS supports schema migration for the following types of objects: table, view, trigger, stored procedure, and function.

? Note

- During schema migration, DTS changes the value of the SECURITY attribute from DEFINER to INVOKER for views, stored procedures, and functions.
- DTS does not migrate user information. To call a view, stored procedure, or function of the destination database, you must grant the read and write permissions to INVOKER.

• Full data migration

DTS migrates historical data of the required objects from the self-managed MySQL database to the destination database in the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

? Note During full data migration, concurrent INSERT operations cause fragmentation in the tables of the destination database. After full data migration is completed, the tablespace of the destination database is larger than that of the source database.

• Incremental data migration

After full data migration is completed, DTS retrieves binary log files from the self-managed MySQL database. Then, DTS synchronizes incremental data from the self-managed MySQL database to the destination ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. Incremental data migration allows you to ensure service continuity when you migrate data from a self-managed MySQL database to Alibaba Cloud.

SQL operations that can be synchronized during incremental data migration

Operatio n type	SQL statement
DML	INSERT, UPDATE, DELETE, and REPLACE
DDL	 ALTER TABLE and ALTER VIEW CREATE FUNCTION, CREATE INDEX, CREATE PROCEDURE, CREATE TABLE, and CREATE VIEW DROP INDEX and DROP TABLE RENAME TABLE TRUNCATE TABLE

Permissions required for database accounts

Database	Schema migration	Full data migration	Incremental data migration
Self-managed MySQL database	The SELECT permission	The SELECT permission	The REPLICATION SLAVE, REPLICATION CLIENT, SHOW VIEW, and SELECT permissions
ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	The read and write permissions	The read and write permissions	The read and write permissions

For more information about how to create and authorize a database account, see the following topics:

- Self-managed MySQL database: Create an account for a user-created MySQL database and configure binary logging
- ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance: Create an account on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance and Modify the permissions of a standard account on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Before you begin

- 1. Create an account for a user-created MySQL database and configure binary logging.
- 2. Configure a route between DTS and Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway.

Procedure

- 1. Log on to the DTS console.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Data Migration**.
- 3. At the top of the Migration Tasks page, select the region where the destination cluster resides.
- 4. In the upper-right corner of the page, click **Create Migration Task**.
- 5. Configure the source and destination databases.

RDS MySQL Dat abase · Dat a migratio

Cancel Set Whitelist and Next

ApsaraDB for RDS

Section

1.Configure Source and Destination D	atabases 2. Configure Migration Types and Objects	3.Advanced Settings 4.Precheck		
* Task Name:				
Part Control P	1930E_10_KB3 My30E			
Source Database				
* Instance Type:	User-Created Database Connected Over Express Connect, VPN $\ {\bf v}$	DTS support type		
Instance Region:	China (Hangzhou)	Guide		
* Dates 1/00		Description activate of Other Assess Charle Assessed		
Peer VPC:	vpc-bp:	Proprietary network of other Apsara stack Accounts		
* Database Type:	MySQL v			
* IP Address:	172.16.88.			
* Port Number:	3306			
* Database Account:	dtstest			
 Database Password: 	٩٧	Test Connectivity		
Destination Database				
* Instance Type:	RDS Instance 🔻			
* Instance Region:	China (Hangzhou)			
* RDS Instance ID:	rm-1u 🗸			
* Database Account:	dtstest			
* Database Password:	۵	Test Connectivity		
Encryption: Non-encrypted SL-encrypted				

Description Parameter DTS automatically generates a task name. We recommend that you

N/A	Task Name	specify an informative name for easy identification. You do not need to use a unique task name.
Source Dat abase	Instance Type	Select User-Created Database Connected over Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway.
	Instance Region	Select the region to which the virtual private cloud (VPC) that is connected to Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway belongs.
	Peer VPC	Select the VPC that is connected to Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway.
	Database Type	Select MySQL.
	IP Address	Enter the endpoint that is used to access the self-managed MySQL database.
	Port Number	Enter the service port number of the self-managed MySQL database. The default port number is 3306 .
	Database	Enter the account of the self-managed MySQL database. For more
	Account	see Permissions required for database accounts.

Section	Parameter	Description		
	Dat abase Password	Enter the password of the database account.		
		? Note After you specify the information about the self- managed Oracle database, you can click Test Connectivity next to Database Password to check whether the information is valid. If the information is valid, the Passed message appears. If the Failed message appears, click Check next to Failed . Then, modify the information based on the check results.		
	Instance Type	Select RDS Instance.		
	Instance Region	Select the region where the destination RDS instance resides.		
	RDS Instance ID	Select the ID of the destination RDS instance.		
	Dat abase Account	Enter the database account of the destination RDS instance. For more information about the permissions that are required for the account, see Permissions required for database accounts.		
	Dat abase Password	Enter the password of the database account.		
Destinatio n Database		? Note After you specify the information about the RDS instance, you can click Test Connectivity next to Database Password to check whether the information is valid. If the information is valid, the Passed message appears. If the Failed message appears, click Check next to Failed . Then, modify the information based on the check results.		
	Encryption	Select Non-encrypted or SSL-encrypted. If you want to select SSL-encrypted, you must enable SSL encryption for the RDS instance before you configure the data migration task. For more information, see Configure SSL encryption on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.		
		regions in mainland China and the China (Hong Kong) region.		

6. In the lower-right corner of the page, click **Set Whitelist and Next**.

🗘 Warning

- If the source or destination database instance is an Alibaba Cloud database instance, such as an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL or ApsaraDB for MongoDB instance, or is a self-managed database hosted on Elastic Compute Service (ECS), DTS automatically adds the CIDR blocks of DTS servers to the whitelist of the database instance or ECS security group rules. For more information, see Add the CIDR blocks of DTS servers to the security settings of on-premises databases. If the source or destination database is a self-managed database on data centers or is from other cloud service providers, you must manually add the CIDR blocks of DTS servers to allow DTS to access the database.
- If the CIDR blocks of DTS servers are automatically or manually added to the whitelist of the database instance or ECS security group rules, security risks may arise. Therefore, before you use DTS to migrate data, you must understand and acknowledge the potential risks and take preventive measures, including but not limited to the following measures: enhance the security of your account and password, limit the ports that are exposed, authenticate API calls, regularly check the whitelist or ECS security group rules and forbid unauthorized CIDR blocks, or connect the database to DTS by using Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway.
- After the DTS task is completed or released, we recommend that you manually detect and remove the added CIDR blocks from the whitelist of the database instance or ECS security group rules.
- 7. Select the migration types and the objects to be migrated.

Migration Types: 🔽 Schema Migration	Full Data Migration	remental Data Migration	Note: Incremental data micrati	on does not sunnort
riggers. For more information, see Reference		enenai baa nigratan	Hoter the chemar data migrad	
Note: do not clean up the incremental data cleans up the log too early, the DTS increm Data migration applies to short-term migral between Apsara Stack databases. For long-term data synchronization in real t	log generated by the source database ental task may fail ion scenarios. Typical scenarios includ ime, use the data synchronization feal	e after the DTS task is star le migrating data to the d ture.	ted when the DTS full task is runn oud, scaling and sharding database	ing, If the source database es, and migrating data
Available		Selected (To	edit an object name or its filter, h	over over the object and d
Evnand the tree before you perform a do	Q	Edit.) Learn	more.	
dtstestdata				Q
□ 📑 Tables		🗁 dtste	estdata (20bjects)	
🕀 🗁 Views		cus	tomer	
		> ord	er	
		<		
Select All		Derror All		
Rename Databases and Tables:	Do Not Change Database and Table	Names O Change	Database and Table Names	
	720 Minutes (7)	0		
Retry Time for Failed Connection) Yes No			
* Retry Time for Failed Connection *Source table DMS_ ONLINE_ Do you (vant to copy the temporary table to he target database during DDL:				
* Retry Time for Failed Connection *Source table DMS_ONLINE_Do you (vant to copy the temporary table to he target database during DDL: nformation: . Data migration only copies the data and sch t the source database. . Do not do DDL operation during structure a	iema in the source database and save nd full migration, otherwise the task n	s the copy in the destinat	on database. The process does no	t affect any data or schema
* Retry Time for Failed Connection *Source table DMS_ONLINE_ Do you () vant to copy the temporary table to he target database during DDL: Information: Data migration only copies the data and sch the source database. Jo not do DDL operation during structure a 	ema in the source database and save nd full migration, otherwise the task n	s the copy in the destinat	on database. The process does no	t affect any data or schema

Setting	Description
Select	 To perform only full migration, select Schema Migration and Full Data Migration. To ensure service continuity during data migration, select Schema Migration, Full Data Migration, and Incremental Data Migration.
migratio n types	Notice If Incremental Data Migration is not selected, we recommend that you do not write data to the source database during full data migration. This ensures data consistency between the source and destination databases.

Setting	Description
	Select one or more objects from the Available section and click the > icon to move the objects to the Selected section.
Select the objects to be migrate d	 Notice You can select columns, tables, or databases as the objects to be migrated. By default, after an object is migrated to the destination database, the name of the object remains unchanged. You can use the object name mapping feature to rename the objects that are migrated to the destination database. For more information, see Object name mapping. If you use the object name mapping feature to rename an object, other objects that are dependent on the object may fail to be migrated.
Specify whether to rename objects	You can use the object name mapping feature to rename the objects that are migrated to the destination instance. For more information, see Object name mapping.
Specify the retry time for failed connecti ons to the source or destinati on databas	By default, if DTS fails to connect to the source or destination database, DTS retries within the next 720 minutes (12 hours). You can specify the retry time based on your needs. If DTS reconnects to the source and destination databases within the specified time, DTS resumes the data migration task. Otherwise, the data migration task fails.
	Note When DTS retries a connection, you are charged for the DTS instance. We recommend that you specify the retry time based on your business needs. You can also release the DTS instance at your earliest opportunity after the source and destination instances are released.
е	

Setting	Description				
Specify whether to copy tempora ry tables to the destinati on databas e when DMS perform s online DDL operatio ns on the source table	If you use Data Management (DMS) to perform online DDL operations on the source database, you can specify whether to migrate temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. • Yes: DTS migrates the data of temporary tables generated by online DDL operations.				
	Note If online DDL operations generate a large amount of data, the data migration task may be delayed.				
	• No : DTS does not migrate the data of temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. Only the original DDL data of the source database is migrated.				
	Note If you select No, the tables in the destination database may be locked.				

8. In the lower-right corner of the page, click **Precheck**.

? Note

- Before you can start the data migration task, a precheck is performed. You can start the data migration task only after the task passes the precheck.
- If the task fails to pass the precheck, you can click the next to each failed item

to view details.

- You can trouble shoot the issues based on the causes and run a precheck again.
- If you do not need to troubleshoot the issues, you can ignore failed items and run a precheck again.
- 9. After the task passes the precheck, click Next.
- 10. In the **Confirm Settings** dialog box, specify the **Channel Specification** parameter and select **Data Transmission Service (Pay-As-You-Go) Service Terms**.
- 11. Click Buy and Start to start the data migration task.
 - Schema migration and full data migration

We recommend that you do not manually stop the task during full data migration. Otherwise, the data migrated to the destination database will be incomplete. You can wait until the data migration task automatically stops.

• Schema migration, full data migration, and incremental data migration

The task does not automatically stop during incremental data migration. You must manually stop the task.

Notice We recommend that you select an appropriate time to manually stop the data migration task. For example, you can stop the task during off-peak hours or before you switch your workloads to the destination cluster.

- a. Wait until **Incremental Data Migration** and **The migration task is not delayed** appear in the progress bar of the migration task. Then, stop writing data to the source database for a few minutes. The delay time of **incremental data migration** may be displayed in the progress bar.
- b. Wait until the status of **incremental data migration** changes to **The migration task is not delayed** again. Then, manually stop the migration task.



12. Switch your workloads to the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

6.2.5. Migrate data from a self-managed MySQL database connected over Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance across Alibaba Cloud accounts

This topic describes how to migrate data from a self-managed MySQL database that is connected over Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance by using Data Transmission Service (DTS). In this scenario, the Express Connect circuit and the destination RDS instance are owned by different Alibaba Cloud accounts. DTS supports schema migration, full data migration, and incremental data migration. You can select all of the supported migration types to ensure service continuity.

Prerequisites

- The version of the self-managed MySQL database is 5.1, 5.5, 5.6, 5.7, or 8.0.
- The available storage space of the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance is larger than the total size of the data in the self-managed MySQL database.
- The on-premises network to which the self-managed MySQL database belongs is connected to Alibaba Cloud VPC over Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway. The Express Connect circuit and the destination RDS instance are owned by different Alibaba Cloud accounts.

⑦ Note For more information, see Connect an on-premises database to DTS by using CEN.

Context

The data center that hosts your database is connected to Alibaba Cloud VPC over Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway. You need to migrate data from the on-premises database to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance across different Alibaba Cloud accounts. The following figure shows the architecture for this scenario.



Precautions

- DTS uses read and write resources of the source and destination databases during full data migration. This may increase the loads of the database servers. If the database performance is unfavorable, the specification is low, or the data volume is large, database services may become unavailable. For example, DTS occupies a large amount of read and write resources in the following cases: a large number of slow SQL queries are performed on the source database, the tables have no primary keys, or a deadlock occurs in the destination database. Before you migrate data, evaluate the impact of data migration on the performance of the source and destination databases. We recommend that you migrate data during off-peak hours. For example, you can migrate data when the CPU utilization of the source and destination databases is less than 30%.
- The tables to be migrated in the source database must have PRIMARY KEY or UNIQUE constraints and all fields must be unique. Otherwise, the destination database may contain duplicate data records.
- DTS uses the ROUND (COLUMN, PRECISION) function to retrieve values from columns of the FLOAT or DOUBLE data type. If you do not specify a precision, DTS sets the precision for the FLOAT data type to 38 digits and the precision for the DOUBLE data type to 308 digits. You must check whether the precision settings meet your business requirements.
- DTS automatically creates a destination database in the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. However, if the name of the source database is invalid, you must manually create a database in the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance before you configure the data migration task.

(?) Note For more information about the naming conventions of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL databases and how to create a database, see Create a database on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

• If a data migration task fails, DTS automatically resumes the task. Before you switch your workloads to the destination instance, stop or release the data migration task. Otherwise, the data in the source instance will overwrite the data in the destination instance after the task is resumed.

Billing

Migration type	Task configuration fee	Internet traffic fee
Schema migration and full data migration	Free of charge.	Charged only when data is migrated from
Incremental data migration	Charged. For more information, see Pricing.	information, see Pricing.

Migration types

• Schema migration

DTS migrates the schemas of the required objects to the destination instance. DTS supports schema migration for the following types of objects: table, view, trigger, stored procedure, and function.

? Note

- During schema migration, DTS changes the value of the SECURITY attribute from DEFINER to INVOKER for views, stored procedures, and functions.
- DTS does not migrate user information. To call a view, stored procedure, or function of the destination database, you must grant the read and write permissions to INVOKER.

• Full data migration

DTS migrates historical data of the required objects from the self-managed MySQL database to the destination database in the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

(?) Note During full data migration, concurrent INSERT operations cause fragmentation in the tables of the destination database. After full data migration is completed, the tablespace of the destination database is larger than that of the source database.

• Incremental data migration

After full data migration is completed, DTS retrieves binary log files from the self-managed MySQL database. Then, DTS synchronizes incremental data from the self-managed MySQL database to the destination ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. Incremental data migration allows you to ensure service continuity when you migrate data from a self-managed MySQL database to Alibaba Cloud.

SQL operations that can be synchronized during incremental data migration

Operatio n type	SQL statement
DML	INSERT, UPDATE, DELETE, and REPLACE

Operatio n type	SQL statement
DDL	 ALTER TABLE and ALTER VIEW CREATE FUNCTION, CREATE INDEX, CREATE PROCEDURE, CREATE TABLE, and CREATE VIEW DROP INDEX and DROP TABLE RENAME TABLE TRUNCATE TABLE

Permissions required for database accounts

Database	Schema migration	Full data migration	Incremental data migration
Self-managed MySQL database	The SELECT permission	The SELECT permission	The REPLICATION SLAVE, REPLICATION CLIENT, SHOW VIEW, and SELECT permissions
ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	The read and write permissions	The read and write permissions	The read and write permissions

For information about how to create and authorize a database account, see the following topics:

- Self-managed MySQL database: Create an account for a user-created MySQL database and configure binary logging
- ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance: Create an account on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance and Modify the permissions of a standard account on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Before you begin

- 1. Create an account for a user-created MySQL database and configure binary logging.
- 2. Log on to the Alibaba Cloud Management Console by using the Alibaba Cloud account that owns the Express Connect circuit. Authorize DTS to access the network that is connected over Express Connect. For more information, see Configure a route between DTS and Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway.
- 3. Create a RAM role and authorize the RAM role to access the resources of the Alibaba Cloud account. For more information, see Configure RAM authorization for data migration or synchronization from a self-managed database in a VPC across different Alibaba Cloud accounts.

Procedure

- 1. Use the Alibaba Cloud account that owns the destination RDS instance to log on to the DTS console.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Data Migration**.
- 3. At the top of the Migration Tasks page, select the region where the destination cluster resides.
- 4. In the upper-right corner of the page, click **Create Migration Task**.
- 5. Select User-Created Database Connected over Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway as the instance type. Then, click VPC of Another Alibaba Cloud Account next to the Peer VPC field.

RDS MySQL Dat abase • Dat a migratio

ApsaraDB for RDS

1.Configure Source and Destination	2.Configure Migration Types and Objects	3	.Advanced Settings	4.Precheck
* Task Name: 🔒	M Ab Ger			
Source Database				
* Instance Type:	User-Created Database with Public IP Address	•	DTS support type	
* Instance Region:	China (Hangzhou)	•	Get IP Address Segment of DTS	
* Database Type:	MySQL	۳		
# Hostname or IP Address:				
* Port Number:	3306			
* Database Account:				
* Database Password:		(ه)	Test Connectivity	

6. Configure the source and destination databases.

* Ta	Task Name: MySQL					
Source Database	Source Database					
* Ins	nstance Type: User-Created Database Connected Over Express Connect, VPN		Connected Over Express Connect, VPN 🔻	DTS support type		
* Insta	ance Region:	China (Hangzhou)	Ŧ	Guide		
*Apsara Stack Tenant	Account ID:	Account ID:				
	*Role Name: ram-for-dts			Authorize Role Across Accounts		
	* Peer VPC:		•	Proprietary network of the current login account		
* Dat	tabase Type:	MySQL	Ŧ			
*	IP Address:	172.16.]		
* p	Port Number:	3306				
* Databa	ase Account:	dtstest]		
* Databas	se Password:	•••••	4>	Test Connectivity		
Destination Database						
* Ins	stance Type:	RDS Instance	¥			
* Insta	* Instance Region: C		T			
* RDS	Instance ID:	rm-				
* Databa	* Database Account: dtstest					
* Databas	* Database Password:		٩>	Test Connectivity		
Encryption: Non-encrypted SSL-encrypted						
				Canada Catalidadida and Unit		
				Cancer Set writtenst and Next		
Section	Para	meter	Description			
N/A	Task	Name	DTS automatically generates a task name. We recommend that you specify an informative name for easy identification. You do not need to use a unique task name.			
	Instance Type Select User-Creat Connect, VPN Gat		Select User-Create Connect, VPN Gat	d Database Connected over Express eway, or Smart Access Gateway.		

Section	Parameter	Description				
	Instance Region	Select the region of the VPC that is connected to the self-managed MySQL database.				
		Enter the ID of the Alibaba Cloud account that owns the Express Connect circuit.				
	Alibaba Cloud Account ID	Note To obtain the ID of the Alibaba Cloud account that owns the Express Connect circuit, you must log on to the Account Management console by using this account. The account ID is displayed on the Security Settings page.				
		Account Management Account Center > Easic Information Easic Information Login Account Morring/Rest allyind com Edit Verified No rest-name authentication Oo 5 control information Security Settings Account ID Information Regularization time 2021-05-25 11.39.00 Contact Management C3 Three-party binding No binding Datal No rest-name authentication Oo 5 contact				
Source Dat abase	Role Name	Enter the name of the RAM role that you created earlier in Before you begin.				
	Peer VPC	Select the ID of the VPC that is connected to the self-managed MySQL database.				
	Database Type	Select MySQL.				
	IP Address	Enter the endpoint that is used to access the self-managed MySQL database.				
	Port Number	Enter the service port number of the self-managed MySQL database. The default port number is 3306 .				
	Dat abase Account	Enter the account of the self-managed MySQL database. For more information about the permissions that are required for the account, see Permissions required for database accounts.				
		Enter the password of the database account.				
	Dat abase Password	? Note After you specify the information about the self- managed Oracle database, you can click Test Connectivity next to Database Password to check whether the information is valid. If the information is valid, the Passed message appears. If the Failed message appears, click Check next to Failed . Then, modify the information based on the check results.				
	Instance Type	Select RDS Instance.				
	Instance Region	Select the region where the destination RDS instance resides.				
	RDS Instance ID	Select the ID of the destination RDS instance.				

Section	Parameter	Description
	Dat abase Account	Enter the database account of the destination RDS instance. For more information about the permissions that are required for the account, see Permissions required for database accounts.
Dectinatio		Enter the password of the database account.
n Database	Dat abase Password	? Note After you specify the information about the RDS instance, you can click Test Connectivity next to Database Password to check whether the information is valid. If the information is valid, the Passed message appears. If the Failed message appears, click Check next to Failed . Then, modify the information based on the check results.
	Encryption	Select Non-encrypted or SSL-encrypted . If you want to select SSL-encrypted , you must enable SSL encryption for the RDS instance before you configure the data migration task. For more information, see Configure SSL encryption on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance .
	Liciption	Note The Encryption parameter is available only for regions in mainland China and the China (Hong Kong) region.

7. In the lower-right corner of the page, click Set Whitelist and Next.

Note DTS adds the CIDR blocks of DTS servers to the whitelist of the destination ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. This ensures that DTS servers can connect to the destination RDS instance.

8. Select the migration types and the objects to be migrated.

1.Config	ure Source and	2.Configure Migratio	on Types and	3.Advanced Settings	>	4.Precheck
 Migration 1 triggers. For n Note: do no cleans up til Data migral between A For long-te 	Types: Schema Migration nore information, see Refere ot clean up the incremental of he log too early, the DTS inc tion applies to short-term mi psara Stack databases. rm data synchronization in re	Full Data Migrat nee lata log generated by the remental task may fail gration scenarios. Typical aal time, use the data syni	tion I Incremental I source database after the scenarios include migratin chronization feature.	DTS task is started when the D g data to the cloud, scaling and	mental data migrat TS full task is runn I sharding database	on does not support ing. If the source database es, and migrating data
Available Expand the I is dist I is in a	e tree before you perform a testdata Tables /iews	gloi I Q	> <	Selected (To edit an object Edit.) Learn more.	name or its filter, h	over over the object and dick
Select All				Remove All		
*Rename Dat	abases and Tables: for Failed Connection	Do Not Change Dat 720 Mi	abase and Table Names	 Change Database and Ta 	able Names	
*Source table want to copy t the target dat Information 1. Data migral in the source (2. Do not do (DMS_ ONLINE_ Do you the temporary table to abase during DDL: : tion only copies the data and database. DDL operation during structu	Yes No (tabase and saves the copy srwise the task may fail	in the destination database. Th	ne process does no	t affect any data or schema
				Cancel	Previous	Save Precheck
etting	Description					
	• To perform	only full migra	ation, select Sc l	nema Migration a	and Full Da	ata Migration.

 To ensure service continuity during data migration, select Schema Migration, Full Data Migration, and Incremental Data Migration.

Note If **Incremental Data Migration** is not selected, we recommend that you do not write data to the source database during data migration. This ensures data consistency between the source and destination databases.

Select

n types

the migratio

Setting	Description
	Select one or more objects from the Available section and click the > icon to move the objects to the Selected section.
Select the objects to be migrate d	 Note You can select columns, tables, or databases as the objects to be migrated. By default, after an object is migrated to the destination database, the name of the object remains unchanged. You can use the object name mapping feature to rename the objects that are migrated to the destination database. For more information, see Object name mapping. If you use the object name mapping feature to rename an object, other objects that are dependent on the object may fail to be migrated.
Specify whether to rename objects	You can use the object name mapping feature to rename the objects that are migrated to the destination instance. For more information, see Object name mapping.
Specify the retry time for failed connecti ons to the source or destinati on databas e	By default, if DTS fails to connect to the source or destination database, DTS retries within the next 720 minutes (12 hours). You can specify the retry time based on your needs. If DTS reconnects to the source and destination databases within the specified time, DTS resumes the data migration task. Otherwise, the data migration task fails.
	Note When DTS retries a connection, you are charged for the DTS instance. We recommend that you specify the retry time based on your business needs. You can also release the DTS instance at your earliest opportunity after the source and destination instances are released.

Setting	Description								
Specify whether to copy tempora ry tables to the destinati on databas e when DMS perform s online DDL operatio ns on the source table	If you use Data Management (DMS) to perform online DDL operations on the source database, you can specify whether to migrate temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. • Yes: DTS migrates the data of temporary tables generated by online DDL operations.								
	Note If online DDL operations generate a large amount of data, the data migration task may be delayed.								
	• No : DTS does not migrate the data of temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. Only the original DDL data of the source database is migrated.								
	Note If you select No, the tables in the destination database may be locked.								

9. In the lower-right corner of the page, click **Precheck**.

? Note

- Before you can start the data migration task, a precheck is performed. You can start the data migration task only after the task passes the precheck.
- If the task fails to pass the precheck, you can click the next to each failed item

to view details.

- You can trouble shoot the issues based on the causes and run a precheck again.
- If you do not need to troubleshoot the issues, you can ignore failed items and run a precheck again.

10. After the task passes the precheck, click Next.

- 11. In the **Confirm Settings** dialog box, specify the **Channel Specification** parameter and select **Data Transmission Service (Pay-As-You-Go) Service Terms**.
- 12. Click Buy and Start to start the data migration task.
 - Schema migration and full data migration

We recommend that you do not manually stop the task during full data migration. Otherwise, the data migrated to the destination database will be incomplete. You can wait until the data migration task automatically stops.

• Schema migration, full data migration, and incremental data migration

The task does not automatically stop during incremental data migration. You must manually stop the task.

Notice We recommend that you select an appropriate time to manually stop the data migration task. For example, you can stop the task during off-peak hours or before you switch your workloads to the destination cluster.

- a. Wait until **Incremental Data Migration** and **The migration task is not delayed** appear in the progress bar of the migration task. Then, stop writing data to the source database for a few minutes. The delay time of **incremental data migration** may be displayed in the progress bar.
- b. Wait until the status of **incremental data migration** changes to **The migration task is not delayed** again. Then, manually stop the migration task.

Task Name Search by migration task name.	Search Sort: Default Sorting V Status: All V	Tag
Task ID/Name:	Status: Migrating Quick Diagnostics Pause Task View Details Duplicate Tasi	Upgrade Configure Monitoring and Alerting Change password Edit Tag
Schema Migration 100%	Full Data Migration 100%(Migrated Rows: 1)	Incremental Data M 1 n The migration task is not delayed.
Pause Stop Delete Edit Tag		Total: 1 item(s), Per Page: 20 item(s) <

13. Switch your workloads to the destination ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

6.2.6. Migrate data from a self-managed Db2 database to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to migrate data from a self-managed Db2 database to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance by using Data Transmission Service (DTS). DTS supports schema migration, full data migration, and incremental data migration. When you migrate data from a self-managed Db2 database, you can select all of the supported migration types to ensure service continuity.

Prerequisites

• The version of the Db2 database is 9.7 to 11.5.

(?) Note DTS supports data migration from a Db2 for i database of version 7.3 or 7.4 to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. You can follow the procedure described in this topic to migrate data from a Db2 for i database to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

• The available storage space of the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance is larger than the total size of the data in the Db2 database.

Precautions

- In this scenario, DTS cannot synchronize data definition language (DDL) operations.
- If the name of the source database is invalid, you must create a database in the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance before you configure a data migration task.

Note For more information about how to create a database and the database naming conventions, see **Create a database on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance**.

• DTS uses read and write resources of the source and destination databases during full data migration. This may increase the loads of the database servers. If the database performance is unfavorable, the specification is low, or the data volume is large, database services may become

unavailable. For example, DTS occupies a large amount of read and write resources in the following cases: a large number of slow SQL queries are performed on the source database, the tables have no primary keys, or a deadlock occurs in the destination database. Before you migrate data, evaluate the impact of data migration on the performance of the source and destination databases. We recommend that you migrate data during off-peak hours. For example, you can migrate data when the CPU utilization of the source and destination databases is less than 30%.

- If a data migration task fails, DTS automatically resumes the task. Before you switch your workloads to the destination instance, stop or release the data migration task. Otherwise, the data in the source database will overwrite the data in the destination instance after the task is resumed.
- DTS synchronizes incremental updates from a DB2 database to the destination database based on the Change Data Capture (CDC) replication technology of Db2. However, the CDC replication technology has its own limits. For more information, see General data restrictions for SQL Replication.

Billing

Migration type	Task configuration fee	Internet traffic fee
Schema migration and full data migration	Free of charge.	Charged only when data is migrated from
Incremental data migration	Charged. For more information, see Pricing.	information, see Pricing.

Migration types

• Schema migration

DTS migrates the schemas of the required objects to the destination instance. DTS supports schema migration for the following types of objects: table, index, and foreign key.

• Full data migration

DTS migrates historical data of the required objects from the Db2 database to the destination database in the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

• Incremental data migration

After full data migration is complete, DTS synchronizes incremental data from the Db2 database to the destination database in the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. Incremental data migration allows you to ensure service continuity when you migrate data from a Db2 database.

Permissions required for database accounts

Database	Schema migration	Full data migration	Incremental data migration
Db2 database	The CONNECT and SELECT permissions	The CONNECT and SELECT permissions	The DBADM permission
ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	The read and write permissions	The read and write permissions	The read and write permissions

For more information about how to create and authorize a database account, see the following topics:

- Db2 database: Creating group and user IDs for a Db2 database installation (Linux and UNIX) and Authorities overview
- ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance: Create an account on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance and Modify the permissions of a standard account on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Data migration process

To prevent data migration failures caused by dependencies between objects, DTS migrates the schemas and data of the Db2 database in the following order:

- 1. Migrate the schemas and indexes.
- 2. Perform full data migration.
- 3. Migrate the schemas of foreign keys.
- 4. Perform incremental data migration.

Before you begin

Before you configure an incremental data migration task, enable the archive log feature for the Db2 database. For more information, see Primary log archive method and Secondary log archive method.

? Note Skip this step if you perform only full data migration.

Procedure

- 1. Log on to the DTS console.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Data Migration**.
- 3. In the upper part of the Migration Tasks page, select the region where the RDS instance resides.
- 4. In the upper-right corner of the page, click **Create Migration Task**.
- 5. Configure the source and destination databases.

1.Configure Source and	Destination D	Databases 2.Config	jure Migration Types and Objects	3.Map name modification	4.Precheck	
	Task Name:	DB2_TO_RDS				
Source Database						
	Instance Type	User-Created Database	with Public IP Address			
* In	istance Region	Singapore	Ţ	Get IP Address Segment of DTS		
* (Database Type	DB2	Ŧ			
* Hostname	or IP Address					
	Port Number	50000				
* D	atabase Name	dtstestdata				
* Dat	abase Account	dtstest				
* Datal	base Password	•••••	₫>	Test Connectivity \bigcirc Passed		
Destination Database						
*	Instance Type	RDS Instance	Ŧ			
* In	istance Region	Singapore	Ŧ			
* RE	OS Instance ID		-			
* Dat	abase Account	dtstest				
* Datal	* Database Password:		4)	Test Connectivity 📀 Passed		
					Cancel Set Whitelist and Next	
Section	Par	ameter	Description			
N/A	Task Name		DTS automatically generates a task name. We recommend that you specify an informative name for easy identification. You do not need to use a unique task name.			
			Select an instance t database. In this ex Public IP Address	ype based on the deploymo ample, select User-Create	ent of the source d Database with	
	Instance Type		Note If you select other instance types, you must deploy the network environment for the self-managed database. For more information, see Preparation overview .			
		lf the instance type IP Address, you do	is set to User-Created Da not need to specify the in s	tabase with Public stance region.		
	Inst Reg	ance Jion	Note If a with must add the CID database. You can to Instance Reg	vhitelist is configured for th R blocks of DTS servers to t n click Get IP Address Seg ion to obtain the CIDR bloc	ne Db2 database, you he whitelist of the gment of DTS next ks of DTS servers.	

Database Type

Select DB2.

Section	Parameter	Description
Database	Port Number	Enter the service port number of the Db2 database. The default port number is 50000 .
	Database Name	Enter the name of the Db2 database.
	Dat abase Account	Enter the account of the Db2 database. For more information about the permissions that are required for the account, see Permissions required for database accounts.
	Dat abase Password	Enter the password of the Db2 database account. Note After you specify the source database parameters, click Test Connectivity next to Database Password to verify whether the specified parameters are valid. If the specified parameters are valid, the Passed message appears. If the Failed message appears, click Check next to Failed . Modify the source database parameters based on the check results.
	Instance Type	Select RDS Instance.
	Instance Type Instance Region	Select RDS Instance . Select the region where the destination RDS instance resides.
	Instance Type Instance Region RDS Instance ID	Select RDS Instance. Select the region where the destination RDS instance resides. Select the ID of the destination RDS instance.
	Instance Type Instance Region RDS Instance ID Database Account	Select RDS Instance.Select the region where the destination RDS instance resides.Select the ID of the destination RDS instance.Enter the database account of the destination RDS instance. For more information about the permissions that are required for the account, see Permissions required for database accounts.
	Instance Type Instance Region RDS Instance ID Database Account	Select RDS Instance.Select the region where the destination RDS instance resides.Select the ID of the destination RDS instance.Enter the database account of the destination RDS instance. For more information about the permissions that are required for the account, see Permissions required for database accounts.Enter the password of the database account.
Destinatio n Database	Instance Type Instance Region RDS Instance ID Database Account Database Password	Select RDS Instance. Select the region where the destination RDS instance resides. Select the ID of the destination RDS instance. Enter the database account of the destination RDS instance. For more information about the permissions that are required for the account, see Permissions required for database accounts. Enter the password of the database account. Image: One of the database account of the destination database parameters, click Test Connectivity next to Database Password to verify whether the specified parameters are valid. If the specified parameters are valid, the Passed message appears. If the Failed message appears, click Check next to Failed. Modify the destination database parameters based on the check results.

Section	Parameter	Description
	Fact ation	Select Non-encrypted or SSL-encrypted . If you want to select SSL-encrypted , you must enable SSL encryption for the RDS instance before you configure the data migration task. For more information, see Configure SSL encryption on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance .
		Note The Encryption parameter is available only for regions in mainland China and the China (Hong Kong) region.

6. In the lower-right corner of the page, click Set Whitelist and Next.

□ Warning

- If the source or destination database instance is an Alibaba Cloud database instance, such as an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL or ApsaraDB for MongoDB instance, or is a self-managed database hosted on Elastic Compute Service (ECS), DTS automatically adds the CIDR blocks of DTS servers to the whitelist of the database instance or ECS security group rules. For more information, see Add the CIDR blocks of DTS servers to the security settings of on-premises databases. If the source or destination database is a self-managed database on data centers or is from other cloud service providers, you must manually add the CIDR blocks of DTS servers to allow DTS to access the database.
- If the CIDR blocks of DTS servers are automatically or manually added to the whitelist of the database instance or ECS security group rules, security risks may arise. Therefore, before you use DTS to migrate data, you must understand and acknowledge the potential risks and take preventive measures, including but not limited to the following measures: enhance the security of your account and password, limit the ports that are exposed, authenticate API calls, regularly check the whitelist or ECS security group rules and forbid unauthorized CIDR blocks, or connect the database to DTS by using Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway.
- After the DTS task is completed or released, we recommend that you manually detect and remove the added CIDR blocks from the whitelist of the database instance or ECS security group rules.
- 7. Select the migration types and the objects to be migrated.

ApsaraDB for RDS

1.Configu	re Source and <u>2.Configure Migration Types and</u> 3.Advanced Settings <u>4.Precheck</u>				
 Migration T triggers. For m 	ypes: 🗹 Schema Migration 🛛 Full Data Migration 📝 Incremental Data Migration Note: Incremental data migration does not support ore information, see Reference				
Note: do no cleans up th	c clean up the incremental data log generated by the source database after the DTS task is started when the DTS full task is running. If the source database e log too early, the DTS incremental task may fail				
Data migrati between Ap: For long-ten	on applies to short-term migration scenarios. Typical scenarios include migrating data to the doud, scaling and sharding databases, and migrating data sara Stack databases. m data synchronization in real time, use the data synchronization feature.				
Available	Selected (To edit an object name or its filter, hover over the object and dick Edit.) Learn more.				
Expand the	tree before you perform a gloi Q				
🗆 💼 dtst	estdata				
E 🖆 V	iews i customer				
	> order				
	<				
Select All					
*Passas Dala	Remove All				
* Retry Time fr	v Failed Connection				
1120 y 11112 1					
Information:					
1. Data migrati in the source d	on only copies the data and schema in the source database and saves the copy in the destination database. The process does not affect any data or schema atabase.				
2. Do not do D	DL operation during structure and full migration, otherwise the task may fail				
	Cancel Previous Save Precheck P				
Setting	Description				
	 To perform only full data migration, select Schema Migration and Full Data Migration. 				
	 To ensure service continuity during data migration select Schema Migration Full 				
Select the	Data Migration, and Incremental Data Migration.				
migratio	? Note If Incremental Data Migration is not selected, we recommend that you				
ntypes	do not write data to the Db2 database during data migration. This ensures data				
	consistency between the source and destination databases.				

Setting	Description
Select the objects to be migrate d	Select one or more objects from the Available section and click the > icon to move the objects to the Selected section.
	 Note You can select columns, tables, or databases as the objects to be migrated. By default, after an object is migrated to the destination RDS instance, the name of the object remains the same as that in the Db2 database. You can use the object name mapping feature to change the names of the objects that are migrated to the destination RDS instance. For more information, see Object name mapping. If you use the object name mapping feature on an object, other objects that are dependent on the object may fail to be migrated.
Specify whether to rename object names	You can use the object name mapping feature to change the names of the objects that are migrated to the destination instance. For more information, see Object name mapping.
Specify the retry time for failed connecti ons to the source or destinati on databas	By default, if DTS fails to connect to the source or destination database, DTS retries within the next 12 hours. You can specify the retry time based on your needs. If DTS reconnects to the source and destination databases within the specified time, DTS resumes the data migration task. Otherwise, the data migration task fails.
	Note When DTS retries a connection, you are charged for the DTS instance. We recommend that you specify the retry time based on your business needs. You can also release the DTS instance at your earliest opportunity after the source and destination instances are released.
e	

8. Click Precheck.

? Note

- A precheck is performed before the migration task starts. The migration task only starts after the precheck succeeds.
- If the precheck fails, click the

icon next to each failed check item to view the related details. Fix the issues as instructed and run the precheck again.

9. After the data migration task passes the precheck, click Next.

- 10. In the **Confirm Settings** dialog box, configure the **Channel Specification** parameter. Then, read and select **Data Transmission Service (Pay-as-you-go) Service Terms**.
- 11. Click **Buy and Start** to start the data migration task.
 - Full data migration

Do not manually stop a full data migration task. If you manually stop a full data migration task, the data that is migrated to the RDS instance may be incomplete. You can wait until the full data migration task automatically stops.

• Incremental data migration

An incremental data migration task does not automatically stop. You must manually stop the task.

(?) Note We recommend that you manually stop an incremental data migration task at an appropriate point in time. For example, you can stop the task during off-peak hours or before you switch your workloads over to the RDS instance.

- a. Wait until Incremental Data Migration and The data migration task is not delayed appear in the progress bar of the data migration task. Then, stop writing data to the selfmanaged Oracle database for a few minutes. The delay time of incremental data migration may be displayed in the progress bar.
- b. Wait until the status of **incremental data migration** changes to **The data migration task is not delayed** again. Then, manually stop the migration task.



12. Switch your workloads to the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

6.2.7. Use mysqldump to migrate data from a self-managed MySQL instance to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to migrate data from a self-managed MySQL instance to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance by using the mysqldump plug-in. The mysqldump plug-in is easy to use but causes long downtime. The mysqldump plug-in is suitable for scenarios in which the data volume is small or long downtime does not have a negative impact on your business.

Prerequisites

IP address whitelists are configured, a public endpoint is obtained, and databases and accounts are created in the RDS for MySQL instance. For more information, see General workflow to use ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL.

Background information

> Document Version: 20220712

ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL is fully compatible with open source MySQL. The process of migrating data from a self-managed MySQL instance to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance is similar to the process of migrating data from one MySQL server to another MySQL server.

? Note

- The mysqldump-based migration process is complex. We recommend that you use Data Transmission Service (DTS) to migrate data. For more information, see Overview of data migration methods.
- For more information about the parameters of the mysqldump plug-in, see the official MySQL documentation.

Scenario

You want to migrate data from a self-managed MySQL instance to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Precautions

After the migration is complete, the names of all tables that are migrated from the self-managed MySQL instance are in lowercase on the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. You can use the following method to configure the names of tables on the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance to be case-sensitive:

After the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance is created, set the lower_case_table_names parameter to 0 for the instance in the ApsaraDB RDS console. For more information, see Modify the parameters of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

? Note

- After you set the lower_case_table_names parameter to 0, do not change the value of this parameter to 1. If you change the value of this parameter to 1, the " ERROR 1146 (42SO2): Table doesn't exist " error occurs. This error has a serious impact on your business.
- If the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance runs MySQL 8.0, you cannot reconfigure the lower_case_table_names parameter for the instance.

Procedure

1. Use the mysqldump plug-in to export the data, stored procedures, triggers, and functions of the self-managed MySQL instance.

? Note When the export task is in progress, do not update the data. Wait until the export task is completed.

i. In the Linux command-line interface (CLI), run the following command to export the data as a file:

```
mysqldump -h 127.0.0.1 -u root -p --opt --default-character-set=utf8 --hex-blob <Th
e name of the self-managed MySQL instance> --skip-triggers --skip-lock-tables > /tm
p/<The name of the self-managed MySQL instance>.sql
```

Example:

```
mysqldump -h 127.0.0.1 -u root -p --opt --default-character-set=utf8 --hex-blob tes
tdb --skip-triggers --skip-lock-tables > /tmp/testdb.sql
```

ii. In the Linux CLI, run the following command to export the stored procedures, triggers, and functions as a file:

```
mysqldump -h 127.0.0.1 -u root -p --opt --default-character-set=utf8 --hex-blob <Th
e name of the self-managed MySQL instance> -R | sed -e 's/DEFINER[]*=[]*[^*]*\*/\
*/' > /tmp/<The name of the self-managed MySQL instance>Trigger.sql
```

Example:

mysqldump -h 127.0.0.1 -u root -p --opt --default-character-set=utf8 --hex-blob tes tdb -R | sed -e 's/DEFINER[]*=[]*[^*]**/*/' > /tmp/testdbTrigger.sql

(?) Note If the self-managed MySQL instance does not contain stored procedures, triggers, or functions, you can skip this step.

2. Upload the exported files to a specified path on an Elastic Compute Service (ECS) instance. In this example, the path is */tmp*.

? Note If the self-managed MySQL instance resides on an ECS instance, you can skip this step.

[root@		1.00	-	~]# l	s -1	l /tmp/	
total 248	48							
drwxr-xr-	x 2	root	root	50	Mar	26	14:48	and an article at the second se
srwxr-xr-	x 1	root	root	0	Mar	24	17:31	the providence and the other water water and the state of
- rw	- 1	root	root	0	Mar	24	18:01	and a general sector of the se
drwxr-xr-	х З	root	root	38	Mar	24	18:01	ad provide and a first the first her second and the second s
-rw-rr-	- 1	root	root	25431144	Mar	24	18:01	al ayan jana ing jal Ary Ner's Banderican La College (2011), a ipi
-rw-rr-	- 1	root	root	2537	Mar	25	10:05	Heriotan, ed.
drwx	- 3	root	root	17	Mar	25	09:11	synamic provine PEARINGCER Excel Chetrel & CalCol Annual Annual models
drwx	- 3	root	root	17	Mar	25	09:19	sympat in and, represented a second court way it can use their
-rw-rr-	- 1	root	root	1831	Mar	26	14:51	testdb.sql
- rw-rr-	- 1	root	root	1880	Mar	26	14.52	testdbTrigger sgl

3. Run the following commands to import the exported files into the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance:

mysql -h <The endpoint that is used to connect to the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance> -P <The port number that is used to connect to the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance> -u <The username of the account that is used to log on to the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance> -p <The name of the destination database on the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance> /tmp/<The name of the source database on the self-managed MySQL instance>.sqlmysql -h <The endpoint that is used to connect to the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance> -P <The port number that is used to connect to the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance> -u <The username of the account that is used to connect to the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance> -u <The username of the account that is used to log on to the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance> -P <The name of the account that is used to log on to the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance> <The username of the account that is used to log on to the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance> -p <The name of the destination database on the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance> <The name of the destination database on the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance>

? Note

- The destination database on the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance must be an existing database that you created. For more information about how to create a database, see Create a database on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- The account that is used to log on to the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance must be a privileged account or a standard account that has the read and write permissions.

Examples:

```
mysql -h rm-bpxxxxx.mysql.rds.aliyuncs.com -P 3306 -u testuser -p testdb < /tmp/testdb
.sql
mysql -h rm-bpxxxxx.mysql.rds.aliyuncs.com -P 3306 -u testuser -p testdb < /tmp/testdb
Trigger.sql
```

4. After the import is complete, log on to the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance and check whether the data is normal. For more information, see Use DMS to log on to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

6.3. Migrate data from a third-party cloud database to ApsaraDB for RDS

6.3.1. Migrate a MySQL database from Google Cloud to Alibaba Cloud

This topic describes how to migrate a MySQL database from Google Cloud to Alibaba Cloud and the corresponding precautions.

Prerequisites

- You have created an Alibaba Cloud RDS MySQL instance.
- You have created an account with read/write privileges.

Limits

- Structure migration does not support migration of events.
- For MySQL databases, DTS reads floating-point values (FLOAT and DOUBLE data types) with round (c

olumn, precision) . If the column definition does not specify the precision, the precision is 38 for FLOAT values and 308 for DOUBLE values.

- If the object name mapping function is used for an object, migration of objects relying on the object may fail.
- For incremental migration, you must enable binlog for the source MySQL instance.
- For incremental migration, binlog_format of the source database must be set to ROW.

⑦ Note You can modify parameters of Google Cloud databases by choosing Instance details > Configuration > Edit configuration > Add database flags.

- For incremental migration, if the source database version is MySQL 5.6 or later, binlog_row_image must be set to FULL.
- For incremental migration, if the source instance has binlog file ID disorder caused by cross-host migration, the incremental migration may have data loss.

Precautions

DTS automatically attempts to recover abnormal tasks of the past seven days. This may cause the new data in the target instance to be overwritten by the source database data. Therefore, you must revoke the write permission of the DTS account that is used to access the target instance by running the revoke command.

Procedure

1. Log on to your database instance on Google Cloud. On the Instance details page, view Public IP address.

Once If a public IP address is not enabled, perform related settings by going to Configuration > Edit configuration > Set connectivity.
😂 SQL	← Instance details 🛛 🖌 EDIT 👌 IMPORT 🏦	, EXPORT 🖑 RESTART 🔳 STOP 🍵 DELETE 🖺 CLONE
mysql57 master >	OVERVIEW CONNECTIONS USERS DATABASE	S BACKUPS REPLICAS OPERATIONS
	CPU utilization • 1 hour 12:45 12:55 1 PM 1:05 1:10 CPU utilization (mysql57): 3% 3% 1:00 1:00 1:00	6 hours 12 hours 1 day 2 days 4 days 7 days 14 days 30 days Nov 28, 2018 1:29 PM 100% 80% 60% 40% 20% 1:15 1:20 1:25 1:30 1:35 1:40
	Connect to this instance Public IP address Instance connection name	Configuration vCPUs Memory SSD storage 3.75 GB 10 GB Database version is MySQL 5.7
	Connect using Cloud Shell Connect from a Compute Engine VM instance See all connection methods	Auto storage increase is enabled Automated backups are enabled Binary logging is enabled Located in asia-east2-c No database flags set
	Suggested actions Create a backup Create failover replica (enable bigh availability)	No labels set A Not highly available (zonal) → Edit configuration

2. Choose **Configuration > Edit configuration > Set connectivity > Add network**, and then add the IP address of the region of the source database instance obtained from DTS.

😂 SQL	← Edit instance
mysql57 master asia-east2-c	Location For better performance, keep your data close to the services that need it. Region asia-east2 Database version MySQL 5.7 Configuration options
	 Set connectivity Choose how you would like to connect to your database instance Private IP BETA The Service Networking API must be enabled in order to enable Private IP for this instance. Private IP connectivity requires additional APIs and permissions. You may need to contact your organization's administrator for help enabling or using this feature. Currently, Private IP cannot be disabled once it has been enabled. Public IP
	▲ You have added 0.0.0.0/0 as an allowed network. This prefix will allow any IPv4 client to pass the network firewall and make login attempts to your instance, including clients you did not intend to allow. Clients still need valid credentials to successfully log in to your instance. Authorized networks Authorize a network or use a Proxy to connect to your instance. Networks will only be authorized via these addresses. Learn more all (0.0.0.0/0) ↓ Add network Close

- 3. Log on to the DTS console.
- 4. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Data Migration**. In the right pane, click **Create Migration Task** in the upper-right corner.
- 5. Enter information about the source and target databases. The following table describes the parameters.

Databa se type	Parameter	Description
	Instance Type	Type of the instance in the source database. Select <i>On-premises Da tabases</i> .

RDS MySQL Dat abase · Dat a migratio

n

Databa se type	Parameter	Description
Source databa		If you have configured access control for your instance, you must allow the specified Internet IP segment of the region to access the instance before configuring a migration task.
Google Cloud)	Instance Region	Note You can click Get DTS IP to view and copy the IP segment of the region.
-	Database Engine	Source database type. Select <i>MySQL</i> .
	Host Name or IP Address	Public IP address of the database
	Port	Default port 3306
	Database account	Default superuser account <i>root</i>
	Database Password	Password of the root account
	Instance Type	Type of the instance in the target database. Select <i>RDS Instance</i> .
	Instance Region	Region of the target instance
Target databa	RDS Instance ID	ID of the instance in the selected region. Select the ID of the target instance.
se (on Alibaba Cloud)	Database account	An account with read and write permissions under the target instance
	Database Password	Account password
	Connection method	Select Non-encrypted connection or SSL secure connection . The latter greatly increases CPU consumption.

* Task Name: d	ts2x4gjljs	
Source Database		
* Instance Type:	On-premises Databases]
* Instance Region:	China (Hangzhou)	Get DTS IP
* Database Engine:	MySQL]
* Host Name or IP Address:]
* Port:]
* Database account:	root]
* Database Password:	••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	Test the Connection
* Database Password:	••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	Test the Connection
* Database Password: Target Database	••••••	Test the Connection
* Database Password: Target Database * Instance Type:	RDS Instance	Test the Connection
* Database Password: Target Database * Instance Type: * Instance Region:	RDS Instance China (Hangzhou)	Test the Connection
* Database Password: Target Database * Instance Type: * Instance Region: * RDS Instance ID:	RDS Instance	Test the Connection
* Database Password: Target Database * Instance Type: * Instance Region: * RDS Instance ID: * Database account:	RDS Instance China (Hangzhou)	Test the Connection
* Database Password: Target Database * Instance Type: * Instance Region: * RDS Instance ID: * Database account: * Database Password:	RDS Instance China (Hangzhou)	Test the Connection

- 6. Click **Test the Connection** and confirm that the test results for both the source and target databases are *Test passed*.
- 7. Click Authorize Whitelist and Enter into Next Step.
- 8. Select the migration type. In the Migration objects area, select the target database and click



to add the database to the **Selected objects** area.

? Note To maintain data consistency before and after migration, we recommend that you migrate the structure, full data, and incremental data.

Migration Type: Migrate object structure Migra	te existing data 🛛	Replicate data changes
During the existing data migration, if the source DB has dai instance. To ensure the consistency of migration data, it is recomme	ta changes, this part of nded to choose migrate	the change data is not guaranteed to be migrated to the target object structure + migrate existing data + replicate data changes.
ligration objects		Selected objects (Move the mouse to the object and click "Edit" to revise the object name or configure the filter condition) Click here
	> <	▶ test01
All Selected		All Removed

9. Click **Pre-check** and wait until the pre-check ends.

? Note If the check fails, you can rectify faults according to error items and restart the task.

	Pa	ss pre-check	(100 ⁶
Check Item	Check Content	Check R	esult
Check source database connectivity	Check whether the data transmission server can connect to the source database	Success	
Check source database connectivity	Check whether the data transmission server can connect to the source database	Success	
Check source database permission	Check whether account permissions for the source database meet the requirements for migration	Success	
Check target	Check whether the data transmission server		

10. Click Next. In the Confirm Purchase Configuration dialog box, read and select Service Terms of Data Transmission (Pay-As-You-Go), then click Buy and Start Now.

Note Currently, structure migration and full migration are free of charge, while increment al migration is charged by the hour according to link specifications.

11. Wait until the migration task is completed.

Mig	ration Task Name 🔻 dts2x4gjljs	Search Rank: Default on	der 🔻 Status:	All
	ID/Name:	Status: Finished	View Migration D	etails Create Similar Task
	2018-11-28 14:25:22 Created		2018	8-11-28 14:31:58 Completed
	Migrate Object Structure 100%	Migrate Existing D	ata 100%(0 rows has migrated)
	Start Pause Finish Release	Tota	il: 1 item(s) , Per Page: 20 item(s)	« < 1 > »

6.3.2. Migrate data from an Amazon RDS for MySQL instance to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to migrate data from an Amazon RDS for MySQL instance to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance by using Data Transmission Service (DTS). DTS supports schema migration, full data migration, and incremental data migration. When you configure a data migration task, you can select all of the supported migration types to ensure service continuity.

Prerequisites

> Document Version: 20220712

- The **Public accessibility** option of the Amazon RDS for MySQL instance is set to **Yes**. The setting ensures that DTS can access the Amazon RDS for MySQL instance over the Internet.
- An ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance is created. For more information, see Create an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- The available storage space of the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance is larger than the total size of the data in the Amazon RDS for MySQL instance.

Precautions

- DTS uses read and write resources of the source and destination databases during full data migration. This may increase the loads of the database servers. If the database performance is unfavorable, the specification is low, or the data volume is large, database services may become unavailable. For example, DTS occupies a large amount of read and write resources in the following cases: a large number of slow SQL queries are performed on the source database, the tables have no primary keys, or a deadlock occurs in the destination database. Before you migrate data, evaluate the impact of data migration on the performance of the source and destination databases. We recommend that you migrate data during off-peak hours. For example, you can migrate data when the CPU utilization of the source and destination databases is less than 30%.
- The tables to be migrated in the source database must have PRIMARY KEY or UNIQUE constraints and all fields must be unique. Otherwise, the destination database may contain duplicate data records.
- DTS uses the ROUND (COLUMN, PRECISION) function to retrieve values from columns of the FLOAT or DOUBLE data type. If you do not specify a precision, DTS sets the precision for the FLOAT data type to 38 digits and the precision for the DOUBLE data type to 308 digits. You must check whether the precision settings meet your business requirements.
- DTS automatically creates a destination database in the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. However, if the name of the source database is invalid, you must manually create a database in the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance before you configure the data migration task.

(?) Note For more information about the naming conventions of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL databases and how to create a database, see Create a database on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

• If a data migration task fails, DTS automatically resumes the task. Before you switch your workloads to the destination instance, stop or release the data migration task. Otherwise, the data in the source instance will overwrite the data in the destination instance after the task is resumed.

Billing

Migration type	Task configuration fee	Internet traffic fee
Schema migration and full data migration	Free of charge.	Charged only when data is migrated from
Incremental data migration	Charged. For more information, see Pricing.	information, see Pricing.

Migration types

• Schema migration

DTS migrates the schemas of the required objects to the destination instance. DTS supports schema migration for the following types of objects: table, view, trigger, stored procedure, and function. DTS does not support schema migration for events.

⑦ Note

- During schema migration, DTS changes the value of the SECURITY attribute from DEFINER to INVOKER for views, stored procedures, and functions.
- DTS does not migrate user information. To call a view, stored procedure, or function of the destination database, you must grant the read and write permissions to INVOKER.

• Full data migration

DTS migrates historical data of the required objects from the Amazon RDS for MySQL instance to the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

? Note

- During full data migration, concurrent INSERT operations cause fragmentation in the tables of the destination instance. After full data migration is complete, the tablespace of the destination instance is larger than that of the source instance.
- During schema migration and full data migration, do not perform data definition language (DDL) operations in the source database, for example, add a field. Otherwise, data migration may fail.

• Incremental data migration

After full data migration is complete, DTS retrieves binary log files from the Amazon RDS for MySQL instance. Then, DTS synchronizes incremental data from the Amazon RDS for MySQL instance to the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. Incremental data migration allows you to ensure service continuity when you migrate data between MySQL databases.

Permissions required for database accounts

Database	Schema migration	Full data migration	Incremental data migration
Amazon RDS for MySQL	The SELECT permission	The SELECT permission	The REPLICATION CLIENT, REPLICATION SLAVE, SHOW VIEW, and SELECT permissions
ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL	The read and write permissions	The read and write permissions	The read and write permissions

For more information about how to create and authorize a database account, see the following topics:

- Amazon RDS for MySQL instance: Create an account for a user-created MySQL database and configure binary logging
- ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance: Create an account on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance and Modify the permissions of a standard account on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Before you begin

- 1. Log on to the Amazon RDS Management Console.
- 2. Go to the Basic Information page of the Amazon RDS for MySQL instance.
- 3. In the **Security group rules** section, click the name of the security group corresponding to the existing inbound rule.

Security group rules (2)			C
Q Filter security group rules		< 1	> ©
Security group	▲ Туре	▼ Rule	
100.010	CIDR/IP - Inbound		
	CIDR/IP - Outbound	0.0.0/0	

4. On the **Security Groups** page, click the Inbound tab in the Security Group section. On the Inbound tab, click Edit to add the CIDR blocks of DTS servers in the corresponding region to the inbound rule. For more information, see Add the CIDR blocks of DTS servers to the security settings of on-premises databases.

EC2 Dashboard		Create Security G	roup Actions 👻			2	- e -	¢ (
Tags		Q Filter by tags and	d attributes or search by ke	eyword		2 K < 1	to 1 of 1	
Reports		Name	 Group ID 	▲ Group Name	 VPC ID 	- Owner		De
			100000	default	10000	-		de
Instances								
sp Edit inbo	ound r	ules					×	
De Type i	3	Protocol (j	Port Range () Se	ource (j)	Descri	iption (j)		
Ca Re Custom TC	CP F 🔻	ТСР	3306	Custom 🔻	dts		8	
Add Rule			4	5 6				
AN NOTE: Any e Bu on that rule t	edits made to be drop	e on existing rules will uped for a very brief pe	result in the edited rule b eriod of time until the new	peing deleted and a new rule cre v rule can be created.	ated with the new details. This w	ill cause traffic that depend	s	
, EL								
5 ST						Cancel	Save	
 STI Vo Snapshots Lifecycle Manager 		Security Group:	1			Cancel	Save	
STI Vo Snapshots Lifecycle Manager NETWORK & SECURITY		Security Group:	Dound Outbound	Tags	-	Cancel	Save	
Snapshots Lifecycle Manager NETWORK & SECURITY Security Groups		Security Group: Description In Edit 2	0utbound	Tags		Cancel	Save	
Shapshots Lifecycle Manager NETWORK & SECURITY Security Groups Elastic IPs Blacement Groups		Security Group: Description In Edit 2 Type ()	Outbound Outbound	Tags	(i) Source (i)	Cancel	Save	

? Note

- You need to add only the CIDR blocks of DTS servers that reside in the same region as the destination database. For example, the source database resides in the Singapore (Singapore) region and the destination database resides in the China (Hangzhou) region.
 You need to add only the CIDR blocks of DTS servers that reside in the China (Hangzhou) region.
- You can add all of the required CIDR blocks to the inbound rule at a time.
- 5. Log on to the Amazon RDS for MySQL database and specify the number of hours to retain binary log files. Skip this step if you do not need to perform incremental data migration.

call mysql.rds_set_configuration('binlog retention hours', 24);

? Note

- The preceding command sets the retention period of binary log files to 24 hours. The maximum value is 168 hours (7 days).
- The binary logging feature of the Amazon RDS for MySQL instance must be enabled and the value of the binlog_format parameter must be set to row. If the MySQL version is 5.6 or later, the value of the binlog_row_image parameter must be set to full.

Procedure

- 1. Log on to the DTS console.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Data Migration**.
- 3. At the top of the Migration Tasks page, select the region where the destination cluster resides.
- 4. In the upper-right corner of the page, click **Create Migration Task**.
- 5. Configure the source and destination databases.

Cancel Set Whitelist and Next

1.Configure Source and Destinatio	n 2.Configure Migration Types and Objects	\rangle	3.Map name modifie	ation	A.Precheck
* Task Name: 👖	YŞQL_TO_MYŞQL				
Source Database					
* Instance Type:	User-Created Database with Public IP Address	•			
* Instance Region:	Singapore	٣	Get IP Address Segment of	f DTS	
* Database Type:	MySQL	*			
* Hostname or IP Address:					
* Port Number:	3306				
* Database Account:	dtstest				
* Database Password:	•••••	∮ >	Test Connectivity	⊘ Passed	
Destination Database					
* Instance Type:	RDS Instance	•			
 Instance Type: Instance Region: 	RDS Instance Singapore	v			
Instance Type: Instance Region: RDS Instance ID:	RDS Instance Singapore	• •			
 Instance Type: Instance Region: RDS Instance ID: Database Account: 	RDS Instance Singapore distest	* *			

Section	Parameter	Description
N/A	Task Name	DTS automatically generates a task name. We recommend that you specify an informative name for easy identification. You do not need to use a unique task name.
	Instance Type	Select User-Created Database with Public IP Address.
	lnstance Region	If the instance type is set to User-Created Database with Public IP Address , you do not need to specify the instance region .
	Database Type	Select MySQL.

Section	Parameter	Description					
Source Dat <i>a</i> base	Hostname or IP Address	Enter the endpoint that is used to access the Amazon RDS for MySQL instance. Image: The endpoint on the Basic information page of the Amazon RDS for MySQL instance. Image: RDS × Connectivity & security Memory RDS X Connectivity & security Monitoring Lashbard Tags Databases Connectivity & security Performance insights Connectivity & security Stabases Endpoint Performance insights Security Submet groups Security Submet groups Security					
		Parameter groups 1rds.amazonaws.com (active) Option groups Pott Public accessibility Events Subnet group Vec Recommendations Certificate authority rds-ca-2015 Subnets Certificate authority date Mar 6th, 2020					
	Port Number	Enter the service port number of the Amazon RDS for MySQL instance. The default port number is 3306 .					
	Dat abase Account	Enter the database account of the Amazon RDS for MySQL instance. For information about the permissions that are required for the account, see Permissions required for database accounts.					
	Dat abase Password	Enter the password of the database account. Note After you specify the source database parameters, click Test Connectivity next to Database Password to verify whether the specified parameters are valid. If the specified parameters are valid, the Passed message appears. If the Failed message appears, click Check next to Failed . Modify the source database parameters based on the check results.					
	Instance Type	Select RDS Instance.					
	Instance Region	Select the region where the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance resides.					
	RDS Instance ID	Select the ID of the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.					
	Dat abase Account	Enter the database account of the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. For information about the permissions that are required for the account, see Permissions required for database accounts.					

Section	Parameter	Description
Destinatio		Enter the password of the database account.
Dat <i>a</i> base	n Database Database Password	Note After you specify the destination database parameters, click Test Connectivity next to Database Password to verify whether the specified parameters are valid. If the specified parameters are valid, the Passed message appears. If the Failed message appears, click Check next to Failed. Modify the destination database parameters based on the check results.
Encryption	Select Non-encrypted or SSL-encrypted . If you want to select SSL-encrypted , you must enable SSL encryption for the RDS instance before you configure the data migration task. For more information, see Configure SSL encryption on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	
	Note The Encryption parameter is available only for regions in mainland China and the China (Hong Kong) region.	

6. In the lower-right corner of the page, click Set Whitelist and Next.

🗘 Warning

- If the source or destination database instance is an Alibaba Cloud database instance, such as an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL or ApsaraDB for MongoDB instance, or is a self-managed database hosted on Elastic Compute Service (ECS), DTS automatically adds the CIDR blocks of DTS servers to the whitelist of the database instance or ECS security group rules. For more information, see Add the CIDR blocks of DTS servers to the security settings of on-premises databases. If the source or destination database is a self-managed database on data centers or is from other cloud service providers, you must manually add the CIDR blocks of DTS servers to allow DTS to access the database.
- If the CIDR blocks of DTS servers are automatically or manually added to the whitelist of the database instance or ECS security group rules, security risks may arise. Therefore, before you use DTS to migrate data, you must understand and acknowledge the potential risks and take preventive measures, including but not limited to the following measures: enhance the security of your account and password, limit the ports that are exposed, authenticate API calls, regularly check the whitelist or ECS security group rules and forbid unauthorized CIDR blocks, or connect the database to DTS by using Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway.
- After the DTS task is completed or released, we recommend that you manually detect and remove the added CIDR blocks from the whitelist of the database instance or ECS security group rules.
- 7. Select the migration types and the objects to be migrated.

* Migration Tyr	nest 🔽 Schema Migration	🖉 Full Data Mi	igration 🖌 Inc	remental Dai	ta Migration	Note: Increm	ental data miora	tion does no	tsupport
triggers. For mor	e information, see Reference	e		crementar ba	a higration	note: Increm	entai tata migra	stion does no	cappore
Note: do not o cleans up the Data migratior between Apsa For long-term	clean up the incremental da log too early, the DTS incre n applies to short-term mig ra Stack databases. data synchronization in rea	ta log generated by mental task may fai ation scenarios. Typ I time, use the data	the source databas l iical scenarios inclu synchronization fea	e after the D de migrating ature.	TS task is started	d when the DT	S full task is run	ning, If the s	ource database rating data
Available					Selected (To ex Edit.) Learn m	dit an object n ore.	ame or its filter,	hover over t	he object and clic
Expand the tr	ree before you perform a gl	d Q						Q	
🗆 📑 dtste	stdata bles				🗁 dtstest	data (20bj	ects)		
🖃 💼 Tat 🕀 🗁 Vie	ews				custor	ner			
				>					
Select All									
Select All	asses and Tables	Do Not Charges	Database and T-M	e Names	Remove All	ahace and Tal	nie Namee		
Select All *Rename Databa	ases and Tables: Failed Connection	Do Not Change 720	Database and Tabl	e Names	Remove All Change Dat	abase and Tal	ole Names		
Select All Rename Databa Retry Time for Source table DM vant to copy the he target databa	ases and Tables: Failed Connection MS_ ONLINE_ Do you temporary table to ase during DDL:	 Do Not Change 720 Yes No 	Database and Tabl Minutes ⑦	e Names	Remove All Change Dat	abase and Tal	ble Names		
Select All *Rename Databa * Retry Time for *Source table DN vant to copy the he target databa information: Data migration n the source dat Do not do DDI	ases and Tables: Failed Connection MS_ ONLINE_ Do you : temporary table to ase during DDL: n only copies the data and s abase. L operation during structure	Do Not Change 720 Yes Yes No chema in the source and full migration, 4	Database and Tabl Minutes (?) (?) e database and save	e Names es the copy ir may fail	Remove All Change Dat the destination	abase and Tal	ole Names e process does n	ot affect any	data or schema

> Document Version: 20220712

RDS MySQL Dat abase · Dat a migratio

Description
 To perform only full data migration, select Schema Migration and Full Data Migration. To ensure service continuity during data migration, select Schema Migration, Full Data Migration, and Incremental Data Migration.
 Note If Incremental Data Migration is not selected, we recommend that you do not write data to the source database during data migration. This ensures data consistency between the source and destination databases. During schema migration and full data migration, we recommend that you do not perform DDL operations on the required objects. Otherwise, the objects may fail to be migrated.
You can use the object name mapping feature to rename the objects that are migrated to the destination instance. For more information, see Object name mapping.
By default, if DTS fails to connect to the source or destination database, DTS retries within the next 12 hours. You can specify the retry time based on your needs. If DTS reconnects to the source and destination databases within the specified time, DTS resumes the data migration task. Otherwise, the data migration task fails.
Note When DTS retries a connection, you are charged for the DTS instance. We recommend that you specify the retry time based on your business needs. You can also release the DTS instance at your earliest opportunity after the source and destination instances are released.

Setting	Description
Specify whether to copy tempora ry tables to the destinati	If you use Data Management (DMS) to perform online DDL operations on the source database, you can specify whether to migrate temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. • Yes: DTS migrates the data of temporary tables generated by online DDL operations.
on dat abas e when DMS perform s online	Note If online DDL operations generate a large amount of data, the data migration task may be delayed.
	• No : DTS does not migrate the data of temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. Only the original DDL data of the source database is migrated.
operatio ns on the source table	Note If you select No, the tables in the destination database may be locked.

8. In the lower-right corner of the page, click **Precheck**.

? Note

- Before you can start the data migration task, a precheck is performed. You can start the data migration task only after the task passes the precheck.
- If the task fails to pass the precheck, you can click the next to each failed item

to view details.

- You can trouble shoot the issues based on the causes and run a precheck again.
- If you do not need to troubleshoot the issues, you can ignore failed items and run a precheck again.
- 9. After the task passes the precheck, click Next.
- 10. In the **Confirm Settings** dialog box, specify the **Channel Specification** parameter and select **Data Transmission Service (Pay-As-You-Go) Service Terms**.
- 11. Click Buy and Start to start the data migration task.
 - Schema migration and full data migration

We recommend that you do not manually stop the task during full data migration. Otherwise, the data migrated to the destination database will be incomplete. You can wait until the data migration task automatically stops.

• Schema migration, full data migration, and incremental data migration

The task does not automatically stop during incremental data migration. You must manually stop the task.

Notice We recommend that you select an appropriate time to manually stop the data migration task. For example, you can stop the task during off-peak hours or before you switch your workloads to the destination cluster.

- a. Wait until **Incremental Data Migration** and **The migration task is not delayed** appear in the progress bar of the migration task. Then, stop writing data to the source database for a few minutes. The delay time of **incremental data migration** may be displayed in the progress bar.
- b. Wait until the status of incremental data migration changes to The migration task is not delayed again. Then, manually stop the migration task.

Task Name V Search by migration task name.	Search Sort: Default Sorting V Status: All V	Tag
Task ID/Name: A Nov 2021, 09:59:01 Created	Status: Migrating Quick Diagnostics Pause Task View Details Duplicate Task	Upgrade Configure Monitoring and Alerting Change password Edit Tag Completed
Schema Migration 100%	Full Data Migration 100%(Migrated Rows: 1)	Incremental Data M 1 n The migration task is not delayed. Total: 1 item(s), Per Page: 20 item(s)

12. Switch your workloads to the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

6.4. Migrate data between ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances

This topic describes how to migrate data between ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances by using Data Transmission Service (DTS). DTS supports schema migration, full data migration, and incremental data migration. When you configure a migration task, you can select all of these supported migration types. This allows you to migrate data without causing service interruptions to your application.

Prerequisites

The database types of the RDS instances meet the following requirements.

Source database	Destination database
ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL ApsaraDB RDS for MariaDB TX	ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL ApsaraDB RDS for MariaDB TX
ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server	ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server
ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL	ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL

Precautions

- Data migration does not affect the data of the source database. During data migration, DTS reads the data of the source database and copies the data to the destination database. DTS does not delete the data of the source database. For more information, see Design concept of data migration.
- DTS uses read and write resources of the source and destination databases during full data migration. This may increase the loads of the database servers. If the database performance is unfavorable, the specification is low, or the data volume is large, database services may become unavailable. For example, DTS occupies a large amount of read and write resources in the following

cases: a large number of slow SQL queries are performed on the source database, the tables have no primary keys, or a deadlock occurs in the destination database. Before you migrate data, evaluate the impact of data migration on the performance of the source and destination databases. We recommend that you migrate data during off-peak hours. For example, you can migrate data when the CPU utilization of the source and destination databases is less than 30%.

- The tables to be migrated in the source database must have PRIMARY KEY or UNIQUE constraints and all fields must be unique. Otherwise, the destination database may contain duplicate data records.
- To ensure data consistency, we recommend that you do not write data to the source RDS instance during full data migration.
- If a data migration task fails, DTS automatically resumes the task. Before you switch your workloads to the destination instance, stop or release the data migration task. Otherwise, the data in the source instance will overwrite the data in the destination instance after the task is resumed.
- DTS automatically creates a database in the destination RDS instance. However, if the name of the source database is invalid, you must manually create a database in the destination RDS instance before you configure the data migration task.

Note For more information about the naming conventions of ApsaraDB RDS and how to create a database, see **Create databases and accounts for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance**.

 If you migrate data between ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL instances, take note of the following limits: After your workloads are switched to the destination database, newly written sequences do not increment from the maximum value of the sequences in the source database. Therefore, you must query the maximum value of the sequences in the source database before you switch your workloads to the destination database. Then, you must specify the queried maximum value as the starting value of the sequences in the destination database. You can execute the following statements to query the maximum value of the sequences in the source database:

```
do language plpgsql $$
declare
  nsp name;
  rel name;
  val int8;
begin
  for nsp,rel in select nspname,relname from pg_class t2 , pg_namespace t3 where t2.relna
mespace=t3.oid and t2.relkind='S'
  loop
    execute format($_$select last_value from %I.%I$_$, nsp, rel) into val;
    raise notice '%',
    format($_$select setval('%I.%I'::regclass, %s);$_$, nsp, rel, val+1);
    end loop;
end;
$$;
```

Billing

Migration type	Task configuration fee	Internet traffic fee
Schema migration and full data migration	Free of charge.	
		Charged only when data is migrated from

Migration type	Task configuration fee	Informeattion,fixefeericing.
Incremental data migration	Charged. For more information, see Pricing.	

Migration types

• Schema migration

n

DTS migrates the schemas of the required objects from the source RDS instance to the destination RDS instance.

• Full data migration

DTS migrates historical data of the required objects from the source RDS instance to the destination RDS instance.

• Increment al data migration

After full data migration is completed, DTS synchronizes incremental data from the source RDS instance to the destination RDS instance. Incremental data migration allows you to ensure service continuity when you migrate data between RDS instances.

SQL operations that can be synchronized during incremental data migration

Scenario	Operation type	SQL statement
• Migrate data	DML	INSERT, UPDATE, DELETE, and REPLACE
 between ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances Migrate data between ApsaraDB RDS for MariaDB TX instances Migrate data from an ApsaraDB RDS for MariaDB TX instance to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance 	DDL	 ALTER TABLE and ALTER VIEW CREATE FUNCTION, CREATE INDEX, CREATE PROCEDURE, CREATE TABLE, and CREATE VIEW DROP INDEX and DROP TABLE RENAME TABLE TRUNCATE TABLE
		INSERT, UPDATE, and DELETE
DML	DML	Note If an UPDATE operation updates only the large fields, DTS does not synchronize the operation.

Migrate data between Scenario ApsaraDB RDS for SQL	Operation type	SQL statement
		 ALTER TABLE, including only ADD COLUMN, DROP COLUMN, and RENAME COLUMN CREATE TABLE and CREATE INDEX
	DDL	Note If a CREATE TABLE operation creates a partitioned table or a table that contains functions, DTS does not synchronize the operation.
		DROP TABLE
		RENAME TABLE
		TRUNCATE TABLE
Migrate data between	DML	INSERT, UPDATE, and DELETE
ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL instances		
Migrate data between ApsaraDB RDS for PPAS instances		

Permissions required for database accounts

Scenario	Database	Schema migration	Full data migration	Incremental data migration
• Migrate data	Source instance	The SELECT permission	The SELECT permission	The REPLICATION SLAVE, REPLICATION CLIENT, SHOW VIEW, and SELECT permissions
 between ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances Migrate data between ApsaraDB RDS for MariaDB TX instances Migrate data from an ApsaraDB RDS for MariaDB RDS for MariaDB TX instance to an ApsaraDB RDS for MariaDB RDS 	Destinati on instance	The read and write permissions	The read and write permissions	The read and write permissions
for MySQL instance				

RDS MySQL Dat abase · Dat a migratio

n

Scenario	Database	Schema migration	Full data migration	Incremental data migration	
Migrate data between ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server instances	Source instance	The SELECT permission	The SELECT permission	The owner permission on the objects to be migrated ? Note A privileged account has the required permissions.	
	Destinati on instance	The read and write permissions	The read and write permissions	The read and write permissions	
Migrate data between ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL instances	Source instance	The USAGE permission on pg_catalog	The SELECT permission on the objects to be migrated	rds_superuser Note A standard account of an ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQ L instance has the required permission s. If you receive a message indicating that the database account does not have the permission s of the superuser role, you must upgrade the kernel version of the RDS instance.	

Scenario	Database	Schema migration	Full data migration	Incremental data migration		
		The CREATE and	The permissions of the database owner, including the permissions to perform the INSERT, UPDATE, and DELETE operations	The permissions of the database owner, including the permissions to perform the INSERT, UPDATE, and DELETE operations		
	Destinati USAGE on permissions on instance the objects to be migrated	Note A standard account of an ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL instance has the required permissions.	Note A standard account of an ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL instance has the required permissions.			

Procedure

- 1. Log on to the DTS console.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Data Migration**.
- 3. In the upper part of the **Migration Tasks** page, select the region where the RDS instance resides.
- 4. In the upper-right corner of the page, click **Create Migration Task**.
- 5. Configure the source and destination databases.

1.Configure Source and Destination	2.Configure Migration Types and Objects >		3.Map name modification	\rightarrow	4.Precheck
* Task Name: R	DS_TO_RDS				
Source Database					
* Instance Type:	RDS Instance	•			
* Instance Region:	Singapore	۳			
* RDS Instance ID:	Industry Williams	Ŧ	RDS Instances of Other Apsara Sta	ck Accounts	
* Database Account:	dtstest				
* Database Password:	•••••	<	Test Connectivity 🔗 Pa	sed	
Destination Database					
* Instance Type:	RDS Instance	٣			
* Instance Region:	Singapore	*			
* RDS Instance ID:		Ŧ			
* Database Account:	dtstest				
* Database Password:	•••••		Test Connectivity 🔗 Pa	ssed	
					Cancel Set Whitelist and Next

Section	Parameter	Description				
N/A	Task Name	DTS automatically generates a task name. We recommend that you specify an informative name to identify the task. You do not need to specify a unique task name.				
	Instance Type	Select RDS Instance.				
	Instance Region	Select the region where the source RDS instance resides.				
		Select the ID of the source RDS instance.				
	RDS Instance ID	Note The source and destination RDS instances can be the same or different. You can use DTS to migrate data within an RDS instance or between two RDS instances.				
		Enter the name of the source database in the ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL instance.				
	Database Name	Note This parameter is required only if the database engine of the RDS instance is PostgreSQL .				
	Dat abase Account	Enter the database account of the source RDS instance. For information about the permissions that are required for the account see Permissions required for database accounts.				
Source Database	Dat abase Password	Enter the password of the database account. Note After you specify the information about the self- managed Oracle database, you can click Test Connectivity next to Database Password to check whether the information is valid. If the information is valid, the Passed message appears. If the Failed message appears, click Check next to Failed . Then, modify the information based on the check results.				
	Encryption	Select Non-encrypted or SSL-encrypted. If you want to select SSL-encrypted, you must enable SSL encryption for the RDS instance before you configure the data migration task. For more information, see Configure SSL encryption for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. Note This parameter is required only if the database engine of the RDS instance is MySQL. The Encryption parameter is available only for regions in the				
		Chinese mainland and the China (Hong Kong) region.				

Section	Parameter	Description
	Instance Type	Select RDS Instance.
	lnstance Region	Select the region where the destination RDS instance resides.
	RDS Instance ID	Select the ID of the destination RDS instance. Note The source and destination RDS instances can be the same or different. You can use DTS to migrate data within an RDS instance or between two RDS instances.
	The name of	Enter the name of the destination database in the ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL instance. The name of the destination database can be different from the name of the source database.
	the database.	Note This parameter is required only if the database engine of the RDS instance is PostgreSQL .
Destinatio n	Database Account	Enter the account that is used to connect to the RDS instance. For more information about the permissions that are required for the account, see Permissions required for database accounts.
Database		Enter the password of the database account.
	Dat abase Password	Note After you specify the information about the RDS instance, you can click Test Connectivity next to Database Password to check whether the information is valid. If the information is valid, the Passed message appears. If the Failed message appears, click Check next to Failed . Then, modify the information based on the check results.
		Select Non-encrypted or SSL-encrypted. If you want to select
	Encryption	 SSL-encrypted, you must enable SSL encryption for the RDS instance before you configure the data migration task. For more information, see Configure SSL encryption for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. Note This parameter is required only if the database engine of the RDS instance is MySQL. The Encryption parameter is available only for regions in the Chinese mainland and the China (Hong Kong) region.

6. In the lower-right corner of the page, click Set Whitelist and Next.

□ Warning

- If the source or destination database instance is an Alibaba Cloud database instance, such as an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL or ApsaraDB for MongoDB instance, or is a self-managed database hosted on Elastic Compute Service (ECS), DTS automatically adds the CIDR blocks of DTS servers to the whitelist of the database instance or ECS security group rules. For more information, see Add the CIDR blocks of DTS servers to the security settings of on-premises databases. If the source or destination database is a self-managed database on data centers or is from other cloud service providers, you must manually add the CIDR blocks of DTS servers to allow DTS to access the database.
- If the CIDR blocks of DTS servers are automatically or manually added to the whitelist of the database instance or ECS security group rules, security risks may arise. Therefore, before you use DTS to migrate data, you must understand and acknowledge the potential risks and take preventive measures, including but not limited to the following measures: enhance the security of your account and password, limit the ports that are exposed, authenticate API calls, regularly check the whitelist or ECS security group rules and forbid unauthorized CIDR blocks, or connect the database to DTS by using Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway.
- After the DTS task is completed or released, we recommend that you manually detect and remove the added CIDR blocks from the whitelist of the database instance or ECS security group rules.
- 7. Select the migration types and the objects to be migrated.

ApsaraDB for RDS

1.Configu	re Source and	2.Configure Migration	n Types and	3.Advanced Settings	\rightarrow	4.Precheck
 Migration T: riggers. For my Note: do not cleans up the Data migrati between Aps For long-terr 	ypes: Schema Mig ore information, see Re clean up the incremer e log too early, the DT on applies to short-ten sara Stack databases, m data synchronization	Tation Full Data Migrati ference ital data log generated by the s incremental task may fail m migration scenarios. Typical s in real time, use the data sync	on Incremental source database after the scenarios include migrati hronization feature.	Data Migration Note: Incr DTS task is started when the ng data to the cloud, scaling a	remental data migra DTS full task is run nd sharding databas	tion does not support ning. If the source database res, and migrating data
Available Expand the Company t	tree before you perfor estdata ables iews bases and Tables: or Failed Connection on only copies the data atabase. DL operation during str	m a glol Q m a glol Q o Do Not Change Data 720 Mir a and schema in the source data ucture and full migration, other	base and Table Names nutes ?	Selected (To edit an object Edit.) Learn more.	ct name or its filter, Dbjects) Table Names	hover over the object and dick
				Cancel	Previous	Save Precheck
etting elect le igratio types	Description Select the be support • To perfor Migratio • To ensu Data Mi	migration types b ed by the databa form only full data on. re service continui igration, and Inci	ased on your se engine. migration, sel ty during data r emental Dat	business requirent lect Schema Mig a migration, select t a Migration .	nents. The r ration and t Schema P	nigration types mu Full Data ⁄ligration, Full

Setting	Description
	Select one or more objects from the Available section and click the > icon to move the objects to the Selected section.
Select the objects to be migrate d	 Note You can select columns, tables, or databases as the objects to be migrated. If you select tables or columns as the objects to be migrated, DTS does not migrate other objects such as views, triggers, and stored procedures to the destination database. By default, after an object is migrated to the destination database, the name of the object remains unchanged. You can use the object name mapping feature to rename the objects that are migrated to the destination database. For more information, see Object name mapping. If you use the object name mapping feature to rename an object, other objects that are dependent on the object may fail to be migrated.
Specify whether to rename objects	You can use the object name mapping feature to rename the objects that are migrated to the destination instance. For more information, see Object name mapping.
Specify the retry time range for failed connecti ons to the source or destinati on databas	By default, if DTS fails to connect to the source or destination database, DTS retries within the next 720 minutes (12 hours). You can specify the retry time range based on your business requirements. If DTS reconnects to the source and destination databases within the specified time range, DTS resumes the data migration task. Otherwise, the data migration task fails.
	Note When DTS retries a connection, you are charged for the DTS instance. We recommend that you specify the retry time range based on your business requirements. You can also release the DTS instance at your earliest opportunity after the source and destination instances are released.
to rename objects Specify the retry time range for failed connecti ons to the source or destinati on databas e	You can use the object name mapping feature to rename the objects that are migrate the destination instance. For more information, see Object name mapping. By default, if DTS fails to connect to the source or destination database, DTS retries of the next 720 minutes (12 hours). You can specify the retry time range based on your business requirements. If DTS reconnects to the source and destination databases with the specified time range, DTS resumes the data migration task. Otherwise, the data migration task fails. Note When DTS retries a connection, you are charged for the DTS instance. The recommend that you specify the retry time range based on your business requirements. You can also release the DTS instance at your earliest opportunity aff the source and destination instances are released.

8. Click Precheck.

> Document Version: 20220712

? Note

- A precheck is performed before the migration task starts. The migration task only starts after the precheck succeeds.
- If the precheck fails, click the



icon next to each failed check item to view the related details. Fix the issues as instructed and run the precheck again.

- 9. After the data migration task passes the precheck, click Next.
- 10. In the **Confirm Settings** dialog box, configure the **Channel Specification** parameter. Then, read and select **Data Transmission Service (Pay-as-you-go) Service Terms**.
- 11. Click Buy and Start to start the data migration task.
 - Full data migration

Do not manually stop a full data migration task. If you manually stop a full data migration task, the data that is migrated to the RDS instance may be incomplete. You can wait until the full data migration task automatically stops.

• Incremental data migration

An incremental data migration task does not automatically stop. You must manually stop the task.

? Note We recommend that you manually stop an incremental data migration task at an appropriate point in time. For example, you can stop the task during off-peak hours or before you switch your workloads over to the RDS instance.

- a. Wait until Incremental Data Migration and The data migration task is not delayed appear in the progress bar of the data migration task. Then, stop writing data to the selfmanaged Oracle database for a few minutes. The delay time of incremental data migration may be displayed in the progress bar.
- b. Wait until the status of incremental data migration changes to The data migration task is not delayed again. Then, manually stop the migration task.



7.Data synchronization 7.1. Overview of data synchronization

This topic provides an overview of the data synchronization solutions supported by ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL.

Scenario	Reference
Synchronize data between ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances	 Configure two-way data synchronization between MySQL instances Configure one-way data synchronization between ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances Synchronize data from a self-managed MySQL database hosted on ECS to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance Synchronize data from a self-managed MySQL database connected over Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance Synchronize data between ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance Synchronize data between ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance
Synchronize data from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance to other types of databases	Synchronize data from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance to a MaxCompute project

7.2. Synchronize data from MySQL to MySQL

7.2.1. Configure one-way data synchronization between ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances

Data Transmission Service (DTS) supports data synchronization between two MySQL databases. This topic describes how to configure one-way data synchronization between two ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances.

Prerequisites

- The source and destination RDS instances are created. For more information, see Create an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- The database type of the source and destination RDS instances is MySQL.

Precautions

• DTS uses read and write resources of the source and destination databases during initial full data synchronization. This may increase the loads of the database servers. If the database performance is unfavorable, the specification is low, or the data volume is large, database services may become

unavailable. For example, DTS occupies a large amount of read and write resources in the following cases: a large number of slow SQL queries are performed on the source database, the tables have no primary keys, or a deadlock occurs in the destination database. Before you synchronize data, evaluate the impact of data synchronization on the performance of the source and destination databases. We recommend that you synchronize data during off-peak hours. For example, you can synchronize data when the CPU utilization of the source and destination databases is less than 30%.

- We recommend that you do not use gh-ost or pt-online-schema-change to perform DDL operations on objects during data synchronization. Otherwise, data synchronization may fail.
- If you use only DTS to write data to the destination database, you can use Data Management (DMS) to perform online DDL operations during data synchronization. For more information, see Change schemas without locking tables.

Q Warning If you use tools other than DTS to write data to the destination database, we recommend that you do not use DMS to perform online DDL operations. Otherwise, data loss may occur in the destination database.

- The tables to be migrated in the source database must have PRIMARY KEY or UNIQUE constraints and all fields must be unique. Otherwise, the destination database may contain duplicate data records.
- During initial full data synchronization, concurrent INSERT operations cause fragmentation in the tables of the destination instance. After initial full data synchronization, the tablespace of the destination instance is larger than that of the source instance.

Supported synchronization topologies

- One-way one-to-one synchronization
- One-way one-to-many synchronization
- One-way cascade synchronization
- One-way many-to-one synchronization
- Two-way one-to-one synchronization

For more information, see Synchronization topologies.

SQL operations that can be synchronized

Limits

• Incompatibility with triggers

If you select a database as the object and the database contains a trigger that updates a table, data inconsistency may occur. For more information about how to solve this issue, see Configure a data synchronization task for a source database that contains a trigger.

• Limits on RENAME TABLE operations

RENAME TABLE operations may cause data inconsistency during synchronization. For example, if only Table A needs to be synchronized and it is renamed Table B, Table B cannot be synchronized to the destination database. To prevent this situation, you can select the entire database where Table A is located as the object when you configure the data synchronization task.

Procedure

1. Purchase a data synchronization instance. For more information, see Purchase a data synchronization

instance.

Note Select MySQL for both the source instance and the destination instance and select **One-Way Synchronization** as the synchronization topology.

- 2. Log on to the DTS console.
- 3. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Data Synchronization**.
- 4. At the top of the **Synchronization Tasks** page, select the region where the data synchronization instance resides.

Data Transmission Se	Synchronization Tasks	Singapore Aust	ralia (Sydney)	India (Mumbai)	Japan (Tokyo)	Indonesia (Jakarta	a) China (Hangzhou)	China (Shenzhen)	China (Beijing)	China (Qingdao)
Overview	the region of the destination	China (Shanghai) instance in the sync	Hong Kong hronization task	US (Virginia))	US (Silicon Valley)	UAE (Dubai) N	Ialaysia (Kuala Lumpur)	Germany (Frankfurt	China (Hohhot) UK (London)
Data Migration										C Refresh
Change Tracking										
Data Synchronization	Task Name	7			Search	Sort: Default S	Sorting •	All	Ŧ	
Operation Log	Instance ID/Task Na	me		Status	Synchroniz	ation Details	Billing Metho	d	Synchroni Mode(All)	zation •

- 5. Find the data synchronization instance and click **Configure Synchronization Channel** in the Actions column.
- 6. Configure the source and destination instances.

1.Configure Source and De	estination	2.Select Objects to Synchronize	\rightarrow	3.Advanced Settings	\geq	L	I.Precheck
Synchronization Tac							
Synchronization ras	K Name. RDS MySQL						
Source Instance Details							
Instan	e Type: RDS Instance		•				
Instance	Region: China (Hangzh	u)					
* Insta	ance ID: rm-br		-	RDS Instances of Other Apsara Sta	ck Accounts		
* Database A	Account: dtstest						
* Database Pa	issword:		4>				
* End	ryption: Non-encrypt	ed OSSL-encrypted					
Destination Instance Details							
Instan	e Type: RDS Instance						
Instance	Region: China (Hangzh	u)					
* Insta	ance ID: rm-bp	and the second se	•				
* Database A	Account: dtstest						
* Database Pa	issword:		4>				
* End	ryption: Non-encrypt	ed SSL-encrypted					
						Cancel	Set Whitelist and Next
Section	Parameter	Description					
N/A	Synchroniz n Task Na	atio DTS autom you specify not need to	atically ge an inform use a un	enerates a task nam native name for eas ique task name.	ne. We y ident	recomm ificatior	end that n. You do

Section	Parameter	Description			
	Instance Type	Select RDS Instance.			
	Instance Region	The source region that you selected on the buy page. You cannot change the value of this parameter.			
	Instance ID	Select the ID of the source RDS instance.			
	Dat abase	Enter the database account of the source RDS instance.			
Source	, lecount	the database account or database password.			
Instance Details	Dat abase Password	Enter the password of the source database account.			
	Encryption	Select Non-encrypted or SSL-encrypted . If you want to select SSL-encrypted , you must enable SSL encryption for the RDS instance before you configure the data synchronization task. For more information, see Configure SSL encryption for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance .			
	Licippton	Notice The Encryption parameter is available only for regions in the Chinese mainland and the China (Hong Kong) region.			
	Instance Type	Select RDS Instance.			
	Instance Region	The destination region that you selected on the buy page. You cannot change the value of this parameter.			
	Instance ID	Select the ID of the destination RDS instance.			
		Enter the database account of the destination RDS instance.			
	Dat abase Account	Note If the database engine of the destination RDS instance is MySQL 5.5 or MySQL 5.6 , you do not need to configure the database account or database password .			
	Dat abase Password	Enter the password of the destination database account.			
Destination Instance Details					

Section	Parameter	Description		
	Encryption	Select Non-encrypted or SSL-encrypted . If you want to select SSL-encrypted , you must enable SSL encryption for the RDS instance before you configure the data synchronization task. For more information, see Configure SSL encryption on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance		
		Notice The Encryption parameter is available only for regions in the Chinese mainland and the China (Hong Kong) region.		

- 7. In the lower-right corner of the page, click Set Whitelist and Next.
- 8. Select the synchronization policy and the objects to be synchronized.

Expand the tree before you perform a glol Q - recycle_bin - asd - chw02 - dts - dtsest0512_jzhz_0001_ext_0001 - dtsest123 - dtsestdata1 - sys	> <	Selected (To edit an object name o Edit.) Learn more.	r its filter, hover ov	er the object and c
Select All *Rename Databases and Tables: O Not Change Database and	Table Names	Select All Change Database and Table Na 	mes	
*Source table DMS_ ONLINE_ Do you O Yes No O the tanget database during DDL:	2)			
* Retry Time for Failed Connection 720 Minutes (7	/			

Setting	Description				
	 Pre-check and Intercept: checks whether the destination database contains tables that have the same names as tables in the source database. If the source and destination databases do not contain identical table names, the precheck is passed. Otherwise, an error is returned during precheck and the data synchronization task cannot be started. Note You can use the object name mapping feature to change the names of the tables that are synchronized to the destination database. You can use this feature if the source and destination database contain identical table names and the tables in the destination database cannot be deleted or renamed. For more information, see Rename an object to be synchronized. 				
Select the processing mode of conflicting	 Ignore: skips the precheck for identical table names in the source and destination databases. 				
lables	• Warning If you select Ignore, data consistency is not guaranteed and your business may be exposed to potential risks.				
	 DTS does not synchronize the data records that have the same primary keys as the data records in the destination database during initial full data synchronization. This occurs if the source and destination databases have the same schema. However, DTS synchronizes these data records during incremental data synchronization. If the source and destination databases have different schemas, initial data synchronization may fail. In this case, only some 				
	columns are synchronized or the data synchronization task fails.				
	Select one or more objects from the Available section and click the > icon to move the objects to the Selected section. You can select tables or databases as the objects to be synchronized.				
Select the objects to be synchronized	 Note If you select a database as the object to be synchronized, all schema changes in the database are synchronized to the destination database. By default, after an object is synchronized to the destination database, the name of the object remains unchanged. You can use the object name mapping feature to change the names of the objects that are synchronized to the destination instance. For more information, see Rename an object to be synchronized. 				

Setting	Description			
Rename Databases and Tables	You can use the object name mapping feature to rename the objects that are synchronized to the destination instance. For more information, see Object name mapping.			
Replicate Temporary Tables When DMS Performs DDL Operations	 If you use Data Management (DMS) to perform online DDL operations on the source database, you can specify whether to synchronize temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. Yes: DTS synchronizes the data of temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. Yote If online DDL operations generate a large amount of data, the data synchronization task may be delayed. No: DTS does not synchronize the data of temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. Only the original DDL data of the source database is synchronized. Note If you select No, the tables in the destination database may be locked. 			
Retry Time for Failed Connections	By default, if DTS fails to connect to the source or destination database, DTS retries within the next 720 minutes (12 hours). You can specify the retry time based on your needs. If DTS reconnects to the source and destination databases within the specified time, DTS resumes the data synchronization task. Otherwise, the data synchronization task fails. ? Note When DTS retries a connection, you are charged for the DTS instance. We recommend that you specify the retry time based on your business needs. You can also release the DTS instance at your earliest opportunity after the source and destination instances are released.			

- 9. In the lower-right corner of the page, click Next.
- 10. Configure advanced settings.

1.Configure Source and Destination	2.Select Objects to Synchronize	3.Advanced Settings		4.Precheck
Initial Synchronization: 🗹 Initial S	ichema Synchronization 🔽 Initial Full	Data Synchronization		
			Cancel Previou	JS Save Precheck

? Note

- DTS performs initial synchronization when you start a synchronization channel. During initial synchronization, the schemas and data of the objects to be synchronized are replicated from the source instance to the destination instance. These schemas and data are then used as the baseline for subsequent incremental data synchronization.
- Initial synchronization includes initial schema synchronization and initial full data synchronization. In most cases, you need to select both Initial Schema Synchronization and Initial Full Data Synchronization.

11. In the lower-right corner of the page, click **Precheck**.

? Note

- Before you can start the data synchronization task, DTS performs a precheck. The data synchronization task can be started only after it passes the precheck.
- If the task fails to pass the precheck, you can click the 🕧 icon next to each failed item

to view details.

- You can trouble shoot the issues based on the causes and run a precheck again.
- If you do not need to troubleshoot the issues, you can ignore failed items and run a precheck again.
- 12. Close the **Precheck** dialog box after the following message is displayed: **The precheck is passed**. Then, the data synchronization task starts.
- 13. Wait until the initial synchronization is complete and the data synchronization task is in the **Synchronizing** state.

You can view the status of the data synchronization task on the Synchronization Tasks page.

	Instance ID/Task Name	Status	Synchronization Details	Billing Method	Synchronization Mode(All) 👻		Actions
	0	Synchronizing	Delay: 0 Milliseconds Speed: 0.00RPS/(0.000MB/s)	Pay-As-You-Go	One-Way Synchronization	Pause Task Subscription	Switch to Upgrade More
	Pause Task Delete Task			Total: 1 item(s),	Per Page: 20 item(s)	« < 1	> >>

7.2.2. Configure two-way data synchronization between ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances

Data Transmission Service (DTS) supports real-time two-way data synchronization between two MySQL databases. This feature is applicable to scenarios such as active geo-redundancy (unit-based) and geodisaster recovery. This topic describes how to configure two-way data synchronization between ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances. You can also follow the procedure to configure data synchronization tasks for self-managed MySQL databases.

Prerequisites
The source and destination ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances are created. For more information, see Create an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Precautions

- DTS uses read and write resources of the source and destination databases during initial full data synchronization. This may increase the loads of the database servers. If the database performance is unfavorable, the specification is low, or the data volume is large, database services may become unavailable. For example, DTS occupies a large amount of read and write resources in the following cases: a large number of slow SQL queries are performed on the source database, the tables have no primary keys, or a deadlock occurs in the destination database. Before you synchronize data, evaluate the impact of data synchronization on the performance of the source and destination databases. We recommend that you synchronize data during off-peak hours. For example, you can synchronize data when the CPU utilization of the source and destination databases is less than 30%.
- We recommend that you do not use gh-ost or pt-online-schema-change to perform DDL operations on objects during data synchronization. Otherwise, data synchronization may fail.
- If you use only DTS to write data to the destination database, you can use Data Management (DMS) to perform online DDL operations during data synchronization. For more information, see DDL-based lockless change.

Warning If you use tools other than DTS to write data to the destination database, we recommend that you do not use DMS to perform online DDL operations. Otherwise, data loss may occur in the destination database.

Supported synchronization topologies

DTS supports two-way data synchronization only between two MySQL databases. DTS does not support two-way data synchronization between multiple MySQL databases.



Supported databases

The following table lists the types of MySQL databases that are supported by two-way data synchronization. This topic uses ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances as the data sources. You can also follow the procedure to configure two-way data synchronization for other types of MySQL databases.

Source database	Destination database
 ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance Self-managed database that is hosted on Elastic	 ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance Self-managed database that is hosted on Elastic
Compute Service (ECS) Self-managed database that is connected over	Compute Service (ECS) Self-managed database that is connected over
Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access	Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access
Gateway Self-managed database that is connected over	Gateway Self-managed database that is connected over
Database Gateway Self-managed database that is connected over	Database Gateway Self-managed database that is connected over
Cloud Enterprise Network (CEN)	Cloud Enterprise Network (CEN)

SQL operations that can be synchronized

Conflict detection

To ensure data consistency, make sure that data records with the same primary key, business primary key, or unique key are updated only on one of the synchronization nodes. If data records are updated on both nodes, DTS responds to conflicts based on the conflict resolution policy that you specify for the data synchronization task.

DTS checks and fixes conflicts to maximize the stability of two-way synchronization instances. DTS can detect the following types of conflicts:

• Uniqueness conflicts caused by INSERT operations

INSERT operations that do not comply with the uniqueness constraint cannot be synchronized. For example, if a record with the same primary key value is inserted into the two synchronization nodes at almost the same time, one of the inserted records fails to be synchronized. The synchronization fails because a record with the same primary key value already exists in the other node.

- Inconsistent records caused by UPDATE operations
 - If the records to be updated do not exist in the destination instance, DTS converts the UPDATE operation into an INSERT operation. However, uniqueness conflicts may occur.
 - The primary keys or unique keys of the records to be inserted may conflict with those of existing records in the destination instance.
- Non-existent records to be deleted

The records to be deleted do not exist in the destination instance. In this case, DTS ignores the DELETE operation regardless of the conflict resolution policy that you specify.

♥ Notice

- During two-way synchronization, the system time of the source and destination instances may be different. Synchronization latency may occur. For these reasons, DTS cannot guarantee that the conflict detection mechanism can prevent all data conflicts. To perform two-way synchronization, make sure that records with the same primary key, business primary key, or unique key are updated only on one of the synchronization nodes.
- DTS provides conflict resolution policies to prevent conflicts that may occur during data synchronization. You can select a conflict resolution policy when you configure two-way data synchronization.

Limits

• Incompatibility with triggers

If you select a database as the object to be synchronized and the database contains a trigger that updates a table, data inconsistency may occur. For example, the source database contains Table A and Table B. If a data record is inserted into Table A, a trigger inserts a data record into Table B. In this case, after an INSERT operation is performed on Table A in the source instance, the data in Table B becomes inconsistent between the source and destination instances.

To prevent this situation, before you synchronize data in Table B from the source instance, delete the trigger that is synchronized to the destination instance. For more information, see Configure a data synchronization task for a source database that contains a trigger.

• Limits on RENAME TABLE operations

RENAME TABLE operations may cause data inconsistency between the source and destination databases. For example, if you select a table as the object and rename the table during data synchronization, the data of this table is not synchronized to the destination database. To prevent this situation, you can select the database to which this table belongs as the object when you configure the data synchronization task.

• Limits on DDL synchronization direction

To ensure the stability of two-way data synchronization, you can synchronize the DDL operations on a single table only in one direction. If DDL synchronization in a direction is configured, DDL synchronization in the opposite direction is not supported. Only data manipulation language (DML) operations can be synchronized in the opposite direction.

Procedure

1. Purchase an instance for two-way data synchronization. For more information, see Purchase a data synchronization instance.

Notice On the buy page, set both Source Instance and Destination Instance to MySQL and set Synchronization Topology to Two-way Synchronization.

- 2. Log on to the DTS console.
- 3. In the left-side navigation pane, click Data Synchronization.
- 4. At the top of the **Synchronization Tasks** page, select the region where the destination instance resides.

Data Transmission Se	Synchronization Tasks	Singapore Aust	ralia (Sydney)	India (Mumbai) Japan (Tokyo)	Indonesia (Jaka	arta) China (Hangzhou)	China (Shenzhen)	China (Beijing)	China (Qingdao)
Overview	the region of the destination	China (Shanghai) instance in the sync	Hong Kong hronization task	US (Virginia))	US (Silicon Valley)	UAE (Dubai)	Malaysia (Kuala Lumpur)	Germany (Frankfurt	t) China (Hohhot)) UK (London)
Data Migration										C Refres
Change Tracking	Task Name	r			Search	Sort: Defau	It Sorting	Status:	v	
Data Synchronization					bearen	Delua	it borting			
Operation Log	Instance ID/Task Na	me		Status	Synchroniz	ation Details	Billing Metho	bd	Synchroni Mode(All)	zation

5. Find the data synchronization instance and click **Configure Synchronization Channel** in the Actions column of the first data synchronization task.

 \bigcirc Notice A two-way data synchronization instance contains two data synchronization tasks. You must set parameters for each task.

Instance ID/Task Name	Status	Synchronization Details	Billing Method	Synchronization Mode(All) -	Actions
A CONTRACTOR OF			Pay-As-You-Go	Two-Way Synchronization	Switch to Subscription Upgrade View Synchronization Task ~ More
Task Name	Status	Synchronization Details	Source/Destination Instance		Actions
	Not Configured		Not Configured Not Configured	Co	nfigure Synchronization Channel
construction and a second	Not Configured		Not Configured Not Configured	Co	nfigure Synchronization Channel

6. Configure source and destination instances.

1.Configure Source and Destination	2.Select Objects to Synchronia				
Synchronization Task Name:	RDS				
]		
Source Instance Details					
Instance Type:	RDS Instance	•			
Instance Design	Cineman				
Instance Region:	Singapore				
* Instance ID:	rm-	-	RDS Instances of Other Apsara	Stack Accounts	
* Database Account:	dtstest				
* Database Password:	••••••	4>			
Destination Instance Details					
Instance Type:	RDS Instance	٣			
Instance Region:	Singapore				
* Instance ID:	rm-	•			
* Database Account:	dtstest				
* Database Password:	••••••	♦ >			
				Cancel	Set Whitelist and Next
Section	Darameter	Description			
Section	Parameter	Description			

Section	Parameter	Description
N/A	Synchronization Task Name	DTS automatically generates a task name. We recommend that you specify an informative name for easy identification. You do not need to use a unique task name.
	Instance Type	Select RDS Instance.
	Instance Region	The source region that you selected on the buy page. You cannot change the value of this parameter.
	Instance ID	Select the ID of the source RDS instance.
		Enter the database account of the source RDS instance.
Source Instance Details	Database Account	Notice If the database engine of the source RDS instance is MySQL 5.5 or MySQL 5.6, you do not need to configure the database account or database password.
	Database Password	Enter the password of the database account.
	Encryption	Select Non-encrypted or SSL-encrypted . If you want to select SSL-encrypted , you must enable SSL encryption for the RDS instance before you configure the data synchronization task. For more information, see Configure SSL encryption for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
		• Notice The Encryption parameter is available only for regions in mainland China and the China (Hong Kong) region.
	Instance Type	Select RDS Instance.
	Instance Region	The destination region that you selected on the buy page. You cannot change the value of this parameter.
	Instance ID	Select the ID of the destination RDS instance.

Section	Parameter	Description
Destination Instance Details		Enter the database account of the destination RDS instance.
	Database Account	 Notice If the database engine of the destination RDS instance is MySQL 5.5 or MySQL 5.6, you do not need to configure the database account or database password.
	Database Password	Enter the password of the database account.
	Encryption	Select Non-encrypted or SSL-encrypted . If you want to select SSL-encrypted , you must enable SSL encryption for the RDS instance before you configure the data synchronization task. For more information, see Configure SSL encryption on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
		Notice The Encryption parameter is available only for regions in the Chinese mainland and the China (Hong Kong) region.

- 7. In the lower-right corner of the page, click **Set Whitelist and Next**.
- 8. Select the synchronization policy and the objects to be synchronized.

nizat ion

1.Select Source and Destination > 2.Select Object to Be Synchronized	3.Advanced Settings > 4.Precheck
Synchronization Mode:Two-Way Synchronization (DML+DDL) Exclude DDL Statements: Yes No DML Statements for Synchronization: Insert I Delete Update Conflict Resolution Policy: TaskFailed (When a conflict occurs, an error is reported	and the task \mathbf{v}
Available Expand the tree before you perform a glo Q Comparison of the tree you perform a glo Q Comparison of the tree you perform a glo Q Comparison of the tree you perform a glo Q Comparison of the tree you perform a glo Q Comparison of the tree you perform a glo Q Comparison of the tree you perform a glo Q Comparison of the tree you perform a glo Q	Selected (To edit an object name or its filter, hover over the object and click Edit.) Learn more.
Select All *Rename Databases and Tables: *Source table DMS_ONLINE_ Do you want to copy the temporary table to the target database during DDL: * Retry Time for Failed Connection	Select All Names O Change Database and Table Names
	Cancel Previous Next

Setting	Parameter	Description
Exclude DDL Statements DML Statements for Synchronizatio n		 • To exclude DDL operations, select Yes. • To include DDL operations, select No.
	Notice Limits on DDL synchronization direction: To ensure the stability of two-way data synchronization, you can synchronize DDL operations only in the forward direction.	
	Select the types of DML operations that you want to synchronize. By default, the INSERT , UPDATE , and DELETE operations are selected. You can select the DML operation types based on your business requirements.	

Setting	Parameter	Description
	Conflict Resolution Policy	 Select the resolution policy for synchronization conflicts. By default, TaskFailed is selected. You can select a conflict resolution policy based on your business requirements. TaskFailed The default conflict resolution policy. If a conflict occurs during data synchronization, the synchronization task reports an error and exits the process. The task enters a failed state and you must manually resolve the conflict. Ignore If a conflict occurs during data synchronization, the synchronization task ignores the current statement and continues the process. The conflicting records in the destination database are used. Overwrite If a conflict occurs during data synchronization, the conflicting records in the destination database are used.
Select the synchronizatio		

Setting	Parameter	Description
		Select one or more objects (tables or a database) from the Available section and click the > icon to move the objects to the Selected section.
Select the objects to be synchronized	elect the bjects to be N/A ynchronized	 Notice If you select a database as the object to be synchronized, all schema changes in the database are synchronized to the destination database. By default, after an object is synchronized to the destination instance, the name of the object remains unchanged. You can use the object name mapping feature to rename the objects that are synchronized to the destination instance. For more information, see Rename an object to be synchronized.
Rename Databases and Tables	N/A	You can use the object name mapping feature to rename the objects that are synchronized to the destination instance. For more information, see Object name mapping.
Replicate Temporary Tables When DMS Performs DDL Operations	N/A	 If you use Data Management (DMS) to perform online DDL operations on the source database, you can specify whether to synchronize temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. Yes: DTS synchronizes the data of temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. Yote If online DDL operations generate a large amount of data, the data synchronization task may be delayed. No: DTS does not synchronize the data of temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. Only the original DDL data of the source database is synchronized. Note If you select No, the tables in the destination database may be locked.

Setting	Parameter	Description
Retry Time for Failed Connections	N/A	By default, if DTS fails to connect to the source or destination database, DTS retries within the next 720 minutes (12 hours). You can specify the retry time based on your needs. If DTS reconnects to the source and destination databases within the specified time, DTS resumes the data synchronization task. Otherwise, the data synchronization task fails. Note When DTS retries a connection, you are charged for the DTS instance. We recommend that you specify the retry time based on your business needs. You can also release the DTS instance at your earliest opportunity after the source and destination instances are released.

- 9. In the lower-right corner of the page, click Next.
- 10. Select the initial synchronization types.

1.Configure Source and Destination	2.Select Objects to	Synchronize	3.Advanced Settings		4.Precheck
Initial Synchronization: 🔽 In	itial Schema Synchronization	🗹 Initial Full Data Synchroniza	ation		
			Ca	ancel Previous	Save Precheck

During initial synchronization, DTS synchronizes the schemas and data of the required objects from the source instance to the destination instance. The schemas and data are the basis for subsequent incremental synchronization. Initial synchronization includes **initial schema synchronization** and **initial full data synchronization**. You must select both **Initial Schema Synchronization** and **Initial Full Data Synchronization** in most cases.

Notice If tables to be synchronized in one direction are also included in the objects to be synchronized in the opposite direction, DTS does not synchronize these tables during initial synchronization.

11. In the lower part of the page, click Next: Precheck and Start Task.

✓ Notice

- Before you can start the data synchronization task, a precheck is performed. You can start the data synchronization task only after the task passes the precheck.
- If the task fails to pass the precheck, you can click the jicon next to each failed item

to view details.

- You can trouble shoot the issues based on the causes and run a precheck again.
- If you do not need to troubleshoot the issues, you can ignore failed items and run a precheck again.
- 12. Close the Precheck dialog box after the following message is displayed: The precheck is

passed. Then, the data synchronization task starts.

13. Wait until initial synchronization is completed and the data synchronization task is in the **Synchronizing** state.

You can view the status of the data synchronization task on the Synchronization Tasks page.

14. Find the second data synchronization task and click **Configure Synchronization Channel** in the Actions column. Configure the task by following Steps 5 to 12.

			Pay-As-You-Go	Two-Way Synchronization	Switch to Subscription Upgrade View Synchronization Task ~ More
Task Name	Status	Synchronization Details	Source/Destination Instance		Actions
singapore-singapore-medium	Synchronizing	Delay: 0 Milliseconds Speed: 0.00RPS/(0.000MB/s)	rm- rm-		Pause Task More
singapore-singapore-medium	Not Configured		rm- rm-	Configure	Synchronization Channel

15. After the second data synchronization task is configured, wait until both tasks are in the **Synchronizing** state. The two-way data synchronization tasks are configured.

			Pay-As-You-Go	Two-Way Synchronization	Switch to Subscription Upgrade View Synchronization Task~ More
Task Name	Status	Synchronization Details	Source/Destination Instance		Actions
singapore-singapore-medium	Synchronizing	Delay: 0 Milliseconds Speed: 0.00RPS/(0.000MB/s)	rm- rm-		Pause Task More
singapore-singapore-medium	Synchronizing	Delay: 0 Milliseconds Speed: 0.00RPS/(0.000MB/s)	rm-		Pause Task More

7.2.3. Synchronize data from a self-managed

MySQL database connected over Express

Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to synchronize data from a self-managed MySQL database connected over Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance by using Data Transmission Service (DTS).

Prerequisites

- The destination RDS instance is created. For more information, see Create an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- The version of the self-managed MySQL database is 5.1, 5.5, 5.6, 5.7, or 8.0.
- The self-managed MySQL database is connected to Alibaba Cloud VPC over Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway. For more information, see Connect an on-premises database to DTS by using CEN.

Onte DTS is allowed to access the VPC to which the self-managed MySQL database belongs. For more information, see Configure a route between DTS and Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway.

Precautions

- DTS uses read and write resources of the source and destination databases during initial full data synchronization. This may increase the loads of the database servers. If the database performance is unfavorable, the specification is low, or the data volume is large, database services may become unavailable. For example, DTS occupies a large amount of read and write resources in the following cases: a large number of slow SQL queries are performed on the source database, the tables have no primary keys, or a deadlock occurs in the destination database. Before you synchronize data, evaluate the impact of data synchronization on the performance of the source and destination databases. We recommend that you synchronize data during off-peak hours. For example, you can synchronize data when the CPU utilization of the source and destination databases is less than 30%.
- We recommend that you do not use gh-ost or pt-online-schema-change to perform DDL operations on objects during data synchronization. Otherwise, data synchronization may fail.
- The tables to be migrated in the source database must have PRIMARY KEY or UNIQUE constraints and all fields must be unique. Otherwise, the destination database may contain duplicate data records.
- During initial full data synchronization, concurrent INSERT operations cause fragmentation in the tables of the destination instance. After initial full data synchronization, the tablespace of the destination instance is larger than that of the source instance.

Supported synchronization topologies

- One-way one-to-one synchronization
- One-way one-to-many synchronization
- One-way cascade synchronization
- One-way many-to-one synchronization
- Two-way one-to-one synchronization

For more information about synchronization topologies, see Synchronization topologies.

SQL operations that can be synchronized

Limits

• Incompatibility with triggers

If you select a database as the object to synchronize and the database contains a trigger that updates a table, data inconsistency may occur. For more information about how to solve this issue, see Configure a data synchronization task for a source database that contains a trigger.

• Limits on RENAME TABLE operations

RENAME TABLE operations may cause data inconsistency between the source and destination databases. For example, if only Table A is selected as the object to synchronize and is renamed Table B, Table B cannot be synchronized to the destination database. To prevent this situation, you can select the entire database where Table A is located as the object to synchronize when you configure the data synchronization task.

Before you begin

Before you configure the data synchronization task, you must create a database account and configure binary logging. For more information, see Create an account for a user-created MySQL database and configure binary logging.

Procedure

1. Purchase a data synchronization instance. For more information, see Purchase procedure.

Once Select MySQL for both the source instance and the destination instance. Select One-Way Synchronization as the synchronization topology.

- 2. Log on to the DTS console.
- 3. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Data Synchronization**.
- 4. At the top of the **Synchronization Tasks** page, select the region where the destination instance resides.
- 5. Find the data synchronization instance and click **Configure Synchronization Channel** in the Actions column.

	dtsl8dd3rk116tob07 RDS	Not Configured	Pay-As-You-Go	One-Way Synchronization	Configure Task Switch to Subscription Upgrade More
--	---------------------------	----------------	---------------	----------------------------	---

6. Configure the source and destination instances.

1.Configure Source and Destination	n 2.Select Objects to Synchronize	\geq	>	
Synchronization Task Name:	proc			
official off	105			
Source Instance Details				
Instance Type:	User-Created Database Connected Over Express Connec	t. VPN Gatev 🔻		
Instance Region:	Singapore	.,		
* D 1/0C				
Peer VPC:	vpc	•		
Database Type:	MySQL			
* IP Address:	172.16.			
* Port Number:	3306			
* Database Account:	dtstest			
* Database Password:	•••••	∢ >		
Destination Instance Details				
Instance Type:	RDS Instance	•		
Instance Region:	Singapore			
* Instance ID:	rm	•		
* Database Account:	dtstest			
* Database Password:	•••••	4>		
			Cancel	Set Whitelist and Next

Section	Parameter	Description
N/A	Synchronizat ion Task Name	DTS automatically generates a task name. We recommend that you specify an informative name for easy identification. You do not need to use a unique task name.
	lnstance Type	Select User-Created Database Connected over Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway.
	Instance Region	The source region that you selected on the buy page. You cannot change the value of this parameter.
	Peer VPC	Select the ID of the VPC that is connected to the self-managed MySQL database.
Source	Database Type	The value of this parameter is set to MySQL and cannot be changed.
Instance Details	IP Address	Enter the server IP address of the self-managed MySQL database.
	Port Number	Enter the service port number of the self-managed MySQL database. The default port number is 3306 .
	Database Account	Enter the account of the self-managed MySQL database. The account must have the SELECT permission on the required objects, the REPLICATION CLIENT permission, the REPLICATION SLAVE permission, and the SHOW VIEW permission.
	Database Password	Enter the password of the source database account.
	Instance Type	Select RDS Instance.
	Instance Region	The destination region that you selected on the buy page. You cannot change the value of this parameter.
	Redis Instance ID	Select the ID of the destination RDS instance.
		Enter the database account of the destination RDS instance.
	Database Account	Note If the database engine of the destination RDS instance is MySQL 5.5 or MySQL 5.6, you do not need to configure the database account or database password.
Destination Instance	Database Password	Enter the password of the destination database account.
Details		

Section	Parameter	Description
	Encryption	Select Non-encrypted or SSL-encrypted . If you want to select SSL-encrypted , you must enable SSL encryption for the RDS instance before you configure the data synchronization task. For more information, see Configure SSL encryption for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance .
	Енстуртюн	Notice The Encryption parameter is available only for regions in the Chinese mainland and the China (Hong Kong) region.

- 7. In the lower-right corner of the page, click Set Whitelist and Next.
 - ⑦ Note
- 8. Select the synchronization policy and the objects to be synchronized.

Expand the tree before yo	u perform a glol Q	> <	Edit.) Learn more.	
Select All			Select All	
*Rename Databases and Tab	les: 💿 Do Not Change Data	abase and Table Names	Change Database and Table Nam	ies
*Rename Databases and Tab *Source table DMS_ ONLINE want to copy the temporary t the target database during DI * Retry Time for Failed Connection * Retry Time for Failed Connection	les: Do Not Change Data Do you Yes No C Yes No C Xcion 720 Mir	abase and Table Names	Change Database and Table Nam	les
 Rename Databases and Tab Source table DMS_ ONLINE, want to copy the temporary t the target database during DI Retry Time for Failed Connert 	les: O Not Change Data Do you Do you De to DL: ection	abase and Table Names	Change Database and Table Nam	Cancel Previous

Setting	Description			
	Select one or more objects from the Available section and click the > icon to add the objects to the Selected section. You can select tables or databases as the objects to synchronize.			
Select the objects to be synchronized	 Note If you select a database as the object to synchronize, all schema changes in the database are synchronized to the destination database. By default, after an object is synchronized to the destination database, the name of the object remains unchanged. You can use the object name mapping feature to rename the objects that are synchronized to the destination instance. For more information, see Rename an object to be synchronized. 			
Rename Databases and Tables	You can use the object name mapping feature to rename the objects that are synchronized to the destination instance. For more information, see Object name mapping.			
	 If you use Data Management (DMS) to perform online DDL operations on the source database, you can specify whether to synchronize temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. Yes: DTS synchronizes the data of temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. 			
Replicate Temporary Tables When DMS Performs DDL Operations	 Note If online DDL operations generate a large amount of data, the data synchronization task may be delayed. No: DTS does not synchronize the data of temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. Only the original DDL data of the source database is synchronized. 			
	Note If you select No, the tables in the destination database may be locked.			

Setting	Description			
Retry Time for	By default, if DTS fails to connect to the source or destination database, DTS retries within the next 720 minutes (12 hours). You can specify the retry time based on your needs. If DTS reconnects to the source and destination database within the specified time, DTS resumes the data synchronization task. Otherwise the data synchronization task fails.			
Retry Time for Failed Connections	Note When DTS retries a connection, you are charged for the DTS instance. We recommend that you specify the retry time based on your business needs. You can also release the DTS instance at your earliest opportunity after the source and destination instances are released.			

9. In the lower-right corner of the page, click Next.

10. Configure initial synchronization.

1.Configure Source and Destination		2.Select Objects to	Synchronize		3.Advanced Settings		4.Precheck
Initial Synchronization:	Initial Sc	hema Synchronization	Initial Full Data	a Synchronization			
						Cancel	revious Save Precheck

- During an initial synchronization, DTS synchronizes the schemas and data of the required objects from the source instance to the destination instance. The schemas and data are the basis for subsequent incremental synchronization.
- Initial synchronization includes initial schema synchronization and initial full data synchronization.
 In most cases, you need to select both Initial Schema Synchronization and Initial Full Data Synchronization.
- 11. In the lower part of the page, click **Next: Precheck and Start Task**.

Notice

- Before you can start the data synchronization task, a precheck is performed. You can start the data synchronization task only after the task passes the precheck.
- If the task fails to pass the precheck, you can click the _____ icon next to each failed item

to view details.

- You can troubleshoot the issues based on the causes and run a precheck again.
- If you do not need to troubleshoot the issues, you can ignore failed items and run a precheck again.
- 12. Close the **Precheck** dialog box after the following message is displayed: **The precheck is passed**. Then, the data synchronization task starts.
- 13. Wait until the initial synchronization is complete and the data synchronization task is in the **Synchronizing** state.

You can view the status of the data synchronization task on the Synchronization Tasks page.



7.2.4. Synchronize data between ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances that belong to different Alibaba Cloud accounts

This topic describes how to synchronize data between ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances that belong to different Alibaba Cloud accounts by using Data Transmission Service (DTS).

Prerequisites

- The source and destination ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances are created. For more information, see Create an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- The database type of the source and destination RDS instances is MySQL.
- The source and destination ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances have internal endpoints.

Precautions

- DTS uses read and write resources of the source and destination databases during initial full data synchronization. This may increase the loads of the database servers. If the database performance is unfavorable, the specification is low, or the data volume is large, database services may become unavailable. For example, DTS occupies a large amount of read and write resources in the following cases: a large number of slow SQL queries are performed on the source database, the tables have no primary keys, or a deadlock occurs in the destination database. Before you synchronize data, evaluate the impact of data synchronization on the performance of the source and destination databases. We recommend that you synchronize data during off-peak hours. For example, you can synchronize data when the CPU utilization of the source and destination databases is less than 30%.
- If you have selected one or more tables (not a database) for synchronization, do not use gh-ost or pt-online-schema-change to modify the tables during data synchronization. Otherwise, data synchronization may fail.

Notice To avoid synchronization failure, you can use Data Management (DMS) to perform online DDL schema changes during data synchronization. For more information, see Change the table schema without locking.

- The tables to be migrated in the source database must have PRIMARY KEY or UNIQUE constraints and all fields must be unique. Otherwise, the destination database may contain duplicate data records.
- During initial full data synchronization, concurrent INSERT operations cause fragmentation in the tables of the destination instance. After initial full data synchronization, the tablespace of the destination instance is larger than that of the source instance.

Supported synchronization topologies

- One-way one-to-one synchronization
- One-way one-to-many synchronization
- One-way cascade synchronization
- One-way many-to-one synchronization

For more information, see Synchronization topologies.

SQL operations that can be synchronized

Limits

• Incompatibility with triggers

If you select a database as the object to synchronize and the database contains a trigger that updates a table, data inconsistency may occur. For more information about how to solve this issue, see Configure a data synchronization task for a source database that contains a trigger.

• Limits on RENAME TABLE operations

RENAME TABLE operations may cause data inconsistency between the source and destination databases. For example, if only Table A is selected as the object to synchronize and is renamed Table B, Table B cannot be synchronized to the destination database. To prevent this situation, you can select the entire database where Table A is located as the object to synchronize when you configure the data synchronization task.

Before you begin

Set the Alibaba Cloud account that owns the destination RDS instance as a trusted account. This allows DTS to access the cloud resources of the Alibaba Cloud account that owns the source RDS instance. For more information, see Configure RAM authorization for cross-account data migration and synchronization.

Note To authorize the Alibaba Cloud account that owns the destination instance, you must log on to the Resource Access Management (RAM) console with the Alibaba Cloud account that owns the source instance. Then, you can create a data migration task or data synchronization task by using the Alibaba Cloud account that owns the destination instance.

Procedure

1. Purchase a data synchronization instance by using the Alibaba Cloud account that owns the destination RDS instance. For more information, see Purchase a data synchronization instance.

Note Select MySQL for both the source instance and the destination instance. Select
 One-Way Synchronization as the synchronization topology.

- 2. Use the Alibaba Cloud account that owns the destination RDS instance to log on to the DTS console.
- 3. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Data Synchronization**.
- 4. At the top of the **Synchronization Tasks** page, select the region where the destination instance resides.
- 5. Find the data synchronization instance and click **Configure Synchronization Channel** in the

Actions column.

dtsl8dd3rk116tob07 RDS	Not Configured	Pay-As-You-Go	One-Way Synchronization	Configure Task Switch to Subscription Upgrade More
				more

6. Configure the source and destination instances.

1.Configure Source and Destination	n 2.Select Objects to Synchronize	>		
Synchronization Task Name:	RDS			
Source Instance Details				
Instance Type:	RDS Instance	*		
Instance Region:	Cinganoro			
instance Region.	Siligapore			
*Apsara Stack Tenant Account ID of RDS			Cuide	
Instance			Guide	
*Role Name:	ram-for-dts		Authorize Role Across Accounts	
* RDS Instance ID:	- a photo in the second	-	RDS Instances of Current Account	
Destination Instance Details				
Instance Type:	RDS Instance			
Taskan as Daniana	Circumou (
Instance Region:	Singapore			
* Instance ID:	rm-c	•		
	-			
* Database Account:	dtstest			
		-		
Database Password:	•••••	<₽>		
				Cancel Set Whitelist and Next

Section	Parameter	Description
N/A	Synchronizatio n Task Name	DTS automatically generates a task name. We recommend that you specify an informative name for easy identification. You do not need to use a unique task name.
	Instance Type	Select RDS Instance.
	Instance Region	The source region that you selected on the buy page. You cannot change the value of this parameter.

Section	Parameter	Description				
Instance Details		Enter the ID of the Alibaba Cloud account that owns the source RDS instance.				
	Alibaba Cloud Account ID of RDS Instance	Note Before you configure this parameter, click RDS Instances of Other Alibaba Cloud Accounts in the Source Instance Details section. Instance Type: RDS Instance Instance Region: Singapore Instance ID: RDS Instances of Other Ageara Stack Accounts				
	Role Name	Enter the name of the RAM role that you configured earlier in Before you begin.				
	RDS Instance ID	Select the ID of the source RDS instance.				
-	Instance Type	Select RDS Instance.				
	Instance Region	The destination region that you selected on the buy page. You cannot change the value of this parameter.				
	Instance ID	Select the ID of the destination RDS instance.				
Destination	Database Account	Enter the database account of the destination RDS instance. Note If the database engine of the destination RDS instance is MySQL 5.5 or MySQL 5.6, you do not need to configure the database account or database password.				
Details	Database Password	Enter the password of the destination database account.				
	Encryption	Select Non-encrypted or SSL-encrypted. If you want to select SSL-encrypted, you must enable SSL encryption for the RDS instance before you configure the data synchronization task. For more information, see Configure SSL encryption for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.				

- 7. In the lower-right corner of the page, click Set Whitelist and Next.
- 8. Select the synchronization policy and the objects to be synchronized.

Available					
Expand the tree before y Expand the tree before y Expand the tree before y Expand the tree before y Expanding and the tree of the tree	ou perform a glol Q 001_ext_0001		Selected (To edit an ob) Edit.) Learn more.	ject name or its filter, ho	ver over the object and click
Select All Rename Databases and Tal Source table DMS_ ONLINE want to copy the temporary the target database during D Retry Time for Failed Conn	bles: Do Not Do you DL: Detection 720	Change Database and Table No ⑦ Minutes ⑦	Select All Names Change Database an	nd Table Names	

Setting	Description
Select the objects to be synchronized	 Select one or more objects from the Available section and click the > icon to add the objects to the Selected section. You can select tables or databases as the objects to synchronize. Note If you select a database as the object to synchronize, all schema changes in the database are synchronized to the destination database. By default, after an object is synchronized to the destination database, the name of the object remains unchanged. You can use the object name mapping feature to rename the objects that are synchronized to the destination, see Rename an object to be synchronized.
Rename Databases and Tables	You can use the object name mapping feature to rename the objects that are synchronized to the destination instance. For more information, see Object name mapping.
Replicate Temporary Tables When DMS Performs DDL	 If you use Data Management (DMS) to perform online DDL operations on the source database, you can specify whether to synchronize temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. Yes: DTS synchronizes the data of temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. Yes: DTS synchronizes the data of temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. Yes: DTS synchronizes the data of temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. Yes: DTS synchronizes the data of temporary tables generated by online DDL operations.
Performs DDL Operations	 No: DTS does not synchronize the data of temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. Only the original DDL data of the source database is synchronized. Note If you select No, the tables in the destination database may be locked.

Setting	Description
Retry Time for	By default, if DTS fails to connect to the source or destination database, DTS retries within the next 720 minutes (12 hours). You can specify the retry time based on your needs. If DTS reconnects to the source and destination databases within the specified time, DTS resumes the data synchronization task. Otherwise, the data synchronization task fails.
Failed Connections	Note When DTS retries a connection, you are charged for the DTS instance. We recommend that you specify the retry time based on your business needs. You can also release the DTS instance at your earliest opportunity after the source and destination instances are released.

9. In the lower-right corner of the page, click Next.

10. Configure initial synchronization.

1.Configure Source and Destination	$\boldsymbol{\boldsymbol{\succ}}$	2.Select Objects to	Synchronize		3.Advanced Settings		4.Precheck
Initial Synchronization:	Initial Sch	ema Synchronization	Initial Full Date	a Synchronization			
						Cancel Pre	evious Save Precheck

- During an initial synchronization, DTS synchronizes the schemas and data of the required objects from the source instance to the destination instance. The schemas and data are the basis for subsequent incremental synchronization.
- Initial synchronization includes initial schema synchronization and initial full data synchronization.
 In most cases, you need to select both Initial Schema Synchronization and Initial Full Data Synchronization.
- 11. In the lower part of the page, click Next: Precheck and Start Task.

Notice

- Before you can start the data synchronization task, a precheck is performed. You can start the data synchronization task only after the task passes the precheck.
- If the task fails to pass the precheck, you can click the _____ icon next to each failed item

to view details.

- You can troubleshoot the issues based on the causes and run a precheck again.
- If you do not need to troubleshoot the issues, you can ignore failed items and run a precheck again.
- 12. Close the **Precheck** dialog box after the following message is displayed: **The precheck is passed**. Then, the data synchronization task starts.
- 13. Wait until the initial synchronization is complete and the data synchronization task is in the **Synchronizing** state.

You can view the status of the data synchronization task on the Synchronization Tasks page.



7.2.5. Synchronize data from a self-managed MySQL database hosted on ECS to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to synchronize data from a self-managed MySQL database hosted on Elastic Compute Service (ECS) to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance by using Data Transmission Service (DTS).

Prerequisites

- The version of the self-managed MySQL database is 5.1, 5.5, 5.6, 5.7, or 8.0.
- The destination RDS instance is created. For more information, see Create an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Precautions

- DTS uses read and write resources of the source and destination databases during initial full data synchronization. This may increase the loads of the database servers. If the database performance is unfavorable, the specification is low, or the data volume is large, database services may become unavailable. For example, DTS occupies a large amount of read and write resources in the following cases: a large number of slow SQL queries are performed on the source database, the tables have no primary keys, or a deadlock occurs in the destination database. Before you synchronize data, evaluate the impact of data synchronization on the performance of the source and destination databases. We recommend that you synchronize data during off-peak hours. For example, you can synchronize data when the CPU utilization of the source and destination databases is less than 30%.
- We recommend that you do not use gh-ost or pt-online-schema-change to perform DDL operations on objects during data synchronization. Otherwise, data synchronization may fail.
- If you use only DTS to write data to the destination database, you can use Data Management (DMS) to perform online DDL operations during data synchronization. For more information, see Change schemas without locking tables.

Q Warning If you use tools other than DTS to write data to the destination database, we recommend that you do not use DMS to perform online DDL operations. Otherwise, data loss may occur in the destination database.

- The tables to be migrated in the source database must have PRIMARY KEY or UNIQUE constraints and all fields must be unique. Otherwise, the destination database may contain duplicate data records.
- During initial full data synchronization, concurrent INSERT operations cause fragmentation in the tables of the destination cluster. After initial full data synchronization, the tablespace of the destination cluster is larger than that of the source database.

Supported synchronization topologies

- One-way one-to-one synchronization
- One-way one-to-many synchronization
- One-way many-to-one synchronization
- One-way cascade synchronization
- Two-way one-to-one synchronization

(?) Note For more information about two-way synchronization, see Configure two-way data synchronization between MySQL instances.

SQL operations that can be synchronized

Limits

• Incompatibility with triggers

If you select a database as the object to synchronize and the database contains a trigger that updates a table, data inconsistency may occur. For more information about how to solve this issue, see Configure a data synchronization task for a source database that contains a trigger.

• Limits on RENAME TABLE operations

RENAME TABLE operations may cause data inconsistency between the source and destination databases. For example, if only Table A is selected as the object to synchronize and is renamed Table B, Table B cannot be synchronized to the destination database. To prevent this situation, you can select the entire database where Table A is located as the object to synchronize when you configure the data synchronization task.

Before you begin

Before you configure the data synchronization task, you must create a database account and configure binary logging. For more information, see Create an account for a user-created MySQL database and configure binary logging.

Procedure

1. Purchase a data synchronization instance. For more information, see Purchase procedure.

Note Select MySQL for both the source instance and the destination instance. Select
 One-Way Synchronization as the synchronization topology.

- 2. Log on to the DTS console.
- 3. In the left-side navigation pane, click Data Synchronization.
- 4. At the top of the **Synchronization Tasks** page, select the region where the destination instance resides.
- 5. Find the data synchronization instance and click **Configure Synchronization Channel** in the Actions column.

dtsi8dd3rk116tob07 RDS	Not Configured	Pay-As-You-Go	One-Way Synchronization	Configure Task Switch to Subscription Upgrade
				More

6. Configure the source and destination instances.

1.Configure Source and Destination	n 2.Select Objects to Synchronize			
Synchronization Task Name:	singapore-singapore-medium			
Source Instance Details				
1				
Inches of Turney				
Instance Type:	User-Created Database in ECS Instance	•		
Instance Region:	Singapore			
 ECS Instance ID: 		*		
Database Type:	MySQL			
* Port Number:	3306			
* Database Assounts	dent			
Database Account.	dtstest			
* Database Password:	******	∢ >		
Destination Instance Details				
Descritation Instance Details				
Instance Type:	RDS Instance	*		
Instance Region:	Singapore			
* Instance ID:	rm-	•		
Database Account:	dtstest			
* Database Dassword		<i>a</i> .		
Database Password.		47		
			Cancel	Set Whitelist and Next

Section	Parameter	Description
N/A	Synchronizat ion Task Name	DTS automatically generates a task name. We recommend that you specify an informative name for easy identification. You do not need to use a unique task name.
	Instance Type	Select User-Created Database in ECS Instance.
Source Instance Details	Instance Region	The source region that you selected on the buy page. You cannot change the value of this parameter.
	ECS Instance ID	Select the ID of the ECS instance that hosts the self-managed MySQL database.
	Database Type	The value of this parameter is set to MySQL and cannot be changed.
	Port Number	Enter the service port number of the self-managed MySQL database. The default port number is 3306 .

Section	Parameter	Description			
	Database Account	Enter the account of the self-managed MySQL database. The account must have the SELECT permission on the required objects, the REPLICATION CLIENT permission, the REPLICATION SLAVE permission, and the SHOW VIEW permission.			
	Database Password	Enter the password for the account of the self-managed MySQL database.			
	Select RDS Instance.				
	Instance Region	The destination region that you selected on the buy page. You cannot change the value of this parameter.			
	Instance ID	Select the ID of the destination RDS instance.			
Destination	Database Account	Enter the database account of the destination RDS instance. Note If the database engine of the destination RDS instance is MySQL 5.5 or MySQL 5.6, you do not need to configure the database account or database password.			
Details	Database Password	Enter the password of the destination database account.			
	Encryption	Select Non-encrypted or SSL-encrypted . If you want to select SSL-encrypted , you must enable SSL encryption for the RDS instance before you configure the data synchronization task. For more information, see Configure SSL encryption for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.			
		Notice The Encryption parameter is available only for regions in the Chinese mainland and the China (Hong Kong) region.			

7. In the lower-right corner of the page, click Set Whitelist and Next.

8. Select the synchronization policy and the objects to be synchronized.

1.Select Source and Destinati	on 2.Select Object to Be Synchronized	3.Advanced Settings	4.Precheck
Synchronization Mode:	Dne-Way Synchronization (DML+DDL)		
Available		Selected (To edit an object name or it Edit.) Learn more.	s filter, hover over the object and click
Expand the tree before yn	u perform a glol Q 001_ext_0001 >	n distestdata	
Select All		Select All	
*Rename Databases and Tal *Source table DMS_ ONLINE want to copy the temporary the the target database during D * Retry Time for Failed Conn	Iles: Do Not Change Database and Table Names _ Do you C Yes No DL: ection 720 Minutes ?	Change Database and Table Name	5
			Cancel Previous Next
Setting	Description		

Setting	Description			
Select the objects to be synchronized	 Select one or more objects from the Available section and click the > icon to add the objects to the Selected section. You can select tables or databases as the objects to synchronize. Note If you select a database as the object to synchronize, all schema changes in the database are synchronized to the destination database. By default, after an object is synchronized to the destination database, the name of the object remains unchanged. You can use the object name mapping feature to rename the objects that are synchronized to the destination, see Rename an object to be synchronized. 			
Rename Databases and Tables	You can use the object name mapping feature to rename the objects that are synchronized to the destination instance. For more information, see Object name mapping.			
Replicate Temporary Tables When DMS Performs DDL Operations	 If you use Data Management (DMS) to perform online DDL operations on the source database, you can specify whether to synchronize temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. Yes: DTS synchronizes the data of temporary tables generated by online DD operations. Yote If online DDL operations generate a large amount of data, the data synchronization task may be delayed. No: DTS does not synchronize the data of temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. Only the original DDL data of the source database is synchronized. Note If you select No, the tables in the destination database may be locked. 			

Setting	Description				
Retry Time for Failed Connections	By default, if DTS fails to connect to the source or destination database, DTS retries within the next 720 minutes (12 hours). You can specify the retry time based on your needs. If DTS reconnects to the source and destination databases within the specified time, DTS resumes the data synchronization task. Otherwise, the data synchronization task fails.				
	Note When DTS retries a connection, you are charged for the DTS instance. We recommend that you specify the retry time based on your business needs. You can also release the DTS instance at your earliest opportunity after the source and destination instances are released.				

9. In the lower-right corner of the page, click Next.

10. Configure initial synchronization.

1.Configure Source and Destination	\geq	2.Select Objects to	Synchronize		3.Advanced Settings		4.Precheck	
Initial Synchronization: 🔽	Initial Sci	hema Synchronization	Initial Full Data	Synchronization				
						Cancel	Previous Save	Precheck

- During initial synchronization, DTS synchronizes the schemas and data of the required objects from the source instance to the destination instance. The schemas and data are the basis for subsequent incremental synchronization.
- Initial synchronization includes initial schema synchronization and initial full data synchronization.
 In most cases, you need to select both Initial Schema Synchronization and Initial Full Data Synchronization.
- 11. In the lower part of the page, click **Next: Precheck and Start Task**.

Notice

- Before you can start the data synchronization task, a precheck is performed. You can start the data synchronization task only after the task passes the precheck.
- If the task fails to pass the precheck, you can click the _____ icon next to each failed item

to view details.

- You can troubleshoot the issues based on the causes and run a precheck again.
- If you do not need to troubleshoot the issues, you can ignore failed items and run a precheck again.
- 12. Close the **Precheck** dialog box after the following message is displayed: **The precheck is passed**. Then, the data synchronization task starts.
- 13. Wait until the initial synchronization is complete and the data synchronization task is in the **Synchronizing** state.

You can view the status of the data synchronization task on the Synchronization Tasks page.



7.2.6. Synchronize data from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance to a self-managed MySQL database connected over Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway

This topic describes how to synchronize data from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance to a selfmanaged MySQL database connected over Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway by using Data Transmission Service (DTS).

Prerequisites

• The version of the self-managed MySQL database is 5.1, 5.5, 5.6, 5.7, or 8.0.

? Note We recommend that you make sure the version of the source and destination MySQL databases is the same.

• The self-managed MySQL database is connected to Alibaba Cloud VPC over Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway. For more information, see Connect an on-premises database to DTS by using CEN.

(?) Note DTS is allowed to access the VPC to which the self-managed MySQL database belongs. For more information, see Configure a route between DTS and Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway.

Precautions

- DTS uses read and write resources of the source and destination databases during initial full data synchronization. This may increase the loads of the database servers. If the database performance is unfavorable, the specification is low, or the data volume is large, database services may become unavailable. For example, DTS occupies a large amount of read and write resources in the following cases: a large number of slow SQL queries are performed on the source database, the tables have no primary keys, or a deadlock occurs in the destination database. Before you synchronize data, evaluate the impact of data synchronization on the performance of the source and destination databases. We recommend that you synchronize data during off-peak hours. For example, you can synchronize data when the CPU utilization of the source and destination databases is less than 30%.
- During initial full data synchronization, concurrent INSERT operations cause fragmentation in the tables of the destination instance. After initial full data synchronization, the tablespace of the destination instance is larger than that of the source instance.

Limits

- •
- The tables to be migrated in the source database must have PRIMARY KEY or UNIQUE constraints and all fields must be unique. Otherwise, the destination database may contain duplicate data records.

Supported synchronization topologies

- One-way one-to-one synchronization
- One-way one-to-many synchronization
- One-way cascade synchronization
- One-way many-to-one synchronization
- Two-way one-to-one synchronization

For more information about synchronization topologies, see Synchronization topologies.

SQL operations that can be synchronized

Limits

• Incompatibility with triggers

If you select a database as the object to synchronize and the database contains a trigger that updates a table, data inconsistency may occur. For more information about how to solve this issue, see Configure a data synchronization task for a source database that contains a trigger.

• Limits on RENAME TABLE operations

RENAME TABLE operations may cause data inconsistency between the source and destination databases. For example, if only Table A is selected as the object to synchronize and is renamed Table B, Table B cannot be synchronized to the destination database. To prevent this situation, you can select the entire database where Table A is located as the object to synchronize when you configure the data synchronization task.

Procedure

1. Purchase a data synchronization instance. For more information, see Purchase procedure.

Once Select MySQL for both the source instance and the destination instance. Select One-Way Synchronization as the synchronization topology.

- 2. Log on to the DTS console.
- 3. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Data Synchronization**.
- 4. In the upper part of the **Synchronization Tasks** page, select the region where the data synchronization instance resides.
- 5. Find the data synchronization instance and click **Configure Task** in the Actions column.
- 6. Configure the source and destination instances.

RDS MySQL Database Data synchro nization

Synchronization Task Name:	MySQL			
Source Instance Details				
Instance Type:	RDS Instance 🔻			
Instance Region:	China (Hangzhou)			
* Instance ID:	rm-bp 👻	RDS Instances of Other Apsara Stack Accounts		
* Database Account:	dtstest			
* Database Password:	••••••			
* Encryption:	Non-encrypted SSL-encrypted			
Destination Instance Details				
Instance Type:	User-Created Database Connected Over Express Connect, VPN Gatev			
Instance Region:	China (Hangzhou)			
* Peer VPC:	vpc-bp			
Database Type:	MySQL •			
* IP Address:	172.16.			
* Port Number:	3306			
* Database Account:	dtstest			
* Database Password:	••••••			
			Cancel	Set Whitelist and Next

Section	Parameter	Description			
N/A	Synchronizat ion Task Name	DTS automatically generates a task name. We recommend that you specify an informative name for easy identification. You do not need to use a unique task name.			
	Instance Type	Select RDS Instance.			
Source	Instance Region	The source region that you selected on the buy page. You cannot change the value of this parameter.			
	Instance ID	ICE ID Select the ID of the source RDS instance.			
		Enter the database account of the source RDS instance.			
	Database Account	Note If the database type of the source RDS instance is MySQL 5.5 or MySQL 5.6, you do not need to configure the database account or database password.			
	Database Password	Enter the password of the source database account.			
Details					

Section	Parameter	Description
	Encryption	Select Non-encrypted or SSL-encrypted. If you want to select SSL- encrypted, you must enable SSL encryption for the RDS instance before you configure the data synchronization task. For more information, see Configure SSL encryption for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
	Instance Type	Select User-Created Database Connected over Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway.
	Instance Region	The destination region that you selected on the buy page. You cannot change the value of this parameter.
	Peer VPC	Select the ID of the VPC that is connected to the self-managed MySQL database.
	Database Type	The value of this parameter is set to MySQL and cannot be changed.
Destination	IP Address	Enter the server IP address of the self-managed MySQL database.
Instance Details	Port Number	Enter the service port number of the self-managed MySQL database. The default port number is 3306 .
		Enter the account of the self-managed MySQL database.
	Database Account	Note The database account must have the SELECT permission on the objects to be synchronized, the REPLICATION CLIENT permission, the REPLICATION SLAVE permission, and the SHOW VIEW permission.
	Database Password	Enter the password of the destination database account.

- 7. In the lower-right corner of the page, click Set Whitelist and Next.
- 8. Select the synchronization policy and the objects to synchronize.
| Synchronization Mode:One-Wa | y Synchronization (DML+DDL) | | |
|--|---------------------------------------|---|--------------------------------------|
| Available | | Selected (To edit an object name or its fil
Edit.) Learn more. | ter, hover over the object and clich |
| Expand the tree before you perform
Expand the tree before you perform
asd
construction
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
description
descr | rm a glol Q
t_0001 | dtstestdata | |
| Select All | | Solart All | |
| *Rename Databases and Tables: | Do Not Change Database and Table Name | Change Database and Table Names | |
| *Source table DMS_ ONLINE_ Do yo
want to copy the temporary table to
the target database during DDL: | u 🔿 Yes 💿 No 🧭 | | |

Setting	Description
Soloct the objects	Select one or more objects from the Available section and click the > icon to add the objects to the Selected section. You can select tables or databases as the objects to synchronize.
to be synchronized	 If you select a database as the object to synchronize, all schema changes in the database are synchronized to the destination database. By default, after an object is synchronized to the destination database, the name of the object remains unchanged. You can use the object name mapping feature to rename the objects that are synchronized to the destination instance. For more information, see Rename an object to be synchronized.
Ponamo Databacos	You can use the object name mapping feature to rename the objects that are
and Tables	synchronized to the destination instance. For more information, see Object name mapping.

Setting	Description	
Replicate Temporary Tables When DMS Performs DDL Operations	 If you use Data Management (DMS) to perform online DDL operations on the source database, you can specify whether to synchronize temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. Yes: DTS synchronizes the data of temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. Note If online DDL operations generate a large amount of data, the data synchronization task may be delayed. No: DTS does not synchronize the data of temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. Only the original DDL data of the source database is synchronized. Note If you select No, the tables in the destination database may be locked. 	
Retry Time for Failed Connections	By default, if DTS fails to connect to the source or destination database, DTS retries within the next 720 minutes (12 hours). You can specify the retry time based on your needs. If DTS reconnects to the source and destination database within the specified time, DTS resumes the data synchronization task. Otherwithe data synchronization task fails.	

9. In the lower-right corner of the page, click Next.

10. Select the initial synchronization types.

1.Configure Source and Destination	>	2.Select Objects to	Synchronize		3.Advanced Settings		4.Precheo	ck
Initial Synchronization: 🛛	Initial S	chema Synchronization	☑ Initial Full Da	ta Synchronizatior	1			
						Cancel	Previous Save	Precheck

? Note

- During initial synchronization, DTS synchronizes the schemas and data of required objects from the source instance to the destination instance. The schemas and data are the basis for subsequent incremental synchronization.
- Initial synchronization includes initial schema synchronization and initial full data synchronization. In most cases, you need to select both Initial Schema Synchronization and Initial Full Data Synchronization.

11. In the lower-right corner of the page, click **Precheck**.

? Note

- Before you can start the data synchronization task, DTS performs a precheck. You can start the data synchronization task only after the task passes the precheck.
- If the task fails to pass the precheck, you can click the next to each failed item

to view details.

- After you troubleshoot the issues based on the causes, you can run a precheck again.
- If you do not need to troubleshoot the issues, you can ignore failed items and run a precheck again.
- 12. Close the **Precheck** dialog box after the following message is displayed: **Precheck Passed**. Then, the data synchronization task starts.
- 13. Wait until initial synchronization is complete and the data synchronization task enters the **Synchronizing** state.

You can view the state of the data synchronization task on the Synchronization Tasks page.



7.3. Synchronize data from MySQL to other databases

7.3.1. Synchronize data from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance to a MaxCompute project

MaxCompute (formerly known as ODPS) is a fast and fully managed computing platform for large-scale data warehousing. MaxCompute can process exabytes of data. This topic describes how to synchronize data from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance to a MaxCompute project by using Data Transmission Service (DTS).

Prerequisites

The following operations are performed:

- Activate MaxCompute and DataWorks.
- Create a MaxCompute project.

Precautions

- DTS uses read and write resources of the source and destination databases during initial full data synchronization. This may increase the loads of the database servers. If the database performance is unfavorable, the specification is low, or the data volume is large, database services may become unavailable. For example, DTS occupies a large amount of read and write resources in the following cases: a large number of slow SQL queries are performed on the source database, the tables have no primary keys, or a deadlock occurs in the destination database. Before you synchronize data, evaluate the impact of data synchronization on the performance of the source and destination databases. We recommend that you synchronize data during off-peak hours. For example, you can synchronize data when the CPU utilization of the source and destination databases is less than 30%.
- Only tables can be selected as the objects to be synchronized.
- We recommend that you do not use gh-ost or pt-online-schema-change to perform DDL operations on objects during data synchronization. Otherwise, data synchronization may fail.
- MaxCompute does not support the PRIMARY KEY constraint. If network errors occur, DTS may synchronize duplicate data records to MaxCompute.

Supported source database types

You can use DTS to synchronize data from the following types of MySQL databases:

- Self-managed database that is hosted on Elastic Compute Service (ECS)
- Self-managed database that is connected over Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway
- Self-managed database that is connected over Database Gateway
- ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance that is owned by the same Alibaba Cloud account as the MaxCompute project or a different Alibaba Cloud account from the MaxCompute project

This topic uses an **ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance** as an example to describe how to configure a data synchronization task. You can also follow the procedure to configure data synchronization tasks for other types of MySQL databases.

Note If your source database is a self-managed MySQL database, you must deploy the network environment for the source database. For more information, see **Preparation overview**.

SQL operations that can be synchronized

• DDL operation: ADD COLUMN

Note Only the following data types are supported: INTEGER, BIGINTEGER, IGINT, LONGSTRING, YEAR, TIME, DATA, TIME STAMP, DATA TIME, BYTE, BOOLEAN, DECIMAL, DOUBLE, and FLOAT.

• DML operations: INSERT, UPDATE, and DELETE

Synchronization process

1. Initial schema synchronization.

DTS synchronizes the schemas of the required objects from the source database to MaxCompute. During initial schema synchronization, DTS adds the _base suffix to the end of the source table name. For example, if the name of the source table is customer, the name of the table in MaxCompute is customer_base. 2. Initial full data synchronization.

DTS synchronizes the historical data of the table from the source database to the destination table in MaxCompute. For example, the customer table in the source database is synchronized to the customer_base table in MaxCompute. The data is the basis for subsequent incremental synchronization.

Note The destination table that is suffixed with _base is known as a full baseline table.

3. Incremental data synchronization.

DTS creates an incremental data table in MaxCompute. The name of the incremental data table is suffixed with _log, for example, customer_log. Then, DTS synchronizes the incremental data that was generated in the source database to the incremental data table.

? Note For more information, see Schema of an incremental data table.

Procedure

Warning To ensure that the synchronization account can be authorized, we recommend that you perform the following steps by using your Alibaba Cloud account.

1. Purchase a data synchronization instance. For more information, see Purchase procedure.

(?) Note On the buy page, set Source Instance to MySQL, set Destination Instance to MaxCompute, and set Synchronization Topology to One-way Synchronization.

- 2. Log on to the DTS console.
- 3. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Data Synchronization**.
- 4. At the top of the **Synchronization Tasks** page, select the region where the destination instance resides.
- 5. Find the data synchronization instance and click **Configure Synchronization Channel** in the Actions column.
- 6. Configure the source and destination instances.

ApsaraDB for RDS

1.Configure Source and Destination	n 2.Authorize MaxCompute Account	<u>}</u> :	Select Objects to Synchronize	>	4.Precheck
Construction Task Marrow					
Synchronization Task Name:	RDS_TO_MaxCompute				
Course Testano Detaile					
Source Instance Details					
Instance Type:	RDS Instance	٣			
Instance Region:	Singapore				
* Instance ID:	rm.	•	RDS Instances of Other Apsara Stack Acc	counts	
* Database Account:	dtstestaccount				
* Database Password:	•••••	(ه)			
Destination Instance Details					
Instance Type:	MaxCompute				
instance type.	MaxCompute				
Instance Region:	Singapore				
* Project:	dtstest				
				Cancel	Set Whitelist and Next

Section	Parameter	Description
N/A	Synchronizatio n Task Name	DTS automatically generates a task name. We recommend that you specify an informative name for easy identification. You do not need to use a unique task name.
	Instance Type	Select RDS Instance.
	Instance Region	The source region that you selected on the buy page. You cannot change the value of this parameter.
	Instance ID	Select the ID of the source RDS instance.
		Enter the database account of the source RDS instance.
	Dat abase Account	Note If the database engine of the source RDS instance is MySQL 5.5 or MySQL 5.6 , you do not need to configure the database account or database password .
Source		
Instance Details	Dat abase Password	Enter the password of the database account.
Encryp	Encryption	Select Non-encrypted or SSL-encrypted . If you want to select SSL-encrypted , you must enable SSL encryption for the RDS instance before you configure the data synchronization task. For more information, see Configure SSL encryption for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
		Notice The Encryption parameter is available only for regions in the Chinese mainland and the China (Hong Kong) region.

Section	Parameter	Description				
Destination Instance Details	Instance Type	This parameter is set to MaxCompute and cannot be changed.				
	Instance Region	The destination region that you selected on the buy page. You cannot change the value of this parameter.				
		Enter the name of the MaxCompute project . You can search for a project on the Workspaces page in the DataWorks console.				
	Project	Workspace/Dop/ Environments Created At Adminis Status Service Actions ay Name Environments				
		Entern Development and Production Environments 2019-02-26 09-42-36 alidec Enabled Or V Competitives Data Integration Data Service Internal Development and Production Environments 2019-02-26 09-42-36 alidec Enabled Or V				

7. In the lower-right corner of the page, click **Set Whitelist and Next**.

? Note DTS adds the CIDR blocks of DTS servers to the whitelists of the RDS instance and the MaxCompute project. This ensures that DTS servers can connect to the source and destination instances.

8. In the lower-right corner of the page, click **Next**. In this step, the permissions on the MaxCompute project are granted to the synchronization account.

ce and Destination	2.Authorize MaxCompute Account	3.Select Objects to Synchronize		
To synchronize data to a MaxCom	pute instance, you must grant the following permi	issions of project dtstest to the synchronization account.		
CreateTable				
CreateInstance				
CreateResource				
CreateJob				
List				
			Cancel Previous	Next

9. Select the synchronization policy and the objects to be synchronized.

Select	Partition Name	Field Type	Description
~	modifytime_year	String	Year of Incremental Update
>	modifytime_month	String	Month of Incremental Update
>	modifytime_day	String	Date of Incremental Update
>	modifytime_hour	String	Hour of Incremental Update
	modifytime_minute	String	Minute of Incremental Update (Incremental data is written into a separate partition every 15 minutes.)
roccessing xisted Targ	Mode In et Table: Pre-check and	intercept ○ Ignore	Selected (To edit an object name or its filter, hover over the object and d
Expand t	he tree before you perform a glo	Q	Edt.) <u>Learn more.</u>
e 🥁 chư chu e 🦢 chư e 🦢 test	/ Tables /02 *_polar2		dtstest123 Source Database Name (10bjects) ■ tw02
select All	/ Tables /02 *_polar2		<pre> dtstest123 Source Database Name (10bjects) in tw02 Select All </pre>
Select All	r Tables v02 £_polar2 atabases and Tables: ()	Do Not Change Database	se and Table Names

Setting	Description
Partition Definition of Incremental Data Table	Select the partition names based on your business requirements. For more information, see Partition.
Initial Synchronization	Initial synchronization includes initial schema synchronization and initial full data synchronization. Select both Initial Schema Synchronization and Initial Full Data Synchronization . In this case, DTS synchronizes the schemas and historical data of the required objects and then synchronizes incremental data.

Setting	Description
Select the processing mode of conflicting tables	 Pre-check and Intercept: checks whether the destination database contains tables that have the same names as tables in the source database. If the source and destination databases do not contain identical table names, the precheck is passed. Otherwise, an error is returned during precheck and the data synchronization task cannot be started. Note You can use the object name mapping feature to rename the tables that are synchronized to the destination database. You can use this feature if the source and destination databases contain identical table names and the tables in the destination database cannot be deleted or renamed. For more information, see Rename an object to be synchronized. Ignore: skips the precheck for identical table names in the source and destination databases. Ignore: skips the precheck for identical table names in the source and destination databases. During initial data synchronization, DTS does not synchronize the data records that have the same primary keys as the data records in the destination database. This occurs if the source and destination databases have the same schema. However, DTS synchronizes these data records during incremental data synchronization. If the source and destination databases have different schemas, initial data synchronization may fail. In this case, only some columns are synchronized or the data synchronization task fails.
	Select one or more tables from the Available section and click the > icon to move the tables to the Selected section.
Select the objects to be synchronized	 You can select tables from multiple databases as the objects to be synchronized. By default, after an object is synchronized to the destination instance, the name of the object remains unchanged. You can use the object name mapping feature to rename the objects that are synchronized to the destination instance. For more information, see Rename an object to be synchronized.

Setting	Description
Whether to enable the new naming rules for additional columns	After DTS synchronizes data to MaxCompute, DTS adds additional columns to the destination table. If the names of additional columns are the same as the names of existing columns in the destination table, data synchronization fails. Select Yes or No to specify whether you want to enable the new naming rules for additional columns .
	• Warning Before you specify this parameter, check whether additional columns and existing columns in the destination table have name conflicts. For more information, see Naming rules for additional columns.
Rename Databases and Tables	You can use the object name mapping feature to rename the objects that are synchronized to the destination instance. For more information, see Object name mapping.
	 If you use Data Management (DMS) to perform online DDL operations on the source database, you can specify whether to synchronize temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. Yes: DTS synchronizes the data of temporary tables generated by online DDL operations.
Replicate Temporary Tables When DMS Performs DDL	Note If online DDL operations generate a large amount of data, the data synchronization task may be delayed.
Operations	• No : DTS does not synchronize the data of temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. Only the original DDL data of the source database is synchronized.
	Note If you select No, the tables in the destination database may be locked.
Retry Time for Failed Connections	By default, if DTS fails to connect to the source or destination database, DTS retries within the next 720 minutes (12 hours). You can specify the retry time based on your needs. If DTS reconnects to the source and destination databases within the specified time, DTS resumes the data synchronization task. Otherwise, the data synchronization task fails.
	Note When DTS retries a connection, you are charged for the DTS instance. We recommend that you specify the retry time based on your business needs. You can also release the DTS instance at your earliest opportunity after the source and destination instances are released.

10. In the lower-right corner of the page, click **Precheck**.

? Note

- Before you can start the data synchronization task, DTS performs a precheck. You can start the data synchronization task only after the task passes the precheck.
- If the task fails to pass the precheck, you can click the next to each failed item

to view details.

- After you troubleshoot the issues based on the causes, you can run a precheck again.
- If you do not need to troubleshoot the issues, you can ignore failed items and run a precheck again.
- 11. Close the **Precheck** dialog box after the following message is displayed: **The precheck is passed**. Then, the data synchronization task starts.
- 12. Wait until initial synchronization is completed and the data synchronization task enters the **Synchronizing** state.

You can view the state of the data synchronization task on the **Synchronization Tasks** page.

Instance ID/Task Name	Status	Synchronization Details	Billing Method	Synchronization Mode(All) 👻	Actions
0	Synchronizing	Delay: 0 Milliseconds Speed: 0.00RPS/(0.000MB/s)	Pay-As-You-Go	One-Way Synchronization	Pause Task Switch to Subscription Upgrade More
Pause Task Delete Task			Total: 1 item(s),	Per Page: 20 item(s)	« < 1 > »

Schema of an incremental data table

? Note You must run the set odps.sql.allow.fullscan=true; command in MaxCompute to allow full table scan for the MaxCompute project.

DTS synchronizes incremental data that is generated in the source MySQL database to the incremental data table in MaxCompute. The incremental data table stores incremental data and specific metadata. The following figure shows the schema of an incremental data table.

4		Α	В		D			F						к	L
1	id	~	register_time 🗸 🗸	address	 record_id 	~	operation_flag 🗸	utc_times	tamp 🗸	before_flag 🗸	after_flag 🗸	modifytime_year 🗸	modifytime_month 🗸	modifytime_day 🗸	modifytime_hour 🗸
2	10	100	2018-02-03 01:38:01	1000	1565	0333	U	156 6	555	Y	N	2019	08	16	16
3	10	00	2018-02-03 01:38:01	1000	1565	0333	U	156: 6	555	N	Y	2019	08	16	16
4	99	19	2016-11-18 11:44:54		1565	10419	D	156: 8	345	Y	N	2019	08	16	16
5	10	101	2018-12-23 05:11:59	100 C	1565	10435		156! 8	378	N	Y	2019	08	16	16
	Note In the example, the modifytime_year, modifytime_month, modifytime_day, modifytime_hour, and modifytime_minute fields form the partition key. These fields are specified in the Select the synchronization policy and the objects to be synchronized step.										2				
c	champ of an incremental data table														

Schema of an incremental data table

Field Description	
-------------------	--

Field	Description
	The ID of the incremental log entry.
record_id	 Note The ID auto-increments for each new log entry. If an UPDATE operation is performed, DTS generates two incremental log entries to record the pre-update and post-update values. The two incremental log entries have the same record ID.
operation_flag	 The operation type. Valid values: I: an INSERT operation D: a DELETE operation U: an UPDATE operation
utc_timestamp	The operation timestamp, in UTC. It is also the timestamp of the binary log file.
before_flag	Indicates whether the column values are pre-update values. Valid values: Y and N.
after_flag	Indicates whether the column values are post-update values. Valid values: Y and N.

Additional information about the before_flag and after_flag fields

The **before_flag** and **after_flag** fields of an incremental log entry are defined depending on the operation type.

INSERT

For an INSERT operation, the column values are the newly inserted record values (post-update values). The value of the before_flag field is N and the value of the after_flag field is Y.

	A	В		С		D		E		F		G	I	н	I	J	к	L
1	id	register_time 🛛 🗸	' ad	ddress	~	record_id	~ (operation_flag 🍸	utc_tir	nestamp	<	before_flag 🗸	a	ifter_flag 🗸	🖌 modifytime_year 🗸	modifytime_month 🗸	modifytime_day 🗸	modifytime_hour 🗸
5	10001	2018-12-23 05:11:59				15 0435	5 I		156	878		N	γ		2019	08	16	16

• UPDATE

DTS generates two incremental log entries for an UPDATE operation. The two incremental log entries have the same values for the record_id, operation_flag, and utc_timestamp fields.

The first log entry records the pre-update values, so the value of the before_flag field is Y and the value of the after_flag field is N. The second log entry records the post-update values, so the value of the before_flag field is N and the value of the after_flag field is Y.



• DELETE

For a DELETE operation, the column values are the deleted record values (pre-update values). The value of the before_flag field is Y and the value of the after_flag field is N.

			В			E							
1	id	<	register_time 🗸 🗸	address 🔻 🗸	record_id ∽	operation_flag 🍸	utc_timestamp 🗸	before_flag 🗸	after_flag 🗸	modifytime_year 🗸	modifytime_month 🗸	modifytime_day 🗸	modifytime_hour 🗸
4	9999		2016-11-18 11:44:54		156 000419	D	156 845	Y	N	2019	08	16	16

Merge a full baseline table and an incremental data table

After a data synchronization task is started, DTS creates a full baseline table and an incremental data table in MaxCompute. You can use SQL statements to merge the two tables. This allows you to obtain the full data at a specific time point.

This section describes how to merge data for a table named customer. The following figure shows the schema of the customer table.

	Field	Туре	Ŧ	Null	Ŧ	Кеу	Ŧ	Default	-	Extra	*
1	id	int(11)		NO		PRI					
2	register_time	timestamp		YES							
3	address	varchar(32)		YES							

1. Create a table in MaxCompute based on the schema of the source table. The table is used to store the merged data.

For example, you can obtain full data of the customer table at the 1565944878 time point. Run the following SQL statements to create the required table:

```
CREATE TABLE `customer_1565944878` (
   `id` bigint NULL,
   `register_time` datetime NULL,
   `address` string);
```

? Note

- You can use the ad-hoc query feature to run SQL statements. For more information, see (Optional) Use an ad-hoc query to run SQL statements.
- For more information about the data types that are supported by MaxCompute, see **Data types**.
- 2. Run the following SQL statements in MaxCompute to merge the full baseline table and the incremental data table and obtain full data at a specific time point:

```
set odps.sql.allow.fullscan=true;
insert overwrite table <result storage table>
select <coll>,
      <col2>,
      <colN>
 from(
select row number() over(partition by t.<primary key column>
order by record_id desc, after_flag desc) as row_number, record_id, operation_flag, af
ter_flag, <coll>, <coll>, <colN>
 from(
select incr.record id, incr.operation flag, incr.after flag, incr.<coll>, incr.<col2>,i
ncr.<colN>
 from  incr
where utc timestamp< <timestamp>
union all
select 0 as record_id, 'I' as operation_flag, 'Y' as after_flag, base.<coll>, base.<col</pre>
2>,base.<colN>
 from  base) t) gt
where record num=1
 and after_flag='Y'
```

? Note

- <result_storage_table>: the name of the table that stores the merged data.
- <col1>/<col2>/<colN>: the names of the columns in the table to be merged.
- <primary_key_column>: the name of the primary key column in the table to be merged.
- <table_log>: the name of the incremental data table.
- <table_base>: the name of the full baseline table.
- <timestamp>: the timestamp that is generated when full data is obtained.

Run the following SQL statements to obtain full data of the customer table at the 1565944878 time point:

```
set odps.sql.allow.fullscan=true;
insert overwrite table customer 1565944878
select id,
      register time,
      address
 from(
select row number() over(partition by t.id
order by record_id desc, after_flag desc) as row_number, record_id, operation_flag, af
ter flag, id, register time, address
 from(
select incr.record id, incr.operation flag, incr.after flag, incr.id, incr.register tim
e, incr.address
 from customer log incr
where utc timestamp< 1565944878
union all
select 0 as record_id, 'I' as operation_flag, 'Y' as after_flag, base.id, base.register
time, base.address
 from customer base base) t) gt
where gt.row number= 1
   and gt.after flag= 'Y';
```

3. Query the merged data from the customer_1565944878 table.

Sq in	fra_	2019_08_14_01_50) •					
		§		C	22			
1 2 3 5 6	odps sql ***********************************							
	Runti	me Log	Result 🗙					
		А		В		С		
1	id	~	register_time	:	~	address	~	
2	1		2017-12-09 1	4:00:12		A DESCRIPTION OF THE OWNER OWNER OF THE OWNER OWN		
3	2		2017-11-16 2	21:17:39		1000		
4	3		2019-01-29 0	07:56:20				

7.3.2. Synchronize data from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance to an AnalyticDB for MySQL cluster

is a real-time online analytical processing (RT-OLAP) service that is developed by Alibaba Cloud for online data analysis with high concurrency. AnalyticDB for MySQL can analyze petabytes of data from multiple dimensions at millisecond-level timing to provide data-driven insights into your business. This topic describes how to synchronize data from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance to an cluster by using Data Transmission Service (DTS). After you synchronize data, you can use AnalyticDB for MySQL to build internal business intelligence (BI) systems, interactive query systems, and real-time report systems.

Prerequisites

- The tables that you want to synchronize from the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance contain primary keys.
- An cluster is created. For more information, see Create an cluster.
- The destination cluster has sufficient storage space.

Precautions

- DTS uses read and write resources of the source and destination databases during initial full data synchronization. This may increase the loads of the database servers. If the database performance is unfavorable, the specification is low, or the data volume is large, database services may become unavailable. For example, DTS occupies a large amount of read and write resources in the following cases: a large number of slow SQL queries are performed on the source database, the tables have no primary keys, or a deadlock occurs in the destination database. Before you synchronize data, evaluate the impact of data synchronization on the performance of the source and destination databases. We recommend that you synchronize data during off-peak hours. For example, you can synchronize data when the CPU utilization of the source and destination databases is less than 30%.
- We recommend that you do not use gh-ost or pt-online-schema-change to perform data definition language (DDL) operations on the required objects during data synchronization. Otherwise, data may fail to be synchronized.
- Due to the limits of , if the disk space usage of the nodes in an cluster reaches 80%, the cluster is locked. We recommend that you estimate the required disk space based on the objects that you want to synchronize. You must ensure that the destination cluster has sufficient storage space.
- Prefix indexes cannot be synchronized. If the source database contains prefix indexes, data may fail to be synchronized.

SQL operations that can be synchronized

- DDL operations: CREATE TABLE, DROP TABLE, RENAME TABLE, TRUNCATE TABLE, ADD COLUMN, DROP COLUMN, and MODIFY COLUMN
- DML operations: INSERT, UPDATE, and DELETE

(?) Note If the data type of a field in the source table is changed during data synchronization, an error message is generated and the data synchronization task is stopped. You can submit a or troubleshoot the issue. For more information, see Troubleshoot the synchronization failure that occurs due to field type changes.

Permissions required for database accounts

Database	Required permissions
ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL	The SELECT permission on the objects to be synchronized, the REPLICATION CLIENT permission, the REPLICATION SLAVE permission, and the SHOW VIEW permission
	The read and write permissions on the objects to be synchronized

Data type mappings

The data types of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL and do not have one-to-one correspondence. During initial schema synchronization, DTS converts the data types of the source database into those of the destination database. For more information, see Data type mappings for schema synchronization.

Procedure

1. Purchase a data synchronization instance. For more information, see Purchase procedure.

On the buy page, set Source Instance to MySQL, set Target Instance to AnalyticDB MySQL, and set Synchronization Topology to One-Way Synchronization.

- 2. Log on to the DTS console.
- 3. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Data Synchronization**.
- 4. In the upper part of the **Synchronization Tasks** page, select the region where the data synchronization instance resides.
- 5. Find the data synchronization instance and click **Configure Task** in the Actions column.
- 6. Configure the source and destination databases.

1.Configure Source and Destination	on Instances 2.Auth	orize AnalyticDB Account	3.Select Objects to Synchronize	A.Precheck
Synchronization Task Na	ame: RDS MySQL_TO_ADB MySQL			
Source Instance Details				
Instance T	VDe: RDS Instance	•		
Instance Rec	ion: Singapore			
* Instance	TD:		PDC Instances of Other Ansara Stack Accounts	
Instance	rm-gs	Ť	RDS Instances of Other Apsara Stack Accounts	
* Database Acco	unt: dtstest			
* Database Passw	ord:	4>		
Destination Instance Details				
Instance T	ype: AnalyticDB			
Instance Reg	ion: Singapore			
* Datab	ase: am-ns	•		
* Database Asso	unta la construction de la const			
" Database Acco	unt: dtstest			
* Database Passw	ord:	¢∢		
				Cancel Set Whitelist and Next
Section	Parameter	Description		
			lly goporatos a task pamo	We recommend that
NI/A	Synchroniz <i>a</i> t io		formativo namo for oasy	identification. You do
N/A	n Task Name	you specify and		
		not need to use	a unique task name.	
	Instance Type	Select RDS Inst	ance.	
-				
	Instance	The source regio	on that you selected on th	e buy page. You cannot
	Region	change the value	e of this parameter.	
	2	, ,	•	

Section	Parameter	Description
	Instance ID	Select the ID of the source RDS instance.
Source Instance Details	Dat abase Account	Enter the database account of the source RDS instance. For information about the permissions that are required for the account, see Permissions required for database accounts. Once If the database engine of the source RDS instance is MySQL 5.5 or MySQL 5.6, you do not need to configure the database account or database password.
	Database Password	Enter the password of the database account.
	Encryption	Select Non-encrypted or SSL-encrypted. If you want to select SSL-encrypted, you must enable SSL encryption for the RDS instance before you configure the data synchronization task. For more information, see Configure SSL encryption for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
	Instance Type	The value of this parameter is set to AnalyticDB and cannot be changed.
	Instance Region	The destination region that you selected on the buy page. You cannot change the value of this parameter.
Destination	Version	Select 3.0.
Instance Details	Database	Select the ID of the destination cluster.
	Dat abase Account	Enter the database account of the cluster. For information about the permissions that are required for the account, see Permissions required for database accounts.
	Dat abase Password	Enter the password of the database account.

7.

8. Select the synchronization policy and the objects to be synchronized.

1.Select Source and Destination	on > 2.Authorize AnalyticDB Ac	count	3.Select Object to Be 4.Precheck
Initial Synchronization: 🗹 I	nitial Schema Synchronization 🔽 Ini	itial Full Data Synch	ronization
Note: do not clean up the incre cleans up the log too early, the	mental data log generated by the source DTS incremental task may fail	database after the [DTS task is started when the DTS full task is running. If the source database
Proccessing Mode In Existed Target Table: Pre	e-check and Intercept $ \bigcirc $ Ignore		
Merge Multi Tables: Yes	s 🖲 No		
Synchronization Type: 🗹 Ins V Cra	sert 🗹 Update 🗹 Delete eate Table 🗹 Drop Table	✓ Alter Table	✓ Truncate Table
Available			Selected (To edit an object name or its filter, hover over the object and click Edit.) Learn more.
Expand the tree before you per	rform a glol 🔰 🔍		
<u></u> recycle_bin			🐂 dtstestdata
🕀 🧫 asd			
🕀 🦳 dts		>	
dtstest0512_jzhz_0001	1_ext_0001	/	
E Constant		<	
🕀 🚞 sys			
Select All			Select All
*Rename Databases and Tables:	Do Not Change Database a	nd Table Names	Change Database and Table Names
*Source table DMS_ ONLINE_ Do want to copy the temporary table t the target database during DDL:	you 🖲 Yes 🔿 No 🧭 to		
* Retry Time for Failed Connection	720 Minutes	0	
			Cancel Previous Next Precheck
Parameter	Description		
Initial Synchronization	You must select both Synchronization in n schemas and data of destination cluster. Th incremental synchroniz	Initial Sch nost cases. the required ne schemas zation.	ema Synchronization and Initial Full Data After the precheck, DTS synchronizes the d objects from the source instance to the and data are the basis for subsequent

Parameter	Description		
	 Pre-check and Intercept: checks whether the destination database contains tables that have the same names as tables in the source database. If the source and destination databases do not contain identical table names, the precheck is passed. Otherwise, an error is returned during precheck and the data synchronization task cannot be started. Note You can use the object name mapping feature to change the names of the tables that are synchronized to the destination database. You can use this feature if the source and destination database contain identical table names and the tables in the destination database cannot be deleted or renamed. For more information, see Rename an object to be curcher prior destination. 		
Processing Mode In Existed Target Table	 Ignore: skips the precheck for identical table names in the source and destination databases. 		
	 Warning If you select Ignore, data consistency is not guaranteed and your business may be exposed to potential risks. If the source and destination databases have the same schema, DTS does not synchronize data records that have the same primary keys as data records in the destination database. If the source and destination databases have different schemas, initial data synchronization may fail. In this case, only specific columns are synchronized or the data synchronization task fails. 		
Merge Multi Tables	 If you select Yes, DTS adds thedts_data_source column to each table to record data sources. In this case, DDL operations cannot be synchronized. No is selected by default. In this case, DDL operations can be synchronized. Note You can merge the data source columns based on tasks rather than tables. To merge only the data source columns of specific tables, you can create two data synchronization tasks. 		
Synchronization Type	Select the types of operations that you want to synchronize based on your business requirements. All operation types are selected by default. For more information, see SQL operations that can be synchronized.		

Parameter	Description		
Select the objects to be synchronized	Select one or more objects from the Available section and click the > icon to move the objects to the Selected section. You can select tables or databases as the objects to be synchronized.		
	 Note If you select a database as the object to be synchronized, all schema changes in the database are synchronized to the destination database. If you select a table as the object to be synchronized, only the ADD COLUMN operations that are performed on the table are synchronized to the destination database. 		
	 By default, after an object is synchronized to the destination cluster, the name of the object remains unchanged. You can use the object name mapping feature to change the names of the objects that are synchronized to the destination cluster. For more information, see Rename an object to be synchronized. 		
Rename Databases and Tables	You can use the object name mapping feature to rename the objects that are synchronized to the destination instance. For more information, see Object name mapping.		
	 If you use Data Management (DMS) to perform online DDL operations on the source database, you can specify whether to synchronize temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. Yes: DTS synchronizes the data of temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. 		
Replicate Temporary Tables When DMS Performs DDL Operations	Note If online DDL operations generate a large amount of data, the data synchronization task may be delayed.		
	• No : DTS does not synchronize the data of temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. Only the original DDL data of the source database is synchronized.		
	Note If you select No, the tables in the destination database may be locked.		

Parameter	Description		
	By default, if DTS fails to connect to the source or destination database, DTS retries within the next 720 minutes (12 hours). You can specify the retry time based on your needs. If DTS reconnects to the source and destination databases within the specified time, DTS resumes the data synchronization task. Otherwise, the data synchronization task fails.		
Retry Time for Failed Connections	Note When DTS retries a connection, you are charged for the DTS instance. We recommend that you specify the retry time based on your business needs. You can also release the DTS instance at your earliest opportunity after the source and destination instances are released.		

- 9. In the lower-right corner of the page, click Next.
- 10. Specify a type for the tables that you want to synchronize to the destination database.

	Destination Instances 🔪 2.Aut	horize AnalyticDB Account	3.Select Objects to	Synchronize	
AnalyticDB Table Group	AnalyticDB Table Name	Type(All) 👻	Primary Key Column	Distribution Column	Definition Status(All) 👻
dtstestdata	customer	Partitioned 1 V	id	id 🔻	Defined
dtstestdata	order	Partitioned 1 V	orderid	orderid •	Defined
Set All to Partitioned Table	Set All to Dimension Table Enter a table na	me. Search		Total: 2 item(s), Per Page: 2) • item(s) « < 1 > »
				Cancel	Previous Save Precheck

Once After you select Initial Schema Synchronization, you must specify the type, primary key column, and partition key column for the tables that you want to synchronize to . For more information, see CREATE TABLE.

11. In the lower-right corner of the page, click **Precheck**.

? Note

- Before you can start the data synchronization task, DTS performs a precheck. You can start the data synchronization task only after the task passes the precheck.
- If the task fails to pass the precheck, you can click the 🕧 icon next to each failed item

to view details.

- After you troubleshoot the issues based on the causes, you can run a precheck again.
- If you do not need to troubleshoot the issues, you can ignore failed items and run a precheck again.
- 12. Close the Precheck dialog box after the following message is displayed: Precheck Passed. Then,

the data synchronization task starts.

13. Wait until initial synchronization is complete and the data synchronization task enters the **Synchronizing** state.

You can view the state of the data synchronization task on the Synchronization Tasks page.

Instance ID/Task Name	Status	Synchronization Details	Billing Method	Synchronization Mode(All) 👻	Actions
0	Synchronizing	Delay: 0 Milliseconds Speed: 0.00RPS/(0.000MB/s)	Pay-As-You-Go	One-Way Synchronization	Pause Task Switch to Subscription Upgrade More
Pause Task Delete Task			Total: 1 item(s),	Per Page: 20 item(s)	« < 1 > »

Troubleshoot the synchronization failure that occurs due to field type changes

If the data type of a field in the source table is changed during data synchronization, an error message is generated and the data synchronization task is stopped. You can submit a or perform the following steps to troubleshoot the issue.

- Create a table in the destination cluster based on the schema of source table that fails to be synchronized. For example, if a table named customer (Table A) fails to be synchronized, you can create a table named customer_new (Table B) in the destination cluster. Make sure that Table B has the same schema as Table A.
- 2. Run the INSERT INTO SELECT command to copy the data of Table A and insert the data into Table B. This ensures that the data of the two tables is consistent.
- 3. Rename or delete Table A. Then, change the name of Table B to customer.
- 4. Restart the data synchronization task in the DTS console.

7.3.3. Synchronize data from a self-managed MySQL database connected over Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway to a self-managed Kafka cluster

Kafka is a distributed message queue service that features high throughput and high scalability. Kafka is widely used for big data analytics such as log collection, data aggregation, streaming processing, and online and offline analysis. It is important for the big data ecosystem. This topic describes how to synchronize data from a self-managed MySQL database connected over Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway to a self-managed Kafka cluster by using Data Transmission Service (DTS). The data synchronization feature allows you to extend message processing capabilities.

Prerequisites

- A Kaf ka cluster is created and the Kaf ka version is 0.10.1.0 to 2.7.0.
- The version of the self-managed MySQL database is 5.1, 5.5, 5.6, 5.7, or 8.0.
- The self-managed MySQL database is connected to Alibaba Cloud VPC over Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway. For more information, see Connect an on-premises database to

DTS by using CEN.

Precautions

- DTS uses read and write resources of the source and destination databases during initial full data synchronization. This may increase the loads of the database servers. If the database performance is unfavorable, the specification is low, or the data volume is large, database services may become unavailable. For example, DTS occupies a large amount of read and write resources in the following cases: a large number of slow SQL queries are performed on the source database, the tables have no primary keys, or a deadlock occurs in the destination database. Before you synchronize data, evaluate the impact of data synchronization on the performance of the source and destination databases. We recommend that you synchronize data during off-peak hours. For example, you can synchronize data when the CPU utilization of the source and destination databases is less than 30%.
- The source database must have PRIMARY KEY or UNIQUE constraints and all fields must be unique. Otherwise, the destination database may contain duplicate data records.

Limits

- Only tables can be selected as the objects to synchronize.
- DTS does not synchronize the data in a renamed table to the destination Kafka cluster. This applies if the new table name is not included in the objects to synchronize. If you want to synchronize the data in a renamed table to the destination Kafka cluster, you must **reselect the objects to be synchronized**. For more information, see Add an object to a data synchronization task.

Supported synchronization topologies

- One-way one-to-one synchronization
- One-way one-to-many synchronization
- One-way many-to-one synchronization
- One-way cascade synchronization

Before you begin

Before you configure the data synchronization task, you must create a database account and configure binary logging. For more information, see Create an account for a user-created MySQL database and configure binary logging.

Procedure

1. Purchase a data synchronization instance. For more information, see Purchase procedure.

? Note On the buy page, set Source Instance to MySQL, Destination Instance to Kafka, and Synchronization Topology to One-Way Synchronization.

- 2. Log on to the DTS console.
- 3. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Data Synchronization**.
- 4. At the top of the **Synchronization Tasks** page, select the region where the destination instance resides.
- 5. Find the data synchronization instance and click **Configure Synchronization Channel** in the Actions column.
- 6. Configure the source and destination instances.

ource Instance Details			
Instance Type:	User-Created Database Connected Over Express Connect, VPl 💙	Guide	
Instance Region:	China (Hangzhou)		
* Peer VPC:	vpc-	Proprietary network of Other Apsara Stack Ad	counts
Database Type:	MySQL		
* IP Address:	172.16		
* Port Number:	3306		
* Database Account:	dtstest		
* Database Password:	••••••• Ø		
tination Instance Details			
unation instance Details			
Instance Type:	User-Created Database in ECS Instance		
Instance Region:	China (Shanghai)		
* ECS Instance ID:	i-		
Database Type:	Kafka 🗸		
* Port Number:	9092		
Database Account:		Optional	
Database Password:	Φ	Optional	
* Topic:	dtstesttopic 🗸	Get Toplic list	
	Click Get Topic List and then select the specific topic.		
* Kafka Version	1.0 ~		
* Encryption:	Non-encrypted O SCRAM-SHA-256		
			Cancel Set Whitelist and Ne

Set Whitelist and Next

Section	Parameter	Description
N/A	Synchronizat ion Task Name	DTS automatically generates a task name. We recommend that you specify an informative name for easy identification. You do not need to use a unique task name.
	lnstance Type	Select User-Created Database Connected over Express Connect, VPN Gateway, or Smart Access Gateway.
	Instance Region	The source region that you selected on the buy page. You cannot change the value of this parameter.
	Peer VPC	Select the ID of the VPC that is connected to the self-managed MySQL database.
	Database Type	The value of this parameter is set to MySQL and cannot be changed.
	IP Address	Enter the server IP address of the self-managed MySQL database.
Source Instance Details	Port Number	Enter the service port number of the self-managed MySQL database. The default port number is 3306.

Section	Parameter	Description
	Database Account	Enter the account of the self-managed MySQL database. The account must have the SELECT permission on the required objects, the REPLICATION CLIENT permission, the REPLICATION SLAVE permission, and the SHOW VIEW permission.
	Dat abase Password	Enter the password of the source database account.
		Select an instance type based on the deployment of the Kafka cluster. In this example, select User-Created Database in ECS Instance .
	lnstance Type	Note If you select other instance types, you must deploy the network environment for the Kafka cluster. For more information, see Preparation overview .
	Instance Region	The destination region that you selected on the buy page. You cannot change the value of this parameter.
	ECS Instance ID	Select the ID of the Elastic Compute Service (ECS) instance that hosts the Kafka cluster.
	Database Type	Select Kafka .
Destination Instance Details	Port Number	Enter the service port number of the Kafka cluster. The default port number is 9092.
	Dat abase Account	Enter the username that is used to log on to the Kafka cluster. If no authentication is enabled for the Kafka cluster, you do not need to enter the username.
	Dat abase Password	Enter the password of the username. If no authentication is enabled for the Kafka cluster, you do not need to enter the password.
	Торіс	Click Get Topic List and select a topic name from the drop-down list.
	Kafka Version	Select the version of the destination Kafka cluster.
	Encryption	Select Non-encrypted or SCRAM-SHA-256 based on your business and security requirements.

- 7. In the lower-right corner of the page, click Set Whitelist and Next.
- 8. Select the objects to synchronize.

RDS MySQL Dat abase • Dat a synchro

nization

ApsaraDB for RDS

Synchronization Mode:One-Way Synchronization		
Data format delivered to Kafka: 💿 DTS Avro 🛛 Canal Json 🕜		
Synchronize to Kafka Partition Policy:® Post all to Partition 0 🕐		
 Delivered different parts by hash value Delivered different parts by hash value Note: After the data synchronization oper synchronization will fail 	e of library name + table e of primary key ration is officially started,	name do not modify the number of partitions of the target topic, otherwise the
Available		Selected (To edit an object name or its filter, hover over the object and clic Edit.) Learn more.
Expand the tree before you perform a glo $\hfill \hfill \$		Q
🗆 📔 chw		dtstest0415 Source Database Name (10hierts)
Tables		dtstest0415 Source Table Na
enwo2		
	>	
Select All		
*Rename Databases and Tables: O Not Change Data	base and Table Names	Change Database and Table Names
* Retry Time for Failed Connection 720 Min	iutes 🕐	

Parameter	Description		
Data Format in Kafka	The data that is synchronized to the Kafka cluster is stored in the Avro or Canal JSON format. For more information, see Data formats of a Kafka cluster.		
Policy for Shipping Data to Kafka Partitions	The policy used to synchronize data to Kafka partitions. Select a policy based on your business requirements. For more information, see Specify the policy for synchronizing data to Kafka partitions.		
Select the objects to synchronize	Select one or more tables from the Available section and click the > icon to add the tables to the Selected section. Note DTS maps the table names to the topic name that you select in Step 6. If you want to rename the topic, you can use the object name mapping feature. For more information, see Rename an object to be synchronized.		

Parameter	Description
Rename Databases and Tables	You can use the object name mapping feature to rename the objects that are synchronized to the destination instance. For more information, see Object name mapping.
Retry Time for Failed Connections	By default, if DTS fails to connect to the source or destination database, DTS retries within the next 720 minutes (12 hours). You can specify the retry time based on your needs. If DTS reconnects to the source and destination databases within the specified time, DTS resumes the data synchronization task. Otherwise, the data synchronization task fails.
	Note When DTS retries a connection, you are charged for the DTS instance. We recommend that you specify the retry time based on your business needs. You can also release the DTS instance at your earliest opportunity after the source and destination instances are released.

9. In the lower-right corner of the page, click Next.

10. Configure initial synchronization.

1.Select Source and Destination Instances >	A.Precheck			
Initial Synchronization: Initial Schema Synchronization Initial Full Data Synchronization Note: Trigger synchronization is not supported, please Reference Document Filter options: Ignore DDL in incremental synchronization phase				
	Cancel Previous Save Precheck			
Setting	Description			
Initial Synchronization	Select both Initial Schema Synchronization and Initial Full Data Synchronization . DTS synchronizes the schemas and historical data of the required objects and then synchronizes incremental data.			
Filter options	Ignore DDL in incremental synchronization phase is selected by default. In this case, DTS does not synchronize DDL operations that are performed on the source database during incremental data synchronization.			

11. In the lower-right corner of the page, click **Precheck**.

? Note

- Before you can start the data synchronization task, DTS performs a precheck. You can start the data synchronization task only after the task passes the precheck.
- If the task fails to pass the precheck, you can click the next to each failed item

to view details.

- After you troubleshoot the issues based on the causes, you can run a precheck again.
- If you do not need to troubleshoot the issues, you can ignore failed items and run a precheck again.
- 12. Close the **Precheck** dialog box after the following message is displayed: **Precheck Passed**. Then, the data synchronization task starts.

You can view the state of the data synchronization task on the **Synchronization Tasks** page.

Instance ID/Task Name	Status	Synchronization Details	Billing Method	Synchronization Mode(All) 👻		Actions
0	Synchronizing	Delay: 0 Milliseconds Speed: 0TPS(0.00MB/s)	Pay-As-You-Go	One-Way Synchronization	Pause Task Subscription	Switch to Upgrade More
Pause Task Delete Task			Total: 1 item(s),	Per Page: 20 item(s)	« < 1	>

7.3.4. Synchronize data from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance to an AnalyticDB for

PostgreSQL instance

This topic describes how to synchronize data from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance to an instance by using Data Transmission Service (DTS). The data synchronization feature provided by DTS allows you to transfer and analyze data with ease.

Prerequisites

- The tables that you want to synchronize from the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance contain primary keys.
- The destination instance is created. For more information, see
- Create an AnalyticDB for PostgreSQL instance.

Precautions

DTS uses read and write resources of the source and destination databases during initial full data synchronization. This may increase the loads of the database servers. If the database performance is unfavorable, the specification is low, or the data volume is large, database services may become unavailable. For example, DTS occupies a large amount of read and write resources in the following cases: a large number of slow SQL queries are performed on the source database, the tables have no primary keys, or a deadlock occurs in the destination database. Before you synchronize data, evaluate the impact of data synchronization on the performance of the source and destination databases. We recommend that you synchronize data during off-peak hours. For example, you can synchronize data when the CPU utilization of the source and destination databases is less than 30%.

Limits

- You can select only tables as the objects to be synchronized.
- DTS does not synchronize the following types of data: BIT, VARBIT, GEOMETRY, ARRAY, UUID, TSQUERY, TSVECTOR, and TXID_SNAPSHOT.
- Prefix indexes cannot be synchronized. If the source database contains prefix indexes, data may fail to be synchronized.
- We recommend that you do not use gh-ost or pt-online-schema-change to perform DDL operations on objects during data synchronization. Otherwise, data synchronization may fail.

SQL operations that can be synchronized

- DML operations: INSERT, UPDATE, and DELETE
- DDL operation: ADD COLUMN

(?) Note The CREATE TABLE operation is not supported. To synchronize data from a new table, you must add the table to the selected objects. For more information, see Add an object to a data synchronization task.

Supported synchronization topologies

- One-way one-to-one synchronization
- One-way one-to-many synchronization
- One-way many-to-one synchronization

Term mappings

MySQL	
Database	Schema
Table	Table

Procedure

1. Purchase a data synchronization instance. For more information, see Purchase procedure.

On the buy page, set Source Instance to MySQL, set Target Instance to AnalyticDB for PostgreSQL, and set Synchronization Topology to One-Way Synchronization.

- 2. Log on to the DTS console.
- 3. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Data Synchronization**.
- 4. At the top of the **Synchronization Tasks** page, select the region where the destination instance resides.
- 5. Find the data synchronization instance and click **Configure Synchronization Channel** in the Actions column.
- 6. Configure the source and destination instances.

1.Configure Source and Desti	nation Instances in	2.Select Objects to Synchro	onize	3.Precheck
Synchronization Task Nan	ne: MySQL_TO_ADB for PostgreSQ	L		
Source Instance Details				
Instance Typ	e: RDS Instance	Ŧ		
Instance Regio	on: China (Hangzhou)			
* Instance I	D: rm-bj	-	RDS Instances of Other Apsara Stack A	ccounts
* Database Accour	nt: dtstest			
* Database Passwor	rd: ••••••	4>		
* Encryptio	on: Non-encrypted SSL-encrypted 	/pted		
Destination Instance Details				
Instance Typ	e: AnalyticDB for PostgreSQL			
Instance Regio	on: China (Hangzhou)			
* Instance ID	gp-bp	•		
* Database Nam	ie: dtstestdata			
* Database Accour	nt: dtstest			
* Database Passwor	rd: ••••••	4>		
				Cancel Set Whitelist and Next
Section	Parameter	Description		
N/A	Synchronizati on Task Name	DTS automatically go you specify an inform not need to use a un	enerates a task nan native name for eas ique task name.	ne. We recommend that sy identification. You do
	Instance Type	Select RDS Instance	2.	
	Instance Region	The source region th change the value of	at you selected on this parameter.	the buy page. You cannot
	Instance ID	Select the ID of the s	ource RDS instance	

Section	Parameter	Description		
Source Instance		Enter the database account of the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.		
Details	Dat abase Account	Note If the database engine of the source RDS instance is MySQL 5.5 or MySQL 5.6 , you do not need to configure the database account and database password .		
	Dat abase Password	Enter the password of the source database account.		
	Encryption	Select Non-encrypted or SSL-encrypted . If you want to select SSL-encrypted , you must enable SSL encryption for the RDS instance before you configure the data synchronization task. For more information, see Configure SSL encryption for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.		
		ONOTE The Encryption parameter is available only for regions in mainland China and the China (Hong Kong) region.		
	Instance Type	The value of this parameter is set to AnalyticDB for PostgreSQL and cannot be changed.		
	Instance Region	The destination region that you selected on the buy page. You cannot change the value of this parameter.		
	Instance ID	Select the ID of the destination instance.		
Destination	Dat abase Name	Enter the name of the destination database.		
Instance Details		Enter the initial account of the instance. For more information, see Create a database account.		
	Dat abase Account	Note You can also enter an account that has the RDS_SUPERUSER permission. For more information, see Manage users and permissions.		
	Database Password	Enter the password of the destination database account.		

7. In the lower-right corner of the page, click Set Whitelist and Next.

? Note DTS adds the CIDR blocks of DTS servers to the whitelists of the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance and the instance. This ensures that DTS servers can connect to the source RDS instance.

8. Select the synchronization policy and the objects to be synchronized.

1.Select Source and Destination Instances for 2.Select Obj	ject to Be Sync	hronized 3.Precheck
Initial Synchronization: Initial Schema Synchronization Initial F Note: do not clean up the incremental data log generated by the source data cleans up the log too early, the DTS incremental task may fail Proccessing Mode In Existed Target Table: Pre-check and Intercept C Clear Target Table	Full Data Synchro base after the DT ○ Ignore	nization 'S task is started when the DTS full task is running. If the source database
Synchronization Type: 🗹 Insert 🗹 Update 🗹 Delete 🔽	Alter Table	
Available Expand the tree before you perform a glol Q cmrecycle_bin cma asd cmchw02 cm_dts cm_dtstest0512_jzhz_0001_ext_0001 cm_dtstest123 cm_dtstestdata1 cmsys	> <	Selected (To edit an object name or its filter, hover over the object and click Edit.) Learn more.
Select All		Select All
*Rename Databases and Tables: Do Not Change Database and T *Source table DMS_ONLINE_Do you want to copy the temporary table to the target database during DDL: Retry Time for Failed Connection 720 Minutes ? * Add quotation marks to the target @ Yes No 	able Names	Change Database and Table Names
		Cancel Previous Next Precheck

Setting	Parameter	Description
	Initial Synchronization	You must select both Initial Schema Synchronization and Initial Full Data Synchronization in most cases. After the precheck, DTS synchronizes the schemas and data of the required objects from the source instance to the destination instance. The schemas and data are the basis for subsequent incremental synchronization.

Setting	Parameter	Description
Select the synchronizatio n policy	Processing Mode of Conflicting Tables	 Clear Target Table Skips the Schema Name Conflict item during the precheck. Clears the data in the destination table before initial full data synchronization. If you want to synchronize your business data after testing the data synchronization task, you can select this mode. Ignore Skips the Schema Name Conflict item during the precheck. Adds data to the existing data during initial full data synchronization. If you want to synchronize data from multiple tables to one table, you can select this mode.
	Synchronization Type	 Select the types of operations that you want to synchronize based on your business requirements. Insert Update Delete AlterTable
Select the objects to be synchronized	N/A	 Select one or more tables from the Available section and click the icon to move the tables to the Selected section. ? Note You can select only tables as the objects to be synchronized. You can use the object name mapping feature to change the names of the columns that are synchronized to the destination database. For more information, see Rename an object to be synchronized.
Rename Dat abases and T ables	N/A	You can use the object name mapping feature to rename the objects that are synchronized to the destination instance. For more information, see Object name mapping.

Setting	Parameter	Description
Replicate Temporary Tables When DMS Performs DDL Operations	N/A	 If you use Data Management (DMS) to perform online DDL operations on the source database, you can specify whether to synchronize temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. Yes: DTS synchronizes the data of temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. Yes: DTS synchronizes the data of temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. Note If online DDL operations generate a large amount of data, the data synchronization task may be delayed. No: DTS does not synchronize the data of temporary tables generated by online DDL operations. Only the original DDL data of the source database is synchronized. Note If you select No, the tables in the destination database may be locked.
Retry Time for Failed Connections	N/A	By default, if DTS fails to connect to the source or destination database, DTS retries within the next 720 minutes (12 hours). You can specify the retry time based on your needs. If DTS reconnects to the source and destination databases within the specified time, DTS resumes the data synchronization task. Otherwise, the data synchronization task fails.

9. Specify the primary key column and distribution column of the table that you want to synchronize to the instance.

1.Configure Source and Destination Instances in		ces in	2.Select Objects to Synchronize	3.Precheck		
	Schema	Table	Primary Key Column	Distribution Column	Definition Status(All) 👻	
	dtstestdata	customer	id	id 🔻	Defined	
	dtstestdata	order	orderid	orderid •	Defined	
	dts.migration.message.gre	eenplu Search			Total: 2 item(s), Per Page: 20 \bullet item(s) « < 1 > »	
					Cancel Previous Save Precheck	

Once The page in this step appears only if you select Initial Schema Synchronization. For more information about primary key columns and distribution columns, see Define constraints and Define table distribution.

10. In the lower-right corner of the page, click **Precheck**.

? Note

- Before you can start the data synchronization task, DTS performs a precheck. You can start the data synchronization task only after the task passes the precheck.
- If the task fails to pass the precheck, you can click the next to each failed item

to view details.

- After you troubleshoot the issues based on the causes, you can run a precheck again.
- If you do not need to troubleshoot the issues, you can ignore failed items and run a precheck again.
- 11. Close the **Precheck** dialog box after the following message is displayed: **The precheck is passed**. Then, the data synchronization task starts.
- 12. Wait until the initial synchronization is complete and the data synchronization task is in the **Synchronizing** state.

You can view the status of the data synchronization task on the Synchronization Tasks page.

Instance ID/Task Name	Status	Synchronization Details	Billing Method	Synchronization Mode(All) 👻		Actions
0	Synchronizing	Delay: 0 Milliseconds Speed: 0.00RPS/(0.000MB/s)	Pay-As-You-Go	One-Way Synchronization	Pause Task Subscription	Switch to Upgrade More
Pause Task Delete Task			Total: 1 item(s),	Per Page: 20 item(s)	« < 1	> >>
8.Instance lifecycle 8.1. Create an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to create an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

(?) **Note** You are offered a reduced price on your first purchase of an RDS instance. For more information, visit the ApsaraDB RDS promotion page.

Prerequisites

The AliyunRDSFullAccess policy is attached to the RAM user that you used to create the RDS instance. For more information, see Use RAM for resource authorization.

Procedure

- 1. Go to the ApsaraDB RDS buy page.
- 2. Configure the **Billing Method** parameter.

Billing method	Description	Benefit
Subscription	A subscription instance is an instance for which you pay an upfront fee. If you want to use an instance for a long period of time, we recommend that you select the Subscription billing method. If you select the subscription billing method, configure the Duration parameter in the lower part of the page.	In most cases, the subscription billing method is more cost- effective than the pay-as-you- go billing method for long- term usage. Alibaba Cloud provides lower prices for longer subscription periods.
Pay-As-You- Go	You are charged on an hourly basis for a pay-as- you-go instance based on your actual resource usage. If you want to use an instance for a short period of time, we recommend that you select the Pay-As-You-Go billing method. You can create a pay-as-you-go RDS instance. After you confirm that the new RDS instance meets your business requirements, you can change the billing method of the RDS instance from pay-as-you-go to subscription .	You can release a pay-as-you- go RDS instance based on your business requirements. The billing cycle of a pay-as-you-go RDS instance immediately stops after you release the instance.

? Note You can view the price in the lower-right corner of the page. The price is displayed only after you configure all required parameters.

3. Configure the **Region** parameter.

We recommend that you use an RDS instance that resides in the same region as on which your

application is deployed. If the RDS instance and the ECS instance reside in different regions, you cannot connect these instances over an internal network. In this case, these instances cannot deliver the optimal performance.

? Note

- After an RDS instance is created, you cannot change the region of the RDS instance. If you want to connect an ECS instance and an RDS instance over an internal network, make sure that the RDS instance and the ECS instance reside in the same region.
- For more information about how to view the region in which an ECS instance resides, see Get ready to use ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL.
- If your application is deployed on an on-premises server or on-premises computer, we recommend that you select a region that is near your on-premises server or on-premises computer. This way, you can use the public endpoint of the RDS instance to connect to the RDS instance from your application.

the Elastic Compute Service (ECS) instance

4. Configure the **Database Engine** parameter.

In this example, select MySQL.

We recommend that you select MySQL 8.0 or MySQL 5.7 or select the database engine version that your self-managed MySQL instance runs. The default value of this parameter is 8.0.

5. Configure the Edition parameter. The default value of this parameter is High-availability.

Edition	Description	Benefit
Basic	In RDS Basic Edition, the database system consists of only a primary RDS instance.	RDS Basic Edition is cost-effective and is suitable for learning and testing scenarios. RDS instances that run RDS Basic Edition require a long period of time to restart or recover from faults.
High- availability	This is the recommended RDS edition. In RDS High-availability Edition, the database system consists of a primary RDS instance and a secondary RDS instance. You can create read-only RDS instances and attach the read-only RDS instances to the primary RDS instance.	RDS High-availability Edition is suitable for more than 80% of business scenarios that require production environments.
Enterprise	In RDS Enterprise Edition, the database system consists of a primary RDS instance, a secondary RDS instance, and a logger RDS instance. You can create read-only RDS instances and attach the read-only RDS instances to the primary RDS instance.	RDS Enterprise Edition is suitable for financial institutions that have high requirements for reliability.

? Note

- The available RDS editions vary based on the region and database engine version that you select. If you select MySQL 5.6, Basic is not displayed.
- For more information, see Overview of ApsaraDB RDS editions.

6. Configure the **Storage Type** parameter.

Comparis on item	ESSD (recommended)	Local SSD
Scalability	 **** You can increase the storage capacity up to 32 TB. No transient connections occur during storage expansion. You can upgrade, downgrade, create, or release the RDS instance in minutes. Automatic storage expansion is supported. 	 You can increase the storage capacity up to 6 TB. Transient connections occur during storage expansion. A few hours may be required to upgrade, downgrade, create, or release the RDS instance. Automatic storage expansion is not supported.
Performa nce	 **** PL1<pl2<pl3< li=""> An enhanced SSD (ESSD) of performance level 2 (PL2) provides twice the IOPS and throughput of an ESSD of performance level 1 (PL1). An ESSD of PL3 provides 20 times the IOPS and 11 times the throughput of an ESSD of PL1. </pl2<pl3<>	****
Backup	 * * * * * A backup can be completed in minutes or seconds. The highest backup frequency is one backup every 15 minutes. 	 ★ ★ ★ A backup requires a long period of time to complete. The highest backup frequency is one backup every day.

? Note

- RDS instances that run MySQL 5.7 or MySQL 8.0 on RDS Basic Edition support only standard SSDs and ESSDs. RDS instances that run MySQL 8.0 or MySQL 5.7 on RDS Enterprise Edition support only local SSDs. RDS instances that run MySQL 5.6 or MySQL 5.5 on RDS High-availability Edition support only local SSDs. Serverless RDS instances support only standard SSDs and ESSDs.
- The available features vary based on the storage type that you select. For more information, see MySQL 8.0.
- For more information about different types of storage media, see Features.
- 7. Select the . zone
 - Select a zone.
 - No significant differences exist between the zones in the same region.
 - If the RDS instance resides in the same zone as the ECS instance on which your application is deployed, these instances can provide the optimal performance. If the RDS instance and the ECS instance reside in different zones in the same region, the performance of the RDS instance and the ECS instance is slightly lower than the performance of the RDS instance and the ECS instance that reside in the same zone.
 - Select a deployment method.
 - Multi-zone Deployment: The RDS instance and its secondary RDS instance reside in different zones to allow users to perform zone-disaster recovery. This is the recommended deployment method.
 - Single-zone Deployment: The RDS instance and its secondary RDS instance reside in the same zone.

Once If you select Basic for the Edition parameter, only the Single-zone Deployment method is supported.

8. Configure the Instance Type parameter.

Instance family	Description	Benefit	
General- purpose	A general-purpose RDS instance occupies all the allocated memory and I/O resources. A general-purpose RDS instance shares CPU and storage resources with other general-purpose RDS instances that are deployed on the same host.	General-purpose RDS instances are cost-effective.	
	A dedicated RDS instance occupies all the allocated CPU, memory, storage, and I/O resources.	A dedicated RDS instance provides higher performance and higher stability.	
Dedicated	Note The dedicated host instance family is the highest configuration of the dedicated instance family. A dedicated host RDS instance occupies all CPU, memory, storage, and I/O resources of the host on which the RDS instance is deployed.	Note An RDS instance that runs RDS Basic Edition does not support the dedicated instance family.	

i. Select an **instance family**. You can select General-purpose or Dedicated.

- ii. Select an instance type.
 - In a test environment, select an instance type that provides one or more CPU cores.
 - In a production environment, select an instance type that provides four or more CPU cores.

? Note For more information, see Primary ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance types.

Category	Dedicated	General-purpose			
	We recommend that	at you select the dedicat	ed instance family to	enjoy dedicated CPU	and memory resources that
	Instance Family	Instance Type 🥡	CPU (Cores) 🗏	Memory 🕸	Maximum Connections
2					
		4.00			
		$(1-\varepsilon_{1}) = (1-\varepsilon_{1})$			
	lines.				
		1			
Currently Selected Specification	15:				-

9. Configure the Capacity parameter.

The value range of the storage capacity varies based on the instance type and storage type that you select.

You can change the storage capacity at a step size of 5 GB.

10. Configure the following parameters. This step is required only if you select the **Subscription** billing method and the **Local SSD** storage type.

We recommend that you set the **Backup Retention After Release** parameter to **Latest** or **All**. This way, you can retrieve the data of the RDS instance if the RDS instance is released due to overdue payments and data is lost.

Capacity	The minimum increment is 5 GB The storage space of some instances with local SSDs is determined by SSDs.View all instance types.
Backup Retention After Release	🔿 None 🕒 Latest 🔿 All

11. In the lower-right corner of the page, click **Next: Instance Configuration**.



12. Configure the . Network Type

i. **Network Type**: If your application is deployed on an ECS instance, the network type of the ECS instance and the RDS instance must be the same. Otherwise, you cannot connect the ECS instance and the RDS instance over an internal network.

? Note

- For more information about how to view the network type of the ECS instance, see Get ready to use ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL.
- If you do not want to connect the ECS instance and the RDS instance over an internal network, you can select the classic network type or the VPC network type.
- Specific RDS instances do not support the classic network type.

ii. VPC and vSwitch: If you select the VPC network type, you must also select a VPC and a vSwitch. We recommend that you select the VPC of the ECS instance on which your application is deployed. If the RDS instance and the ECS instance reside in different VPCs, you cannot connect these instances over an internal network.

? Note

- For more information about how to view the VPC in which your ECS instance resides, see Get ready to use ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL.
- You can connect the RDS instance and the ECS instance over an internal network even if the instances use different vSwitches in the same VPC.

13. Configure other custom parameters. If you do not have special business requirements, you can use the default values of these parameters.

Parameter	Description
Release Protectio n	Specifies whether to enable the release protection feature. The release protection feature is used to prevent a pay-as-you-go RDS instance from being released due to incorrect operations. For more information, see Enable or disable the release protection feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
Minor Version Upgrade Policy	 The policy based on which the minor engine version of the RDS instance is updated. Automatic Upgrade: ApsaraDB RDS automatically updates the minor engine version of the RDS instance to the most recent version during the scheduled maintenance window. For more information about how to change the maintenance window, see Set the maintenance window of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. For more information about how to change the upgrade time, see Manage scheduled events. Manual Upgrade: You must manually update the minor engine version of the RDS instance on the Basic Information page. If you do not want to use the latest minor engine version, select Select Minor Version. Then, you can select a minor engine version from the drop-down list that is displayed.
Resource Group	The resource group to which the RDS instance belongs. You can use the default resource group or select a custom resource group based on your business requirements.

14. In the lower-right corner of the page, click Next: Confirm Order.

 Previous:Basic Configurations	Next:Confirm Order	Add to Cart

15. Confirm the configuration of the RDS instance in the Parameters section, configure the Purchase Plan and Duration parameters, read and select Terms of Service, and then click Pay Now. You must configure the Duration parameter only if you select the subscription billing method for the RDS instance.

Note If you select the subscription billing method for the RDS instance, we recommend that you select **Auto-Renew Enabled**. This way, you can prevent interruptions on your application even if you forget to renew the RDS instance.

The **"Congratulations."** or **"The service is activated**" message is displayed in the ApsaraDB RDS console.

16. View the RDS instance.

Go to the Instances page. In the top navigation bar, select the region where the RDS instance resides. Then, find the RDS instance based on the **Creation Time** parameter.

ApsaraDB RDS requires 1 to 10 minutes to create an RDS instance. You can refresh the page to view the RDS instance that you created.

Instance ID/Name	Instance Status	Creation Time	Instance Role $\ \begin{tabular}{lllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Database Engine 🏆
	🤨 Creating	09:54:56	Primary Instance	MySQL 8.0

What to do next

Create databases and accounts for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

FAQ

Why am I unable to find the RDS instance that I created?

Possible cause	Description	Suggestion
Incorrect region	The RDS instance does not reside in the region that you selected.	In the top navigation bar, select the region where the RDS instance resides. Then, you can find the RDS instance.
Insufficient resources	The zone that you selected cannot provide sufficient resources. If the RDS instance cannot be created, you can go to the Orders page in the Billing Management console to view the refunded fee.	We recommend that you select a different zone and try again.
RAM policies that do not allow users to create unencrypte d RDS instances	 RAM policies that do not allow users to create unencrypted RDS instances are attached to RAM users. If you use the credentials of a RAM user to create an RDS instance that uses local SSDs, the RDS instance cannot be created. When you create an RDS instance that uses local SSDs, you cannot enable disk encryption. If you use the credentials of a RAM user to create an RDS instance that uses standard SSDs or ESSDs and you do not enable disk encryption for the RDS instance, the RDS instance cannot be created. For more information, see Use RAM policies to manage the permissions of RAM users on ApsaraDB RDS instances. 	When you create an RDS instance, select the standard SSD or ESSD storage type, select Disk Encryption, set the Key parameter, and then try again.

References

- For more information about how to create an RDS instance by calling an API operation, see Create an instance.
- For more information about how to create an RDS instance that runs a different database engine, see the following topics:
 - Create an ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server instance
 - Create an ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL instance
 - Create an ApsaraDB RDS for MariaDB TX instance

8.2. Restart an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to manually restart an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. This applies if the number of connections exceeds the specified threshold or a performance issue occurs.

Impacts

A restart causes a network interruption that lasts about 30 seconds. Before you restart your RDS instance, we recommend that you make proper service arrangements. Proceed with caution.

(?) Note The Basic Edition does not provide a secondary RDS instance as a hot standby for the primary RDS instance. If the primary RDS instance unexpectedly exits, your database service may be unavailable for a long period of time. If you change the specifications or upgrade the database engine version of the primary RDS instance, your database service may also be unavailable for a long period of time. If you can availability, we recommend that you do not select the Basic Edition. For example, you can select the High-availability Edition. Some primary RDS instances support the upgrade from the Basic Edition to the High-availability Edition. For more information, see Upgrade an RDS instance to the High-availability Edition.

Procedure

1.

2. In the upper-right corner of the Basic Information page, click **Rest art Instance**.

|--|

3. In the message that appears, click OK.

Related operations

Operation	Description
Restart an ApsaraDB for RDS instance	Restarts an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

8.3. Renew instance

8.3.1. Manually renew an ApsaraDB RDS for

MySQL instance

This topic describes how to manually renew an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance that uses the subscription billing method. We recommend that you manually renew your RDS instance before the expiration date. This allows you to prevent service interruptions and data losses.

For more information about the impacts that are caused by subscription expiration, see Unlock or rebuild an expired or overdue ApsaraDB RDS instance.

Note RDS instances that use the pay-as-you-go billing method do not expire and therefore do not require renewal.

You can manually renew your RDS instance before your RDS instance expires. You can also manually renew your RDS instance within 15 days after it expires.

Method 1: Renew an RDS instance in the ApsaraDB RDS console

Renew a single RDS instance

1.

- 2. In the Status section of the page that appears, click Renew on the right.
- 3. On the **Renew** page, configure the **Duration** parameter. You are offered lower prices for longer subscription periods.
- 4. Read and select Terms of Service, click Pay Now, and then complete the payment.

Renew multiple RDS instances at a time

1.

- 2. Select the RDS instances that you want to renew and click Renew below the instance list.
- 3. In the **Renew** dialog box, confirm the selected RDS instances and click **OK** to go to the **Renewal** page.
- 4. On the Manual tab, select the RDS instances and click Batch Renew in the lower part of the page.
- 5. Configure the **Duration** parameter of each RDS instance, click **Pay**, and then complete the payment.

Method 2: Renew the instance in the Billing Management console

- 1. Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console.
- 2. In the top navigation bar, choose Expenses > Renewal Management.

All Resources 👻 China (Hangzh 💌	Q Search		Expenses	Tickets
ApsaraDB RDS / Instances		Renewal M	anagement	
Instances		User Cente	er	Log On te

- 3. On the **Manual** tab of the Renewal page, find the RDS instances that you want to renew. You can renew one or more RDS instances at a time.
 - Renew a single RDS instance

ycle

a. Find the RDS instance that you want to renew and click **Renew** in the Actions column.

(?) Note If the RDS instance is displayed on the Auto or Nonrenewal tab, you can click Enable Manual Renewal in the Actions column and then click OK in the message that appears to manually renew the RDS instance.

- b. On the page that appears, configure the Duration parameter, click Pay Now, and then complete the payment.
- Renew multiple RDS instances at a time
 - a. Select the RDS instances that you want to renew and click Batch Renew in the lower part of the page.
 - b. Configure the **Duration** parameter of each RDS instance, click **Pay**, and then complete the payment.

Enable auto-renewal for an RDS instance

After automatic renewal is enabled for an RDS instance, you do not need to renew the RDS instance on a regular basis. This allows you to prevent service interruptions that are caused by subscription expiration. For information, see Enable auto-renewal for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

8.3.2. Enable auto-renewal for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to enable auto-renewal for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance that uses the subscription billing method. If you enable auto-renewal for your RDS instance, you do not need to manually renew your subscription or be concerned about service interruptions caused by subscription expiration.

If do not renew your RDS instance before the expiration date, your RDS instance expires. As a result, your workloads are interrupted and your data may be lost. For more information, see Unlock or rebuild an expired or overdue ApsaraDB for RDS instance.

Onte RDS instances that use the pay-as-you-go billing method do not expire and therefore do not require renewal.

Precautions

• If you enable auto-renewal, the first time when the system deducts the subscription fee from your Alibaba Cloud account comes at 08:00:00 three days before the expiration date. If the deduction fails, the system attempts to deduct the fee every day for the next two days.

Onte Make sure that the balance of your Alibaba Cloud account is sufficient. Otherwise, the renewal fails. If all the three automatic fee deduction attempts fail, you must manually renew your RDS instance before the expiration date. This allows you to avoid service interruptions and data losses.

 If you manually renew your RDS instance before the system starts automatic fee deduction attempts, the system will automatically renew the instance next time before the expiration date.

• After you enable auto-renewal, it takes effect the next day. If your RDS instance is due to expire the next day, renew it manually to avoid service interruptions. For more information, see Manually renew an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Enable auto-renewal when you purchase an RDS instance

Note If you select auto-renewal when you purchase an RDS instance, the system automatically renews the RDS instance based on the specified renewal cycle. The renewal cycle is one month or one year. For example, if you select auto-renewal when you purchase an RDS instance with a six-month subscription, the system automatically renews the RDS instance with a one-month subscription each time the instance is due to expire.

When you purchase a subscription RDS instance, select Auto-Renew Enabled.

		-	
Duration 🕐	1 Months	2 Months	3 Months
			-
	4 Year <mark>,Discounts</mark>	5 Year <mark>, Discounts</mark>	More 🔻
	If you purchase an annua procedure.	al subscription and termir	nate the subscription bef
	Auto-Renew Enabled]	

Enable auto-renewal after you purchase an RDS instance

(?) Note After you enable auto-renewal for a created RDS instance, the system automatically renews the RDS instance based on the selected renewal cycle. For example, if you select a three-month renewal cycle, you are charged for a three-month subscription in each renewal cycle.

1. Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console.

2. In the top navigation bar, choose Expenses > Renewal Management.

All Resources 👻 China (Hangzh 💌	Q Search	E	xpenses	Tickets
ApsaraDB RDS / Instances		Renewal Mana	agement	
Instances		User Center		Log On tr
instances				Log on a

- 3. On the **Manual** or **Nonrenewal** tab, specify the filter conditions to find the RDS instance for which you want to enable auto-renewal. You can enable auto-renewal for one or more RDS instances at a time.
 - Enable auto-renewal for a single RDS instance.
 - a. Find the RDS instance and in the Actions column click Enable Auto Renewal.

ApsaraDB for RDS	rm-1	China (Hangzhou)	17 Days	Subscription	2020-05-21 10:06:31 2020-07-24 00:00:00	Renew Enable Auto Renewal Nonrenewal
ApsaraDB for RDS	m-1	China (Hangzhou)	47 Days	Subscription	2020-05-20 16:03:49 2020-08-23 00:00:00	Renew Enable Auto Renewal Nonrenewal

b. In the dialog box that appears, specify the **Unified Auto Renewal Cycle** parameter and click **Auto Renew**.

The following1 instances will be automatically renewed after expiration. The unit	form Unified Auto Renewal Cycle: is set to 1 Month	~
Instance ID/Name	Expire At	Expire Within
rm-1 / -	2020-07-24 00:00:00	17 Days
		Auto Renew Activate Later

• Enable auto-renewal for multiple RDS instances.

Select the RDS instances and click Enable Auto Renewal below the instance list.

Manual 4	Auto <mark>6</mark>	Nonrenewal			
- Instanc	e			Instance ID/Name	Database type
Apsara	DB for RDS			rm-	
Apsara	DB for RDS			rm-	
 Apsara 	DB for RDS			rm-	-
 Apsara 	DB for RDS			rm-	-
 2 items se 	lected Bulk Re	newal Enable A	uto Renewal	Set as Nonrenewal	Export Renewal Bill

• In the dialog box that appears, specify the **Unified Auto Renewal Cycle** parameter and click **Auto Renew**.

Enable Auto Renewal		X					
1. After you enable auto renewal, the service fee is deducted 9 days before the instance expires. Ensure that the payment account balance is sufficient. If your instance expires on the next day, please manually renew the instance. 2. If your manually renew the instance before the fee deduction date, the system automatically renews the instance based on its new validity period. Auto renewal takes effect on the next day after you enable it. Vouchers can be used in renewal. 3. Auto renewal takes effect on the next day after you enable it. Vouchers can be used in renewal.							
The following2 instances will be automatically renewed	d after expiration. The uniform Unified Auto Renewal Cycle: is set to 1 Month ~						
Instance ID/Name	Expire At	Expire Within					
rm-' 3 / -	2020-08-23 00:00:00	47 Days					
rm-3 / -	2021-05-22 00:00:00	319 Days					
		Auto Renew Activate Later					

Change the auto-renewal cycle

- 1. Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console.
- 2. In the top navigation bar, choose Expenses > Renewal Management.

All Resources 🔻 China (Hangzh 💌	Q Search	Expenses	Tickets
ApsaraD8 RDS / Instances		Renewal Management	
Instances		User Center	Log On to
			Log on t

3. On the **Auto** tab, specify filter conditions to find the RDS instance for which you want to enable auto-renewal. Then, select the RDS instance and click **Edit Auto Renewal** in the Actions column.

Manual 4 Auto 6 Nonrenewal								
Instance	Instance ID/Name	Database type	Region	Expire Within	Billing Method	Start/End At	Renewal Period	Actions
ApsaraDB for RDS	rm-3		China (Hong Kong)	4 Days	Subscription	2020-06-10 14:00:29 2020-07-11 00:00:00	1 Month	Renew Edit Auto Renewal Nonrenewal Enable Manual Renewal

4. In the dialog box that appears, change the auto-renewal cycle and click OK.

Disable auto-renewal

- 1. Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console.
- 2. In the top navigation bar, choose Expenses > Renewal Management.

All Resources 👻 China (Hangzh 💌	Q Search		Expenses	Tickets
ApsaraDB RDS / Instances		Renewal	Management	
Instanços		User Cen	nter	1 0 1
listances				r Log On to

3. On the **Auto** tab, specify filter conditions to find the RDS instance for which you want to enable auto-renewal. Then, select the RDS instance and click **Enable Manual Renewal** in the Actions column.

Manual 4 Auto 6 Nonrenewal								
Instance	Instance ID/Name	Database type	Region	Expire Within	Billing Method	Start/End At	Renewal Period	Actions
ApsaraDB for RDS	m	-	China (Hong Kong)	4 Days	Subscription	2020-06-10 14:00:29 2020-07-11 00:00:00	1 Month	Renew Edit Auto Renewal Nonrenewal Enable Manual Renewal

4. In the message that appears, click OK.

Related operations

Operation	Description			
	Creates an ApsaraDB RDS instance.			
Create an instance	Note You can call this operation to enable auto-renewal for an RDS instance that you want to create.			
	Renews an ApsaraDB RDS instance.			
Manually renew an ApsaraDB for RDS instance	Note You can call this operation to enable auto-renewal for a created RDS instance.			

8.4. Release or unsubscribe from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to release a pay-as-you-go ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance and how to unsubscribe from a subscription ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Precautions

• After you release or unsubscribe from an RDS instance, the RDS instance and its data are immediately deleted. Before you release or unsubscribe from an RDS instance, we recommend that you back up the RDS instance and download the required backup files. For more information, see Enable automatic backups for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance and Download the backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

? Note

- If an RDS instance runs the RDS Basic Edition or High-availability Edition with standard SSDs or enhanced SSDs (ESSDs), you cannot download the backup files of the RDS instance.
- If an RDS instance is equipped with local SSDs, you can use the Backup Retention Policy After Release parameter in the ApsaraDB RDS console to specify which backup files you want to retain after you release or unsubscribe from the RDS instance. This way, after you release or unsubscribe from the RDS instance, the data backup files of the RDS instance are not deleted. You can download the data backup files to your computer. For more information, see Retain data backup files after instance release.
- If you release or unsubscribe from the last read-only RDS instance of a primary RDS instance, you must disable the read/write splitting feature for the primary RDS instance. For more information, see Disable read/write splitting for an RDS MySQL instance.
- After you release or unsubscribe from an RDS instance, ApsaraDB RDS moves the RDS instance to the recycle bin if the RDS instance meets specific requirements. For more information, see Manage ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances in the recycle bin
- After you release or unsubscribe from a primary RDS instance, the subscription read-only RDS instances and pay-as-you-go read-only RDS instances of the primary RDS instance are automatically deleted. In addition, the payments for the subscription read-only RDS instances of the primary RDS instance are refunded.

Release a pay-as-you-go RDS instance

- 1. Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Instances**. In the top navigation bar, select the region where the RDS instance resides.
- 2. Use one of the following methods to open the Release Instance message:
 - Find the RDS instance. In the **Actions** column, choose **More > Release Instance**.

Tags	Actions
+Add tags	Manage performance more▼
+Add tags	Manage Data Import <u>more</u> ▼
+Add tags	Man Release Instance
+Add tags	Edit Tag Man

- a. Find the RDS instance and click the instance ID.
 - b. On the Basic Information page, click Release Instance.

Status	Subscription Billing	Release Instance
Status	✓ Running	
Creation Time	Oct 15, 2020, 14:35:4	19

3. In the message that appears, click **Confirm**.

Unsubscribe from a subscription RDS instance

If you want to unsubscribe from an RDS instance, submit a .

FAQ

• If I release or unsubscribe from a read-only RDS instance, are my workloads interrupted?

Yes, if you release or unsubscribe from a read-only RDS instance, your workloads on the read-only RDS instance are interrupted. Before you release or unsubscribe from a read-only RDS instance, we recommend that you set the read weight of the read-only RDS instance to 0. For more information, see Modify the latency threshold and read weights of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances.

(?) Note The cached connections to the read-only RDS instance remain valid. If you want to route the read requests over the cached connections to the other read-only RDS instances, you must establish new connections.

• After I release or unsubscribe from my RDS instance, how do I retrieve the data of the RDS instance?

If your RDS instance is configured to retain backup files after you release or unsubscribe from your RDS instance, you can go to the **Backup for Deleted Instances** tab of the Backups page in the ApsaraDB RDS console to restore the data of your RDS instance. For more information, see Enable the automatic backup feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Related operations

Operation	Description
Release instance	Releases a pay-as-you-go ApsaraDB RDS instance. You cannot unsubscribe from a subscription ApsaraDB RDS instance by calling an API operation.

8.5. Manage ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances in the recycle bin

This topic describes how to manage the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances that are moved to the recycle bin. You can unlock, rebuild, or destroy these instances in the recycle bin.

Functionality

All ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances that are manually released, automatically released due to expiration, or payment refunded are moved to the recycle bin. An RDS instance is not moved to the recycle bin in the following scenarios:

- The RDS instance is payment refunded or manually released within seven days after the instance is created.
- The RDS instance is a pay-as-you-go RDS instance and is automatically released due to overdue payments.
- The RDS instance runs the RDS Cluster Edition or is a read-only RDS instance.

Unlock an RDS instance whose payment is overdue

If a pay-as-you-go RDS instance is locked due to overdue payments, log on to the Billing Management console. Then, verify that a valid payment method is specified for your Alibaba Cloud account.

Unlock an RDS instance that has expired

If a subscription RDS instance is locked due to expiration, you can renew the instance in the recycle bin within the next 15 days. If you do not renew the instance within 15 days, the instance is released.

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Locked Instances**. In the top navigation bar, select the region where the RDS instance resides.
- 3. Find the RDS instance and click **Unlock** to renew the RDS instance.

After the RDS instance is renewed, it is immediately restored to normal.

Rebuild an RDS instance

After a subscription RDS instance is automatically released due to expiration or a pay-as-you-go RDS instance that is created seven days ago or earlier is manually released, the backup files of the instance are retained for eight days. During the eight-day retention period, you can restore the data of the backup files to a new RDS instance by using the rebuild feature. After the eight-day retention period elapses, only the backup files that meet specified conditions are retained and all the other backup files are deleted.

? Note

- The backup files that can be retained after the eight-day retention period elapses must meet the following conditions:
 - The instance runs MySQL, PostgreSQL, or SQL Server, and the cross-region backup retention period that you specify has not elapsed. In this case, the cross-region backup files of the instance are retained within the specified cross-region backup retention period.
 - The instance runs MySQL, and you have specified to retain the backup files of the instance even after the instance is released. In this case, the backup files of the instance are retained. For more information, see Enable the automatic backup feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- After an RDS instance is rebuilt, the new RDS instance does not inherit the ID and endpoint of the original RDS instance. However, you can still use the endpoint of the original RDS instance to make sure that your applications can connect with the new RDS instance. For more information about how to modify the endpoint, see Change the internal or public endpoint and port number of an RDS instance.
- 1. Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click Locked Instances. In the top navigation bar, select the region where the RDS instance resides.
- 3. Find the RDS instance and click Recreate Instance.

By default, ApsaraDB RDS creates an RDS instance that has the same specifications in the same zone as the original RDS instance. You can also create an RDS instance that has different specifications in a different zone than the original RDS instance.

Destroy an RDS instance

If an RDS instance is locked due to overdue payments or expiration, you can destroy the RDS instance in the recycle bin.

• Warning After you destroy an RDS instance, only the cross-region backup files of the instance are retained. All regular data backup files, archived backup files, and log backup files of the instance are destroyed. Proceed with caution when you destroy an RDS instance. For more information about cross-region backup files, see Enable cross-region backups for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Locked Instances**. In the top navigation bar, select the region where the RDS instance resides.
- 3. Find the instance and click **Destroy**.

References

- Unlock or rebuild an expired or overdue ApsaraDB RDS instance
- Release or unsubscribe from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

9.Database connection 9.1. Use a database client or the CLI to connect to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to configure IP address whitelists and use a database client or the CLI to connect to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Prerequisites

The operations that are described in the following topics are complete:

- Create an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance
- Create databases and accounts for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

Step 1: Check whether your application can connect to the RDS instance over an internal network

- 1. View the region of the instance on which your application is deployed. For more information, see Get ready to use ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL. Elastic Compute Service (ECS)network type
- 2. View the region and network type of the RDS instance.

Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console and go to the Instances page. In the top navigation bar, select the region where the RDS instance resides. Then, find the RDS instance and click the instance ID. On the page that appears, you can view the region, network type, and virtual private cloud (VPC) ID of the RDS instance.

🛱 Workbench	📕 All Resou	irces 🗸 📔	China (Hang	_{gzhou)} × Regio	Search		Expenses
ApsaraDB RDS / Insta	nces						
Instances						Log On to Database	Data Import
Basic Information	Tags	High-performan	ce Edition				
Create Instance ID/Name V Please Enter Content Q Please select the label V							
Instance I)/Name	Instance Status	Creation Time	Instance Role $\ \begin{tabular}{lllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Database Engine	Billing Method Ne	twork Type 🏾
18. au						Netwo	rk type
-	-	- Annie	8.		See.	VP vp bp	C c- 1

- 3. Check whether the ECS instance and the RDS instance meet the following conditions for communication over an internal network:
 - i. The ECS instance and the RDS instance reside in the same region.

ii. The ECS instance and the RDS instance reside in the same type of network. If the ECS instance and the RDS instance both reside in VPCs, these instances must reside in the same VPC.

Note If one of the preceding conditions is not met, the ECS instance cannot communicate with the RDS instance over an internal network.

Step 2: Configure IP address whitelists for the RDS instance

- 1.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Data Security**.
- 3. View the network isolation mode of the RDS instance.

(?) Note Existing RDS instances may run in enhanced whitelist mode. New RDS instances run in standard whitelist mode.

Standard whitelist mode

Whitelist Settings	Includes Include 10
Create Whitelist	Network isolation mode standard whitelist
Enhanced whitelist mod	e
Whitelist Settings	Instrine 10Ad II
Create Whitelist	Network isolation mode enhanced whitelist

4. Click Modify to the right of the IP address whitelist named default.

? Note	You can also click Create Whitelist to create an IP address whitelist.
No. 100	Create Whitelist • Network isolation mode: standard whitelist. The following whitelists contain IP addresses from both classic networks and VPCs.
hits of tension	V default
	127.0.0.1
Data Security	Note: You can specify CIDR blocks in the IP address whitelist, such as X.X.X./X. The IP address 127.0.0.1 indicates that no IP addresses are allowed to access the RDS instance. Whitelist Setting Description

5. Add the IP address of the server on which your application is deployed to the default IP address whitelist.

The server can communicate with the RDS instance only after you add the IP address of the server to the default IP address whitelist.

* IP Addresses	

The following table describes various connection scenarios. You can obtain the required IP address

based on your connection scenario and add the IP address to an IP address whitelist of the RDS instance. Obtain IP addresses

Connection scenario	IP address to be obtained	How to obtain the IP address
the conditions for communicatio n over an internal network	The private IP address of the ECS instance	i Log on to the ECS concole and go to the lost approximate
You want to connect to the RDS instance from an ECS instance. The ECS instance and the RDS instance do not meet the conditions for communicatio n over an internal network.	The public IP address of the ECS instance	 i. Log on to the ECS console and go to the Instances page. ii. In the top navigation bar, select the region where the ECS instance resides. iii. View the public IP address and private IP address of the ECS instance.
You want to connect to the RDS instance from an on- premises device.	The public IP address of the on- premises device	On the on-premises device, use a search engine such as Google to search for IP. Note The IP address that you obtain by using this method may be inaccurate. For more information about how to obtain the accurate IP address of an on-premises device, see Why am I unable to connect to my ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL or ApsaraDB RDS for MariaDB instance from a local server over the Internet?

? Note

- If you add multiple IP addresses and CIDR blocks to an IP address whitelist, you must separate the IP addresses and CIDR blocks with commas (,) and leave no spaces before and after each comma.
- You can add a maximum of 1,000 IP addresses and CIDR blocks in total for each RDS instance. If you want to add a large number of IP addresses, we recommend that you merge the IP addresses into CIDR blocks, such as 10.10.10.0/24.
- If an RDS instance runs in standard whitelist mode, you do not need to take note of special considerations when you configure IP address whitelists for the RDS instance. If an RDS instance runs in enhanced whitelist mode, you must take note of the following considerations when you configure IP address whitelists for the RDS instance:
 - Add public IP addresses or the private IP addresses of -hosted ECS instances to IP address whitelists of the classic network type. classic network
 - Add the private IP addresses of VPC-hosted ECS instances to IP address whitelists of the VPC network type.

6. Click OK.

Step 3: Connect to the RDS instance

To connect to the RDS instance by using the CLI, perform the following steps:

1. Log on to the server from which you want to connect to the RDS instance. For example, the server can be an ECS instance or an on-premises device.

(?) Note For more information about how to log on to an ECS instance, see the "Connect to an instance" section in Create and manage an ECS instance by using the ECS console (express version).

2. Run the following command:

```
mysql -hEndpoint -PPort number -uUsername -p //Take note that the uppercase letter
P precedes the lowercase letter p.
```

• Endpoint and port number: Enter the endpoint and port number that are used to connect to the RDS instance.

Connection scenario	Endpoint to be obtained	How to obtain the endpoint
You want to connect to the RDS instance from an ECS instance. The ECS instance and the RDS instance meet the conditions for communicati on over an internal network. For more information, see the "Step 1: Check whether your application can connect to the RDS instance over an internal network" section of this topic.	The internal endpoint of the RDS instance	 A b. In the Basic Information section of the page that appears, click See Details to the right of the Network Type parameter to view the endpoint and port number that are used to connect to the RDS instance.
You want to connect to the RDS instance from an ECS instance. The ECS instance and the RDS instance do not meet the conditions for communicati on over an internal network.	The public endpoint of the RDS instance	 Note Before you can view the endpoint and port number that are used to connect to the RDS instance, you must configure IP address whitelists for the RDS instance. A public endpoint is displayed only after you click Apply for Public Endpoint to apply for a public endpoint for the RDS instance.

Connection scenario	Endpoint to be obtained	How to obtain the endpoint
Connect to the RDS instance from an on- premises device.		

• Username and password: Obtain the username and password of the account that is used to connect to the RDS instance from the page. Accounts

Example

root@ Enter password:	-> mysql -hr .mysql.rds.aliyuncs.com -P3306 -u -p
Successful co	innection
Welcome to t Your MySQL o Server versi	the MySQL monitor. Commands end with ; or ∖g. connection id is 51325 ion: 8.0.18 Source distribution
Ontential Note the instruct	If connection errors occur, you can troubleshoot the errors by following ions provided in Common connection errors .

To connect to the RDS instance by using a database client, perform the following steps:

You can use a general-purpose MySQL client to connect to the RDS instance. In this example, MySQL Workbench is used. The methods of using other database clients to connect to the RDS instance are similar.

- 1. Go to the MySQL Community Downloads page, select the MySQL Workbench software package that can be used with your operating system, and then click **Download**.
- 2. Install MySQL Workbench.
- 3. Start MySQL Workbench and choose Database > Connect to Database.
- 4. Enter the information that is used to connect to the RDS instance.

📉 Connect to Dat	abase	
Stored Connection:		~
Connection Method:	Standard (TCP/IP)	~
Parameters SSL	Advanced	
Hostname:	rm-bp and a second seco	Name or IP ac TCP/IP port.
Username:	duhu	Name of the ι
Password:	Store in Vault Clear	The user's pa not set.
Default Schema:		The schema t blank to selec

• **Host name** and **Port**: Enter the endpoint and port number that are used to connect to the RDS instance.

Connection scenario	Endpoint to be obtained	How to obtain the endpoint
You want to connect to the RDS instance from an ECS instance. The ECS instance and the RDS instance meet the conditions for communicati on over an internal network. For more information, see the "Step 1: Check whether your application can connect to the RDS instance over an internal network" section of this topic.	The internal endpoint of the RDS instance	 a. b. In the Basic Information section of the page that appears, click See Details to the right of the Network Type parameter to view the endpoint and port number that are used to connect to the RDS instance.
You want to connect to the RDS instance from an ECS instance. The ECS instance and the RDS instance do not meet the conditions for communicati on over an internal network.	The public endpoint of the RDS instance	 A public endpoint is displayed only after you click Apply for Public Endpoint to apply for a public endpoint for the RDS instance. Database Connection Switch VSwitch Change Endpoint Apply for Public Endpoint Network Type VPC(VPC- Internal Endpoint Configure WhitelistConfigure a whitelist first.

Connection scenario	Endpoint to be obtained	How to obtain the endpoint
Connect to the RDS instance from an on- premises device.		

• **Username** and **Password**: Obtain the username and password of the account that is used to connect to the RDS instance from the page. Accounts

Error message	Cause and solution
mysql command not found	 MySQL is not installed. Run the following commands to install MySQL: If you use a CentOS operating system, run the yum install mysql command. If you use an Ubuntu operating system, run the apt-get update command and then the apt install mysql-server command.
SSL connection error: SSL is required but the server doesn't support it	You are using the latest version of MySQL Workbench. In this version, standard TCP/IP connections require SSL encryption. However, the connected server does not support SSL encryption. In this case, you can download an earlier version of MySQL Workbench to establish regular connections.
Can't connect to MySQL server on 'rm- bp1xxxxxxxxxxxx.mysql.rds.aliyuncs.com'(10060) Cannot Connect to Database Server Your connection attempt failed for user 'xx" to the MySQL server	 In most cases, this error occurs because the IP address whitelists that you configured are inappropriate. For more information, see the "Step 2: Configure IP address whitelists for the RDS instance section of this topic. In a few cases, this error occurs because the RDS instance and the ECS instance do not meet the but you attempt to connect to the internal endpoint of the RDS instance. conditions for communication over an internal network
Access denied for user 'xxxxx'@'xxxxx'(using password:YES)	This error occurs because the username and password that you entered are incorrect. You can obtain the correct username and password from the page. Accounts
Unknown MySQL server host 'xxxxxxxx'(11001)	This error occurs because the endpoint that you entered is invalid. Valid endpoints are in the rm- xxxxxx.mysql.rds.aliyuncs.com format.

Common connection errors

References

- For more information about how to troubleshoot connection errors, see What do I do if I cannot connect an ECS instance to an ApsaraDB for RDS instance?
- For more information about how to connect to an RDS instance in a more convenient and efficient manner, see Use DMS to log on to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- For more information about how to connect to an RDS instance that runs a different database engine, see the following topics:
 - Connect to an ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server instance
 - Connect to an ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL instance
 - Connect to an ApsaraDB RDS for MariaDB TX instance

9.2. Apply for or release a public endpoint for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

ApsaraDB RDS supports two types of endpoints: internal endpoints and public endpoints. By default, you are provided with an internal endpoint that is used to connect to your ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. If you want to connect to your RDS instance over the Internet, you must apply for a public endpoint.

For more information about how to apply for or release public endpoints for RDS instances that run other database engines, see the following topics:

- Apply for or release a public endpoint for an ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server instance
- Apply for or release a public endpoint for an ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL instance
- Apply for or release a public endpoint for an ApsaraDB RDS for MariaDB TX instance

Internal and public endpoints

Endpoint type	Description
	• An internal endpoint is provided by default. You do not need to apply for this endpoint. In addition, you cannot release this endpoint. However, you can change the network type of your RDS instance.
Internal endpoint	 If an Elastic Compute Service (ECS) instance resides in the same region and has the same network type as your RDS instance, these instances can communicate over an internal network. If your application is deployed on such an ECS instance, you do not need to apply for a public endpoint. For more information, see Change the network type of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
	• For security and performance purposes, we recommend that you connect to your RDS instance by using the internal endpoint.

Endpoint type	Description
	 You must manually apply for a public endpoint. You can release this endpoint if it is no longer required. If you cannot connect to your RDS instance by using the internal endpoint, you must apply for a public endpoint. This includes the following scenarios: Connect to your RDS instance from an ECS instance that resides in a different region or has a different network type from your RDS instance. For more information, see Change the network type of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. Connect to your RDS instance from a device that resides outside Alibaba Cloud.
Public endpoint	 Note You are not charged for the public endpoint or the traffic that is consumed. If you connect to your RDS instance by using the public endpoint, security is compromised. Proceed with caution. We recommend that you migrate your application to an ECS instance that resides in the same region and has the same network type as your RDS instance. This allows you to connect to your RDS instance by using the internal endpoint. The connection expedites transmission and improves security.

Procedure

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Database Connection**.
- 3. Apply for or release a public endpoint for your RDS instance:
 - If you have not applied for a public endpoint, you can click Apply for Public Endpoint.
 - If you have applied for a public endpoint, you can click Release Public Endpoint.
- 4. In the message that appears, click **OK**.

FAQ

• Can I change the endpoints and ports of my RDS instance?

No, you cannot change the endpoints of your RDS instance. You can change the prefixes of the endpoints. In addition, you can change the ports of your RDS instance. For more information, see View and change the internal and public endpoints and port numbers of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

• Can I configure the endpoints of my RDS instances to static IP addresses?

No, you cannot configure the endpoints of your RDS instance to static IP addresses. Both primary/secondary switchovers and specification changes may cause changes to the IP addresses. Therefore, we recommend that you connect to your RDS instance by using an endpoint. This allows you to minimize the impact on your workloads and relieves the need to modify the configuration data on your application.

• How do I connect to my RDS instance by using the public endpoint?

For more information, see Use a database client or the CLI to connect to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Related operations

Operation	Description
Apply for a public endpoint	Applies for a public endpoint for an ApsaraDB RDS instance.
Release a public endpoint	Releases the public endpoint of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

9.3. Use DMS to log on to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to log on to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance by using Data Management (DMS).

Prerequisites

An Alibaba Cloud account or a RAM user that has relevant permissions on your RDS instance is prepared. For more information about how to apply for permissions, see Permission management.

Context

DMS offers an integrated solution that supports data management, schema management, server management, user authorization, security audit, trend analysis, data tracking, business intelligence (BI) charting, and performance analysis and optimization.

Procedure

1.

- 2. In the upper-right corner of the page that appears, click Log On to Database to go to the RDS Database Logon page of the DMS console.
- 3. In the Log on to Database Instance dialog box, enter the username and password of the account that is used for the logon and click Login.

? Note

- The account used for the logon must have permissions on the required database. Otherwise, the required database is not displayed in the left-side navigation pane. For more information about how to modify the permissions of an account, see Modify the permissions of a standard account on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- For more information about how to create an account, see Create databases and accounts for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- 4. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Instances Connected**, click the ID of your RDS instance, and then double-click the name of the specified database to switch to that database.

Note You can also log on to the DMS console and add your RDS instance to DMS. Then, you can switch to the specified database of your RDS instance in the DMS console. For more information, see Register an ApsaraDB instance.

9.4. Use an application to connect to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to connect to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance by using a Java, Python, or C application.

Parameter description

The following table describes the parameters in the sample code.

Parameter	Description
Host	 The internal or public endpoint of the RDS instance. If the application runs on an Elastic Compute Service (ECS) instance that resides in the same region and has the same network type as the RDS instance, use the internal endpoint. For example, if the ECS and RDS instances both reside in virtual private clouds (VPCs) of the China (Hangzhou) region, you can use the internal endpoint to establish a secure and efficient connection. In the other scenarios, use the public endpoint. For more information about how to view the internal and public endpoints and port numbers of an RDS instance, see View and change the internal and public endpoints and points and port numbers of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
Port	The port number of the RDS instance. If you want to connect to the RDS instance over an internal network, enter the internal port number of the RDS instance. If you want to connect to the RDS instance over the Internet, enter the public port number of the RDS instance.
myDatabase	The name of the destination database on the RDS instance.
myUsername	The username of the account that is used to connect to the RDS instance.
myPassword	The password of the preceding account.

Sample code

• Java sample code

```
import java.sql.Connection;
import java.sql.DriverManager;
import java.sql.ResultSet;
import java.sql.Statement;
public class DatabaseConnection
{
   public static void main(String args[]) {
       String connectionUrl= "jdbc:mysql://<Host>:<Port>/<myDatabase>";
        ResultSet resultSet;
       try (Connection connection=DriverManager.getConnection(connectionUrl,"<myUsername
>","<myPassword>");
            Statement statement = connection.createStatement()) {
            String selectSql = "SELECT * FROM `courses`";
                                                                     //Enter the SQL stat
ement that you want to execute.
           resultSet = statement.executeQuery(selectSql);
            while (resultSet.next()) {
                System.out.println(resultSet.getString("name"));
            }
        }
       catch (SQLException e) {
           e.printStackTrace();
        }
    }
}
```

• Python sample code

```
import pymysql
connection = pymysql.connect(host='<Host>',
                      port=<Port>,
                      user='<myUsername>',
                      passwd='<myPassword>',
                      db='<myDatabase>')
try:
   with connection.cursor() as cursor:
       sql = "SELECT * FROM `courses`"
                                        //Enter the SQL statement that you want to
execute.
       cursor.execute(sql)
       for result in cursor:
            print(result)
finally:
   connection.close()
```

• C sample code:

```
#include <stdio.h>
#include <mysql.h>
#include <string.h>
void main(void)
{
   MYSQL *t mysql;
  MYSQL_RES *res = NULL;
MYSQL_ROW row;
char *query str =
   char
                   *query_str = NULL;
   int
                  rc, i, fields;
   int
                   rows:
   char select[] = "select * from courses"; //Enter the SQL statement that you want t
o execute.
   t mysql = mysql init(NULL);
   if(NULL == t mysql){
       printf("init failed\n");
    }
   if(NULL == mysql real connect(t mysql, <Host>, <myUsername>, <myPassword>, <myDatabas
e>.
           <Port>, NULL, 0)){
       printf("connect failed\n");
    }
   if(mysql real query(t mysql, select, strlen(select)) != 0){
       printf("select failed\n");
    }
   res = mysql_store_result(t_mysql);
    if (NULL == res) {
        printf("mysql_restore_result(): %s\n", mysql_error(t_mysql));
         return -1;
    }
   fields = mysql num fields(res);
    while ((row = mysql_fetch_row(res))) {
       for (i = 0; i < fields; i++) {</pre>
          printf("%s\t", row[i]);
       }
       printf("\n");
    }
   mysql_close(t_mysql);
}
```

Troubleshooting

If the connection fails, we recommend that you troubleshoot the failure based on the returned error information. For more information, see Resolve the issue that you cannot connect to an RDS instance.

9.5. View and change the internal and public endpoints and port numbers of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

When you connect to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance, you must enter the internal or public endpoint and port number of the instance. This topic describes how to view and change the internal and public endpoints and port numbers of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance in the ApsaraDB RDS console.

View the internal and public endpoints and port numbers of an RDS instance in the new ApsaraDB RDS console

1.

- 2. In the **Basic Information** section of the Basic Information page, click **See Detail** next to Network Type. In the pane that appears, view the internal and public endpoints and port numbers of the RDS instance.
 - ? Note
 - The internal and public endpoints of an RDS instance are displayed only after you configure IP address whitelists for the instance. For more information, see Configure an IP address whitelist for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
 - The public endpoint of an RDS instance is displayed only after you apply for a public endpoint for the instance. For more information, see Apply for or release a public endpoint for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Change the internal or public endpoint and port number of an RDS instance

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Database Connection**.
- 3. Click Change Endpoint.
- 4. In the dialog box that appears, select a connection type, enter the prefix of the new endpoint, specify the port number, and then click **OK**.

? Note

- The prefix can contain lowercase letters, digits, and hyphens (-). The prefix must start with a lowercase letter and end with a lowercase letter or a digit.
- The prefix must contain at least 8 characters, and the total length of the endpoint cannot exceed 63 characters. The total length includes the prefix and suffix of the endpoint.
- The port number must be within the range of 1000 to 65534.

FAQ

• After I change an endpoint or a port number of my RDS instance, do I need to update the endpoint or port number information in my application?

Yes, after you change an endpoint or a port number of your RDS instance, you must update the endpoint or port number information on your application. If you do not update the information, your application cannot connect to your RDS instance.

• After I change an endpoint or a port number of my RDS instance, does the change immediately take

effect? Do I need to restart my RDS instance?

After you change an endpoint or a port number of your RDS instance, the change immediately takes effect. You do not need to restart your RDS instance.

• After I change or release an endpoint of my RDS instance, can I use the endpoint for another RDS instance?

Yes, after you change or release an endpoint of your RDS instance, you can use the endpoint of your RDS instance for another RDS instance.

• Does a primary/secondary switchover trigger changes to the endpoints of my RDS instance?

No, a primary/secondary switchover does not trigger changes to the endpoints of your RDS instance. However, the IP addresses that are associated with the endpoints change. Your application can still connect to your RDS instance by using the endpoints.

References

For more information about the endpoints that are used to connect to the dedicated proxy of an RDS instance, see Manage the dedicated proxy endpoints of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

9.6. Change the network type of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to change the network type of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySOL instance from classic network to virtual private cloud (VPC) based on your business requirements.

Prerequisites

Your RDS instance resides in the classic network.

For more information about how to change the network type of an RDS instance that runs a different database engine, see the following topics:

- Change the network type of an ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server instance
- Change the network type of an ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL instance

Impacts

The following table describes the impacts that a change in the network type may bring if the database proxy feature is enabled for your RDS instance. For more information, see Introduction to database proxies.

Proxy type	Impact					
------------	--------	--	--	--	--	--

Proxy type	Impact		
	After you change the network type of your RDS instance, the network type of the read/write splitting endpoint changes. For more information, see Read/write splitting.		
Shared proxy	Note Since April 1, 2021, Alibaba Cloud has stopped the updates and maintenance for the shared proxy feature of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL. For more information, see [Notice] End of updates and maintenance for the shared proxy service. We recommend that you upgrade the database proxy of your RDS instance from shared proxy to dedicated proxy at the earliest opportunity to use more features of higher quality. For more information, see Upgrade the database proxy of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from a shared proxy to a dedicated proxy.		
Dedicated proxy	After you change the network type of your RDS instance, the network type of the read/write splitting endpoint remains unchanged. For more information, see Read/write splitting. You can create proxy endpoints of different network types. For example, you can create a proxy endpoint of the classic network type and a proxy endpoint of the		
	VPC network type on the same RDS instance. For more information, see Manage the dedicated proxy endpoints of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.		

(?) Note You can view the type of proxy that is enabled for your RDS instance on the Database Proxy page in the ApsaraDB RDS console. For more information, see Upgrade the database proxy of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from a shared proxy to a dedicated proxy.

Network types

- Classic network: RDS instances in the classic network are not isolated. To block unauthorized access to these instances, you must configure IP address whitelists or security groups.
- VPC: Each VPC is an isolated virtual network. VPCs provide higher security than the classic network. We recommend that you select the VPC network type.

You can configure route tables, CIDR blocks, and gateways in a VPC. In addition, you can connect your data center to a VPC by using Express Connect circuits or VPNs. The data center and the VPC comprise a virtual data center. You can use the virtual data center to migrate your workloads to the cloud with no downtime.

? Note

- You can select the classic or VPC network type and switch your RDS instance between these network types free of charge.
- After you change the network type of your RDS instance, you must add IP addresses to the IP address whitelists of the required network types. This applies if your RDS instance runs in enhanced whitelist mode. For more information, see Use a database client or the CLI to connect to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

View the network type

2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Database Connection**. On the page that appears, view the network type of the RDS instance.

Change the network type from classic network to VPC

Procedure

- 1.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Database Connection**.
- 3. Click Switch to VPC.

? Note If the preceding button cannot be found, you must check whether the RDS instance meets all prerequisites that are specified in this topic.

- 4. In the dialog box that appears, select a VPC and a vSwitch and specify whether to retain the classic network endpoint.
 - Select a VPC. We recommend that you select the VPC where the Elastic Compute Service (ECS) instance that you want to connect resides. If the ECS instance and the RDS instance reside in different VPCs, these instances cannot communicate over an internal network unless you use Cloud Enterprise Network (CEN) or VPN Gateway to enable network communication between the VPCs of these instances. For more information, see Overview of CEN or Establish IPsec-VPN connections between two VPCs.
 - Select a vSwitch. If no vSwitches are available in the selected VPC, create a vSwitch in the zone where the RDS instance resides. For more information, see Create a vSwitch.



• Clear or select the **Reserve original classic endpoint** check box. For more information, see the following table.

Operation	Description
Clear the Reserve original classic endpoint check box	The classic network endpoint is not retained and changes to a VPC endpoint. When you change the network type from classic network to VPC, a transient connection that lasts approximately 30 seconds occurs and ECS instances that reside in the classic network are immediately disconnected from the RDS instance.

^{1.}
Operation	Description
Select the Reserve original classic endpoint check box	The classic network endpoint is retained, and a new VPC endpoint is generated. In this case, the RDS instance runs in hybrid access mode. Classic network-housed ECS instances and VPC-housed ECS instances can connect to the RDS instance over an internal network. For more information, see Configure the hybrid access solution for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
	When you change the network type from classic network to VPC, no transient connection occurs. The connection between each classic network-housed ECS instance and the RDS instance remains available until the classic network endpoint expires.
	Before the classic network endpoint expires, add the VPC endpoint to your application that runs on a VPC-hosted ECS instance. This allows ApsaraDB RDS to migrate your workloads to the selected VPC with no downtime.
	For more information, see Configure the hybrid access solution for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

5. Add the private IP address of the required VPC-hosted ECS instance to an IP address whitelist of the VPC network type on the RDS instance. This way, the ECS instance can access the RDS instance over an internal network. If no IP address whitelists of the VPC network type are available, create one.

? Note You can go to the Instance Details tab of an ECS instance in the ECS console to view the private IP address of the ECS instance.

- 6. Add the VPC endpoint of the RDS instance to the required VPC-hosted ECS instance.
 - If you selected the Reserve original classic endpoint check box, you must add the VPC endpoint to your application that runs on the required VPC-hosted ECS instance before the classic network endpoint expires.
 - If you cleared the Reserve original classic endpoint check box, the connection between each classic network-hosted ECS instance and the RDS instance over an internal network is immediately closed after the network type is changed. You must add the VPC endpoint of the RDS instance to your application that runs on the required VPC-hosted ECS instance.

(?) Note If the RDS instance resides in a VPC and you want to connect a classic networkhosted ECS instance to the RDS instance over an internal network, you can use ClassicLink to establish a connection. Alternatively, you can migrate the ECS instance to the same VPC as the RDS instance. For more information, see Overview of ClassicLink.

FAQ

- How do I change the VPC of my RDS instance?
 - If your RDS instance supports changes to VPCs and vSwitches, you can directly change the VPC of the RDS instance. For more information, see 切换专有网络VPC和虚拟交换机.
 - If your RDS instance does not support direct changes to VPCs, perform the following steps:

Purchase a new RDS instance that resides in the required VPC. Then, migrate the data of the original RDS instance to the new RDS instance. For more information, see Migrate data between ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances.

• Can I connect to my RDS instance from an ECS instance over the Internet?

Yes, you can connect to your RDS instance from an ECS instance over the Internet if the IP address of the ECS instance is added to an IP address whitelist of the RDS instance, regardless of whether your application resides in a VPC or the classic network. For more information, see Use a database client or the CLI to connect to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

• Can I change the network type of a read-only RDS instance and retain the classic network endpoint?

Yes, you can change the network type of a read-only RDS instance and retain the classic network endpoint.

Related operations

Operation	Description
Change the network type of an ApsaraDB RDS instance	Changes the network type of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

9.7. Configure the hybrid access solution for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to configure the hybrid access solution for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. This solution allows you to retain both the classic network endpoint and virtual private cloud (VPC) endpoint of your RDS instance. This way, you can migrate your RDS instance from the classic network to a VPC without network interruptions.

Background information

When you migrate your RDS instance from the classic network to a VPC, the internal classic network endpoint of the instance changes to the internal VPC endpoint. In this case, the endpoint itself remains unchanged, but the IP address that is bound to the endpoint changes. This change causes a transient connection error of up to 30 seconds, and all classic network-housed Elastic Compute Service (ECS) instances can no longer connect to your RDS instance over an internal network. To allow you to migrate your RDS instance from the classic network to a VPC without network interruptions, ApsaraDB RDS provides the hybrid access solution.

Hybrid access refers to the ability of your RDS instance to be connected by both classic networkhoused ECS instances and VPC-housed ECS instances. During the hybrid access period, ApsaraDB RDS retains the internal classic network endpoint and generates an internal VPC endpoint. This prevents transient connection errors when you migrate your RDS instance from the classic network to a VPC.

For security and performance purposes, we recommend that you use only the internal VPC endpoint. Therefore, ApsaraDB RDS allows the configured hybrid access solution to remain valid only for a specified period of time. When the hybrid access period elapses, ApsaraDB RDS releases the internal classic network endpoint. In this case, your applications cannot connect to your RDS instance by using the internal classic network endpoint. You must add the internal VPC endpoint to all your applications during the hybrid access period. This ensures a smooth network migration and avoids interruptions to your workloads.

For example, a company uses the hybrid access solution to migrate their RDS instance from the classic network to a VPC. During the hybrid access period, some applications connect to the RDS instance by using the internal VPC endpoint, whereas the others connect to the RDS instance by using the internal classic network endpoint. When all applications of the company can connect to the RDS instance by using the internal VPC endpoint, the internal classic network endpoint can be released.



Limits

During the hybrid access period, your RDS instance does not support the following operations:

- Change to the classic network type
- Migration to another zone
- Change between the High-availability Edition and the Enterprise Edition

Prerequisites

- Your RDS instance has the classic network type.
- The zone where your RDS instance resides provides available VPCs and vSwitches. For more information about how to create VPCs and vSwitches, see Manage a VPC.

Change the network type from classic network to VPC

- 1.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Database Connection**.
- 3. Click Switch to other VPC.
- 4. In the dialog box that appears, select a VPC and a vSwitch and specify whether to retain the classic network endpoint.
 - Select a VPC. We recommend that you select the VPC where the required ECS instance resides. If the ECS and RDS instances reside in different VPCs, these instances cannot communicate over an internal network unless you create a Cloud Enterprise Network (CEN) instance or an IPsec-VPN connection between the VPCs of these instances. For more information, see Use CEN to enable intra-region network communication and Establish IPsec-VPN connections between two VPCs.
 - Select a vSwitch. If no vSwitches are available in the selected VPC, create a vSwitch in the same

zone as your RDS instance. For more information, see Create a vSwitch.

Switch	to VPC	\times
0	Switch to classic, include endpoint(s): Internal Port: pc uncs.com	
	VPC: Virtual Switch:	
	If the switch you need is not in the list, please create a new switch first on the VPC cons	sole.
	Note: Switching to Virtual Private Cloud (VPC) will cause an intermittent interruption, and the ECS in the classic network will not be able to access the database. If you need to reserve the Intranet address of the classic network, check the following option.	
	Reserve original classic endpoint	
	ок С	ancel

• Clear or select the **Reserve original classic endpoint** option. For more information, see the following table.

Action	Description
Clear the Reserve original classic endpoint option	The classic network endpoint is not retained and changes to a VPC endpoint. When you change the network type from classic network to VPC, a transient connection error of 30 seconds occurs. In this case, the connection between each classic network-housed ECS instance and your RDS instance is closed.
Select the Reserve original classic endpoint option	The classic network endpoint is retained, and a new VPC endpoint is generated. In this case, your RDS instance runs in hybrid access mode. Both classic network-housed ECS instances and VPC-housed ECS instances can connect to your RDS instance over an internal network. When you change the network type from classic network to VPC, no transient connection errors occur. The connection between each classic network-housed ECS instance and your RDS instance remains available until the classic network endpoint expires. Before the classic network endpoint expires, you must add the VPC endpoint to the required VPC-housed ECS instance. This allows ApsaraDB RDS to migrate your workloads to the selected VPC without interruptions.

- 5. Add the private IP address of the required VPC-housed ECS instance to an IP address whitelist of the VPC network type. This allows the ECS instance to connect to your RDS instance over an internal network. If no IP address whitelists of the VPC network type are available, create such an IP address whitelist.
- 6. If you have selected the Reserve original classic endpoint option, you must add the generated

VPC endpoint to each VPC-housed ECS instance before the classic network endpoint expires.

• If you have cleared the Reserve original classic endpoint option, the connection between each classic network-housed ECS instance and your RDS instance over an internal network is immediately closed after the network type is changed to VPC. You must add the generated VPC endpoint to each VPC-housed ECS instance.

(?) Note If you want to connect a classic network-housed ECS instance to your VPC-housed RDS instance over an internal network, you can use ClassicLink to establish a connection. Alternatively, you can migrate the ECS instance to the same VPC as your RDS instance. For more information, see Overview.

Change the expiration date of the internal classic network endpoint

During the hybrid access period, you can change the expiration date of the classic network endpoint at any time based on your business requirements. The expiration date is immediately recalculated starting from the day when you make the change. Assume that the classic network endpoint is configured to expire on August 18, 2017, and you extend the validity period of the classic network endpoint by 14 days on August 15, 2017. In this case, ApsaraDB RDS releases the classic network endpoint on August 29, 2017.

Perform the following steps:

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Database Connection**.
- 3. On the Database Connection tab, click Change Expiration Time.



4. On the **Change Expiration Time** page, select an expiration date and click **OK**.

9.8. Troubleshoot failures in connecting to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to troubleshoot failures in connecting to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from an Elastic Compute Service (ECS) instance.

When you set up a test environment to debug your business, you may fail to connect to your RDS instance from your ECS instance. The connection failures may occur due to various reasons. For example, the network type of your RDS instance is different from the network type of your ECS instance, or the IP address of your ECS instance is not added to an IP address whitelist of your RDS instance. This topic describes the most common causes of connection failures and the methods that you can use to troubleshoot the connection failures.

Different network types

• The ECS instance resides in a virtual private cloud (VPC), and the RDS instance resides in the classic network.

• Method 1: This is the recommended method. Migrate the RDS instance to the VPC to which the ECS instance belongs. For more information, see Switch the network type.

Note If the ECS instance and the RDS instance both reside in VPCs, they must reside in the same VPC to communicate with each other over an internal network.

- Method 2: Purchase an ECS instance that resides in the classic network, and connect to the RDS instance from the ECS instance that you purchase. ECS instances cannot be migrated from VPCs to the classic network. Take note that a VPC provides higher security than the classic network. We recommend that you use VPCs.
- Method 3: Connect to the RDS instance from the ECS instance by using the public endpoint of the RDS instance. This method cannot ensure optimal performance, security, or stability.
- The ECS instance resides in the classic network, and the RDS instance resides in a VPC.
 - Method 1: This is the recommended method. Migrate the ECS instance to the VPC to which the RDS instance belongs.

Note If the ECS instance and the RDS instance both reside in VPCs, they must reside in the same VPC to communicate with each other over an internal network.

- Method 2: Migrate the RDS instance to the classic network. Take note that a VPC provides higher security than the classic network. We recommend that you use VPCs.
- Method 3: Use the ClassicLink feature to establish an internal network connection between the ECS instance and the RDS instance.
- Method 4: Connect to the RDS instance from the ECS instance by using the public endpoint of the RDS instance. This method cannot ensure optimal performance, security, or stability.

Different VPCs

A VPC is an isolated network environment that is built on Alibaba Cloud. VPCs are logically isolated from each other. Therefore, when the ECS instance and the RDS instance both reside VPCs, they must reside in the same VPC to communicate with each other over an internal network.

• Method 1: This is the recommended method. Migrate the RDS instance to the VPC to which the ECS instance belongs.

You must change the network type of the RDS instance from VPC to classic network and then change the network type of the RDS instance from classic network back to VPC. When you change the network type of the RDS instance from classic network back to VPC, you must select the VPC to which the ECS instance belongs. For more information, see 切换专有网络VPC和虚拟交换机 or Switch the network type.

- Method 2: Use Cloud Enterprise Network (CEN) to establish a connection between the VPC of the ECS instance and the VPC of the RDS instance.
- Method 3: Connect to the RDS instance from the ECS instance over the Internet. This method cannot ensure optimal performance, security, or stability.

Different regions

If the ECS instance and the RDS instance reside in different regions, these instances cannot communicate with each other over an internal network.

• Method 1: Apply for a refund for the original RDS or ECS instance. Then, purchase a new RDS or ECS

instance based on your business requirements.

- Method 2: Change the network types of the ECS instance and the RDS instance to VPC. Then, use CEN to establish a connection between the VPCs of the ECS instance and the VPC of the RDS instance.
- Method 3: Connect to the RDS instance from the ECS instance over the Internet. This method cannot ensure optimal performance, security, or stability.

Incorrect IP address whitelist settings

- On the Whitelist Settings tab of the Data Security page, the IP address whitelist labeled default contains only the IP address 127.0.0.1. The IP address 127.0.0.1 indicates that no devices are allowed to access the RDS instance. You must obtain the IP address of the ECS instance and add the IP address to an IP address whitelist of the RDS instance. For more information, see Configure an IP address whitelist for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- The 0.0.0.0 entry is added to an IP address whitelist of the RDS instance.

(?) Note If you want to allow all devices to access the RDS instance, you must add the 0.0.0.0/0 entry to an IP address whitelist of the RDS instance. Proceed with caution when you add this entry.

- The enhanced whitelist mode is enabled for the RDS instance. In this case, take note of the following limits:
 - If the RDS instance resides in a VPC and is connected by using its internal endpoint, the private IP address of the ECS instance must be added to the IP address whitelist labeled default VPC.
 - If the RDS instance resides in the classic network and is connected by using its internal endpoint, the private IP address of the ECS instance must be added to the IP address whitelist labeled default Classic Network.
 - If the RDS instance resides in the classic network and is connected over the Internet, the public IP address of the ECS instance must be added to the IP address whitelist labeled default Classic Network.
- The public IP address that you add to an IP address whitelist is invalid due to the following reasons:
 - The public IP address dynamically changes.
 - The tool or website that is used to query public IP addresses returns inaccurate results.

For more information, see the following topics:

- Why am I unable to connect to my ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL or ApsaraDB RDS for MariaDB instance from a local server over the Internet?
- How SQL Server determines the public IP address of an external Server or client
- How do I locate the IP address connected to an RDS for PostgreSQL instance?

Domain name resolution failures or errors

If the DNS servers are faulty or the configurations of the network interface controller are modified, domain names may fail to be resolved or may be resolved into incorrect IP addresses. In this case, you can run the ping command or the telnet command to check the connectivity to the RDS instance. ping <Domain name>
telnet <Domain name> <Port number>

Examples:

[root@	~]# ping rmmysql.rds.aliyuncs.com
PING rm-	.mysgl.rds.alivuncs.com (192.168.0.176) 56(84) bytes of data.
64 bytes trom 197 1	ns w 1/6 (192,168,0,1/6); icmn seg=1 ttl=64 time=0 151 ms
64 bytes from 102 1	(102, 102, 103, 103), $1000 + 10000 + 10000 + 1000 + 1000 + 1000 + 1000 + 1000 + 10$
64 bytes from 192.1	Success
64 bytes from 192.1	08.0.1/0 (192.108.0.1/0): 1 cmp_seq=3 (ttl=04 time=0.10/ ms
64 bytes from 192.1	68.0.176 (192.168.0.176): 1Cmp seq=4 ttl=64 time=0.108 ms
Incentointe	
[FOOT@12bp	~]# ping rm-bpi .mysqt.rds.atiyuncs.com
ping: rm-bpl	
[root@izbp	j29uvq1wz ~]#
[root@ Trying 192.168.0.176 Connected to rm- Escape character is N	<pre>~]# telnet rm .mysql.rds.aliyuncs.com 3306 mysql.rds.aliyuncs.com. '^]'.</pre>
[root@ Trying 192.168.0.176 Connected to rm- Escape character is N 5.6.16-logtEkkVNd-0!	<pre>~]# telnet rm .mysql.rds.aliyuncs.com 3306mysql.rds.aliyuncs.com. '^]'.)}\4/,/GXfu<mysql native="" password="" pre="" success<=""></mysql></pre>
[root@ Trying 192.168.0.176 Connected to rm- Escape character is N 5.6.16-logtEkkVNd-0!	<pre>~]# telnet rm .mysql.rds.aliyuncs.com 3306mysql.rds.aliyuncs.com. '^]'.)}\4/,/GXfu<mysql native="" password="" pre="" success<=""></mysql></pre>
[root@ Trying 192.168.0.176 Connected to rm- Escape character is N 5.6.16-logtEkkVNd-0!	<pre>~]# telnet rm .mysql.rds.aliyuncs.com 3306 </pre>
[root@ Trying 192.168.0.176 Connected to rm- Escape character is N 5.6.16-logtEkkVNd-0! [root@izbp	<pre>~]# telnet rm .mysql.rds.aliyuncs.com 3306 mysql.rds.aliyuncs.com. '^]'.)}\4/,/GXfu<mysql native="" password="" success<br="">~]# telnet rm-bpl .mysql.rds.aliyuncs.com 3306</mysql></pre>
[root@ Trying 192.168.0.176 Connected to rm- Escape character is N 5.6.16-logtEkkVNd-0! [root@izbp telnet: rm-bp1	<pre>~]# telnet rm .mysql.rds.aliyuncs.com 3306 mysql.rds.aliyuncs.com. '^]'.)}\4/,/GXfu<mysql native="" password="" success<br="">~]# telnet rm-bpl .mysql.rds.aliyuncs.com 3306 .mysql.rds.aliyuncs.com: Name or service not known Follows</mysql></pre>
[root@ Trying 192.168.0.176 Connected to rm- Escape character is N 5.6.16-logtEkkVNd-0! [root@izbp telnet: rm-bp1 rm-bp1	<pre>~]# telnet rm .mysql.rds.aliyuncs.com 3306 </pre>

If the RDS instance fails the connectivity test, perform the following operations to modify the configuration file of the network interface controller:

1. Open the configuration file of the network interface controller in edit mode.

vi /etc/sysconfig/network-scripts/<The name of the configuration file of the network in terface controller>

? Note The network interface controller in the preceding command refers to the network interface controller of the ECS instance. You can run the **ifconfig** command to check the extension in the name of the configuration file of the network interface controller. The default extension is if cfg-eth0.

2. Add the following configurations to the end of the configuration file.

DNS1=100.100.2.136 DNS2=100.100.2.138

(?) Note If the DNS1 and DNS2 configuration items exist in the configuration file, you must change the values of these configuration items to the values that are shown in the preceding configurations.

DEVICE=eth0 B00TPR0T0=dhcp ONB00T=yes DNS1=100.100.2.136 DNS2=100.100.2.138 3. Run the following command to restart the network service:

systemctl restart network

4. Run the following command to check whether the modification is successful:

cat /etc/resolv.conf



10.Database proxy (read/write splitting) 10.1. Release notes of dedicated

proxy versions

This topic describes the release notes for dedicated proxy versions.

? Note

- For more information about how to upgrade the dedicated proxy version of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance, see Upgrade the dedicated proxy version of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- For more information about the minor engine versions of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL, see AliSQL小版本Release Notes.

View the dedicated proxy version of an RDS instance

If the RDS instance is not using the latest dedicated proxy version, click **Upgrade Dedicated Proxy Version** on the **Database Proxy** page of the RDS instance in the ApsaraDB RDS console. In the dialog box that appears, check the in-use dedicated proxy version (**Current Version**) and the available dedicated proxy version (**Available Upgrade**).

? Note If the RDS instance is using the latest dedicated proxy version, the Upgrade Dedicated Proxy Version button is not displayed. Users can also view the dedicated proxy version of the RDS instance by calling an API operation. For more information, see **Query database proxy details**.

Basic Information	Proxy Service Re	ad/Write Splitting	Monitoring Data	SSL					
Accounts	Proxy Endpoint	Upprade Dedicated F	Proxy Version						
Databases									
Backup and Restoration	Status	🗸 Running						Instance ID	rm-b
Database Connection	Instances Associated with Proxy	1						Read/Write Splitting	Disal
Database Proxy	Connection Pool	Enable Transacti	\sim						
Monitoring and Alerts					Upgrade kernel r	ninor versi	on Settings		×
Data Security	Endpoint	Create Endpoint			Current Version	1 12 15	1		
Service Availability	Endpoint				Available Upgrade	1.13.3			
Logs			0		Upprade Time		e ade Immediate		
SQL Explorer		v4rm.rwib.rds.aliyuncs.co	om Change Endpoint				ade within maintenance perior	d (Current Setting07:00-08:00 M	Aodify
Parameters		ds.aliyuncs.com Ch	ange Endpoint) opgi	and mention manner period	a (concin occangorioo ooloo ii	

Updates to dedicated proxy versions

The following table contains only the mainstream dedicated proxy versions rather than all dedicated proxy versions.

RDS MySQL Database Database pro xy (read/write splitting)

Dedicated proxy version	Description				
1.13.25	 Bug fixes: The bug that causes memory leaks in the dedicated proxy of an RDS instance due to authentication failures is fixed. The bug that causes the dedicated proxy of an RDS instance to unexpectedly exit is fixed. This bug is triggered if an application connects to the dedicated proxy by using multiple endpoints. 				
1.13.22	 New features: The SELECT LAST_INSERT_ID() statement can be executed after the INSERT statement to obtain the unique ID of a sharded table. The FOUND_ROWS function is supported. The requests for running the COM_STATISTICS command can be routed to read-only RDS instances. The optimized transaction connection pool feature is supported. The requests for invoking the GEO function can be routed to read-only RDS instances. A few internal metrics are added to monitor the performance of RDS instances. Bug fixes: The bug that causes requests to be routed to locked RDS instances is fixed. The bug that causes routing errors due to the incorrect parsing of some statements is fixed. The bug that causes failures in running the stmt_exec command is fixed. The bug that causes failures in executing the LOAD DATA INFILE statement is fixed. 				
1.13.17	Bug fixes: A few internal bugs are fixed.				

Dedicated proxy version	Description					
	 New features: The Force Node Connection feature is provided to route all requests to a specified node. For example, the /*force_proxy_internal*/set force_node = 'pi-123'; setting specifies that all requests over a specified connection are routed to the pi-123 node. 					
	<pre>⑦ Note If the specified node is faulty, the " set force node 'pi-123 ' is not found, please check. " error is returned.</pre>					
1.13.5	 The Force Node Query feature is provided to route a specified request to a specified node. For example, the /*force_node='pi-123'*/ show processlist; setting specifies that a specified request is routed to the pi-123 node. 					
	<pre>⑦ Note If the specified node is faulty, the " 'force hint server nod e is not found, please check'. " error is returned.</pre>					
	 A few internal metrics are added to monitor the performance of RDS instances. Bug fixes: The bug that causes requests to be routed to read-only RDS instances is fixed. This bug is triggered if the statements in the requests contain the MODE keyword. The bug that causes unbalanced loads is fixed. 					
1.12.10	 New features: SSL encryption can be enabled for dedicated proxy endpoints. Bug fixes: The bug that causes exceptions in establishing SSL connections to an RDS instance is fixed. This bug is triggered if the RDS instance runs MySQL 8.0. The bug that prevents the enabled dedicated proxies from properly routing new requests to an RDS instance is fixed. This bug is triggered if the RDS instance is restored from an abnormal state to a normal state. 					
1.12.7	 New features: The SHOW FULL PROCESSLIST statement is supported. The syntax for XA transactions is supported. Bug fixes: The bug that causes errors in executing the SHOW PROCESSLIST statement on an RDS instance is fixed. This bug is triggered if the RDS instance runs MySQL 8.0. A few bugs that affect the transaction connection pool feature are fixed. A few bugs that cause connection failures are fixed. 					

RDS MySQL Database Database pro xy (read/write splitting)

Dedicated proxy version	Description				
1.11.12	 New features: The transaction connection pool feature is supported. For more information, see Set the connection pool type of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. Bug fixes: The bug that prevents new requests over the previous persistent connections to an RDS instance from being routed to the RDS instance is fixed. This bug is triggered if the RDS instance is restored from an abnormal state to a normal state. This bug is fixed by optimizing the mechanism that is used to balance loads among persistent connections. The bug that prevents the PREPARE statement from being sent in unicast mode is fixed by optimizing the syntax of the PREPARE statement. The bug that causes failures in connecting MySQL 5.7 databases to MySQL 5.6 databases is fixed. This bug is triggered if the Deprecate EOF feature is enabled. The bug that causes disconnections to an RDS instance is fixed. This bug is triggered if the order error is fixed. This bug is triggered if the size per line of large packets in a result set exceeds 16 MB. The bug that causes a statement to be routed to a read-only RDS instance is fixed. This bug is triggered if the transactions on a read-only RDS instance is fixed. This bug is triggered if LOCK IN SHARE MODE is specified in the statement. The bug that causes the SELECT handler FROM abc statement to be routed to a read-only RDS instance is fixed. The bug that causes the SELECT handler FROM abc statement to be routed to a read-only RDS instance is fixed. 				
1.10.7	Bug fixes: A few bugs that affect the session connection pool feature are fixed.				

Dedicated proxy version	Description
1.9.23	 New features: The root account is granted the permissions to establish connections. SSL connections are supported. Bug fixes: The bug that causes failures in running the change user command is fixed. The bug that causes failures in running the load file command is fixed. The bug that causes a client to report the "Exception: Packets out of orde r "error is fixed. This bug is triggered if the client receives packets that are in an unexpected sequence. The bug that causes a read-only RDS instance to disconnect when its primary RDS instance becomes abnormal is fixed.
1.9.14	 New features: The /*FORCE_SLAVE*/ and /*FORCE_MASTE*/ hints are supported. Bug fixes: The bug that causes the system to return garbled characters is fixed. This bug is triggered if the value of the charset parameter is invalid. The bug that causes the system to return an invalid string for the MySQL version is fixed.

10.2. What are database proxies?

This topic introduces the database proxies of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL.

ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL provides two types of database proxies: dedicated proxies and shared proxies. A database proxy resides between a database system and an application. The database proxy receives requests from the application and routes the requests to the primary RDS instance and read-only RDS instances in the database system. The database proxy is easy to use and maintain and provides high availability and high performance. The dedicated proxy also provides advanced features, such as automatic read/write splitting, transaction splitting, and connection pooling.

Note Only dedicated proxies are supported. For more information, see the "Appendix: Introduction to shared proxies" section of this topic.

Scenarios

- The primary RDS instance is heavily loaded due to a large number of requests that are encapsulated in transactions.
- The primary RDS instance is heavily loaded due to an excessively large number of connections.
- Most of your workloads require short-lived connections.
- Read-only workloads and workloads that need to be isolated.

Note For example, your database system consists of one primary RDS instance and four read-only RDS instances, and you have two applications, Application A and Application B. Application A initiates only read requests, and Application B initiates both read and write requests. In this case, you can use two read-only instances to create Proxy Terminal A with the **Read-only** attribute. Then, you can use the other two read-only instances to create Proxy Terminal B with the **Read/Write** attribute. This way, Application A and Application B are isolated from each other in your database system.

Introduction to proxy terminals

Proxy terminals are developed by Alibaba Cloud. You can use proxy terminals to customize the endpoints that are used to connect to an RDS instance. Each RDS instance supports up to seven proxy terminals. You can modify the read and write attributes of each proxy terminal based on your various business requirements.

Read and write attributes

You can set the read and write attributes of each proxy terminal.

• **Read/Write**: This attribute is used to support the read/write splitting feature. The read/write splitting feature allows you to linearly scale the volume of workloads that can be processed by your database system. For more information, see What is read/write splitting?

If you select this attribute for a proxy terminal, you must make sure that the proxy terminal is associated with at least one primary RDS instance and one read-only RDS instance. All write requests are routed to the primary RDS instance. In this case, the proxy terminal supports features such as transaction splitting and connection pool. For more information, see Use the transaction splitting feature on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance and Set the connection pool type of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

• **Read-only**: This attribute is used to process only read requests. For example, if your application provides only the report service, you can select this attribute.

If you select this attribute for a proxy terminal, you must make sure that the proxy terminal is associated with at least one read-only RDS instance. The proxy terminal does not route requests to the primary RDS instance. In addition, the proxy terminal does not support features such as transaction splitting and connection pool. For more information, see Use the transaction splitting feature on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance and Set the connection pool type of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

If you select the **Read-only** attribute for a proxy terminal, the proxy terminal assigns connections to the associated read-only RDS instances based on a round-robin algorithm. Each database client is assigned only one connection to one read-only RDS instance. The connection to the primary RDS instance is not assigned by the proxy terminal. The total number of available connections is the sum of connections that are established to all the read-only RDS instances.

Note For more information about how to modify the read and write attributes of a proxy terminal, see Enable the dedicated proxy feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Overview

Database proxies provide the following features:

• You can perform various operations on the Proxy tab. For example, you can upgrade the dedicated

proxy version and create a proxy endpoint on this tab.

Proxy Service	Read/Write Splitting	Monitoring Data	SSL				
Proxy Endpoint	Upgrade Dedicated P	roxy Version					
Status	🗸 Running			Instance ID	rm-bp	Delta Calence	
Instances Associated with 1 Proxy				Read/Write Splitting	Disabled	1	
Connection Pool 🕖	Enable Transacti	\checkmark					
Endpoint	Create Endpoint						
Endpoint						Port	Endpoint Type
1000	rw4rm.rwlb.rds.aliyuncs.co	m Change Endpoint				3306 Change Port	Internal (VPC)
-	ords.aliyuncs.com Cha	ange Endpoint				3306 Change Port	Public
Proxy Instance							
Proxy Type Dedicated Proxy			CPU and Memory	2 Cores,	4 GB		
Instances Associated	Ø − 1 +			Adjustment Plan	Apply	Cancel	

Туре Parameter Description Status The status of the dedicated proxy. Instance ID The ID of the RDS instance. **Proxy Endpoint** The number of proxy instances that are associated with the Associated dedicated proxy. You can increase the processing capability of **Proxy Instances** the dedicated proxy by enabling more proxy instances. The name of a proxy terminal. You can create multiple proxy **Proxy Terminal** endpoints for each proxy terminal. For more information, see What is read/write splitting? The endpoint that is used to connect to the dedicated proxy. The dedicated proxy provides a default proxy endpoint to which the proxy terminal feature is bound. You can create, Endpoint modify, or delete a proxy endpoint. For more information, see Manage the dedicated proxy endpoints of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. Endpoint The port number that is bound to a proxy endpoint. **Note** To change a port number, you must find the proxy endpoint to which the port number is bound and Port click **Change** on the right. A valid port number ranges from 1000 to 5999. The network type of a proxy endpoint. You cannot change the Network Type network type of a proxy endpoint. Proxy Type Only Dedicated Proxy is supported. CPU and The specifications that are provided per proxy instance. Each Memory proxy instance can only have 2 cores and 4 GB of memory.

Туре	Parameter	Description		
Type Proxy Instance	Parameter Enabled Proxy Instance	Description The number of proxy instances that are enabled for your RDS instance. ApsaraDB RDS can balance the loads among the proxy instances that are enabled. You can enable up to 60 proxy instances for your RDS instance. Image: The standard standa		
		only RDS instances have 4 cores, the recommended number of proxy instances is 2 based on the following calculation: $(8 + 4)/8 = 1.5$. The result 1.5 is rounded up to 2.		

• Proxy terminal (original read/write splitting)

ApsaraDB RDS automatically routes read and write requests to the proxy endpoints that you configure. Then, these endpoints route the read and write requests to the primary RDS instance and read-only RDS instances based on the read weights of these instances. For more information, see What is read/write splitting?

- Connection pool: This feature is used to mitigate the heavy loads on your database system. Heavy load issues are caused by excessive connections or frequent short-lived connections such as PHP-based connections. For more information, see Set the connection pool type of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- Transaction splitting: This feature allows ApsaraDB RDS to route the read requests prior to write operations within a transaction to the read-only RDS instances. This reduces the loads on your primary RDS instance. For more information, see Use the transaction splitting feature on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- You can view the CPU utilization for the proxy instances that are enabled. The CPU utilization information helps you obtain the loads on the proxy instances and adjust the number of proxy instances based on the monitoring data. For more information, see View the proxy monitoring data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- SSL encryption: This feature is used to encrypt the data that is destined for the protected proxy endpoint. This ensures the security of data in transit. For more information, see Configure SSL encryption for a proxy endpoint on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Usage notes

For more information, see Usage notes for database proxies

How to enable dedicated proxies

For more information, see Enable and configure the dedicated proxy feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

Appendix: Introduction to shared proxies

ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL provides two types of proxies: dedicated proxies and shared proxies.

A shared proxy is also called a multi-tenant proxy. A shared proxy allows the database systems of different users to share proxy computing resources. In this case, these database systems may compete for proxy computing resources. This decreases the stability of the shared proxy. In addition, a shared proxy does not support the advanced features that are provided by the dedicated proxy. These advanced features include connection pool, SSL encryption, and transaction splitting. However, a shared proxy supports read/write splitting. The network type of a read/write splitting endpoint changes with the network type of the primary RDS instance. For more information, see Change the network type of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. Shared proxy feature.

A dedicated proxy is also called a single-tenant proxy. A dedicated proxy allows your database system to use dedicated proxy computing resources. Therefore, a dedicated proxy has the following benefits over a shared proxy:

- The dedicated proxy provides higher stability.
- The dedicated proxy provides higher isolation.
- The dedicated proxy provides better performance. A maximum of 60 proxy instances can be created for each RDS instance. A SysBench test shows that each proxy instance supports 20,000 to 50,000 queries per second (QPS) in online transaction processing (OLTP) scenarios. We recommend that you estimate the maximum QPS that is supported by your RDS instance based on your actual stress test results.

Note The maximum number of connections to the dedicated proxy is not limited. This number varies based on the specifications of the primary and read-only RDS instances in your database system.

- The dedicated proxy supports scaling. You can increase the number of proxy instances based on your business requirements. For more information, see Adjust the number of dedicated proxies on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- The dedicated proxy supports performance monitoring. You can adjust the number of proxy instances based on the monitoring data and your business planning. For more information, see View the monitoring data of dedicated proxies on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- If you change the network type of a primary RDS instance, the network type of the read/write splitting endpoint remains unchanged. For more information, see Change the network type of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance and What is read/write splitting?.
- A unified proxy endpoint is provided. This eliminates the need to modify the endpoint information on your application and reduces maintenance costs. The proxy endpoint remains valid until you release the proxy instances. For more information, see Manage the dedicated proxy endpoints of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. The proxy endpoint remains connected unless you release the enabled proxy instances. For example, you may enable the read/write splitting feature during peak hours, and then release read-only RDS instances and disable the read/write splitting feature during off-peak hours. In these cases, the proxy endpoint remains connected, and you do not need to update the endpoint information on your application.
- The dedicated proxy supports automatic read/write splitting. This reduces maintenance costs. For more information, see Enable the read/write splitting feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL

instance. In normal cases, to implement read/write splitting, you must manually add the endpoints of the primary and read-only RDS instances to your application. This applies if the read-only RDS instances are available. If you enable the dedicated proxy feature, you need to add only a unified proxy endpoint to your application. This way, all the requests from your application are sent to the proxy endpoint. Then, the proxy endpoint routes read requests to the read-only RDS instances and write requests to the primary RDS instance based on the read weights of these instances. You do not need to update the configuration data on your application even if you create more read-only RDS instances or if you delete existing read-only RDS instances.

• The dedicated proxy provides more advanced features, such as connection pool and transaction splitting. For more information, see Set the connection pool type of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance and Enable the transaction splitting feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

? Note Shared proxies are not supported for new RDS instances due to the known limits. Alibaba Cloud continues to provide support for the shared proxies of existing RDS instances. If the shared proxy of your RDS instance is enabled, we recommend that you upgrade the instance from shared proxy to dedicated proxy. This allows you to use more advanced features. For more information, see Upgrade the database proxy of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from a shared proxy to a dedicated proxy.

10.3. What is read/write splitting?

This topic introduces the read/write splitting feature of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL. This feature allows ApsaraDB RDS to route read and write requests to a dedicated proxy endpoint. Then, the dedicated proxy endpoint routes the read and write requests to the primary RDS instance and read-only RDS instances of your database system.

Background information

If your database system receives a large number of read requests and a small number of write requests, the primary RDS instance may fail to process read requests and your workloads may be interrupted. After read-only RDS instances are created, you can enable the read/write splitting feature. Then, you can use a dedicated proxy endpoint to perform read/write splitting. You need only to add the dedicated proxy endpoint to your application. After your application is connected to the dedicated proxy endpoint, ApsaraDB RDS routes write requests to the primary RDS instance and read requests to the read-only RDS instances based on the read weights of these instances. For more information, see Introduction to database proxies.



Benefits

• Unified endpoint to facilitate maintenance

If you do not enable the read/write splitting feature, you can perform read/write splitting only after you add the endpoints of the primary RDS instance and read-only RDS instances to your application.

If you enable the read/write splitting feature, you can use a dedicated proxy endpoint to perform read/write splitting. You need only to add the dedicated proxy endpoint to your application. After your application is connected to the dedicated proxy endpoint, your database system routes read and write requests to the primary RDS instance and read-only RDS instances based on the read weights of these instances. This reduces maintenance costs.

You can also create read-only RDS instances to increase the read capability of your database system without the need to modify the configuration data on your application.

Native link to increase performance and reduce maintenance costs

If you build your own proxy layer on the cloud to perform read/write splitting, data must be parsed and forwarded by multiple components before the data reaches your database system. As a result, response latencies increase. The read/write splitting feature is embedded in the ApsaraDB RDS ecosystem to reduce response latencies, increase processing speeds, and reduce maintenance costs.

• Configurable read weights and thresholds to ensure suitability in various scenarios

You can specify the read weights of the primary RDS instance and read-only RDS instances. You can also specify the latency threshold for data replication to the read-only RDS instances.

• Instance-level health checks to ensure high availability

The read/write splitting feature enables ApsaraDB RDS to actively check the health statuses of the primary RDS instance and read-only RDS instances. If a read-only RDS instance unexpectedly exits or its data replication latency exceeds the specified threshold, ApsaraDB RDS stops routing read requests to the instance. ApsaraDB RDS redirects the read requests that are destined for the faulty read-only RDS instance to other healthy RDS instances in your database system. This ensures service availability even if an individual read-only RDS instance fails. After the faulty read-only RDS instance is recovered, ApsaraDB RDS resumes routing read requests to the instance.

? Note We recommend that you create at least two read-only RDS instances to mitigate the impacts of single points of failure (SPOFs).

Logic used to route requests

- The following requests are routed only to the primary RDS instance:
 - Requests that are used to execute INSERT, UPDATE, DELETE, and SELECT FOR UPDATE statements.
 - All requests that are used to perform DDL operations, such as the DDL operations that are performed to create databases or tables, delete databases or tables, and change schemas or permissions.
 - All requests that are encapsulated in transactions.
 - Requests that are used to invoke user-defined functions.
 - Requests that are used to run stored procedures.
 - Requests that are used to execute EXECUTE statements.
 - Requests that are used to run multi-statement queries. For more information, see Multi-statement.
 - Requests that involve temporary tables.
 - Requests that are used to execute SELECT last_insert_id() statements.
 - All requests that are used to query or reconfigure user variables.
 - Requests that are used to execute KILL statements in SQL. These statements are different from the KILL commands in Linux.
- The following requests are routed to the primary RDS instance or read-only RDS instances:
 - Requests that are used to execute SELECT statements that are not encapsulated in transactions.
 - Requests that are used to execute COM_STMT_EXECUTE statements.
- The following requests are routed to the primary RDS instance and read-only RDS instances:
 - All requests that are used to reconfigure system variables.
 - Requests that are used to execute USE statements.
 - Requests that are used to execute SHOW PROCESSLIST statements.

(?) Note After a SHOW PROCESSLIST statement is executed, the dedicated proxy returns all processes that run on the primary RDS instance and read-only RDS instances in your database system.

- Requests that are used to execute COM_STMT_PREPARE statements.
- Requests that are used to execute COM_CHANGE_USER, COM_QUIT, and COM_SET_OPTION statements.

Perform read/write splitting

For more information, see Enable and configure the dedicated proxy feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Usage notes

For more information, see Usage notes for database proxies.

FAQ

For more information, see FAQ about dedicated proxies.

10.4. Billing rules for dedicated proxy instances that are enabled on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes the billing rules for dedicated proxy instances that are enabled on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Background information

- Proxy instances, read-only RDS instances, and primary RDS instances are separately billed.
- If the primary RDS instance is released, the enabled proxy instances are automatically released. You are no longer charged for the dedicated proxy feature.

Billing

A maximum of 60 proxy instances can be created for each RDS instance. These proxy instances provide higher processing capabilities. A SysBench test shows that each proxy instance supports 20,000 to 50,000 queries per second (QPS) in online transaction processing (OLTP) scenarios. We recommend that you estimate the maximum QPS that is supported by your RDS instance based on your actual stress test results.

Note If you upgrade the database proxy of your primary RDS instance from a shared proxy to a dedicated proxy, you can use the dedicated proxy feature free of charge for at least one year. For more information, see Upgrade the database proxy of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from a shared proxy to a dedicated proxy.

Proxy instances support only the pay-as-you-go billing method. The following table describes the prices of proxy instances in different Alibaba Cloud regions.

Region		Price
Name	Code	USD/Hour/Proxy
China (Hangzhou)	cn-hangzhou	0.173
China (Shanghai)	cn-shanghai	0.173
China (Qingdao)	cn-qingdao	0.173

Region		Price
Name	Code	USD/Hour/Proxy
China (Beijing)	cn-beijing	0.173
China (Zhangjiakou)	cn-zhangjiakou	0.120
China (Hohhot)	cn-huhehaote	0.173
China (Shenzhen)	cn-shenzhen	0.173
China (Heyuan)	cn-heyuan	0.173
China (Chengdu)	cn-chengdu	0.173
China (Hong Kong)	cn-hongkong	0.297
Japan (Tokyo)	ap-northeast-1	0.288
India (Mumbai)	ap-south-1	0.231
Singapore (Singapore)	ap-southeast-1	0.271
Australia (Sydney)	ap-southeast-2	0.273
Malaysia (Kuala Lumpur)	ap-southeast-3	0.253
Indonesia (Jakarta)	ap-southeast-5	0.271
Germany (Frankfurt)	eu-central-1	0.243
UK (London)	eu-west-1	0.280
UAE (Dubai)	me-east-1	0.377
US (Virginia)	us-east-1	0.237
US (Silicon Valley)	us-west-1	0.284

10.5. Usage notes for database proxies

This topic describes the notes that you must understand before you use the dedicated proxy feature of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL.

- Proxy instances, read-only RDS instances, and primary RDS instances are separately billed.
- When you change the specifications of the primary RDS instance or a read-only instance, a transient connection may occur.
- If your application connects to your database system by using a proxy endpoint and the transaction splitting feature is not enabled, all requests that are encapsulated in transactions are routed to the

primary RDS instance.

- If you create or restart a read-only instance after you enable the dedicated proxy feature, only the requests sent over new connections are routed to the new or restarted read-only instance.
- Dedicated proxy endpoints do not support compression.
- If a proxy endpoint is used to implement read/write splitting, the read consistency of the requests that are not encapsulated in transactions cannot be ensured. If you want to ensure the read consistency of these requests, you must encapsulate these requests in transactions or add hints. For more information, see Execute hints on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- If your application connects to your database system by using a proxy endpoint, the SHOW PROCESSL IST statement returns a result set for each query. The result set consists of the query results from the primary RDS instance and read-only RDS instances.
- The connection pool feature is enabled by default. Therefore, the SHOW PROCESSLIST statement may return idle connections. For more information, see Set the connection pool type of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- If you execute multi-statements or call stored procedures, all subsequent requests over the current connection are routed to the primary RDS instance. To use the read/write splitting feature again, you must close the current connection and establish a new connection.
- The dedicated proxy uses the 1:N connection model. After your application initiates a connection request, the dedicated proxy replicates the established connection to the primary RDS instance and all the read-only RDS instances. The maximum number of connections that are allowed to the dedicated proxy is not limited. The maximum number of connections varies based on the specifications of the primary RDS instance and read-only RDS instances. If you do not enable the transaction connection pool feature, the dedicated proxy establishes a separate connection from each client to the primary RDS instance and each of the read-only RDS instances. After you enable the dedicated proxy feature, we recommend that you specify the same maximum number of connections for the primary RDS instance and read-only RDS instances. If the maximum number of connections for the primary RDS instance and read-only RDS instances, the maximum number of connections that are allowed to the dedicated proxy is subject to the smallest number of connections that are allowed to the dedicated proxy is subject to the smallest number of connections among these instances.
- The **max_prepared_stmt_count** parameter must be set to the same value for the primary RDS instance and read-only RDS instances.
- If you use the MySQL CLI to establish a connection for which hints are added, you must add the _-c parameter to the hints. If you do not add this parameter to a hint, the MySQL CLI filters the hint out. For more information about the hint syntax, see Execute hints on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- If the primary RDS instance is locked, the enabled proxy instances are not released but can process only read requests.
- If the primary RDS instance is released, the enabled proxy instances are automatically released. You are no longer charged for the dedicated proxy feature.

10.6. FAQ about dedicated proxies

This topic provides answers to some commonly asked questions about dedicated proxies.

After I update the minor engine version of my RDS instance that runs MySQL 5.7, why is the dedicated proxy service still unavailable?

After you update the minor engine version of your RDS instance that runs MySQL 5.7, you must disable the original read/write splitting feature before you can use the dedicated proxy service.

After I enable the dedicated proxy service, do I need to use a dedicated proxy endpoint or the read/write splitting endpoint to implement read/write splitting?

After you enable the dedicated proxy service, the read/write splitting endpoint is the same as the dedicated proxy endpoint that you are using. The backend uses a dedicated proxy endpoint to implement read/write splitting.

I use a dedicated proxy endpoint to connect my application to my database system. What do I do if a connection timeout error is reported?

We recommend that you increase the value of the wait_timeout parameter and then try again.

After I enable the dedicated proxy service, does ApsaraDB RDS reclaim the original endpoints of the primary and read-only RDS instances in my database system?

No, after you enable the dedicated proxy service, ApsaraDB RDS does not reclaim the original endpoints of the primary and read-only RDS instances in your database system.

Does the number of dedicated proxy endpoints vary based on the number of dedicated proxies?

No, the number of dedicated proxy endpoints does not vary based on the number of dedicated proxies. You can apply for more than one dedicated proxy endpoint even if you have enabled only one dedicated proxy. For more information, see Create a proxy endpoint for a dedicated proxy.

Which architecture do dedicated proxies work in? And does this architecture provide a failover mechanism?

Dedicated proxies work in the high availability architecture. In this architecture, each dedicated proxy has a secondary dedicated proxy as a standby. If a dedicated proxy becomes faulty, ApsaraDB RDS fails over your workloads to the secondary dedicated proxy of the faulty dedicated proxy.

10.7. Proxy Terminal

10.7.1. Enable and configure the dedicated proxy feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to enable and configure the dedicated proxy feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. The dedicated proxy feature provides advanced features such as read/write splitting, connection pooling, transaction splitting, and SSL encryption.

Prerequisites

• Your RDS instance is a primary instance that runs one of the following MySQL versions and RDS

editions:

- MySQL 8.0 with a minor engine version of 20191204 or later on RDS Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 8.0 with a minor engine version of 20190915 or later on RDS High-availability Edition
- MySQL 5.7 with a minor engine version of 20191128 or later on RDS Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 5.7 with a minor engine version of 20190925 or later on RDS High-availability Edition
- MySQL 5.6 with a minor engine version of 20200229 or later on RDS High-availability Edition

Note To view the minor engine version of your RDS instance, you must log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console and go to the **Basic Information** page. In the **Configuration** Information section of the page, you can check whether the **Upgrade Kernel Version** button is displayed. If the button is displayed, you can click the button to view and update the minor engine version of your RDS instance. If the button is not displayed, your RDS instance runs the latest minor engine version. For more information, see Update the minor engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

- A read-only RDS instance is created for your RDS instance. For more information, see Create a readonly ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- Your RDS instance does not reside in Zone C or Zone D of the China (Hangzhou) region.

(?) Note If your RDS instance resides in Zone C or Zone D of the China (Hangzhou) region, you must migrate your RDS instance to other zones before you enable the dedicated proxy feature for your RDS instance. For more information, see Migrate an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance across zones in the same region.

Billing rules

For more information, see Billing rules for dedicated proxy instances that are enabled on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Limits

- If you enable the dedicated proxy feature for your RDS instance, your RDS instance does not support compression protocols.
- If you enable the dedicated proxy feature for your RDS instance, your RDS instance does not support vSwitch changes.

Step 1: Enable the dedicated proxy feature

This section describes how to enable the dedicated proxy feature for your RDS instance in the ApsaraDB RDS console. You can also enable the dedicated proxy feature when you create a read-only RDS instance for your RDS instance. For more information, see Create a read-only ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Database Proxy**.
- 3. On the page that appears, click **Enable Proxy**. In the dialog box that appears, configure the **Network Type** parameter and the **Proxies** parameter and click **Enable**.



- The default network type of a proxy endpoint varies based on the configuration of your RDS instance. For more information, see Manage the dedicated proxy endpoints of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- We recommend that you set the number of proxy instances to one-eighth of the tot al number of cores that are configured for your RDS instance and its read-only R DS instances.
 If the result is not an integer, you must round up the result to the nearest integer. You can specify up to 60 proxy instances.

For example, if your RDS instance has 8 cores and its read-only RDS instance has 4 cores, we recommend that you specify two proxy instances based on the following calculation: (8 + 4)/8 = 1.5. The result 1.5 is rounded up to 2.

Step 2: Configure a proxy terminal

Before you can use the advanced features that are provided by the dedicated proxy feature, you must configure a proxy terminal for your RDS instance.

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Database Proxy**.
- 3. On the Proxy Terminal (Original Read/Write Splitting) tab, click Configure Proxy Terminal.
- 4. In the dialog box that appears, configure the following parameters and click **OK**.

Parameter

Description

Parameter	Description
Custom Proxy Terminal	The name of the proxy terminal. The name can be up to 30 characters in length.
Read/Writ e Attribute	 The read and write attribute of the proxy terminal. Valid values: Read/Write (Primary Instance Connected to Receive Write Requests): The proxy terminal connects to the primary RDS instance and the read-only RDS instances, and can receive write requests. This is the default attribute. Read-only (Primary Instance Not Connected to Receive Write Requests): The proxy terminal connects only to the read-only RDS instances and cannot receive write requests. For more information, see What is read/write splitting?
Connectio n Pool	 Specifies whether to enable the connection pool feature and specifies the type of connection pool that you want to enable. Valid values: Transaction Connection Pool: If tens of thousands of or more connections need to be established, select this value. This is the default value. Session Connection Pool: If only short-lived connections over PHP need to be established, set this parameter to this value. Disable Connection Pool: If you want to disable the connection pool feature, set this parameter to this value. Tor more information, see Set the connection pool type of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. Note This parameter is displayed only if you set the Read/Write Attribute parameter to Read/Write (Primary Instance Connected to Receive Write Requests).
Latency Threshold	The maximum latency that is allowed for data replication from the primary RDS instance to the read-only RDS instances. If the latency of data replication to a read-only RDS instance exceeds the value of this parameter, ApsaraDB RDS no longer routes read requests to the read-only RDS instance regardless of the read weight of the read-only RDS instance. Valid values: 0 to 3600. Unit: seconds. The read-only RDS instances may replicate data from the primary RDS instance at a specific latency. The latency varies based on the statuses of the SQL statements that are executed. We recommend that you set this parameter to a value that is greater than or equal to 30.

Parameter	Description
Transacti on Splitting	Specifies whether to enable the transaction splitting feature. After you enable the transaction splitting feature, ApsaraDB RDS can route the read requests prior to write operations in transactions to the read-only RDS instances. This way, the loads on the primary RDS instance are reduced. This feature is enabled by default.
	Note This parameter is displayed only if you set the Read/Write Attribute parameter to Read/Write (Primary Instance Connected to Receive Write Requests).
	The method that is used to assign read weights. A higher read weight indicates more read requests that need to be processed. For example, three read-only RDS instances are attached to the primary RDS instance, the read weight of the primary RDS instance is 0, and the read weights of the three read-only RDS instances are 100, 200, and 200. In this case, the primary RDS instance processes only write requests, and the three read-only RDS instances are and the three read-only RDS instances are 1:2:2 ratio.
Read Weight Distributi on	• Automatic : ApsaraDB RDS assigns a read weight to each RDS instance in your database system based on the specifications of the RDS instance. After you create a read-only RDS instance, ApsaraDB RDS automatically assigns a read weight to the read-only RDS instance and adds the read-only RDS instance to the read/write splitting link. For more information, see Rules of weight allocation by the system.
	 Custom: You must manually specify a read weight for each RDS instance in your database system. Valid values: 0 to 10000. The read weight of a read-only RDS instance defaults to 0. After you create a read-only RDS instance, you must manually specify a read weight for the read-only RDS instance based on your business requirements.
	 Note If a data replication latency is specified for a read-only RDS instance, you cannot specify a read weight for the read-only RDS instance. For more information, see Set the data replication latency of a read-only ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. After you reconfigure this parameter, the new read weights immediately take effect and no transient connections occur. In addition, the existing connections remain open. Only the requests that are sent over new connections are routed based on the new weights.

After you configure a proxy terminal, you must add the specified endpoint of the proxy terminal to your application. This endpoint is also known as a proxy endpoint. Then, ApsaraDB RDS can route write requests to the primary RDS instance and read requests to the read-only RDS instances based on the read weights of these instances.

Step 3: Optional. Create a proxy terminal

Each RDS instance supports up to seven proxy terminals. You can create multiple proxy terminals, which help you apply different read and write policies to different clients.

Prerequisites

Multiple proxy instances are enabled, and the number of proxy instances that you enabled is greater than the number of proxy terminals that you created. For more information, see Adjust the number of dedicated proxies on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Database Proxy**.
- 3. In the upper-right corner of the page, click Create Proxy Terminal.

4.

After you create a proxy terminal, you must add the specified endpoint of the proxy terminal to your application. This endpoint is also known as a proxy endpoint. Then, ApsaraDB RDS can route write requests to the primary RDS instance and read requests to the read-only RDS instances based on the read weights of these instances.

Related operations

Operation	Description
ModifyDBProxy	Enables or disables the dedicated proxy feature for an ApsaraDB RDS instance.
DescribeDBProxy	Queries the details about the dedicated proxy of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

10.7.2. Set the connection pool type of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to set the connection pool type of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. Connection pools are provided in the dedicated proxy to reduce the heavy loads that are caused by excessive connections or frequent short-lived connections such as PHP-based connections.

Prerequisites

Enable and configure the dedicated proxy feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

Context

The dedicated proxy supports the following two types of connection pools:

• Transaction connection pool

This is the default connection pool type. A transaction connection pool is used to reduce the number of direct connections to your database system and reduce the heavy loads that are caused by frequent short-lived connections. If your application establishes tens of thousands of connections to your database system, we recommend that you select this connection pool type.

Requests from clients: N

Transaction-level Connection Pool Requests to Database: 2



? Note

- After you enable a transaction connection pool, your application can establish thousands of connections to the dedicated proxy. However, the dedicated proxy may establish only a few dozen or a few hundred connections to your database system.
- The maximum number of connections to the dedicated proxy is not limited. This maximum number varies only based on the specifications of the primary and read-only RDS instances in your database system. If you do not enable a transaction connection pool, the dedicated proxy establishes a connection to each of the primary and read-only RDS instances after the dedicated proxy receives a request from your application.

If you enable a transaction connection pool, your application connects to the dedicated proxy when it initiates a request. This way, the dedicated proxy does not immediately establish a connection to each of the primary and read-only RDS instances. Instead, the dedicated proxy searches the transaction connection pool for an available connection that matches the request. A connection matches the request if the values of the user parameter, dbname parameter, and system variable are the same in the connection and the request. If the dedicated proxy cannot find an available connection, the dedicated proxy establishes a new connection. If the dedicated proxy can find an available connection that is specified in the request is complete, the dedicated proxy releases the connection to the transaction connection pool.

• For more information about the limits of the transaction connection pool feature, see Limits of transaction connection pools.

Without Session-level Connection Pool Application Application Proxy Database Disconnected Application Proxy Database Create another connection

Session connection pool



With Session-level Connection Pool

If your application establishes short-lived connections to your database system, we recommend that you select this connection pool type.

A session connection pool is used to reduce the heavy loads that are caused by frequent short-lived connections. When your application becomes disconnected, ApsaraDB RDS checks whether the closed connection is idle. If the connection is idle, ApsaraDB RDS retains the connection in the session connection pool for a short period of time. When your application reinitiates a request, the dedicated proxy searches the session connection pool for an available connection that matches the request. A connection matches the request if the values of the user, clientip, and dbname parameters are the same in the connection and the request. If the dedicated proxy can find an available connection, the dedicated proxy reuses the available connection. This way, the overhead that is caused by frequent connections is reduced. If the dedicated proxy cannot find an available connection, the dedicated proxy establishes a new connection.

- ? Note
 - A session connection pool cannot reduce concurrent connections to your database system. However, a session connection pool can decrease the frequency at which your application establishes connections to your database system. This way, the overhead from the main MySQL thread is reduced and your database system can process requests more efficiently. However, the idle connections in the session connection pool temporarily consume the connection quota.
 - A session connection pool cannot reduce piled-up connections that are caused by a large number of slow SQL statements. To reduce piled-up connections, you must fix the issues that cause slow SQL statements.

Precautions

- The connection pool feature does not allow you to configure an account to have different permissions on different IP addresses. If you configure an account to have different permissions on different IP addresses, permission errors may occur when the existing connections are reused. For example, an account has permissions on database_a when it logs on from the 192.168.1.1 IP address, but the account does not have permissions on database_a when it logs on from the 192.168.1.2 IP address. In this case, permission errors may occur if you enable the connection pool feature.
- The connection pool feature that is provided in the dedicated proxy of your database system does not affect the connection pool feature that is provided in your application. If your application provides a connection pool, you do not need to enable the connection pool feature for your database system.

Limits of transaction connection pools

- When one of the following operations is performed over a connection, the dedicated proxy locks the connection. The dedicated proxy does not release the connection to the connection pool until the operation is complete.
 - Execute the PREPARE statement.
 - Create a temporary table.
 - Reconfigure a user variable.
 - Process large packets, such as the packets whose sizes exceed 16 MB.
 - Execute the LOCK TABLE statement.
 - Run a multi-statement query.

- Call a stored procedure.
- The FOUND_ROWS, ROW_COUNT, and LAST_INSERT_ID functions are not supported. You can call these functions, but the results that are returned by these functions may be inaccurate.
 - If the dedicated proxy version that you use is V1.13.11 or later, you can execute the SELECT FOUND ROWS () statement after the SELECT SQL_CALC_FOUND_ROWS * FROM t1 LIMIT * statement. However, we recommend that you do not perform the preceding operation. We recommend that you replace the SELECT FOUND_ROWS () statement with the SELECT COUNT (*) FROM tb1 statement. For more information, see FOUND_ROWS().
 - If the dedicated proxy version that you use is V1.13.11 or later, you can execute the SELECT LAST_ INSERT_ID() statement after the INSERT statement. This way, you can ensure the accuracy of query results.
- If you configure the wait_timeout parameter, the value of the wait_timeout parameter may not take effect on your application. This is because ApsaraDB RDS selects a connection from the connection pool whenever your application initiates a request. When the time that is specified by the wait_timeout parameter elapses, only the connections to the primary and read-only RDS instances are closed and the connections to your application remain open.
- The transaction connection pool matches requests with connections based on the following four variables: sql_mode, character_set_server, collation_server, and time_zone. If a request includes other session-level system variables, you must explicitly execute the SET statement on your application to configure these variables after the requested connection is established. Otherwise, a connection whose system variables are reconfigured may be selected from the transaction connection pool and reused.
- You can execute the <u>SELECT CONNECTION_ID()</u> statement to query the thread ID of a connection. This way, you can check whether the connection is reused.
- If the existing connections are reused, the IP address and port number that are returned by the SHOW PROCESSLIST statement or the SQL Explorer and Audit feature may differ from the actual IP address and port number of the database client on which your application runs. For more information, see Use the SQL Explorer and Audit feature on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- The dedicated proxy merges the results that are obtained by the SHOW PROCESSLIST statement from all the primary and read-only RDS instances. Then, the dedicated proxy returns a result set to your application. If you enable a transaction connection pool, the thread ID of the connection between your application and the dedicated proxy differs from the thread ID of the connection between the dedicated proxy and your database system. As a result, the kill command may report an error even if the command is successfully run. In this case, you can execute the SHOW PROCESSLIST statement again to check whether the specified process is terminated.

Select a connection pool type

You can determine whether to enable the connection pool feature and specify the type of connection pool that you want to enable based on your business requirements:

- If your application establishes tens of thousands of connections to your database system or uses serverless computing to support a linear increase in the number of connections along with scaling and your application is not subject to the preceding limits of transaction connection pools, we recommend that you enable a transaction connection pool for your database system.
- If your application establishes only short-lived connections to your database system and is subject to the preceding limits of transaction connection pools, we recommend that you enable a session connection pool for your database system.

 If your application establishes a small number of connections to your database system and most of the connections are long-lived connections or if your application provides a connection pool, you do not need to enable the connection pool feature for your database system.

Change the connection pool type

- 1.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Database Proxy**.
- 3. Click the **Proxy Terminal (Original Read/Write Splitting)** tab. Then, select the type of connection pool that you want to enable from the **Connection Pool** drop-down list.

ONOTE The new type of connection pool is applied only to new connections.

Related operations

Operation	Description
DescribeDBProxy	Queries details about the dedicated proxy instances that are enabled on an ApsaraDB RDS instance.
DescribeDBProxyEndpoint	Queries the proxy endpoints that are used to connect to the dedicated proxy of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.
ModifyDBProxyEndpoint	Modifies a proxy endpoint that is used to connect to the dedicated proxy of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

10.7.3. Use the transaction splitting feature on

an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to enable and disable the transaction splitting feature that is provided in the database proxy of a primary ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. This feature allows ApsaraDB RDS to route the read requests prior to write operations in a transaction to the read-only RDS instances of your database system. This reduces the loads on the primary RDS instance.

Prerequisites

Enable and configure the dedicated proxy feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

Context

By default, the dedicated proxy sends all requests that are encapsulated in transactions to the primary RDS instance. This ensures the correctness of the transactions. However, in some frameworks, the autocommit mode is disabled by using the set autocommit=0; command. As a result, all requests are encapsulated in the transactions that are not automatically committed. This causes heavy loads on the primary RDS instance. In this case, you can enable the transaction splitting feature.

By default, the transaction splitting feature is enabled with the default isolation level READ COMMITTED. If the autocommit mode is disabled, ApsaraDB RDS starts a transaction only for write operations. In addition, before the transaction starts, ApsaraDB RDS routes all read requests to the read-only RDS instances by using a load balancer.

? Note

- Explicit transactions cannot be split. These explicit transactions include the transactions that are started by using BEGIN or START statements.
- After you enable the transaction splitting feature, global consistency cannot be ensured. Before you enable this feature, we recommend that you evaluate whether this feature is suitable for your workloads.



Procedure

You can enable or disable the transaction splitting feature based on your business requirements.

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Database Proxy**.
- 3. On the **Proxy Terminal (Original Read/Write Splitting)** tab, click **Enable** or **Disable** to the right of **Transaction Splitting**.

? Note After you enable or disable the transaction splitting feature, the new setting is applied only to new connections.

Related operations

Operation	Description
DescribeDBProxy	Queries details about the dedicated proxy instances that are enabled on an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

Operation	Description
DescribeDBProxyEndpoint	Queries the endpoints that are used to connect to the dedicated proxy of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.
ModifyDBProxyEndpoint	Modifies a proxy endpoint that is used to connect to the dedicated proxy of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

10.7.4. Manage the dedicated proxy endpoints of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to manage the dedicated proxy endpoints of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. After the dedicated proxy feature is enabled, a default dedicated proxy endpoint is generated. The proxy terminal feature is bound to this endpoint. You can create, modify, or delete a dedicated proxy endpoint.

Prerequisites

Enable and configure the dedicated proxy feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

Network types

Dedicated proxy endpoints come in three network types: Internal (VPC), Internal (Classic Network), and Public.

After the dedicated proxy feature is enabled, a default dedicated proxy endpoint is generated. You can retain the default network type of the default dedicated proxy endpoint. You can also create more dedicated proxy endpoints. The available network types vary based on the configuration of your RDS instance.

Instance configuration	Network type of the default dedicated proxy endpoint	Network type of a new dedicated proxy endpoint
Standard SSDs (VPC)	Internal (VPC)	Public
ESSDs (VPC)		
Local SSDs (VPC)	Internal (VPC) Public	Internal (VPC) Internal (Classic Network) Public
Local SSDs (classic network)	Internal (Classic Network) Public	Internal (Classic Network) Public
Note Each RDS instance can have only one dedicated proxy endpoint of each network type. The network type of a dedicated proxy endpoint is specified by the Endpoint Type parameter. For example, only one dedicated proxy endpoint of the Internal (VPC) network type is allowed.

Create a dedicated proxy endpoint

After the dedicated proxy feature is enabled, a default dedicated proxy endpoint is generated. For more information, see Enable and configure the dedicated proxy feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. You can create more dedicated proxy endpoints.

1. Go to the Database Proxy page.

i.

- ii. Find your RDS instance and click the ID of the instance. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Database Proxy**.
- 2. In the Endpoint section of the Proxy tab, click Create Endpoint.
- 3. Configure the Proxy Terminal, Endpoint, Port, and Network Type parameters. Then, click OK. For more information, see Introduction to proxy terminals.

? Note

- Each RDS instance can have only one dedicated proxy endpoint of each network type. The network type of a dedicated proxy endpoint is specified by the **Endpoint Type** parameter.
- The prefix of a dedicated proxy endpoint must be 1 to 40 characters in length and can contain letters, digits, and hyphens (-). The prefix must start with a lowercase letter.
- The port number that is bound to a dedicated proxy endpoint must be within the range of 1000 to 5999.

Change a dedicated proxy endpoint or the port number that is bound to the endpoint

1. Go to the **Database Proxy** page.

i.

- ii. Find your RDS instance and click the ID of the instance. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Database Proxy**.
- 2. Find the dedicated proxy endpoint and click **Change** on the right. In the dialog box that appears, change the dedicated proxy endpoint or the associated port number and click **OK**.

? Note

- The prefix of a dedicated proxy endpoint must be 1 to 40 characters in length and can contain letters, digits, and hyphens (-). The prefix must start with a lowercase letter.
- The port number that is bound to a dedicated proxy endpoint must be within the range of 1000 to 5999.

Endpoint	Create Endpoint					
Proxy Terminal		Endpoint	Port	Network Type		
		.rwlb.rds.aliyuncs.com	3306	Internal (VPC)	Change	Delete
	Edit	rwlb.rds.aliyuncs.com	3306	Public	Change	Delete

Delete a dedicated proxy endpoint

? Note

- If your RDS instance uses standard SSDs or enhanced SSDs (ESSDs), you cannot delete a dedicated proxy endpoint whose network type is Internal (VPC).
- If your RDS instance uses local SSDs, you must retain at least one dedicated proxy endpoint.
- 1. Go to the **Database Proxy** page.

i.

- ii. Find your RDS instance and click the ID of the instance. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Database Proxy**.
- 2. Find the dedicated proxy endpoint and click **Delete** on the right. In the dialog box that appears, click **OK**.

Note You can delete only the dedicated proxy endpoints that you create.

References

- Introduction to proxy terminals
- What is read/write splitting?

Related operations

Operation	Description
DescribeDBProxy	Queries details about the dedicated proxy of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.
CreateDBProxyEndpointAddress	Creates a dedicated proxy endpoint for an ApsaraDB RDS instance.
ModifyDBProxyEndpointAddress	Modifies a dedicated proxy endpoint of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.
DeleteDBProxyEndpointAddress	Deletes a dedicated proxy endpoint of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

10.7.5. Configure SSL encryption for a proxy endpoint on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to configure Secure Sockets Layer (SSL) encryption for a proxy endpoint on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. The dedicated proxy of your RDS instance provides advanced features, such as proxy terminal, connection pool, and transaction splitting. You can use SSL encryption to protect the data that is destined for a proxy endpoint.

Prerequisites

- Your RDS instance runs one of the following MySQL versions and RDS editions:
 - MySQL 8.0 on RDS High-availability Edition with local SSDs (The minor engine version is 20200831 or later.)
 - MySQL 5.7 on RDS High-availability Edition with local SSDs (The minor engine version is 20200831 or later.)
 - MySQL 5.6 on RDS High-availability Edition with local SSDs (The minor engine version is 20200831 or later.)

(?) Note If your RDS instance is attached with read-only RDS instances, the read-only RDS instances must meet the requirements that are described in Update the minor engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

- The dedicated proxy is enabled. For more information, see Enable the dedicated proxy service for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- The dedicated proxy version of your RDS instance is V1.12.8 or later. For more information, see Upgrade the dedicated proxy version of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- The total length of the proxy endpoint that you want to protect does not exceed 64 characters.

Precautions

- SSL encryption can be configured for only one proxy endpoint per proxy terminal.
- If you enable or disable SSL encryption, change the protected proxy endpoint, or update the validity period of the SSL certificate, your RDS instance restarts. Proceed with caution.

Enable SSL encryption

Notice This operation triggers a restart of your RDS instance. Proceed with caution.

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click Database Proxy.
- 3. Click the Proxy Terminal (Original Read/Write Splitting) tab.
- 4. Find the proxy terminal to which the proxy endpoint that you want to protect belongs. Turn on the switch next to SSL Certificate Information. In the dialog box that appears, select the proxy endpoint that you want to protect, and click OK.

Change the protected proxy endpoint

Notice This operation triggers an update to the validity period of the SSL certificate. This operation also triggers a restart of your RDS instance. Proceed with caution.

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Database Proxy**.
- 3. Click the Proxy Terminal (Original Read/Write Splitting) tab.
- 4. Find the proxy terminal to which the protected proxy endpoint belongs. Click Change Protected Endpoint to the right of **Protected Endpoint**. In the dialog box that appears, select a new proxy endpoint and click **OK**.

Update the validity period of the SSL certificate

Notice This operation triggers a restart of your RDS instance. Proceed with caution.

- 1.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Database Proxy**.
- 3. Click the Proxy Terminal (Original Read/Write Splitting) tab.
- 4. Find the proxy terminal to which the protected proxy endpoint belongs. Click **Update Expiration Time** to the right of SSL Certificate Information. In the message that appears, click **OK**.

Disable SSL encryption

Notice This operation triggers a restart of your RDS instance. Proceed with caution.

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click Database Proxy.
- 3. Click the Proxy Terminal (Original Read/Write Splitting) tab.
- 4. Find the proxy terminal to which the protected proxy endpoint belongs. Turn off the switch next to SSL Certificate Information. In the message that appears, click OK.

Related operations

Operation	Description
ModifyDbProxyInstanceSsl	Configures SSL encryption for a proxy endpoint of an RDS instance.
GetDbProxyInstanceSsl	Queries the SSL encryption settings for a proxy endpoint of an RDS instance.

10.7.6. View the proxy monitoring data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to view the proxy monitoring data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. The monitoring data provides the CPU utilization for the proxy instances that are enabled. You can obtain the loads on the enabled proxy instances and adjust the number of proxy instances based on the monitoring data.

Prerequisites

Enable and configure the dedicated proxy feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

Procedure

- 1.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Database Proxy**.
- 3. Click the Monitoring Data tab.
- 4. Select a time range. Then, you can view the CPU Utilization metric over the selected time range.

? Note The CPU Utilization (%) metric indicates the CPU utilization for the proxy instances that are enabled.

Related operations

Operation	Description
DescribeDBProxyPerformance	Queries the performance data of the dedicated proxy of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

10.7.7. Adjust the number of dedicated proxies on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to adjust the number of dedicated proxies on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance based on monitoring data and business planning.

Prerequisites

The dedicated proxy service is enabled for your RDS instance. For more information, see Enable and configure the dedicated proxy feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Precautions

The adjustment causes a transient connection error on your application. Make sure that your application is configured to automatically reconnect to your RDS instance.

Procedure

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Database Proxy**.
- 3. In the Proxy Instance section of the Proxy Service tab, modify the number to the right of the **Instances Associated** parameter and then click **Apply** to the right of the Adjustment Plan parameter

(?) Note We recommend that you specify the number of dedicated proxies as the roundedup integer of the total number of CPU cores for your RDS instance and its read-only RDS instances divided by 8. A maximum of 60 dedicated proxies are supported.

For example, if your RDS instance has eight CPU cores and its read-only RDS instances have four CPU cores, the recommended number of dedicated proxies is 2 based on the following calculation: (8 + 4)/8 = 1.5 (rounded up to 2).

Ρ	roxy Instance		
P	гоху Туре	Dedicated Proxy	CPU and Memory
Ir	istances Associated 🔞	- 2 +	Adjustment Plan

4. Set the **Applied At** parameter and click **OK**.

Configure Proxy Resources			\times
Proxy Type:	Dedicated Proxy		
CPU and Memory:	2 Cores, 4 GB		
Instances:	Existing Instances	s: 1, New Instances: 2	
Applied At:	Migrate Imm	ediately	
	O Next Mainte	nance Period(Current Setting: 02:00-06:00 Modify)	
	Start From	2019-10-14 10 $\stackrel{\wedge}{\checkmark}$: 58 $\stackrel{\wedge}{\checkmark}$	
Note: Configuring proxy resources may cause applications to disconnect. Make sure that your applications are configured with automatic reconnection policies.			

Related operations

Operation	Description
ModifyDBProxyInstance	Modifies the number of dedicated proxies on an ApsaraDB RDS instance.
DescribeDBProxy	Queries details about the dedicated proxies of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

10.8. Other features

10.8.1. Upgrade the database proxy of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from a shared proxy to a dedicated proxy

ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL provides the dedicated proxy feature. The dedicated proxy feature provides higher stability, scalability, and performance than the shared proxy feature. If the shared proxy feature is enabled for your primary RDS instance, you can upgrade the database proxy of the instance from a shared proxy to a dedicated proxy.

Note Since April 1, 2021, Alibaba Cloud provides technical support only for the shared proxy feature of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL and no longer updates or maintains the shared proxy feature. We recommend that you upgrade the database proxy of your primary RDS instance from a shared proxy to a dedicated proxy at the earliest opportunity. For more information, see [Notice] End of updates and maintenance for the shared proxy feature.

Upgrade promotions

You are provided a free trial period for the dedicated proxy feature. During the free trial period, you can use the default number of proxy instances that are provided free of charge. If you enable more proxy instances, you are charged for the additional proxy instances that you enable. The free trial period varies based on the billing method:

- If your primary RDS instance uses the pay-as-you-go billing method, the free trial period is one year.
- If your primary RDS instance uses the subscription billing method, the free trial period is at least one year and can vary based on the expiration time of the instance.
 - If you perform the upgrade more than one year before your primary RDS instance expires, the free trial period ends at the time when your primary RDS instance expires.

? Note If you renew your primary RDS instance, the free trial period remains unchanged and does not extend to the new expiration time.

• If you perform the upgrade less than one year before the expiration time of your primary RDS instance, the free trial period is one year.

Take note of the following points:

- The dedicated proxy of your primary RDS instance provides a default number of proxy instances. If you enable more proxy instances than the default number during the free trial period, you are charged for the additional proxy instances that you enable. For example, if the dedicated proxy provides six default proxy instances, you are not charged when the number of proxy instances that you enable does not exceed 6. However, if you enable seven proxy instances, you are charged for one proxy instance.
- If you disable the dedicated proxy feature for your primary RDS instance during the free trial period, the free trial period ends. You are charged for the dedicated proxy if you enable this feature again.

Prerequisites

- Your primary RDS instance and read-only RDS instances run one of the following MySQL versions and RDS editions:
 - MySQL 5.7 with a minor engine version of 20190925 or later on RDS High-availability Edition
 - MySQL 5.6 with a minor engine version of 20200229 or later on RDS High-availability Edition

? Note

- If your primary RDS instance runs MySQL 5.6 on RDS Enterprise Edition, you cannot upgrade the database proxy of the instance from a shared proxy to a dedicated proxy.
- If the "current db not support db proxy" error message appears during the upgrade, you must update the minor engine versions of your primary RDS instance and read-only RDS instances before you perform the upgrade. For more information, see Update the minor engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- The shared proxy feature is enabled for your primary RDS instance. You can log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console and go to the **Database Proxy** page to check whether the shared proxy feature is enabled for your primary RDS instance.

Pricing

When you perform the upgrade, ApsaraDB RDS recommends a specific number of proxy instances based on the overall specifications of your primary RDS instance and read-only RDS instances. You are charged an hourly fee for the additional proxy instances that you enable. For more information, see Billing rules for dedicated proxy instances that are enabled on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Background information

The read/write splitting feature of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL is implemented based on the database proxy feature. For some existing RDS instances that run MySQL 5.6 or MySQL 5.7, the read/write splitting feature is implemented based on the shared proxy feature. However, the shared proxy feature cannot ensure service stability. We recommend that you upgrade the database proxies of these RDS instances from shared proxies to dedicated proxies. The dedicated proxy feature has the following advantages over the shared proxy feature:

- The dedicated proxy feature provides better stability and isolation.
- The dedicated proxy feature provides higher performance. If the instance configuration is not a bottleneck, each proxy instance can process up to 20,000 queries per second (QPS) in online transaction processing (OLTP) scenarios. This is verified by a test that is performed by using SysBench.
- The dedicated proxy feature supports scaling. To process more workloads, you can enable more proxy instances.
- The dedicated proxy feature supports performance monitoring. You can adjust the number of proxy instances based on the monitoring data and your business plan. An adjustment takes effect immediately after it is applied.
- A unified proxy endpoint is provided. This eliminates the need to modify the endpoint information on your application and reduces maintenance costs. The proxy endpoint remains valid until you release the proxy instances. For example, you may enable the read/write splitting feature during peak hours, and then release read-only RDS instances and disable the read/write splitting feature during off-peak hours. In these cases, the proxy endpoint remains connected, and you do not need to update the endpoint information on your application.
- A unified proxy endpoint is used to implement features such as read/write splitting, short-lived connection optimization, and transaction splitting.

For more information about the dedicated proxy feature, see What are database proxies?.

The following section describes how to upgrade the database proxy of your primary RDS instance from a shared proxy to a dedicated proxy.

Precautions

- After you enable the dedicated proxy feature, each connection is replicated to your primary RDS instance and read-only RDS instances in compliance with the 1:N connection model. We recommend that you specify the same connection specifications for these instances. If these instances have different connection specifications, the number of connections that are allowed is limited by the lowest connection specifications among these instances.
- If you create or restart a read-only RDS instance after you enable the dedicated proxy, only the requests over new connections are routed to the read-only RDS instance.
- The **max_prepared_stmt_count** parameter must be set to the same value for your primary RDS instance and read-only RDS instances.
- For more information, see Usage notes for database proxies.

Impacts

During the upgrade, the endpoints of your primary RDS instance and read-only RDS instances encounter a transient connection that lasts 30 seconds. The read/write splitting endpoint is also unavailable for 30 seconds.

Procedure

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Database Proxy**.
- 3. Click Upgrade to Dedicated Proxy.

```
Onte Wait until the upgrade is complete.
```

10.8.2. Upgrade the dedicated proxy version of

an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to upgrade the dedicated proxy version of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Prerequisites

Enable and configure the dedicated proxy feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

For more information about dedicated proxy versions, see Release notes of dedicated proxy versions.

Precautions

The upgrade causes a restart of the proxy instances that are enabled on the RDS instance. During the restart process, a 30-second transient connection occurs. The time when the proxy instances restart varies based on the value of the **Upgrade Time** parameter. You can select **Upgrade Immediate** or **Upgrade within maintenance period** for the parameter. We recommend that you perform the upgrade during off-peak hours. Otherwise, make sure that your application is configured to automatically reconnect to your database system.

Procedure

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Database Proxy**.
- 3. Click Upgrade Dedicated Proxy Version.
- 4. In the dialog box that appears, set the **Upgrade Time** parameter and click **OK**.

Related operations

Operation	Description
UpgradeDBProxyInstanceKernelVersion	Upgrades the dedicated proxy version of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

10.8.3. Disable the dedicated proxy of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to disable the dedicated proxy of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Prerequisites

The dedicated proxy of your RDS instance is enabled. For more information, see Enable and configure the dedicated proxy feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Procedure

Notice If the proxy terminal feature is enabled, it is disabled when the dedicated proxy is disabled. For more information, see Enable the proxy terminal feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Database Proxy**.
- 3. In the upper-right corner of the Proxy Service tab, click **Disable Proxy Service**.
- 4. In the message that appears, click OK.

Related API operations

Operation	Description
ModifyDBProxy	Enables or disables the dedicated proxy of an RDS instance.
DescribeDBProxy	Queries details about the dedicated proxy of an RDS instance.

10.8.4. Execute hints on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to execute hints on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Limits

You can execute hints only on an RDS instance that is connected by a read/write splitting endpoint. For more information, see What is read/write splitting?.

Usage

- If you use the MySQL command-line interface (CLI) to connect to your RDS instance, you must add the
 parameter to the hints that you want to execute. If you do not add this parameter to the hints, the MySQL CLI filters out the hints.
- You can use the /*FORCE_MASTER*/ hint to specify to query data from the primary RDS instance. You can also use the /*FORCE_SLAVE*/ hint to specify to query data from the secondary RDS instance.

? Note

- Hints are not subject to consistency or transaction limits. Therefore, hints have the highest route priorities. Before you execute hints, you must evaluate whether the hints are suitable for your workloads.
- Hints cannot contain statements that are used to reconfigure environment variables. For example, the /*FORCE_SLAVE*/ set names utf8; command is not allowed. If you include these statements in hints, errors may occur in your subsequent workloads.
- You can run the /*force_node='<The ID of an RDS instance>'*/ command to query data from a specified RDS instance. For example, if you specify the /*force_node='rr-bpxxxxx'*/ show processl ist; command, the SHOW PROCESSLIST statement is executed only on the read-only RDS instance named rr-bpxxxxx. If the read-only RDS instance is faulty, the " force hint server node is not foun d, please check. " error message is returned.
- You can run the /*force_proxy_internal*/set force_node = '<The ID of an RDS instance>'; command to always query data from the specified RDS instance. For example, after you run the /*f orce_proxy_internal*/set force_node = 'rr-bpxxxxx'; command, all the subsequent commands are routed to the read-only RDS instance named rr-bpxxxxx. If the read-only RDS instance is faulty, the " set force node 'rr-bpxxxxx' is not found, please check. "error message is returned.

Note In most cases, we recommend that you do not use the /*force_proxy_internal*/ syntax. This syntax specifies to route all the subsequent requests to the specified RDS instance. As a result, the read/write splitting feature becomes invalid.

11.Instance changes 11.1. ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL configuration items

This topic describes the items that you can configure for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Configuration item	Description	References
Region	After your RDS instance is created, you cannot change the region where your RDS instance resides. If you want to deploy your database service in a different region, you can create an RDS instance in the region that you want. Then, you can migrate the data of your original RDS instance to the new RDS instance by using Data Transmission Service (DTS). After the data is migrated, you must update the endpoint configuration on your application and verify that your workloads run as expected on the new RDS instance. Then, you can release your original RDS instance. For more information, see Release or unsubscribe from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.	Migrate data between ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances

Configuration item	Description	References	
	 Only the following downgrade and upgrade scenarios are supported: If your RDS instance runs MySQL 5.6 on RDS Enterprise Edition, you can downgrade the RDS edition of the instance to High-availability Edition. If your RDS instance runs MySQL 5.7 or MySQL 8.0 on RDS Basic Edition, you can downgrade the RDS edition of the instance to High-availability Edition. 		
RDS Edition	<section-header> Note If your RDS instance does not meet the preceding conditions, you cannot upgrade or downgrade the RDS edition of your RDS instance. If none of the preceding downgrade and upgrade scenarios meets your business requirements, you can perform the following steps: Create an RDS instance. When you configure the parameters for the RDS instance, select the RDS edition that you want to use. For more information, see Create an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. Migrate the data of your original RDS instance to the new RDS instance. For more information, see Migrate data between ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances. Release the original RDS instance. For more information, see Release or unsubscribe from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. </section-header>	Change the specifications of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance Upgrade an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from Basic Edition to High-availability Edition	
Instance type	 You can change the instance type of your RDS instance regardless of the instance configuration. Note If the specifications of your RDS instance are outdated and cannot be directly changed, you can perform the following steps: Create an RDS instance. When you configure the parameters for the RDS instance, select the instance type that you want to use. For more information, see Create an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. Migrate the data of your original RDS instance to the new RDS instance. For more information, see Migrate data between ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances. Release the original RDS instance. For more information, see Release or unsubscribe from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. 	Change the specifications of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance Enable the automatic scale- up feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	

Configuration item	Description	References
Storage Type	When you upgrade the RDS edition of your RDS instance to the High-availability Edition, you can change the storage type to local SSDs at the same time. This operation is supported only when your RDS instance runs RDS Basic Edition on MySQL 5.7 with standard SSDs.	Upgrade an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from Basic Edition to High-availability Edition
Storage capacity	 with standard SSDs. You can increase the storage capacity of your RDS instance regardless of the instance configuration. If your RDS instance runs the RDS High-availability Edition with local SSDs, you can also decrease the storage capacity of your RDS instance. Note You can decrease the storage capacity of your RDS instance only when your RDS instance runs the RDS High-availability Edition with local SSDs. The storage capacity of a read-only RDS instance must be greater than or equal to the storage capacity of the primary RDS instance to which the read-only RDS instance is attached. If your RDS instance is equipped with standard SSDs or enhanced SSDs (ESSDs) and does not run the RDS Basic Edition, you can increase the storage capacity of your RDS instance is equipped with standard stance are stares the storage capacity of your RDS instance is equipped with standard stance to your RDS instance is equipped with standard SSDs or enhanced SSDs (ESSDs) and does not run the RDS Basic Edition, you can increase the storage capacity of your RDS instance the storage capacity of your RDS instance the storage capacity of your RDS instance the storage capacity that is supported by the selected instance type. If the maximum storage capacity that is supported by the instance type cannot meet your business requirements, you can upgrade the instance type of your RDS instance type of your	Change the specifications of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance Configure automatic storage expansion for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance
	Primary Apsarabb RDS instance types.	

Configuration item	Description	References
Zone	You can migrate your RDS instance across zones within the same region. After your RDS instance is migrated to a different zone, the attributes, configuration, and endpoints of your RDS instance remain unchanged. If your RDS instance runs MySQL 5.7 on RDS High-availability Edition, you must change the zone of your RDS instance when you upgrade the RDS edition to the Enterprise Edition.	Migrate an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance across zones in the same region
Primary/secondary switchover	You can configure ApsaraDB RDS to automatically switch workloads over between your RDS instance and its secondary RDS instance. You can also manually switch workloads over between your RDS instance and its secondary RDS instance. After the switchover is complete, your RDS instance is demoted to run as the new secondary RDS instance.	Switch workloads over between primary and secondary ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances
Network Type	All RDS instances can be deployed in virtual private clouds (VPCs). Only the RDS instances that meet specific requirements can be deployed in the classic network. If your RDS instance supports both the VPC network type and the classic network type, you can switch the network type of your RDS instance between VPC and classic network.	Change the network type of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance
VPC and vSwitch	If your RDS instance meets specific requirements, you can change the VPC or vSwitch of your RDS instance.	切换专有网络VPC和 虚拟交换机
Maintenance window	You can change the maintenance window of your RDS instance.	Set the maintenance window of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance
Data replication mode	You can change the mode based on which your RDS instance replicates data to its secondary RDS instance. This way, you can improve the availability of your database service.	Change the data replication mode of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

Configuration item	Description	References
Instance parameter configuration	You can reconfigure some parameters of your RDS instance based on your business requirements.	For more information, see Modify the parameters of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance or Use a parameter template to configure the parameters of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances.
Database engine version	You can directly upgrade the database engine version of your RDS instance only from MySQL 5.5 to MySQL 5.6.	Upgrade the major engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance
Billing method	You can change the billing method of your RDS instance between pay-as-you-go and subscription.	Change the billing method of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from pay-as-you- go to subscription Change the billing method of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from subscription to pay-as-you-go

11.2. Change the specifications of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to change the specifications of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. The specifications include the RDS edition, instance type, and storage capacity.

For more information about the specific configuration items of an RDS instance, see ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL configuration items.

For more information about how to change the specifications of an RDS instance that runs a different database engine, see the following topics:

- Change the specifications of an ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server instance
- Change the specifications of an ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL instance
- Change the specifications of an ApsaraDB RDS for MariaDB TX instance

Prerequisites

- Your Alibaba Cloud account does not have unpaid renewal orders.
- The RDS instance is in the Running state.

Limits

- After you submit a specification change order, you cannot cancel the order. Therefore, before you submit a specification change order, we recommend that you evaluate whether the new specifications meet your business requirements.
- When you change the specifications of a read-only RDS instance, the primary RDS instance to which the read-only RDS instance is attached must be in the Running state.
- The storage capacity of a read-only RDS instance must be greater than or equal to the storage capacity of the primary RDS instance to which the read-only RDS instance is attached.
- Only the configuration items that are described in ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL configuration items can be changed.

Storage type of the RDS instance	Configuration item	Impact
		If the host on which your RDS instance is deployed cannot provide sufficient resources, ApsaraDB RDS migrates the data of your RDS instance to a new RDS instance. The incremental data that is generated in your RDS instance during the migration process is synchronized to the new RDS instance. After the migration process is complete, ApsaraDB RDS switches your workloads over to the new RDS instance during the switching time that you specify.
Local SSD	Instance type, RDS edition, and storage capacity.	Note A specification change causes a transient connection that lasts approximately 30 seconds. We recommend that you change the specifications of your RDS instance during off-peak hours. In addition, make sure that your application is configured to automatically reconnect to your RDS instance. During transient connections, you cannot perform most of the operations that are related to databases, accounts, and network settings.

Impacts

Storage type of the RDS instance	Configuration item	Impact
Standard SSD or enhanced SSD (ESSD).	lnstance type and RDS edition	If the host on which your RDS instance is deployed cannot provide sufficient resources, the specification change is complete within minutes. The time that is required to change the specifications is not affected by the data volume of your RDS instance.
		Note A specification change causes a transient connection that lasts approximately 30 seconds. We recommend that you change the specifications of your RDS instance during off-peak hours. In addition, make sure that your application is configured to automatically reconnect to your RDS instance. During transient connections, you cannot perform most of the operations that are related to databases, accounts, and network settings.
	Storage capacity	You can expand the storage capacity of your RDS instance without the need to migrate data. When you change the storage capacity of your RDS instance, no transient connections occur.

? Note

- After you change the specifications of your RDS instance, you do not need to manually restart the instance.
- After you change the specifications of your RDS instance, the ID and endpoints of the instance remain unchanged.
- For more information about storage types, see Storage types.

Billing

For more information, see Specification change fees.

Procedure

1.

- 2. In the **Configuration Information** section of the Basic Information page, click **Change Specifications**.
- 3. In the dialog box that appears, select a specification change method and click **Next step**. This step is required only when the RDS instance uses the subscription billing method.

Onte You can select one of the following specification change methods: Upgrade or Downgrade

- After you change the specifications, the new specifications immediately take effect. These specification change methods are supported for both subscription RDS instances and pay-as-you-go RDS instances.
- After you submit a specification change order, ApsaraDB RDS synchronizes the data of the RDS instance from the disk to a new RDS instance. Then, ApsaraDB RDS switches the information, such as the ID and endpoints, about the original RDS instance over to the new RDS instance based on the **specification change method that you select**. You can use the same ID and endpoints to connect to your RDS instance.

4. Change the specifications of the RDS instance.

? Note

- You can change the instance type and storage capacity of the RDS instance regardless of the instance configuration. For more information, see Primary ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance types.
- If the RDS instance runs MySQL 5.6 on RDS Enterprise Edition, you can downgrade the RDS edition of the RDS instance to RDS High-availability Edition.
- If the RDS instance runs MySQL 5.7 or MySQL 8.0 on RDS Basic Edition, you can upgrade the RDS edition of the RDS instance to RDS High-availability Edition.
- Make sure the new specifications that you specify for the RDS instance meet your business requirements.
- 5. Configure the Switching Time parameter.
 - Switch Immediately After Data Migration: After the data of the RDS instance is migrated to a new RDS instance, ApsaraDB RDS immediately switches your workloads over to the new RDS instance.
 - Switch Within Maintenance Window: ApsaraDB RDS switches your workloads over to the new RDS instance within the maintenance window that you specify. For more information, see Set the maintenance window of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

? Note

- If you are using RDS Basic Edition, no secondary RDS instance is provided as a hot standby for the RDS instance. Therefore, your database service is unavailable during a specification change for a long period of time. We recommend that you change the specifications of the RDS instance during off-peak hours to prevent interruptions to your workloads.
- If you are not using RDS Basic Edition, a transient connection that lasts approximately 30 seconds may occur during the specification change. The transient connection does not interrupt your workloads. However, we still recommend that you change the specifications of the RDS instance during off-peak hours or make sure that your application is configured to automatically reconnect to the RDS instance.
- If you select Switch Within Maintenance Window, the RDS instance stays in the Upgrading state until the switchover is complete. During the switchover process, you cannot perform specific operations on the RDS instance. For example, you cannot upgrade or downgrade the RDS instance, upgrade the database engine version of the RDS instance, or migrate the RDS instance across zones.
- The storage capacity expansion or change in the ESSD storage type does not interrupt your workloads and can immediately take effect. In this case, you do not need to select **Switch Within Maintenance Window**.
- 6. Read and select Terms of Service, click Pay Now, and then complete the payment.

Q Warning

- After you submit a specification change order, you cannot cancel the order. Therefore, before you submit a specification change order, we recommend that you evaluate whether the new specifications meet your business requirements.
- After you submit a specification change order, do not perform DDL operations before the specification change is applied.

FAQ

• How do I change the storage type of my RDS instance between local SSDs, standard SSDs, and ESSDs?

For more information, see How do I migrate an ApsaraDB RDS instance from standard or enhanced SSDs to local SSDs?

• When I expand the storage capacity of my RDS instance, what do I do if an error that indicates insufficient storage resources occurs?

You can migrate your RDS instance to a different zone and then expand the storage capacity of your RDS instance again. For more information, see Migrate an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance across zones in the same region. After you migrate your RDS instance to a different zone, the endpoints of your RDS instance remain unchanged. However, the IP addresses that are associated with the endpoints change. Make sure that your application is configured to automatically reconnect to your RDS instance.

• If I expand only the storage capacity of my RDS instance, does ApsaraDB RDS migrate the data of my RDS instance to a new RDS instance?

In most cases, if your RDS instance uses standard SSDs or ESSDs and does not run RDS Basic Edition, no transient connections occur when you expand the storage capacity. If your RDS instance uses local SSDs, ApsaraDB RDS migrates the data of your RDS instance based on the storage resources on the host on which your RDS instance is deployed:

- The host on which your RDS instance is deployed can provide sufficient storage. In this case, you can directly expand the storage capacity. The expansion process does not interrupt your workloads.
- The host on which your RDS instance is deployed cannot provide sufficient storage. In this case, ApsaraDB RDS creates a primary RDS instance and a secondary RDS instance on a different host that can provide sufficient storage. Then, ApsaraDB RDS synchronizes the data of your original RDS instance to the new primary and secondary RDS instances. The synchronization does not interrupt the workloads on your original RDS instance. However, after the synchronization is complete, a switchover of your workloads causes a transient connection that lasts approximately 30 seconds.

? Note You cannot obtain the amount of available storage in the host on which an RDS instance is deployed.

• When I upgrade my primary RDS instance, does ApsaraDB RDS automatically upgrade the read-only RDS instances that are attached to my primary RDS instance?

No, when you upgrade your primary RDS instance, ApsaraDB RDS does not automatically upgrade the read-only RDS instances that are attached to your primary RDS instance. You must manually upgrade the read-only RDS instances.

• When I change the specifications of my RDS instance, are my online workloads interrupted?

For more information, see Impacts.

• After I change the specifications of my RDS instance, do the endpoints of my RDS instance change?

No, after you change the specifications of your RDS instance, the endpoints of your RDS instance remain unchanged. An example endpoint is rm-bpxxxxx.mysql.rds.aliyuncs.com. However, the IP addresses that are associated with the endpoints may change. We recommend that you add the endpoints to your application. Do not add the IP addresses to your application.

• What factors affect the period of time that is required to change the specifications of my RDS instance?

For more information, see Which factors affect the time that is required to change the specifications of my ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance?

Related operations

Operation	Description
ModifyDBInstanceSpec	Changes the specifications of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

11.3. Upgrade the storage type of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from standard SSDs to ESSDs

Alibaba Cloud provides enhanced SSDs (ESSDs), which come in different performance levels (PLs). ESSDs of PL1 are designed based on the new-generation distributed block storage architecture. An ESSD of PL1 delivers higher IOPS, higher throughput, and more stable I/O performance than an standard SSD. However, the fee for an ESSD of PL1 is the same as the fee for a standard SSD in most Alibaba Cloud regions. You can upgrade the storage type of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from standard SSDs to ESSDs of PL1 to increase cost-effectiveness.

Prerequisites

- The RDS instance is in the Running state.
- The RDS instance runs one of the following MySQL versions and RDS editions:
 - MySQL 8.0 on RDS High-availability Edition or RDS Basic Edition with standard SSDs
 - MySQL 5.7 on RDS High-availability Edition or RDS Basic Edition with standard SSDs
- The minor engine version of the RDS instance is 20201031 or later. This requirement must be met if the RDS instance runs RDS Basic Edition. For more information about how to upgrade the minor engine version of an RDS instance, see Update the minor engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Performance comparison between ESSDs of PL1 and standard SSDs

An ESSD of PL1 is charged at a similar price but delivers significantly higher performance than a standard SSD. The following table describes the differences between ESSDs of PL1 and standard SSDs.

Comparison item	ESSD of PL1	Standard SSD
Maximum capacity per SSD (GiB)	20 to 32,768	32,768
Maximum IOPS	50,000	25,000
Maximum throughput (MB/s)	350	300
IOPS per SSD	min{1,800 + 50 × Capacity, 50,000}	min{1,800 + 30 × Capacity, 25,000}
Throughput per SSD (MB/s)	min{120 + 0.5 × Capacity, 350}	min{120 + 0.5 × Capacity, 300}
Average random write latency per connection (ms)	0.2	0.5 to 2

Billing rules

When you upgrade the storage type, you are charged a specific fee. The fee varies based on the region where the RDS instance resides. You can view the fee when you perform the upgrade.

Impacts

- When you upgrade the storage type, a transient connection that lasts approximately 30 seconds occurs. We recommend that you perform the upgrade during off-peak hours and make sure that your application is configured to automatically reconnect to the RDS instance.
- When the storage type is being upgraded, you cannot perform operations on the RDS instance. For example, you cannot upgrade or downgrade the RDS instance, upgrade the database engine version of the RDS instance, or migrate the RDS instance across zones.

Procedure

1.

2. In the **Basic Information** section of the page that appears, click the button for upgrading the storage type next to **Storage Type**.

? Note If the button cannot be found, you must check whether the RDS instance meets all requirements that are specified in the "**Prerequisites**" section of this topic.

3. On the tab that appears, read and select the terms of service, click **Pay Now**, and then complete the payment.

The status of the RDS instance changes to **Upgrading/Downgrading**. When the status of the RDS instance changes back to **Running**, the upgrade is complete.

FAQ

• Why am I unable to select the ESSD storage type for my RDS instance?

If the zones in which your RDS instance resides cannot provide sufficient resources or do not support ESSDs, you cannot select the ESSD storage type for your RDS instance. In this case, you must update the minor engine version of your RDS instance and migrate your RDS instance to zones in which ESSDs are supported before you upgrade the storage type. For more information, see Update the minor engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance and Migrate an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance across zones in the same region.

• When I upgrade the storage type of my RDS instance, does ApsaraDB RDS automatically upgrade the storage types of the read-only RDS instances that are attached to my RDS instance?

No, ApsaraDB RDS does not automatically upgrade the storage types of the read-only RDS instances. You must repeat the procedure in this topic to manually upgrade the storage type of each read-only RDS instance.

• When I change the specifications of my RDS instance, are my online workloads interrupted?

For more information, see the "Impacts" section of this topic.

• Do the endpoints and IP addresses of my RDS instance change after I change the storage type?

The endpoints of your RDS instance remain unchanged after you change the storage type. An example endpoint is rm-bpxxxxx.mysql.rds.aliyuncs.com. However, the IP addresses that are associated with the endpoints may change. We recommend that you add the endpoints rather than the IP addresses to your application.

• Which factors affect the amount of time that is required to change the storage type of my RDS instance?

For more information, see Which factors affect the time that is required to change the specifications of my ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance?

Related operations

Operation	Description
ModifyDBInstanceSpec	Changes the specifications of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

11.4. Configure automatic storage expansion for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to configure automatic storage expansion for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Prerequisites

- The RDS instance runs RDS High-availability Edition and uses standard SSDs or enhanced SSDs (ESSDs).
- The balance in your Alibaba Cloud account is sufficient for the expansion.
- Your RDS instance is in the Running state.

Procedure

1.

2. In the Usage Statistics section of the page that appears, click Settings to the right of Automatic Storage Expansion.

Usage Statistics			
Storage Capacity 👔	Used 2.83G (In total 30G)	Backup Size 👔	Data 16.41G, log 33.20M(The total amount is free of charge within 61440 M)View Details
Log Size 🕜	0.00K View Details	Automatic Storage Expansion:	Enabled Maximum Storage: 1000 GB Settings Expansion history

3. Configure the following parameters.

Parameter	Description
Automatic Resource Scalability	The switch that is used to enable or disable automatic storage expansion.

4. Click Confirm.

Related operations

Operation	Description
ModifyDasInstanceConfig	Configures automatic storage expansion.

11.5. Enable the automatic scale-up feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

The automatic scale-up feature of Database Autonomy Service (DAS) can automatically scale up your ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance based on your workloads to handle traffic spikes and ensure the stability of your RDS instance.

Prerequisites

• Your RDS instance runs RDS High-availability Edition with standard SSDs or enhanced SSDs (ESSDs).

? Note The automatic scale-up feature is not supported for RDS instances whose instance types are phased out. If the instance type of your RDS instance is phased out, you must change the instance type of the instance before you can enable the automatic scale-up feature. For more information about how to change the instance type of an RDS instance, see Change the specifications of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

- DAS is activated within your Alibaba Cloud account. For more information, see Autonomy center.
- The balance in your Alibaba Cloud account is sufficient for scale-ups.

Billing rules

By default, the automatic scale-up feature is disabled and does not produce fees. If you enable the automatic scale-up feature, you are charged based on the new instance type that is selected during the automatic scale-up. The price for a scale-up varies based on the instance configuration, such as the region and the new instance type. For more information, visit the ApsaraDB RDS buy page.

Automatic scale-up process



After you enable the automatic scale-up feature for your RDS instance, DAS scales up the RDS instance based on the loads on the RDS instance if the average CPU utilization of the RDS instance over the specified observation window reaches the specified threshold. The specifications of your RDS instance after a scale-up cannot exceed the specifications that are specified by the Upper Limit of Specifications parameter. You can specify this parameter in the ApsaraDB RDS console. After your RDS instance is scaled up, DAS continues to monitor the CPU utilization of the RDS instance. If the CPU utilization over the specified observation window reaches the specified threshold again, DAS scales up your RDS instance again. This process continues until the specifications of your RDS instance reach the maximum specifications that are specified by the Upper Limit of Specifications parameter.

Note After your RDS instance is scaled up, the RDS instance cannot be automatically scaled down. You can subscribe to scale-down suggestions and manually change the specifications of your RDS instance based on the scale-down suggestions. For more information, see Event subscription. If the average CPU utilization of your RDS instance remains lower than 30% over the specified Observation Window, ApsaraDB RDS pushes scale-down suggestions to you. You can manually change the specifications of your RDS instance based on the scale-down suggestions. For more information, see Change the specifications of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Impacts

- When the new specifications are being applied to an RDS instance, a transient connection that lasts approximately 30 seconds may occur. Make sure that your application is configured to automatically reconnect to the RDS instance.
- If an RDS instance does not run the latest minor engine version, DAS updates the minor engine version

of the RDS instance to the latest version during a specification change. This ensures the performance and stability of the RDS instance.

• After you enable the automatic scale-up feature for an RDS instance, ApsaraDB RDS assigns the AliyunServiceRoleForDAS service-linked role to DAS. This way, DAS can access the resources that are related to ApsaraDB RDS.

Procedure

1.

2. In the **Configuration Information** section of the page that appears, click **Settings** to the right of **Automatic Scale-up**.

Parameter	Description		
Automatic Resource Elasticity	Specify whether to enable the automatic scale-up feature.		
Observation Window	Select the time range during which you want to observe the CPU utilization of the RDS instance. Valid values: 20 minutes 30 minutes 40 minutes 60 minutes Mote DAS periodically checks the CPU utilization of the RDS instance during the selected time range. If the CPU utilization reaches the value of the CPU trigger Threshold parameter, an automatic scale-up is		
	triggered.		
CPU Trigger Threshold	Specify the average CPU utilization threshold based on which DAS scales up the RDS instance. Unit: percent (%). Valid values: 50 to 90. You can adjust the threshold at a step size of 10%.		
	Select the maximum specifications that are supported by the automatic scale-up feature.		
Upper Limit of Specifications	Note If the average CPU utilization of the RDS instance reaches the value of the CPU Trigger Threshold parameter over the specified observation window, DAS scales up your RDS instance based on your business requirements. If the average CPU utilization of the RDS instance reaches the value of the CPU Trigger Threshold parameter again over the specified observation window, DAS scales up the RDS instance again. This process continues until the specifications of the RDS instance reach the maximum specifications that are allowed.		

3. In the dialog box that appears, configure the following parameters.

4. Click OK.

In the **Configuration Information** section of the page, the status of **Automatic Scale-up** changes to **Enabled**.

Related information

- Change the specifications of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance
- Configure automatic storage expansion for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

11.6. Switch workloads over between primary and secondary ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances

ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL provides the primary/secondary switchover feature to ensure high availability. If the primary RDS instance of your database system fails, ApsaraDB RDS automatically switches your workloads over from the primary RDS instance to the secondary RDS instance to ensure service availability. After the primary/secondary switchover is complete, the secondary RDS instance serves as the primary RDS instance. The endpoint that is used to connect to your database system remains unchanged. Your application can automatically connect to the new primary RDS instance by using the endpoint. You can also manually switch your workloads over between the primary RDS instance and the secondary RDS instance.

Prerequisites

The primary RDS instance runs one of the following RDS editions:

- High-availability Edition
- Enterprise Edition

? Note If you use an RDS instance that runs RDS Basic Edition, no secondary RDS instance is provided, and the primary/secondary switchover feature is not supported.

Context

- Automatic primary/secondary switchover: By default, the automatic primary/secondary switchover feature is enabled. If the primary RDS instance fails, ApsaraDB RDS automatically switches your workloads over to the secondary RDS instance. For more information about the causes of primary/secondary switchovers, see Reasons for primary/secondary switchovers.
- Manual primary/secondary switchover: You can manually switch your workloads over between the primary RDS instance and the secondary RDS instance even if the automatic primary/secondary switchover feature is enabled. You can perform manual primary/secondary switchovers for disaster recovery drills. You can also perform manual primary/secondary switchovers if you use the multi-zone deployment method and want to connect your application to the RDS instance in the zone that is closest to your application.

(?) Note Data is synchronized between the primary RDS instance and the secondary RDS instance in real time. You can access only the primary RDS instance. The secondary RDS instance runs only as a standby.

For more information about how to switch workloads over between the primary and secondary RDS instances that run different database engines, see the following topics:

• Switch workloads over between primary and secondary ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server instances

- Switch workloads over between primary and secondary ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL instances
- Switch workloads over between primary and secondary ApsaraDB RDS for MariaDB TX instances

Impacts

- Transient connections may occur during a primary/secondary switchover. Make sure that your application is configured to automatically reconnect to your database system.
- After a primary/secondary switchover, the read-only RDS instances that are attached to the primary RDS instance must re-establish the connections that are used to replicate data to and synchronize incremental data from the primary RDS instance. As a result, the data on the read-only RDS instances shows latencies of a few minutes.
- A primary/secondary switchover does not cause changes to the endpoints that are used to connect to your database system.

Perform a manual primary/secondary switchover

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Service Availability**.
- 3. In the Availability Information section of the page that appears, click Switch Primary/Secondary Instance.
- 4. Specify the time at which you want to perform a primary/secondary switchover. Then, click **OK**.

(?) Note You cannot perform specific operations during a primary/secondary switchover. For example, you cannot manage databases and accounts or change the network type. We recommend that you select Switch Within Maintenance Window.

Disable the automatic primary/secondary switchover feature for a short period of time

By default, the automatic primary/secondary switchover feature is enabled. If the primary RDS instance fails, ApsaraDB RDS automatically switches your workloads over from the primary RDS instance to the secondary RDS instance. You can disable the automatic primary/secondary switchover feature in the following situations:

- A large-scale sales promotion during which you do not want a primary/secondary switchover to affect system availability
- An important application upgrade during which you do not want a primary/secondary switchover to cause unexpected issues
- A major event during which you do not want a primary/secondary switchover to affect system stability

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Service Availability**.
- 3. In the Availability Information section of the page that appears, click Configure Primary/Secondary Switchover.

? Note If you cannot find **Configure Primary/Secondary Switchover**, you must check whether the primary RDS instance meets all prerequisites.

4. Select **Disable Temporarily**, configure the **Deadline** parameter, and then click **OK**.

? Note

- When the date and time specified by the **Deadline** parameter arrives, the automatic primary/secondary switchover feature is enabled.
- If you do not configure the Deadline parameter, the automatic primary/secondary switchover is disabled for one day. You can set the Deadline parameter to 23:59:59 seven days later at most.

After you disable the automatic primary/secondary switchover feature, you can go to the **Service Availability** page to check the deadline after which the automatic primary/secondary switchover feature can be automatically enabled.

View primary/secondary switchover logs

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Service Availability**.
- 3. In the **Primary/Secondary Switching Logs** section of the page that appears, select a time range and view the primary/secondary switchover logs that are generated over the selected time range.

Availability Information	Configure Primary/Secondary Switchover	Switch Primary/Secondary Instance	Change Availability Check Mode Change Data	Replication Mode	
Series Architecture:	High-availability Edition (Dual-node)		Availability:	100.0%	
Data Replication Mode:	Semi-synchronous 🕢		Availability Check Mode:	Persistent Connection 😧	
Primary Instance No.:	20 ZoneH		Secondary Instance No.:	20 (ZoneH)@	
Automatic Switchover:	Enable (Default)				
Primary/Secondary Sw	itching Logs				1
Mar 16, 2022, 07:32	- Mar 16, 2022, 11:32 🛅				
Switching Event ID		Start Time of Switching	End Time of Switching	Reason for Switching 🚳	
f7		Mar 16, 2022, 11:29:22	Mar 16, 2022, 11:29:25	a second s	
8c		Mar 16, 2022, 11:27:22	Mar 16, 2022, 11:27:25		
				Items per Page 30 V	< Previous 1 Next >

FAQ

• Can I access the secondary RDS instance of my database system?

No, you cannot access the secondary RDS instance of your database system. You can access only the primary RDS instance of your database system. The secondary RDS instance runs only as a standby.

• Do I need to manually switch my workloads over from the secondary RDS instance to the primary RDS instance after a primary/secondary switchover?

No, you do not need to manually switch your workloads over from the secondary RDS instance to the primary RDS instance after a primary/secondary switchover. The data in the primary RDS instance is the same as the data in the secondary RDS instance. After a primary/secondary switchover, the secondary RDS instance serves as the new primary RDS instance. No additional operations are required.

• Each time a primary/secondary switchover is performed, my RDS instance does not run as expected 10 minutes after the primary/secondary switchover is complete. What are the possible causes? How do I handle the issue?

If an exception on your RDS instance triggers a primary/secondary switchover to ensure high availability, your application may fail to identify and respond to the changes to the connections. If no timeout periods are specified for socket connections, your application waits for the database to return the results. In most cases, your application is disconnected after hundreds of seconds. During this period, some connections to the database cannot work as expected, and a large number of SQL statements fail to be executed. To avoid invalid connections, we recommend that you configure the **connectTimeout** and **socketTimeout** parameters to prevent your application from waiting for a long period of time due to network errors. This reduces the time required to recover from failures.

You must configure these parameters based on your workloads and usage modes. For online transactions, we recommend that you set **connectTimeout** to 1 to 2 seconds and **socketTimeout** to 60 to 90 seconds. This configuration is for reference only.

Related operations

Operation	Description
Switch services between a primary ApsaraDB for RDS instance and its secondary instance	Switches workloads over between primary and secondary ApsaraDB RDS instances.
Enable or disable automatic primary/secondary switchover	Enables or disables the automatic primary/secondary switchover feature for an ApsaraDB RDS instance.
Query settings of automatic primary/secondary switchover	Queries the settings of the automatic primary/secondary switchover feature for an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

11.7. Reasons for primary/secondary switchovers

This topic describes the reasons why a primary/secondary switchover is triggered for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

A primary/secondary switchover is triggered due to one of the following reasons:

• Vulnerabilities

Alibaba Cloud detects vulnerabilities in each RDS instance. An RDS instance may fail to run as normal due to vulnerabilities. If this occurs, ApsaraDB RDS fixes the vulnerabilities in the secondary RDS instance of an RDS instance. Then, ApsaraDB RDS initiates a primary/secondary switchover during the specified maintenance window to switch your workloads over to the secondary RDS instance. For more information, see Set the maintenance window of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. In most cases, if ApsaraDB RDS detects a high-risk vulnerability in an RDS instance, ApsaraDB RDS fixes the high-risk vulnerability at the earliest opportunity and triggers a primary/secondary switchover.

• Manual operations

You or an authorized Alibaba Cloud technical expert manually performs a primary/secondary switchover.

Instance failures

Alibaba Cloud detects failures in each RDS instance. An RDS instance may fail to run as normal due to failures. If this occurs, ApsaraDB RDS initiates a primary/secondary switchover to switch your workloads over to the secondary RDS instance of an RDS instance. This minimizes the impacts of the failures.

After a primary/secondary switchover is complete, the status of an RDS instance shows as **Running**. You do not need to perform other operations, and an RDS instance can run as normal. If you want to view the primary/secondary switchover logs, go to the **Primary/Secondary Switching Logs** section of the **Service Availability** page in the ApsaraDB RDS console.

Availability Information Configure Primary/Secondary Switchover Switch Primary/Secondary Instance Change Availability Check Mode Change Data Replication Mode					
Series Architecture:	High-availability Edition (Dual-node)		Availability:	100.0%	
Data Replication Mode:	Semi-synchronous 😮		Availability Check Mode:	Persistent Connection 😧	
Primary Instance No.:	20 ZoneH		Secondary Instance No.:	20 (ZoneH)	
Automatic Switchover:	Enable (Default)				
Primary/Secondary Switching Logs					
Mar 16, 2022, 07:32	- Mar 16, 2022, 11:32 📾				
Switching Event ID		Start Time of Switching	End Time of Switching	Reason for Switching @	
f7		Mar 16, 2022, 11:29:22	Mar 16, 2022, 11:29:25	In some til some for the second	
8c		Mar 16, 2022, 11:27:22	Mar 16, 2022, 11:27:25		
				Items per Page 30 🗸	< Previous 1 Next

11.8. Set the maintenance window of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to set the maintenance window of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. After you set a maintenance window for your RDS instance, the backend system performs maintenance on your instance during the maintenance window. This ensures the stability of your RDS instance. The default maintenance window spans from 02:00:00 to 06:00:00. We recommend that you set the maintenance window to an off-peak hour based on your business requirements. This allows you to avoid interruptions to your workloads.

For more information about how to set the maintenance window of an RDS instance that runs another database engine, see the following topics:

- Set the maintenance window of an ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server instance
- Set the maintenance window of an ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL instance
- Set the maintenance window of an ApsaraDB RDS for MariaDB TX instance

Precautions

- Before the maintenance starts, ApsaraDB RDS sends emails to the contacts that are associated with your Alibaba Cloud account. We recommend that you check your email box on a regular basis to obtain up-to-date information.
- When the maintenance window arrives, your RDS instance enters the **Maintaining Instance** state. This ensures a smooth maintenance process. Database access and query operations such as performance monitoring are not affected while the instance is in this state. However, except for account and database management and IP address whitelist configuration, modification operations such as upgrade, downgrade, and restart are temporarily unavailable.
- During the maintenance window, one or two transient connections may occur. Make sure that your application is configured to automatically reconnect to your RDS instance.

Modify the maintenance window of a single RDS instance

1.

- 2. In the Configuration Information section, click Configure next to Maintenance Window.
- 3. Select an appropriate maintenance window and click OK to save the setting.

? Note The time zone of the maintenance window is the same as that of the computer that you use to log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console.

Modify the maintenance window of multiple RDS instances at a time

- 1.
- 2. Select the RDS instances whose maintenance window you want to modify and click **Modify Maintenance Window** blow the instance list.
- 3. In the **Modify Maintenance Window** dialog box, select an appropriate maintenance window and click **OK**.

? Note The time zone of the maintenance window is the same as that of the computer that you use to log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console.

Related operations

Operation	Description
Modify the maintenance time	Modifies the maintenance window of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

11.9. Migrate an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance across zones in the same region

Prerequisites

- •
- •
- Update the minor engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance
- Regions and zones
- [Import ant] RDS network link upgrade
- Primary ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance types Change the specifications of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance
- Migrate an ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL instance across zones in the same region
- Migrate an ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server instance across zones in the same region
- •
- •

• ? Note

- 0
- Fix dat abase shard connections
- What is DTS?

1.

2.

- 3. 🥐 Note
 - 0
 - Migrate an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance across zones in the same region

Operation

Migrate an instance across zones

11.10. Change the data replication mode of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to change the data replication mode of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. The data replication mode specifies how data is replicated from the RDS instance to its secondary RDS instances. A suitable data replication mode increases the availability of your database service.

Prerequisites

Your RDS instance runs one of the following MySQL versions and RDS editions:

- MySQL 8.0 on RDS High-availability Edition (with local SSDs)
- MySQL 5.7 on RDS High-availability Edition (with local SSDs)
- MySQL 5.6 on RDS High-availability Edition
- MySQL 5.5

Data replication modes

• Synchronous

- After an update that is initiated by your application is complete on the primary RDS instance, the related log is synchronized to all the secondary RDS instances. The transaction that is used to perform the update is considered committed only after at least one of the secondary RDS instances receives and stores the log.
- In synchronous mode, data replication remains synchronous and cannot be demoted to the asynchronous mode.
- Synchronous replication is supported only when your database system consists of three or more RDS instances. This means that only the RDS Enterprise Edition supports synchronous replication. In addition, if the primary RDS instance runs the RDS Enterprise Edition, you cannot change the data replication mode.
- Semi-synchronous

After an update that is initiated by your application is complete on the primary RDS instance, the related log is synchronized to all the secondary RDS instances. The transaction that is used to perform the update is considered committed after the secondary RDS instances receive the log. Your database system does not need to wait for the secondary RDS instances to replay the log.

If the secondary RDS instances are unavailable or a network interruption occurs between the primary and secondary RDS instances, the semi-synchronous mode is demoted to the asynchronous mode.

• Asynchronous

When your application initiates a request to add, delete, or modify data, the primary RDS instance responds to your application immediately after it completes the requested operation. At the same time, the primary RDS instance asynchronously replicates data to the secondary RDS instances. In asynchronous mode, the unavailability of the secondary RDS instances does not interrupt the workloads on the primary RDS instance. However, the unavailability of the primary RDS instance may cause data inconsistencies between the primary and secondary RDS instances.

Note In extreme circumstances, the High-availability Edition may not be able to prevent data losses. If you require a data security level of 100% and a recovery point objective (RPO) of 0, we recommend that you use the Enterprise Edition. For more information, see Enterprise Edition.

Data replication modes supported by various MySQL versions and RDS editions

MySQL version	RDS edition	Replication mode
	Enterprise Edition	Synchronous
MySQL 8.0	High-availability Edition	Semi-synchronousAsynchronous
	Enterprise Edition	Synchronous
MySQL 5.7	High-availability Edition	Semi-synchronousAsynchronous
	Enterprise Edition	Synchronous

My§QL gession	RDS edition	Replication mode
	High-availability Edition	Semi-synchronousAsynchronous
MySQL 5.5	High-availability Edition	Semi-synchronousAsynchronous

? Note The RDS Basic Edition allows you to have only a single RDS instance in your database system and therefore does not require data replication.

Procedure

1.

2.

3.

- 4. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Service Availability**.
- 5. Click Change Data Replication Mode.

Availability Information	Configure Primary/Secondary Switchover Switch Primary/Secondary Instance Change Data Replication Mode
Zone Type: Single-zone	Availability: 100.0%
Data Replication Mode: Semi-synchronous @	Primary Instance Number: 8907733(ZoneH)
Secondary Instance Number: 8907735(ZoneH)	Automatic Switchover: Enable (Default)

6. In the dialog box that appears, select a data replication mode and click OK.

Change Data Replication Mode			
Data Replication Mode:	Semi-synchronous Asynchronous		
	ок	Cancel	

FAQ

• Which dat a replication mode is recommended?

You can select a data replication mode based on your business requirements. If you require strong data consistency to ensure finance-grade reliability, we recommend that you use the synchronous mode. The synchronous mode is supported only for the RDS Enterprise Edition. If you require quick responses, we recommend that you use the asynchronous mode. In other scenarios, you can use the semi-synchronous mode.

• Why am I unable to change the data replication mode of my RDS instance?
Different RDS instances support different data replication modes. For more information, see the "Data replication modes supported by various MySQL versions and RDS editions" section of this topic.

Related operations

Operation	Description
Change the high availability mode and data replication mode	Changes the data replication mode and high availability mode of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

11.11. Change the billing method of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from pay-as-you-go to subscription

This topic describes how to change the billing method of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from pay-as-you-go to subscription.

Prerequisites

- Your RDS instance is not using a phased-out instance type. For more information, see Primary ApsaraDB RDS instance types. If your RDS instance uses a phased-out instance type, you must change the instance type before you change the billing method of your RDS instance from pay-as-you-go to subscription. For more information, see Change the specifications of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- The billing method of your RDS instance is pay-as-you-go.
- Your RDS instance is in the Running state.
- Your RDS instance has no unpaid subscription orders.

Impacts

A billing method change for your RDS instance does not affect the workloads on your RDS instance.

Precautions

• If your RDS instance has an unpaid subscription order, the order becomes invalid when you change the instance type. In this case, you must cancel the order in the Billing Management console. Then, you can change the billing method of your RDS instance again.

Procedure

- 1. Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Instances**. In the top navigation bar, select the region where your RDS instance resides.
- 2. Find your RDS instance and use one of the following methods to go to the **Switch to Subscription Billing** page:
 - Click Switch to Subscription Billing in the Billing Method column.
 - Click the ID of your RDS instance. In the **Status** section of the page that appears, click **Subscription Billing** on the right of **Billing Method**.
- 3. Configure the **Duration** parameter. Then, read and select Terms of Service.

4. Click Pay Now.

? Note ApsaraDB RDS generates a subscription order. You must pay for the order. If the order is not paid or canceled, you cannot purchase an RDS instance or change the billing method of your RDS instance from pay-as-you-go to subscription. You can pay for or cancel the order in the Billing Management console.

5. Complete the payment.

Related operations

Operation	Description
Change the billing method	Changes the billing method of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

11.12. Change the billing method of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from subscription to pay-as-you-go

This topic describes how to change the billing method of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from subscription to pay-as-you-go.

Prerequisites

- Your RDS instance uses the subscription billing method. For more information about the billing methods of ApsaraDB RDS, see Billable items, billing methods, and pricing.
- Your RDS instance is in the Running state.

Onte If a subscription RDS instance is locked due to expiration, you must first renew the RDS instance. For more information about how to renew an RDS instance, see Manually renew an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

• Your RDS instance does not use a phased-out instance type. For more information, see Primary ApsaraDB RDS instance types. If your RDS instance uses a phased-out instance type, you must change the instance type before you change the billing method of your RDS instance to pay-as-you-go.

Billing

After you change the billing method of your RDS instance to pay-as-you-go, a refund is returned based on the original payment method.

Refund = Fee actually paid - Fee for consumed resources

- The fee actually paid is the money that you paid and does not include the amount that is covered by coupons or vouchers.
- The fee for consumed resources is calculated based on the following formula:

Fee for consumed resources = Daily fee × Consumed subscription duration × Discount for the consumed subscription duration

The daily fee is equal to the order-specific fee divided by 30.

? Note The consumed subscription duration is accurate to days. The part that is less than one day is counted as one day.

Description

A billing method change for your RDS instance does not affect the workloads on your RDS instance.

(?) Note If you want to use the RDS instance for a long period of time, we recommend that you use the subscription billing method because the subscription billing method is more cost-effective than the pay-as-you-go billing method and you are offered more discounts for longer subscription durations.

Procedure

- 1. Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Instances**. In the top navigation bar, select the region where the RDS instance resides.
- 2. Find the RDS instance and use one of the following methods to go to the **Switch to Pay-asyou-go Billing** page:
 - Click Switch to Pay-as-you-go Billing in the Billing Method column.
 - Click the instance ID. In the **Status** section of the page that appears, click **Convert to Pay as you go** on the right of **Billing Method**.
- 3. Confirm the configuration of your RDS instance, read and select Terms of Service, click **Pay Now**, and then complete the payment.

Related operations

Operation	Description
Change the billing method	Changes the billing method of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

12.Version upgrade 12.1. Upgrade an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from Basic Edition to High-availability Edition

This topic describes how to upgrade the RDS edition of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance that runs MySQL 5.7 or MySQL 8.0 from the Basic Edition to the High-availability Edition. The upgrade increases the reliability of your database service.

In the High-availability Edition, your database system consists of a primary RDS instance and a secondary RDS instance. These instances work in a high availability architecture. The High-availability Edition is suitable for more than 80% of business scenarios. For more information, see High-availability Edition.

For more information about the fee that you need to pay for the upgrade, see Specification change fees.

Additional information

If your RDS instance runs MySQL 5.7 on RDS Basic Edition with standard SSDs, you can change the storage type of the instance from standard SSDs to local SSDs when you upgrade the RDS edition of your RDS instance to the High-availability Edition.

Impacts

• The upgrade may trigger a data migration at the underlying layer. This data migration may require a few minutes. After the data migration finishes, a switchover of your workloads is triggered at the switching time that you specify. During the switchover, a network interruption that lasts about 30 seconds occurs. Make sure that your application is configured to automatically reconnect to your RDS instance.

⑦ Note The endpoints of your RDS instance remain unchanged after the upgrade.

• After the upgrade is complete, you cannot downgrade the RDS edition of your RDS instance to the Basic Edition.

Prerequisites

- Your RDS instance runs MySQL 5.7 or MySQL 8.0 on RDS Basic Edition. You can log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console and go to the **Basic Information** page of your RDS instance to view the RDS edition of your RDS instance.
- The minor engine version of your RDS instance must be 20201031 or later. For more information about how to update the minor engine version, see Update the minor engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Note If your RDS instance runs MySQL 5.7 on RDS Basic Edition with standard SSDs and you upgrade your RDS instance to run MySQL 5.7 on RDS High-availability Edition with local SSDs, your RDS instance does not need to meet this prerequisite.

Procedure

- 1.
- 2. In the **Configuration Information** section of the Basic Information page, click **Change Specifications**.
- 3. In the dialog box that appears, select **Upgrade** and click **Next** step. This step is required only for subscription RDS instances.
- 4. Configure the following parameters.

Parameter	Description
Edition	Select High-availability.
	Optional. Select Local SSD to change the storage type to local SSDs.
Storage Type	Note This parameter is supported only by RDS instances that run MySQL 5.7 on RDS Basic Edition.
Switching Time	 Specify the time at which a switchover of your workloads is triggered. Valid values: Switch Immediately After Data Migration Switch Within Maintenance Window

5. Read and select Terms of Service, click Pay Now, and then complete the payment.

Related operations

Operation	Description
Change the specifications of an ApsaraDB RDS instance	Changes the specifications of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

12.2. Update the minor engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL supports both automatic updates and manual updates to the minor engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. These updates improve performance, introduce new features, or fix known issues.

For more information about the minor engine versions of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL, see AliSQL小版本 Release Notes.

For more information about how to update the minor engine version of an RDS instance that runs a different database engine, see the following topics:

• Update the minor engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server instance

• Update the minor engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL instance

Overview

- Auto: ApsaraDB RDS automatically updates the minor engine version of your RDS instance to the new minor engine version during the maintenance window that you specify. You can log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console and go to the **Basic Information** page to view the value of the **Minor Version Upgrade Mode** parameter. When a new minor engine version is released, Alibaba Cloud pushes notifications at irregular intervals. For more information, see Set the maintenance window of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- Manual: When the lifecycle of the minor engine version that is run on your RDS instance ends, Alibaba Cloud pushes notifications to you at irregular intervals. The notifications remind you to update the minor engine version of your RDS instance to the latest stable minor engine version. In most cases, the lifecycle of a minor engine version spans one year. You can manually update the minor engine version on the Basic Information page in the ApsaraDB RDS console. For more information, see Configure the manual update to the minor engine version.

? Note After the lifecycle of a minor engine version ends, the minor engine version is no longer available.

Precautions

- If the minor engine version is outdated, the workloads of your RDS instance may be interrupted. We recommend that you update the minor engine version of your RDS instance on a regular basis or after you receive an O&M notification from Alibaba Cloud.
- If a read-only RDS instance is attached to your RDS instance that uses local SSDs and the minor engine version of the read-only RDS instance is earlier than the new minor engine version, ApsaraDB RDS updates the minor engine version of the read-only RDS instance and then updates the minor engine version of your RDS instance.
- When you upgrade the major engine version or change the specifications of your RDS instance or Alibaba Cloud upgrades the hardware of your RDS database service, ApsaraDB RDS automatically updates the minor engine version of your RDS instance to the latest version. This applies if the minor engine version of your RDS instance is outdated or is no longer available.
- An update to the minor engine version triggers a restart of your RDS instance. During the restart process, a transient connection that lasts approximately 30 seconds may occur. The time when your RDS instance restarts varies based on the value of the **Upgrade Time** parameter. You can set this parameter to **Upgrade Immediately** or **Switch Within Maintenance Window**. We recommend that you update the minor engine version of your RDS instance during off-peak hours. Alternatively, make sure that your application is configured to automatically reconnect to your RDS instance.
- After you update the minor engine version of your RDS instance, you cannot roll the minor engine version of the RDS instance back to the previous version.
- After you update the minor engine version of your RDS instance that runs RDS Basic Edition, the **Backup Size** parameter on the **Basic Information** page in the ApsaraDB RDS console may be displayed as 0. After the next scheduled backup is complete, this error is automatically fixed.

Configure the mode to update the minor engine version

1.

2. In the **Configuration Information** section of the Basic Information page, click **Configure** to the right of **Minor Version Upgrade Mode**.

3. Select Auto or Manual and click OK.

Configure the manual update to the minor engine version

1.

2. In the Configuration Information section, click Upgrade Kernel Version.

Note If you cannot find Upgrade Kernel Version, the in-use minor engine version is the latest version.

3. In the dialog box that appears, configure the **Available Upgrade** and **Upgrade Time** parameters and click **OK**.

FAQ

• After I update the minor engine version of my RDS instance, why does the SELECT @@version statement still return the minor engine version that I used before the update?

The SELECT @@version statement returns the engine version of MySQL. To view the engine version of AliSQL, you must run the show variables like '%rds release date%' command.

• Do I update the minor engine version of my RDS instance only to the next minor engine version?

You can update the minor engine version of your RDS instance to any new minor engine version that is available in the ApsaraDB RDS console.

• Why does a transient connection occur during the update process? Does the update cause other serious risks?

Before ApsaraDB RDS updates the minor engine version of your RDS instance, ApsaraDB RDS updates the minor engine version of the secondary RDS instance of your RDS instance. After the minor engine version of the secondary RDS instance is updated, ApsaraDB RDS switches your workloads over to the secondary RDS instance. During the switchover, a transient connection that lasts approximately 30 seconds occurs. The update does not cause other serious risks.

Related operations

Operation	Description
Update minor engine version	Updates the minor engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

12.3. Upgrade the major engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

ApsaraDB RDS allows you to upgrade the major engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance in the ApsaraDB RDS console. You can also migrate the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance to a new RDS instance that uses the required major engine version to upgrade the major engine version. For example, you can migrate the data of an RDS instance for which the Transparent Data Encryption (TDE) feature is enabled.

Upgrade methods

- Upgrade the major engine version of an RDS instance in the ApsaraDB RDS console
- Upgrade the major engine version of an RDS instance in the Data Transmission Service (DTS) console

Note For more information about how to upgrade the major engine version of an RDS instance that runs a different database engine, see the following topics:

- Upgrade the major engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL instance
- Upgrade the RDS edition of an ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server instance from Basic Edition to High-availability Edition
- Upgrade the major engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server instance with local SSDs from SQL Server 2008 R2 to SQL Server 2012 or 2016
- Upgrade the major engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server instance from SQL Server 2012 to SQL Server 2016

Upgrade the major engine version of an RDS instance in the ApsaraDB RDS console

Limit s

Category	Description
Instances	You can upgrade the major engine version of an RDS instance in the ApsaraDB RDS console only if the instance runs RDS High-availability Edition and uses local SSDs.
	If read-only RDS instances are attached to a primary RDS instance and the instance types of the read-only RDS instances are different, you cannot upgrade the major engine version of the RDS instance. We recommend that you release the read-only RDS instances, upgrade the major engine version of the primary RDS instance, and then re-create the read-only RDS instances. For more information, see Release or unsubscribe from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance and Create a read-only ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
	Before you upgrade the major engine version of an RDS instance, make sure that the RDS instance is in the Running state. If the RDS instance is in a different state, such as Restarting or Creating Network Connection , you must wait until the running task is complete before you can upgrade the major engine version.
	If an RDS instance runs RDS High-availability Edition, a major engine version upgrade is supported only when both the primary RDS instance and the secondary RDS instance run as expected and no replication latency exists between the primary RDS instance and the secondary RDS instance. You can check the Replication Thread Status of Secondary Instances and Replication Latency of Secondary Instances metrics on the Monitoring and Alerts page in the ApsaraDB RDS console.
	You can upgrade the major engine version of an RDS instance only to the next major engine version. For example, if you want to upgrade MySQL 5.6 to MySQL 8.0, you must first upgrade MySQL 5.6 to MySQL 5.7 and then to MySQL 8.0.

Category	Description		
Upgrades	You cannot downgrade the major engine version of an RDS instance after the major engine version is upgraded.		
	Note After you upgrade the major engine version of an RDS instance, you cannot use the data backup files that are generated before the upgrade to restore the data of the RDS instance. You can restore the data of the RDS instance only by using the data backup files that are generated after the upgrade.		
	If the SSL encryption feature is enabled for an RDS instance, you must disable the feature before you can upgrade the major engine version of the RDS instance. For more information, see Disable SSL encryption.		
Encryption	If the Transparent Data Encryption (TDE) feature is enabled for an RDS instance, you cannot upgrade the major engine version of the RDS instance in the ApsaraDB RDS console. For more information, see Upgrade the major engine version of an RDS instance in the Data Transmission Service (DTS) console.		
Database access	If an event is created in a database on an RDS instance that runs MySQL 5.7, you cannot upgrade the major engine version of the RDS instance from MySQL 5.7 to MySQL 8.0. You must delete the event, upgrade the major engine version, and then re-create the event.		
	If a stored procedure, trigger, view, or function in a database involves features that are not supported by MySQL 8.0, the major engine version upgrade fails. For more information, see Changes in MySQL 8.0.		
	If more than 200,000 tables are created in databases on an RDS instance, the major engine version upgrade is not supported. You must delete the tables that you no longer require before a major engine version upgrade.		
	If the storage engine of an RDS instance is MyISAM, MEMORY, TokuDB, Sphinx, or RocksDB, you must change the storage engine of the RDS instance to InnoDB before a major engine version upgrade.		
Instance types	If an RDS instance uses a phased-out instance type, you must upgrade the instance type of the RDS instance before you upgrade the major engine version of the RDS instance. For more information, see Primary ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance types and Change the specifications of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.		

Notice ApsaraDB RDS first upgrades the secondary RDS instance, performs a primary/secondary switchover, and then upgrades the original primary RDS instance. During the upgrade, your database system may become unavailable for up to 5 minutes. We recommend that you perform a major engine version upgrade during off-peak hours.

Before you begin

• Make sure that you understand the differences between the current major engine version and the major engine version to which you want to upgrade. We recommended that you create an RDS instance that runs MySQL 8.0 and test the syntax. This way, you can ensure that the features and

syntax that are used by your application are supported in the new major engine version. For more information about the differences between major engine versions, see the following topics:

- MySQL Release Notes
- Appendix 3: Differences between MySQL 5.7 and MySQL 8.0
- Appendix 4: Differences between MySQL 5.6 and MySQL 5.7
- Before you upgrade the major engine version of your RDS instance, we recommend that you understand the benefits of the major engine version to which you want to upgrade. For more information, see Appendix 1: Advantages of MySQL 8.0 over MySQL 5.7 or Appendix 2: Advantages of MySQL 5.7 over MySQL 5.6.
- We recommend that you clone the original RDS instance before a major engine upgrade and use the cloned RDS instance to test whether the new major engine version is compatible with your workloads. Make sure that the cloned RDS instance runs as expected before you upgrade the major engine version of the original RDS instance.
- Before a major engine version upgrade, check whether a full data backup file is generated over the last seven days. If no full data backup files are generated over the last seven days, perform a full data backup.
- When you upgrade the major engine version of an RDS instance, transient connections may occur. We recommend that you upgrade the major engine version during off-peak hours or make sure that your application is configured to automatically reconnect to the RDS instance.
- Make sure that the amount of available storage is sufficient before a major engine version upgrade.
- We recommend that you modify the retention policies for binary log files. You can increase the retention period and maximum storage usage of binary log files. For more information, see Retain the backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance for a long period of time.
- 1.
- 2. In the **Configuration Information** section of the Basic Information page, click **Upgrade Database**.

Configuration Information	on Change Specifications 🕑
Database Engine	MySQL 5.5 Upgrade Database
CPU	8 Cores
Maximum Connections	4000
Maintenance Window 👩	02:00-06:00 Configure
Minor Version Upgrade Mode	Auto Configure

(?) Note If Upgrade Database is not displayed, you must check whether the major engine version of the RDS instance meets the requirements.

- 3. In the dialog box that appears, select **Migrate Immediately** or **Switch Within Maintenance Window** and click **OK**.
 - Migrate Immediately: The upgrade is immediately started.
 - Switch Within Maintenance Window: The upgrade is started within the specified maintenance window. For more information, see Set the maintenance window of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. You can also click Change on the right to change the maintenance

window.

Upgrade the major engine version of an RDS instance in the Data Transmission Service (DTS) console

If the major engine version of an RDS instance cannot be upgraded in the ApsaraDB RDS console, you can perform the following operations to upgrade the major engine version:

- 1. Create an RDS instance that runs the new major engine version. For more information, see Create an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- 2. Migrate the data of the original RDS instance to the new RDS instance. For more information, see Migrate data between ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances.
- 3. Release the original RDS instance. For more information, see Release or unsubscribe from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

For example, if you want to upgrade the major engine version of an RDS instance that runs MySQL 5.7 and has TDE enabled to MySQL 8.0, you must first create an RDS instance that runs MySQL 8.0 and migrate the data of the original RDS instance to the new RDS instance. After you verify that your workloads run as expected on the new RDS instance, you can release the original RDS instance.

Notice You must verify that the new major engine version is compatible with your workloads after you upgrade your RDS instance by migrating data. You must also monitor the new RDS instance for a period of time. After you confirm that your workloads run as expected on the new RDS instance, you can release your original RDS instance.

Appendix 1: Advantages of MySQL 8.0 over MySQL 5.7

- The security of your database system is enhanced. You can manage accounts in a more flexible manner.
- You can create and manage resource groups.
- The features of the InnoDB storage engine are enhanced.
- New character sets, data types, and syntax are supported. Backup locks and optimizer_switch flags are introduced.
- JSON and XML expressions are enhanced.
- Optimizers are enhanced.
- Replication performance is enhanced.
- Multi-value indexes can be created. Derived condition pushdown is optimized.
- MySQL grant tables can be read.
- Resource allocation control is supported.

Appendix 2: Advantages of MySQL 5.7 over MySQL 5.6

- New features such as password management, account locking, and connection encryption are introduced. These new features help improve the security of your database system.
- Online DDL operations are supported. For example, you can use the RENAME INDEX clause to rename an index.
- The scalability of the InnoDB storage engine and the performance of temporary InnoDB tables are optimized to accelerate data loading.
- JSON expressions are supported.

- Index Condition Pushdown (ICP) is supported for partitioned tables, and spatial indexes are supported for InnoDB tables.
- Most of the used parsers, optimizers, and cost models are optimized to improve the maintainability, scalability, and performance of your database system.
- New character sets are supported. The character sets include the gb18030 character set that is defined in the Chinese National Standard GB 18030-2005: Information technology Chinese coded character set.
- The ngram full-text parser plug-in is provided. The plug-in supports Chinese, Japanese, and Korean (CJK).
- Dump threads are optimized to reduce lock contention and increase throughput.
- The replication latency is significantly reduced.
- The sys system database is added to support multiple metrics. These metrics help reduce storage usage and simplify database management.

Appendix 3: Differences between MySQL 5.7 and MySQL 8.0

Note The following table provides only the major differences between MySQL 5.7 and MySQL
 8.0. For more information, see MySQL Release Notes.

Feature	MySQL 5.7	MySQL 8.0
GRANTIDENTIFIED BY PASSWORD	Supported	Not supported
PASSWORD() function	Supported	Not supported
FLUSH QUERY CACHE and RESET QUERY CACHE	Supported	Not supported
Parameters for the SQL_MODE system variable: DB2, MAXDB, MSSQL, MYSQL323, MYSQL40, ORACLE, POSTGRESQL, NO_FIELD_OPTIONS, NO_KEY_OPTIONS, and NO_TABLE_OPTIONS	Supported	Not supported
GROUP BY for automatic sorting	Supported	Not supported
Syntax that contains the EXTENDED or PART IT IONS keyword	Supported	Not supported
Encryption functions such as ENCODE(), DECODE(), and ENCRYPT()	Supported	Not supported
Functions related to spatial analysis For more information, see Open source MySQL documentation.	Supported	Not supported
Functions that previously accepted either well-known binary (WKB) strings or geometry arguments but no longer accept geometry arguments	Supported	Not supported

Feature	MySQL 5.7	MySQL 8.0
Resolution of \N to NULL	Supported	Not supported
PROCEDURE ANALYSE() function	Supported	Not supported
Creation of partitioned tables by using the NDB storage engine	Supported	Not supported
Compression of temporary tables by using the InnoDB storage engine	Supported	Not supported
JSON_APPEND() function	Supported	Not supported
Placing of table partitions in shared tablespaces	Supported	Not supported
ALTER TABLE UPGRADE PARTITIONING	Supported	Not supported

Appendix 4: Differences between MySQL 5.6 and MySQL 5.7

Note The following table provides only the major differences between MySQL 5.6 and MySQL 5.7. For more information, see MySQL Release Notes.

Feature	MySQL 5.6	MySQL 5.7
CREATEAS SELECT in global transaction identifier (GTID) mode	Supported	Not supported
Usage of temporary tables when the GTIDs feature is enabled	Supported	Not supported
Configuration of partition keys in partitioned tables	Supported	Not supported
ENGINE_NO_CACHE	Supported	Not supported
Invisible indexes	Supported	Not supported
UPDATE non_affected_rows INSERT	Supported	Not supported
Proxy-related commands	Supported in SET command mode	Supported in Call Procedure mode
TokuDB, Sphinx, RocksDB, and MEMORY storage engines	Supported	Not supported
str_ord() function	Supported	Not supported
raiseerror() function	Supported	Not supported
OPTIMIZE TABLE table ASYNC	Supported	Not supported

Feature	MySQL 5.6	MySQL 5.7
ENGINE_NO_CACHE	Supported	Not supported
INFORMATION.TABLE_UTILIZATION table	Supported	Not supported
The requesting_thd_id and blocking_thd_id columns of the INFORMATION_SCHEMA.INNODB_LOCK_WAITS table	Supported	Not supported
INFORMATION_SCHEMA.INNODB_RSEG table	Supported	Not supported
INFORMATION_SCHEMA.INNODB_IO_STATUS table	Supported	Not supported
Column compression	Supported	Not supported
Query Plan Cache	Supported	Not supported
Limit and Union syntax	Parentheses () not required	Parentheses () required
SHOW FULL PROCESSLIST	The memory and query_memory columns are removed from the results that are returned by the SHOW FULL PROCESSLIST statement in MySQL 5.7.	
max_statement_time and max_execution_time	The max_statement_time parameter is removed from MySQL 5.7. The max_execution_time parameter is retained in MySQL 5.7.	
RDS_SQL_MAX_AFFECT ED	The number of rows on which the UPDATE or DELETE statement is executed can no longer be specified by the RDS_SQL_MAX_AFFECTED variable in MySQL 5.7. The number of rows is specified by the rds_sql_max_affected_rows variable.	

Feature	MySQL 5.6	MySQL 5.7
Performance optimization and adjustment for concurrency control	The following parameters can concurrency control in MySQL 4 innodb_adaptive_tickets_ala rds_threads_running_ctl_mo rds_threads_running_high_v rds_filter_key_cmp_in_order rds_reset_all_filter rds_sql_delete_filter rds_sql_select_filter rds_sql_select_filter rds_strict_concurrency rds_thread_extra_concurrent rds_strict_trx_idle_timeout rds_sql_buf_read_threshold rds_sql_buf_write_threshold rds_sql_max_iops	no longer be used for 5.7: go :kets ode vatermark r ncy :h I_bytes th d_bytes
Variables used to specify the number of connections	 The following variables are deleted from MySQL 5.7: extra_max_connections rds_root_connections rds_sysinfo_connections rds_sysinfo_user_list 	

Feature	MySQL 5.6	MySQL 5.7
Replication-related adjustments	 Compatibility adjustments ii Replication between GTIE GTIDs-disabled database The sql_slave_skip_count when the GTIDs feature is The CREATESELECT st supported. Adjustments to secondary F 5.7: The SHOW SLAVE LAG s supported. The SHOW SLAVE STAT supports timeouts. The amount of informati SHOW SLAVE STATUS s The sql_thread thread or longer supports timeouts The sql_thread thread or no longer skip specific states Adjustments to binary logs The transmission speed of the transmission speed of the supported. The rds_rpl_receive_buffor supported. 	n MySQL 5.7: DS-enabled databases and s is no longer supported. er parameter is not supported s enabled. atement is no longer RDS instances that run MySQL tatement is no longer US statement no longer on that is returned by the statement is reduced. n a secondary RDS instance no s. n a secondary RDS instance can atements. in MySQL 5.7: can no longer be adjusted. er_difftime parameter is no er_size parameter is no longer
Log-related adjustments	 The following adjustments are 5.7: The IP address, user, I/O lat no longer recorded for the s Duplicate keys are no longer 	ency, and network latency are SHUT DOWN command. r supported for table names.

FAQ

Why does a transient connection occur when I upgrade the major engine version of an RDS instance? Does the upgrade cause other serious risks?

To ensure service stability, ApsaraDB RDS upgrades the major engine version of the secondary RDS instances. Then, ApsaraDB RDS switches your workloads to the secondary RDS instance before it upgrades the major engine version of the primary RDS instance. During the switchover, a transient connection occurs. The major engine upgrade does not cause other serious risks.

Does ApsaraDB RDS upgrade the major engine version of the primary RDS instance and the secondary RDS instance at the same time?

No, ApsaraDB RDS first upgrades the major engine version of the secondary RDS instance, switches your workloads to the secondary RDS instance, and then upgrades the major engine versions of the primary RDS instance.

Related operations

Operation	Description
Upgrade the major engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance	Upgrades the major engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

13.Instance parameters 13.1. View the parameters of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to view the parameters of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance in the ApsaraDB RDS console or by using an SQL statement.

Method 1: View the parameters of an RDS instance in the ApsaraDB RDS console

- 1.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Parameters**. On the Editable Parameters tab of the page that appears, view the value of each parameter.

Note The ApsaraDB RDS console displays only the parameters that you can configure. For more information about how to view all parameters, see the "Method 2: View the parameters of an RDS instance by using an SQL statement" section of this topic.

Method 2: View the parameters of an RDS instance by using an SQL statement

- 1. Connect to the RDS instance. For more information, see Use a database client or the CLI to connect to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- 2. Execute the following statement to view all the parameters of the RDS instance.

SHOW VARIABLES;

You can also execute the SHOW VARIABLES LIKE '<Parameter name>'; statement to view only a specific parameter.

(?) Note The <Parameter name> variable supports wildcards (%). You can insert a wildcard (%) into any part of the <Parameter name> variable. A wildcard (%) can represent any number of characters. Examples:

- The show variables like 'thread_cache%'; statement queries all parameters whose names start with thread cache .
- The show variables like '%cache_size'; statement queries all parameters whose names end with cache_size .
- The show variables like 'thread%size'; statement queries all parameters whose names start with thread and end with size .
- The show variables like '%'; statement is equivalent to the show variables; statement.

Related operations

> Document Version: 20220712

Operation	Description
Query parameter configurations	Queries the parameters of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.
Modify parameters of an ApsaraDB for RDS instance	Reconfigures the parameters of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.
Query the parameter template of an ApsaraDB for RDS instance	Queries the parameter templates that are available for an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

Related information

- Modify the parameters of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance
- Use a parameter template to configure the parameters of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances
- Optimize parameters of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

13.2. Modify the parameters of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to modify the parameters of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance in the ApsaraDB RDS console or by using the ApsaraDB RDS API. This topic also describes how to view the parameter modification history in the ApsaraDB RDS console.

For more information about how to view the parameter settings of an RDS instance, see View the parameters of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Precautions

- To ensure the stability of your RDS instance, you can modify only the parameters that are displayed in the ApsaraDB RDS console.
- When you modify the parameters of your RDS instance, you can view the value range of each parameter in the **Value Range** column on the **Editable Parameters** tab of the Parameters page in the ApsaraDB RDS console.
- The new values of some parameters take effect only after you restart your RDS instance. For more information, view the Force Restart column on the Editable Parameters tab of the Parameters page in the ApsaraDB RDS console. We recommend that you modify parameters during off-peak hours and make sure that your application is configured to automatically reconnect to your RDS instance.
- If read-only RDS instances are attached to a primary RDS instance, the modifications to some parameters of the primary RDS instance are automatically synchronized to the read-only RDS instances. For more information, see Appendix: Parameters to be synchronized to read-only RDS instances.

Modify parameters

(?) Note If you want to modify multiple parameters at a time, we recommend that you use a parameter template. For more information, see Use a parameter template to configure the parameters of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances.

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Parameters**.
- 3. Perform the following operations based on your business requirements:
 - Apply a parameter template to the RDS instance.

? Note If the parameter template takes effect only after you restart the RDS instance, we recommend that you apply the parameter template during off-peak hours and make sure that your application is configured to automatically reconnect to the RDS instance.

- a. On the Editable Parameters tab, click **Apply Template**.
- b. In the Apply Template dialog box, select the parameter template that you want to use and click **OK**.

? Note

- You can view the number of parameters in the parameter template and check whether you must restart the RDS instance for the new values of the parameters to take effect. You can also click **View Parameter Change** to view the changes in the values of the parameters in the parameter template.
- If you cannot find the parameter template that you want to use, you must check whether the parameter template resides in the same region as the RDS instance.
 If the parameter template and the RDS instance reside in different regions, you can replicate the parameter template to the region where the RDS instance resides. For more information, see Use a parameter template to configure the parameters of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances.

Apply Template			\times
Template Name:	template2	-	
Number of	3		
Parameters:			
Force Restart:	Yes		
Update Time:	2019-08-30 11:02:18		
View Parameter Cha	nge		
		ОК	Cancel

- Export the parameter settings of the RDS instance as a parameter template in the region that you select.
 - a. On the Editable Parameters tab, click **Export as Template**.

b. Configure the following parameters.

Export as Template		\times
Template Name:	template_test	
	The template name must be 8 to 64 characters in length and can contain letters, digits, periods (.), and underscores (_). It must start with a letter.	
Description:		
	The description must be 0 to 200 characters in length. It can be in	
	any language.	
	OK Cano	:el

Parameter	Description
Template Name	The name of the parameter template. The name must be 8 to 64 characters in length and can contain letters, digits, periods (.), and underscores (_). The name must start with a letter.
Description	The description of the parameter template. The description can be up to 200 characters in length.

c. Click OK.

• Export the parameter settings of the RDS instance to your computer.

On the Editable Parameters tab, click **Export Parameters**. The parameter settings of the RDS instance are exported to your computer as a TXT file.

- a. Modify the parameters in the TXT file. Click **Import Parameters**. In the Import Parameters dialog box, copy the parameter settings from the TXT file and paste them to the dialog box.
- b. Click OK.

- c. Click Apply Changes. In the dialog box that appears, select the time range at which you want the new parameter settings to take effect. You can select Take Effect Immediately, Take Effect Within Maintenance Window, or Take Effect Within Specified Time Range.
 - ? Note
 - If the new parameter settings take effect only after you restart the RDS instance, ApsaraDB RDS prompts you to restart the RDS instance. We recommend that you restart the RDS instance during off-peak hours and make sure that your application is configured to automatically reconnect to the RDS instance.
 - Before the new parameter values take effect, you can click Cancel Changes to revoke the changes.
 - If ApsaraDB RDS prompts you that the operation failed because a new parameter value is in an invalid format, you must check whether the new parameter value is within the Value Range of the parameter.
- Modify a single parameter of the RDS instance.
 - a. On the Editable Parameters tab, find the parameter that you want to modify and click the icon in the Running Parameter Value column.
 - b. Enter a new value based on the value range that is displayed.

F]
Cancel

c. Click OK.

d. Click Apply Changes. In the dialog box that appears, select the time range at which you want the new parameter settings to take effect. You can select Take Effect Immediately, Take Effect Within Maintenance Window, or Take Effect Within Specified Time Range.

? Note

- If the new parameter settings take effect only after you restart the RDS instance, ApsaraDB RDS prompts you to restart the RDS instance. We recommend that you restart the RDS instance during off-peak hours and make sure that your application is configured to automatically reconnect to the RDS instance.
- Before the new parameter value takes effect, you can click Cancel Changes to revoke the change.

View the parameter modification history

- 1.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click $\ensuremath{\mathsf{Parameters.}}$

- 3. On the page that appears, click the **Edit History** tab.
- 4. Select a time range and click **OK**.

Configure parameters by using expressions

You can set a parameter to an expression for an RDS instance. If you set an instance type-related parameter to an expression, the value of the parameter dynamically changes when the instance type changes. This ensures the stability of the RDS instance.

In the example shown in the following figure, the innodb_buffer_pool_size parameter is set to

{DBInstanceClassMemory*3/4} . If the value of the DBInstanceClassMemory variable changes, the value of the innodb_buffer_pool_size parameter dynamically changes, and you do not need to manually change the value.

net_buffer_length	16384	16384 🖌
query_cache_size	0	0 🖌
innodb_buffer_pool_size	{DBInstanceClassMemory*3/4}	49152M 🔼
delayed_insert_limit	100	100 ∠
loose_rds_force_myisam_to_innodb	ON	- ∠

The following table describes the supported expression syntax.

Cate	Description	Evamplo
gory	Description	Liample

Cate gory	Description	Example
Vari	 AllocatedStorage: specifies the storage capacity of an RDS instance. The value of this variable is an integer. DBInstanceClassMemory: specifies the available memory capacity of an RDS instance. The value of this variable is calculated by deducting the memory that is occupied by the control processes on the instance from the memory capacity that is supported by the instance type. The value of this variable is an integer. For example, if the memory capacity that is occupied by the instance type is 16 GB and the memory that is occupied by the control processes is 4 GB, the value of the DBInstanceClassCPU: specifies the number of cores that are supported by the instance type. The value of this variable is an integer. DBInstanceClassConnections: specifies the maximum number of connections that are supported by the instance type. The value of this variable is an integer. 	
able s	 Note For more information about the instance types and the storage capacity, memory capacity, number of cores, and maximum number of connections that are supported by each instance type, see Primary ApsaraDB RDS instance types. For more information about how to configure the innodb_buffer_pool_size parameter of an RDS instance, see Background information. The memory that is occupied by control processes is the smallest value between the values that are calculated by using the following formulas: Memory capacity supported by the instance type × 0.65 and (Memory capacity supported by the instance type instance type/16384 + 1) × 2048. 	{DBInstanceClassMemory*3/4}

Cate gory	Description	Example
Oper ator s	 Expression syntax: An expression is enclosed by a pair of braces ({}). Division operator (/): This operator is used to divide a number by another number. If the quotient is a decimal, only the integer part of the quotient is returned. The dividend and the divisor must be integers. For example, ApsaraDB RDS can process {DBInstanceClassMemory*3/4} but not {DBInstanceClassMemory*0.75}. Multiplication operator (*): This operator is used to multiply a number by another number. If the product is a decimal, only the integer part of the product is returned. The two numbers must be integers. 	
Func tion s	 The GREATEST() function returns the largest value among an array of integers or the largest value that is calculated by an array of expressions. The LEAST() function returns the smallest value among an array of integers or the smallest value that is calculated by an array of expressions. The SUM() function adds a specified integer or the value that is calculated by a specified expression. 	LEAST ({DBInst anceClassMemor y/256},10485760)

Modify the parameters of multiple RDS instances at a time

1.

2. Select the RDS instances for which you want to modify parameters and click **Modify Parameters** below the instance list.

Onte The RDS instances must run the same version and edition. Otherwise, the Modify Parameters button is dimmed.

- 3. In the **Parameter Settings** dialog box, click the *icon* on the right of the parameter that you want to modify.
- 4. Select or enter a new value in the Current Value column and click OK.
- 5. In the Parameter Settings dialog box, check the new value and click OK.

FAQ

• After I modify the parameters of my RDS instance, do the new values of the parameters immediately take effect? Do I need to restart my RDS instance?

After you modify the parameters of your RDS instance, the new values of some parameters take effect in approximately 5 minutes even if you do not restart your RDS instance. However, the new values of some parameters take effect only after you restart your RDS instance. For more information, view the **Force Restart** column on the **Editable Parameters** tab of the Parameters page in the ApsaraDB RDS console.

• After I modify the parameters of my RDS instance, why do the new values of the parameters not take effect?

After you modify the parameters of your RDS instance, you must click **Apply Changes** on the Editable Parameters tab on the Parameters page in the ApsaraDB RDS console to make the new values of the parameters take effect.

Appendix: Parameters to be synchronized to read-only RDS instances

If read-only RDS instances are attached to a primary RDS instance, the modifications to some parameters of the primary RDS instance are automatically synchronized to the read-only RDS instances. The following list provides these parameters.

lower_case_table_names

(?) Note If your RDS instance runs MySQL 8.0, you cannot change the value of this parameter.

• innodb_large_prefix

Related operations

Operation	Description
Modify parameters of an ApsaraDB for RDS instance	Modifies the parameters of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.
Query the parameter template of an ApsaraDB for RDS instance	Queries the parameter templates that are available for an ApsaraDB RDS instance.
Query parameter configurations	Queries the parameter settings of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

Related information

- View the parameters of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance
- Use a parameter template to configure the parameters of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances
- Optimize parameters of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

13.3. Change the size of the InnoDB buffer pool for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to configure the innodb_buffer_pool_size parameter of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance based on your business requirements to improve the performance of the instance.

Prerequisites

The RDS instance runs one of the following RDS editions:

• High-availability Edition

• Basic Edition

Background information

You can reconfigure the innodb_buffer_pool_size parameter to change the size of the InnoDB buffer pool for an RDS instance. The value of this parameter is calculated by using the following formula:

{DBInstanceClassMemory*X/Y}

Example:

```
{DBInstanceClassMemory*7/10}
```

```
? Note
```

- DBInstanceClassMemory is a system variable, which specifies the memory capacity of the RDS instance.
- X is the numerator, and Y is the denominator.
- The size of the InnoDB buffer pool must be within the following range: [128 MB, DBInstanceClassMemory × 8/10]. The minimum size is 128 MB. The maximum size is 80% of the memory capacity that you purchased for the RDS instance.

The default size of the InnoDB buffer pool for an RDS instance is calculated based on the following rules:

• If the RDS instance is a dedicated instance that uses standard SSDs or enhanced SSDs (ESSDs), the default size of the InnoDB buffer pool is calculated by using the following formula: Default size of the InnoDB buffer pool = (Purchased memory capacity of the RDS instance - Reserved memory capacity of the RDS instance) × 0.75.

? Note The reserved memory capacity of the RDS instance is calculated by using the following formula:

```
MIN{Purchased memory capacity of the RDS instance \times 0.65, [(Purchased memory capacity of the RDS instance/16384) + 1] \times 2048}
```

If the RDS instance is a general-purpose instance that uses standard SSDs or ESSDs or the RDS instance uses local SSDs, the default size of the InnoDB buffer pool is calculated by using the following formula: Default size of the InnoDB buffer pool = Purchased memory capacity of the RDS instance × 0.75 .

? Note The default size of the InnoDB buffer pool is an integer multiple of 128. If the calculated result is not an integer multiple of 128, the result is rounded to the nearest integer that is a multiple of 128. For example, an RDS instance provides 1,024 MB of memory, the calculated result is 268, and the nearest integer that is a multiple of 128 is 256. In this case, the default size of the InnoDB buffer pool for the RDS instance is 256 MB.

The following table provides the default size and maximum size of the InnoDB buffer pool for various memory capacities.

Memory capacity (Unit: MB)	Default buffer pool size (Unit: MB)	Maximum buffer pool size (Unit : MB)
1,024	256	256
2,048	512	512
4,096	1,536	1,536
8,192	4,608	4,608
16,384	12,288	12,288
24,576	18,432	19,456
32,768	24,576	25,600
49,152	36,864	38,912
65,536	49,152	52,224
98,304	73,728	77,824
131,072	98,304	104,448
196,608	147,456	156,672
229,376	172,032	183,296
262,144	196,608	208,896
393,216	294,912	314,368
491,520	368,640	393,216
786,432	589,824	628,736

The size of the InnoDB buffer pool must be an integer multiple of the result that is obtained by using the following formula: Value of the innodb_buffer_pool_chunk_size parameter × Value of the innodb_buffer_pool_instances parameter . If the size of the InnoDB buffer pool is not an integer multiple of the result that you obtain by using the formula, ApsaraDB RDS changes the size to an integer multiple of the result. For example, if the result that you obtain by using the formula is 1 GB and you set the innodb_buffer_pool_size parameter to 1.5 GB, ApsaraDB changes the value of the innodb_buffer_pool_size parameter to 2 GB.

Change the size of the InnoDB buffer pool for a single RDS instance

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Parameters**.
- 3. Find the innodb_buffer_pool_size parameter and click the 🧪 icon. In the dialog box that

appears, enter a new value and click OK.

• Warning After you change the value of the innodb_buffer_pool_size parameter for an RDS instance, the instance restarts. Proceed with caution.

innodb_buffer_pool_size	{DBInstanceClassMemory*3/4}	1536M
innodb_change_buffering	all	1536M
innodb_change_buffer_max_size	25	Input Range:[134217728-184467440
innodb_checksum_algorithm	crc32	Confirm Cancel

4. Click **Apply Changes** above the parameter list. In the message that appears, click **OK**. Then, wait for the RDS instance to restart.



Change the size of the InnoDB buffer pool for multiple RDS instances at a time

You can create a parameter template that contains the **innodb_buffer_pool_size** parameter. Then, you can apply the template to multiple RDS instances to change the size of the InnoDB buffer pool for these RDS instances at a time. If a parameter template that contains this parameter has been created, you need to only change the value of this parameter in the template. Then, you can apply the template to multiple RDS instances at a time. For more information, see Use a parameter template to configure the parameters of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances.

Parameter	Description	Force Restart	Value Range	Default Value	Current Value	
innodb_buffer_pool_size -	0	Yes	[134217728-184467440	{DBInstanceClassMemo	{DBInstanceClassMemory*7/10}	Delete
Add Parameter Import						

13.4. Use a parameter template to configure the parameters of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances

This topic describes how to use a parameter template to configure the parameters of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances. ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL provides system parameter templates and custom parameter templates.

Prerequisites

The RDS instance runs one of the following MySQL versions:

- MySQL 8.0
- MySQL 5.7
- MySQL 5.6

Context

To ensure service availability, you can configure only some parameters in the ApsaraDB RDS console.

ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL provides various system parameter templates. You can also create custom parameter templates to meet specific business requirements such as the requirements for high performance.

? Note For more information about how to configure a single parameter, see Modify the parameters of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Introduction to system templates

(?) Note ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL provides system templates for RDS instances that run RDS High-availability Edition or RDS Basic Edition. You can create custom parameter templates for RDS instances that run RDS Enterprise Edition. For more information, see Create a custom parameter template.

ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL provides the following system parameter templates for RDS instances that run RDS High-availability Edition or RDS Basic Edition:

• Default parameter template

This parameter template provides the highest data security but requires a longer period of time to take effect. If you use this parameter template, data is replicated in semi-synchronous mode. The following parameter settings are fixed in this parameter template to ensure data security:

- InnoDB
 - innodb_flush_log_at_trx_commit = 1
 - sync_binlog = 1
- X-Engine (Only the default parameter template is provided.)

 $sync_binlog = 1$

• Asynchronous parameter template (phased-out)

Onte For more information about how to change the data replication mode to asynchronous, see Change the data replication mode of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

• High-performance parameter template

This parameter template provides average data security but can take effect within the shortest period of time. If you use this parameter template, data is replicated in asynchronous mode. The following parameter settings are fixed in this parameter template to ensure data security:

- o innodb_flush_log_at_trx_commit = 2
- o sync_binlog = 1000

(?) Note You cannot use a custom parameter template to change the values of the parameters that are included in the system parameter templates.

The following table describes the parameters in the system parameter templates.

Parameter	Value	Description
	1	When you commit a transaction, the system writes the transaction log record from the buffer to the log file and immediately synchronizes the log file to the disk.
innodb_flush_log_ at_trx_commit	2	When you commit a transaction, the system writes the transaction log record from the buffer to the log file but does not immediately synchronize the log file to the disk. The log file is written to the disk once every second. If the system stops responding before a write operation is performed, the log records that are generated over the most recent second are lost.
sure biolog	1	When you commit a transaction, the binary log file is written to the disk and the disk is immediately refreshed. The binary log file is not written to the buffer.
sync_bintog	1,000	The log records in the buffer are written to the disk and the disk is refreshed once every time when 1,000 log records are submitted to the buffer. This may result in data loss.

Apply a parameter template

- 1.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click Parameter Templates.
- 3. On the **Custom Parameter Templates** or **System Parameter Templates** tab, find the parameter template that you want to apply and click **Apply to Instance** in the **Actions** column.
- 4. In the All Instances section of the panel that appears, select the RDS instances to which you want

to apply the parameter template, click the > icon to move the selected RDS instances to the

Selected Instances section, and then view the changes to the parameter settings in the Parameter Comparison section.

(?) **Note** Before you apply a parameter template to multiple RDS instances, you must verify that the parameter settings are suitable for all the RDS instances.

5. Click OK.

Create a custom parameter template

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Parameter Templates**. On the **Parameter Templates** page, click **Create Parameter Template**.
- 3. Configure the following parameters.

Parameter

Description

Parameter	Description		
Template Name	Enter the name of the parameter template. The name must be 8 to 64 characters in length and can contain letters, digits, periods (.), and underscores (_). The name must start with a letter.		
Database Engine	Select the database engine that is run by the RDS instance. Set the value to MySQL.		
Engine Version	Select the version of the database engine that is run by the RDS instance. The supported database engine versions are MySQL 5.6, MySQL 5.7, and MySQL 8.0.		
Description	Enter a description for the parameter template. The description can be up to 200 characters in length.		
Add Parameter	Click Add Parameter and select a parameter from the Parameter drop- down list. Then, you can configure the parameter. You can also view the value range and default value of the parameter. Note • For more information about the available parameters, see the parameters on the Editable Parameters tab of the Parameters page. • If you want to add another parameter, you must click Add Parameter again. • To delete a parameter, you must click Delete to the right of the parameter.		
Import	After you export a parameter template to your computer, you can edit the parameter template based on your business requirements. Then, you can click Import to copy the parameter settings from the parameter template to the RDS instance. For more information about how to export a parameter template, see Modify the parameters of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.		

4. Click OK.

Clone a parameter template

You can clone a parameter template from one region to another region.

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Parameter Templates**.
- 3. Find the parameter template that you want to clone, click the i icon, and then select **Clone** in the **Actions** column.
- 4. Configure the following parameters.

Parameter	Description
Region	Specify the destination region to which you want to clone the parameter template.
Template Name	Enter the name of the parameter template. The name must be 8 to 64 characters in length and can contain letters, digits, periods (.), and underscores (_). The name must start with a letter.
Description	Enter a description for the parameter template. The description can be up to 200 characters in length.

5. Click OK.

Manage parameter templates

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click Parameter Templates.
- 3. Manage the parameter templates in this region.

Onte You can perform the View and Apply to Instance operations on system templates.

View a parameter template.

Find the parameter template that you want to view and click **View** in the **Actions** column to view the basic information and parameter settings of the parameter template.

Modify a parameter template.

i. Find the parameter template that you want to modify, click the 🔢 icon, and then select

Modify in the **Actions** column. Alternatively, click **Edit Parameter Template** in the panel that appears after you click View in the Actions column of the parameter template. For more information, see **Step 3** in the "Create a custom parameter template" section of this topic.

ii. Click OK.

Delete a parameter template.

Find the parameter template that you want to delete, click the 🔢 icon, and then select Delete

in the Actions column.

Note When you delete a parameter template, the RDS instances to which the parameter template is applied are not affected.

Related operations

Operation	Description
Create a parameter template	Creates a parameter template.
Modify a parameter template	Modifies a parameter template.

Operation	Description
Copy a parameter template	Clones a parameter template from one region to another region.
Query parameter templates	Queries the parameter templates that are available in a region.
Query information of a parameter template	Queries the details about a parameter template.
Delete a parameter template of an ApsaraDB RDS instance	Deletes a parameter template from a region.

13.5. Optimize parameters of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

You can modify parameter values of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance in the ApsaraDB RDS console. Improper values of key parameters may downgrade performance of an RDS instance or cause errors in your application. This topic provides optimization suggestions for key parameters.

back_log

- Applicable MySQL versions: 8.0, 5.7, 5.6, and 5.5.
- Default value: 3000.
- Whether to restart the instance after parameter modification: Yes.
- Function: The primary MySQL thread creates a new thread for each connection request that it processes. If frontend applications initiate a large number of short-lived connections when the primary thread creates a new thread, ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL restricts the short-lived connection requests to enter the queue based on the back_log parameter. When the number of waiting connection requests in the queue exceeds the value of the back_log parameter, ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL denies new connection requests. If you want ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL to process a large number of short-lived connections, increase the value of this parameter.
- Symptom: If the value of this parameter is too small, the application may encounter the following error:

```
SQLSTATE[HY000] [2002] Connection timed out;
```

• Suggestion: Increase the value of this parameter.

innodb_autoinc_lock_mode

- Applicable MySQL versions: 8.0, 5.7, 5.6, and 5.5.
- Default value: 1.
- Whether to restart the instance after parameter modification: Yes.
- Function: In MySQL 5.1.22 and later, the innodb_autoinc_lock_mode parameter is used in InnoDB to control auto-increment locks. Valid values: 0, 1, or 2. Default value: 1. The default value indicates that InnoDB uses a lightweight mutex to obtain auto-increment locks, instead of table-level locks. However, the SQL statements that are used to load data (including the INSERT ... SELECT and REPLACE ... SELECT) use auto-increment table locks. If the application initiates a number of SQL statements that are concurrently executed to load data, a deadlock may occur.

• Symptom: If the SQL statements that are used to load data (including INSERT ... SELECT and R EPLACE ... SELECT) use auto-increment table locks, the following deadlock occurs during concurrent data loading:

RECORD LOCKS space id xx page no xx n bits xx index PRIMARY of table xx.xx trx id xxx loc k_mode X insert intention waiting. TABLE LOCK table xxx.xxx trx id xxxx lock mode AUTO-IN C waiting;

• Suggestion: Change the value of this parameter to 2. This value indicates that all SQL statements that are used to load data in row mode use a lightweight mutex. This avoids the AUTO-INC deadlock and greatly improves performance of the INSERT ... SELECT statement.

(?) Note If you set the parameter to 2, you must set the format of binary logs to row.

query_cache_size

- Applicable MySQL versions: 5.7, 5.6, and 5.5.
- Default value: 3145728.
- Whether to restart the instance after parameter modification: No.
- Function: This parameter controls the memory capacity of the MySQL query cache. If you enable the MySQL query cache, the system locks the query cache before it performs a query. Then, the system checks for the query result in the cache. If the query result exists in the query cache, the system directly returns the result. Otherwise, it performs the query to obtain the result. The INSERT, UPDATE, and DELETE operations invalidate the query cache and cause changes in schemas or indexes. Frequent invalidation of the query cache brings heavy pressure on the RDS instance. If data on the RDS instance is not frequently updated, the query cache can greatly improve query efficiency. However, if the database processes a large number of write operations on a few tables, the lock mechanism of the query cache may cause frequent lock conflicts. Both the write and read requests on the locked table wait for the query cache to be unlocked. This reduces query efficiency of SELECT statements.
- Symptom: A large number of database connections are in the following states: checking query ca che for query , waiting for query cache lock , and storing result in query cache .
- Suggestion: By default, ApsaraDB RDS disables query cache. If you have enabled query cache and encountered the preceding symptom, disable query cache.

net_write_timeout

- Applicable MySQL versions: 8.0, 5.7, 5.6, and 5.5.
- Default value: 60.
- Whether to restart the instance after parameter modification: No.
- Function: This parameter sets the timeout period that ApsaraDB RDS waits before it sends a block to a client.
- Symptom: If the parameter value is too small, the client may encounter the following error:

"the last packet successfully received from the server was milliseconds ago" or "the last packet sent successfully to the server was milliseconds ago"

• Suggestion: The default value of this parameter is 60s. If the value is too small, the client may be frequently disconnected from the RDS instance when the network is not stable or it takes a long time for the client to process each block. We recommend that you increase the value of this parameter.

tmp_table_size

- Applicable MySQL versions: 8.0, 5.7, 5.6, and 5.5.
- Default value: 2097152.
- Whether to restart the instance after parameter modification: No.
- Function: This parameter determines the maximum size of an internal temporary memory table. The size is assigned to each thread. The actual value is the smaller one between tmp_table_size and max_heap_table_size. If the size of the temporary memory table exceeds the limit, ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL automatically converts the table to a disk-based MyISAM table. When you optimize query statements, do not use internal temporary tables. If you have to use a temporary table, make sure that the temporary table is stored in the memory.
- Symptom: If you use a temporary table for complicated SQL statements that contain GROUP BY or DISTINCT clauses and cannot be optimized by using indexes, SQL execution takes a longer time.
- Suggestion: If the SQL statements contain a large number of GROUP BY or DISTINCT clauses and the instance has enough memory, increase the values of the tmp_table_size and max_heap_table_size parameters to improve query performance.

loose_rds_max_tmp_disk_space

- Applicable MySQL versions: 5.6 and 5.5.
- Default value: 10737418240.
- Whether to restart the instance after parameter modification: No.
- Function: This parameter controls the size of temporary files on the RDS instance.
- Symptom: If the size of temporary files exceeds the value of the loose_rds_max_tmp_disk_space parameter, the application may encounter the following error:

The table '/home/mysql/dataxxx/tmp/#sql_2db3_1' is full

• Suggestion: Evaluate whether you can optimize the SQL statements that cause an increase of temporary files by using indexing or other methods. If your instance has enough space, increase the value of this parameter to ensure normal execution of SQL statements.

loose_tokudb_buffer_pool_ratio

- Applicable version: 5.6
- Default value: 0.
- Whether to restart the instance after parameter modification: Yes.
- Function: This parameter specifies the size of buffer memory that can be used by TokuDB tables. For example, if the innodb_buffer_pool_size parameter is set to 1000 MB and the tokudb_buffer_pool_ratio parameter to 50 (indicating 50%), the size of buffer memory that can be used by TokuDB tables is 500 MB.
- Suggestion: If the TokuDB engine is used on the RDS instance, increase the value of this parameter to improve access performance of TokuDB tables.

loose_max_statement_time

- Applicable MySQL version: 5.6
- Default value: 0.
- Whether to restart the instance after parameter modification: No.
- Function: This parameter sets a limit on how long a query can take before it times out. By default, the query time is not limited. If this parameter is configured and the query time exceeds the specified limit, the query fails.
- Symptom: If the query time exceeds the value of this parameter, the following error occurs:

ERROR 3006 (HY000): Query execution was interrupted, max_statement_time exceeded

• Suggestion: If you want to limit the time to execute SQL statements, set this parameter to a nonzero value. Unit: milliseconds.

loose_rds_threads_running_high_watermark

- Applicable MySQL versions: 5.6 and 5.5.
- Default value: 50000.
- Whether to restart the instance after parameter modification: No.
- Function: This parameter limits the number of concurrent queries. For example, if you set the rds_threads_running_high_watermark parameter to 100, 100 MySQL queries can be concurrently executed. Additional queries are denied.
- Suggestion: This parameter is used to handle burst requests and requests during peak hours to protect the RDS instance.

14.Backup 14.1. Overview

This topic provides an overview of the backup feature supported by ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL. This feature allows you to restore historical data with ease.

Methods

- Automatic backup: performed by the system on a regular basis. You can specify the time when automatic backups are performed. Automatic backup files contain all the data of an instance.
- Manual backup: manually initiated at any time. You can choose to back up the whole instance or specific databases or tables.

For more information, see Enable the automatic backup feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Composition

ApsaraDB RDS provides data backup and log backup.

- Data backup: The system backs up data in the instance and generates backup sets. You can restore data to the time point when a backup set is created.
- Log backup: After log backup is enabled, you can restore data to any point in time within a specific time range based on data and log backup files.

For example, if a data backup set of an instance is created at 00:00:01 on January 1, 2021 and log backup is enabled, you can restore data to any second since 00:00:01 on January 1, 2021.

Storage location

Data and log backup files of your ApsaraDB RDS instance are stored by Alibaba Cloud and do not consume the **storage capacity of your instance**.

Data and log backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS instance are stored in the same region, but not necessarily in the same zone as the instance. For information about how to store the backup files in another region, see Enable cross-region backups for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

? Note

- You can read data from the storage space for backup, but cannot use the storage space. For information about how to download backup files from the storage space, see Download the backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- Each ApsaraDB RDS instance is allocated a free quota for backup storage. If your backup storage usage exceeds the free quota, you are charged extra fees. For more information, see Backup storage pricing of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Impact

• Backup operations of an ApsaraDB RDS instance on High-availability Edition or Enterprise Edition are performed on the secondary instance. Therefore, they do not occupy CPU resources of the primary instance or affect its performance.

? Note In rare cases when the secondary instance is unavailable, backups are performed on the primary instance.

• If an ApsaraDB RDS instance runs the RDS Basic Edition, it stands alone without a standby. All backups are performed on the instance. In this case, the performance of the instance decreases during a backup.

14.2. View and manage the size of backup files for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to view and manage the size of backup files for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

The size of backup files for your RDS instance is the total size of the data and log backup files that are generated on your RDS instance.

View the size of backup files

You can log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console and go to the **Basic Information** page for your RDS instance. In the lower-right corner of the page, you can view the size of backup files for your RDS instance.

In the following figure, the size of backup files includes 33.2 GB of data backup files and 20.19 MB of log backup files.

? Note

- In the following figure, Archive backup indicates the size of the backup files that are retained for more than 730 days, and Data indicates the size of the data backup files that are not archived.
- After you update the minor engine version of your RDS instance that runs RDS Basic Edition, the **Backup Size** parameter on the **Basic Information** page in the ApsaraDB RDS console may be displayed as 0. After the next scheduled backup is complete, this error is automatically fixed.

Backup Size 👔

Data 29.42M, Archive backup 0.00K, Log 19.57M(The total amount is free of charge within 102400 M)

Additional information

- Relationship between the size of backup files and the storage capacity
 - Data and log backup files consume the backup storage that is provided by Alibaba Cloud. These files do not consume the storage capacity of your RDS instance.

• Log files are categorized as local log files and log backup files.

Log file type	Description	Billing	Purpose
Local log files	Local log files refer to the raw log files that are generated on your RDS instance. Local log files are stored on your RDS instance.	Local log files do not incur charges. However, local log files consume the storage capacity of your RDS instance.	Local log files can be used to build the primary/secondary architecture.
Log backup files	After you enable the log backup feature, ApsaraDB RDS uploads the local log files of your RDS instance to the specified backup storage.	For more information, see Backup storage pricing of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.	Log backup files are used to restore the data of your RDS instance to a specific point in time.

? Note

- You can upload the local log files of your RDS instance to an Object Storage Service (OSS) bucket. This reduces the storage space that is consumed by local log files on your RDS instance. However, this does not reduce the size of log backup files. For more information, see Upload the binary log files of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance to an OSS bucket.
- You can log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console and go to the **Monitoring and Alerts** page for your RDS instance. On this page, you can view the storage space that is consumed by local log files on your RDS instance.



• Relationship between the size of backup files and the amount of data

The size of backup files may not equal the amount of data on your RDS instance.

If your RDS instance uses standard or enhanced SSDs, ApsaraDB RDS takes snapshots to back up your RDS instance. The size of a snapshot backup file may be significantly larger than the amount of data. Therefore, the free quota for backup storage that is allocated to an RDS instance that uses standard or enhanced SSDs is four times the free quota for backup storage that is allocated to an RDS instance that uses local SSDs. For more information, see Backup storage pricing for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

(?) Note When ApsaraDB RDS calculates the size of a snapshot backup file, it counts in all the non-empty blocks to which data is written. If the write operations are scattered among blocks, none of the blocks is empty. For example, if 3 MB of data is written across two, three, or four blocks, none of these blocks is empty. In this case, ApsaraDB RDS counts in all these blocks to calculate the total size. As a result, the size of the snapshot backup file is larger than the actual amount of data.

• Relationship between the size of backup files and the instance architecture

The size of backup files does not vary based on the instance architecture. For example, an RDS instance that runs the High-availability Edition has the same amount of data as an RDS instance that runs the Basic Edition. In this case, these RDS instances have the same size of backup files. The size of backup files does not increase even if you use an RDS edition that provides high availability.

Delete data backup files or reduce the data backup frequency

- Delete data backup files.
 - i.
 - ii. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Backup and Restoration**.
 - iii. On the **Data Backup** tab, find the data backup file that you want to delete, and click **Delete** in the Actions column.

Note If you cannot find the **Delete** button, you can check whether the following requirements are met:

- If the log backup feature is disabled, you can delete only the data backup files that are retained for more than seven days.
- If the log backup feature is enabled, you can delete only the data backup files that are retained for longer than the specified log backup retention period. For example, if you set the log backup retention period to seven days, you can delete the data backup files that are retained for more than seven days.

• Configure a policy that allows ApsaraDB RDS to automatically delete data backup files.

i.

- ii. In the left-side navigation pane, click Backup and Restoration.
- iii. On the **Backup Settings** tab, click Edit. In the Backup Settings dialog box, reduce the data backup retention period.

ApsaraDB RDS deletes the data backup files that are stored for longer than the specified data backup retention period. For example, if you set the data backup retention period of your RDS instance to 30 days, ApsaraDB RDS immediately deletes the data backup files that have been retained for more than 30 days on your RDS instance.

• Reduce the data backup frequency.

i.

- ii. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Backup and Restoration**.
- iii. On the **Backup Settings** tab, click Edit. In the Backup Settings dialog box, reduce the data backup frequency.
- Delete or migrate the data that does not need to be backed up.

Delete log backup files or reduce the log backup frequency

• Reduce the log backup retention period.

i.

- ii. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Backup and Restoration**.
- iii. On the **Backup Settings** tab, click Edit. In the Backup Settings dialog box, reduce the log backup retention period.

For example, if you set the log backup retention period of your RDS instance to 30 days, ApsaraDB RDS immediately deletes the log backup files that have been retained for more than 30 days on your RDS instance.

Note You can set the log backup retention period only when the log backup feature is enabled.

- Disable the log backup feature.
 - i.
 - ii. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Backup and Restoration**.
 - iii. On the **Backup Settings** tab, click Edit. In the Backup Settings dialog box, disable the log backup feature.

(?) Note After the log backup feature is disabled, ApsaraDB RDS immediately deletes all log backup files. You cannot restore the data of your RDS instance to a specific point in time.

• Reduce unnecessary add, delete, and update operations, especially the update operations on large fields.

Add, delete, and update operations increase the total size of log backup files.

(?) Note You can use the SQL Explorer feature to view the add, delete, update, and query operations that are performed on your RDS instance. For more information, see Use the SQL Explorer feature on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

14.3. Backup storage pricing of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes the backup storage pricing of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Backup storage fee

If the total size of the backup files of your RDS instance does not exceed the free quota for backup

storage, no fees are charged. For more information, see View and manage the size of backup files for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. If the total size exceeds the free quota, you are charged an hourly fee for the amount of excess backup storage that you use. The hourly fee is calculated by using the following formula: Hourly fee for backup storage = (Total size of backup files - Free quota) × Unit price.

- Total size of backup files: the total size of data backup files and log backup files. You can log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console, go to the Basic Information page of your RDS instance, and then view the free quota in the lower-right corner of the page.
- Free quota: a specific amount of storage that is allocated to store the backup files of your RDS instance. This amount of storage is free of charge. If your RDS instance uses standard SSDs or enhanced SSDs (ESSDs), the free quota is 200% of the storage capacity that you purchased for your RDS instance. If your RDS instance uses local SSDs, the free quota is 50% of the storage capacity that you purchased for your RDS instance. The free quota is measured in GB. You can only round the free quota up to the next integer. You cannot round the free quota down. You can log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console, go to the Basic Information page of your RDS instance, and then view the free quota in the lower-right corner of the page.
- Unit price: The unit price varies based on several factors. For more information, see the following table.

Storage type	Unit price for backup files that are stored for up to 730 days (USD/GB)	Unit price for archived backup files that are stored for more than 730 days (USD/GB)
Standar d SSD or ESSD	0.00004	 The unit price varies in different regions: Japan (Tokyo), India (Mumbai), Singapore (Singapore), Australia (Sydney), Indonesia (Jakarta), and Philippines (Manila): 0.000034
Local SSD	0.00020	 China (Hong Kong): 0.000031 UAE (Dubai): 0.000028 Germany (Frankfurt), UK (London), US (Silicon Valley), and US (Virginia): 0.000022 Other regions: 0.000025

Note The backup storage fee can be deducted from your Database Backup (DBS) storage plan. For more information, see **Storage fees**.

Usage notes

The backup storage fee varies based on the total size of backup files. Backup files do not consume the storage capacity of your RDS instance. Therefore, the backup storage fee does not vary based on the storage usage.

When you analyze the backup storage fee, you must check the total size of backup files. You do not need to check the storage usage.

Methods of reducing the backup storage fee

• Reduce the total size of backup files.

You can delete the backup files that are no longer required. You can also reduce the backup frequency. For more information, see View and manage the size of backup files for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

• Increase the free quota.

You can expand the storage capacity of your RDS instance. For more information, see Change the specifications of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

The free quota varies based on the storage capacity of your RDS instance. For example, if your RDS instance uses local SSDs and you expand the storage capacity of your RDS instance from 150 GB to 300 GB, the free quota is increased from 75 GB to 150 GB.

14.4. Perform backups

14.4.1. Methods of backing up and restoring an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes the methods that you can use to back up and restore an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Scenario	Method	References			
	Perform scheduled backups.	Enable the automatic backup			
	Perform incremental backups or log backups.	MySQL instance			
Perform backups	Back up individual databases and tables.	Back up the individual databases and tables of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance			
	Perform cross-region backups.	Enable cross-region backups for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance			
	Perform cross-account backups.	Back up and restore data across Alibaba Cloud accounts			
Store backup files	Store backup files to your Object Storage Service (OSS) bucket.	Back up an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL, PolarDB for MySQL, or self-managed MySQL instance by using logical backup			
	Store backup files to a multi-level storage pool.	What is a storage pool?			
Download backup	Manually download backup files.	Download the backup files of an			
files	Configure a policy based on which ApsaraDB RDS can automatically download backup files.	ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance			
	Encrypt backup files at rest.				
		Encrypt the backup files of an			

Encrypt backup files Scenario	Method	Reference RDS for MySQL instance
	Encrypt backup files in transit by using SSL.	
	Restore data in a few seconds.	Create a sandbox instance for the emergency disaster recovery of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL database
	Query data from backup files at high speeds.	Query data from DBS-generated logical backup files
Restore data	Restore individual databases and tables.	Restore the individual databases and tables of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance Restore data by database or table
	Restore data to a specific point in time.	
	Restore data to a new RDS instance.	Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MvSOL instance
	Restore data to the original RDS instance.	Native Flashback
	Restore data to an existing RDS instance rather than the original RDS instance.	Restore a MySQL database from a logical backup
	Restore data to an on-premises database.	

14.4.2. Enable the automatic backup feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to enable the automatic backup feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL supports automatic backups and manual backups.

For more information about how to enable the automatic backup feature for an RDS instance that runs a different database engine, see the following topics:

- Back up an ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server instance
- Back up an ApsaraDB RDS for Post greSQL instance
- Automatically back up the data of an RDS MariaDB instance

(?) Note The default backup feature that is provided by ApsaraDB RDS stores backup files in the same region as your RDS instance. For more information about how to store backup files in a region that is different from the region of your RDS instance, see Enable cross-region backups for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Introduction to backups

You can back up your RDS instance by using one of the following methods:

- ApsaraDB RDS: ApsaraDB RDS provides a default backup feature that supports full backups and increment al backups. Full backups are also called data backups, and increment al backups are also called log backups.
- Dat abase Backup (DBS): DBS provides an advanced backup feature. This feature supports crossaccount backups and allows DBS to create a backup within seconds.

For more information about the differences between the default backup feature of ApsaraDB RDS and the advanced backup feature of DBS, see ApsaraDB RDS-generated backups and DBS-generated backups.

Use ApsaraDB RDS to perform automatic backups

ApsaraDB RDS supports automatic data backups and automatic log backups. Data backups cannot be disabled. However, you can change the data backup frequency based on your business requirements. Data backup frequency

Instance configuration	Minimum frequency	Maximum frequency		
 RDS instances that run RDS High-availability Edition or RDS Enterprise Edition with local SSDs RDS instances that run RDS Basic Edition with standard SSDs or enhanced SSDs (ESSDs) 	Twice every week	Once every day		
RDS instances that run RDS High-availability Edition with standard SSDs or ESSDs		Once every 15 minutes (You must enable the Increase Snapshot Frequency feature.)		

Precautions

- Backup policies cannot be configured for read-only RDS instances.
- Do not execute DDL statements during a backup. These statements trigger locks on tables, and the backup may fail as a result of the locks.
- We recommend that you back up your RDS instance during off-peak hours.
- If the number of tables that are created on your RDS instance exceeds 600,000, backups cannot be created. In this case, we recommend that you shard the databases on your RDS instance.
- If the number of tables that are created on your RDS instance exceeds 50,000, you cannot restore individual databases or tables. For more information, see Restore the individual databases and tables of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Procedure

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Backup and Restoration**.
- 3. On the **Backup and Restoration** page, click the **Backup Settings** tab. In the Data Backup Settings section of the tab that appears, click **Edit**.
- 4. Configure the following parameters and click **OK**.

? Note If your RDS instance is equipped with standard SSDs or ESSDs, ApsaraDB RDS creates snapshots to back up the data of the RDS instance.

Data backup settings

lnstance configurati on	Parameter	Description						
RDS instances with all types of configura tions	Data Backup Retention (Days)/Re tention Period	 The number of days for which data backup files are retained. Default value: 7. Valid values: For RDS instances that are equipped with standard SSDs or ESSDs: 7 to 730. Note If your RDS instance runs MySQL 5.7 on RDS Basic Edition, the value is fixed as 7 and cannot be changed. If you enable the Single-digit Second Backup feature, the valid value of this parameter ranges from 7 to 730. 						
		 For RDS instances that are equipped with local SSDs: 7 or more. The number of days must be less than 2 to the power of 31. Data backup files that are retained for 730 days or less are considered regular backup files. Data backup files that are retained for more than 730 days are converted into archived backup files. The cost of archived backup files is less than the cost of regular backup files. For more information, see Backup storage pricing of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. Note If you set this parameter to a value greater than 730 or select Long-term Retention, the data backup files that are retained for more than 730 days are automatically converted into archived backup files. Therefore, you must configure the Archived Backup files. Therefore, for example, if you select Monthly 						
		and enter 2 in the unit field, ApsaraDB RDS retains the first two archived backup files that are generated each month.						
	Backup Cycle	The cycle based on which data backups are created. You must select at least two days of the week.						
	Backup Time	The hour at which a data backup is created. For example, you can select the 05:00-06:00 period. We recommend that you select an off-peak hour.						

lnstance configurati on	Parameter	Description				
	Data Backup Retention Policy After Release	 Specifies whether to retain a specific number of data backup files after your RDS instance is released. Select Latest or All. Note This policy is used to permanently retain data backup files. You are not charged for the storage of the data backup files that are retained. This policy is supported for pay-as-you-go RDS instances and subscription RDS instances. After your RDS instance is released, you can go to the Backup for Deleted Instances tab to download the data backup files to restore the data of your RDS instance. 				
RDS	Restore Individual Database /Table	 Specifies whether to support the restoration of individual databases and tables. For more information, see Restore individual databases and tables of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. The Restore Individual Database/T able feature is automatically enabled and cannot be disabled. Note The Restore Individual Database/T able feature is supported only for RDS instances that run MySQL 8.0, MySQL 5.7, or MySQL 5.6 on RDS High-availability Edition with local SSDs. After you enable the Restore Individual Database/T able feature, a new backup file format takes effect. For more information, see [Notice] New physical backup file format phased in for some ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances. 				
that are equipped with local SSDs						

RDS MySQL Dat abase Backup

lnstance configurati on	Parameter	Description
	Restore Speed	 The speed at which an individual database or table is restored. Valid values: Standard: Databases and tables are restored at a regular speed. Fast: Databases and tables are restored at a high speed. Fast restoration provides a restoration speed that is 50% to 95% faster than standard restoration. Fast restoration is in public review and is provided free of charge. For more information about the restoration of databases and tables, see Restore individual databases and tables of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. Note The fast restoration of databases and tables is supported only in the China (Zhangjiakou) and China (Hohhot) regions.
	Increase Snapshot Frequency	 The frequency at which snapshot backups are created. This feature enables you to configure a shorter interval to create snapshots by using the Single-digit Second Backup feature, which increases the frequency of the snapshots. You can increase the frequency to up to once every 15 minutes. The snapshot retention policies vary based on the value of this parameter. A value at the minute granularity: All snapshots that are completed within 1 hour are retained. For snapshots that are retained for more than 1 hour, ApsaraDB RDS deletes the snapshots except for the first snapshot after the hour. For snapshots that are retained for more than 24 hours, ApsaraDB RDS deletes the snapshots except for the first snapshot after 00:00 every day. A value at the hour granularity: All snapshots that are completed within 24 hours, are retained. For snapshots that are retained for more than 24 hours, ApsaraDB RDS deletes the snapshots except for the first snapshot after 00:00 every day.
RDS instances that are equipped with standard SSDs or ESSDs		 Note The Increase Snapshot Frequency feature is supported only for RDS instances that run the RDS High-availability Edition with standard SSDs or ESSDs. If you want to enable this feature, you must enable the Single-digit Second Backup feature. If the Single-digit Second Backup feature is disabled, ApsaraDB RDS automatically enables the Single-digit Second Backup feature when you enable the Increase Snapshot Frequency feature.

Instance configurati on	Parameter	Description						
	Single- digit Second Backup	Allows ApsaraDB RDS to create a backup within seconds.						
		Note The Single-digit Second Backup feature is supported only for RDS instances that run RDS High-availability Edition with ESSDs.						

Log backup settings

Parameter	Description
	Specifies whether to enable the log backup feature. After this feature is enabled, you can restore the data of your RDS instance to a specified point in time. This feature is enabled by default.
Backup	Note You cannot disable this feature for RDS instances that run MySQL 5.7 on RDS Basic Edition.
	• The valid value ranges from 7 to 730. The default value is 7.
Log Retention Period (Days)	• The value of this parameter must be less than or equal to the value of the Data Backup Retention (Days) parameter.
	Note The value is fixed to 7 for RDS instances that run MySQL 5.7 on RDS Basic Edition.

Use DBS to perform automatic backups

- 1. Create a backup schedule. Make sure that you select the logical backup method.
- 2. Configure the backup schedule that you created.

For more information, see Back up an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL, PolarDB for MySQL, or self-managed MySQL instance by using logical backup.

FAQ

- 1. When a backup is in progress, does the performance of my RDS instance decrease?
 - Backup operations of an ApsaraDB RDS instance on High-availability Edition or Enterprise Edition are performed on the secondary instance. Therefore, they do not occupy CPU resources of the primary instance or affect its performance.

Note In rare cases when the secondary instance is unavailable, backups are performed on the primary instance.

- If an ApsaraDB RDS instance runs the RDS Basic Edition, it stands alone without a standby. All backups are performed on the instance. In this case, the performance of the instance decreases during a backup.
- 2. How do I query dat a from backup files at fast speeds?

If you have full logical backup files, you can use DBS to query data from these files. This way, you do not need to restore the data of these files. For more information, see Overview.

3. Can I disable the data backup feature for my RDS instance?

No, you cannot disable the data backup feature for your RDS instance. However, you can reduce the data backup frequency to as low as twice a week. The retention period for data backup files must be at least seven days.

4. Can I disable the log backup feature for my RDS instance?

Yes, if your RDS instance does not run MySQL 5.7 on RDS Basic Edition, you can disable the log backup feature for your RDS instance in the ApsaraDB RDS console.

5. Why did my backup task fail?

A possible cause is that you executed time-consuming DDL statements or UPDATE statements when your backup task was in progress. These statements triggered locks on tables, and your backup task failed as a result of the locks.

6. Why is the size of a snapshot backup file significantly larger than the amount of data on my RDS instance?

Cloud Disk instances are backed up by using snapshots. The size of a **snapshot backup may be much larger than the size of** the data. Therefore, the <u>free backup quota</u> of a cloud disk instance is four times that of an instance with local disks.

(?) Note When the snapshot backup size is calculated, the size of all non-empty blocks is calculated. If the writing time is scattered (for example, 3MB of data may occupy two, three, or even four blocks), this causes many non-empty blocks, and therefore leads to a large number of snapshot backups.

References

- Download the backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance
- Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

Related operations

- ApsaraDB RDS
 - Modify backup settings
 - o 查询备份设置
 - Query the data backup files
 - Query backup tasks
- DBS
 - Create a backup plan
 - Configure a backup schedule

14.4.3. Create a backup for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to create a backup that is immediately performed on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Procedure

- 1. In the upper-right corner of the page, click **Back Up Instance**.
- 2. Back up all databases or only the specified databases of your RDS instance. The supported backup methods vary based on the type of storage media that is used by your RDS instance. For more information, see the following table.

? Note The data of physical backup files and snapshot backup files can be restored to a new RDS instance. The data of logical backup files cannot be restored to a new RDS instance.

Storage type	e type Backup all databases	
Local SSDs	 Use one of the following backup methods: Select Physical Backup from the Select Backup Mode drop-down list. The speeds of physical backup and restoration are faster than the speeds of logical backup and restoration. Select Logical Backup from the Select Backup Mode drop-down list. Then, set the Backup Policy parameter to Instance Backup. 	Select Logical Backup from the Select Backup Mode drop-down list. Then, set the Backup Policy parameter to Database/Table Backup .
Standard SSDs or enhanced SSDs (ESSDs)	Snapshot Backup	Not supported.

3. In the upper-right corner of the page, click the **Task Progress** icon to view the progress of the backup task. Wait until the backup task is completed.

	Q Search		Expenses	Tickets	ICP	Enterprise	Support	Official Site	>_	Ū.	Ä	?	EN	(
atabase	Operation Guide Migration	Database Rest	tart Instance	Back U	lp Instanc	e Cre	ate Enterprise	Data Warehous	se	Create	Data Wa	irehouse		
Task F	Progress													×
Ba	Task Name	Task Progress	Task St	tep	Task St	atus	Task Start Ti	me	Estimate	ed Time L	.eft (Min	utes)		
	Temporary Backup Task	25%												

Related operations

Create data backup

14.4.4. Back up the individual databases and tables of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to back up the individual databases and tables of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Configure ApsaraDB RDS to automatically back up individual databases and tables

For data security purposes, ApsaraDB RDS performs automatic backups to back up all the databases and tables of your RDS instance. These automatic backups do not support individual databases and tables.

- If you do not need to back up some databases and tables, we recommend that you delete these databases and tables or migrate them to your computer.
- If you want to reduce the size and storage cost of your backup files, see Backup storage pricing of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- If you want to restore individual databases and tables in the event of exceptions, see the following table.

Instance configuration	Restoration method
MySQL 8.0, 5.7, or 5.6 on RDS High-availability Edition with local SSDs	 Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console and set the Restore Individual Database/T able option to Enabled in the backup settings of your RDS instance. Then, you can use the newly generated backup files to restore individual databases and tables. For more information, see Use ApsaraDB RDS to perform automatic backups. On the Backup and Restoration page, click to back up individual databases and tables. For more information, see Restore individual databases and tables. For more information, see Restore individual databases and tables.
Other configuration	Use the mysqldump plug-in to back up and restore your RDS instance. For more information, see How do I back up and restore the database of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance?

Back up individual databases and tables

Note You can manually back up individual databases and tables only when your RDS instance uses local SSDs. For more information, see **Storage types**.

1.

- 2. In the upper-right corner of the page, click **Back Up Instance**.
- 3. In the dialog box that appears, set the **Select Backup Mode** parameter to **Logical Backup** and set the **Backup Policy** parameter to **Database/Table Backup**.
- 4. Select the databases that you want to back up in the left-side section, click the rightwards arrow to move the selected databases to the right-side section, and then click **OK**.

ApsaraDB RDS generates a logical backup task. You can view the progress of the logical backup task in the upper-right corner of the page.

You can restore the data of your RDS instance from the generated logical backup file. For more information, see Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from a logical backup file to a self-managed MySQL instance.

Related operations

Operation	Description
CreateBackup	Creates a data backup for an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

14.4.5. Enable cross-region backups for an

ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to enable cross-region backups for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. After you enable cross-region backups, the backup files of the original RDS instance are automatically replicated from the source region to a specified destination region. You can use the backup files in the destination region to manage and restore the data of the original RDS instance.

Context

You can use one of the following methods to enable cross-region backups:

- Configure cross-region backups in the ApsaraDB RDS console
- Enable cross-region backups by using DBS

If a cross-region backup is complete, you can restore the data of the original RDS instance from the generated cross-region backup file to an existing RDS instance or to a new RDS instance that resides in the destination region. For more information, see Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance across regions.

? Note

- For more information about default backups, see Enable the automatic backup feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- For more information about how to enable cross-region backups for an ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL instance, see Enable cross-region backups for an ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL instance.
- For more information about how to enable cross-region backups for an ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server instance, see Enable cross-region backups for an ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server instance.

Differences between cross-region backups and default backups

RDS MySQL Dat abase • Backup

ltem	Cross-region backup	Default backup
Default configuration	By default, cross-region backups are disabled. You must manually enable cross-region backups.	By default, default backups are enabled.
Storage	Cross-region backup files are stored in a region that is different from the region of the original RDS instance.	Default backup files are stored in the region where the original RDS instance resides.
Restoration	 Data from cross-region backup files can be restored to the following RDS instances: Original RDS instance New RDS instance in the destination region Existing RDS instance 	 Data from default backup files can be restored to the following RDS instances: New RDS instance that resides in the same region as the original RDS instance Original RDS instance
Retention period	After the original RDS instance is released, its cross-region backup files are still retained based on the cross- region backup retention period that you specify.	By default, after the original RDS instance is released, its default backup files are retained for seven days.

Prerequisites

Where to perform cross-region backups	Prerequisite
ApsaraDB RDS console	 The original RDS instance runs one of the following MySQL versions and RDS editions: MySQL 8.0, MySQL 5.7, or MySQL 5.6 on RDS High-availability Edition with local SSDs MySQL 5.6 on RDS Enterprise Edition with local SSDs
DBS	 Database Backup (DBS) is activated, and a backup schedule is created. For more information, see Purchase a backup schedule. The region that you specify on the DBS buy page is not the region where the original RDS instance resides. The Backup Method parameter is set to Logical Backup for the backup schedule. A public endpoint is allocated to the original RDS instance. For more information, see Apply for or release a public endpoint for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Billing

Where to perform cross-region backups	Billing
ApsaraDB RDS console	 You are charged for the storage and traffic that are consumed by the cross-region backup files. Remote storage fee: USD 0.0002 per GB-hour. Network traffic fee: For more information, see Billing overview.
DBS	If you want to store cross-region backup files in the built-in storage of DBS, you are charged for the storage that you use in DBS. For more information, see Billing overview.

Precautions

If you want to enable cross-region backups in the ApsaraDB RDS console, take note of the following information:

- You can restore data from cross-region backup files to the source region or the destination region. However, if Transparent Data Encryption (TDE) is enabled for the original RDS instance, you can restore data from cross-region backup files only to the source region. For more information, see Configure TDE for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- Cross-region backups do not affect default backups. These two types of backups exist at the same time.
- After a default backup is complete, a cross-region backup is triggered. During the cross-region backup process, the original RDS instance dumps the generated default backup files to the destination region.
- After you enable cross-region backups, the original RDS instance checks whether valid data backup files are generated over the most recent 24 hours. If no valid data backup files are generated over the most recent 24 hours, the original RDS instance triggers a backup on its secondary RDS instance.
- After you enable cross-region log backups, the original RDS instance checks the valid data backup files that are generated over the most recent 24 hours.
 - If continuous binary log files are generated following the valid data backup files, the original RDS instance dumps the binary log files to the destination region.
 - If no continuous binary log files are generated following the valid data backup files, the original RDS instance triggers a backup on its secondary RDS instance.
- Cross-region backups are supported only in a few Alibaba Cloud regions due to network reasons. The following table lists the Alibaba Cloud regions in which cross-region backups are supported.

Source region

Destination region

Source region	Destination region
China (Hangzhou), China (Shanghai), China (Qingdao), China (Beijing), China	China (Hong Kong), China (Hangzhou), China (Shanghai), China (Qingdao), China (Shenzhen), China (Zhangjiakou), China (Hohhot), China (Beijing), China (Ulanqab), China (Chengdu), China (Guangzhou), and China (Heyuan)
(Zhangjiakou), China (Hohhot), China (Shenzhen), China (Hong Kong), China (Ulanqab), China (Chengdu), China (Guangzhou), and China (Heyuan)	Note The backup files from a source region can be dumped to regions except the source region. The available destination regions may vary based on your network environment.
US (Silicon Valley)	US (Virginia)
US (Virginia)	US (Silicon Valley)
China East 1 Finance	China East 2 Finance and China South 1 Finance
China East 2 Finance	China East 1 Finance and China South 1 Finance
China South 1 Finance	China East 1 Finance and China East 2 Finance

Configure cross-region backups in the ApsaraDB RDS console

- To enable cross-region backups for a single RDS instance, perform the following operations:
 - i. Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Instances**. In the top navigation bar, select the region where the RDS instance resides.
 - ii. Find the RDS instance for which you want to enable cross-region backups. In the Actions column, choose **More > Cross-region Backup Settings**.

? Note

- You can also go to the Backup and Restoration page, click the Backup Settings tab, and then click Edit in the Cross-region Backup Settings section.
- If the Cross-region Backup Settings tab cannot be found, you must check whether the RDS instance meets all prerequisites.
- iii. Configure the following parameters.

Cross-region Backup Settings X		
Cross-region	Enable Disabled	
Backup Status		
Backup Region	China (Hohhot)	~
Cross-region	90	days
Retention Period	Enter an integer from 7 to 1825.	
Cross-region Log	O Enable O Disabled	
Backup Status		
Note: You will be charged for additional fees if you enable cross- region backup.Learn More		
	ОК Са	ancel

Parameter	Description
Cross-region Backup Status	Specify whether to enable or disable cross-region backups. Select Enable .
Backup Region	Select the destination region to which the backup files of the RDS instance are automatically replicated.
Cross-region Retention Period	Specify the retention period of cross-region backup files. Valid values: 7 to 1825. Unit: days. The longest cross-region backup retention period spans five years.
	Note After the RDS instance expires or is released, its cross-region backup files are still retained based on the cross-region backup retention period that you specify. You can log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console, click Backups in the left-side navigation pane, and then click the Cross-region Backup tab to view the cross-region backup files that are retained.
Cross-region Log Backup Status:	Specify whether to enable or disable cross-region log backups. After you enable cross-region log backups, the log backup files of the RDS instance are automatically replicated to a specified Object Storage Service (OSS) bucket in the destination region.

iv. Click OK.

- To enable cross-region backups for multiple RDS instances at a time, perform the following operations:
 - i. Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console. In the left-side navigation pane, click Backups. In the top

navigation bar, select the region where the RDS instance resides.

- ii. Click the Cross-region Backup tab. On the tab that appears, click the Pending Instances tab.
- iii. Select the RDS instances for which you want to enable cross-region backups. Then, click **Backup Settings**.

? Note You can also click Settings in the Cross-region Backup Settings column of a single RDS instance to enable cross-region backups only for that RDS instance.

iv. Configure the following parameters.

Parameter	Description	
Cross-region Backup Status	Specify whether to enable or disable cross-region backups. Select Enable .	
Backup Region	Select the destination region to which the backup files of the RDS instance are automatically replicated.	
Cross-region Retention Period	Specify the retention period of cross-region backup files. Valid values: 7 to 1825. Unit: days. The longest cross-region backup retention period spans five years.	
	Note After the RDS instance expires or is released, its cross-region backup files are still retained based on the cross-region backup retention period that you specify. You can log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console, click Backups in the left-side navigation pane, and then click the Cross-region Backup tab to view the cross-region backup files that are retained.	
Cross-region Log Backup Status:	Specify whether to enable or disable cross-region log backups. After you enable cross-region log backups, the log backup files of the RDS instance are automatically replicated to a specified Object Storage Service (OSS) bucket in the destination region.	

v. Click OK.

- To modify the cross-region backup settings of an RDS instance, perform the following operations:
 - i. Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Backups**. In the top navigation bar, select the region where the RDS instance resides.
 - ii. On the Backups page, click the Cross-region Backup tab. Click the Backup Instances tab and find the RDS instance whose cross-region backup settings you want to modify. Then, click Settings in the Cross-region Backup Settings column to modify the cross-region backup settings of the RDS instance.

Note If the RDS instance is released, you can modify only the cross-region backup retention period.

• To disable cross-region backups for an RDS instance, perform the following operations:

If you no longer require cross-region backups, you can disable cross-region backups.

- i. Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Backups**. In the top navigation bar, select the region where the RDS instance resides.
- ii. On the Backups page, click the **Cross-region Backup** tab. Click the **Backup Instances** tab and find the RDS instance for which you want to disable cross-region backups. Then, click **Settings** in the Cross-region Backup Settings column.
- iii. In the dialog box that appears, set the **Cross-region Backup Status** parameter to **Disabled** and set the **Cross-region Retention Period** parameter to **7**.

(?) Note After you disable cross-region backups, no new cross-region backup files are generated. However, the existing cross-region backup files are still retained for at least seven days. You can set the cross-region backup retention period to seven days. After the seven-day retention period that you specify elapses, all existing cross-region backup files are automatically deleted. Then, you are no longer charged for the storage of cross-region backup files.

iv. Click OK.

• To download the cross-region data backup files of an RDS instance, perform the following operations:

After a cross-region backup is complete, you can download the generated cross-region backup files in the ApsaraDB RDS console.

- i. Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Backups**. In the top navigation bar, select the region where the RDS instance resides.
- ii. On the Backups page, click the **Cross-region Backup** tab. Click the **Backup Instances** tab and click the ID of the RDS instance for which you want to download cross-region backup files.
- iii. On the **Data Backup** tab or the **Log Backup** tabs, click **Download** in the Actions column to download the full data backup file or the incremental backup file.
- iv. Click Download.

Note If you download data backup files over an internal network, the traffic is free of charge. If you download data backup files the Internet, the traffic is charged. For more information, see Network traffic fees.

Enable cross-region backups for an RDS instance by using DBS

In this example, the source region is China (Hangzhou), and the destination region is China (Beijing).

To create a cross-region backup for an RDS instance, perform the following operations:

To download the data backup files of an RDS instance, perform the following operations:

- 1. Log on to the DBS console.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Backup Schedules**. In the upper-left corner of the Backup Schedules page, select the region where you purchase the backup schedule. In this example, select the China (Beijing) region.
- 3. Click the Schedule Name and go to the detail page.
- 4. Multiple methods are provided to download data backup files on the detail page. For more information, see Overview.

FAQ

After I disable cross-region backups for my RDS instance, why am I still charged for the storage of cross-region backup files?

After you disable cross-region backups for your RDS instance, no new cross-region backup files are generated and you are no longer charged for the traffic that is consumed to transmit cross-region backup files. However, you are still charged for the storage of the existing cross-region backup files within the cross-region backup retention period that you specify. The existing cross-region backup files are retained for at least seven days. You can set the cross-region backup retention period to seven days. After the cross-region backup retention period that you specify elapses, all existing cross-region backup files ackup files are automatically deleted and you are no longer charged for the storage of cross-region backup files.

Related API operations

Operation	Description
Check cross-region backup	Checks whether an ApsaraDB RDS instance has a cross-region data backup file that can be used to restore data across regions.
Restore data to a new instance across regions	Restores the data of an ApsaraDB RDS instance to a new RDS instance that resides in a different region than the source region.
Modify cross-region backup settings	Modifies the cross-region backup settings of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.
Query cross-region backup settings	Queries the cross-region backup settings of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.
Query cross-region data backup files	Queries the cross-region data backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.
Query cross-region log backup files	Queries the cross-region log backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.
Query regions that support cross-region backup	Queries the available destination regions to which the cross-region backup files from a specified source region can be stored.
Query the time range to which you can restore data by using a cross-region backup set	Queries the restorable time range that is supported by a specified cross-region backup file.
Query ApsaraDB for RDS instances on which cross- region backup is enabled	Queries the ApsaraDB RDS instances for which cross- region backups are enabled in a specified region and the cross-region backup settings of these instances.

14.5. Manage backups

14.5.1. Retain the backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance for a long period of time

This topic describes how to retain the backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance for a long period of time. The long-term retention of backup files helps you protect your data assets.

Background information

When you use ApsaraDB RDS, you may encounter the following issues:

- Your data is unexpectedly deleted. However, you have backed up only the data that was generated over the most recent seven days. As a result, you cannot restore the data that was generated seven days ago.
- Your RDS instance is released by mistake or due to overdue payments. However, it has been a long period of time since your RDS instance was released. As a result, you cannot recover your data or backup files.
- You want to release your RDS instance but retain its backup files for future use.

We recommend that you follow the instructions provided in this topic to retain the backup files of your RDS instance. This ensures that you can restore your data if required.

Increase the backup retention period

You can increase the backup retention period. This allows you to restore earlier data.

(?) Note This operation increases the size of your backup files. This operation may also increase the storage cost of your RDS instance. For more information, see View and manage the size of backup files for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance and Backup storage pricing of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

- 1. Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console and go to the **Backup and Restoration** page of your RDS instance. On the **Backup Settings** tab, click **Edit**.
- 2. Increase the data backup retention period.
 - Specify the number of days for which you want to retain data backup files. For example, you can increase the number from the default value 7 to 30.
 - If your RDS instance is equipped with local SSDs, you can select Long-term Retention. After you select Long-term Retention, you do not need to specify the data backup retention period. All data backup files are retained until your RDS instance is released.
- 3. Increase the log backup retention period.

Retain data backup files after instance release

In most cases, after your RDS instance expires or becomes overdue, ApsaraDB RDS retains your RDS instance and its backup files based on the retention period that you specify. After the retention period elapses, ApsaraDB RDS releases your RDS instance and deletes its backup files. For more information, see Unlock or rebuild an expired or overdue ApsaraDB RDS instance.

If you set the **Data Backup Retention Policy After Release** parameter to Latest or All, ApsaraDB RDS retains your RDS instance and its most recent or all data backup files regardless of whether your RDS instance is automatically or manually released.

Onte This feature is supported only when your RDS instance is equipped with local SSDs.

- 1. Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console and go to the **Backup and Restoration** page of your RDS instance. On the **Backup Settings** tab, click **Edit**.
- 2. Select Data Backup Retention Policy After Release.



Download a backup file

You can download a backup file of your RDS instance to your computer or to your Elastic Compute Service (ECS) instance. The backup file can be stored on your computer or ECS instance for a long period of time. For more information, see What is ECS? and Perform a regular download.

14.5.2. Download the backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to download the backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

For more information about how to download the backup files of an RDS instance that runs a different database engine, see the following topics:

- Download the data backup files and log backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server instance
- Download the data backup files and log backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL instance
- Download the log backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS for MariaDB TX instance

Before you begin

Before you download the backup files of your RDS instance, you must select a download method based on your business scenario.

Onte The data of the backup files that you download cannot be directly restored to your RDS instance. For more information, see Overview of data restoration methods.

Business scenario

Recommended download method

Business scenario	Recommended download method
 Migrate the data of your RDS instance to a different RDS instance or to a self-managed MySQL instance. Restore the data of your RDS instance from a backup file. 	 Use one of the following methods: Use Data Transmission Service (DTS) to migrate the data of your RDS instance to the destination RDS instance or the destination self-managed MySQL instance. For more information, see Overview of data migration scenarios. Use Data Management (DMS) to export the data of your RDS instance. Then, import the data into the destination RDS instance. For more information, see Export data. Restore the data of your RDS instance from the backup file to a new RDS instance. For more information, see Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance, Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from a physical backup file to a self-managed MySQL instance from a logical backup file to a self-managed MySQL instance.
 Query the data that exists in your RDS instance at a specific point in time. Query the data of a backup file of your RDS instance. 	 Use one of the following methods: Restore the backup file to a new pay-as-you-go RDS instance. After the query is complete, release the pay-as-you-go RDS instance. For more information about how to restore data, see Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. Obtain the URL that you can use to download the backup file. For more information, see the "Perform a regular download" section of this topic. Download the backup file, restore the backup file to a self-managed MySQL instance. If the backup file is generated by Database Backup (DBS), you do not need to restore the backup file. Directly query the data from the backup file. For more information, see Query data in a single backup set.
 Analyze the data of your RDS instance. Archive the data of your RDS instance to an on-premises device. 	For more information, see Perform an advanced download
 Save a backup file of your RDS instance to an on-premises device. Download a backup file of your RDS instance and use the backup file for auditing. 	 Use one of the following methods: Obtain the URL that you can use to download the backup file. For more information, see the "Perform a regular download" section of this topic. Then, download the backup file. Use DMS to export the backup file from your RDS instance. For more information, see Export data. Use the mysqldump plug-in to back up and restore the data of your RDS instance. For more information, see How do I back up and restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance?

Business scenario	Recommended download method
• Upload a backup file of your RDS instance to an Object Storage Service (OSS) bucket.	 Backup files do not consume the storage capacity of your RDS instance. Backup files are stored in the provisioned backup storage and cannot be moved. Use one of the following methods to store a backup file of your RDS instance to an OSS bucket: Use DBS to back up your RDS instance. Make sure that you select an OSS bucket as your storage. For more information, see Configure a backup schedule. Obtain the URL that you can use to download the backup file. For more information, see the "Perform a regular download" section of this topic. Then, download the backup file and upload it to the
 Retain the backup files of your RDS instance for a long period of time. 	 For more information, see Retain the backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance for a long period of time
• Configure DBS to automatically download the backup files of your RDS instance.	• Use DBS to perform logical backups and configure DBS to automatically download the backup files that are generated. For more information, see Back up an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL, PolarDB for MySQL, or self-managed MySQL database and Configure automatic download of backup sets.

Backup storage fee

- ApsaraDB RDS provides a free quota for backup downloads over the Internet. Starting from 00:00 on November 25, 2021, you are charged for the excess traffic that you consume to download backup files over the Internet. For more information,see [Notice] Upgrade and commercial release of the backup download feature.
 - Downloads over an internal network: You are not charged for the traffic that you consume.
 - Downloads over the Internet: After the free quota is exhausted, you are charged a daily fee for the excess traffic that you consume. For more information, see Billing overview.
 - Free quota for backup downloads over the Internet: The free quota for each RDS instance is 500 GB per month.
- You are charged if you convert the backup files of your RDS instances. This applies only when you perform advanced downloads. The advanced download feature is in public preview. In the public preview phase, advanced downloads are free of charge.

? Note

To view the volume of traffic that you consumed to download backup files over the Internet, you can log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console, find your RDS instance, go to the Basic Information page, and then view the Backup Downloads parameter in the Usage Statistics section of the page.

Perform an advanced download

You can convert a backup file of your RDS instance into a CSV file and download the file to an onpremises device. This process is called advanced download. If you want to analyze data or archive data to an on-premises device, you can perform advanced downloads.

Prerequisites

- Your RDS instance runs one of the following MySQL versions:
 - MySQL 8.0 with standard SSDs or enhanced SSDs (ESSDs)
 - MySQL 5.7 with standard SSDs or ESSDs
- Your RDS instance resides in one of the following regions: China (Zhangjiakou), China (Guangzhou), China (Beijing), China (Shanghai), China (Hangzhou), and China (Shenzhen).

Onte The feature will be available in the other regions soon.

- The minor engine version of your RDS instance must be a later version than 20201031. For more information, see Update the minor engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- The disk encryption feature is not enabled for your RDS instance. RDS instances for which disk encryption is enabled do not support advanced downloads.
- The Resource Access Management (RAM) user that you want to use to log on to your RDS instance is granted the permissions to download backup files. For more information about how to grant permissions to a RAM user, see Grant backup file download permissions to a RAM user with read-only permissions.

(?) Note The advanced download feature is in public preview. You are not charged if you convert the backup files of your RDS instance. For more information, see Backup storage fee. In the public preview phase, the versions of RDS instances and formats of downloaded files that are supported by the advanced download feature may be adjusted. You may also optimize and adjust the limits of the advanced download feature.

Limit s

- The advanced download feature allows you to export most schemas. Some schemas cannot be exported.
 - You can export column information, primary key indexes, non-primary key indexes, unique indexes, partition table information, table engines, and table-level or database-level character sets and character collations.
 - You cannot export expression indexes, foreign keys, generated columns, hidden columns, views, functions, stored procedures, system variables, or triggers.
- The advanced download feature does not support fields of spatial data types. If your RDS instance contains fields of the following spatial data types, file conversions fail:

GEOMET RY, POINT, LINEST RING, POLYGON, MULT IPOINT, MULT ILINEST RING, MULT IPOLYGON, and GEOMET RYCOLLECT ION

• The CSV files that you export from your RDS instance do not contain the following system libraries:

information_schema , mysql , performance_schema , sys , and __recycle_bin__

Procedure

1.

2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Backup and Restoration**.

3. On the **Data Backup** tab of the page that appears, find the data backup file that you want to download, and click **Download Instance Backup** in the **Actions** column.

? Note By default, the ApsaraDB RDS console displays the backup files that were generated over the most recent eight days. If you want to view the backup files that were generated eight days ago, you must change the default time range.

- 4. In the Select Download Mode step of the wizard, click Next.
 - **Note** Only the **Download By Backup Set** option is provided.
- 5. In the Select Download Content step of the wizard, click Next.

? Note Only the Download Instances option is provided.

6. In the Select Download Destination and Format step of the wizard, specify the Download Destination and Download Format parameters and click Complete.

? Note

- **Download Destination**: Select the method that you want to use to download the data backup file. You can download backup files only by using URLs.
- **Download Format**: Select the format into which you want to convert the data backup file. You can convert data backup files only into CSV files.
- 7. On the **Backup Download** tab to which you are directed, view the **Status** of the data backup file. After the status changes from **Running** to **Finished**, download the data backup file by using the internal or external URL that is displayed in the **Download Destination** column.
 - ? Note
 - For more information about how to download data backup files, see Appendix: Download commands.
 - When you perform an advanced download, you are charged a file conversion fee and a traffic consumption fee. In the public preview phase, file conversions and downloads over internal networks are free of charge. Downloads over the Internet are charged. For more information about the fees that are charged to you, see Backup storage fee.
- 8. Restore the data of the data backup file to a self-managed MySQL instance.

Limit s

When you restore the data of a CSV file that you downloaded by using the advanced download feature to a self-managed MySQL instance, take note of the following limits:

• Fields of the following data types are not supported: BIT, BINARY, VARBINARY, TINYBLOB, BLOB, MEDIUMBLOB, and LONGBLOB.

(?) Note If the CSV file that you downloaded contains fields of the BINARY data type, the fields are stored as hexadecimal representations. When you import the data of the CSV file into the self-managed MySQL instance, the fields that are stored as hexadecimal representations are processed as strings. In this case, you must use the UNHEX function in the **load data local infile** command to convert the fields from hexadecimal strings into raw binary strings.

• Fields of the following spatial data types are not supported: GEOMETRY, POINT, LINESTRING, POLYGON, MULT IPOINT, MULT ILINESTRING, MULT IPOLYGON, and GEOMETRYCOLLECTION.

Procedure

- i. Download and decompress the data backup file. For more information, see Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from a physical backup file to a self-managed MySQL database.
- ii. Click Download to download the restore_from_downloads.py script file.
- iii. Grant execute permissions to the restore_from_downloads.py script file.

chmod +x ./restore_from_downloads.py

iv. On the server that runs a Linux operating system, run the following command to restore the data of the data backup file:

python ./restore_from_downloads.py <Save path of the decompressed data backup file> <Host on which the self-managed MySQL instance is deployed> <Port that is used to c onnect to the self-managed MySQL instance> <Username of the account that is used to connect to the self-managed MySQL instance> <Password of the account that is used t o connect to the self-managed MySQL instance>

? Note

- If a database in the self-managed MySQL instance has the same name as the database whose data you want to import, the import fails.
- If the username or password of the account that you want to use contains special characters, such as number signs (#) and spaces, you must enclose the username or password in double quotation marks (" "). For example, if the password is #1234 , you must enter "#1234" in the preceding command.

```
root@_____:~# python ./restore_from_downloads.py //home/mysql/data/ 127.0.0.1 3306 zht _____"#time#time"
[INFO]: restore data from /home/mysql/data to 127.0.0.1:3306
```

Perform a regular download

Prerequisites

- Your RDS instance uses local SSDs.
- The RAM user that you want to use to log on to your RDS instance is granted the permissions to download backup files. For more information about how to grant permissions to a RAM user, see Grant backup file download permissions to a RAM user with read-only permissions.

Procedure

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Backup and Restoration**.
- 3. Click the Data Backup tab or the Log Backup tab.
- 4. Select a time range. This step is required if you want to view the backup files that are generated eight days ago. The default time range spans the most recent eight days.
- 5. Find the backup file that you want to download. In the Actions column, click Download Instance Backup (on the Data Backup tab) or Download (on the Log Backup tab).
 - When you download a **data backup file**, copy the internal or external URL or click **Download** in the dialog box that appears to download the data backup file.
 - ♥ Notice
 - If you use the internal URL to download the data backup file, make sure that the server to which you log on and the RDS instance reside in the same virtual private cloud (VPC). If the server and the RDS instance reside in different VPCs or if the server resides in the classic network while the RDS instance resides in a VPC, you cannot download the data backup file by using the internal URL on the server.
 - I have learnt the billing rules for backup file download. is selected by default. If you use the external URL to download the data backup file, you are charged for the excess Internet traffic that you consume. For more information, see Backup storage fee.
 - For more information about how to download data backup files by using URLs, see Appendix: Download commands.
 - When you download a **log backup file**, copy the internal or external URL or click **Download** in the dialog box that appears to download the backup file.
 - **Copy Internal URL:** If your Elastic Compute Service (ECS) instance can communicate with the RDS instance over an internal network, you can log on to your ECS instance and use the internal URL to download the log backup file. This method is faster and more secure.
 - **Copy Public URL**: If the RDS instance cannot be connected over an internal network, you can use the public URL to download the log backup file.

♥ Notice

- If you want to use the log backup file to restore the data of the RDS instance to a self-managed MySQL instance, the point in time at which the used data backup file is generated must be within the restorable time range that is supported by the log backup file. In addition, the log backup file and the data backup file must have the same instance ID.
- If the RDS instance runs RDS High-availability Edition or RDS Enterprise Edition, both the primary RDS instance and the secondary RDS instance generate log backup files. You can view the IDs of the primary RDS instance and the secondary RDS instance on the Service Availability page.
- The log backup files that are described in this section are the log backup files that are stored on the RDS instance. For more information about how to obtain these log backup files, see How do I use the mysqlbinlog command to view the binary logs of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance?
- If you use the internal URL to download the data backup file, make sure that the server to which you log on and the RDS instance reside in the same VPC. If the server and the RDS instance reside in different VPCs or if the server resides in the classic network while the RDS instance resides in a VPC, you cannot download the data backup file by using the internal URL on the server.
- I have learnt the billing rules for backup file download. is selected by default. If you use the external URL to download the data backup file, you are charged for the excess Internet traffic that you consume. For more information, see Backup storage fee.

Appendix: Download commands

This section describes the commands that are commonly used to download backup files.

? Note

- If the speed of a download is lower than 64 KB per second, the download may be interrupted. When you download a backup file, we recommend that you ensure optimal network status.
- If you want to download a backup file to a disk that is attached by using the ossfs plug-in, you must adjust the value of the multipart_size parameter for the ossfs plug-in. The maximum value of this parameter is 100 GB. If the size of the data backup file that you want to download exceeds 100 GB, the download fails. For more information about the ossfs plug-in and its parameter settings, see Overview and Common options.
- We recommend that you use the commands, such as wget and curl, that are provided in this topic to download a data backup file. If you use third-party tools to download a data backup file, the data backup file may be downloaded multiple times. As a result, the amount of data that is downloaded is greater than the size of the data backup file, and you may be charged for the traffic that is consumed to download the excess amount of data over the Internet.

⊙ wget ∩ curl

Command: nohup wget -c -t 0 "The URL that is used to download the backup file" -O The save path

and name of the downloaded backup file> The file to which the downloaded data is saved &

Example: nohup wget -c -t 0 "https://example.aliyundoc.com/examplebackup.qp.xb" -O /backup/examplebackup.qp.xb > /tmp/download.log &

The following information provides the meanings of the options in the preceding command:

- -t 0: enables an unlimited number of retries.
- -c: enables resumable uploads.
- -O: specifies the save path and file name of the backup file after the backup file is downloaded.
- nohup: prevents interruptions to the download and specifies that the process automatically exits after the download is complete. If you accident ally replicate data or disconnect your database client during the download, the download is interrupted.

Command: nohup curl -C - --retry 10 "The URL that is used to download the backup file" -o The userdefined name of the downloaded backup file> The file to which the downloaded data is saved &

Example: nohup curl -C --retry 10 "https://example.aliyundoc.com/examplebackup.qp.xb" -o backup.qp.xb > /tmp/download.log &

The following information provides the meanings of the options in the preceding command:

- --retry 10: enables up to 10 retries if the download fails.
- -C -: enables resumable uploads.
- -o: specifies the save path and file name of the backup file after the backup file is downloaded.
- nohup: prevents interruptions to the download and specifies that the process automatically exits after the download is complete. If you accident ally replicate data or disconnect your database client during the download, the download is interrupted.

FAQ

How do I use the data backup files and log backup files that I downloaded?

You can restore the data of the backup files that you downloaded by using the advanced download feature to self-managed MySQL instances. For more information, see Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from a physical backup file to a self-managed MySQL database Or Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from a logical backup file to a self-managed MySQL instance.

My RDS instance runs standard SSDs or ESSDs. What do I do if the " ERROR 1148 (42000): The used command is not allowed with this MySQL version " error message appears when I restore the data of a backup file that I downloaded by using the advanced download feature to a self-managed MySQL instance?

Run the show variables like 'local_infile'; command on the self-managed MySQL instance. If the output is OFF, execute the SET statement to set the global local_infile parameter to 1 to enable file import. After the preceding operations are complete, run the import script again.

Related operations

Operation	Description
DescribeBackups	Queries the data backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

Operation

Description

DescribeBinlogFiles

Queries the log backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

14.5.3. Delete the backup files or reduce the backup frequency of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to delete the backup files or reduce the backup frequency of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. For more information, see Backup storage pricing of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Precautions

The data backup files and log backup files of your RDS instance consume the backup storage that is provided by Alibaba Cloud to the instance. These backup files do not consume the storage space of your RDS instance. For more information about how to release storage space, see My ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance automatically locks after its disk space is exhausted. What do I do?

Delete or reduce data backups

- Manually delete data backup files.
 - i.
 - ii. Go to the Backup and Restoration page.
 - iii. On the data backup tab, click delete for the target backup.

Onte If no delete button exists, the following conditions are not met:

- When log backup is disabled, you can only manually delete data backups that have been retained for more than seven days.
- When log backup is enabled, you can only manually delete data backups beyond the log backup retention period. For example, if the log backup retention period is seven days, you can delete data backups that have been retained for more than seven days.

• automatically delete data backups (shorten the retention period of data backups)

i.

- ii. Go to the **Backup and Restoration** page.
- iii. On the **Backup settings** tab, open the Settings dialog box to shorten the retention period of data backup.

PolarDB-X deletes the backup files that are stored longer than the retention period. For example, if your instance keeps backups for 31 days, and you change the retention period from 30 days, the backups that have been retained for 31 days are automatically deleted.

reduce the number of data backups
i.

- ii. Go to the Backup and Restoration page.
- iii. On the **Backup settings** tab, open the Settings dialog box to decrease the cycle for data backup.
- delete or migrate data that does not need backup.

Delete or reduce log backups

• Shorten log backup retention period

i.

- ii. Go to the Backup and Restoration page.
- iii. On the **Backup settings** tab, open the Settings dialog box to shorten the log backup retention period.

For example, if you set the log backup retention period to 30 days, log backups that have been retained for more than 30 days are automatically deleted.

(?) Note You can set the log backup retention period only when log backup is enabled.

• disable log backup

If you disable it, all log backups are automatically deleted and the restore by time point feature is unavailable.

i.

- ii. Go to the Backup and Restoration page.
- iii. On the Backup settings tab, open the Settings dialog box and disable log backup.
- reduces unnecessary additions, deletions, and modifications, and updates on large fields.

Any addition, deletion, and modification of databases can increase the log backup size.

? Note You can use the Use the SQL Explorer feature on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance function to view the add, delete, modify, and query records of the database.

Related operations

Operation	Description
DeleteBackup	Deletes one or more data backup files from an ApsaraDB RDS instance.
ModifyBackupPolicy	Modifies the automatic backup settings of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

14.5.4. Query data from DBS-generated logical backup files

When you query data from the data backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance, Alibaba Cloud creates an RDS instance, copies the data backup files to the new RDS instance, and then restores the data of the data backup files to the new RDS instance. This process is time-consuming. If the backup files are created by Database Backup (DBS), you can query data from the data backup files without the need to restore the data. This topic describes how to query data from the logical backup files that are created by DBS.

Prerequisites

- A logical backup is created by DBS. For more information, see Back up an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL, PolarDB for MySQL, or self-managed MySQL instance by using logical backup.
- Dat a Lake Analytics (DLA) is activated. For more information, see Activate DLA.

Scenarios

DLA supports real-time queries from full backup files. This relieves the need to restore data and reduces costs.

Precautions

- DLA supports only the queries of data from the data backup files that are created by DBS for ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances.
- DLA supports only the queries of data from full backup files. DLA does not support the queries of data from incremental backup files.
- DLA must reside in the same region as the Object Storage Service (OSS) bucket that stores the data backup files of your RDS instance.
- DLA supports only the queries of data from logical backup files.

Procedure

- 1. Configure the root account, endpoint, and OSS access permissions on DLA.
 - For more information about how to configure the endpoint, see Create an endpoint.
 - $\circ~$ To configure the OSS access permissions, perform the following operations:

Onte If OSS access permissions are configured, you can skip these operations.

- a. Log on to the DLA console.
- b. In the left-side navigation pane, choose Data Lake Management > Metadata management.
- c. Click Go to the Wizard in OSS data source.
- d. Click Click Here to Authorize next to Role Name OSS Access Authorization Role AliyunOpenAnalyticsAccessingOSSRole.
- 2. Create a schema on DBS.
 - i. Log on to the Database Backup console.
 - ii. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Backup Schedules**.
 - iii. Find the backup schedule that you want to use. Then, click the ID of the backup schedule in the **Schedule ID/Name** column or click **Manage** in the **Actions** column.
 - iv. In the left-side navigation pane, choose **Backup Tasks > Full Data**.

v. Find the data backup file that you want to use. In the Actions column, click Query Backup Set. In the Query Backup Data message, click OK.

Note After you click **OK**, DLA automatically creates a schema for the data backup file.

- 3. Query data from the full backup file that is created by DBS.
 - i. Log on to the DLA console.
 - ii. In the left-side navigation pane, choose Serverless Presto > SQL access point.
 - iii. On the SQL access point page, click Log on in DMS.
 - iv. In the Login instance dialog box, enter the information that is used to log on to your RDS instance and click Login.

(?) Note Data Management (DMS) automatically specifies the Database Type, Instance Region, and Connection string address parameters. You must confirm the settings of these parameters and enter the username and password that are used to log on to your RDS instance.

v. Execute the following SQL statements on DLA and your RDS instance to check whether the data volume on DLA is the same as the data volume on your RDS instance:

```
select 'bill' as tableName ,count(id) as countNumber from `bill`
union ALL
select 'dim_code_desc' as tableName ,count(id) as countNumber from `dim_code_desc`
;
```

vi. Execute the following SQL statement on DLA to run a multi-table join query:

```
select t.* from dim_code_desc as t1, BILL t
where t1.id= t.id
and t1.code_id like '9%';
```

Run a multi-table join query on your RDS instance. Then, compare the query result from DLA and the query result from your RDS instance.

Verify that the query result from DLA is the same as the query result from your RDS instance.

In this example, if ApsaraDB RDS clones your RDS instance to create an RDS instance, restores data from a full backup file to the new RDS instance, configures an IP address whitelist, and then returns the data that you query, about 1 hour is required and the query process is complicated. The combination of DBS and DLA relieves the need to restore data. In addition, this combination allows you to check for and recover a small amount of data that is accidentally deleted.

14.6. Introduction to binary log files and log backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes the binary log files and log backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Overview

- Binary log files are used to subscribe to data and build a primary/secondary architecture. The binary logging feature is enabled by default and cannot be disabled.
- Log backup files can be used to restore data to a specific point in time within the backup retention period that you specify.

Binary log files

Binary log files are generated on RDS instances in real time. The rules based on which binary log files are generated varies based on the RDS edition of your RDS instance:

- RDS Basic Edition or RDS High-availability Edition: When the size of a binary log file reaches or the amount of time during which binary log data continues to be written to a binary log file exceeds 6 hours, a new binary log file is generated. 512 MB
- RDS Enterprise Edition: When the size of a binary log file reaches , a new binary log file is generated. 512 MB

The binary logging feature is provided free of charge. However, binary log files consume the storage capacity of your RDS instance.

Operations:

- View binary log files: You cannot view binary log files in the ApsaraDB RDS console. To view binary log files, you must execute the SHOW BINARY LOGS; statement. For more information, see ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL remotely obtains and parses binary log files.
- View the total size of binary log files:
 - i.
 - ii. Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console, find your RDS instance, and then click the instance ID. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Monitoring and Alerts**. On the Standard Monitoring tab of the page that appears, view the total size of binary log files.

? Note By default, the total size of binary log files on the primary RDS instance is the same as the size of binary log files on the secondary RDS instance. The sizes may differ due to the following reasons: The primary RDS instance replicates data to the secondary RDS instance at a specific latency, the binary log files are dumped at a specific latency, Data Transmission Service (DTS) is migrating data from or to the primary RDS instance, or the secondary RDS instance is reading and applying binary log records.

• Delete binary log files: For more information, see Delete the binary log files of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Log backup files

ApsaraDB RDS supports data backups and log backups. If you enable the log backup feature for your RDS instance, the binary log files of your RDS instance are uploaded to dedicated backup storage in real time. The binary log files in the dedicated backup storage are called log backup files. You can use log backup files to restore data to a specific point in time within the backup retention period that you specify.

Log backup files are stored in dedicated backup storage and do not consume the storage capacity of your RDS instance. The dedicated backup storage is inaccessible.

Pricing: The log backup feature is provided free of charge, and a free quota for backup storage is provided. If the total size of the **data backup files and log backup files** of your RDS instance exceeds the free quota, you are charged for your excess backup storage.

Operations:

• Enable or disable the log backup feature:

i.

- ii. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Backup and Restoration**.
- iii. Click the **Backup Settings** tab. In the Local Log Backup Settings section of the tab that appears, click **Edit**.
- iv. Enable or disable the log backup feature. You can also specify the log backup retention period.

(?) Note If your RDS instance runs MySQL 5.7 on RDS Basic Edition, you cannot disable the log backup feature for your RDS instance and the log backup retention period is fixed as seven days.

• View log backup files:

i.

- ii. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Backup and Restoration**.
- iii. Click the Log Backup tab.

If your RDS instance runs RDS High-availability Edition or RDS Enterprise Edition, log backup files are generated on both your RDS instance and its secondary RDS instance. You can check the instance ID of each log backup file to distinguish the log backup files that are generated by your RDS instance from the log backup files that are generated by the secondary RDS instance.

• View the total size of log backup files:

i.

ii. In the lower-right corner of the Basic Information page, view the total size of log backup files.

Backup Size 😰	Data 59.49M, Archive backup 0.00K,	Log 19.29M(The total amount is free of	charge within 76800 M)

(?) Note Log backup files are stored in dedicated backup storage and do not consume the storage capacity of your RDS instance.

- Delete log backup files. For more information, see Delete the backup files or reduce the backup frequency of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- Download log backup files. For more information, see Download the backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- Restore data to a specific point in time. For more information, see Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance or Restore individual databases and tables of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

FAQ

FAQ about how to view log backup files

1. Why are no log backup files displayed on the Log Backup tab of my RDS instance?

This issue occurs due to one of the following reasons:

- The log backup feature is not enabled for your RDS instance.
- Your RDS instance is recently created, or the log backup feature is recently enabled for your RDS instance. In this case, log backup files have not been uploaded to the backup storage, and no log backup files are displayed on the Log Backup tab.
- 2. Why is the most recent log backup file not displayed on the Log Backup tab?

Only the log backup files to which no new data is written are displayed on the Log Backup tab. Log backup files to which data is being written are not uploaded to the backup storage.

3. If I set the log backup retention period to seven days, can I obtain log backup files that are generated seven days ago?

No, if you set the log backup retention period to seven days, you cannot obtain log backup files that are generated seven days ago. ApsaraDB RDS automatically deletes the log backup files that are stored for a longer period of time than the specified log backup retention period. We recommend that you specify a log backup retention period based on your business requirements.

FAQ about how to disable the log backup feature and delete log backup files

1. How do I delete log backup files after I disable the log backup feature?

You do not need to delete log backup files. ApsaraDB RDS automatically deletes log backup files immediately after you disable the log backup feature.

2. Why am I still able to query log backup files by executing the SHOW BINARY LOGS; statement after I disable the log backup feature?

The files that you query by executing this statement are binary log files rather than log backup files. For more information about how to delete binary log files, see <u>Delete the binary log files of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance</u>.

3. Why is no storage released after I disable the log backup feature?

Log backup files do not consume the storage capacity of your RDS instance. Binary log files consume the storage capacity.

4. Why does the size of log backup files suddenly increase?

If you frequently perform add, delete, and update operations on the data in your RDS instance, the size of log backup files increases. For more information about how to delete log backup files, see Delete the backup files or reduce the backup frequency of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

14.7. ApsaraDB RDS-generated backups and DBS-generated backups

ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL can generate backups, which are called default backups. If the default backups that are generated by ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL cannot meet your business requirements, you can use Database Backup (DBS) to create advanced backups.

Scenario	ltem	ApsaraDB RDS- generated backup (physical backup or snapshot backup)	DBS-generated backup (logical backup)	References
	Perform scheduled backups.	✓ ☺ (Scheduled backups are automatically enabled and cannot be disabled.)	✓ ☺ (Scheduled backups must be manually enabled.)	Enable the automatic backup feature for an ApsaraDB
	Perform incremental backups or log backups.	√ ⊕	√ ®	RDS for MySQL instance
Perform backups.	Backs up individual databases and tables.	 Local SSDs: ✓ Standard SSDs or enhanced SSDs (ESSDs): □ Manually enabled: ✓ Enabled at a scheduled point in time: □ Incremental backups: 	 ✓ ⊕ 	Back up the individual databases and tables of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance
	Perform cross-region backups.	Local SSDs: ✔ [®] . Standard SSDs or ESSDs: □	* ©	Enable cross- region backups for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance
Store backup files.	Store backup files to your Object Storage Service (OSS) buckets.		√ ®	Back up an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL, PolarDB for MySQL, or self- managed MySQL instance by using logical backup
	Support multi-level storage pools.	٥	✔®	What is a storage pool?
	Manually download backup files.	Local SSDs: ✔ [®] . Standard SSDs or ESSDs: □	✔ ®	
	Automatically download backup files.		√ ®	Download the
Download backup files.				bownload the backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

Scenario	ltem	ApsaraDB RDS- generated backup (physical backup or snapshot backup)	DBS-generated backup (logical backup)	References
Encrypt	Encrypt backup files at rest.	✔®	✔®	Encrypt the backup files of
files.	Encrypt backup files in transit.	0	✔®	an Apsarabb RDS for MySQL instance
	Restore data in single-digit seconds.		Local SSDs: ✔⊜	Create a sandbox instance for the emergency disaster recovery of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL database
	Query backup files at a high speed.	0	√ ⊜	Query data from DBS-generated logical backup files
	Restore individual databases and tables.	Local SSDs: ✔ [®] . Standard SSDs or ESSDs: □	 ✓ ⊕ 	Restore individual databases and tables of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance Restore individual databases and tables by using DBS
Restore data by using backup files.				

RDS MySQL Dat abase • Backup

Scenario	ltem	ApsaraDB RDS- generated backup (physical backup or snapshot backup)	DBS-generated backup (logical backup)	References
	Restore data to an RDS instance by using backup files.	 Restore data to a new RDS instance by using backup files: ✓ ☺ Restore data to the original RDS instance by using backup files: local SSDs: ✓ ☺. Standard SSDs or ESSDs: □ Restore data to a different existing RDS instance by using backup files: □ Restore data to a self-managed database by using backup files: □ 	✓ ⊕	Restore the backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance Restore the backup files by using DBS

15.Restoration 15.1. Overview of data restoration methods

This topic describes the methods that you can use to restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Scenarios

Scenario	Method
Restore the data of an RDS	• Locked Instances: Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console and go to the Locked Instances page. In the top navigation bar, select the region where the RDS instance resides. If you can find the RDS instance on the Locked Instances page, you can rebuild the RDS instance.
instance that is accidentally released	• Backups: If the RDS instance uses local SSDs and you specified the Backup Retention Policy After Release parameter on the Backup Settings tab to configure the RDS instance to retain backup files, log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console, go to the Backup for Deleted Instances tab of the Backups page, download the required backup files, and then restore the data of the RDS instance.
Restore the data that is accidentally deleted from an RDS instance	 Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance Restore individual databases and tables of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance Use the data tracking feature of DMS to restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

Scenario		Method
 View the data in the backup files of an RI View the data that e specified point in tim RDS instance 	e data DS instance exists at a ne in an	 You can use the native flashback feature to view the data that exists at a specified point in time in the RDS instance. For more information, see Native Flashback. This method requires a short period of time to restore data. If logical backups are created by Database Backup (DBS) for the RDS instance, query the data from the generated logical backup files. For more information, see Query data from DBS-generated logical backup files. This method requires a short period of time to restore data. Create a DBS sandbox instance to obtain the data backup files of the RDS instance and restore the data of the RDS instance from the data backup files. For more information, see Create a sandbox instance for the emergency disaster recovery of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL database. Then, view the data of the RDS instance. This method requires a short period of time to restore data. Restore the full data of the RDS instance or only the data from the specified individual databases and tables of the RDS instance. For more information, see Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance or Restore individual databases and tables of the RDS instance. For more information, see Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. Then, view the data of the RDS instance. For more information, see Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. Then, view the data of the RDS instance. For more information, see Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. Then, view the data of the RDS instance. Soft an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. Then, view the data of the RDS instance and tables of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. Then, view the data of the RDS instance. Compared with the previous two methods, this method requires a longer period of time to restore data.
Migr rest data inst the	rate or core the a of an RDS ance to cloud	 Migrate the most recent data of the RDS instance. For more information, see the following topic: Migrate data from a self-managed MySQL database to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance Restore the data that exists at a specified point in time Native Flashback Migrate the historical data of the RDS instance: Restore the data from the backup files of the RDS instance to an on-premises database. Then, migrate the data from the on-premises database to an RDS instance. For more information, see Migrate data from a self-managed MySQL database to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. Use DBS to create a logical backup. Then, restore the data from the generated logical backup file to an RDS instance on the cloud. For more information, see Restore a MySQL database from a logical backup.
• Migrate the data of an		

RDS Scenario Instance		Method
 Restore the data from the backup files of an RDS instance to an on- premises database or to the cloud 	e Migrate or restore the data of an RDS instance to an on-premises database	 Migrate the most recent data of the RDS instance. For more information, see the following topic: Migrate data from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance to a self-managed MySQL database Migrate the historical data of the RDS instance: If logical backups are created by DBS for the RDS instance, restore the data from the generated logical backup files to the on-premises database. For more information, see Restore a MySQL database from a logical backup. If you restore the data of the RDS instance from the backup files that are downloaded from the ApsaraDB RDS console, follow the instructions that are provided in Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from a physical backup file to a self-managed MySQL database or Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from a logical backup file to a self-managed MySQL instance from a logical backup file to a self-managed MySQL instance.
	Migrate the data of an RDS instance to a different RDS instance	 Migrate the most recent data of the RDS instance: Migrate data between ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances Migrate the historical data of the RDS instance: If logical backups are created by DBS for the RDS instance, restore the data from the generated logical backup files to the destination RDS instance. For more information, see Restore a MySQL database from a logical backup. If only default backups are created for the RDS instance, restore the full data of the RDS instance or only the data from the specified individual databases and tables of the RDS instance to the same RDS instance or to a new RDS instance. For more information, see Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. Then, migrate the data to the destination RDS instance.

More scenarios

- Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance across regions
- Use mysqldump to back up and restore the data of an RDS instance

15.2. Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

For more information about how to restore the data of an RDS instance that runs a different database engine, see the following topics:

- Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server instance
- Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL instance
- Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MariaDB TX instance

Restore data to a new RDS instance

You can restore data to a new RDS instance, verify the data on the new RDS instance, and then migrate the data from the new RDS instance back to the original RDS instance. This feature was previously known as instance cloning.

Description

- The new RDS instance must have the same whitelist settings, backup settings, and parameter settings as the original RDS instance.
- The data in the new RDS instance must be the same as the data in the specified data or log backup file of the original RDS instance.
- The information about the account that is used to create the specified data or log backup is replicated to the new RDS instance.

Time required for the restoration

For more information about the amount of time that is required for the restoration, see Appendix: Amount of time required for data restoration to a new RDS instance.

Billing

You are charged for the new RDS instance. We recommend that you create a new pay-as-you-go RDS instance. After the restoration is complete, you can release the new RDS instance.

Procedure

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click Backup and Restoration.
- 3. Click Restore Database (Previously Clone Database).
- 4. Configure the following parameters.

Parameter	Description
Billing Method	 Subscription: A subscription instance is an instance for which you pay an upfront fee. For long-term use, the subscription billing method is more cost- effective than the pay-as-you-go billing method. You are offered lower prices for longer subscription periods.
	 Pay-As-You-Go: A pay-as-you-go instance is charged per hour based on your actual resource usage. For short-term use, we recommend that you select the pay-as-you-go billing method. If you no longer need a pay-as-you-go instance, you can release the instance to reduce costs.

Parameter	Description
Restore Mode	 By Time: This mode allows you to restore data to a specific point in time within the log backup retention period that you specify. The time is accurate to the second. For more information about how to view or change the log backup retention period, see Enable the automatic backup feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. By Backup Set: This mode allows you to restore data from a data backup file. You can restore data only from the data backup file that is generated from a physical backup. You cannot restore data from the data backup file that is generated from a logical backup. Note The By Time option is available only after the log backup feature is enabled.
Zone of Primary Node	 A zone is an independent physical location within a region. The Zone of Primary Node parameter specifies the zone to which the primary RDS instance belongs. The Zone of Secondary Node parameter specifies the zone to which the secondary RDS instance belongs. You can select the Single-zone Deployment or Multi-zone Development method. Single-zone Deployment: If you select this deployment method, the values of the Zone of Primary Node and Zone of Secondary Node parameters are the same. Multi-zone Development: If you select this deployment method, the values of the Zone of Primary Node and Zone of Secondary Node parameters are different. We recommend that you select this deployment method to perform zone-disaster recovery. You must manually configure the Zone of Primary Node and Zone of Secondary Node parameters.
	 Note After the new RDS instance is created, you can view the information about the new RDS instance and its secondary RDS instance on the Service Availability page. If you select RDS Basic Edition, the database system consists of only one primary RDS instance and supports only the single-zone deployment method.

Parameter	Description
Instance Type	 General-purpose: A general-purpose instance exclusively occupies the allocated memory and I/O resources. However, it shares CPU and storage resources with the other general-purpose instances that are deployed on the same host.
	• Dedicated : You can select a dedicated instance type or a dedicated host instance type. A dedicated RDS instance exclusively occupies the allocated CPU, memory, storage, and I/O resources. Dedicated host instance types provide the highest specifications in the dedicated instance family. A dedicated host instance exclusively occupies all the CPU, memory, storage, and I/O resources on the physical host on which the instance is deployed.
	Note Each instance type supports a specific number of cores, memory capacity, maximum number of connections, and maximum IOPS. For more information, see Primary ApsaraDB RDS instance types .
Capacity	The maximum amount of storage that is provisioned to store data files, system files, binary log files, and transaction files in the new RDS instance. You can adjust the storage capacity at a step size of 5 GB.

5. Click Next: Instance Configuration.

6. Configure the following parameters.

Parameter	Description
Network Type	 Classic Network: the traditional type of network. VPC: the recommended type of network. A virtual private cloud (VPC) is an isolated virtual network that provides higher security and higher performance than the classic network. If you select the VPC network type, you must configure the VPC and vSwitch of Primary Node parameters. If you set the Deployment Method parameter in the previous step to Multi-zone deployment, you must also configure the vSwitch of Secondary Node parameter.
	Note The network type of the new RDS instance must be the same as the network type of the Elastic Compute Service (ECS) instance that you want to connect. If the new RDS instance and the ECS instance both reside in VPCs, these instances must reside in the same VPC. If the new RDS instance and the ECS instance reside in different VPCs, these instances cannot communicate over an internal network.

7. Click Next: Confirm Order.

8. Confirm the settings in the **Parameters** section, configure the **Purchase Plan** and **Duration** parameters, read and select Terms of Service, click **Pay Now**, and then complete the payment. You must configure the Duration parameter only when the new RDS instance uses the subscription billing method.

? Note If you select the subscription billing method for the new RDS instance, we recommend that you select **Auto-Renew Enabled** below the Duration parameter. This eliminates the need to renew the new RDS instance on a regular basis. This also helps prevent interruptions to your workloads on the new RDS instance if a payment is overdue.

What to do next

- 1. Log on to the new RDS instance and verify the data in the new RDS instance. For more information, see Connect to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- 2. Optional. Migrate the data that you need from the new RDS instance back to the original RDS instance. For more information, see Migrate data between RDS instances.

(?) Note The migration of data from the new RDS instance to the original RDS instance does not interrupt the workloads that are run on the original RDS instance.

Restore data to the original RDS instance, a different existing RDS instance, or an on-premises database instance

Method 1

After you restore data to the new RDS instance, verify the data on the new RDS instance. Then, migrate the data from the new RDS instance to the original RDS instance or a different existing RDS instance. For more information, see Restore data to a new RDS instance.

Method 2

If a logical backup is created by Database Backup (DBS), restore the data of the data backup file that is generated to the original RDS instance or a different existing RDS instance.

For more information, see Restore a MySQL database from a logical backup.

Appendix: Amount of time required for data restoration to a new RDS instance

Factors

The restoration speed varies based on a number of factors, and the restoration may fail in a few circumstances. You may also need to manually troubleshoot the errors that occur due to the executions of SQL statements. The following factors affect the restoration speed:

- Volume of full data: A larger data volume indicates a lower restoration speed.
- Volume of incremental data: A larger data volume indicates a lower restoration speed.
- Large transactions: If the binary log files contain information about large transactions, the restoration speed is low.
- Hot data updates: If the binary log files contain information about hot data updates, the restoration speed is low.
- Foreign key constraints: Foreign key constraints increase the costs of verification and decrease the

restoration speed.

- Number of binary log records: If you restore data to a specific point in time, a larger number of binary log records indicates a lower restoration speed.
- Partitioned tables: If tables are partitioned, the restoration is not supported. This rule takes effect if you use MySQL 8.0.
- Storage type: The restoration speed is higher when you use standard SSDs or enhanced SSDs (ESSDs) than when you use local SSDs.
- Specifications: Higher specifications indicate a higher restoration speed.
- Database engine version: If the database engine version that you use supports parallel replication, the restoration speed is high. If the database engine version that you use does not support parallel replication, the restoration speed is low.

? Note The restoration may fail due to the following factors:

- Binary logs are not parsed as expected because the new RDS instance runs an earlier database engine version than the original RDS instance.
- Table names or column names contain Chinese characters or special characters.
- Binary logs in the original RDS instance are deleted.
- Tables that do not have primary keys cannot be restored because the implicit_primary_key parameter is set to off in the original RDS instance.

Amount of time required for data restoration

The following table lists the amount of time required to restore data to a new RDS instance that provides 2 cores and 4 GB of memory and runs RDS High-availability Edition with local SSDs.

Operation	Time required
Create an RDS instance	5 minutes
Configure the new RDS instance	15 minutes
Download the data backup file	400 GB per hour
Start the new instance.	5 minutes
Download the log backup file	400 GB per hour
Apply the log backup file	Dependent on the specific content of the log backup file

FAQ

• How do I restore one or more databases that I accidentally deleted?

ApsaraDB RDS allows you to restore the individual databases that you accident ally deleted. For more information, see Restore individual databases and tables of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. If your RDS instance does not support the restoration of individual databases or tables, you can restore the data of the deleted databases to a new RDS instance, verify the data on the new RDS instance, and then migrate the data from the new RDS instance back to your original RDS instance.

• If my RDS instance does not have a data backup, can I restore data to a specific point in time?

No, if your RDS instance does not have a data backup, you cannot restore data to a specific point in time. To restore data to a specific point in time, you must find a full data backup that is completed before the specified point in time and restore the data of the data backup file that is generated from the full data backup. Then, you must restore the incremental data from the log backup file that is generated at the specified point in time.

• When I create an RDS instance to which I want to restore data, why am I unable to select a vSwitch from the vSwitch of Primary Node drop-down list?

If no vSwitches are available in the zone that you specify in the Basic Configurations step, you cannot select a vSwitch from the vSwitch of Primary Node drop-down list in the Instance Configuration step. In this case, click **go to the VPC console**. In the VPC console, create a vSwitch. Then, you can select a vSwitch from the vSwitch of Primary Node drop-down list.

0	Basic Configuratio ns	2 Network and Resource Group
	Network Type	Classic Network VPC
	VPC	To create a new VPC you camplease create a new switch first on the VPC console.
	VSwitch of Primary Node	The VSwitch is automatically allocated or created based on the zone of the node.Location:

15.3. Restore individual databases and tables of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL supports database-level data restoration and table-level data restoration. If you accidentally delete a database or a table on your RDS instance, you can restore only the deleted database or table without the need to restore the data of the entire instance. This way, you can shorten the recovery time objective (RTO).

Introduction

When a physical backup is performed, ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL stores the data of your RDS instance at the database and table levels. Therefore, when you restore individual databases or tables of your RDS instance, ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL reads and restores the tables that you specify from the physical backup file. This significantly shortens the recovery time and increases the recovery speed.

ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL also provides the fast restoration feature for individual databases and tables. This feature uses sandbox instances to accelerate data restoration by approximately 50% to 95% compared with the standard individual database and table restoration feature. For more information, see Create a sandbox instance for the emergency disaster recovery of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL database. The fast restoration feature for individual databases and tables is in public preview and can be used free of charge. For more information about how to enable the fast restoration feature for individual databases and tables, see the "Appendix: Enable the fast restoration feature for individual databases" section of this topic.

Note The fast restoration feature for individual databases and tables is available only in the China (Zhangjiakou) and China (Hohhot) regions.

Billing rules

- The individual database and table restoration feature is enabled by default and is provided free of charge.
- The fast restoration feature for individual databases and tables is in public preview and can be used free of charge. After the fast restoration feature for individual databases and tables is commercially released, you are charged USD 0.24 per GB-month for using the feature. The following table describes the billing rules for the fast restoration feature for individual databases and tables.

ltem	Public preview phase Commercial use phase	
		USD 0.24 per GB-month
Price	Free of charge	Note You can view the storage usage of your sandbox instance in the ApsaraDB RDS console. For more information, see Create a sandbox instance for the emergency disaster recovery of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL database.
Retention period of sandbox	1 day (The retention period cannot be adjusted in the public	1 day to 730 days
instances	preview phase.)	
Functionality	Point-in-time restore supported	Point-in-time restore supported
Free trial	Not limited	7 days per RDS instance

Restore individual databases and tables of an RDS instance that uses local SSDs

Prerequisites

- The RDS instance runs MySQL 8.0, MySQL 5.7, or MySQL 5.6 on RDS High-availability Edition or runs MySQL 5.7 on RDS Enterprise Edition.
- The number of tables that are created in the RDS instance is less than 50,000.
- The individual database and table restoration feature is enabled for the RDS instance on the **Backup Settings** tab of the **Backup and Restoration** page in the ApsaraDB RDS console.

? Note

- The individual database and table restoration feature is enabled for each new RDS instance and cannot be disabled.
- The data that is generated before the individual database and table restoration feature is enabled cannot be restored. If you want to restore this data, we recommend that you restore all data of the RDS instance. For more information, see **Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance**.
- After you enable the individual database and table restoration feature, the supported backup file format changes from TAR to xbstream to support the restoration of individual databases and tables. In addition, the feature cannot be disabled after it is enabled.

Impact s

If you restore individual databases and tables to the original RDS instance, a primary/secondary switchover is triggered during the restoration process. The switchover may cause a transient connection that lasts approximately 30 seconds. In this case, make sure that your application is configured to automatically reconnect to the RDS instance. If you restore individual databases and tables to a new RDS instance, no primary/secondary switchovers are triggered during the restoration process.

Procedure

1.

2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Backup and Restoration**. On the page that appears, click **Restore Individual Database/Table**.

? Note If the Restore Individual Database/Table button is not displayed, you must check that the RDS instance meets all prerequisites.

3. Configure the following parameters.

Parameter	Description
Restore To	 Current Instance: If you select this option, ApsaraDB RDS restores the data to the original RDS instance. New Instance: If you select this option, ApsaraDB RDS restores the data to a new RDS instance.

Parameter	Description
Recovery	 By Backup Set: If you select this option, you can restore the data from a data backup file. By Time: If you select this option, you can restore the data to a point in time within the log backup retention period that you specify. For information about how to view or change the log backup retention period, see Enable the automatic backup feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
Method	ONDTE The By Time option is available only when the log backup feature is enabled.
Restore Mode	 Logical Restoration: The restoration is slow. Physical Restoration: The restoration is fast, but a primary/secondary switchover is triggered. In addition, all attached read-only RDS instances are restarted. If the RDS instance is being maintained, the amount of data that you want to restore is small, or the data replication to the attached read-only RDS instances is interrupted, the backend automatically selects Logical Restoration.
	Note This parameter is available only when read-only RDS instances are attached to the RDS instance.

4. Select the databases and tables that you want to restore. You can also specify the name of each restored database or table. Then, click **OK**.

? Note

- You can select up to 50 databases or tables at a time.
- If you restore the selected databases and tables to the original RDS instance, these databases and tables must have new names that are different from the original names.
 By default, ApsaraDB RDS adds _backup to the original names.
- If you restore the selected databases and tables to the original RDS instance, you must make sure that the available storage of the RDS instance is sufficient to store the data from these databases and tables.
- 5. Select a billing method and configure the parameters that are required to create an RDS instance. This step is required only when you want to restore the data to a new RDS instance.
 - Subscription: A subscription instance is an instance for which you pay an upfront fee. For longterm use, the subscription billing method is more cost-effective than the pay-as-you-go billing method.
 - Pay-as-you-go: You are charged an hourly fee for a pay-as-you-go instance based on your actual resource usage. The pay-as-you-go billing method is suitable for short-term use. If you no longer need a pay-as-you-go instance, you can release the instance to reduce costs.

Parameter	Description
Availabilit y Zone	The zone where the new RDS instance resides. Each zone is an independent physical location within a region. Zones in the same region do not have substantial differences. The new RDS instance can reside in the same zone or in a different zone than the Elastic Compute Service (ECS) instance that you want to connect.
	Note The new RDS instance must reside in the same region as the original RDS instance. You cannot change the region.
Instance Type	The instance type of the new RDS instance. Each instance type supports a different number of cores, memory capacity, maximum number of connections, and maximum IOPS. For more information, see Primary ApsaraDB RDS instance types.
Capacity	The maximum amount of storage that is provisioned to store data files, system files, binary log files, and transaction files in the new RDS instance.
Network Type	 Classic Network: the traditional type of network. VPC: the recommended type of network. A virtual private cloud (VPC) is an isolated virtual network that provides higher security and higher performance than the classic network.

Note You can also use one of the following methods to restore individual databases and tables:

- Use Database Backup (DBS) to create a logical backup. Then, restore data from the generated logical backup file. For more information, see Back up an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL, PolarDB for MySQL, or self-managed MySQL database and Restore a MySQL database from a logical backup.
- Manually create a logical backup. Then, restore data from the generated logical backup file to a self-managed database. For more information, see Create a logical backup for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance and Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from a logical backup file to a self-managed MySQL instance.
- Use the mysqldump plug-in to back up and restore the RDS instance. For more information, see Use mysqldump to back up and restore an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Restore individual databases and tables of an RDS instance that uses standard SSDs or ESSDs

- 1. Use DBS to create a logical backup. For more information, see Back up an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL, PolarDB for MySQL, or self-managed MySQL database.
- 2. Restore data from the generated logical backup file. For more information, see Restore a MySQL database from a logical backup.

Note For more information about how to restore individual databases and tables, see Use mysqldump to back up and restore an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Appendix: Enable the fast restoration feature for individual databases and tables

Prerequisites

• The RDS instance runs MySQL 8.0, MySQL 5.7, or MySQL 5.6 on RDS High-availability Edition with local SSDs.

(?) Note The fast restoration feature for individual databases and tables runs at a lower speed in RDS instances that run MySQL 8.0 than in RDS instances that run a different MySQL version due to specific database engine issues.

- The RDS instance runs the InnoDB storage engine.
- The sandbox feature is not enabled for the RDS instance. If the sandbox feature is enabled, you must disable it before you enable the fast individual database and table restoration feature. For more information, see Create a sandbox instance for the emergency disaster recovery of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL database.

1.

2. In the left-side navigation pane, click Backup and Restoration.

? Note If the Enable Fast Restoration dialog box appears, you can click Enable to enable the fast individual database and table restoration feature. If the dialog box does not appear, you can proceed with the subsequent steps.

- 3. Click the Backup Settings tab. In the Backup Settings section of the tab, click Edit.
- 4. In the Backup Settings dialog box, set Restore Speed to Fast and click Save.

(?) Note If the Restore Individual Database/Table switch is turned off, the Restore Speed parameter is not displayed. To enable the individual database and table restoration feature, you must turn on the Restore Individual Database/Table switch.

- The **Restore Individual Database/Table** feature is enabled for each new RDS instance and cannot be disabled.
- The data that is generated before you turn on the **Restore Individual Database/Table** switch cannot be restored. If you want to restore this data, we recommend that you restore all data of the RDS instance. For more information, see **Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance**.
- After you turn on the **Restore Individual Database/Table** switch, the supported backup file format is changed from tar to xbstream.
- The **Restore Individual Database/Table** switch cannot be turned off after it is turned on.

Related operations

Operation

Description

Operation	Description
RestoreT able	Restores the specified individual databases and tables of an ApsaraDB RDS instance to the original RDS instance.
CloneDBInstance	Restores the specified individual databases and tables of an ApsaraDB RDS instance to a new RDS instance.
DescribeLocalAvailableRecoveryTime	Queries the time range within which you can restore data by using a backup file of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

15.4. Use the data tracking feature of DMS to restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

Context

If the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance does not meet your expectations due to accidental operations, such as accidental update, delete, and write operations, you can use the data tracking feature of DMS to restore the data of the RDS instance. This feature provides a method for you to restore data in a more efficient manner compared with other alternative restoration methods. For more information about the alternative restoration methods, see Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance and Restore individual databases and tables of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Differences between the data tracking feature and other alternative restoration methods

Restorat ion method	Workflow	Fee	Speed	Restorable time range
---------------------------	----------	-----	-------	-----------------------

RDS MySQL Dat abase • Rest oration

Restorat ion method	Workflow	Fee	Speed	Restorable time range
Data tracking	Use the data tracking feature of DMS to identify all updates that are made over the specified time range, generate statements that are used to roll the updates back, and aggregate the generated statements into a script. Then, submit a ticket to run the script in the RDS instance. For more information, see Change regular data.	 If an RDS instance is managed in Flexible Management mode, the data tracking feature is free of charge. If an RDS instance is managed in Stable Change mode or Secure Collaborate mode, the data tracking feature is charged. For more information, see Pricing. 	Fast	 The restorable time range varies based on the control mode and the binary log retention period. If an RDS instance is managed in Flexible Management mode, the restorable time range spans up to 1 hour. If an RDS instance is managed in Stable Change mode or Secure Collaborate mode, the restorable time range varies based on the following factors: If log backups are not enabled, the restorable time range varies based on the following factors: If log backups are not enabled, the restorable time range varies based on the binary log retention period. The restorable time range varies based on the binary log retention period. The restorable time range spans up to 168 hours. For more information, see Upload the binary log files of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance to an OSS bucket. If log backups are enabled, the restorable time range varies based on the log backup retention period. The restorable time range varies based on the log backup retention period. The restorable time range varies based on the log backup retention period. The restorable time range spans up to 730 days. For more information, see Enable automatic backups for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

RDS MySQL Dat abase • Rest oration

ApsaraDB for RDS

Restorat ion method	Workflow	Norkflow Fee		Restorable time range
Restore the data of an ApsaraD B RDS for MySQL instance	Restore all data of the original RDS instance to a new RDS instance, verify the data on the new RDS instance, and then migrate the data from the new RDS instance back to the original RDS instance, an existing RDS instance, or an on-premises database instance.	 You are charged for the new RDS instance. For more information about the price, visit the ApsaraDB RDS buy page. You are charged for your backup storage usage that exceeds the provided free quota. For more information, see Backup storage pricing for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. You are charged for the traffic that is consumed to migrate the data of the RDS instance over the Internet. For more information, see Pricing. 	Slow	The restorable time range varies based on the log backup retention period and the data backup retention period. The restorable time range spans up to 730 days. For more information about how to specify these retention periods, see Enable automatic backups for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
Restore individu al databas es and tables of an ApsaraD B RDS for MySQL instance	Enable the Restore Individual Database/Table feature. Then, restore the data of the specified individual databases and tables to a new RDS instance or an existing RDS instance. If you restore the data to an existing RDS instance, a primary/secondary switchover is triggered.	 If you restore the data to a new RDS instance, you are charged for the new RDS instance. For more information about the price, visit the ApsaraDB RDS buy page. You are charged for your backup storage usage that exceeds the provided free quota. For more information, see Backup storage pricing for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. 	Slow	The restorable time range varies based on the log backup retention period and the point in time at which the Restore Individual Database/Table feature is enabled. The log backup retention period spans up to 730 days. For more information, see Back up the individual databases and tables of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Prerequisites

- The RDS instance runs MySQL 5.6 or a later version.
- If the RDS instance is managed in Flexible Management mode or Stable Change mode, you have logged on to the RDS instance. If the RDS instance is managed in Security Collaboration mode, you do not need to log on to the RDS instance, but you must have obtained the permissions on the databases whose data you want to restore. For more information, see Control modes.

What's next

15.5. Create a sandbox instance for the emergency disaster recovery of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL database

provides the sandbox feature. This feature allows the system to automatically obtain backup sets, generate snapshots, and rapidly create sandbox instances for emergency disaster recovery.

Context

DBS provides a complete sandbox solution for MySQL databases based on copy data management (CDM). You can use the sandbox feature of DBS to rapidly create a sandbox instance to restore data in a backup set. Read and write operations are performed within sandbox instances and do not affect source databases. You can perform a variety of operations within sandbox instances, such as data restoration, recovery drill, development and testing, query and analysis, and emergency disaster recovery. For more information, see Overview.

Billing

- ApsaraDB RDS provides the physical backup feature for ApsaraDB RDS instances and charges you backup fees. For more information, see Backup storage pricing of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- •
- •

Prerequisites

- An ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL database with local SSDs is created. At least one physical backup is completed in the ApsaraDB RDS console. For more information, see Enable the automatic backup feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- The instance resides in one of the following regions: China (Beijing), China (Shanghai), China (Hangzhou), China (Shenzhen), China (Zhangjiakou), China (Chengdu), China (Hohhot), China (Ulanqab), China (Heyuan), China (Hong Kong), Indonesia (Jakarta), Malaysia (Kuala Lumpur), Australia (Sydney), Germany (Frankfurt), and China East 1 Finance.
- Transparent Data Encryption (TDE) is not enabled for the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Enable the sandbox feature

After you enable the sandbox feature, DBS automatically synchronizes the data to be restored to sandbox storage. Then, you can create a sandbox instance for emergency disaster recovery.

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click Backup and Restoration.
- 3. On the Backup and Restoration page, click Crash Recovery.

Apsara08 RDS / Instances / Backup and Restoration					
← RDS MySQL5.7 Control (√ Running) √ Log On to Detabase Create Data Warehouse Control					
Basic Information	Restore Database (Previously Clone Database) Restore Individual Database/Table Upload Binlogs				
Accounts	Data Backup Local Log Settings Log Backup Backup Settings Cross-region Backup Backup Encryption Crash Recovery				
Databases Databa					
Backup and Restoration					
Database Connection	create centergency meanine (Joos Sandoox Instance)				

- 4. Click Enable DBS Sandbox.
- 5. In the Set Sandbox Policy dialog box, configure the parameters.

Set sandbox policy			×
Add data source	⊘	Generate 3 backup	Enable the sandbox function
New function The storage	n trial: Receive 100GB sandbox stor package of the package year and n	age package free of charge, only once per user nonth can offset the sandbox storage fee generated by th	Get it now
Sandbox function	Enabled		
Sandbox data retention	7	Days	
days			
 Opening the sandbo 	x will incur additional costs. For det	tails, please refer to Cost Case Document.	
		0	K Cancel

- Sandbox Feature: on. The Sandbox Feature switch specifies whether to enable the sandbox feature.
- Sandbox Data Retention Period: the number of days for which DBS retains the data that is used to create sandbox instances. Default value: 7. By default, DBS retains data for the last seven days. You can restore data to a point in time within the retention period.
- 6. Click OK.

The sandbox feature is enabled. If this feature is enabled for the first time, DBS stores the latest full backup set of the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL database to sandbox storage and generates snapshots that can be used to create sandbox instances. This process may take 5 to 20 minutes based on the backup data size.

After the available time range is displayed to the right of the **Available Time Range to Recover** parameter, you can create sandbox instances.

Create a sandbox instance for emergency disaster recovery

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Backup and Restoration**.
- 3. On the Backup and Restoration page, click Crash Recovery.

Apara08 ROS / Instances / Biolup and Restoration							
← RDS MySQL5.7 Control (√ Running) √ Log On to Database Create Data Warehouse Control							
Basic Information	Restore Database	(Previously Clone Databas	e) Restore In	ndividual Database/Table	Upload Binlogs		
Accounts	Data Backup	Local Log Settings	Log Backup	Backup Settings	Cross-region Backup	Backup Encryption	Crash Recovery
Databases Backup and Restoration	Enable DBS en	mergency recovery (DBS sa	indbox) to meet th	e requirements of second	-level recovery, emergency di	saster recovery, and recove	ry drills. For more inforr
Database Connection	Enable/Manage D	V6S Emergency Recovery	Create Eemer	gency Instance (DBS sand	lbox instance)		
Database Proxy							

- 4. Click Recover Sandbox Instance.
- 5. In the **Recover Sandbox Instance** dialog box, set the parameters that are described in the following table.

Restore sandbox instance >			×		
Sandbox instance time point					
Sandbox data Time 2021-05-27 07:09:05 -2021-06-01 23:04:14 range					
Recovery mode	 Restore b timeSelect sna time point Custom p 	y snapshot point in time Restore by snapshot time point, shorter apshot 2021-05-27 07:09:05 After selecting the snapshot time point, the recovery time t will be estimated for you. point-in-time recovery It will be restored according to the time			
Sandbox instanc	e configuration				
Instance Specification 1 nuclear 1G 🗸					
Peer-to-end proprietary vpc-bp1d					
Peer switch vsw-bp1q					
Database account type Reuse original database account Create high-privilege account					
Туре	Configuration item	Description			
	Sandbox Data Time Range	The time range available to restore the source datable of this parameter depends on the value of the Sand Retention Period parameter that you specify for the feature. For example, if the Sandbox Data Retenti parameter is set to 7, the available time range is the days.	ase. The vo box Data ne sandbox on Period last seven		

Sandbox Type Instance	Configuration item	Description
Point in Time	Recovery Method	 The following two methods are supported to restore data: Recovery by Snapshot Point in Time: You can select only the point in time at which a snapshot is created. This restoration method takes less time to complete. We recommend that you select this method. Recovery by Custom Point in Time: You can select a specific point in time within the backup set retention period. The time that the restoration takes to complete varies based on the backup size.
	Specificatio ns	 The following eight specifications of the sandbox instance to be created are supported: 1 CPU core and 1 GB of memory 1 CPU core and 2 GB of memory 2 CPU cores and 4 GB of memory 2 CPU cores and 8 GB of memory 4 CPU cores and 8 GB of memory 4 CPU cores and 16 GB of memory 8 CPU cores and 16 GB of memory 8 CPU cores and 32 GB of memory 8 CPU cores and 32 GB of memory restoration speed. However, sandbox instances with higher specifications provide better performance. For more information, see Sandbox instance fees.
	Region	The region where the sandbox instance resides.
	Peer VPC	The virtual private cloud (VPC) within which the sandbox instance is created. If you want to connect to the sandbox instance by using your Elastic Compute Service (ECS) instance, you must set this parameter to the VPC where the ECS instance resides. For more information about how to create a VPC, see Create a VPC or VSwitch.
Sandbox Instance Configuratio	Peer vSwitch	The vSwitch to which the sandbox instance is connected. The sandbox instance can be accessed by using the CIDR block specified for the vSwitch.
ns		

Туре	Configuration item	Description
	Database	 The following options are supported: Use Original Database Account: uses the account of the source database. Create Privileged Account: creates a privileged account in the sandbox instance. The privileged account has permissions on all databases in the sandbox instance. You must enter a new database account and a password. The account of the source database is retained in the sandbox instance.
Туре	Туре	 Note A privileged account is created only in the specific sandbox instance. If the account name of the source database is the same as the name of the privileged account, the account of the source database is overwritten by the privileged account in the sandbox instance.

6. Click OK.

DBS performs a precheck and creates the sandbox instance. When the status of the sandbox instance changes to running, you can connect to the sandbox instance.

The account, the password, and all configurations of the sandbox instance are the same as those of the source database. If you select **Create Privileged Account** in Step 5, you can also use the created privileged account to connect to the sandbox instance.

1	Sandbox instance						
	Sandbox instance ID/name	Sandbox instance status	Sandbox instance address	Set Time Restored To	Sandbox instance specification	Recovery duration	Actions
	1ibk	Running	172.1	2021-06-01 15:13:17	1 nuclear 1G	11Seconds	Release instance

What to do next

You can obtain the endpoint of the sandbox instance in the ApsaraDB RDS console and connect to the endpoint by using the corresponding client. You can also connect to the sandbox instance by using Data Management (DMS) or ECS. For more information, see Use DMS to access sandbox instances or Use ECS to access sandbox instances.

? Note The client, such as an ECS instance, that you use to connect to the sandbox instance must be deployed within the same VPC as the sandbox instance.

15.6. Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance across regions

This topic describes how to restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from a crossregion backup file to an existing or new RDS instance. The existing or new RDS instance must reside in the region to which the original RDS instance belongs or in the region where the cross-region backup file is stored.

Prerequisites

The cross-region backup feature is enabled. For more information, see Back up an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance across regions.

? Note

- For more information about how to restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server instance cross regions, see Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server instance across regions.
- For more information about how to restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL instance across regions, see Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL instance across regions.

Precautions

Before you can connect to the new RDS instance to which you want to restore data, you may need to reset the password of the logged-on account. This applies if the original RDS instance has the database proxy feature enabled and does not have a privileged account.

Restore data to a new RDS instance

- 1. Log on to the RDS management console, in the left-side navigation pane, click **Backups**, and then select a region above.
- 2. On the **Backup Instances** tab of the **Cross-region Backup** tab, find your RDS instance and click the ID of the instance. On the page that appears, find the backup file that you want to use, and click **Restore** in the **Actions** column.
- 3. On the **Data Backup** tab, find the data backup file that you want to use, and click **Restore** in the Actions column.
- 4. Select Restore to New Instance and click OK.
- 5. On the **Restore Database** page, click the **Subscription** or **Pay-As-You-Go** tab and configure the following parameters.

Parameter	Description
Restore Mode	 By Backup Set: allows you to restore the data of your RDS instance from a data backup file. By Time: allows you to restore the data of your RDS instance to a specific point in time. The point in time must be within the specified log backup retention period.
Backup Set	The data backup file from which you want to restore the data of your RDS instance. This parameter appears only when you set the Restore Mode parameter to By Backup Set .

Parameter	Description
Restore Point	The point in time to which you want to restore the data of your RDS instance. This parameter appears only when you set the Restore Mode parameter to By Time . ⑦ Note Both local and cross-region log backup files can be used to restore the data of your RDS instance to a specific point in time.
Region	The region to which the new RDS instance belongs.
Zone	The zone where the new RDS instance resides. Each zone is an independent physical location within a region. Zones in the same region provide the same services. You can create the new RDS instance in the same zone as the Elastic Compute Service (ECS) instance to which you want to connect. You can also create the new RDS instance in a different zone than the ECS instance to which you want to connect.
CPU and Memory	The specifications of the new RDS instance. Each instance type supports a specific number of CPU cores, memory capacity, maximum number of connections, and maximum input/output operations per second (IOPS). For more information, see Primary ApsaraDB RDS instance types.
Capacity	The storage capacity that the new RDS instance has available to store data files, system files, archived log files, and transaction files.
Network Type	 Classic Network: the traditional type of network. VPC: the recommended type of network. A virtual private cloud (VPC) is an isolated virtual network that provides higher security and higher performance than the classic network. If you select the VPC network type, you must also select a vSwitch that is associated with the specified VPC.

(?) Note The settings of some parameters cannot be modified. These parameters include Database Engine, Version, and Edition. The same settings of these parameters must be specified for both your RDS instance and the new RDS instance.

- 6. Specify the **Duration** and **Quantity** parameters. Then, click **Buy Now**. You must specify the Duration parameter when the new RDS instance is billed on a subscription basis.
- 7. On the **Order Confirmation** page, read and select Terms of Service, Service Level Agreement, and Terms of Use. Then, click Pay Now and complete the payment.

Restore data to an existing RDS instance

(?) Note Make sure that the individual database/table backup feature is enabled and at least one individual database and table backup is created on the existing RDS instance.

- 1. Log on to the RDS management console, in the left-side navigation pane, click **Backups**, and then select a region above.
- 2. On the Backup Instances tab of the Cross-region Backup tab, find your RDS instance and click

the ID of the instance. On the page that appears, find the backup file that you want to use, and click **Restore** in the **Actions** column.

- 3. Select **Restore to Existing Instance** and click **OK**.
- 4. Configure the following parameters.

Restore Database to Specified Instance $ imes$				
Restore Method	● By Backup Set By	r Time		
Region	China (Hangzhou)	v		
Destination Instance	Search by instance ID	Q		
	m	interniture)		
	rm			
Backup Set	2020-04-26 15	:21/2020-04-26 15:24		
Databases and Tables to R	estore (i)			
Search by database na	٩	shukun 🔻 Sear	ch by table n Q	
Database Name		Database Name	Table Name	
		0.000	100	

Parameter	Description
Restore Mode	 By Backup Set: allows you to restore the data of your RDS instance from a data backup file. By Time: allows you to restore the data of your RDS instance to a specific point in time. The point in time must be within the specified log backup retention period.
Region	The region to which the existing RDS instance belongs.

Parameter	Description	
Destination Instance	The existing RDS instance to which you want to restore the data of your RDS instance.	
Databases and Tables to Restore	Select the databases and tables that you want to restore.	
Selected Databases and Tables	The new names of the databases and tables on the existing RDS instance. If you do not specify the new names, the <u>_backup</u> suffix is added to the original names.	

5. Click OK.

References

After you create an RDS instance, you must configure IP address whitelists or security groups and create accounts. For more information, see Configure an IP address whitelist for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance and Create accounts and databases for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. If you want to connect to the RDS instance over the Internet, you must also apply for a public endpoint. For more information, see Apply for or release a public endpoint on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. After you complete these operations, you can connect to the RDS instance. For more information, see Connect to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Related operations

Operation	Description
Check cross-region backup	Checks whether an ApsaraDB RDS instance has a cross-region data backup file that can be used to restore data across regions.
Restore data to a new instance across regions	Restores the data of an ApsaraDB RDS instance to a new RDS instance that resides in a different region than the original RDS instance.
Modify cross-region backup settings	Modifies the cross-region backup settings of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.
Query cross-region backup settings	Queries the cross-region backup settings of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.
Query cross-region data backup files	Queries the cross-region data backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.
Query cross-region log backup files	Queries the cross-region log backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.
Query regions that support cross-region backup	Queries the regions to which the cross-region backup files from the current region can be restored.
Query the time range to which you can restore data by using a cross-region backup set	Queries the restorable time range that is supported by a cross-region backup file.

OperationDescriptionQuery ApsaraDB for RDS instances on which cross-
region backup is enabledQueries the ApsaraDB RDS instances for which the
cross-region backup feature is enabled in a region
and the cross-region backup settings of these
instances.

15.7. Restore from backup files

15.7.1. Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from a physical backup file to a self-managed MySQL database

This topic describes how to restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from a physical backup file to a self-managed MySQL database.

? Note

- For information about how to restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from a logical backup file to a self-managed MySQL database, see Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from a logical backup file to a self-managed MySQL instance.
- Due to software limits, you can restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from a data backup file only to a self-managed MySQL database that runs in a Linux operating system. For more information about how to restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from a data backup file to a self-managed MySQL database that runs in a Windows operating system, see Use mysqldump to migrate data from a self-managed MySQL instance to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Step 1: Set up the environment

1. Make sure that the RDS instance runs MySQL 8.0, MySQL 5.7, MySQL 5.6, or MySQL 5.5 on RDS Highavailability Edition with local SSDs.

Note You can download the physical backup files of the RDS instance only when the RDS instance meets this requirement. For more information about how to restore the data of an RDS instance that runs RDS Basic Edition, see the "FAQ" section of this topic.

- 2. Make sure that the tables in the RDS instance are not encrypted by Transparent Data Encryption (TDE). If tables in the RDS instance are encrypted by TDE, errors occur during the restoration process. We recommend that you decrypt the encrypted tables before you start a restoration task. For more information, see Decrypt a table.
- 3. Obtain a computer or a server that runs a 64-bit Linux operating system. Make sure that the MySQL service is installed on the computer or the server. In addition, make sure that the computer or the server runs the same MySQL version as the RDS instance.
Onte Make sure that no other services are running on top of the MySQL service.

- 4. Install Percona XtraBackup on the computer or the server.
 - If the RDS instance runs MySQL 5.7, MySQL 5.6, or MySQL 5.5, install Percona XtraBackup 2.4 on the computer or the server.
 - If the RDS instance runs MySQL 8.0, install Percona XtraBackup 8.0 on the computer or the server.
- 5. Install qPress on the computer or the server. qPress is an extraction tool.

```
wget "http://docs-aliyun.cn-hangzhou.oss.aliyun-inc.com/assets/attach/183466/cn_zh/1608
011575185/qpress-11-linux-x64.tar"
tar xvf qpress-11-linux-x64.tar
chmod 775 qpress
cp qpress /usr/bin
```

Step 2: Download the physical backup file that you want to use

1.

- 2. Open the Backup and Restoration page and click the Data Backup tab.
- 3. Select a time range. This step is required if you want to view the backup files that were generated eight days ago. The default time range spans the most recent eight days.
- 4. Find the physical backup file that you want to use. In the Actions column, click Download Instance Backup.

Download Instance Backup may not be displayed due to the following reasons:

5. In the dialog box that appears, copy the URL that you can use to download the physical backup file.

? Note

- A free quota for backup downloads over the Internet is provided. If the amount of traffic that you consume to download backup files over the Internet exceeds the free quota, you are charged for the excess traffic that you consume. For more information, see Download the backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- If your Elastic Compute Service (ECS) instance resides in the same virtual private cloud (VPC) as the RDS instance, you can use the internal URL to download the logical backup file. This download method is faster and more stable.
- 6. Run the following command on the computer or the server to download the physical backup file:

wget -c 'http://...' -0 test1_qp.xb

? Note

- You must replace *http://...* with the URL that you can use to download the physical backup file.
- *test1_qp.xb* is the name that is used for the physical backup file after the physical backup file is downloaded. You can change the file name based on your business requirements. However, you must make sure that the extension of the file name remains unchanged.

EbpjzJ6xaCA6xyp0121N428%2Fu6%2Ftgdc9Fc05k5j8ECdxKXCsAzvUXLnzM_%2F2gHxF3i27Ldip5txF7lH105Nb7o1%28V40CM10H mrnsxpxYveMvCH66GH2Fx%2Bm5ge013abo1gJ0%2BlFPMzzvXLTaxH89%2FJ6gCH45au1u440xTnncagA0uPp08501pcdcbld1FcyaB6FDFUDYa B0FTDHYzedM4BdelMx2FtFgzkCkuBBFrvorkPaV20XEVKVBA33N3%1 ^ to totl_qp.xd

Step 3: Decompress the physical backup file that you downloaded and restore data from the file that is generated from the decompression

1. Create a directory that is used to store the file that is generated from the decompression on the computer or the server. For example, you can create a directory named */home/mysql/data*.

mkdir /home/mysql/data

2. Decompress the physical backup file. The command that is used to decompress the physical backup file varies based on the extension of the file name.

Extension	Command used for decompression					
.tar.gz	tar -izxvf test1.tar.gz -C /home/mysql/data					
.xb.gz	gzip -d -c test1.xb.gz xbstream -x -v -C /home/mysql/data					
_qp.xb	<pre>## Unpack the physical backup file. cat test1_qp.xb xbstream -x -v -C /home/mysql/data ## Decompress the physical backup file. ### If the RDS instance runs MySQL 5.6 or MySQL 5.7, run the following command: innobackupexdecompressremove-original /home/mysql/data ### If the RDS instance runs MySQL 8.0, run the following command: xtrabackupdecompressremove-originaltarget- dir=/home/mysql/data</pre>					
_xb.qp	qpress -do test1_xb.qp xbstream -x -v -C /home/mysql/data					

? Note You can replace *test1* and */home/mysql/data* in the preceding commands with the actual names and save paths of your physical backup file.

3. Run the following command to query the file that is generated from the decompression:

ls -l /home/mysql/data

The system returns the following information, in which the information in blue indicates the databases whose data is contained in the physical backup file.

<pre>[root@testcentos ~]# total 204844</pre>	ls -l /home/mysql/data
-rw-rr 1 root roo	t 297 Apr 28 21:13 backup-my.cnf
-rw-rw 1 root roo	t 209715200 Apr 28 21:04 ibdata1
drwxr-xr-x 2 root roo	4096 Apr 28 22:01
drwxr-xr-x 2 root roo	t 4096 Apr 28 22:01 performance_scheme
drwxr-xr-x 2 root roo	4096 Apr 28 22:01 test
drwxr-xr-x 2 root roo	4096 Apr 28 22:01 miangluo

4. Restore the data of the file that is generated from the decompression to the self-managed MySQL database.

```
## MySQL 5.6/5.7
innobackupex --defaults-file=/home/mysql/data/backup-my.cnf --apply-log /home/mysql/dat
a
## MySQL 8.0
xtrabackup --prepare --target-dir=/home/mysql/data
xtrabackup --datadir=/var/lib/mysql --copy-back --target-dir=/home/mysql/data
```

• If the system displays the following or similar information, the data is restored to the selfmanaged MySQL database.



If the system returns the following error, run the rm -rf /var/lib/mysql command to delete all files from the directory. Then, run the chown -R mysql:mysql /var/lib/mysql command to modify the permissions on the directory.

```
Artabackup: recognized client arguments: --copy-back=1;-target-dir=/home/mysql/data
Xrrahackup: recognized client arguments: --copy-back=1;-target-dir=/home/mysql/data
Original data directory /var/lib/mysql is not empty!
root@izbplayuo2si5gysw8sgqoZ:-# ls-l /var/lib/mysql
```

• If the system returns the following error, check whether the tables in the RDS instance are encrypted by TDE. For more information, see the "Step 1: Set up the environment" section of this topic.

```
Innous: completed initialization of buffer pool
InnoDB: page_cleaner coordinator priority: -20
InnoDB: Highest supported file format is Barracuda.
InnoDB: Encryption information in datafile: ./ ________.bld can't be decrypted, please check if a keyring plugin is loaded and initialized successfully.
```

Note The Percona XtraBackup version that you use must match the MySQL version of the RDS instance:

- If the RDS instance runs MySQL 5.7, MySQL 5.6, or an earlier version, you must install Percona XtraBackup 2.4. For more information, see the Percona XtraBackup 2.4 document at ion.
- If the RDS instance runs MySQL 8.0, you must install Percona XtraBackup 8.0. For more information, see the Percona XtraBackup 8.0 documentation.

Step 4: Run MySQL

1. Modify the backup-my.cnf file to ensure version compatibility.

i. Run the following command to open the backup-my.cnf file in text mode:

vi /home/mysql/data/backup-my.cnf

ii. Add the following parameter setting to the backup-my.cnf file:

lower_case_table_names=1

iii. Comment out the following parameters, which are not supported by the self-managed MySQL database:

```
#innodb_log_checksum_algorithm
#innodb_fast_checksum
#innodb_log_block_size
#innodb_doublewrite_file
#innodb_encrypt_algorithm
#rds_encrypt_data
#redo_log_version
#master_key_id
#server uuid
```

Note The MyISAM storage engine is incompatible with the InnoDB storage engine that is used by ApsaraDB RDS. If the self-managed MySQL database runs MyISAM, you must comment out the following parameters and add the skip-grant-tables parameter:

```
#innodb_log_checksum_algorithm=strict_crc32
#redo_log_version=1
skip-grant-tables
```

iv. Press Esc, enter : wq , and then press Enter to save the backup-my.cnf file.

2. Run the following command to change the owner of the backup-my.cnf file to a user who has the permissions to manage the self-managed MySQL database:

chown -R mysql:mysql /home/mysql/data

3. Run the following command to run MySQL:

```
mysqld --defaults-file=/home/mysql/data/backup-my.cnf --user=mysql --datadir=/home/mysq
l/data &
```

? Note

- The following issues related to the password of the root user may occur:
 - If the RDS instance runs MySQL 5.5 or MySQL 5.6, you must reset the password of the root user of the RDS instance. For more information, see the open source MySQL documentation.
 - If the RDS instance runs MySQL 5.7 or MySQL 8.0, the password of the root user of the RDS instance is the same as the password of the root user of the selfmanaged MySQL database.
- If an error is reported when you start MySQL, you can try to resolve the error by changing the storage engine. For more information, see the "FAQ" section of this topic.

AppArmor is a built-in security program that is provided in an Ubuntu operating system. If you use an Ubuntu operating system, the system may report the error that is shown in the following figure. In this case, you must run the apt install -y apparmor-utils and aa-complain /usr/sbin/mys qld commands to modify the settings of the AppArmor security program.

4. Run the following command to log on to the self-managed MySQL database and verify that MySQL is running:

<code>mysql -u<The</code> username of the account that is used to connect to the RDS instance> -p<Th e password of the preceding account>

You can run the show databases; command to view the self-managed MySQL database and check whether the restoration task is successful.



FAQ

How do I restore the data of my RDS instance over a specified time range to a self-managed MySQL database?

You can download the log backup file that is generated over the specified time range in the ApsaraDB RDS console. Then, you can use the log backup file to restore the data of your RDS instance to a self-managed MySQL database. For more information, see Download the backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

• After a restoration task is completed, what do I do if the "error 1105 Unknown error" message is displayed when I use the self-managed MySQL database?

Execute the following SQL statements to convert the storage engine:

```
use mysql;
alter table proc engine=myisam;
alter table event engine=myisam;
alter table func engine=myisam;
```

• In addition to using the data backup files that I downloaded, what other methods can I use to restore the data of my RDS instance to a self-managed MySQL database?

You can use Data Transmission Service (DTS) to migrate the data of your RDS instance to a selfmanaged MySQL database. For more information, see Migrate data from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance to a self-managed MySQL database.

• When I download a data backup file, why does the system report errors?

If you run the following command to download the data backup file, check that the public URL is enclosed in a pair of single quotation marks ('): wget -c '<The public URL that you can use to do wnload the data backup file>' -O <The name that you want to use for the data backup file aft er the file is downloaded>.tar.gz . The single quotation marks (') are used by the system to identify the public URL.

- When I decompress the data backup file that I downloaded, what do I do if the system reports errors?
 - i. Check whether the data backup file is a physical backup file.
 - ii. Check whether the data backup file is saved based on a valid file extension. Valid file extensions are .tar.gz, .xb.gz, and _qp.xb.
 - iii. Check whether you ran a valid command that is supported for the format of the data backup file. For more information, see the "Step 3: Decompress the physical backup file that you downloaded and restore data from the file that is generated from the decompression" section of this topic.
- How do I restore or migrate the data of my RDS instance if my RDS instance runs RDS Basic Edition?

RDS instances that run RDS Basic Edition support only snapshot backups. If your RDS instance runs RDS Basic Edition, use one of the following two methods to restore or migrate the data:

- Use mysqldump to migrate the data of your RDS instance to a self-managed MySQL instance. For more information, see Use mysqldump to migrate data from a self-managed MySQL instance to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- Use DTS to export the data of your RDS instance to your computer.
- Can I restore the data of my RDS instance from a data backup file that I downloaded to another RDS instance?

This operation is not supported by ApsaraDB RDS. We recommend that you use DTS to migrate the data of your RDS instance to another RDS instance.For more information, see Migrate data between RDS instances.

References

- Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance
- Restore individual databases and tables of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance
- Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance across regions

15.7.2. Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from a logical backup file to a self-managed MySQL instance

This topic describes how to restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from a logical backup file to a self-managed MySQL instance by using the mysqldump plug-in of MySQL.

Prerequisites

- The RDS instance runs one of the following MySQL versions and RDS editions:
 - MySQL 8.0 on RDS High-availability Edition (with local SSDs)
 - MySQL 5.7 on RDS High-availability Edition (with local SSDs)
 - MySQL 5.6
 - MySQL 5.5
- A logical backup is complete on the RDS instance. For more information, see Enable the automatic backup feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- Tables in the RDS instance are not encrypted by using Transparent Data Encryption (TDE). If tables are encrypted by using TDE, errors occur during the restoration process. Before you restore the data of the RDS instance from a logical backup file, you must decrypt the encrypted tables. For more information, see Decrypt a table.

? Note

- For more information about how to restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from a physical backup file to a self-managed MySQL instance, see **Restore the data of an** ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from a physical backup file to a self-managed MySQL database.
- For more information about how to back up an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance, see Back up an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

Runtime environment

The self-managed instance is installed in a 64-bit Linux operating system and runs the same MySQL version as the RDS instance. In this topic, Linux 7 and MySQL 5.7 are used as examples.

Procedure

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click Backup and Restoration.
- 3. On the Data Backup tab of the page, select a time range and click OK
- 4. Find the logical backup file that you want to download. Then, click **Download Instance Backup** in the Actions column.

? Note

- Logical backups must be manually created. For more information, see Enable the automatic backup feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- If **Download Instance Backup** cannot be found, you can check whether the MySQL version of the RDS instance supports the downloads of logical backup files. For more information, see **Download the backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance**.
- 5. In the Download Instance Backup Set dialog box, click 🔲 to the right of Copy Public URL.

? Note

- A free quota for backup downloads over the Internet is provided. If the amount of traffic that you consume to download backup files over the Internet exceeds the free quota, you are charged for the excess traffic that you consume. For more information, see Download the backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- If your Elastic Compute Service (ECS) instance resides in the same virtual private cloud (VPC) as the RDS instance, you can use the internal URL to download the logical backup file. This download method is faster and more stable.
- 6. Log on to the Linux operating system on which the self-managed instance runs. Then, run the following command to download the logical backup file:

wget -c '<The public URL from which you can download the logical backup file>' -O <The name that you want to specify as the name of the downloaded logical backup file>.tar

? Note

- The -c option enables the resumable download feature.
- The -O option specifies to save the downloaded logical backup file based on the specified file name.
- 7. Run the following command to decompress the downloaded logical backup file, which includes the compressed files of the default system databases and the compressed files of the databases that you created:

tar xvf <The name of the downloaded logical backup file>.tar -C /tmp

Example:

tar xvf hins123456.tar -C /tmp



Note If an error message similar to "This does not look like a tar archive" is displayed, you must check whether the file that you downloaded is a logical backup file of the RDS instance.

8. Run the following command to decompress the compressed file of the database that you want to restore (the name of the compressed file is suffixed by .sql.gz):

gzip -d /tmp/The name of the compressed file of the database that you want to restore

Example:

gzip -d /tmp/testdata_datafull_202012101615_160xxxxx.sql.gz

Onte The .sql file that is generated during the decompression process will be imported in Step 10.

9. Run the following commands to log on to the self-managed instance and create an empty database:

```
mysql -u root -p<The password that is used to log on to the self-managed instance>
create database <The name of the empty database>;
exit
```

10. Run the following command to import the .sql file into the empty database:

mysql -u root -p <The name of the empty database> < /tmp/The name of the decompressed f ile that is generated in Step 8 $\,$

Example:

mysql -u root -p testdb < /tmp/testdata_datafull_202012101615_160xxxxx.sql</pre>

? Note

- After the preceding command is successfully run, the system displays a message that prompts you to enter a password. Enter the password and press Enter.
- If the "Can't find master key from keyring" error message is displayed, check whether the RDS instance meets all prerequisites.
- 11. Log on to the empty database. Then, check for data in the database. If you can find data in the database, the data of the RDS instance is successfully restored to the self-managed instance.

Type 'help;' or '\h' for help. Type '\c' to clear the current input statement.
mysql> show databases;
Database
information_schema mysql performance_schema sys test_20181115
5 rows in set (0.00 sec)
mysql> use test_20181115; Reading table information for completion of table and column names You can turn off this feature to get a quicker startup with -A
Database changed mysql> show tables; +
Tables_in_test_20181115
mysal>
mysql>

FAQ

• Why does my RDS instance not have logical backup files?

By default, ApsaraDB RDS creates physical backups. You must manually create logical backups if required. For more information, see Enable the automatic backup feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

• When I download a logical backup file, why is the value in the **Backup Set Restore Point** column displayed as 0 for the file?

ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL allows you to restore data to a specific point in time by using a physical backup file and a log backup file. The ApsaraDB RDS console provides the **Backup Set Restore Point** column. In this column, you can view the timestamp of each physical backup file. Logical backup files cannot be used to restore data to a specific point in time. The value in the Backup Set Restore Point column is 0 for all logical backup files.

• What do I do if the " ERROR 1840 (HY000) at line 24: @@GLOBAL.GTID_PURGED can only be set when @@GLOBAL.GTID_EXECUTED is empty. "error message is displayed?

This issue occurs due to GTIDs. You can use the following methods to resolve the issue:

- Enable the GTID feature. Then, repeat the steps in the "Procedure" section of this topic to restore the data.
- Do not enable the GTID feature. Comment out the GTID_PURGED parameter in the .sql file that you want to import. Then, repeat the steps in the "Procedure" section of this topic to restore the data.
- Check that the synchronous replication mode is disabled. Log on to the self-managed instance, run the reset master command, and then repeat the steps in the "Procedure" section of this topic to restore the data.
- What do I do if the " ERROR 3546 (HY000) at line 26: @@GLOBAL.GTID_PURGED cannot be changed: t he added gtid set must not overlap with @@GLOBAL.GTID_EXECUTED " error message is displayed?

The imported .sql file contains specific GTIDs that can be found in the self-managed instance. In this case, log on to the self-managed instance, run the reset master command, and then repeat the steps in the "Procedure" section of this topic to restore the data.

```
mysql> reset master;
Query OK, 0 rows affected (0.01 sec)
```

• After the data is restored to the self-managed instance, why is the data not automatically synchronized to the secondary instance of the self-managed instance?

Check whether you can find the " $SESSION.SQL_LOG_BIN= 0$ " setting at the end of the imported .s q1 file. If the setting is specified, the data that is restored to the self-managed instance cannot be automatically synchronized to the secondary instance of the self-managed instance.

```
SET @MYSQLDUMP_TEMP_LOG_BIN = @@SESSION.SQL_LOG_BIN;
SET @@SESSION.SQL_LOG_BIN= 0;
```

15.7.3. Restore the data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance to a self-managed MySQL instance by using a CSV file

ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL allows you to export the backup data of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance that uses standard SSDs or enhanced SSDs (ESSDs) as a CSV file. You can use the CSV file to restore the data of the RDS instance to a self-managed MySQL instance.

Prerequisites

• The local_infile parameter is enabled for the self-managed MySQL instance.

Onte You can execute the following SQL statements to check the status of local_infile or enable local_infile:

- Check whether local_infile is enabled: SHOW GLOBAL VARIABLES LIKE 'local_infile;
- Enable local_infile: SET GLOBAL local_infile=1;
- Transparent Data Encryption (TDE) is disabled for the RDS instance. If tables are encrypted by using TDE, errors occur when you restore the data of the RDS instance. Before you restore the data of the RDS instance by using a CSV file, you must decrypt the encrypted tables. For more information, see Decrypt a table.

Limits

When you restore the data to a self-managed MySQL instance by using the CSV file that you downloaded, take note of the following limits:

• Fields of the following data types are not supported: BIT, BINARY, VARBINARY, TINYBLOB, BLOB, MEDIUMBLOB, and LONGBLOB.

? Note If the CSV file that you downloaded contains fields of the BINARY data type, the fields are stored as hexadecimal representations. When you import the CSV file to the self-managed MySQL instance, the fields that are stored as hexadecimal representations are processed as strings. In this case, you must call the UNHEX function in the LOAD DATA LOCAL INFILE command to convert the fields from hexadecimal strings to raw binary strings.

- Fields of the following spatial data types are not supported: GEOMETRY, POINT, LINESTRING, POLYGON, MULT IPOINT, MULT ILINESTRING, MULT IPOLYGON, and GEOMETRYCOLLECTION.
- We recommend that you restore the data of an RDS instance to a self-managed MySQL instance that runs the same database engine version as the RDS instance. If the database engine versions of the self-managed MySQL instance and the RDS instance are different, incompatibility issues may occur and cause the restoration to fail.

Procedure

In this example, an Ubuntu 20.04 LTS operating system is used. If you use other operating systems, you must use the corresponding commands.

- 1. Use the advanced download feature to convert the backup file into a CSV file and download the CSV file to your computer as a package. For more information, see Perform an advanced download.
- 2. Decompress the downloaded package.

The decompression command is in the following format: tar -izxvf <Name of the downloaded pa ckage>.tar.gz -C <Path to store the file that is obtained from the downloaded package> .

Example:

```
tar -izxvf test1.tar.gz -C /home/mysql/data
```

- 3. Download the Python script.
- 4. Run the following command to grant permissions on the Python script restore_from_downloads.p

chmod +x ./restore_from_downloads.py

5. Restore data to the destination database by using the CSV file.

The restoration command is in the following format: python ./restore_from_downloads.py <Path of the CSV file> <Host on which the self-managed MySQL instance is deployed> <Port that is used to connect to the self-managed MySQL instance> <Username of the account that is used to connect to the self-managed MySQL instance> <Password of the account that is used to connect to the self-managed MySQL instance> .

Example:

python ./restore_from_downloads.py /home/mysql/data/ 127.0.0.1 3306 zhtxxxxx "#txxxxx"

? Note

- If the Command 'python' not found error message is displayed, you must check the version of Python that is installed in your system and the command that is used to run the Python script. For example, the command may be python3 ./restore_from_downlo ads.py ~/mysql/data/ 127.0.0.1 3306 zhtxxxxx "#txxxxx" .
- If the self-managed MySQL instance contains a database that has the same name as the database whose data you want to import, the import fails.
- If the username or password of the account that you want to use contains special characters, such as number signs (#) and spaces, you must enclose the username or password in double quotation marks (" "). For example, if the password is #1234 , you must enter "#1234" in the preceding command.

15.7.4. Migrate the data of a self-managed

MySQL instance to the cloud

This topic describes how to migrate the data of a self-managed MySQL instance to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance that runs the same MySQL version as the self-managed MySQL instance. You can perform a full backup on the self-managed MySQL instance, upload the full backup file to an Object Storage Service (OSS) bucket, and then restore the data of the full backup file to the destination RDS instance.

Prerequisites

- The self-managed MySQL instance runs MySQL 5.7 or MySQL 8.0.
- A full backup of the self-managed MySQL instance is complete. For more information, see Migrate the data of a self-managed MySQL 5.7 or MySQL 8.0 instance to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- You have an Alibaba Cloud account.

Billing

After you import a full backup file into an RDS instance, you are not charged for the storage of the file within 24 hours. If the file is stored for longer than 24 hours, you are charged storage fees. For more information, see Storage fees.

Note The preceding billing rules take effect on July 15, 2021.

Import the full backup file into the destination RDS instance

- 1. Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console. In the top navigation bar, select a region. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Backups**.
- 2. On the **Next** tab, click **3. Import Data**. In the Import Backup wizard, read the messages that are displayed and click Next until you enter the Data import step.

Onte The Import Backup wizard walks you through the migration process.

- **1. Back Up Source Database**: Perform a full backup on the self-managed MySQL instance. For more information, see Migrate the data of a self-managed MySQL 5.7 or MySQL 8.0 instance to the cloud.
- 2. Upload Backup Files to OSS: Upload the full backup file to an OSS bucket. For more information, see Migrate the data of a self-managed MySQL 5.7 or MySQL 8.0 instance to the cloud.

3. Configure the following parameters and click **OK**.

Parameter	Description			
Region	Select the region that you specified in Step 1. The selected region must be the region to which the OSS bucket that stores the full backup file belongs.			
OSS Bucket	Select the OSS bucket that stores the full backup file of the self-managed MySQL instance. For more information, see Upload objects.			
OSS file name	Select the full backup file that is stored as an object in the OSS bucket. You can enter the name of the full backup file in the OSS file name field to search for the file. This search feature supports fuzzy match and exact match.			
Note	Enter a description that helps you identify the full backup file.			
Zone	Select the zone to which the OSS bucket that stores the full backup file belongs. After you select a zone, ApsaraDB RDS creates a snapshot in the zone in single-digit seconds. This greatly reduces the time that is required to import the full backup file into the OSS bucket.			
	Note After the full backup file is imported into ApsaraDB RDS, you can restore the data of the full backup file to a new RDS instance. The new RDS instance resides in the zone that you select.			
	Specify the amount of storage space that is required for the full backup file. Valid values: 20 to 6000: Unit: GB.			
Storage Capacity	Note By default, the amount of storage space required is 3 times the size of the full backup file. If the file size multiplied by 3 does not exceed 20 GB, this parameter defaults to 20.			

? Note If ApsaraDB RDS is not authorized to access OSS, click Authorize in the lower part of the 3. Import Data step. In the lower-left corner of the page that appears, click Confirm Authorization Policy.

4. After ApsaraDB RDS creates a task to check the full backup file, wait until the **Status** of the task changes from **Verifying** to **Completed**. You can view the status of the task on the **User Backups** tab.

? Note The time that is required to complete the task varies based on the status of the self-managed MySQL instance during the full backup. For example, if a large number of redo log records are generated from a large number of write operations or large transactions are run during the full backup, the time that is required to complete the task increases.

Restore the data of the full backup file to a new RDS instance

After the full backup file is imported into ApsaraDB RDS, you can restore the data of the full backup file to a new RDS instance. For more information, see the "Import the full backup file into the destination RDS instance" section in this topic.

? Note The full backup file is retained three days by default. After the retention period elapses, ApsaraDB RDS automatically deletes the full backup file. We recommended that you restore the data of the full backup file to a new RDS instance within the retention period. You can adjust the retention period. For more information, see Set the retention period of the full backup file.

- 1. Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console. In the top navigation bar, select a region. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Backups**.
- 2. Find the full backup file. Then, click **Restore** in the **Actions** column to the right of the **Backup ID/Name** column.

Parameter	Description					
Zone of Primary Node	The zone to which the primary RDS instance belongs.					
	Note If you did not select a zone for the OSS bucket that stores the full backup file when you import the file, this parameter is displayed. If you selected a zone for the OSS bucket that stores the full backup file when you import the file, this parameter is not displayed.					
Storage type	ESSD PLT: An enhanced SSD (ESSD) of performance level T (PLT) is a regular ESSD.					
	• Standard SSD : A standard SSD is an elastic block storage device that is designed based on the distributed storage architecture of Alibaba Cloud. You can store data on standard SSDs to separate computing from storage.					
	Note For more information about storage types, see Storage types .					

3. Configure the following parameters and click **Next: Instance Configuration**.

Parameter	Description
	General-purpose : specifies the general-purpose instance family. A general- purpose instance exclusively occupies the allocated memory and I/O resources. However, it shares CPU and storage resources with the other general-purpose instances that are deployed on the same server.
Instance Type	Note Each instance type supports a specific number of cores, memory capacity, maximum number of connections, and maximum IOPS. For more information, see Primary ApsaraDB RDS instance types.
	The storage capacity that is used to store data files, system files, binary log files
Capacity	and transaction files in the RDS instance. You can adjust the storage capacity at a step size of 5 GB.

4. Configure the following parameters and click **Next: Confirm Order**.

Parameter	Description		
Network Type	The network type of the RDS instance. Select VPC . A virtual private cloud (VPC) is an isolated network that provides higher security and better performance than the classic network. If you select the VPC network type, you must also specify the VPC and vSwitch of Primary Node parameters.		
	Note The RDS instance and the Elastic Compute Service (ECS) instance that you want to connect must reside in the same VPC. Otherwise, the RDS instance and the ECS instance cannot communicate over an internal network.		
Parameter Template	The parameter template that is used by the RDS instance. You can select a system parameter template or a custom parameter template. For more information, see Use a parameter template to configure the parameters of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances.		
Time Zone	The time zone of the RDS instance.		
Table Name Case Sensitivity	Specifies whether table names in the RDS instance are case-sensitive. If table names in the self-managed MySQL instance are case-sensitive, we recommend that you select Case-sensitive to facilitate data migration between the RDS instance and the self-managed MySQL instance.		

5. Confirm the configuration of the RDS instance in the **Parameters** section, configure the **Purchase Plan** parameter, read and select Terms of Service, and then click **Pay Now** to complete the payment.

? Note ApsaraDB RDS requires 1 minute to 5 minutes to create the RDS instance. Wait until the instance is created.

Set the retention period of the full backup file

By default, the full backup file is retained for three days after it is imported into ApsaraDB RDS. For more information, see the "Import the full backup file into the destination RDS instance" section in this topic. You can adjust the retention period based on your business requirements.

? Note If you no longer need a full backup file, you can delete the file. For more information, see the **"Delete the full backup file"** section in this topic.

- 1. Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console. In the top navigation bar, select a region. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Backups**.
- 2. Click Set Retention Period in the Expiration Time column to the right of the Backup ID/Name column.
- 3. In the dialog box that appears, select a retention period from the drop-down list provided by ApsaraDB RDS. Alternatively, select **Custom Retention Period**, and then enter a retention period or click the up and down arrows to adjust the retention period.

? Note Expiration Time shows the expiration time of the full backup file. If the expiration time exceeds 2099, it is displayed as **Permanent**.

4. Click OK.

Add tags to the full backup file

After the full backup file is imported into ApsaraDB RDS, you can add tags to the file.

- 1. Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console. In the top navigation bar, select a region. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Backups**.
- 2. Click+Add Tag in the Tags column to the right of the Backup ID/Name column.
- 3. Click **Create Tag**, enter the **Key** and **Value** of the tag, click **OK** to the right of the field to create the tag, and then click **OK** in the lower-right corner of the dialog box to add the tag.

⑦ Note If you have created a tag, click Select Tag to add the tag to the full backup file.

4. If you want to change the tag of the full backup file, move the pointer over the tag and click Edit. In the tooltip that appears, repeat Step 3 to create or select a tag.

Check the information about the binary log data of the full backup file

If data changes are made in the self-managed MySQL instance during the full backup, the generated full backup file contains the information about binary log data. You can use the binary log data to restore the incremental data. For more information, see Migrate the data of a self-managed MySQL 5.7 or MySQL 8.0 instance to the cloud.

- 1. Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console. In the top navigation bar, select a region. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Backups**.
- 2. Click View Details in the Actions column to the right of the Backup ID/Name column.
- 3. In the message that appears, check the information about the binary log data.

- Onte Binlog Information includes the following information:
 - Master_Log_File:: the name of the first binary log file that shows incremental data.
 - **Master_Log_Position:**: the first log record that shows incremental data in the first binary log file showing incremental data.

Delete the full backup file

If you no longer need the full backup file, you can delete the file to save costs.

- 1. Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console. In the top navigation bar, select a region. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Backups**.
- 2. Click Delete in the Actions column to the right of the Backup ID/Name column.
- 3. In the message that appears, click OK.

Other features

- Filter Columns: You can click the icon to show or hide columns on the User Backups tab. By default, the tab shows all columns.
 - i. Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console. In the top navigation bar, select a region. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Backups**. On the page that appears, click the **User Backups** tab.
 - ii. In the upper-right corner of the tab, click the 👔 icon. In the dialog box that appears, select

the columns that you want to display or hide, and click the > or < icon to move the

columns.

(?) **Note** The columns in the left-side list are hidden, and the columns in the right-side list are displayed.

iii. Click OK.

- Export Instance List : You can click the icon to export the backup information as a CSV file.
 - i. Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console. In the top navigation bar, select a region. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Backups**. On the page that appears, click the **User Backups** tab.
 - ii. In the upper-right corner of the tab, click the 👱 icon to export the backup information.
- Refresh: You can click the icon to refresh the User Backups tab.
 - i. Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console. In the top navigation bar, select a region. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Backups** and then click **User Backups** tab.
 - ii. Click the 🕑

icon to refresh the User Backups tab.

Related operations

- Import a full backup file
- Modify a full backup file

- Query full backup files
- Delete a full backup file

Related information

• Migrate the data of a self-managed MySQL 5.7 or MySQL 8.0 instance to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

16.Read-only instances 16.1. Overview of read-only ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances

This topic provides an overview of read-only ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances. If your database system receives a small number of write requests but a large number of read requests, a single primary RDS instance may be overwhelmed by the read requests and your workloads may be interrupted. To offload read requests from the primary RDS instance, you can create one or more read-only RDS instances. Read-only RDS instances help increase the read capability of your database system and the throughput of your application.

For more information about read-only RDS instances that run a different database engine, see the following topics:

- Overview of read-only ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server instances
- Overview of read-only ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL instances

Background information

When a read-only RDS instance is being created, ApsaraDB RDS replicates data from the secondary RDS instance to the read-only RDS instance. Each read-only RDS instance has the same data as the primary RDS instance. After the data on the primary RDS instance is updated, ApsaraDB RDS immediately replicates the data updates to all the read-only RDS instances. You can specify a replication latency on each read-only RDS instance. For more information, see Set the data replication latency of a read-only ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

? Note Each read-only RDS instance runs in the high-availability architecture that allows the read-only RDS instance to have a secondary RDS instance as a standby.

Prerequisites

The primary RDS instance runs one of the following MySQL versions and RDS editions:

- MySQL 8.0 on RDS High-availability Edition or RDS Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 5.7 on RDS High-availability Edition or RDS Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 5.6

(?) **Note** If the primary RDS instance runs MySQL 5.7 on RDS Enterprise Edition but you cannot create read-only RDS instances, you must submit a .

Billing

Read-only RDS instances support both the pay-as-you-go billing method and the subscription billing method. For more information about the prices of read-only RDS instances, see Read-only ApsaraDB RDS instance types.

Precautions

If the primary RDS instance uses the subscription billing method and you want to create a

subscription read-only RDS instance, you can configure the read-only RDS instance to have the same subscription period as the primary RDS instance.

- If the primary RDS instance is locked due to expiration, you can still access the read-only RDS instances of the primary RDS instance. However, the statuses of the read-only RDS instances change to **Running (Primary Instance Locked)**.
- After the primary RDS instance is released, the subscription read-only RDS instances of the primary RDS instance are automatically refunded and released. However, the pay-as-you-go read-only RDS instances of the primary RDS instance are directly released.

Usage notes

- Read-only RDS instances support both the pay-as-you-go billing method and the subscription billing method. The pay-as-you-go billing method is flexible and allows you to release your read-only RDS instances when you no longer need the instances. The subscription billing method is cost-effective for long-term commitments.
- Read-only RDS instances reside in the same region as the primary RDS instance, but optionally in different zones.
- The specifications of read-only RDS instances can differ from the specifications of the primary RDS instance. You can change the specifications of read-only RDS instances at any time. We recommend that the specifications of read-only RDS instances be higher than or equal to the specifications of the primary RDS instance. If the specifications of a read-only RDS instance are lower than the specifications of the primary RDS instance, the read-only RDS instance may encounter issues such as high latency or heavy load.
- The network types of read-only RDS instances can differ from the network type of the primary RDS instance. For more information, see Change the network type of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- The databases and accounts on read-only RDS instances are synchronized from the primary RDS instance. You do not need to manage databases or accounts on read-only RDS instances.
- When you create a read-only RDS instance, ApsaraDB RDS replicates the IP address whitelists of the primary RDS instance to the read-only RDS instance. However, the IP address whitelists of the read-only RDS instance are independent of the IP address whitelists of the primary RDS instance. For more information about how to modify the IP address whitelists of a read-only RDS instance, see Use a database client or the CLI to connect to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- Read-only RDS instances support monitoring and alerting. You can monitor near 20 metrics, such as disk usage, IOPS, number of connections, CPU utilization, and network traffic.

Limits

• A maximum of 10 read-only RDS instances can be created.

🕐 Note 🛛 If you want to create more than 10 read-only RDS instances, you must submit a .

- You cannot configure backup policies or manually create backups for read-only RDS instances. These operations are performed on primary RDS instances.
- The following limits are imposed on the data restoration of read-only RDS instances:
 - You cannot create a temporary RDS instance that is used to restore the data of a read-only RDS instance from a backup file or to a specific point in time. In addition, you cannot overwrite the data of a read-only RDS instance by using a data backup file.
 - After a read-only RDS instance is created, you cannot overwrite the data of its primary RDS instance by using a data backup file.

- You cannot migrate data to read-only RDS instances.
- You cannot create or delete databases on read-only RDS instances.
- You cannot create or delete accounts, grant permissions to accounts, or change the passwords of accounts on read-only RDS instances.

Create a read-only RDS instance

Create a read-only ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

FAQ

• After I create accounts on my primary RDS instance, can I manage the accounts on the read-only RDS instances of my primary RDS instance?

No, although the accounts created on your primary RDS instance are synchronized to the read-only RDS instances, you cannot manage the accounts on the read-only RDS instances. The accounts have only the read permissions on the read-only RDS instances.

• Can I pause the billing for my read-only RDS instances? And can I set the read weights of my read-only RDS instances to 0 to stop the billing?

No, you cannot pause the billing for your read-only RDS instances. If you no longer need your read-only RDS instances, we recommend that you immediately release the instances. For more information, see Release or unsubscribe from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

16.2. Create a read-only ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to create a read-only ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. Read-only RDS instances help increase the read capability of your database system and the throughput of your application. Each read-only RDS instance is a replica of the primary RDS instance. This indicates that each read-only RDS contains the same data as the primary RDS instance. Data updates on the primary RDS instance are automatically synchronized to each read-only RDS instance.

For more information about how to create a read-only RDS instance that runs a different database engine, see the following topics:

- Create a read-only ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server instance
- Create a read-only ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL instance

For more information about read-only RDS instances, see Overview of read-only ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances.

Prerequisites

The primary RDS instance runs one of the following MySQL versions and RDS editions:

- MySQL 8.0 on RDS High-availability Edition or RDS Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 5.7 on RDS High-availability Edition or RDS Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 5.6

Note If the primary RDS instance runs MySQL 5.7 on RDS Enterprise Edition but you cannot create read-only RDS instances, you must submit a .

Precautions

- You can create read-only RDS instances for the primary RDS instance. You cannot convert existing RDS instances to read-only RDS instances.
- When a read-only RDS instance is being created, ApsaraDB RDS replicates data from the secondary RDS instance to the read-only RDS instance. This prevents interruptions to your workloads on the primary RDS instance.
- After the primary RDS instance is released, the subscription read-only RDS instances of the primary RDS instance are automatically refunded and released, and the pay-as-you-go read-only RDS instances of the primary RDS instance are directly released.
- A read-only RDS instance does not inherit the parameter settings of the primary RDS instance. ApsaraDB RDS generates default parameter settings for each read-only RDS instance. You can modify the parameter settings of a read-only RDS instance in the ApsaraDB RDS console.
- You can create up to 10 read-only RDS instances for a primary RDS instance. If you want to create more than 10 read-only RDS instances, you must submit a .
- Read-only RDS instances support both the pay-as-you-go billing method and the subscription billing method. For more information about the prices of read-only RDS instances, see Read-only ApsaraDB RDS instance types.
- When you create a read-only RDS instance, you must select a virtual private cloud (VPC) that meets the specified requirements. For more information, see FAQ.

Create a read-only RDS instance

1.

2. In the **Distributed by Instance Role** section of the Basic Information page, click **Add** to the right of **Read-only Instance**.

Note If you are using the original ApsaraDB RDS console, click Create Read-only Instance in the Distributed by Instance Role section of the Basic Information page.

Basic Information	Configure Whitelist Migrate Across Zones				
Instance ID	rm-bp				
Zone 😢	China (Hangzhou) ZoneH(Primary) + ZoneH(Secondary)				
Network Type	VPC See Detail				
Read and write separate	Details				
Distributed by Instance Read-only Instance ② Analytic Instance NEW ②	Role Restore Database (Previously Clone Database) 0 Add 0 Add				

3. Configure the following parameters.

Parameter	Description				
Billing Method	 Subscription: A subscription instance is an instance for which you pay an upfront fee. For long-term use, the subscription billing method is more cost-effective than the pay-as-you-go billing method. You are offered lower prices for longer subscription periods. Pay-As-You-Go: A pay-as-you-go instance is charged per hour based on your actual resource usage. For short-term use, we recommend that you select the pay-as-you-go billing method. If you no longer need a pay-as-you-go instance, you can release the instance to reduce costs. 				
Zone	A zone is an independent geographical location in a region. Zones in the same region do not have substantive differences.				
Instance Type	 General-purpose (Entry-level): allows you to select a general-purpose instance type. A general-purpose RDS instance exclusively occupies the allocated memory and I/O resources, but shares CPU and storage resources with the other general-purpose RDS instances that are deployed on the same server. Dedicated: allows you to select a dedicated instance type or a dedicated host instance type. A dedicated RDS instance exclusively occupies the allocated CPU, memory, storage, and I/O resources. Dedicated host instance types provide the highest specifications in the dedicated instance family. A dedicated host RDS instance occupies all CPU, memory, storage, and I/O resources on the physical host where the RDS instance is deployed. Note Each instance type supports a specific number of cores, memory capacity, maximum number of connections, and maximum IOPS. For information about how to connect to a host, see Primary ApsaraDB RDS instance types. 				
Capacity	The maximum amount of storage capacity that is provisioned to store data files, system files, binary log files, and transaction files in the read-only RDS instance. You can adjust the storage capacity at a step size of 5 GB. Note The storage capacity of the read-only RDS instance must be equal to or greater than the storage capacity of the primary RDS instance to which the read-only RDS instance is attached.				

4. Click Next: Instance Configuration and configure the following parameters.

Parameter	Description			
	 Classic Network: the traditional type of network. VPC: the recommended type of network. A VPC is an isolated virtual network that provides higher security and higher performance than the classic network. If you select the VPC network type, you must also specify the VPC and vSwitch of Primary Node parameters. 			
Network Type	Note The network type of the RDS instance must be the same as the network type of the Elastic Compute Service (ECS) instance that you want to connect. If the RDS instance and the ECS instance both reside in VPCs, these instances must reside in the same VPC. If the RDS instance and the ECS instance reside in different VPCs, these instances cannot communicate over an internal network.			
Resource Group	The resource group to which the read-only RDS instance belongs.			

5. Click Next: Confirm Order.

6. Confirm the settings in the **Parameters** section, specify the **Purchase Plan** and **Duration** parameters, read and select Terms of Service, click **Pay Now**, and then complete the payment. You must specify the Duration parameter only when the read-only RDS instance uses the subscription billing method.

? Note

- If the primary RDS instance is charged based on the subscription billing method and you want to purchase a subscription read-only RDS instance, you can select Consistent with Primary Instance in the Duration section. This ensures that the read-only RDS instance has the same subscription period as the primary RDS instance.
- If the read-only RDS instance that you create is charged based on the subscription billing method, we recommend that you select **Auto-Renew Enabled**. This reliefs the need to renew the read-only RDS instance on a regular basis and prevents interruptions to your workloads on the read-only RDS instance due to overdue payments.
- If the primary RDS instance supports the dedicated proxy feature, you can select MySQL
 Dedicated Proxy Service (Paid Service) in the Confirm Order step for the instance.
 For more information, see What are database proxies?

View a read-only RDS instance

To view a read-only RDS instance on the Instances page, perform the following steps:

- 1. Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Instances**. In the top navigation bar, select the region where the read-only RDS instance resides.
- 2. Find the read-only RDS instance and click the instance ID.

_	rm-tip18hets/het8ph18 P rm-tip18hets/bib/14	✓ Running	Aug 16, 2021, 17:36:26	Primary Instance	SQL Server 2019 EE	Pay-As-You-Go Switch to Subscription Billing
	rr-by/1134g/14/113ging R	✓ Running	Sep 7, 2021, 17:57:12	Read-only Ir	nstance SQL Server 20	19 EE Pay-As-You-Go Subscription Billing

To view a read-only RDS instance on the Basic Information page of the primary RDS instance, perform the following steps:

- 1. Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Instances**. In the top navigation bar, select the region where the primary RDS instance resides.
- 2. Find the primary RDS instance and click the ID of the instance.
- 3. In the Distributed by Instance Role section of the **Basic Information** page, move the pointer over the number of read-only RDS instances and click the ID of the read-only RDS instance that you want to view.

Distributed by Instance Role				
Read-only Instance 2 1 Add				
Status	rr-hp1118p1da#175pHq	Ĭ	g	

View the latency of data replication to a read-only RDS instance

A read-only RDS instance may synchronize data from the primary RDS instance at a specific latency. You can go to the Basic Information page of a read-only RDS instance to view the latency of data replication to the instance.



FAQ

• When I create a read-only RDS instance, why am I unable to select a specific zone?

The zone that you select does not have available resources. Select another zone and try again. This does not affect the read-only RDS instance.

- When I create a read-only RDS instance, can I select a VPC that is different from the VPC of the primary RDS instance?
 - If the primary RDS instance resides in the classic network, you can select the classic network or a VPC. The selected VPC can be different from the VPC of the primary RDS instance.

- If the primary RDS instance resides in a VPC:
 - You can select the classic network.
 - If local SSDs are used, you can select a VPC. The selected VPC can be different from the VPC of the primary RDS instance.
 - If standard SSDs or enhanced SSDs (ESSDs) are used, you can select only the VPC of the primary RDS instance.
- When I create a read-only RDS instance, ApsaraDB RDS replicates data from the secondary RDS instance to the read-only RDS instance. This prevents interruptions to your workloads that are run on the primary RDS instance. What is a secondary RDS instance?

If you are using the RDS High-availability Edition, your database system consists of a primary RDS instance and a secondary RDS instance. These instances work in the classic high-availability architecture. If the primary RDS instance becomes faulty, your database system fails over to the secondary RDS instance.

Related operations

Operation	Description
Create a read-only instance	Creates a read-only ApsaraDB RDS instance.

16.3. Set the data replication latency of a read-only ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to set the latency at which a read-only ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance synchronizes data from its primary RDS instance.

Prerequisites

The primary RDS instance to which the read-only RDS instance belongs does not run RDS Enterprise Edition.

Precautions

After you set the data replication latency of a read-only RDS instance, you cannot add the instance to the read/write splitting link. Before you can add the instance to the read/write splitting link, you must set the data replication latency of the instance to 0. For more information, see Enable the read/write splitting feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance (shared proxy).

Procedure

1. Go to the **Basic Information** page of the read-only RDS instance.

i.

- ii. Find the read-only RDS instance and click its ID.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click Service Availability.
- 3. Click Set Delayed Replication.

4. In the dialog box that appears, set the data replication latency and click **OK**.

Note The data replication latency is measured in seconds. The default value is 0. If you set the data replication latency to 0 seconds, the primary RDS instance sends operation logs to the read-only RDS instance after the logged operations are complete. After the read-only RDS instance receives the operation logs, it immediately performs the logged operations.

17.Disaster recovery instances 17.1. Create a disaster recovery ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to create a disaster recovery ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance for a primary ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. A disaster recovery RDS instance resides in a different region than the region where its primary RDS instance resides. If your primary RDS instance is used for business scenarios in which high data reliability or compliance with financial regulations is required, you can create a disaster recovery RDS instance to increase data reliability.

Prerequisites

- Your primary RDS instance runs one of the following MySQL versions and RDS editions:
 - MySQL 8.0 on RDS High-availability Edition or RDS Enterprise Edition
 - MySQL 5.7 on RDS High-availability Edition or RDS Enterprise Edition
 - MySQL 5.6
- Your primary RDS instance resides in the classic network.
- Your primary RDS instance resides in one of the following regions: China (Hangzhou), China (Shanghai), China (Qingdao), China (Beijing), China (Shenzhen), China (Hong Kong), Singapore (Singapore), and US (Virginia).

Context

A primary RDS instance and its disaster recovery RDS instance synchronize data with each other in real time by using Data Transmission Service (DTS). The primary RDS instance and the disaster recovery RDS instance are configured as a high-availability architecture. If the primary RDS instance and the secondary RDS instance are inaccessible due to unexpected exceptions such as natural disasters, the database system fails over to the disaster recovery RDS instance. In this case, the disaster recovery RDS instance is promoted to run as the new primary RDS instance. After you update the endpoint information on the application that is connected to the database system, the application immediately connects to the new primary RDS instance.

In the DTS console, you can specify the synchronization settings for a disaster recovery RDS instance. For example, you can change the objects that you want to synchronize, specify the synchronization speed, and configure the synchronization link to report alerts at a specified latency. For more information, see What is DTS?

The following figure shows the topology of a database system that contains a disaster recovery RDS instance.



A disaster recovery RDS instance has the following characteristics:

- A disaster recovery RDS instance is connected over an independent endpoint. You can configure an application to connect to the endpoint of a disaster recovery RDS instance.
- A disaster recovery RDS instance runs in a high-availability architecture.
- You are charged for a disaster recovery RDS instance based on the pay-as-you-go billing method.
- You can configure IP address whitelists and manage accounts on a disaster recovery RDS instance.

Billing

- By default, a disaster recovery RDS instance has the same configuration as its primary RDS instance and uses the **pay-as-you-go** billing method. For more information, visit the ApsaraDB RDS buy page.
- By default, the DTS data synchronization link between a disaster recovery RDS instance and its primary RDS instance uses the **small** specification and the **pay-as-you-go** billing method. For more information, visit the DTS Price Calculator.

Limits

- A disaster recovery RDS instance does not support backup and restoration, data migration, database management, public endpoints, or endpoint modifications.
- A disaster recovery RDS instance does not synchronize database deletion operations from its primary RDS instance. After you delete a database from the primary RDS instance, you must log on to the disaster recovery RDS instance and then execute SQL statements to delete the database.

Procedure

1.

2. In the **Distributed by Instance Role** section of the Basic Information page, click **Add** to the right of **DR Instance**. If you are using the original ApsaraDB RDS console, click **Add Guard** in the Distributed by Instance Role section of the Basic Information page.

Note If the preceding entry points cannot be found, you must check whether the primary RDS instance meets all prerequisites that are specified in this topic.

3. In the **Create Data Synchronization Task** wizard, configure the Database Account and Database Password parameters.

? Note

- The account must have the REPLICATION SLAVE permission, the REPLICATION CLIENT permission, and the SELECT permission on all objects that you want to synchronize.
- If you are using MySQL 5.6, you do not need to set the Database Account parameter or the Database Password parameter. You can skip this step.

4. Click Buy Instance.

Synchronization Task Name:	d]
Source Instance Details		
Instance Type:	RDS Instance 🗸	
Instance Region:	China (Hangzhou)	
* Instance ID:	rm RDS Instances of Other Apsara Stack Accounts	
* Database Account:	heili .	
* Database Password:	••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	
* Encryption:	Non-encrypted SSL-encrypted	
Destination Instance Details		
Instance Type:	RDS Instance 🗸	
Instance Region:		
* Instance ID:E	Buy Instance	

5. In the Purchase Secondary Instance for Disaster Recovery dialog box, select a region and click Purchase.

? Note

- You can specify only the region where the disaster recovery RDS instance resides. The disaster recovery RDS instance supports only the pay-as-you-go billing method. All the other settings of the disaster recovery RDS instance are the same as the settings of the primary RDS instance. After the disaster recovery RDS instance is created, you can change its specifications in the ApsaraDB RDS console.
- ApsaraDB RDS requires a few minutes to create the disaster recovery RDS instance. Do
 not close the dialog box until the disaster recovery RDS instance is created. If you close
 the dialog box before the disaster recovery RDS instance is created, the disaster
 recovery RDS instance may fail to be created.
- The billing method of the DTS synchronization link defaults to pay-as-you-go. When you create the DTS synchronization link, you cannot select the subscription billing method for the DTS synchronization link. However, after the DTS synchronization link is created, you can change the billing method of the DTS synchronization link to subscription to reduce costs. For more information, see Switch the billing method from pay-as-you-go to subscription.

*Region:	Chipa (Oing, M
Region	China (Qingi 👻
RDS Instance Billing	
Method:	Pay-As-You-Go
Configure RDS Instance:	5Storage Space (GB),8192Memory (MB), MySQL5.7
	ance for Disaster Recovery
Secondary RDS Inst	ance for Disaster Recovery
Synchronization Channel	ance for Disaster Recovery
Secondary RDS Inst Synchronization Channel Billing Method:	Pay-As-You-Go
Secondary RDS Inst Synchronization Channel Billing Method: Configure Synchronization	Pay-As-You-Go
Secondary RDS Inst Synchronization Channel Billing Method: Configure Synchronization Channel:	ance for Disaster Recovery Pay-As-You-Go small Price Details
 Secondary RDS Inst Synchronization Channel Billing Method: Configure Synchronization Channel: 	Pay-As-You-Go
Secondary RDS Inst Synchronization Channel Billing Method: Configure Synchronization Channel:	Pay-As-You-Go

6. After the disaster recovery RDS instance is created, click **Create account** next to Instance ID in the Destination Instance Details section to create a privileged account that is used to synchronize data.

? Note If you are using MySQL 5.6, a privileged account is automatically created. Therefore, you can skip this step.

Destination Instance Details		
Instance Type:	RDS Instance	~
Instance Region:	The second s	
* Instance ID:	Create account	
* Database Account:		
* Database Password:		∢ ⊳

7. In the **Create Data Synchronization Task** wizard, configure the Database Account and Database Password parameters in the Destination Instance Details section. Then, click **Set Whitelist and Next**.

? Note If you are using MySQL 5.6, click Set Whitelist and Next. Wait until the account is created. Then, click Next.

8. In the **Available** section, select the objects that you want to synchronize. Click the > icon to move the selected objects to the **Selected** section. Then, click **Next**.

Note If you want to change the names of multiple tables at a time, you can select the tables, select **Change Database and Table Names**, and then click **Advanced Settings**.

*Change Mapped Name:	O Do Not Change Database and Table Names	Change Database a	nd Table Names	
			Cancel Previous	Advanced Settings Next
Proccessing Mode In Existed Target Table:	$lace$ Pre-check and Intercept \bigcirc Ignore			
Available Expand the tree before s	you perform a glol Q	2	Selected (To edit an object name or its filter, hover over the object and click Edit.) Learn more.	Hover over the required object and click Edit. In the dialog box that appears, modify the object name of the destination database and select the columns to migrate. To ensure compatibility, we will convert uppercase database names to lowercase by default. If you need to keep uppercase, please modify them manually
Select All			Select All	
*Change Mapped Name:	Do Not Change Database a	nd Table Names	Change Database and Table Names	

9. Set the Initial Synchronization parameter and click Precheck.

Note During the Initial Synchronization process, DTS synchronizes the schemas and data of the selected objects from the primary RDS instance to the disaster recovery RDS instance. Later, DTS synchronizes the incremental data of the primary RDS instance to the disaster recovery RDS instance based on the schemas and the data. You can select the Initial Schema Synchronization option or the Initial Full Data Synchronization option. If you synchronize data for the first time, you must select both options.

Initial Synchronization: 🗹 Initial Schema Synchronization	✓ Initial Full Data Synchronization	Note: Triggers cannot be synchronized. For more information, see Reference				
			Cancel	Previous	Save	Precheck

10. View the check items. This step is required only when the precheck fails. If the precheck is successful, go to Step 14.

Click the

1

icon next to **Failed** for each failed check item to view the details about the failure. Then, troubleshoot the issues that cause the failure.

	An error occurred while pre	echecking.93%
Check Item D	escription	Result
Password Format of MySQL Database	Check whether the password format of the MySQL database is unsupported.	Successful
Source Database Version	Check the version of the source database.	Successful
Schema Name Conflict	Check whether the destination database has a schema whose name is the same as the schema of a source object.	Failed (1)
Destination Database Availability	Check whether the destination database is available.	Successful
Multiple Usernames for Dne Instance	Check whether multiple usernames are used for the same instance.	Successful

11. On the **Synchronization Tasks** page, find the created synchronization task and click **Start Task**.

0	 Pay-As-You-Go	One-Way Synchronization	Start Task	Switch to Subscription	Upgrade More

12. After you verify that the precheck is successful, click **Close**. The synchronization task starts.

	Pa	ss pre-check 100%
Check Item	Check Content	Check Result
Check source database connectivity	Check whether the data transmission server can connect to the source database	Success
Check source database connectivity	Check whether the data transmission server can connect to the source database	Success
Check source database permission	Check whether account permissions for the source database meet the requirements for migration	Success
Check target	Check whether the data transmission server	
		Next

13. On the **Synchronization Tasks** page, view and manage the synchronization task that is created. For example, you can change the objects that you want to synchronize, specify the monitoring and alerting settings, and change the synchronization speed. For more information, see What is DTS?

Note To ensure that the data on the disaster recovery RDS instance is up-to-date, do not pause the synchronization task.

FAQ

• What benefits does the disaster recovery RDS instance of my database system bring?

If the primary RDS instance and the secondary RDS instance are inaccessible due to unexpected exceptions such as natural disasters, your database system fails over to the disaster recovery RDS instance. In this case, the disaster recovery RDS instance is promoted to run as the new primary RDS instance. After you update the endpoint information on the connected application, the application immediately connects to the new primary RDS instance.

Onte Data that is written to the new primary RDS instance cannot be synchronized to the original primary RDS instance.

• Can I select the subscription billing method for disaster recovery RDS instances?

No, disaster recovery RDS instances support only the pay-as-you-go billing method.

• Why do I find an account named dtssyncwriter that I did not create?

If you are using MySQL 5.6, an account named dtssyncwriter is automatically created when you create a disaster recovery RDS instance. The dtssyncwriter account is used by DTS to synchronize data. Do not modify or delete this account. If you modify or delete this account, synchronization errors occur.

17.2. Switch an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from the disaster recovery role to the primary role

This topic describes how to switch an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from the disaster recovery role to the primary role. The disaster recovery RDS instance resides in a different region than the primary RDS instance. If both the primary and secondary RDS instances are unavailable due to natural disasters, you can switch the disaster recovery RDS instance to the primary role. Then, you must immediately update the endpoint configuration on your application. This minimizes the downtime of your database system.

Prerequisites

A disaster recovery RDS instance is created. For more information, see Create a disaster recovery ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Precautions

After the disaster recovery RDS instance is switched to the primary role, you cannot switch the instance back to the disaster recovery role.

Procedure

- 1. Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Instances**. In the top navigation bar, select the region where the disaster recovery RDS instance resides.

? Note The primary and disaster recovery RDS instances reside in different regions. You must select the region where the disaster recovery RDS instance resides.

- 3. Find the disaster recovery RDS instance and click its ID.
- 4. Click Switch to Primary Instance. In the message that appears, click OK.

Basic Information	Configure Whitelist Switch to Primary Instance Migrate Across Zones		
Instance ID: rm-	Name: rm-		
Region and ${\sf Zone} \circledast :$ China (Qingdao)ZoneB (Primary Instance Is:)	Instance Role & Edition : DR Instance(High-availability)		
Storage Type : Local SSD			
Internal Endpoint @ rm mysql.rds.aliyuncs.com	Internal Port: 3306		
Note: The IP address of the instance may change, but the endpoint remains unchanged. Use the preceding endpoint to connect to the instance.			

? Note After the switchover is complete, you must update the endpoint configuration on your application. This update requires you to replace the endpoint of the original primary RDS instance with the endpoint of the new primary RDS instance.

17.3. Billing cases for disaster recovery instances
This topic describes how to calculate fees incurred by disaster recovery instances.

You use an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL 5.6 High-availability Edition instance and select the subscription billing method. The following table describes the billing items.

Note The prices provided in this topic are for reference only. If you want to know further details about the actual prices, go to the ApsaraDB for RDS console.

Billing item	Description
Instance	The subscription fee incurred for an ApsaraDB for RDS instance. The subscription fee for a year is USD 2,400.
Storage capacity	You are charged for the storage space of the RDS instance. The billing method is subscription. It is the same as the billing method of the instance. The price is USD 0.13/GB/month. The total cost of 2,000 GB of storage space is calculated as 2,000 x 0.13 x 12=USD 3,120.

If you do not select other billing items, the total cost is calculated as 2,400+3,120=USD 5,520 per year.

In this scenario, the business has high requirements for data reliability. Geo-disaster recovery instances must be deployed to enhance data reliability. We recommend that you use the disaster recovery instance of ApsaraDB for RDS. This can be directly created based on the original ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Note For more information about how to create a disaster recovery instance, see Create a disaster recovery ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

After you purchase a disaster recovery instance, you must pay for the billing items described in the following table.

? Note The prices provided in this topic are for reference only. If you want to know further details about the actual prices, go to the ApsaraDB for RDS console.

Billing item	Description
Disaster recovery instance	The pay-as-you-go fee cost by an ApsaraDB for RDS disaster recovery instance. The specifications are the same as those for the primary instance. The pay-as-you-go price is USD 0.35/hour. The cost of a year is 0.35 x 24 x 365≈USD 3,000.
Storage capacity	You are charged for the storage space of the disaster recovery instance. The billing method is pay-as-you-go. It is the same as the billing method of the disaster recovery instance. The price is USD 0.0003/GB/hour. The total cost of 2,000 GB of storage space is calculated as 2,000 x 0.0003 x 24 x 365≈USD 5,200.

Billing item	Description
	The data of the primary instance is synchronized to the disaster recovery instance through Data Transmission Service (DTS). Therefore, you are charged based on the cost of DTS synchronization. The billing method is pay-as-you-go. The price is USD 0.349/hour. The cost of a year is 0.349 x 24 x 365≈USD3,000.
DTS synchronization	Note On the Basic Information page of the disaster recovery instance, you can click View Synchronous Job Details in the upper-left corner of the Status section to go to the DTS console and view the synchronization task details.

When you use a disaster recovery instance, the total cost of a year is calculated as 3,000+5,200+3,000=USD 11,200. Compared with user-created disaster recovery instances, ApsaraDB for RDS disaster recovery instances provide high stability and low cost for hardware and network traffic.

18.Performance optimization and diagnosis 18.1. Troubleshoot slow SQL

statements on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to troubleshoot the issues that cause slow SQL statements on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. If your business scenario remains unchanged, the architecture design and the index design affect the query performance of your RDS instance. If these designs are suitable, the query performance of your RDS instance increases. If these designs are unsuitable, some SQL statements may be executed at low speeds.

Troubleshoot slow SQL statements caused by SQL exceptions

• Cause and symptom

SQL exceptions may occur due to various issues, such as an unsuitable schema design, missing indexes, and an excessively large number of rows that need to be scanned.

You can log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console and choose **SQL Explorer and Audit** in the left-side navigation pane. Then, you can view information about the executed SQL statements. The information includes the time that is required to execute each slow SQL statement and the number of times that each slow SQL statement is executed.

• Solution

Optimize the SQL statements that you want to execute based on your business scenario. For more information, see SQL optimization.

Troubleshoot slow SQL statements caused by instance limits

• Cause and symptom

In most cases, your RDS instance reaches its maximum performance due to the following reasons:

- Your workloads continue to increase. However, the storage capacity is not scaled.
- The physical host on which your RDS instance resides ages. This decreases the performance of your RDS instance.
- The amount of data continues to increase, and the data structure changes. As a result, the speed at which ApsaraDB RDS executes some SQL statements becomes low.

You can log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console and choose **Monitoring and Alerts** in the left-side navigation pane. Then, on the **Standard Monitoring** tab, you can click **Resource Monitoring** to view the resource usage of your RDS instance. If the values of all resource usage metrics are close to 100%, your RDS instance has reached its maximum performance.

Solution

We recommend that you use SysBench to benchmark the maximum performance of your RDS instance. In most cases, the queries per second (QPS) and the transactions per second (TPS) do not exceed the maximum performance even if you run complex queries. For more information, see Test guidelines.

If your RDS instance has reached its maximum performance, we recommend that you upgrade the instance. For more information, see Change the specifications of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Troubleshoot slow SQL statements caused by version upgrades

• Cause and symptom

When you upgrade your RDS instance, the query plans for SQL statements may change. The following join types that are supported by query plans are sorted in descending order based on efficiency: system, const, eq_ref, ref, fulltext, ref_or_null, index_merge, unique_subquery, index_subquery, range, index, and all. For more information, see the official MySQL documentation.

If your application frequently resends query requests that specify range and index joins but ApsaraDB RDS processes these query requests at low speeds, a number of SQL statements are parallelized. In this case, your application releases threads at low speeds. As a result, the connections in the connection pool are depleted. This affects all the workloads on your RDS instance.

You can log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console and choose **Monitoring and Alerts** in the left-side navigation pane. Then, on the **Standard Monitoring** tab, you can click **Resource Monitoring** to view the connections to your RDS instance.

• Solution

Analyze the index usage and the number of rows that need to be scanned. The analysis is based on the specified query plans. Then, estimate query efficiency, reconstruct SQL statements, and adjust indexes based on the analysis results. This allows you to improve query efficiency. For more information, see SQL optimization.

Troubleshoot slow SQL statements caused by unsuitable parameter settings

• Cause and symptom

If the settings of the **innodb_buffer_pool_instances** and **join_buffer_size** parameters are unsuitable, ApsaraDB RDS executes SQL statements at low speeds.

You can log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console and choose **Parameters** in the left-side navigation pane. Then, on the **Edit History** tab, you can view the reconfiguration histories of these parameters.

• Solution

Reconfigure these parameters based on your business scenario.

Troubleshoot slow SQL statements caused by the expiration of cached entries

Cause and symptom

The system cache can bear a large number of queries. However, Alibaba Cloud does not guarantee a cache hit ratio of 100%. If the cached entries expire, a large number of queries are routed to your RDS instance. This decreases the query performance of your RDS instance.

You can log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console and choose **Monitoring and Alerts** in the left-side navigation pane. Then, on the **Standard Monitoring** tab, you can click **Resource Monitoring** to view the cache hit ratio, QPS, and TPS of your RDS instance.

• Solution

Use the thread pool, fast query cache, and automatic SQL throttling features to increase the query performance of your RDS instance. For more information, see Thread Pool, Fast query cache, and Automatic SQL throttling.

Troubleshoot slow SQL statements caused by batch operations

• Cause and symptom

If a large number of operations are performed to import, delete, and query data, ApsaraDB RDS executes SQL statements at low speeds.

You can identify slow SQL statements based on disk usage, SQL logs, or slow query statistics. For example, you can check the size of each binary log file. In normal cases, the size per binary log file is 500 MB. If the size of a binary log file exceeds 500 MB, you can check whether exceptions occur.

You can log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console and choose **Monitoring and Alerts** in the left-side navigation pane. Then, on the **Standard Monitoring** tab, you can click **Resource Monitoring** to view the disk usage and input/output operations per second (IOPS) of your RDS instance. On this tab, you can also click **Engine Monitoring** to view the TPS of your RDS instance.

Log_name	i≡ File_size
mysql-bin.0 '	527415321
mysql-bin.0 53	534397270
mysql-bin.0 '7	524427634
mysql-bin.07	556685340
mysql-bin.0	4297859854
mysql-bin.0	554091161
mysql-bin ^o/	704216428
mysql-bin ^ , ,	528631192
mysql-bin.007 - ;	528631192 549105886
mysql-bin.007 - :	528631192 549105886 542425738

• Solution

Perform batch operations during off-peak hours. Otherwise, split each batch operation into multiple requests and separately submit these requests.

Troubleshoot slow SQL statements caused by unclosed transactions

• Cause and symptom

If a task suddenly slows down, but the CPU utilization and IOPS usage are normal and the number of active sessions continues to increase, some transactions are not closed.

Solution

Check for locks that cause conflicts between transactions. Then, terminate the SQL statements that are included in the transactions.

Troubleshoot slow SQL statements caused by scheduled tasks

• Cause and symptom

If the loads on your RDS instance change regularly over time, scheduled tasks may be configured.



• Solution

Adjust the time when scheduled tasks are run. We recommend that you run scheduled tasks during off-peak hours.

Summary

Use the recommended features to troubleshoot the issues that cause slow SQL statements. For more information, see the following topics:

- View the resource, engine, and deployment metrics of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance
- View the slow log details of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance
- Use the SQL Explorer feature on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance
- DAS overview

18.2. Troubleshoot memory consumption issues on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to troubleshoot memory consumption issues on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Context

The memory usage and the buffer pool hit ratio are two important metrics that are used to measure the overall memory consumption of your RDS instance. If the memory usage is excessively high, the risk of memory exhaustion arises. If the buffer pool hit ratio is abnormally low, a large number of data pages that are requested cannot be hit in the buffer pool. As a result, ApsaraDB RDS needs to read data from the disk. This increases I/O operations and query latencies.

View the memory consumption

> Document Version: 20220712

The ApsaraDB RDS console provides various methods that can be used to view the memory consumption:

• Monitoring and alerting

In the left-side navigation pane, click **Monitoring and Alerts**. On the page that appears, click the **Standard Monitoring** tab. On the Standard Monitoring tab, click **Resource Monitoring** to view the memory usage, and click **Engine Monitoring** to view the buffer pool hit ratio.

• Autonomy service

In the left-side navigation pane, choose Autonomy Service > Dashboard. On the page that appears, click the Performance Trends tab. Then, you can view the MySQL CPU Utilization/Memory Usage metric and the InnoDB Buffer Pool Hit Ratio metric.

You can also use the PERFORMANCE_SCHEMA storage engine to configure memory instruments. This allows you to aggregate memory usage statistics into memory summary tables. For more information, see How MySQL Uses Memory.

- If you want to enable memory monitoring when your RDS instance is starting, add the performance_ schema = on setting to the my.cnf file. Then, restart your RDS instance. The setting immediately takes effect.
- If you want to enable memory monitoring when your RDS instance is running, run the following command:

update performance_schema.setup_instruments set enabled = 'yes' where name like 'memory%'
;

The following tables provide the memory consumption from various dimensions:

- The memory_summary_by_account_by_event_name table provides the events and event names that match a specified account. The account is specified by the combination of a user and a host.
- The memory_summary_by_host_by_event_name table provides the events and event names that match a specified host.
- The memory_summary_by_thread_by_event_name provides the events and event names that match a specified thread.
- The memory_summary_by_user_by_event_name table provides the events and event names that match a specified user.
- The memory_summary_global_by_event_name table provides the events that match a specified event name.

Common reasons for excessively high memory usage

In normal cases, the InnoDB buffer pool consumes the most memory. The maximum memory that can be consumed by the buffer pool varies based on the parameter settings of the buffer pool. In addition, most of the memory is dynamically allocated and adjusted when the requests are being processed. The memory consumption includes the memory that is consumed by in-memory temporary tables, prefetch caches, table caches, hash indexes, and row lock objects. For more information about the memory usage and parameter limits, see How MySQL Uses Memory.

Multi-statement queries

MySQL allows you to combine multiple SQL statements into a single query. These SQL statements are separated by semicolons (;) in the query and are sent to MySQL at a time. MySQL processes these SQL statements one by one. However, some memory is released only after all these SQL statements are executed.

If a large number of SQL statements are sent at a time, the accumulative memory that is consumed by various objects to execute these SQL statements significantly increases. The increase can reach up to a few hundred MB. This may exhaust the available memory for the MySQL process.

In normal cases, if a large number of SQL statements are sent at a time, you can detect a sudden increase in network traffic by using the monitoring and alerting feature or the SQL Explorer feature. We recommend that you do not run multi-statement queries.

Buffer pool issues

The data pages of all tables are stored in the buffer pool. If the requested data pages are hit in the buffer pool, ApsaraDB RDS does not perform physical I/O operations. In this case, ApsaraDB RDS executes SQL statements at high speeds. In addition, the buffer pool uses the least recently used (LRU) caching algorithm to manage the data pages. This algorithm allows the buffer pool to store all dirty pages in the flush list.

The default size of the InnoDB buffer pool is set to 75% of the memory capacity that is provided by your RDS instance.

The following common issues that are related to the buffer pool may occur:

- Data pages are not sufficiently pre-warmed. This increases query latencies. If you restart your RDS instance, read cold data, or suffer a low buffer pool hit ratio, this issue may occur. Before you upgrade your RDS instance or launch a sales promotion, we recommend that you sufficiently pre-warm data pages.
- Excessive dirty pages are accumulated. For example, a dirty page has not been updated for a long period of time. In this case, if the difference between the earliest and current log sequence numbers (LSNs) of the dirty page exceeds 76%, a user thread is triggered to synchronously update the dirty page. This significantly decreases the performance of your RDS instance. To fix this issue, you can balance the write loads, prevent excessively high throughput for write operations, reconfigure the parameters that specify how to update dirty pages, and upgrade your RDS instance.
- Your RDS instance provides a large memory capacity. However, the innodb_buffer_pool_instances parameter of your RDS instance is set to a small value. In this case, if the QPS is high, the competition for locks in the buffer pool is fierce. We recommend that you set the innodb_buffer_pool_instances parameter to 8, 16, or a larger value.

Temporary table issues

The in-memory temporary table size is limited by the tmp_table_size and max_heap_table_size parameters. If the size of an in-memory temporary table exceeds the limit, the in-memory temporary table is converted into an on-disk temporary table. If a large number of temporary tables are created over a number of connections, the memory usage of your RDS instance suddenly increases. MySQL 8.0 provides a new TempTable engine. This engine specifies that the total size of the in-memory temporary tables that are created by all threads must be smaller than the value of the temptable_max_ram parameter. The default value of this parameter is 1 GB. If the total size exceeds the value of this parameter, earlier in-memory temporary tables are converted into on-disk temporary tables.

Other issues

If an excessively large number of tables are created on your RDS instance or the QPS is high, the table cache may consume a specific amount of memory. We recommend that you do not create a large number of tables. Otherwise, we recommend that you do not set the table_open_cache parameter to a large value.

The default memory consumption for adaptive hash indexes is set to 1/64 of the buffer pool size. If you query or write large fields of the binary large object (BLOB) data type, memory is dynamically allocated to these large fields. This also increases the memory usage of your RDS instance.

The memory usage of your RDS instance may increase due to a number of other issues. If the memory usage abnormally increases or the memory is exhausted, see How MySQL Uses Memory or submit a .

18.3. Troubleshoot storage issues on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to troubleshoot storage issues on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. Storage usage is an important metric that is used to measure the performance of your RDS instance. If the available storage space is insufficient, your RDS instance may encounter serious issues. For example, data writes or backups fail, and the time that is required for a storage expansion task is abnormally long.

View the storage usage

• Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console and go to the **Basic Information** page. In the Usage Statistics section of the page, view the overall storage usage of your RDS instance. The Usage Statistics section does not provide the current or historical storage usage for various data types.

Usage Statistics			
Storage Capacity 🔞	Used 3.27G (In total 20G)	Backup Size 🙆	Data 0.00K, Archive backup 0.00K, Log 1.70M(The total amount is free of charge within 10240 M)View Details
Log Size 🕜	0.00K View Details		

• Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console and go to the **Monitoring and Alerts** page. On the **Standard Monitoring** tab of the page, click **Resource Monitoring**. Then, view the current and historical storage usage for various data types.

Space (MB)			
4000			
3000			
2000	Mar 24, 2021, 10:16:00		
	Instance Size 3349.06		
	Data Usage 135.89		
	Temporary File Size 0.01		
1000	Other System File Size 3212.02		
0			
lar 24, 2021, 10:06:00	Mar 24, 2021, 10:18:00 Mar 24, 2021, 10:30:00	Mar 24, 2021, 10:42:00	Mar 24, 2021, 11

🔹 Instance Size 🔹 Data Usage 🔹 Log Size 🔹 Temporary File Size 🔹 Other System File S

Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console. In the left-side navigation pane, choose Autonomy Service > Diagnostics. On the page that appears, click the Storage Analysis tab. Then, view further details about the storage usage of your RDS instance. These details include the storage usage comparison between data and logs, the storage usage trend, the storage usage for top databases, and the storage usage for top tablespaces.

RDS MySQL Dat abase · Performance

ApsaraDB for RDS

ntim	לב קו	inn	and	dia	anoc	IC
	izat	1011	anu	uiu	gnos	D

Diagnostics Autonomy Center Session Man	agement Real-time Monitoring Storage Ana	Ilysis Capacity Assessment Deadlock Analys	Performance Insight Exceptional Events in Last Day(0)	
① Storage analysis supports up to 20,000 tables. If storage data is missin	ng, the account does not have the corresponding database or table permis	sions or there are too many tables. Re-authorize	×	
The analysis results that exist in 24 hours are used by default, and the curren	nt analysis time is Mar 24, 2021, 11:07:56		Re-analyze	
Storage Overview Data Space				
Storage				
0 Exception®	50.00 MB Avg Daily Increase in Last Week $\ensuremath{\mathfrak{D}}$	90+ Available Days of Storage® Available Storage16,73.08	3.27 GB Used Storage Tetal Storage20.00 GB	
Exceptions (The instance is notDAS Professional Edition, Unable	to enableAutomatic Space Optimization)			
Table/Collection Name (Click to View)	Database Name	Exception	Start Time	
	No storage e	xceptions found		
Storage Trend (Data of Last Week)				
			Search Export Description	
Tablespaces				
① Note: The data is based on the statistics of information_schema.tables	and may be inaccurate.		×	
Table Name (Click to View) J↑ Database Name Jト St	torage Engine ↓↑ Table Storage ↓↑ Table Storage ↓↑ Percent	torage ige ∫î Data Space Jî	Fragmentation Percentage ⑦ J↑ Table Rows J↑ Avg Row Size J↑	
	No table information			

? Note

- In the **Tablespaces** section, you can view the data storage usage, index storage usage, and available storage space of a specific tablespace. The available storage space is the amount of unused storage space that is allocated to the tablespace.
- The storage usage is obtained from the statistics of INFORMATION_SCHEMA tables and may be inaccurate.
- Log on to a specified database. Then, run the show table status like '<The name of a table>'; command to view the storage usage for the specified table.

Troubleshoot out-of-space conditions caused by excessive indexes

• Symptom

In most cases, a table contains primary key indexes and secondary indexes. More secondary indexes indicate higher storage usage for the table.

• Solution

Optimize the data structure of the table to reduce secondary indexes.

Troubleshoot out-of-space conditions caused by large fields

• Symptom

If large fields of the binary large object (BLOB), TEXT, or VARCHAR data type are defined in the schema of a table, the table occupies a large amount of storage space.

Solution

Compress data before you insert the data into the table.

Troubleshoot out-of-space conditions caused by excessive idle tablespaces

• Symptom

The fragmentation ratio of an InnoDB table is high. This results in an excessive number of idle tablespaces. InnoDB manages tablespaces by page. If some records of a full page are deleted and no new records are inserted into the positions from which these records are deleted, a large number of tablespaces are idle.

• Solution

Run the show table status like '<The name of the table>'; command to query the idle tablespaces that store the data of the table. If an excessively large number of tablespaces are idle, run the optimize table <The name of the table>; command to manage the tablespaces.

Troubleshoot out-of-space conditions caused by excessively large temporary tables

- Symptom
 - When you perform a semi-join, distinct, or sort operation on a table, a temporary table is created. The sort operation does not use an index. If the temporary table contains an excessive amount of data, the storage usage for the temporary table may be excessively high.
 - When you perform data definition language (DDL) statements to rebuild tablespaces, the temporary table that is generated from an index-based sort operation is large. This applies if the tablespaces are used to store the data of a large table. If your RDS instance runs MySQL 5.6 or MySQL 5.7, you cannot immediately add fields. Some DDL statements can be executed only on new tables. If you send requests to execute these DDL statements on a table, ApsaraDB creates a new table and executes these DDL statements on the new table. The new table is a replica of the original table. Therefore, you can find two file replicas when these DDL statements are being executed. After these DDL statements are executed, the original table is deleted.
- Solution
 - View the plans based on which the DDL statements are executed. This allows you to check whether the **Using Temporary** field is specified.
 - Before you execute DDL statements on large tables, check whether your RDS instance provides sufficient storage space. If the available storage space is insufficient, scale the storage capacity of your RDS instance. For more information, see Change the specifications of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Optimize the storage usage

- Enable the automatic space debris recycling feature. This feature allows your primary RDS instance to automatically execute OPTIMIZE TABLE statements. These statements are used to recycle fragments from tablespaces. For more information, see Automatic tablespace fragment recycling.
- Use standard or enhanced SSDs. These types of SSDs provide a larger storage capacity than local SSDs. For more information, see Storage types.
- Use the X-Engine storage engine. X-Engine supports a high compression ratio. For more information, see X-Engine overview.
- Use PolarDB. PolarDB is based on a distributed storage system. It provides a large storage capacity that can be automatically scaled. The combination of PolarDB Archive Database and X-Engine significantly reduces the storage usage for various data types. For more information, see PolarDB

overview.

- If your RDS instance is equipped with standard or enhanced SSDs, enable the automatic storage expansion feature. This feature prevents your RDS instance from being locked due to insufficient storage space. For more information, see Configure automatic storage expansion for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- Use AnalyticDB for MySQL. For more information, see What is AnalyticDB for MySQL?

18.4. Troubleshoot high I/O on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to troubleshoot the issues that cause high I/O on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. The I/O performance of your RDS instance varies based on three factors. These factors are the storage media, the database engine architecture, and the SQL statements that are executed to scan or modify a specific amount of data.

Storage media

ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL supports the following types of storage media:

Local SSD

Local SSDs deliver the lowest I/O latency among the supported types of storage media. However, the storage capacity that is provided by local SSDs is limited. If the local SSDs that are configured for your RDS instance cannot accommodate an increasing amount of data, you must migrate the instance to another suitable host. The migration is time-consuming. In addition, the migration triggers a switchover of your workloads, and the switchover causes a transient connection error.

Cloud SSDs

Cloud SSDs include standard SSDs and enhanced SSDs. Cloud SSDs use a distributed storage mechanism and deliver higher cost-effectiveness and larger storage capacity than local SSDs. In addition, cloud SSDs allow you to scale the storage capacity without the need to migrate data.

For more information about the different types of storage media, see Storage types.

Troubleshoot high I/O caused by high throughput

• Symptom

If your application frequently initiates requests to update, delete, and insert data on tables, the I/O of your RDS instance significantly increases due to the data reads and the flushes of dirty pages. This applies if the tables contain a large number of indexes or large fields.

You can log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console and choose **Autonomy Service > Dashboard** in the left-side navigation pane. Then, on the **Performance Trends** tab, you can view the read and write loads on your RDS instance.

• Solution

We recommend that you reduce the read and write frequency, upgrade your RDS instance, or optimize the settings of the parameters that are used to flush dirty pages. The following parameters are used to flush dirty pages:

 innodb_max_dirty_pages_pct: the percentage of dirty pages that are allowed in the buffer pool. Default value: 75. • innodb_max_dirty_pages_pct_lwm: the low water mark for the percentage of dirty pages that are allowed in the buffer pool. If the percentage of dirty pages in the buffer pool exceeds the low water mark, ApsaraDB RDS flushes dirty pages to the disk. This ensures a proper percentage of dirty pages in the buffer pool. The default value 0 specifies to disable the low water mark.

Note The value of the innodb_max_dirty_pages_pct_lwm parameter must be less than or equal to the value of the innodb_max_dirty_pages_pct parameter. Otherwise, ApsaraDB RDS sets the innodb_max_dirty_pages_pct_lwm parameter to the value of the innodb_max_dirty_pages_pct parameter.

- innodb_io_capacity: the maximum number of I/O operations that are allowed by InnoDB per second for each background task. The value of this parameter affects the speed at which ApsaraDB RDS flushes dirty pages to the disk. The value of this parameter also affects the speed at which ApsaraDB RDS writes data to the buffer pool. The default value of this parameter is 20000.
- innodb_io_capacity_max: the maximum number of I/O operations that are allowed by InnoDB per second for each background task. This parameter takes effect only when the flushes of dirty pages are outdated. The value of this parameter is greater than the value of the innodb_io_capacity parameter. The default value of the innodb_io_capacity_max parameter is 40000.

Troubleshoot high I/O caused by temporary tables

• Symptom

If the temporary directory is large, ApsaraDB RDS may have created large temporary tables due to operations such as the sorting and deduplication of slow SQL statements. This increases the I/O of your RDS instance. In addition, data writes to temporary tables also increase the I/O of your RDS instance.

You can log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console and choose **Autonomy Service > Dashboard** in the left-side navigation pane. Then, on the **Performance Trends** tab, you can view the size of the tmp or other directory for your RDS instance.

• Solution

We recommend that you optimize the SQL statements that you want to execute. This allows you to prevent slow SQL statements. The autonomy service of ApsaraDB RDS supports SQL optimization. For more information, see SQL optimization.

Troubleshoot high I/O caused by cold data reads

• Symptom

If the data that is queried or modified by using SQL statements cannot be hit in the buffer pool, ApsaraDB RDS needs to read the data from the disk. This may significantly increase the I/O of your RDS instance.

You can log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console and choose **Autonomy Service > Dashboard** in the left-side navigation pane. Then, on the **Performance Trends** tab, you can view the buffer pool hit ratio of your RDS instance.

• Solution

Redesign the cache policy based on your business scenario. Otherwise, upgrade your RDS instance.

Troubleshoot high I/O caused by DDL statements

• Symptom

If your application initiates data definition language (DDL) statements, ApsaraDB RDS may rebuild the tablespaces of your RDS instance. During the rebuild process, ApsaraDB RDS scans each row of each table in the tablespaces, creates indexes that are used to sort data, and flushes the dirty pages generated from new tables. All these operations significantly increase the I/O of your RDS instance. If your application initiates requests to delete large tables, the I/O of your RDS instance may also increase.

You can log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console and choose **Monitoring and Alerts** in the left-side navigation pane. Then, on the **Standard Monitoring** tab, you can click **Resource Monitoring** to view the disk usage and input/output operations per second (IOPS) of your RDS instance.

Solution

Use the Purge Large File Asynchronously feature to delete large files. This feature is provided by AliSQL. AliSQL is a MySQL branch that is developed by Alibaba Cloud. For more information, see Purge Large File Asynchronously.

Troubleshoot high I/O caused by binary log writes from large transactions

• Symptom

A transaction writes log records into binary log files only when it is committed. If your application runs a large transaction, the transaction may write a few dozen GB of data into binary log files. For example, the transaction contains a DELETE statement that is used to delete a large number of rows. When these binary log files are flushed to the disk, the I/O of your RDS instance significantly increases.

Solution

We recommend that you split each large transaction that you want to run. This allows you to reduce the flushes of dirty pages to the disk.

Appendix: Introduction to the InnoDB I/O system

InnoDB uses an independent I/O system to read and write data pages. If the data page that is requested by an SQL statement cannot be hit in the buffer pool, physical I/O operations are performed to read and write data to the disk.

• Operations to read data pages

The underlying read interface is called based on synchronous I/O to read data pages.

• Operations to write data pages

Use the flushes of dirty pages as an example. Background I/O threads are called based on asynchronous I/O to asynchronously flush dirty pages to the disk.

In addition to I/O operations on common data files, a number of other operations may also significantly increase the I/O of your RDS instance. These operations include the operations to write redo logs, undo logs, and binary logs, the operations to sort temporary tables, and the operations to rebuild tablespaces due to DDL statements.

18.5. Troubleshoot excessive active threads on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to troubleshoot the issues that cause excessive active threads on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Context

The number of active threads or the number of active connections is an important metric that is used to measure the loads on your RDS instance. In most cases, the number is less than 10 if your RDS instance is healthy, and may increase to 20 to 30 if your RDS instance provides high specifications and high queries per second (QPS). If the number exceeds 100, the speed at which your RDS instance responds to queries is low due to an SQL query pile-up. In severe cases, your RDS instance does not respond and stops processing SQL queries.

View the number of active threads

The ApsaraDB RDS console provides various methods that can be used to view the number of active threads:

• Monitoring and alerting

In the left-side navigation pane, click **Monitoring and Alerts**. On the page that appears, click the **Standard Monitoring** tab. On the Standard Monitoring tab, click **Engine Monitoring**. Then, you can view the number of active threads.

• Autonomy service

In the left-side navigation pane, choose **Autonomy Service > Dashboard**. On the page that appears, click the **Performance Trends** tab. Then, you can view the number of active threads. If the number is excessively high, some sessions are blocked.

Troubleshoot piled-up slow SQL queries

• Symptom

If the number of active threads is excessively high, you can execute the SHOW PROCESSLIST statement to check for slow SQL queries. If a large number of SQL queries require ApsaraDB RDS to scan an excessively large number of rows, the number of active threads may increase.

In the left-side navigation pane, choose **Autonomy Service > Diagnostics**. On the page that appears, click the **Session Management** tab. Then, you can view the SQL queries that are in progress.

Solution

Enable the SQL throttling feature or terminate sessions. This mitigates the impact of slow SQL queries. For more information, see SQL throttling.

Troubleshoot table cache issues

• Symptom

If your RDS instance implements excessively high QPS or processes a large number of tables, a large number of SQL queries switch to the Opening table state due to an insufficient table cache size.

• Solution

Increase the values of the table_open_cache and table_open_cache_instances parameters. The reconfiguration of the table_open_cache parameter does not require a restart of your RDS instance. However, the reconfiguration of the table_open_cache_instances parameter requires a restart of your RDS instance.

Troubleshoot metadata locking issues

• Symptom

In the Prepare and Commit phases, data definition language (DDL) statements need to acquire metadata locks on tables. If the tables are involved in uncommitted transactions or slow SQL queries, these DDL statements are blocked. This in turn blocks more SQL queries. All the blocked SQL queries switch to the Waiting for table metadata lock state. As a result, the number of active threads increases.

Solution

Abort all the uncommitted transactions, slow SQL queries, and ongoing DDL statements.

Troubleshoot row lock conflicts

Symptom

If the values of the Innodb_row_lock_waits and Innodb_row_lock_time metrics are abnormally large, row lock conflicts may occur.

In the left-side navigation pane, choose **Autonomy Service > Dashboard**. On the page that appears, click the **Performance Trends** tab. Then, you can view the metrics in the **RowLock** section.

• Solution

Execute the SHOW ENGINE INNODE STATUS statement to check whether a large number of sessions are in the Lock wait state. If a large number of sessions are in the Lock wait state, severe row lock conflicts may occur. In this case, mitigate row lock conflicts by using all the suggested methods. For example, you can optimize hot data updates, reduce transaction sizes, and reduce the time that is required to commit transactions.

18.6. DAS overview

Database Autonomy Service (DAS) is a cloud service that uses machine learning and expert experience to automate perception, healing, optimization, operations and maintenance (O&M), and security for databases. It simplifies database management and eliminates service failures that may be caused by manual operations. This allows you to ensure the stability, security, and efficiency of your database service.

Features

In ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL, DAS provides the following features:

• Diagnostics

You can diagnose your RDS instance and view the diagnostic results.

• Autonomy center

You can specify a time range and view events such as exception, optimization, and auto scaling over the specified time range. If DAS detects exceptions on crucial metrics, it diagnoses the related sessions, SQL statements, and storage capacity to identify possible causes. DAS also provides optimization or mitigation suggestions. After you confirm the suggestions, DAS implements the suggestions to resolve the exceptions.

Session management

You can view sessions, collect session statistics, analyze SQL statements, and optimize the execution of SQL statements.

• Real-time monitoring

You can view the real-time monitoring information of your RDS instance. The monitoring information includes the queries per second (QPS), transactions per second (TPS), number of connections, and network traffic.

• Storage analysis

You can view the storage usage, trend, exceptions, tablespaces, and data spaces of your RDS instance.

• Capacity assessment

You can view the capacity suggestions, performance capacity, storage usage, and remaining time of your RDS instance. In addition, this feature can use machine learning and capacity algorithms to predict storage usage.

- Deadlock analysis
- Performance insight

You can evaluate the loads of your RDS instance and locate the root causes of performance issues. This allows you to improve the stability of your RDS instance.

• Dashboard

You can view and compare performance trends, customize monitoring dashboards, view exception diagnostic results, and view instance topologies.

• Slow query logs

You can view the trends and statistics of slow queries.

• Full SQL statistics

You can view and compare the number of execution times, execution duration, and execution duration distribution of each SQL statement over a specific time range. This allows you to identify problem SQL statements.

• Report

This feature supports automatic and manual diagnostics of your RDS instance. In addition, you can view the diagnostic results, such as the instance health, alerts, and slow query logs.

18.7. Diagnostics

18.7.1. Diagnostics

In ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL, DAS provides the diagnostics feature. This feature diagnoses your ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance and visualizes the results.

Prerequisites

Your RDS instance runs one of the following MySQL versions and RDS editions:

- MySQL 8.0 on RDS High-availability or Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 5.7 on RDS High-availability or Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 5.6 on RDS High-availability Edition
- MySQL 5.5 on RDS High-availability Edition

Open the Diagnostics page

- 1.
- In the left-side navigation pane, choose Database Autonomy Service (CloudDBA) > Diagnostics.
- 3. Click the **Diagnostics** tab.



Onte For more information, see Diagnostics.

18.7.2. Autonomy center

In ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL, DAS provides the autonomy center feature. If DAS detects an exception on core metrics, it automatically diagnoses sessions, SQL statements, and database capacity to identify possible causes. DAS also provides optimization and mitigation suggestions. However, DAS does not implement the suggestions until you grant it permissions.

Prerequisites

Your RDS instance runs one of the following MySQL versions and RDS editions:

- MySQL 8.0 on RDS High-availability or Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 5.7 on RDS High-availability or Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 5.6 on RDS High-availability Edition
- MySQL 5.5 on RDS High-availability Edition

Open the Autonomy Center page

- 1.
- In the left-side navigation pane, choose Database Autonomy Service (CloudDBA) > Diagnostics.
- 3. Click the Autonomy Center tab.

Diagnostics	Autonomy Center	Session Man	agement Real-time Monitorin	g
Autonomy C	enter (Documentation)(Current a	normaly will be detected w	vithin five minutes.)	
⑦ Note	For more information, se	e Autonomy center	r.	

18.7.3. Session management

Database Autonomy Service (DAS) provides the session management feature. This feature allows you to view and manage the sessions of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Prerequisites

Your RDS instance runs one of the following MySQL versions and RDS editions:

- MySQL 8.0 on RDS High-availability or Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 5.7 on RDS High-availability or Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 5.6 on RDS High-availability Edition
- MySQL 5.5 on RDS High-availability Edition

Navigate to the Session Management tab

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, choose Database Autonomy Service (CloudDBA) > Diagnostics.
- 3. Click the Session Management tab.



18.7.4. Real-time monitoring

This topic describes the real-time monitoring feature. Database Autonomy Service (DAS) provides the real-time monitoring feature for ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances. This feature allows you to view the real-time performance of your RDS instance.

Prerequisites

Your RDS instance runs one of the following MySQL versions and RDS editions:

- MySQL 8.0 on RDS High-availability or Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 5.7 on RDS High-availability or Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 5.6 on RDS High-availability Edition

• MySQL 5.5 on RDS High-availability Edition

Open the Real-time Monitoring tab

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, choose Database Autonomy Service (CloudDBA) > Diagnostics.
- 3. Click the Real-time Monitoring tab.

Session Mar	nagement		Real-time Monitoring	Storage Analysis
⑦ Note	For more	infor	mation, see Real-time	e monitoring.

18.7.5. Storage analysis

Database Autonomy Service (DAS) provides the storage analysis feature. This feature helps you identify and resolve storage exceptions at the earliest opportunity to ensure the stability of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Prerequisites

Your RDS instance runs one of the following MySQL versions and RDS editions:

- MySQL 8.0 on RDS High-availability or Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 5.7 on RDS High-availability or Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 5.6 on RDS High-availability Edition
- MySQL 5.5 on RDS High-availability Edition

Context

The storage analysis feature allows you to view the disk usage of your RDS instance, the number of remaining days for which disk space is available, and the storage usage, fragmentation, and exception diagnostic results of a table.

Navigate to the Storage Analysis tab

- 1.
- In the left-side navigation pane, choose Database Autonomy Service (CloudDBA) > Diagnostics.
- 3. Click the Storage Analysis tab.

Real-time Monitoring	Storage Analysis	Capacity Assessment
not have the corresponding database	e or table permissions or	there are too many tables. Re-authorize

Onte For more information, see Storage analysis.

18.7.6. Capacity assessment

In ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL, DAS provides the capacity assessment feature. This feature allows you to view capacity suggestions, performance capacity, storage usage, and the service time of available storage. It also uses machine learning and capacity algorithms to forecast storage usage.

Prerequisites

Your RDS instance runs one of the following MySQL versions and RDS editions:

- MySQL 8.0 on RDS High-availability or Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 5.7 on RDS High-availability or Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 5.6 on RDS High-availability Edition
- MySQL 5.5 on RDS High-availability Edition

Open the Capacity Assessment page

- 1.
- In the left-side navigation pane, choose Database Autonomy Service (CloudDBA) > Diagnostics.
- 3. Click the Capacity Assessment tab.

Storage Analysis	Capacity Assessment	Deadlock Analysis

18.7.7. Deadlock analysis

In ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL, DAS provides the deadlock analysis feature. This feature allows you to view and analyze the last deadlock in a database.

Prerequisites

Your RDS instance runs one of the following MySQL versions and RDS editions:

- MySQL 8.0 on RDS High-availability or Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 5.7 on RDS High-availability or Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 5.6 on RDS High-availability Edition
- MySQL 5.5 on RDS High-availability Edition

Open the Deadlock Analysis page

1.

 In the left-side navigation pane, choose Database Autonomy Service (CloudDBA) > Diagnostics. 3. Click the Deadlock Analysis tab.

Capacity Assessment	Deadlock Analysis Performance Insig	ht
? Note For more	information, see Deadlock analysis.	

18.7.8. Performance insight

This topic describes the performance insight feature of Database Autonomy Service (DAS) in ApsaraDB RDS. This feature offers instance-level load monitoring, association analysis, and performance optimization. It helps you evaluate the loads on your RDS instance and troubleshoot performance issues to make your RDS instance more stable.

Prerequisites

Your RDS instance runs one of the following MySQL versions and RDS editions:

- MySQL 8.0 on RDS High-availability or Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 5.7 on RDS High-availability or Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 5.6 on RDS High-availability Edition
- MySQL 5.5 on RDS High-availability Edition

Open the Performance Insight page

- 1.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, choose **Autonomy Service > Diagnostics**.
- 3. On the page that appears, click the **Performance Insight** tab.

Onte For more information, see Performance insight.

18.8. Dashboard

DAS provides the dashboard function. This function allows you to view performance trends in multiple ways. In addition to the performance trend interval, DAS also supports performance trend comparison and custom performance trend viewing.

Prerequisites

Your RDS instance runs one of the following MySQL versions and RDS editions:

- MySQL 8.0 on RDS High-availability or Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 5.7 on RDS High-availability or Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 5.6 on RDS High-availability Edition
- MySQL 5.5 on RDS High-availability Edition

Go to the dashboard page

1.

2. In the left-side navigation pane, choose Autonomy Service > Dashboard.

⑦ Note For more information, see Performance trends.

18.9. Slow query logs

In ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL, Database Autonomy Service (DAS) provides the slow log analysis feature. This feature allows you to view the trends and execution details of slow queries that are run on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance and obtain the optimization suggestions for the RDS instance.

Prerequisites

Your RDS instance runs one of the following MySQL versions and RDS editions:

- MySQL 8.0 on RDS High-availability or Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 5.7 on RDS High-availability or Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 5.6 on RDS High-availability Edition
- MySQL 5.5 on RDS High-availability Edition

Open the Slow Query Logs page

- 1.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, choose **Autonomy Service > Slow Query Logs**.

Onte For more information, see Slow query log analysis.

18.10. Use the SQL Explorer and Audit feature on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to use the SQL Explorer and Audit feature on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. This feature is developed based on the full request feature and the SQL Audit feature. In addition, this feature is integrated with the following four features: Search, SQL Explorer, Security Audit, and Traffic Playback and Stress Test. This feature helps you obtain information about the SQL statements that are executed. You can use the information to troubleshoot various performance issues and identify the sources of high risks.

Prerequisites

- Dat abase Autonomy Service (DAS) Professional Edition is purchased within your Alibaba Cloud account. For more information about how to purchase DAS Professional Edition, see Purchase DAS Professional Edition.
- •
- •

Billing

For more information, see Usage notes on DAS Professional Edition.

(?) Note After the SQL Explorer and Audit feature is enabled, the fees that you must pay for the original SQL Explorer feature are billed to DAS Professional Edition. The fees are no longer billed to your RDS instance. For more information, see Use the SQL Explorer feature on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Introduction

- The Search feature is used to query and export the SQL statements that are executed and the information about the SQL statements. The information includes the database, status, and execution duration of each SQL statement. For more information, see the "Use the Search feature" section of this topic.
- The SQL Explorer feature is used to diagnose the health statuses of SQL statements, troubleshoot performance issues, and analyze business traffic. For more information, see the "Use the SQL Explorer feature" section of this topic.
- The Security Audit feature is used to identify risks, such as high-risk SQL statements, SQL injection attacks, and new access sources. For more information, see the "Use the SQL audit feature" section of this topic.
- The Traffic Playback and Stress Test feature supports traffic playback and stress testing. You can use this feature to check whether you need to upgrade your RDS instance to handle traffic spikes during peak hours. For more information, see the "Use the Traffic Playback and Stress Test feature" section of this topic.

Enable the SQL Explorer and Audit feature

- 1.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, choose Autonomy Service > SQL Explorer and Audit.
- 3. On the page that appears, click **Enable**. In the dialog box that appears, click **Enable Professional Edition**.

(?) Note If the SQL Explorer feature is enabled for the RDS instance, you can directly click Enable Professional Edition in the dialog box to purchase DAS Professional Edition. For more information about the SQL Explorer feature, see Use the SQL Explorer feature on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Use the Search feature

- 1.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, choose Autonomy Service > SQL Explorer and Audit.
- 3. On the page that appears, click the Search tab and specify query criteria.

Note If you want to specify multiple query criteria to narrow the search scope, you can click **Enable Advanced Query**.

4. Click Query. Then, you can view the search results in the Logs section.

? Note You can click Export in the upper-right corner of the Logs section, specify Exported Fields, specify Export Time Range, and then click OK to export the log data that is displayed.

Use the SQL Explorer feature

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, choose Autonomy Service > SQL Explorer and Audit.
- 3. On the page that appears, click the SQL Explorer tab. Then, you can view the health statuses of the SQL statements that are executed and can troubleshoot performance issues based on the obtained information. For more information about the SQL Explorer feature, see SQL Explorer.

Use the SQL Audit feature

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, choose Autonomy Service > SQL Explorer and Audit.
- 3. On the page that appears, click the **Security Audit** tab. Then, you can identify high-risk SQL statements, SQL injection attacks, and new access sources. For more information about the **Security Audit** feature, see Security audit.

Use the Traffic Playback and Stress Test feature

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, choose Autonomy Service > SQL Explorer and Audit.
- 3. On the page that appears, click the **Traffic Playback and Stress Test** tab. Then, you can view the information about traffic and stress testing.

18.11. Report

DAS provides the RDS for MySQL report function, allowing you to create and view diagnostic reports.

Prerequisites

Your RDS instance runs one of the following MySQL versions and RDS editions:

- MySQL 8.0 on RDS High-availability or Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 5.7 on RDS High-availability or Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 5.6 on RDS High-availability Edition
- MySQL 5.5 on RDS High-availability Edition

Go to the reports page

1.

2. In the left-side navigation pane, choose Autonomy Service > Report.

ONOTE For more information, see Diagnostic Report.

18.12. Use the inspection and scoring feature

Database Autonomy Service (DAS) provides the inspection and scoring feature for ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL. You can use the feature to inspect and score all RDS instances on a daily basis. DAS allows you to specify RDS instances and inspection periods and manually initiate inspection and scoring. This helps you understand the status of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances.

Prerequisites

DAS provides the inspection and scoring feature only for the following types of RDS instances:

- MySQL 8.0 on RDS High-availability or Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 5.7 on RDS High-availability or Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 5.6 on RDS High-availability Edition
- MySQL 5.5 on RDS High-availability Edition

Note DAS provides the inspection and scoring feature for ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL from May 20, 2022.

Procedure

- 1. Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Performance Center**.
- 3. On the Performance Center page, click the Inspection and Scoring tab.
- 4. On the **Inspection and Scoring** tab, perform the following operations based on your business requirements:
 - Enable automatic inspection and scoring

Perform the following operations the first time that you enable the feature: Click **Enable**. In the **Configure Inspection and Scoring** dialog box, configure the Select Engine parameter and click **OK**.

Note After you enable this feature, the system scores each connected RDS instance once every day.

- Manually initiate inspection and scoring
 - a. On the Inspection and Scoring tab, click Start Inspection.
 - b. In the Select Instances section of the Instance Inspection dialog box, select one or more RDS instances in the Available Instances section and click the > icon to add the selected instances to the Selected Instances section.

c. In the **Inspection Time** section, specify a time range.

(?) Note The start time of an inspection cannot be later than the current time. The minimum interval between the start time and the end time is 1 hour, and the maximum interval is 24 hours.

d. Click Confirm.

Available Instances Q Instance ID/Alias Q Instance ID/Alias Q Instance ID/Alias Not Found 108.1 tems 108.1 tems	lect Instances		
Q Instance ID/Alias Q Instance ID/Alias Q Instance ID/Alias Not Found 163 Items 163 Items	Available Instances	Se	lected instances
Image: state stat	Q Instance ID/Alias	0	Instance ID/Alias
Image: state	1 (0) (0) (0) (0) (0) (0) (0) (0) (0) (0)		
Image: Not Found Image: Not Found Image: Not Found			
Image: Not Found Image: Not Found Image: Not Found Image: Not Found			
Image: Not Found Imag	1. (1997) 100 (1997)	>	
1/63.ltems	and the second	<	Not Found
1 / 1 / 2 / 2 / 2 / 2 / 2 / 2 / 2 / 2 /	1		
1/63.ltems	and the second		
1/63.ltems 0 tem	to specify the trade of the tra		
1/63 Items 0 Item			
1/63 Items 0 Item			
	1/63 Items		0 Item
NUTLING AND A DE LOT ANNO AND	2022-06-08 09:47:50 ~ 2022-06-08 10:47:50		
2022-06-08.09.47-50 ~ 2022-06-08.10.47-50 =			

• View the inspection and scoring results

After you enable the inspection and scoring feature, you can search for an RDS instance by name or alias to view the inspection and scoring results within a specific time period.

- You can click **Delete** in the **Actions** column of the required RDS instance to delete the results.
- You can click **Deduction Details** in the **Actions** column of the required RDS instance to view the deduction details in the **Deduction Details** dialog box.
- You can click **Report** in the **Actions** column of the required RDS instance to view the scoring report details in the **Scoring Report** dialog box.
- You can click the ID of the required RDS instance to view the performance trend of the RDS instance on the Performance Trends tab. For more information, see Performance trends.
- You can click the 👤 icon to download the inspection and scoring results to your computer.

Scoring rules

Deduction item	Description	Sub-it em	Condition	Deducted point
----------------	-------------	-----------	-----------	----------------

Deduction item	Description	Sub-item	Condition	Deducted point
	The average daily CPU utilization. If	Warning	70% ≤ cpuUsage ≤ 80%	1 + (cpuUsage - 0.7) × 20
CPU Utilization (cpuUsage)	has multiple CPU cores, the system calculates the CPU utilization of each core and then calculates the average CPU utilization of all cores.	Critical	cpuUsage ≥ 80%	min[3 + (cpuUsage - 0.8) × 30,10]
Memory Usage	The average daily	Warning	80% ≤ memUsage ≤ 90%	1 - (memUsage - 0.8) × 20
(memUsage)	memory usage.	Critical	memUsage > 0.9	min[(memUsage - 0.9) × 50,10]
	The storage usage is	Available days	availableDays ≤ 30	15 - availableDays/3
using the following Space Usage formula: Stora usage = Avera used storage during a day/Total stor × 100%	using the following formula: Storage usage = Average used storage during a day/Total storage × 100%	Number of large tables	bigTableCount > 0	min(bigTableCoun t,15)
		Warning	70% ≤ connectionRate ≤ 80%	1
Connection Usage (connectionRate)	The connection usage is calculated by using the following formula: Connection usage = Average number of connections during a day/Maximum number of connections allowed at a point in time × 100%	Critical	connectionRate > 80%	3

RDS MySQL Dat abase • Performance optimization and diagnosis

Deduction item	Description	Sub-item	Condition	Deducted point
	The IOPS usage is calculated by	Warning	70% < iopsUsage < 90%	3
lOPS Usage (iopsUsage)	following formula: IOPS usage = Average IOPS during a day/Maximum IOPS allowed × 100%	Critical	iopsUsage > 90%	5
Active Sessions	The number of active sessions	Warning	threadRunning > min(2 × cpuCores + 8,64)	3
(threadRunning)	generated in a day.	Critical	threadRunning > min(4 × cpuCores + 8,96)	9
	The number of SQL statements that cause slow queries in a day.	Detected	0 < slowSqlCount < 100	1 + (slowSqlCount - 10)/30
Slow SQL Statements (slowSqlCount)		Warning	100 ≤ slowSqlCount < 500	4 + (slowSqlCount - 100)/30
		Critical	slowSqlCount ≥ 500	min[18 + (slowSqlCount - 50)/30,30)]
	The number of high-risk SQL	High-risk SQL statements	riskSqlCount > 0	min(riskSqlCount,5)
(sqllnjectionCount)	the number of SQL injection attacks.	SQL injection attacks	sqlInjectionCount > 0	Min(sqlInjectionCo unt,5)
Deadlock	Indicates whether a deadlock occurs during a day.	Detected	Detected	3

18.13. Use the monitoring dashboard feature

Database Autonomy Service (DAS) provides the monitoring dashboard feature for ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL. DAS allows you to specify RDS instances and metrics to monitor and compare the metrics of the RDS instances. You can also configure metric linkage. This helps you understand the status of ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances.

Prerequisites

DAS provides the monitoring dashboard feature only for the following types of RDS instances:

- MySQL 8.0 on RDS High-availability or Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 5.7 on RDS High-availability or Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 5.6 on RDS High-availability Edition
- MySQL 5.5 on RDS High-availability Edition

Note DAS provides the monitoring dashboard feature for ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL from May 20, 2022.

Create a monitoring dashboard

- 1. Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Performance Center**.
- 3. On the **Performance Center** page, click the **Monitoring Dashboard** tab.
- 4. Click the tab for the database engine. Then, click Add Monitoring Dashboard.
- 5. In the dialog box that appears, configure the Dashboard Name parameter and click OK.
- 6. Click Select Instances and Metrics. In the dialog box that appears, select the RDS instances and the metrics that you want to monitor. Then, click the > icon to add the selected RDS instances

to the Selected Instances section and the selected metrics to the Selected Metrics section.

Onte For more information about the metrics, see Metrics.

Select Metrics and Instances		
	<	Not Found
■ 1/64 ltems		0 tem
Select Metrics		
Metrics to Be Selected		Selected Metrics
Q Enter a metric name		Q Enter a metric name
[MySQL Service Process) mysql.cpu_usage [MySQL Server) mysql.mem_usage [MySQL Server) mysql.ps [MySQL Server) mysql.active_session [MySQL Server) mysql.total_session [MySQL Server) mysql.teps [MySQL Server) mysql.replace_ps	>	Not Found
1/24 Items		0 Item
	Confirm Close	

7. Click Confirm.

Onte To modify the RDS instances or metrics in the monitoring dashboard, click Add Instances and Metrics.

View the metric trends of an RDS instance in the monitoring dashboard

- 1. Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Performance Center**.
- 3. On the Performance Center page, click the Monitoring Dashboard tab.
- 4. Click the tab for the database engine, select the monitoring dashboard that you want to view, and then specify a time range to view the trend charts of the metrics during the specified time range.

(?) Note When you specify a time range, the end time must be later than the start time, and the interval between the start time and the end time cannot exceed seven days.

- You can configure the **Instance filtering** parameter to filter for multiple RDS instances and then view and compare the metrics of the RDS instances.
- You can turn on Auto Refresh (Every 5 Seconds) for the system to refresh the trend charts of the metrics every 5 seconds.
- You can turn on Linkage Chart to view the values of different metrics at the same point in time.
- You can configure the **Chart Layout** parameter to specify the number of trend charts of metrics in each row.
- You can click Add Instances and Metrics to modify the RDS instances or metrics in the dashboard.
- You can click **Details** in the trend chart of a metric to expand the chart. You can also change the time range to view the changes in the trend of the metric at the specified time range.

• You can click **Delete** in the trend chart of a metric to delete the chart from the dashboard.

Metrics

Category	Metric	Description
	tps	The transactions per second (TPS).
	qps	The queries per second (QPS).
	active_session	The number of active sessions.
	total_session	The total number of sessions.
	delete_ps	The average number of times that DELETE statements are executed per second.
MySQL server	insert_ps	The average number of times that INSERT statements are executed per second.
	replace_ps	The average number of times that REPLACE statements are executed per second.
	update_ps	The average number of times that UPDATE statements are executed per second.
	select_ps	The average number of times that SELECT statements are executed per second.
	bytes_received	The average number of bytes that are received from all clients per second.
	bytes_sent	The average number of bytes that are sent to all clients per second.
	iops_usage	The IOPS usage.
	innodb_bp_hit	The read hit ratio of the InnoDB buffer pool.
	innodb_bp_dirty_p ct	The ratio of dirty pages in the InnoDB buffer pool.
	innodb_bp_usage _pct	The utilization of the InnoDB buffer pool.
	innodb_data_writt en	The average number of bytes that are written to the InnoDB table per second.
	innodb_data_read	The average number of bytes that are read from the InnoDB table per second.
InnoDB storage engine	innodb_rows_dele ted	The average number of rows that are deleted from the InnoDB table per second.

Category	Metric	Description
	innodb_rows_read	The average number of rows that are read from the InnoDB table per second.
	innodb_rows_inser ted	The average number of rows that are inserted into the InnoDB table per second.
	innodb_rows_upd ated	The average number of rows that are updated in the InnoDB table per second.
	cpu_usage	The CPU utilization of MySQL processes. The maximum value of this metric is 100% for ApsaraDB RDS instances.
MySQL processes	mem_usage	The memory usage of the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance in the operating system.
	iops	The IOPS of the ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Note You can click the icon on the right of a metric in a dashboard to view the description of the metric.

19.Monitoring and alerts 19.1. Set the monitoring frequency of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to set the monitoring frequency of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Context

ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL provides the following three monitoring frequencies:

- Every 5 seconds
- Every 60 seconds
- Every 300 seconds

Note ApsaraDB RDS allows you to query the monitoring data from the most recent 30 days.
 You may not be able to query the monitoring data over a time range of more than 30 days.

Instance configuration	Every 5 seconds	Every 60 Seconds	Every 300 Seconds
RDS High-availability Edition or RDS Enterprise Edition with a memory capacity less than 8 GB	Not supported	Supported free of charge	Supported free of charge (This is the default monitoring frequency.)
RDS High-availability Edition or RDS Enterprise Edition with a memory capacity greater than or equal to 8 GB	Supported with fees required	Supported free of charge (This is the default monitoring frequency.)	Supported free of charge
RDS Basic Edition	Not supported	Not supported	Supported free of charge (This is the default monitoring frequency.)

The following table describes the supported monitoring frequencies.

? Note If your RDS instance uses standard SSDs or enhanced SSDs (ESSDs), the monitoring frequency is fixed at once every 60 seconds. Changes to the monitoring frequency do not take effect.

For more information about how to set the monitoring frequency of an RDS instance that runs another database engine, see the following topics:

- Set the monitoring frequency of an ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server instance
- Set the monitoring frequency of an ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL instance

Billing

The monitoring frequencies that are supported with fees required are charged at an hourly rate based on the pay-as-you-go billing method. For example, if your RDS instance uses the Every 5 Seconds monitoring frequency, you are charged an hourly rate of USD 0.012.

Procedure

- 1.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click Monitoring and Alerts.
- 3. Click the Standard monitoring tab.

② Note For more information about the supported metrics, see 查看监控信息.

- 4. Click Set Monitoring Frequency.
- 5. In the Set Monitoring Frequency dialog box, select a monitoring frequency and click OK.

(?) Note The Every 60 Seconds and Every 300 Seconds monitoring frequencies are supported free of charge. However, the Every 5 Seconds monitoring frequency charges you additional fees. For more information, visit the "Billing" section of this topic.

If your RDS instance does not support the Every 5 Seconds monitoring frequency, a message appears in the **Set Monitoring Frequency** dialog box.

Related API operations

Operation	Description
Query the monitoring frequency of an ApsaraDB RDS instance	Queries the monitoring frequency of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

19.2. Configure an alert rule for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to configure an alert rule for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Context

The monitoring and alerting feature of ApsaraDB RDS is implemented by using Cloud Monitor. Cloud Monitor allows you to configure metrics and alert rules. You can also associate alert groups with metrics. If a metric meets the conditions that are specified in an alert rule, alerts are sent as emails to all the contacts in the alert group that is associated with the metric.

For more information about how to configure alert rules for RDS instances that run other database engines, see the following topics:

- Configure an alert rule for an ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server instance
- Configure an alert rule for an ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL instance
- Configure an alert rule for an ApsaraDB RDS for MariaDB TX instance

Enable the initiative alert feature

The initiative alert feature allows you to establish an alert system for multiple metrics in RDS. An alert notification is sent if an exception of a key metric occurs. You can then handle the exception at the earliest opport unity. For more information, see Enable the initiative alert feature.

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click Monitoring and Alerts.
- 3. Click the Alerts tab.
- 4. In the right-side section of the page, turn on the Initiative Alert switch.

Create an alert rule

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click Monitoring and Alerts.
- 3. Click the Alerts tab.
- 4. Click Set Alert Rule to go to the Cloud Monitor console.

						-			
Alerts									
Note: Alert rules of the application group to	o which this instance belongs are no	t contained. To view alert rules of applica	ation groups, go to the CloudMonitor console.				Initiative Alert 🛛 🔵	Alert Rule Setting:	s C
Rule name	Metric	Statistics Cycle	Alert Rule	Stat	us	Alert Contact Group			

- 5. Create an alert group. For more information, see Create an alert contact or alert contact group.
- 6. Create an alert rule. For more information, see Create an alert rule.

? Note You can also configure Cloud Monitor to automatically monitor resources based on tags. For more information, see Monitor resources based on tags.

Manage an alert rule

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click Monitoring and Alerts.
- 3. Click the Alerts tab.
- 4. Click Set Alert Rule to go to the Cloud Monitor console.

Alerts								
Note: Alert rules of the application	group to which this instance belon	gs are not contained. To view alert rules of applicat	ion groups, go to the CloudMonitor console.			Initiative Alert 🕢 🔵	Alert Rule Settings	C
Rule name	Metric	Statistics Cycle	Alert Rule	Status	Alert Contact Gro	up		

- 5. On the **Alert Rules** page, find the alert rule that you want to manage, and select one of the following operations in the Actions column:
 - View: View details about the alert rule.
 - Alert Logs: View the alerts that were triggered by the alert rule over a specific time range.
 - Modify: Modify the alert rule. For more information, see Create an alert rule.
 - Disable: Disable the alert rule. After you disable the alert rule, no alerts are triggered even if the metric meets the conditions that are specified in the alert rule.
 - Delete: Delete the alert rule. After you delete the alert rule, the alert rule cannot be restored. You can only re-create the alert rule if necessary.
20.Account 20.1. Create an account on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to create an account that is used to manage the databases of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Prerequisites

Create an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

(?) Note You can create Resource Access Management (RAM) users within your Alibaba Cloud account and grant the permissions on specific RDS instances to the RAM users. For more information, see Create a RAM user.

Account types

ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL supports two types of accounts: privileged accounts and standard accounts. You can manage all the accounts and databases of your RDS instance by using the ApsaraDB RDS console. For more information about the permissions that can be granted to each type of account, see Account permissions.

(?) Note After an account is created, you cannot change the type of the account. However, you can delete the account. Then, you can create an account that has the same username as the deleted account. For more information, see Delete a standard account from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Account type	Description
Privileged account	 You can create and manage privileged accounts in the ApsaraDB RDS console or by using the ApsaraDB RDS API. Only one privileged account is allowed per RDS instance. A privileged account has the permissions to manage all the databases and standard accounts of the RDS instance on which the privileged account is created. A privileged account allows you to manage more permissions at fine-grained levels based on your business requirements. For example, you can grant each standard account the permissions to query specific tables from the RDS instance on which the privileged account has the permissions on all the databases of the RDS instance on which the privileged account is created. A privileged account has the permissions to disconnect all the standard accounts of the RDS instance on which the privileged account is created.

Account type	Description
Standard account	 You can create and manage standard accounts by using the ApsaraDB RDS console, ApsaraDB RDS API, or SQL statements. More than one standard account is allowed per RDS instance. The maximum number of standard accounts that are allowed varies based on the minor engine version that is used. By default, a standard account can be used only to log on to one or more databases on which the account has permissions. You must manually grant specific permissions to each standard account. For more information, see Modify the permissions of a standard account on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. A standard account does not have the permissions to create, manage, or disconnect other accounts of the RDS instance on which the standard account is created.

Account type	Maximum number of databases	Maximum number of tables	Maximum number of accounts
Privileged account	Unlimited	< 200,000	Varies based on the minor engine version.
Standard account	500	< 200,000	Varies based on the minor engine version.

Note After a privileged account is created, the maximum number of databases that can be created by using standard accounts is unlimited.

Create a privileged account

- 1.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Accounts**.
- 3. Click Create Account.
- 4. Configure the following parameters.

Parameter	Description
Database Account	 Enter a username for the account. The username must meet the following requirements: If your RDS instance runs MySQL 5.6, the username must be 2 to 16 characters in length. If your RDS instance runs MySQL 8.0 or MySQL 5.7, the username must be 2 to 32 characters in length. The username must start with a lowercase letter and end with a lowercase letter or digit. The username can contain lowercase letters, digits, and underscores (_). The username cannot be the same as the username of an existing account.

Parameter	Description		
Account Type	Select Privileged Account.		
Password	 Enter a password for the account. The password must meet the following requirements: The password must be 8 to 32 characters in length. The password must contain at least three of the following character types: uppercase letters, lowercase letters, digits, and special characters. The password can contain the following special characters: ! @ # \$% ^ & * ()_+ + - = Note If your RDS instance runs MySQL 5.7, you can configure a custom password policy for your instance. For more information, see Configure a custom password policy for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. 		
Confirm Password	Enter the password for the account again.		
Description	Enter a description that is used to identify the account. The description can be up to 256 characters in length.		

5. Click Create.

Reset the permissions of a privileged account

If the privileged account of your RDS instance encounters exceptions, for example, the permissions are accident ally revoked, you can perform the following steps to reset the permissions:

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Accounts**.
- 3. Find the account whose Account Type is **Privileged Account**. Then, click **Reset Permissions** in the Actions column.
- 4. In the dialog box that appears, enter the password of the privileged account and click OK.

Create a standard account

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click Accounts.
- 3. Click Create Account.
- 4. Configure the following parameters.

Parameter Description

Parameter	Description
Dat abase Account	 Enter a username for the account. The username must meet the following requirements: If your RDS instance runs MySQL 5.6, the username must be 2 to 16 characters in length. If your RDS instance runs MySQL 8.0 or MySQL 5.7, the username must be 2 to 32 characters in length. The username must start with a lowercase letter and end with a lowercase letter or digit. The username can contain lowercase letters, digits, and underscores (_). The username cannot be the same as the username of an existing account.
Account Type	Select Standard Account.
Aut horized Dat abases	 Specify the authorized databases of the account. You can specify one or more authorized databases. You can leave this parameter unspecified. In this case, you can grant the permissions on specific databases to the account after the account is created. i. In the Unauthorized Databases section, select one or more databases. Then, click the > icon to move the selected databases to the Authorized Databases section. ii. In the Authorized Databases section, select the Read/Write (DDL + DML), Read-only, DDL Only, or DML Only permissions for each authorized database. If you want to grant the same permissions on more than one authorized database at a time, select the authorized Databases and click the Set All to button in the upper-right corner of the Authorized Database section. For example, you can click the button to grant the Read/Write (DDL + DML) permissions on the selected authorized databases. 10 Note For more information, see Account permissions.
Password	 Enter a password for the account. The password must meet the following requirements: The password must be 8 to 32 characters in length. The password must contain at least three of the following character types: uppercase letters, lowercase letters, digits, and special characters. The password can contain the following special characters: ! @ # \$ % ^ & * ()_+ + - = Note If your RDS instance runs MySQL 5.7, you can configure a custom password policy for your instance. For more information, see Configure a custom password policy for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
Confirm Password	Enter the password for the account again.

Parameter	Description
Description	Enter a description that is used to identify the account. The description can be up to 256 characters in length.

5. Click OK.

FAQ

• Can I configure an account to have only the permissions to access my RDS instance over an internal network?

Yes, you can use SQL statements to specify the source IP address from which an account can access your RDS instance. For more information, see Authorize an account to access its authorized databases from specified IP addresses in an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. However, this operation is not supported in the ApsaraDB RDS console.

• Can I configure the permissions of an account at finer-grained levels, such as the table level?

Yes, you can use SQL statements to manage the permissions of an account at finer-grained levels. For more information, see Authorize accounts to manage tables, views, and fields. However, this operation is not supported in the ApsaraDB RDS console.

Related operations

Operation	Description
CreateAccount	Creates an account that is used to manage the databases of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

20.2. Configure a custom password policy for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to configure a custom password policy for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. You can use custom password policies to ensure the security of your RDS instance.

Prerequisites

- Your RDS instance runs one of the following database engine versions and RDS editions:
 - MySQL 5.7 on RDS Basic Edition
 - MySQL 5.7 on RDS High-availability Edition
- The minor engine version of your RDS instance is updated to the latest version. For more information, see Update the minor engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Precautions

When you configure or modify a custom password policy in the ApsaraDB RDS console, the custom password policy cannot take precedence over the following default password policy:

- The password must be 8 to 32 characters in length.
- The password must contain at least three of the following character types: uppercase letters, lowercase letters, digits, and special characters.
- The password can contain any of the following special characters: ! @ # \$ % ^ & * () _ + =

Introduction

If your RDS instance runs MySQL 5.7, you can use the validate_password plug-in to configure a custom password policy that is used to check password complexity. A custom password policy contains the following password complexity rules:

- Whether the password can be the same as the username
- The length of the password
- The number of uppercase letters and lowercase letters in the password
- The number of digits in the password
- The number of special characters in the password
- The strength of the password

Step 1: Install the validate_password plug-in

1. Connect to your RDS instance. For more information, see Connect to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Note You must use the privileged account of your RDS instance to connect to your RDS instance. For more information, see **Create a privileged account**.

2. Execute the following statement in the SQL window to install the validate password plug-in:

INSTALL PLUGIN validate password SONAME 'validate password.so';

3. Execute the following statement in the SQL window to check whether the validate_password plug-in is installed:

SHOW GLOBAL VARIABLES LIKE 'validate password%';

If information similar to the following figure is returned, the validate_password plug-in is installed.

Variable_name	Value	
validate_password_dictionary_file		
validate_password_length	8	
validate_password_mixed_case_count	1	
validate_password_number_count	1	
validate_password_policy	MEDIUM	
validate_password_special_char_count	1	

(?) Note You can configure custom password policies only when your RDS instance runs MySQL 5.7 on RDS Basic Edition or RDS High-availability Edition. If your RDS instance runs a different database engine version or a different RDS edition, you can install the validate_password plug-in, but you cannot use the plug-in to configure custom password policies.

Step 2: Configure a custom password policy

- 1.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Parameters**.
- 3. Configure the parameters whose names are prefixed by loose_validate_password. For more information, see Modify the parameters of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

? Note Before you configure the parameters, you must install the validate_password plug-in. If the plug-in is not installed, the new parameter settings do not take effect. For more information, see Step 1: Install the validate_password plug-in.

Parameter	Description			
loose_validate_pass word_check_user_na me	 Specifies whether the password can be the same as the username. Valid values: ON: The password can be the same as the username. OFF: The password cannot be the same as the username. Default value: OFF. 			
loose_validate_pass word_policy	 The strength of the password. Valid values: O: The strength of the password is low. ApsaraDB RDS checks only the length of the password. 1: The strength of the password is medium. In addition to the length of the password, ApsaraDB RDS checks the number of digits, number of uppercase letters and lowercase letters, and number of special characters in the password. 2: The strength of the password is high. ApsaraDB RDS checks the length and dictionary file of the password. In addition, ApsaraDB RDS checks the number of digits, number of uppercase letters and lowercase letters, and number of special characters, and number of special characters in the password. 2: The strength of the password is high. ApsaraDB RDS checks the length and dictionary file of the password. In addition, ApsaraDB RDS checks the number of digits, number of uppercase letters and lowercase letters, and number of special characters in the password. Note The dictionary file cannot be specified. This indicates that the value 1 and the value 2 specify the same password strength. Default value: 1. 			
loose_validate_pass word_length	The length of the password. Valid values: 0 to 256. Default value: 8. Note The default password policy that is applied in the ApsaraDB RDS console requires a password length of at least eight characters. The length of each password must be greater than or equal to eight characters even if you set this parameter to 5 in the ApsaraDB RDS console. However, you can execute the SET PASSWORD statement to change the password length to 5 characters.			

Parameter	Description
loose_validate_pass word_number_count	The number of digits in the password. Valid values: 0 to 256 . Default value: 1 .
loose_validate_pass word_mixed_case_c ount	The number of uppercase letters and lowercase letters in the password. Valid values: 0 to 256 . Default value: 1 .
loose_validate_pass word_special_char_c ount	The number of special characters in the password. Valid values: 0 to 256 . Default value: 1 .

Onte For more information, see Password Validation Plugin Options and Variables.

20.3. Reset the password of an account on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to reset the password of an account on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. If the password of an account is lost, you can reset the password by using the ApsaraDB RDS console.

Procedure

Note For data security purposes, we recommend that you change the password of each account on a regular basis.

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click Accounts.
- 3. Find the account whose password you want to reset, and click **Reset Password** in the Actions column.

Accounts Service Account Permissions					
Create Account	Customize Permissions				
Account	Account Type	Status	Database	Description	Actions
1000	Standard Account	✓ Activated	lead/Write (DDL + DML)		Reset Password Edit Permissions Delete
	Standard Account	✓ Activated	Read-only		Reset Password Edit Permissions Delete

4. In the dialog box that appears, specify a new password, confirm the new password, and then click **Create**.

? Note The password must meet the following requirements:

- The password must be 8 to 32 characters in length.
- The password must contain at least three of the following character types: uppercase letters, lowercase letters, digits, and special characters.
- The password can contain any of the following characters:

! @ # \$ % ^ & * () _ + - =

Related operations

Operation	Description
ResetAccountPassword	Resets the password of an account on an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

20.4. Reset the permissions of the privileged account for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

If the permissions of the privileged account for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance are abnormal, you can enter the password of the privileged account to reset the permissions. For example, you can reset the permissions if the permissions are accidentally revoked.

Procedure

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click Accounts.
- 3. Find the **Privileged Account** and in the Actions column click **Reset Permissions**.

Accounts	Service Account Permissions				
Create Account	Customize Permissions				
Account	Account Type	Status	Database	Description	Actions
14,000	Privileged Account	✓ Activated			Reset Password Reset Permissions Delete

4. Enter the new password of the privileged account, confirm the new password, and then click OK.

20.5. Authorize the service account of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

When you seek help from Alibaba Cloud technical support to locate problems that occurred on your ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance, you may need to grant permissions to a service account. The service account is used by Alibaba Cloud technical support to perform operations on the databases of your RDS instance. After the specified expiration time elapses, ApsaraDB RDS deletes the service account.

Prerequisites

Your RDS instance runs one of the following MySQL versions and RDS editions:

- MySQL 8.0 on RDS High-availability Edition (with local SSDs) or Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 5.7 on RDS High-availability Edition (with local SSDs) or Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 5.6 on RDS High-availability Edition
- MySQL 5.5 on RDS High-availability Edition

Procedure

- 1.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click Accounts
- 3. On the **Service Account Permissions** tab, find the permission that you want to grant to the service account, and turn on the switch in the **Permission Status** column.
 - For problems that are related to IP address whitelists or database parameters, you can grant only the **Configuration Permission** to the service account.
 - For database performance problems that are caused by applications, you must grant the **Data Permission** to the service account.

Accounts Service Account Permissions		
Permission Name	Permission Status	Permission Description
Configuration Permission		View and edit configurations.
Data Permission		View table schemas, indexes, and SQL statements.
If you seek technical support, you must allow our support en	gineers to use your service account to log on and	perform operations.View Authorization Procedure

4. In the dialog box that appears, specify the expiration time of the service account and click OK.

Set Expirat	tion Tin	ne X
Select a da	ite and tir	ne 🛱
	OK	Cancel

What to do next

After you grant permissions to the service account, you can revoke the permissions or change the expiration time on the **Service Account Permissions** tab at any time.

20.6. Delete a standard account from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to delete a standard account from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance by using the ApsaraDB RDS console or an SQL statement.

Use the console to delete a standard account

1.

2. In the left-side navigation pane, click Accounts.

- 3. Find the standard account that you want to delete and in the Actions column click Delete.
- 4. In the message that appears, click **OK**.

Execute an SQL statement to delete an standard account

This function is supported only for specific RDS instance configurations.

- 1. Use Data Management (DMS) to log on to the RDS instance. For more information, see Use DMS to log on to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- 2. In the top navigation bar, choose SQL Operations > SQL Window.
- 3. Execute the following statement:

DROP USER 'username'@'localhost';

4. Click Execute.

Related operations

Operation	Description
DeleteAccount	Deletes an account from an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

20.7. Account permission

20.7.1. Modify the permissions of a standard

account on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to modify the permissions of a standard account on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. The permissions of a privileged account can only be reset to the default settings but cannot be modified.

(2) Note You can use the Account Authorization and Management feature of Alibaba Cloud Data Management (DMS) to define permission combinations. You can also use this feature to manage the permissions on specific tables. For information, see Manage user permissions on MySQL databases.

Method 1: Modify the permissions of a standard account in the ApsaraDB RDS console

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click Accounts.
- 3. Find the standard account whose permissions you want to modify. Then, click **Edit Permissions** in the Actions column.
- 4. In the Modify Account Permissions panel, modify the permissions of the standard account.
 - If you want to add or remove an authorized database, select the database and click the > or < icon.

• If you want to modify the permissions on an authorized database, select the database. Then, select the Read/Write (DDL + DML), Read-only, DDL Only, or DML Only permissions in the Authorized Databases section.

Note You can use SQL statements to modify permissions at higher levels of granularity. For more information, see Account permissions.

5. Click **OK**.

Method 2: Modify the permissions of a standard account in the DMS console

You can modify the permissions of a standard account in the DMS console. For more information, see Manage user permissions on MySQL databases

Method 3: Modify the permissions of a standard account by using SQL statements

Prerequisites

A privileged account is created for the RDS instance and is used to modify the permissions.

- 1. Use a database client or the CLI to connect to the RDS instance. For more information, see Use a database client or the CLI to connect to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- 2. Execute the GRANT statement to grant permissions to the standard account.

? Note

- For more information about the GRANT statement, see official MySQL documentation.
- For more information about permissions that can be granted, see Account permissions.

FAQ

Why am I unable to create a database on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance by using a standard account? What do I do if the ERROR 1044 (42000): Access denied for user 'xxxx'@'%' to database 'xxxx' error message is displayed when I create a database on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance by using a standard account?

By default, a standard account for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance has only the permissions to log on to databases. If you want to use the standard account to create a database, you must first use a privileged account to grant the CREATE permission to the standard account. Example statement:

GRANT CREATE ON *.* TO '<Name of the standard account>'@'%';

20.7.2. Account permissions

This topic provides an overview of the permissions that ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL provides for both privileged and standard accounts.

Accounts and permissions

> Document Version: 20220712

Ac co un t ty p e	Permissi on	Operation				
Pr		SELECT	INSERT	UPDAT E	DELET E	CREATE
le		DROP	RELOAD	PROCESS	REFERENCES	INDEX
e d a	N/A	ALTER	CREAT E T EMPORARY T ABLES	LOCK TABLES	EXECUTE	REPLICATION SLAVE
o u nt		REPLICATION CLIENT	CREAT E VIEW	SHOW VIEW	CREAT E ROUT INE	ALT ER ROUT INE
s		CREAT E USER	EVENT	TRIGGER		
	Read- only	SELECT	LOCK TABLES	Show view	PROCESS	REPLICATION SLAVE
		REPLICATION CLIENT				
		SELECT	INSERT	UPDATE	DELET E	CREATE
	Read <i>l</i> write	DROP	REFERENCES	INDEX	ALTER	CREATE TEMPORARY TABLES
		LOCK TABLES	EXECUTE	CREAT E VIEW	Show view	CREAT E ROUT INE
		ALT ER ROUT INE	EVENT	TRIGGER	PROCESS	REPLICATION SLAVE
St a n		REPLICATION CLIENT				
d ar d a cc o u	DDL- only	CREATE	DROP	INDEX	ALTER	CREAT E T EMPORARY T ABLES
		LOCK TABLES	CREAT E VIEW	Show view	CREAT E ROUT INE	ALT ER ROUT INE
nt s		PROCESS	REPLICATION SLAVE	REPLICATION CLIENT		
		SELECT	INSERT	UPDATE	DELETE	CREATE TEMPORARY TABLES

Ac co un t ty p e	Permissi DML- only only	Operation				
		LOCK TABLES	EXECUTE	SHOW VIEW	EVENT	TRIGGER
		PROCESS	REPLICATION SLAVE	REPLICATION CLIENT		

20.8. Authorize an account to access its authorized databases from specified IP addresses in an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to authorize an account to access its authorized databases from specified IP addresses in an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. The IP address whitelists of an RDS instance take effect on all accounts that are created on the RDS instance. You cannot use IP address whitelists to restrict the IP addresses from which each account can access its authorized databases. If you use only IP address whitelists to control access to an RDS instance, the RDS instance may be exposed to security risks.

Prerequisites

A privileged account is created. For more information, see Create an account on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Use DMS to authorize an account to access its authorized databases from specified IP addresses

1.

2. In the left-side navigation pane, click Accounts. On the Accounts page, click Customize Permissions to go to the Data Management (DMS) console.



3.

- 4. Click **Create User** in the upper-left corner of the page. Alternatively, click **Edit** in the Actions column for the account.
- 5. On the Basic settings tab, configure the Host parameter.

? Note

- The Host parameter specifies the IP address from which the account can access its authorized databases. You can specify more than one IP address. Multiple IP addresses must be separated by commas (,). If you do not specify this parameter, the account is not authorized to access its authorized databases from specified IP addresses. The default value of this parameter is *****.
- The IP addresses that are specified by the Host parameter must be added to an IP address whitelist of the RDS instance. For more information, see Use a database client or the CLI to connect to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- DMS allows you to grant more permissions to accounts. For more information, see Manage user permissions on MySQL databases.

6.

7.

Use SQL statements to authorize an account to access its authorized databases from specified IP addresses

- 1. Connect to the RDS instance on which you want to create an account. For more information, see Connect to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- 2. Execute SQL statements to create an account on the RDS instance and authorize the account to access its authorized databases from specified IP addresses. You cannot view the authorized databases of the created account in the ApsaraDB RDS console.

In the following example, you create an account named test001 and authorize the account to access the rds001 database from the 42.120.XX.XX IP address.

```
CREATE USER `test001`@`42.120.XX.XX`IDENTIFIED BY 'passwd';
GRANT PROCESS, REPLICATION SLAVE, REPLICATION CLIENT ON *.* TO 'test001'@'42.120.XX.XX'
;
GRANT ALL PRIVILEGES ON `rds001`.* TO 'test001'@'42.120.XX.XX';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`help topic` TO 'test001'@'42.120.XX.XX';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`func` TO 'test001'@'42.120.XX.XX';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`time zone` TO 'test001'@'42.120.XX.XX';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`slow log` TO 'test001'@'42.120.XX.XX';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`time zone transition` TO 'test001'@'42.120.XX.XX';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`event` TO 'test001'@'42.120.XX.XX';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`proc` TO 'test001'@'42.120.XX.XX';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`help category` TO 'test001'@'42.120.XX.XX';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`help relation` TO 'test001'@'42.120.XX.XX';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`help_keyword` TO 'test001'@'42.120.XX.XX';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`general log` TO 'test001'@'42.120.XX.XX';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`time_zone_leap_second` TO 'test001'@'42.120.XX.XX';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`time zone transition type` TO 'test001'@'42.120.XX.XX';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`time zone name` TO 'test001'@'42.120.XX.XX';
```

? Note

- If you change the IP address from *42.120.XX.XX* to *%*, the created account is similar to an account that is created in the ApsaraDB RDS console. You can view the authorized database of the created account in the ApsaraDB RDS console.
- You can execute the following statement to change the IP address to 42.121.XX.XXX:

RENAME USER `test001`@`42.120.XX.XX` TO `test001`@`42.121.XX.XX`;

20.9. Authorize accounts to manage tables, views, and fields

This topic describes how to execute SQL statements for authorizing accounts to manage tables, views, or fields in a database of an ApsaraDB for RDS instance. If you are using your Alibaba Cloud account, you have the permissions to manage all types of data in your ApsaraDB for RDS instance.

Prerequisites

You have created a privileged account in your ApsaraDB for RDS instance. For more information, see Create accounts and databases for an RDS for MySQL instance.

Procedure

- 1. Use a database client or the CLI to connect to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- 2. Execute SQL statements to create an account and authorize it to manage tables, views, and fields in the target database.

? Note The created account does not have permissions to view its authorized databases in the ApsaraDB for RDS console.

• Create an account and authorize it to manage a table in the target database.

```
CREATE USER `<The username of the account you want to create>`@`%`IDENTIFIED BY '<The
password of the account you want to create>';
GRANT PROCESS, REPLICATION SLAVE, REPLICATION CLIENT ON *. * TO '<The username of the
created account>'@'%';
GRANT ALL PRIVILEGES ON `<The name of the target database>`. `<The name of the table
you want to create with the created account>` TO '<The username of the created accou
nt>'@'%';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`help topic` TO '<The username of the created account>'@'%';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`func` TO '<The username of the created account>'@'%';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`time zone` TO '<The username of the created account>'@'%';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`slow log` TO '<The username of the created account>'@'%';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`time zone transition` TO '<The username of the created accou
nt>'@'%';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`event` TO '<The username of the created account>'@'%';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`proc` TO '<The username of the created account>'@'%';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`help_category` TO '<The username of the created account>'@'%
';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`help relation` TO '<The username of the created account>'@'%
٠,
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`help_keyword` TO '<The username of the created account>'@'%'
;
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`general_log` TO '<The username of the created account>'@'%';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`time zone leap second` TO '<The username of the created acco
unt>'@'%';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`time zone transition type` TO '<The username of the created
account>'@'%';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`time zone name` TO '<The username of the created account>'@'
%';
```

Example:

To create an account named test01 and authorize it to manage the test100 table in the rds001 database, execute the following SQL statements:

```
CREATE USER `test01`@`%`IDENTIFIED BY 'passwd';
GRANT PROCESS, REPLICATION SLAVE, REPLICATION CLIENT ON *. * TO 'test01'@'%';
GRANT ALL PRIVILEGES ON `rds001`.`test100` TO 'test01'@'%';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`help_topic` TO 'test01'@'%';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`func` TO 'test01'@'%';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`time_zone` TO 'test01'@'%';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`slow log` TO 'test01'@'%';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`time zone transition` TO 'test01'@'%';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`event` TO 'test01'@'%';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`proc` TO 'test01'@'%';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`help category` TO 'test01'@'%';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`help relation` TO 'test01'@'%';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`help_keyword` TO 'test01'@'%';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`general log` TO 'test01'@'%';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`time zone leap second` TO 'test01'@'%';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`time zone transition type` TO 'test01'@'%';
GRANT SELECT ON `mysql`.`time zone name` TO 'test01'@'%';
```

Note If you change *test100* in the third line of code to the *wildcard, you will give the test01 user the permissions to view its Authorized Databases in the ApsaraDB for RDS console.

• Authorize the created account to query a view from the target database.

grant select on <The name of the target database>. <The name of the view you want to query with the created account> to <The username of the created account>;

Example:

To authorize the test01 user to query the view_test1 view from the rds001 database, execute the following SQL statement:

grant select on rds001.view_test1 to test01;

• Authorize the created account to update or query a field name in a table from the target database.

grant update (<The field name you want to update with the created account>) on table <The name of the table where the field name you want to update resides> to <The usern ame of the created account>; -----Authorize the created account to update a field name in a table from the target database.

grant select (<The field name you want to query with the created account>) on table <
The name of the table where the field name you want to query resides> to <The usernam
e of the created account>; -----Authorize the created account to query a field na
me in a table from the target database.

Example:

To authorize the test01 user to update the testid field in the testtable table, execute the following SQL statement:

grant update (testid) on table testtable to test01;

In addition to executing SQL statements, you can choose **Tools > User Management** from the top navigation bar to change the permissions of an account.

20.10. System accounts of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes the system accounts that are provided in an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. In most cases, you do not need to consider the permissions and authorized operations of these system accounts.

Account	Description
root (aliyun_root in MySQL 5.7 and later versions)	The local O&M account that you can use to manage the RDS instance. For example, you can use this account to reconfigure the parameters that are related to the database engine and query the status of the RDS instance.

Account	Description
aurorards_service	The account that you can use to remotely manage the RDS instance. If the RDS instance is faulty, you can provide this account to an Alibaba Cloud engineer. The engineer can use this account to log on to and manage the RDS instance. For example, the engineer can perform a primary/secondary switchover and monitor the RDS instance.
aurora_proxy	The account that you can use to forward connections after you enable the database proxy feature.
replicator	The account that you can use to replicate data from the RDS instance to its secondary RDS instance. This account is available only in RDS High-availability Edition.

Note All IP addresses of the preceding system accounts are internal IP addresses. You can run the **SELECT user()**; command to view the current logon account and its IP address. Example:

```
'aurora_proxy'@'%';
'replicator'@'11.195.143.24';
'replicator'@'11.196.207.107';
'replicator'@'11.195.208.36';
'replicator'@'11.199.40.156';
'aliyun_root'@'127.0.0.1';
```

In the preceding return results, the 11 CIDR block of the replicator system account is a private CIDR block of Alibaba Cloud.

21.Database 21.1. Create a database on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to create a database on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Prerequisites

An RDS instance is created. For more information, see Create an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Terms

- Instance: a virtualized database server, on which you can create and manage a number of databases.
- Database: a set of organized data that can be shared by a number of users. A database provides the minimal redundancy and is independent of applications. You can consider a database to be a warehouse that is used to store data.
- Character set: a collection of letters, special characters, and encoding rules that are used in a database.

Maximum number of databases and maximum number of tables

Account type	Maximum number of databases	Maximum number of tables
Privileged account	Unlimited	< 200,000
Standard account	500	< 200,000

Procedure

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Databases**.
- 3. Click Create Database.
- 4. Configure the following parameters.

Parameter	Description
Dat abase Name	 The name of the database must be 2 to 64 characters in length. The name of the database must start with a lowercase letter and end with a lowercase letter or digit. The name of the database can contain lowercase letters, digits, underscores (_), and hyphens (-). The name of the database must be unique within your RDS instance.

Parameter	Description
Supported Character Set	Specify the character set that is supported by the database. you can select utf8, gbk, latin1, or utf8mb4.
Aut horized Account	Specify the account that is authorized to access the database. You can leave this parameter empty. In this case, you can specify the authorized account of the database after the database is created. For more information, see Modify the permissions of a standard account on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
	? Note The Authorized Account drop-down list displays only the standard accounts that are created on your RDS instance. The privileged account has all permissions on all databases and does not require authorization.
	Specify the permissions that you want to grant on the database. You can select the Read/Write , Read-only , DDL Only , or DML Only permissions.
Account type	Note This parameter is available only when the Authorized Account parameter is set.
Description	Enter a description that is used to identify the database. The description can contain up to 256 characters.

5. Click Create.

What to do next

Connect to your RDS instance. For more information, see Use a database client or the CLI to connect to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Related operations

Operation	Description
CreateDatabase	Creates a database on an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

21.2. Delete a database from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to delete a database from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. You can delete a database by using the ApsaraDB RDS console or an SQL statement.

Delete a database by using the ApsaraDB RDS console

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Databases**.
- 3. In the Actions column click Delete.

4. In the message that appears, click **OK**.

Delete a database by using an SQL statement

- 1. Connect to the RDS instance to which the database belongs. For more information, see Use a database client or the CLI to connect to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- 2. Execute the following statement to delete the database:

drop database <database name>;

Related operations

Operation	Description
DeleteDatabase	Deletes a database from an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

22.Data security 22.1. Change the network isolation mode of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance to the enhanced whitelist mode

This topic describes how to change the network isolation mode of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance from the standard whitelist mode to the enhanced whitelist mode. An enhanced IP address whitelist can contain only the IP addresses from the classic network or virtual private clouds (VPCs).

Prerequisites

Your RDS instance uses local SSDs.

? Note The enhanced whitelist mode is no longer supported for new RDS instances. You can use only the standard whitelist mode for new RDS instances.

Context

RDS instances support the following network isolation modes:

• Standard whitelist mode

A standard IP address whitelist can contain IP addresses from both the classic network and VPCs.

• Enhanced whitelist mode

An enhanced IP address whitelist can contain only the IP addresses from the classic network or VPCs. When you create an enhanced IP address whitelist, you must specify the network type of the enhanced IP address whitelist.

Changes after you switch to the enhanced whitelist mode

- If your RDS instance resides in a VPC, an IP address whitelist of the VPC network type is automatically created. The new IP address whitelist contains all IP addresses and CIDR blocks that are replicated from the original IP address whitelists.
- If your RDS instance resides in the classic network, an IP address whitelist of the classic network type is automatically created. The new IP address whitelist contains all IP addresses and CIDR blocks that are replicated from the original IP address whitelists.
- If your RDS instance runs in hybrid access mode, the following two IP address whitelists are created: an IP address whitelist of the VPC network type and an IP address whitelist of the classic network type. The two IP address whitelists contain all IP addresses and CIDR blocks that are replicated from the original IP address whitelists. For more information, see Configure the hybrid access solution for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

? Note

- After you switch to the enhanced whitelist mode, the Elastic Compute Service (ECS) instance groups that you configured remain unchanged. For more information, see Configure an IP address whitelist for an ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL instance.
- ApsaraDB RDS requires approximately 3 minutes to switch your RDS instance to the enhanced whitelist mode. Your application remains connected to your RDS instance during the 3-minute period.

Precautions

- After you switch to the enhanced whitelist mode, you cannot roll the instance back to the standard whitelist mode.
- In enhanced whitelist mode, an IP address whitelist of the classic network type can also be used to allow access over the Internet. If you want to access your RDS instance from a host over the Internet, you must add the public IP address of the host to an IP address whitelist of the classic network type.

Procedure

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Data Security**.
- 3. On the Whitelist Settings tab, click Switch to Enhanced Whitelist (Recommended).
- 4. In the message that appears, click **Confirm**.

FAQ

• My RDS instance runs in enhanced whitelist mode. If I want to access my RDS instance from a host over the Internet, how do I determine the IP address whitelist to which I must add the public IP address of the host?

If you want to access your RDS instance from a host over the Internet, you must add the public IP address of the host to an IP address whitelist of the classic network type.

• What advantages does the enhanced whitelist mode have over the standard whitelist mode?

The enhanced whitelist mode allows you to distinguish between the IP addresses from the classic network and the IP addresses from VPCs. If you add an IP address to an IP address whitelist of the VPC network type, the IP address is granted access to your RDS instance only within the specified VPC. However, the IP address is not granted access to your RDS instance over the Internet. This increases the security of your RDS instance.

22.2. Set the whitelist

22.2.1. Configure an IP address whitelist for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to configure an IP address whitelist for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. After an RDS instance is created, you must configure IP address whitelists for the RDS instance. A device can access the RDS instance only after you add the IP address of the device to an IP address whitelist of the RDS instance.

Prerequisites

An ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance is created. For more information, see Create an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Procedure

- 1.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Data Security**.
- 3. View the network isolation mode of the RDS instance.

Note Existing RDS instances may run in enhanced whitelist mode. All new RDS instances run in standard whitelist mode.

Standard whitelist mode

Whitelist Settings	Death-Doog 202-ball 12
Create Whitelist	Network isolation mode standard whitelist.
Enhanced whitelist mo	de
Whitelist Settings	Starty Starty 10, Auto 10
Create Whitelist	Network isolation mode <mark>:</mark> enhanced whitelist, I

4. Click **Modify** to the right of the IP address whitelist labeled **default**.

Note You can also click Create Whitelist to create an IP address whitelist.

 Image: Create Whitelist
 Image: Create Whitelist

 Image: Create Whitelist
 Image: Create Whitelist

- 5. Use one of the following methods to configure an IP address whitelist for the RDS instance:
 - Method 1: Add the IP address of the server on which your application is deployed to the IP
 Addresses box. For more information about how to obtain the IP address of a server, see the
 "How to obtain IP addresses" section of this topic.

? Note

- If you add multiple IP addresses and CIDR blocks to an IP address whitelist, you must separate the IP addresses and CIDR blocks with commas (,) and leave no spaces before and after each comma.
- You can add a maximum of 1,000 IP addresses and CIDR blocks in total for each RDS instance. If you want to add a large number of IP addresses, we recommend that you merge the IP addresses into CIDR blocks, such as 10.10.10.0/24.
- If an RDS instance runs in standard whitelist mode, you do not need to take note of special considerations when you configure IP address whitelists for the RDS instance.
 If an RDS instance runs in enhanced whitelist mode, you must take note of the following considerations when you configure IP address whitelists for the RDS instance:
 - Add the public IP addresses or private IP addresses of -hosted Elastic Compute Service (ECS) instances to IP address whitelists of the classic network type. classic network
 - Add the private IP addresses of VPC-hosted ECS instances to IP address whitelists of the VPC network type.
- Method 2: Click Loading ECS Inner IP to load the IP addresses of all ECS instances that are created within your Alibaba Cloud account. Then, select IP addresses and add them to an IP address whitelist.

Create Whitelist					×
Network Isolation	Classic Network VPC				
Mode:					
* Group Name:	default				
Whitelist:	Unconfigured < 1/1 >		Settings		
	-test Q	2	Enter	Q	
	✓ 192.168.0.37 VPC		65		
	□ 192.16 ² 1	>	66		
		<	37		
			47		
			3		
	■ 1/79 Items		5 Items		
	Back to Manual Configuration			You can add 995 more e	entries.
				ок	3 cel

The server on which your application is deployed can access the RDS instance only after you add the IP address of the server to an IP address whitelist of the RDS instance.

6. Click OK.

What to do next

Use a database client or the CLI to connect to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

References

- For more information about how to modify an IP address whitelist for an RDS instance by calling an API operation, see Modify IP address whitelists.
- For more information about how to query the IP address whitelists of an RDS instance by calling an API operation, see Query IP address whitelists.
- For more information about how to configure an IP address whitelist for an RDS instance that runs a different database engine, see the following topics:
 - Configure an IP address whitelist for an ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server instance
 - Configure an IP address whitelist for an ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL instance
 - Configure an IP address whitelist for an ApsaraDB RDS for MariaDB TX instance

How to obtain IP addresses

Obtain IP addresses

Connection scenario	IP address to be obtained	How to obtain the IP address
the conditions for communicatio n over an internal network	The private IP address of the ECS instance	
You want to connect to the RDS instance from an ECS instance. The ECS instance and the RDS instance do not meet the conditions for communicatio n over an internal network.	The public IP address of the ECS instance	 Log on to the ECS console and go to the Instances page. In the top navigation bar, select the region where the ECS instance resides. View the public IP address and private IP address of the ECS instance.

Connection scenario	IP address to be obtained	How to obtain the IP address
You want to		On the on-premises device, use a search engine such as Google to search for IP .
connect to the RDS instance from an on- premises device.	The public IP address of the on-premises device	Note The IP address that you obtain by using this method may be inaccurate. For more information about how to obtain the accurate IP address of an on-premises device, see Why am I unable to connect to my ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL or ApsaraDB RDS for MariaDB instance from a local server over the Internet?

22.2.2. Configure a security group for an

ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to configure a security group for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. A security group is a virtual firewall that is used to control the inbound and outbound traffic of the Elastic Compute Service (ECS) instances in that security group. After you add a security group to your RDS instance, all the ECS instances in that security group can access the instance.

Prerequisites

Your RDS instance runs one of the following MySQL versions:

- MySQL 8.0
- MySQL 5.7
- MySQL 5.6

Scenario

After your RDS instance is created, you must configure IP address whitelists or security groups for the instance. This allows the specified devices to access the instance. For more information about how to configure an IP address whitelist, see Configure an IP address whitelist for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

For more information about security groups, see Create a security group.

Note You can configure both IP address whitelists and security groups for your RDS instance. For more information, see Configure an IP address whitelist for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. All the IP addresses in the configured IP address whitelists and all the ECS instances in the configured security groups are granted access to your RDS instance.

Precautions

- The security groups that you can add to your RDS instance must have the same network type as the instance. For example, if your RDS instance uses the VPC network type, you can add only the security groups of the VPC network type.
- After you change the network type of your RDS instance, the configured security groups become invalid. In this case, you must reconfigure the security groups with the new network type.

• A maximum of 10 security groups are allowed per RDS instance.

Procedure

- 1.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Data Security**. On the page that appears, click the **Security Group** tab.
- 3. Click Add Security Group.

? Note Security groups that are followed by a VPC tag contain ECS instances that reside in virtual private clouds (VPCs).



4. Select the security group that you want to add, and then click **OK**.

What to do next

Create databases and accounts for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

Related operations

API	Description
DescribeSecurityGroupConfiguration	Queries details about the ECS security groups that are associated with an ApsaraDB RDS instance.
ModifySecurityGroupConfiguration	Modifies details about the ECS security groups that are associated with an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

22.2.3. Errors and FAQ about IP address whitelist settings in ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL

This topic introduces the common errors and provides answers to some commonly asked questions about the IP address whitelist settings of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Common errors

RDS MySQL Dat abase · Dat a securit y

ApsaraDB for RDS

Error	Description	Solution
No IP address whitelists are configured. This means that your RDS instance has only one default IP address whitelist, and this whitelist contains only the default IP address 127.0.0.1.	The 127.0.0.1 IP address indicates that no devices can access your RDS instance.	Add the IP addresses of the devices that require access to your RDS to an IP address whitelist.
		Add the 0.0.0.0/0 Classless Inter- Domain Routing (CIDR) block to the IP address whitelist.
The 0.0.0.0 IP address is added to an IP address whitelist during a connectivity test.	The IP address format is invalid.	Notice The 0.0.0/0 CIDR block indicates that all IP addresses are granted access to your RDS instance. We recommend that you add this CIDR block only for a connectivity test. When you run online workloads, do not add this CIDR block to an IP address whitelist.
The public IP addresses in the configured IP address whitelist are inaccessible.	 The public IP addresses dynamically change. The tool or website that you use to query public IP addresses returns inaccurate results. 	For more information, see Why am I unable to connect to my ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL or ApsaraDB RDS for MariaDB instance from a local server over the Internet?

Error	Description	Solution
The IP addresses of the devices that require access to your RDS instance are added to an enhanced IP address whitelist, and the network type of this whitelist differs from the network types of the devices.	In enhanced whitelist mode, ApsaraDB RDS distinguishes between the classic network and virtual private networks (VPCs).	<text></text>

FAQ

• Can I configure both IP address whitelists and security groups for my RDS instance?

Yes, you can configure both IP address whitelists and security groups for your RDS instance. All the IP addresses in the configured IP address whitelists and all the Elastic Compute Service (ECS) instances in the configured security groups are granted access to your RDS instance.

• After I configure an IP address whitelist for my RDS instance, does the IP address whitelist immediately take effect?

After you configure an IP address whitelist for your RDS instance, the IP address whitelist requires about 1 minute to take effect.

• What are the IP address whitelists labeled ali_dms_group and hdm_security_ips?

When you connect to your RDS instance from other Alibaba Cloud services, these services generate IP address whitelists upon your authorization. The generated IP address whitelists contain the IP addresses of the servers on which these services run. The IP address whitelist labeled ali_dms_group is generated by Data Management (DMS). The IP address whitelist labeled hdm_security_ips is generated by Database Autonomy Service (DAS). Do not modify or delete the IP address whitelists. If you modify or delete the IP address whitelists, these services cannot access your RDS instance. These services do not perform operations on your business data.

 hdm_security_ips 		
100 0/24	11,	11.

22.3. Configure SSL encryption for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to make data transmission for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance more secure by configuring SSL encryption. You must enable SSL encryption and install SSL certificates that are issued by certificate authorities (CAs) in the required applications. SSL encrypts the network connections at the transport layer between your RDS instance and your application. This enhances the security and integrity of data in transit but increases the response time.

Prerequisites

Your RDS instance runs one of the following MySQL versions and RDS editions:

- MySQL 8.0 on RDS Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 8.0 on RDS High-availability Edition
- MySQL 5.7 on RDS Enterprise Edition
- MySQL 5.7 on RDS High-availability Edition
- MySQL 5.6

Note SSL encryption cannot be enabled for some read-only RDS instances that are created before September 2021. If you want to enable SSL encryption for these instances, you must submit a ticket.

Context

SSL is developed by Netscape to allow encrypted communication between a web server and a browser. SSL supports various encryption algorithms, such as RC4, MD5, and RSA. The Internet Engineering Task Force (IETF) upgraded SSL 3.0 to Transport Layer Security (TLS). However, the term "SSL encryption" is still used in the industry. In this topic, SSL encryption refers to TLS encryption.

Note ApsaraDB RDS supports TLS 1.0, TLS 1.1, and TLS 1.2.

For more information about how to configure SSL encryption for an RDS instance that runs a different database engine, see the following topics:

- Configure SSL encryption for an ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server instance
- Configure SSL encryption for an ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL instance

Usage notes

• An SSL certificate remains valid for one year. If an SSL certificate is about to expire, Alibaba Cloud notifies you by mail and internal message and updates the SSL certificate within a specific time range. You can view internal messages on the Event Center page. The update of an SSL certificate causes transient connections on your RDS instance. You can customize the time to update the SSL certificate in the Schedule Event dialog box. For more information, see Manage scheduled events.

(?) Note SSL certificates are signed by using the private key of a root certificate. The automatic update of an SSL certificate is to sign the SSL certificate by using the private key of the root certificate. After the SSL certificate is automatically updated, the client can establish encrypted connections to the database without the need to download the SSL certificate file or configure the SSL certificate again. When the root certificate expires, you must manually update the validity period of the root certificate, download the SSL certificate file, and then configure the SSL certificate again. Otherwise, the client cannot establish encrypted connections to the database. For more information, see Update the validity period of an SSL certificate.

- SSL encryption may cause a significant increase in CPU utilization. We recommend that you enable SSL encryption only when you need to encrypt the connections to the public endpoint of your RDS instance. In most cases, connections that are established to the internal endpoint of your RDS instance are secure and do not require SSL encryption.
- SSL encryption is not supported for the connections to the read/write splitting endpoint of your RDS instance.
- If you disable SSL encryption, your application can connect to your RDS instance only over a non-SSL connection.
- If you disable SSL encryption, your RDS instance restarts. Proceed with caution.

Enable SSL encryption

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Data Security**.
- 3. Click the SSL Encryption tab.

Onte If the SSL Encryption tab cannot be found, you must check whether the RDS instance meets all requirements that are described in the "Prerequisites" section of this topic.

- 4. In the SSL Settings section, turn on SSL Encryption.
- 5. In the dialog box that appears, select the endpoint that you want to protect and click **OK**.

? Note You can encrypt the link to the internal or public endpoint based on your business requirements. You can encrypt only one link.

6. Click **Download CA Certificate** to download the SSL certificate files as a compressed package.

The downloaded package contains the following files:

- P7B file: the SSL certificate file that is used for a Windows operating system
- PEM file: the SSL certificate file that is used for an operating system other than Windows or an application that is not run on Windows
- JKS file: the SSL certificate file that is stored in the Java-supported truststore. You can use this file to import the SSL certificate files from an SSL certificate chain into Java-based applications. The default password is apsaradb.

Note When you use the JKS file in JDK 7 or JDK 8, you must modify the following default JDK security configuration items in the <u>jre/lib/security/Java.security</u> file on the host on which your application resides:

jdk.tls.disabledAlgorithms=SSLv3, RC4, DH keySize < 224 jdk.certpath.disabledAlgorithms=MD2, RSA keySize < 1024</pre>

If you do not modify these configurations, the following error is returned. In most cases, similar errors are caused by invalid Java security configurations.

Javax.net.ssl.SSLHandshakeException: DHPublicKey does not comply to algorithm con straints

Configure an SSL certificate

After SSL encryption is enabled, you must configure an SSL certificate on your application or client. If you do not configure an SSL certificate, your application or client cannot connect to your RDS instance. In this topic, MySQL Workbench and Navicat are used as examples. If you want to use other applications or clients, see the related instructions.

Perform the following steps to configure an SSL certificate on MySQL Workbench:

- 1. Start MySQL Workbench.
- 2. Choose Database > Manage Connections.
- 3. Configure the Use SSL parameter and import the SSL certificate file.

Nanage Server Connections		
MySQL Connections Conne Conne	ction Name: local	
Cor	nnection Method: Standard (TCP/IP)	Method to use to connect to the RDBMS
	Use SSL If available SSL CA File:	urns on SSL encryption. Connection will fail if SSL instat available. 2 o Certificate Authority file for SSL.
	SSL CERT File:	Path to Client Certificate file for SSL.
	SSL Key File:	Path to Client Key file for SSL.
	SSL Cipher:	Optional : separated list of permissible diphers to use for SSL encryption.
	Files	
New Delete Duplicate	Move Up Move Down	Test Connection Close

Perform the following steps to configure an SSL certificate on Navicat:

1. Start Navicat.

- File Edit View Favorites Tools Window Help $f_{(x)}$ 뀚 00 **#**0 • Connection New Query Table View Function User Others Qı 011 Open Connection able 🔝 Design Table 🔢 New Table 📧 De Edit Connection... Þ New Connection **Delete Connection** Duplicate Connection... New Database... New Query Console... Execute SQL File... Flush . Manage Group ۲ Color . Refresh
- 2. Right-click the database that you want to connect. Then, select Edit Connection.

3. Click the SSL tab and select the path of the PEM certificate file, as shown in the following figure.

🔪 test1234 - Edit Connection	×
General Advanced Databases SSL SSH HTTP	
<u>e</u>	
Navicat Database	
Use SSL	
Authentication	
Use authentication	
Client Key:	
Client Certificate:	
CA Certificate:	
✓ Verify server certificate against CA	
Specified Cipher:	
Test Connection OK Cancel	

4. Click OK.

Note If the **"** connection is being used **"** error is reported, the previous session remains connected. In this case, you must restart Navicat.

5. Double-click your database to check whether Navicat can connect to the database.
| New Owner | Tabla | 00 | $f_{(x)}$ | 2 | # |
|----------------------|-------|---------|--------------|----------|-----------|
| Connection New Query | Table | view | Function | User | Other |
| ✓ test1234 | | Objects | | | |
| information_schema | | Open T | able 🔣 Desig | ın Table | o New Tal |
| 🛢 mysql | | | | | |
| performance_schema | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| 000 | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| 9 | | | | | |
| 9 | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |

Update the validity period of an SSL certificate

- ? Note
 - The **Update Validity** operation causes your RDS instance to restart. Proceed with caution.
 - After you perform the **Update Validity** operation, you must download the SSL certificate file and configure the SSL certificate again.
- 1.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Data Security**.
- 3. On the page that appears, click the SSL Encryption tab. Then, click Update Validity.

Whitelist Settings	Security Group	SSL Encryption				
SSL Settings						
SSL Encryption Enabled Update Validity						
Certificate Expiration Time Apr 25, 2023, 17:47:37						
Configure SSL Download CA Certificate						

Notice The Update Validity operation causes your RDS instance to restart. We recommend that you update the validity period during off-peak hours.

Disable SSL encryption

? Note

- When you disable SSL encryption, your RDS instance restarts. In this case, ApsaraDB RDS triggers a primary/secondary switchover to reduce the impacts on your workloads. We still recommend that you disable SSL encryption during off-peak hours.
- After you disable SSL encryption, access performance increases, but security decreases. We recommend that you disable SSL encryption only in secure environments.
- If you disable SSL encryption, your application can connect to your RDS instance only over a non-SSL connection.

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click Data Security.
- 3. Click the SSL Encryption tab.
- 4. Turn off SSL Encryption. In the message that appears, click OK.

Appendix: Sample code for connections over SSL

• Sample code in Java:

```
<dependency>
      <groupId>mysql</groupId>
       <artifactId>mysql-connector-java</artifactId>
      <version>8.0.11</version>
</dependencv>
------demo-----
    _____
package com.aliyun.sample;
import com.mysql.cj.jdbc.MysqlDataSource;
import java.sql.Connection;
import java.sql.SQLException;
public class Sample {
   public static void main(String[] args) {
       Connection conn = null;
       MysqlDataSource mysqlDS=null;
       try{
           mysqlDS = new MysqlDataSource();
           // set useSSL=true and provide truststore for server certificate verification
           mysqlDS.setUseSSL(true);
           mysqlDS.setClientCertificateKeyStoreType("JKS");
           // Path of the ApsaraDB-CA-Chain.jks file:/D:\ApsaraDB-CA-Chain\ApsaraDB-CA-C
hain.jks.
           mysqlDS.setClientCertificateKeyStoreUrl("file:/D:\\xxxx\\ApsaraDB-CA-Chain.jk
s");
           // Specify the password that is used to establish a connection. In Java, the
default password is apsaradb.
           mysqlDS.setClientCertificateKeyStorePassword("apsaradb");
           mysqlDS.setTrustCertificateKeyStoreType("JKS");
           // Path of the ApsaraDB-CA-Chain.jks file:/D:\ApsaraDB-CA-Chain\ApsaraDB-CA-C
hain.jks.
           mysqlDS.setTrustCertificateKeyStoreUrl("file:/D:\\ApsaraDB-CA-Chain\\ApsaraDB
-CA-Chain.jks");
```

```
// Specify the password that is used to establish a connection. In Java, the
default password is apsaradb.
            mysqlDS.setTrustCertificateKeyStorePassword("apsaradb");
            \ensuremath{\prime\prime}\xspace ) // Specify the endpoint that is used to connect to the specified database in
your RDS instance.
            mysqlDS.setServerName("rm-xxxxx.mysql.rds.aliyuncs.com");
            // Specify the port number that is used to connect to the specified database
in your RDS instance.
            mysqlDS.setPort(3306);
            // Specify the username of the account that is used to connect to the specifi
ed database in your RDS instance.
            mysqlDS.setUser("xxxxxx");
            // Specify the password of the account that is used to connect to the specifi
ed database in your RDS instance.
            mysqlDS.setPassword("xxxxxx");
            // Specify the name of the database that you want to connect on your RDS inst
ance.
            mysqlDS.setDatabaseName("xxxxxx");
            conn = mysqlDS.getConnection();
        }catch(Exception e) {
            e.printStackTrace();
        } finally {
            try {
                if (conn != null)
                   conn.close();
            } catch (SQLException e) {
                e.printStackTrace();
            }
       }
    }
}
```

• Sample code in Python:

FAQ

If I do not update the validity period of an expired SSL certificate, does my RDS instance malfunction or data security deteriorate?

If you do not update an expired SSL certificate, your RDS instance still runs as expected and no security risks occur. However, your application cannot establish encrypted connections to your RDS instance.

22.4. Configure TDE for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to configure Transparent Data Encryption (TDE) for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. You can use TDE to perform real-time I/O encryption and decryption on data files. Data is encrypted before it is written to a disk and is decrypted when it is read from a disk to the memory. TDE does not increase the size of data files. Developers can use TDE without the need to modify the configurations of their applications.

Prerequisites

- Your RDS instance runs one of the following MySQL versions and RDS editions:
 - MySQL 8.0 (with a minor engine version of 20191015 or later) on RDS High-availability Edition with local SSDs
 - MySQL 5.7 (with a minor engine version of 20191015 or later) on RDS High-availability Edition with local SSDs
 - MySQL 5.6

(?) Note For more information about how to update the minor engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance, see Update the minor engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

• Key Management Service (KMS) is activated. If KMS is not activated, you can activate KMS when you enable TDE.

Context

The key that is used for TDE is created and managed by KMS. ApsaraDB RDS does not provide the key or certificates that are required for TDE. In some zones, you can use an automatically generated key or a custom key that is generated from your own key material. After you select a key, you must authorize your RDS instance to use that key.

Onte After you enable TDE, the AES_128_ECB algorithm is used for TDE.

Precautions

- We recommend that you update the minor engine version of your RDS instance to the latest version to ensure the stability of the instance. If read-only RDS instances are attached to your RDS instance, we recommend that you update the minor engine versions of your RDS instance and all the read-only RDS instances to the latest version. For more information, see Update the minor engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- When you enable TDE, your RDS instance restarts. As a result, a transient connection occurs. Proceed with caution. Before you enable TDE, we recommend that you make appropriate arrangements for your workloads based on your business requirements.
- After you enable TDE, you cannot disable TDE.

- After you enable TDE, you cannot change the key that is used for TDE.
- After you enable TDE, you must decrypt the data on your RDS instance if you want to restore the data to an on-premises database. For more information, see the "Decrypt a table" section of this topic.
- After you enable TDE, the CPU utilization of your RDS instance significantly increases.
- If you use an existing custom key for TDE, take note of the following information:
 - If you disable the key, configure a plan to delete the key, or delete the key material, the key becomes unavailable.
 - If your RDS instance restarts after you revoke the key, your RDS instance becomes unavailable.
 - You must use an Alibaba Cloud account or an account to which the AliyunSTSAssumeRoleAccess policy is attached.

Onte For more information about keys, see What is Key Management Service?

Use an automatically generated key

- 1.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Data Security**.
- 3. On the TDE tab, turn on TDE Status.
- 4. In the dialog box that appears, select Use an Automatically Generated Key and click OK.

TDE Setti	ings		\times
0	Are you sure you want to open TDE?		
		Confirm	Cancel

Use an existing custom key

- 1.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Data Security**.
- 3. On the **TDE** tab, turn on **TDE** Status.
- 4. In the dialog box that appears, select Use an Existing Custom Key and click OK.

(?) Note If you do not have a custom key, you can click **go to the KMS console** to go to the KMS console. In the KMS console, you can create a key and import your own key material. For more information, see Create a CMK.

Database TDE Settings	×
 Use an Automatically Generated Key Use an Existing Custom Key 	
To use a different custom key, create a key.	
	OK Cancel

Encrypt a table

If you want to encrypt a table on an RDS instance, you must log on to the RDS instance and execute the following statements:

• If the RDS instance runs MySQL 5.6, execute the following statement:

alter table <tablename> engine=innodb,block_format=encrypted;

• If the RDS instance runs MySQL 5.7 or MySQL 8.0, execute the following statement:

alter table <tablename> encryption='Y';

Decrypt a table

If you want to decrypt a table on an RDS instance, you must log on to the RDS instance and execute the following statements:

• If the RDS instance runs MySQL 5.6, execute the following statement:

alter table <tablename> engine=innodb,block_format=default;

• If the RDS instance runs MySQL 5.7 or MySQL 8.0, execute the following statement:

alter table <tablename> encryption='N';

FAQ

• After I enable TDE, can I use common database tools such as Navicat?

Yes, after you enable TDE, you can use common database tools such as Navicat.

• After I enable TDE, can I migrate data from my RDS instance to a different RDS instance?

Yes, after you enable TDE, you can migrate data from your RDS instance to a different RDS instance.

• After I enable TDE, why is my data still in plaintext?

After you enable TDE, your data is stored in ciphertext. However, when the data is queried, it is decrypted and then loaded in plaintext to the memory. TDE encrypts backup files to prevent data leaks. Before you restore the data of your RDS instance from an encrypted backup file to your computer, you must decrypt the file. For more information, see the "Decrypt a table" section of this topic.

References

Configure TDE for an ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server instance

Related operations

Operation	Description		
Enable TDE	Enables TDE for an ApsaraDB RDS instance.		

22.5. Configure the disk encryption feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to configure the disk encryption feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance that is equipped with standard SSDs or enhanced SSDs (ESSDs). The disk encryption feature encrypts the data on each disk of your RDS instance by using block storage. This way, your data cannot be cracked even if it is leaked.

For more information about the disk encryption feature in other database engines, see the following topics:

- Configure disk encryption for an ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server instance
- Configure disk encryption for an ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL instance

Prerequisites

- Your RDS instance is being created. The disk encryption feature cannot be enabled after your RDS instance is created. For more information, see Create an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- The ESSD storage type is selected for your RDS instance. For more information, see Storage types.
- High-availability Edition is selected for your RDS instance. For more information, see Overview of ApsaraDB RDS editions.

Billing

The disk encryption feature is free of charge. You are not charged for the read and write operations that you perform on the encrypted disks.

Precautions

- The disk encryption feature cannot be disabled after you enable it.
- If you enable the disk encryption feature for your RDS instance, your RDS instance does not support cross-region backups. For more information, see Enable cross-region backups for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

- The disk encryption feature does not interrupt your business, and you do not need to modify your application.
- After you enable the disk encryption feature for your RDS instance, the snapshots that are created for your RDS instance are automatically encrypted. If you use the encrypted snapshots to create an RDS instance that uses standard SSDs or ESSDs, the disk encryption feature is automatically enabled for the new RDS instance.
- If your Alibaba Cloud Key Management Service (KMS) is overdue, the standard SSDs or ESSDs of your RDS instance become unavailable. Make sure that your KMS is normal. For more information, see What is KMS?
- If you disable or delete the customer master key (CMK) that is used for disk encryption, your RDS instance cannot run as normal. For example, you cannot create snapshots, restore data from snapshots, or rebuild the secondary RDS instance of your RDS instance.

Check whether the disk encryption feature is enabled for an RDS instance

1.

2. In the **Basic Information** section, check whether the **Key** parameter can be found. If you can find the parameter, the disk encryption feature is enabled for the RDS instance.

Basic Information	Configure Whitelist Migrate Across Zones
Instance ID	- AND TAXABLE INC.
resourcegroup ID	
Tag	Tag not set 👱
Instance Role & Edition	Primary Instance (High-availability Edition) 🥑
Storage Type	ESSD PL1 (Recommended) 📀
Key	(which adjustminist resultings)

Enable the disk encryption feature for an RDS instance

When you create an RDS instance, set Edition to **High-availability**, select the **ESSD** storage type, select **Disk Encryption**, and then configure the Key parameter. For more information, see Create an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Onte For information about how to create a key, see Create a CMK.

Related operations

Operation	Description
Create an instance	Creates an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

22.6. Enable or disable the release protection feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to enable or disable the release protection feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. If your RDS instance uses the pay-as-you-go billing method and runs critical workloads, you can enable the release protection feature for pay-as-you-go RDS instances. This feature prevents your RDS instance from being manually released due to unintended operations or lack of communication among team members.

Prerequisites

Your RDS instance is a pay-as-you-go RDS instance.

Precautions

The release protection feature cannot prevent the automatic release of RDS instances in normal scenarios such as the following scenarios:

- A payment in your account is overdue for more than 15 days.
- The RDS instance does not comply with the applicable security compliance policies.

Benefits of release protection

If you release an RDS instance for which the release protection feature is enabled, the following result is returned:

- If you release the RDS instance in the ApsaraDB RDS console, the " The instance cannot be released because release protection has been enabled. Disable release protection first " message is displayed.
- If you call the DeleteDBInst nace operation to release the RDS instance, the error code OperationDen ied.DeletionProtection is returned.

Enable the release protection feature when you create an RDS instance

This section describes how to configure release protection settings when you create an RDS instance. For more information about how to create an instance, see Create an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

1.

- 2. On the Instances page, click Create Instance.
- 3. In the **Basic Configurations** step, set **Billing Method** to **Pay-As-You-Go** and complete the remaining configurations. Click **Next: Instance Configuration**.
- 4. In the Instance Configurations step, select Prevent release through the console or API by mistake and complete the remaining configurations. Click Next: Confirm Order.
- 5. Complete the remaining configurations until the RDS instance is created.

(?) Note When you can call the CreateDBInsance or CloneDBInstance operation to create an RDS instance, you can enable or disable the release protection feature for the RDS instance by setting the DeletionProtection parameter.

Modify release protection settings

You can also enable or disable the release protection feature for an RDS instance by modifying the settings of the RDS instance.

1.

- 2. On the **Instances** page, find the RDS instance whose release protection settings you want to modify. In the **Actions** column, click **More** and select **Change Instance Release Protection Settings**.
- 3. In the Change Release Protection Setting dialog box, turn on or turn off Release Protection.
- 4. Click OK.

? Note You can also call the ModifyDBInstanceDeletionProtection operation to enable or disable the release protection feature for an RDS instance.

Check whether the release protection feature is enabled

- 1.
- 2. On the **Basic Information** page, view the **Release Protection** section of the **Configuration Information** section.

Configuration Informati	on
10.00	and the
interest in the little	and the second sec
Release Protection	Enabled Configure

Related operations

Operation	Description
Create an instance	Creates an ApsaraDB RDS instance.
Restore data to a new ApsaraDB RDS instance	Restores the data of an ApsaraDB RDS instance to a new instance. The new instance is also called a cloned instance.
Enable or disable the release protection feature	Enables or disables the release protection feature for an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

22.7. Best practices for data security

ApsaraDB RDS provides basic protection for critical data. This topic describes how to create and configure ApsaraDB RDS instances to further improve the security level of data.

Instance disaster recovery

• Enterprise Edition (formerly known as Finance Edition)

To further meet the high reliability and data security requirements in various business scenarios, ApsaraDB RDS provides Enterprise Edition. In Enterprise Edition, your database system consists of a primary RDS instance and two secondary RDS instances. Data is replicated between these instances to ensure strong data consistency and financial-grade reliability.

You can select Enterprise Edition when you create an RDS instance. For more information, see Create an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

• Multi-zone deployment

Each region consists of multiple zones. The network latency between the zones in the same region is less than 3 ms. A fault in one zone does not affect the services in the other zones. If you select the multi-zone deployment method, the physical hosts on which your RDS instance resides can reside in different zones. This way, if one zone fails, your workloads can be switched over to another zone within a short period of time. The switchover process is invisible to users and does not require changes to the code of your application.

You can select the multi-zone deployment method when you create an RDS instance. For more information, see Create an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

If you select the single-zone deployment method, you can migrate your RDS instance to multiple zones. You can do this only when the region where your RDS instance resides can provide multiple available zones. For more information, see Migrate an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance across zones in the same region.

• Cross-region disaster recovery RDS instances

ApsaraDB RDS uses Data Transmission Service (DTS) to synchronize data in real time between a primary RDS instance and its disaster recovery RDS instance that resides in a different region than the region of the primary RDS instance. Both the primary RDS instance and the disaster recovery RDS instance are deployed based on a primary/secondary high-availability architecture. If the primary RDS instance and the secondary RDS instance are inaccessible due to unexpected natural disasters, you can switch your workloads over to the disaster recovery RDS instance and then update the endpoint information on your application to minimize downtime.

For more information, see Create a disaster recovery ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Cross-region backups

ApsaraDB RDS supports cross-region backups. After you enable cross-region backups, the backup files of your RDS instance are automatically replicated to an Object Storage Service (OSS) bucket in a different region. The cross-region data backup files can be used for monitoring and disaster recovery. Cross-region backup files are independent of RDS instances. After your RDS instance is released, its cross-region backup files are still retained based on the cross-region backup retention period that you specify.

For more information, see Enable cross-region backups for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Access control

• RAM user authorization

Resource Access Management (RAM) allows you to create and manage RAM users and control the permissions of RAM users on the resources within your Alibaba Cloud account. If multiple users in your enterprise need to simultaneously use the same resources, we recommend that you follow the principle of least privilege (PoLP) when you assign permissions to the users. This prevents the users from sharing the same key and reduces information security risks for your enterprise.

For more information, see Use RAM for resource authorization.

• Prohibition to create RDS instances with unencrypted disks

You can configure a RAM policy for a RAM user to prevent the RAM user from creating RDS instances whose disks are not encrypted.

For more information, see Use RAM policies to manage the permissions of RAM users on ApsaraDB RDS instances.

• Database account authorization

ApsaraDB RDS allows you to grant permissions to database accounts based on your business requirements in the production environment.

You can create an account and grant the permissions on specific databases to the account in the ApsaraDB RDS console. For more information, see Create databases and accounts for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

If you want to use an account to manage a specific table in a database, you can execute an SQL statement to grant the permissions on the table to the account. For more information, see Authorize accounts to manage tables, views, and fields.

Network isolation

• Virtual Private Cloud (VPC)

ApsaraDB RDS supports multiple network types. We recommend that you use the VPC network type.

A VPC is an isolated network that provides higher security and higher performance than the classic network. Before you can create an RDS instance in a VPC, you must create a VPC. For more information, see Default VPC and default vSwitch.

If your RDS instance resides in the classic network, you can migrate your RDS instance to a VPC. For more information, see Change the network type of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. If your RDS instance is deployed in a VPC, no additional configuration is required.

• IP address whitelists

After you create an RDS instance, you must configure IP address whitelists for the RDS instance to allow access from external devices.

For more information, see Use a database client or the CLI to connect to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Log audit

• SQL Explorer

ApsaraDB RDS provides the SQL Explorer feature. You can use this feature to perform security audits and performance diagnostics on your RDS instance.

For more information, see Use the SQL Explorer feature on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Log management

ApsaraDB RDS provides the log management feature. You can use this feature to view the error logs, slow query log details, slow query log summary, and primary/secondary switchover logs of your RDS instance. These logs help you locate faults.

For more information, see View the logs of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

• Event history

> Document Version: 20220712

ApsaraDB RDS provides the event history feature. You can use this feature to view the O&M events that are performed by users and Alibaba Cloud on your RDS instance. These events include instance creation and parameter reconfiguration.

For more information, see View the event history of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

Data encryption

• SSL encryption

When you connect to your RDS instance over the Internet, you can enable SSL encryption and install SSL CA certificates on your application. SSL encrypts the network connections at the transport layer between your RDS instance and your application. This enhances the security and integrity of data in transit but increases the response time.

For more information, see Configure SSL encryption for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

• Transparent Data Encryption (TDE)

You can use TDE to perform real-time I/O encryption and decryption on data files. Data is encrypted before it is written to the disk and is decrypted when it is read from the disk to the memory. After you enable TDE for your RDS instance, the size of data files in your RDS instance does not increase. You can use TDE without the need to modify the configurations of your application.

For more information, see Configure TDE for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

23.Events Management 23.1. View the event history of an ApsaraDB RDS instance

This topic describes how to view the operation and maintenance (O&M) events that are performed by users and Alibaba Cloud on an ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server instance. These events include instance creation and parameter reconfiguration.

Billing

The event history feature is free of charge in the public preview phase, but starts to be charged after the public preview phase ends.

Scenarios

- Track instance management operations.
- Audit the security of instance management operations.
- Audit the compliance of the instance management operations that are performed by Alibaba Cloud. This applies to security-demanding sectors, such as finance and government affairs.

View the event history feature

- 1. Log on to the RDS management console, in the let-side navigation pane, click Event Center, and then select a region above.
- 2. Click the Historical Events tab.

Introduction to the Historical Events page

The Historical Events page shows details about historical events in the selected region. These details include the resource types, resource names, and event types. The following table describes the parameters of a historical event.

Parameter	Description
Resource Type	The type of the RDS resource managed in the event. Only the Instance resource type is supported.
Resource Name	The name of the RDS resource managed in the event. If the value of the Resource Type parameter is Instance , the Resource Name column displays the ID of the involved RDS instance.
Event Type	The type of the event, for example, Instance Management , Database Management , Read-write Splitting , and Network Management . For more information, see Events .
Event Name	The operation executed in the event. For example, if the event type is Instance Management, supported operations include Create Instance, Delete Instance, Change Specifications, and Restart Instance. For more information, see Events.

Parameter	Description
Run At	The time when the event was executed.
User Type	 The initiator of the event. Valid values: User: initiates operations by using the ApsaraDB RDS console or the API. System: initiates automatic O&M operations or periodic tasks. O&M Administrator: initiates manual O&M operations.
Cause	 The cause of the event. Valid values: User Action: The event was initiated from a user by using the ApsaraDB RDS console or the API. System Action or O&M Action: The event was initiated from the system or an O&M administrator.
The user information	The ID of the account that is used by a user to perform the event.
Parameters	The request parameters used by a user to initiate the event in the ApsaraDB RDS console.

? Note

- The Historical Events page shows the historical events that were generated about 5 minutes earlier.
- Historical Events are presented specific to regions. You can select a region in the top navigation bar and then view the historical events in the selected region.

E١	Event Center								
	Scheduled Events	Historical Events Resource	e Requests						
	Dec 2, 2021, 10:51:4	14 - Dec 2, 2021, 1	5:51:44 📾						
	Resource Type	Resource Name	Event Type	Event Name	Run At	User Type	Cause	The User Information	Parameters
	instance	rm-bp	Instance Management	Modify Instance Description	Dec 2, 2021, 14:55:10	User	User Action	28	{"Domain": "rds-inc-share.aliyuncs.c
	instance	rm-bp	Instance Management	Modify Instance Description	Dec 2, 2021, 14:28:07	User	User Action	28	{"Domain": "rds-inc-share.aliyuncs.c
	instance	pgm-bp	Security Management	Modify Whitelist	Dec 2, 2021, 13:49:21	User	User Action	14	{"Domain": "rds.alivuncs.com", "Req
	instance	pgm-bp	Security Management	Modify Whitelist	Dec 2, 2021, 13:41:42	User	User Action	14({"Domain": "rds.alivuncs.com", "Req

Events

Event type	Operation
	Restart Instance (RestartDBInstance)
	Renew (RenewInstance)
	Change Specifications (ModifyDBInstanceSpec)
	Migrate Across Zones (MigrateToOtherZone)

Event type	Operation
Instance Management	Shrink Log (PurgeDBInstanceLog)
	Upgrade Kernel Version (UpgradeDBInstanceEngineVersion)
	Modify Instance Description (ModifyDBInstanceDescription)
	Modify Maintenance Window (ModifyDBInstanceMaintainTime)
	Create Read-only Instance (CreateReadOnlyDBInstance)
	Destroy Instance (DestroyDBInstance)
	Modify Upgrade Mode of Kernel Version (ModifyDBInstanceAutoUpgradeMinorVersion)
	Edit Parameters (ModifyParameter)
CloudDBA	Create Diagnostics Report (CreateDiagnosticReport)
	Create Database (CreateDatabase)
	Delete Database (DeleteDatabase)
Database Management	Modify Database Description (ModifyDBDescription)
	Replicate Database Between Instances (CopyDatabaseBetweenInstances)
	Modify System Collation and Time Zone (ModifyCollationTimeZone)
	Create Read-write Splitting Endpoint (AllocateReadWriteSplittingConnection)
	Query System-assigned Weight (CalculateDBInstanceWeight)
Read-write Splitting	Modify Read-write Splitting Policy (ModifyReadWriteSplittingConnection)
	Release Read-write Splitting Endpoint (ReleaseReadWriteSplittingConnection)
	Enable Enhanced Whitelist (MigrateSecurityIPMode)
Security Management	Enable SSL (ModifyDBInstanceSSL)
Security Management	Enable TDE (ModifyDBInstanceTDE)
	Modify Whitelist (ModifySecurityIps)
	Create Account (CreateAccount)
	Delete Account (DeleteAccount)

Event type	Operation
Account Management	Authorize Account to Access Database (GrantAccountPrivilege)
	Revoke Database Permissions from Account (RevokeAccountPrivilege)
	Modify Description of Database Account (ModifyAccountDescription)
	Reset Account Password (ResetAccountPassword)
	Reset Permissions of Superuser Account (ResetAccount)
High Availability (HA)	Trigger Switchover Between Primary and Secondary Instances (SwitchDBInstanceHA)
	Modify HA Mode (ModifyDBInstanceHAConfig)
	Apply for Public Endpoint (AllocateInstancePublicConnection)
	Modify Expiry Time of Endpoint (ModifyDBInstanceNetworkExpireTime)
	Modify Endpoint and Port (ModifyDBInstanceConnectionString)
Network Management	Switch Network Type (ModifyDBInstanceNetworkType)
	Release Public Endpoint (ReleaseInstancePublicConnection)
	Switch Between Internal and Public Endpoints (SwitchDBInstanceNetType)
Log Management	Enable/disable Log Audit (ModifySQLCollectorPolicy)
	Create Data Backup (CreateBackup)
	Clone Instance (CloneDBInstance)
	Create Temporary Instance (CreateTempDBInstance)
Backup Restoration	Modify Backup Policy (ModifyBackupPolicy)
	Restore Backup Set to Original Instance (RestoreDBInstance)
	Delete Data Backup (DeleteBackup)
	Restore Database (RecoveryDBInstance)
	Restore Data to New Instance Across Regions (CreateDdrInstance)
Cross-region Backup Restoration	Modify Cross-region Backup Settings (ModifyInstanceCrossBackupPolicy)
	Restore Backup File in OSS to RDS Instance (CreateMigrateTask)
SOL Server Backup Migration to	

Event type	Operation		
	Make Database Available While Migrating Backup Data to Cloud (CreateOnlineDatabaseTask)		
Monitoring	Set Monitoring Frequency (ModifyDBInstanceMonitor)		
Data Migration	Create Upload Path for SQL Server (CreateUploadPathForSQLServer)		
	Import Data from Other RDS (ImportDatabaseBetweenInstances)		
	Cancel Migration Task (CancelImport)		
Tag Management	Bind Tags to Instance (AddTagsToResource)		
	Remove Tag (RemoveTagsFromResource)		

Related operations

Operation	Description
Query historical events	Queries the events of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.
Query status of the event history feature	Queries the status of the historical events feature of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.
Enable or disable the event history feature	Enables or disables the historical events feature of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

23.2. Manage scheduled events

If an O&M event, such as instance migration or version upgrade, needs to be managed, you will receive phone calls, emails, or internal messages. In addition, you are prompted to manage the event after you log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console. You can view the types, regions, and IDs of the RDS instances that are affected by the O&M event, and the cause and impacts of the event. You can also change the scheduled time of switchovers that are triggered by the O&M event.

Prerequisites

A pending O&M event exists.

🥐 Note 🛛 To check whet her pending O&M events exist, you can move the pointer over the 🛕 icon

in the upper-right corner of the ApsaraDB RDS console.

Precautions

You are notified of ApsaraDB for Redis pending events such as instance migrations or version upgrades at least three days before the events occur. Notifications for high-risk vulnerability fixes are sent three or fewer days before execution due to the urgency of these events. Event notifications are sent by usingphone calls, emails, internal messages, or the ApsaraDB for Redis console. To use this feature, log on to the Message Center console, enable **ApsaraDB Fault or Maintenance Notifications**, and then specify a contact. We recommend that you specify an O&M engineer as the contact.

Message Center settings

Message Center	Fault Message			
 Internal Messages 	ECS Fault Notifications			Account Contact Modify
 Message Settings 	AnsaraDB Fault or Maintenance Notifications	~	~	Account Contact
Common Settings				Modify
	Emergency Risk Warnings Ø			Account Contact Modify

Procedure

- 1. Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click Event Center. In the top navigation bar, select a region.

(?) Note If a pending O&M event requires you to schedule a time for the O&M operation, a message appears, which prompts you to schedule the time at your earliest opportunity.

3. (Optional)On the Scheduled Events tab, configure the periodic switching time.

(?) Note The Set Global Schedule panel provides the global configuration items of proactive O&M events except events to fix high-risk vulnerabilities. After you configure the periodic switching time, the scheduled time of switchovers for newly generated proactive O&M events is automatically changed based on the configured time interval. If you do not configure the periodic switching time, the scheduled time of switchovers for newly generated proactive O&M events is automatically changed based on the maintenance window of your RDS instance. For more information, see Set the maintenance window of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

i. Click Set Global Schedule.

- ii. In the panel that appears, configure the required parameters and click Save.
- 4. On the **Scheduled Events** tab, view the details of the event. To change the switching time of the event, select the RDS instance that you want to manage and click **Schedule Event**.

Note The displayed information varies based on the event type.

5. In the Schedule Event dialog box, configure the scheduled switching time and click OK.

? Note

- If you select **Earliest Execution Time**, the system automatically provides the earliest switching date and time for the next O&M operation. After you save the settings, the instance prepares to switch over and enters the Pending state. If you do not select this option, you can customize the date and time.
- The time that is specified by the **Scheduled Disconnection Time** parameter cannot be later than the time that is specified by the **Set Before** parameter.

Causes and impacts of events

Cause	Impact	Description
Instance migration		After a switchover is performed at the the following impacts occur:
Switchover between primary and secondary instances	T ransient connections	• Your RDS instance or the data shard in your RDS instance experiences transient connections and stays in the read-only state for up to 30 seconds before all data is synchronized. We recommend that you perform the switchover during off-peak hours and make sure that your application is configured to automatically reconnect to your RDS instance.
SSL certificate update		• You cannot manage your RDS instance by using Data Management (DMS) or Data Transmission Service (DTS). This impact is temporary.
Backup mode change		scheduled switching time
Minor engine version update	T ransient connections	 After a switchover is performed at the the following impacts occur: Your RDS instance or the data shard in your RDS instance experiences transient connections and stays in the read-only state for up to 30 seconds before all data is synchronized. We recommend that you perform the switchover during off-peak hours and make sure that your application is configured to automatically reconnect to your RDS instance. You cannot manage your RDS instance by using Data Management (DMS) or Data Transmission Service (DTS). This impact is temporary.
	Differences between minor engine versions	 Different minor engine versions have different updates. You must take note of the differences between the current minor engine version and the version to which you want to update. For more information, see the relevant release notes. Release notes are available only for the following services: ApsaraDB RDS: Release notes of minor AliSQL versions, Release notes for AliPG, and Release notes. PolarDB: Release notes of the PolarDB kernel, Release notes of minor PolarDB for Oracle versions, and Release notes of minor PolarDB for PostgreSQL versions.

RDS MySQL Dat abase• Event s Manag ement

Cause	Impact	Description
Minor version update for proxies	T ransient connections	 After a switchover is performed at the the following impacts occur: Your RDS instance or the data shard in your RDS instance experiences transient connections and stays in the read-only state for up to 30 seconds before all data is synchronized. We recommend that you perform the switchover during off-peak hours and make sure that your application is configured to automatically reconnect to your RDS instance. You cannot manage your RDS instance by using Data Management (DMS) or Data Transmission Service (DTS). This impact is temporary.
	Differences between minor engine versions	Different minor versions have different updates. You must take note of the differences between the current minor version and the minor version to which you want to update
Network	T ransient connections	 After a switchover is performed at the the following impacts occur: Your RDS instance or the data shard in your RDS instance experiences transient connections and stays in the read-only state for up to 30 seconds before all data is synchronized. We recommend that you perform the switchover during off-peak hours and make sure that your application is configured to automatically reconnect to your RDS instance. You cannot manage your RDS instance by using Data Management (DMS) or Data Transmission Service (DTS). This impact is temporary.
Change of virtual IP addresses (VIPs)		Some network upgrades may involve cross-zone migrations that change the VIP of your RDS instance. If a client uses a VIP to connect to a cloud database, the connection is interrupted. Note To prevent transient connections, you must use the endpoint in the form of a domain name that is provided by your RDS instance and disable the DNS cache feature of the application and the server.

23.3. Subscribe to event notifications

You can configure alert rules for system events of ApsaraDB RDS in the CloudMonitor console. After you configure alert rules, CloudMonitor generates alerts when the specified thresholds are reached or events are detected. This helps you make business decisions.

Context

CloudMonitor is a service that monitors Internet applications and Alibaba Cloud resources. You can configure CloudMonitor to notify you of system exceptions. Then, you can automate the event handling process based on alert notifications. CloudMonitor supports the following notification methods:

- Send alert notifications by using emails or DingTalk chatbots.
- Push events to Message Service (MNS), Function Compute, Log Service, or a specified callback URL. This allows you to automate the event handling process.

Step 1: Create an alert rule

1. Create an alert contact or alert contact group.

CloudMonitor sends notifications to alert contacts in contact groups. You must create an alert contact and a contact group and add the alert contact to the contact group.

- 2. Log on to the CloudMonitor console.
- 3. In the left-side navigation pane, choose Alerts > Alert Rules.
- 4. On the page that appears, click the **Event Alert** tab. On the Event Alert tab, click **Create Event Alert**.
- 5. In the panel that appears, configure the parameters to create an alert rule.

Parameter	Description		
Alert Rule Name	Enter the name of the alert rule. The name can be up to 30 characters in length and can contain letters, digits, and underscores (_).		
Event Type	Select System Event.		
Product Type	Select ApsaraDB for RDS . You can follow a similar procedure to create alert rules for other cloud services.		
Event Type	Retain the default value All types .		
Event Level	Select one or more event levels. Valid values: CRIT ICAL, WARN, and INFO.		
Event Name	 Select the name of the event. Note The valid values of this parameter vary based on the value of the Event Level parameter. For more information about the relationship between event types and event levels, see System events for ApsaraDB RDS. For more information about other cloud services, see System events overview. If you want to test the event notification feature in Step 2: Test the alert rule, do not select All Events for this parameter. 		
Resource Range	Select All Resources or Application Groups . If you select Application Groups , you must specify the groups. For more information, see Create an application group.		

Parameter	Description
Alert Type	 Select the following notification methods based on your business requirements: Alert Notification: sends alert notifications to a specific contact group by using a specific notification method. This is the default value. You must specify a contact group and a notification method. MNS queue: pushes the event alert to a specific queue in MNS. For more information, see What is MNS?. Function service: pushes the event alert to a specific function in Function Compute. For more information, see Overview. URL callback: pushes the event alert to a specific callback URL. CloudMonitor delivers event alerts to the specific callback URL by using the POST or GET method. For more information, see EventBridge. Log Service: pushes the event alert to a specific Logstore in Log Service. For more information, see What is Log Service?.

6. Click OK.

Step 2: Test the alert rule

After an alert rule is created, you can test the alert rule. You can check whether alert notifications can be received or whether event alerts can be pushed to MNS, Function Compute, Log Service, or the specified callback URL.

- 1. Log on to the CloudMonitor console.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, choose Alerts > Alert Rules.
- 3. Click the Event Alert tab.
- 4. Find the alert rule that you want to test and click **Test** in the **Actions** column.
- 5. In the **Create event test** panel, select the event that you want to test and modify the content. Create an event test

Create event test	X
Product Type Redis Event Level :CRITICAL	
Event Name	- 1
Instance_Failure_End	- 1
Content(JSON)	- 1
<pre>{ "product": "Redis", "resourceld": "acs:redis:cn-hongkong: "level": "CRITICAL", "instanceName": "instanceName", "regionld": "cn-hangzhou", "groupld": "0", "name": "Instance_Failure_End", "content": { "InstanceName": "demo", "EventType": "InstanceFailure", "Time": "2018-11-15 01:37:40" }, "status": "Executed" } </pre>	
OK Cancel	

6. Click OK.

CloudMonitor sends an event that contains specific content and an alert is sent by using the specified notification methods. For example, the alert may be sent through a notification and by using MNS.

Operations

CloudMonitor API operation	Description
PutEventRule	Creates or modifies an alert rule.

24.Audit 24.1. Use the SQL Explorer feature on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to use the SQL Explorer feature on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. The SQL Audit feature is upgraded to the SQL Explorer feature to provide more value-added capabilities such as security audit and performance diagnosis at lower costs. The upgrade does not interrupt the workloads on your RDS instance.

Prerequisites

- Your RDS instance does not run RDS Basic Edition.
- The RAM user whose credentials you use is granted the read and write permissions on ApsaraDB RDS. For example, the AliyunRDSFullAccess policy is attached to the RAM user. This prerequisite must be met if you log on to your RDS instance by using the credentials of a RAM user. For more information about how to grant permissions to a RAM user, see Use RAM to manage ApsaraDB RDS permissions.

Context

After you enable the SQL Explorer feature for your RDS instance, the SQL Explorer feature records the information about all data query language (DQL), DML, and DDL operations that are performed on your RDS instance. ApsaraDB RDS obtains the information by using network protocol analysis techniques. This way, only a small number of vCPU resources are consumed. SQL Explorer Trial Edition allows you to store SQL audit log files for up to one day free of charge. If you want to store SQL audit log files for more than one day, you are charged additional fees.

Notification

ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL supports the SQL Explorer and Audit feature. This feature provides capabilities such as **Source Analysis**, **SQL Review**, and **Related SQL Identification**. You can open the Upgrade from SQL Explorer to SQL Explorer and Audit dialog box to view the differences in functionality and billing between the **SQL Explorer** feature and the SQL Explorer and Audit feature. For more information about the SQL Explorer and Audit feature, see Use the SQL Explorer and Audit feature on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Billing

• SQL Explorer Trial Edition: Since August 20, 2020, new billing rules are applied to SQL Explorer Trial Edition in all Alibaba Cloud regions.

SQL Explorer Trial Edition provides a 15-day free trial of SQL Explorer. After the 15-day free trial expires, the SQL Explorer feature becomes unavailable. If you want to continue using the SQL Explorer feature, we recommend that you purchase SQL Explorer Paid Edition before the free trial expires.

? Note You can enable SQL Explorer Trial Edition only once for each RDS instance.

- SQL Explorer Paid Edition: You are charged on an hourly basis. The pricing varies in Alibaba Cloud regions.
 - USD 0.0015 per GB per hour: China (Hong Kong), US (Silicon Valley), and US (Virginia).

- USD 0.0018 per GB per hour: Singapore (Singapore), Japan (Tokyo), Germany (Frankfurt), UAE (Dubai), Australia (Sydney), Malaysia (Kuala Lumpur), India (Mumbai), Indonesia (Jakarta), and UK (London).
- USD 0.0012 per GB per hour: all regions except the preceding regions.
- SQL Explorer and Audit: After you enable the SQL Explorer and Audit feature, the fees that you must pay for the original SQL Explorer feature are billed to DAS Professional Edition. The fees are no longer billed to your RDS instance. For more information, see Use the SQL Explorer and Audit feature on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance and Pricing of DAS Professional Edition.

Scenarios

- Your RDS instance is used for sectors, such as finance, security, stocks, public service, and insurance sectors, that require high data security.
- You want to analyze the status of your RDS instance to troubleshoot issues and check the performance of SQL statements in extreme circumstances.
- You want to restore the data of your RDS instance by using the logged information of executed SQL statements in extreme circumstances.

Differences between SQL audit logs and binary logs

Both SQL audit logs and binary logs contain the incremental data of your RDS instance. The two types of logs differ in the following aspects:

- SQL audit logs are similar to audit logs in MySQL and include information about all executed DQL, DML, and DDL operations. ApsaraDB RDS obtains the information by using network protocol analysis techniques. The SQL Explorer feature does not parse actual parameter values. If a large number of SQL statements are executed to query data, a small number of records may be lost. As a result, the incremental data that is obtained from SQL audit logs may be inaccurate.
- Binary logs record all add, delete, and modify operations that are performed and the incremental data that can be used to restore data. After a binary log file is generated, it is temporarily stored on your RDS instance. ApsaraDB RDS periodically transfers the binary log files whose sizes reach the specified threshold to an Object Storage Service (OSS) bucket. Binary log files can be stored for seven days in the OSS bucket. A binary log file to which data is being written cannot be transferred to an OSS bucket. After a periodic transfer is complete, you may find binary log files that cannot be transferred to the OSS bucket. Binary logs are not generated in real time. However, you can still use binary log files to obtain accurate incremental data.

Precautions

• The time range for an online query extends up to 24 hours. This is because the SQL Explorer feature logs a large number of SQL statements. You can use the logs to trace all operations that are performed on your RDS instance. If the time range for an online query exceeds 24 hours, the query requires a long period of time and may time out.

? Note If you want to query SQL audit logs over a time range that exceeds 24 hours, we recommend that you export SQL audit logs as a file in asynchronous mode and download the file to your computer.

- You can specify a combination of conditions for an online query. For example, you can enter *test1 tes t2* in the Keywords field to query the SQL audit logs that contain the keyword test1 or test2.
- Fuzzy match is not supported for online queries.

- Each keyword for an online query must contain at least four characters.
- The size per SQL statement is limited to 2,000 bytes. If the size of an SQL statement exceeds 2,000 bytes, the excessive bytes cannot be logged.
- If you enable the SQL Explorer Trial Edition for your RDS instance, you cannot call the DescribeSQLLogRecords operation to query the logs that are generated by the SQL Explorer feature for your RDS instance.

Functionality

• SQL audit logging

The SQL Explorer feature logs all operations that are performed on your RDS instance. You can use SQL audit logs to analyze faults and behavior and audit security.

• Advanced search

The SQL Explorer feature allows you to query data in various dimensions, such as database, user, client IP address, thread ID, execution duration, and number of scanned rows. You can export and download query results.

? Note

- If you query data in a single dimension, you can specify more than one search condition. ApsaraDB RDS applies the OR operator to the specified search conditions. For example, if you specify two search conditions, user1 and user2, in the Users field, ApsaraDB RDS returns all SQL statements that are executed by user1 and those that are executed by user2.
- If you query data in more than one dimension, ApsaraDB RDS applies the AND operator to the specified dimensions. For example, if you enter user1 in the Users field and select the SELECT statement for the Operation Type parameter, ApsaraDB RDS returns all SELECT statements that are executed by user1.
- Fuzzy match is not supported.
- SQL analysis

The SQL Explorer feature allows you to view and analyze the SQL audit logs that are generated over a specified time range. You can identify abnormal SQL statements and troubleshoot performance issues by using the analysis results.

Search	Analysis						
		Time Range	Mar 13, 2020 10:08:40	÷~ ~	Mar 13, 2020 10:23:40	Every 15 Min	и ∽ ОК
SQL Requests							
1							
0	10:10	0:00 10:12:00	10:14:00	10:16:00	10:18:00	10:20:00	10:22:00
		 Update Requests Delete R 	lequests 😑 Insert Reque	sts 🌔 New Co	onnections 🌘 Query Request	5	
Rows							

• Cost reduction

The SQL Explorer feature uses columnar storage and compression technologies to reduce the storage usage for SQL audit logs. This reduces the overall storage costs by approximately 60%.

Enable the SQL Explorer feature

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click SQL Explorer.
- 3. On the SQL Explorer Upgraded to SQL Explorer and Audit page, click Close.

? Note

- On this page, you can select **Do not show again**. This way, this page is not displayed in the future.
- To use the SQL Explorer and Audit feature, click **Upgrade** to go to the page on which you can use the SQL Explorer and Audit feature. For more information, see **Use the SQL Explorer and Audit feature on an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance**.
- 4. Click Activate Now.
- 5. Select a retention period and click Activate.

(?) Note ApsaraDB RDS deletes all SQL audit log files that are stored for longer than the specified retention period.

```
      Storage Duration

      Pree Trail® @ 30 bays _ 6 Months _ 1 Year _ 3 Years _ 5 Years

      The duration for which SQL log entries are stored. SQL log entries will be deleted after the storage duration elapses.

      After you activate the Trail Edition, you can use functions of the Paid Edition for 15 days. The Trail Edition can be activated only once for each instance.

      Attende
      Cancel
```

Modify the retention period of SQL audit logs

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click SQL Explorer.
- 3. Click Service Settings.



4. Select a retention period and click OK.

Service Settings					
Activate SQL Explorer					
Storage 9 30 Days 6 Months 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years					
The duration for which SQL log entries are stored. SQL log entries will be deleted after the storage duration elapses.					
OK Cancel					

Disable the SQL Explorer feature

> Document Version: 20220712

? Note After you disable the SQL Explorer feature, all SQL audit logs are deleted. Before you disable the SQL Explorer feature, we recommend that you export the SQL audit logs as a file and download the file to your computer.

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click SQL Explorer.
- 3. Click Export.

	Enable Advanced Search \leq	Search			
Log Entries			More Actions:	Export	View Exported List

- 4. In the message that appears, click OK.
- 5. After the export is complete, click View Exported List and download the SQL audit log file that you exported to your computer.
- 6. Click Service Settings.

SQL Exp	lorer		Service Settings
Search		Analysis	

7. Turn off the switch next to Activate SQL Explorer and click OK.

Service Settings
Activate SQL C
Storage 30 Days 6 Months 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years
The duration for which SQL log entries are stored. SQL log entries will be deleted after the storage duration elapses.
OK Cancel

FAQ

• How do I obtain the size of the logs that are generated by the SQL Explorer feature?

Log on to the ApsaraDB RDS console, find your RDS instance, and then go to the **Basic Information** page. In the **Usage Statistics** section of the page, you can view the size of the logs that are generated by the SQL Explorer feature.

Usage Statistics	
Storage Capacity 🔞	Used 3.21G (In total 15G)
Log Size 👔	0.00K View Details

• Can I delete a specified part of the generated SQL audit logs?

No, you cannot delete a specified part of the generated SQL audit logs. To reduce costs, you can disable the SQL Explorer feature.

24.2. View the logs of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to view the logs of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance in the ApsaraDB RDS console. The logs include error logs, slow query logs, and primary/secondary switchover logs. You can use the logs to troubleshoot issues on the RDS instance.

Note For more information about binary logs, see Enable the automatic backup feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance and Download the backup files of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

For more information about how to view the logs of an RDS instance that runs a different database engine, see the following topics:

- View the logs of an ApsaraDB RDS for SQL Server instance
- View the logs of an ApsaraDB RDS for PostgreSQL instance
- View the logs of an ApsaraDB RDS for MariaDB TX instance

Procedure

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click Logs.
- 3. On the Logs page, click the Error Logs, Slow Log Details, Slow Log Summary, or Primary/Secondary Switching Logs tab, select a time range, and then click OK. You can also subscribe to binary logs on the Binlog Subscription tab of the Logs page.

Tab	Description			
Binlog Subscription	Allows you to subscribe to binary logs by using Data Transmission Service (DTS). For more information, see Track data changes from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.			
Error Logs	Provides statistics about the database running errors that occurred over the last 30 days.			
Slow Log Details	Provides details about the SQL statements that each took more than 1 second to run over the last 7 days. Duplicate SQL statements are removed. You can change the 1-second threshold by reconfiguring the long_query_time parameter. For more information, see Reconfigure the parameters of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.			
Slow Log Summary	Provides a summary of the SQL statements that each took more than 1 second to run over the last 7 days and allows you to export the summary as a report file. You can change the 1-second threshold by reconfiguring the long_query_time parameter. For more information, see Reconfigure the parameters of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.			
	have a delay of 6 hours to 8 hours.			

Tab	Description
Primary/Secondary Switching Logs	Provides statistics about the primary/secondary switchovers that occurred over the last 30 days. Primary/secondary switchover logs are supported only for RDS instances that do not run the RDS Basic Edition.

(?) Note If an RDS instance resides in the China (Zhangjiakou) region, ApsaraDB RDS retains only the error logs that are generated over the last 9 days, slow query log details, and slow query log summary that are generated over the last 7 days of the RDS instance.

24.3. View the slow log details of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to view the slow log details of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

Precautions

If more than 600 slow query log entries are generated within 1 minute on your RDS instance, some entries may be lost. To mitigate the loss of slow query log entries, you can Update the minor engine version of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance to 20191212.

View slow log details by using the ApsaraDB RDS console

- 1.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click Logs.
- 3. Click the Slow Log Details tab and on the tab view the slow log details of your RDS instance.

Binlog Subscription	Error Logs	Slow Log Details	Slow Log Summary	Primary/Secondary Switching Logs					
Apr 30, 2021 13:45	- Ар	r 30, 2021 23:59	Ē						
Slow log collection SQL State time	ment			Client IP Address	Database Name	Query Duration (Seconds)	Lock Duration (Seconds)	Rows Parsed	Rows Returned

(?) Note The Slow Log Details tab provides information such as Slow Log Collection Time, SQL Statement, Client IP Address, Database Name, and Query Duration (Seconds). The time in the Slow Log Collection Time column is the time when ApsaraDB RDS detects the slow SQL statement. It is not the time when the slow SQL statement is executed.

View slow log details by using commands

? Note This operation is not supported if your RDS instance runs MySQL 5.5.

- 1. Log on to your RDS instance by using Alibaba Cloud Data Management (DMS). For more information, see Use DMS to log on to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- 2. In the top navigation bar, choose SQL Operations > SQL Window.
- 3. Run the following command to obtain the slow log details of your RDS instance:

select * from mysql.slow_log

24.4. Delete the binary log files of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to delete the binary log files of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. You can configure rules based on which ApsaraDB RDS automatically deletes binary log files. You can also manually delete binary log files.

After binary log files are deleted, the storage that is occupied by the binary log files is released.

Note After binary log files are deleted from an RDS instance, the size of the log backup files of the RDS instance does not decrease and you can still restore the data of the RDS instance to a specific point in time. Take note that you can restore the data of an RDS instance to a specific point in time only after you enable the log backup feature for the RDS instance.

Procedure

To configure rules based on which ApsaraDB RDS automatically deletes the binary log files of an RDS instance, perform the following steps:

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click Backup and Restoration.
- 3. On the **Backup Settings** tab, click Edit in the **Local Log Backup Settings** section to configure the rules.
 - Rule 1: ApsaraDB RDS deletes the binary log files whose retention period exceeds the maximum retention period that is specified by the **Retention Period** parameter. By default, the maximum retention period is 18 hours.
 - Rule 2: If one of the following conditions is met, ApsaraDB RDS deletes earlier binary log files until the condition is not met.
 - The storage usage that is calculated by using the following formula exceeds the threshold that is specified by the Max Storage Usage parameter: Storage usage = (Size of binary log files/Size of storage capacity) × 100%. The default threshold is 30%.
 - The number of binary log files exceeds the maximum number that is specified by the **Retained Files** parameter. By default, the maximum number is 60.
 - The storage usage exceeds 80% or the amount of available storage is less than 5 GB. Make sure that you set the **Protect Available Storage** parameter to Enable.

To manually delete the binary log files of an RDS instance, perform the following steps:

1.

- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, click **Backup and Restoration**.
- 3. Click Upload Binlogs. Then, click OK.

If you perform this operation, all binary log files except the most recent two binary log files are deleted. Examples:

- If the mysql-bin.000192, mysql-bin.000193, and mysql-bin.000194 binary log files are stored in the RDS instance, only the mysql-bin.000192 binary log file is deleted upon this operation.
- If only two binary log files are stored in the RDS instance, no binary log files are deleted upon this

operation.

? Note

- ApsaraDB RDS deletes binary log files at a latency.
- This operation is not supported for RDS instances that run RDS Basic Edition.
- If binary log files cannot be deleted and the following warning is displayed on the **Error Logs** tab of the **Logs** page, the database client may encounter errors or a change tracking task is in progress. Before you can delete the binary log files, you must stop the task.

[Warning] file /home/mysql/data3001/mysql/mysql-bin.069435 was not purged bec ause it was being readby thread number 17126285

- If you use the **Upload Binlogs** feature, the RDS instance uploads binary log files to the specified Object Storage Service (OSS) bucket. The retention period of binary log files that are stored as objects in the OSS bucket is the same as the log backup retention period that you specify on the RDS instance.
- 4. Log on to the RDS instance and run the show binary logs; command to view the binary log files of the RDS instance. For more information, see Use DMS to log on to an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.
- 5. View the size of binary log files on the Monitoring and Alerts page.

Related operations

Operation	Description
PurgeDBInstanceLog	Deletes the binary log files of an ApsaraDB RDS instance.

FAQ

• Why is the size of binary log files on the primary RDS instance different from the size of binary log files on the secondary RDS instance in my database system?

By default, the size of binary log files on the primary RDS instance is the same as the size of binary log files on the secondary RDS instance. The two sizes may be different due to the following reasons:

- The primary RDS instance replicates data to the secondary RDS instance at a latency, the Binlog dump thread dumps the binary log files at a latency, or Data Transmission Service (DTS) is migrating data from or to the primary RDS instance.
- $\circ~$ The secondary RDS instance is reading and applying log records.
- Why does ApsaraDB RDS delete a binary log file of my RDS instance immediately after the binary log file is generated?

The storage usage of the RDS instance may have reached 80%, or the amount of available storage on the RDS instance is less than 5 GB. At this time, if you set the **Protect Available Storage** parameter in the **Local Log File Settings** dialog box to Enable, all binary log files are deleted immediately after they are generated. We recommend that you manually increase the storage capacity of the RDS instance or enable the automatic storage expansion feature for the RDS instance. This way, the RDS instance is not locked even if the storage usage reaches 80% or the amount of available storage is less than 5 GB. For more information, see Change the specifications of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance Or Configure automatic storage expansion for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance.

25.Tag 25.1. Add tags to ApsaraDB RDS instances

This topic describes how to add tags to one or more ApsaraDB RDS instances. You can use tags to classify a large number of RDS instances. Each tag consists of a key and a value. You can use tag keys and values to further classify RDS instances.

Limits

- You can add up to 20 tags to each RDS instance. Each tag must have a unique key. If two tags have the same key, the tag that is created later overwrites the earlier tag.
- You can add tags to up 50 RDS instances at a time.
- RDS instances in different regions do not share the same tag namespace.
- After you remove a tag from an RDS instance, ApsaraDB RDS checks whether the tag is added to other RDS instances. If the tag is not added to other RDS instances, ApsaraDB RDS deletes the tag.

Add tags to an RDS instance

1.

2. Click the \circ icon in the Tags column of the required RDS instance and then click Edit.



If you have added a tag to the RDS instance, you can click Edit to edit the tag.



3. In the **Configure Tags** dialog box, configure the **Tag Key** and **Tag Value** parameters and click **OK**.

he maximum number of tags that are l	bound to each i	nstance must not exceed 10. If you need to	manage
abels in a unified way, please go to Tag	Management	3	2
Tag Key		Tag Value	
test	:	a	Ō
Select or enter a tag key	:	Select or enter a tag value	

Add tags to multiple RDS instances at a time

- 1.
- 2. Select the RDS instances to which you want to add tags and click Edit Tag below the instance list.

? Note The	Edit Tag button is	displayed in the lowe	r part of the page.
Create Instance	Instance ID/Name 🗸	Search By Instance ID/Nam	ne X
✓ Instan	ce ID/Name	Instance Status	Creation Time
rm- rm-		✓ Running	Mar 10, 2022
rm- rm-	-	✓ Running	Mar 10, 2022
✓ rm- rm-	2018	✓ Running	Nov 29, 2021
✓ Edit Tag	Batch Unbinding Tag	Renew Modify	Parameters

3. In the **Configure Tags** dialog box, configure the **Tag Key** and **Tag Value** parameters and click **OK**.
| abels in a unified way, please go to Tag | ound to each
Management | nstance must not exceed 10. If you need
3 | to manage |
|--|----------------------------|--|-----------|
| * Tag Key | | Tag Value | |
| test | : | a | Ō |
| Select or enter a tag key | : | Select or enter a tag value | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |

Related operations

Operation	Description
Create and bind tags	Adds tags to one or more ApsaraDB RDS instances.

25.2. Remove tags from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes how to remove tags from an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. If you change the configuration of your RDS instance or you no longer require specific tags, you can remove these tags from your RDS instance.

Limits

- You can remove a maximum of 20 tags at a time.
- After you remove a tag from your RDS instance, ApsaraDB RDS checks whether the tag is added to other RDS instances. If the tag is not added to other RDS instances, ApsaraDB RDS deletes the tag.

Procedure

1.

2. Use one of the following methods to remove tags:

- Remove a tag from an RDS instance
 - a. Move the pointer over the 🔯 icon on the right of the instance. In the dialog box that appears, click **Edit**.
 - b. Click the 📷 icon on the right of the tag that you want to remove.
 - c. Click OK.
- Remove tags from multiple RDS instances at a time
 - a. Select the RDS instances from which you want to remove tags.
 - b. Click Batch Unbinding Tag below the instance list.
 - c. In the dialog box that appears, select the tags that you want to remove.
 - d. Click **Unbind X tags**. You can query operation details in the **Configure Tags successfully** message.

Related operations

Operation	Description
Unbind tags	Removes tags from ApsaraDB RDS instances.

25.3. Use tags to filter ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances

This topic describes how to filter ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instances based on the tags that are added to these instances.

1.

2. Select a **key** and a **value**. Then, ApsaraDB RDS filters your RDS instances based on the specified tag.

? Note To cancel the filter condition that is specified by the tag, you can click the X icon to the right of the tag.

nsta	nces							
Basic In	formation	Tags	High-performan	ce Edition				
Create In	stance	Instance ID/N	Name 🗸 Plea	se Enter Content	Q	Please select the label	^	
	Instance ID/I	Name	Instance Status	Creation Time	Instar	1	>	1
	r	5j				2	>	
	r		✓ Running	Dec 4, 2020, 10:09:23	Prima Instar	2		

Related operations

Operation	Description
Query the tags of ApsaraDB RDS instances	Queries the tags that are added to one or more RDS instances.

26.Appendixes 26.1. Reserved keywords of an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance

This topic describes the keywords that are reserved in an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance. Do not use these reserved keywords when you create user-defined functions (UDFs).

ApsaraDB RDS provides a few more reserved keywords in addition to the reserved keywords that are provided by open source MySQL. The following table lists the new reserved keywords that are provided by ApsaraDB RDS. For more information about the reserved keywords that are provided by open source MySQL, see the following topics:

- MySQL 8.0 Reference Manual
- MySQL 5.7 Reference Manual
- MySQL 5.6 Reference Manual

MySQL version	Reserved keyword	Description
	NEXTVAL	 An operator that is used to access the value of a sequence in SQL statements. If a UDF has the same name as the NEXTVAL operator, the priorities of the UDF and the NEXTVAL operator vary based on the minor engine version of your RDS instance. If the minor engine version is 20201031 or earlier, the priority of the NEXTVAL operator is higher than the priority of the UDF. If the minor engine version is later than 20201031, the priority of the UDF is higher than the priority of NEXTVAL operator.
8.0	CURRVAL	 An operator that is used to access the value of a sequence in SQL statements. If a UDF has the same name as the CURRVAL operator, the priorities of the UDF and the CURRVAL operator vary based on the minor engine version of your RDS instance. If the minor engine version is 20201031 or earlier, the priority of the CURRVAL operator is higher than the priority of the UDF. If the minor engine version is later than 20201031, the priority of the UDF is higher than the priority of CURRVAL operator.
	NEXTVAL	 An operator that is used to access the value of a sequence in SQL statements. If a UDF has the same name as the NEXTVAL operator, the priorities of the UDF and the NEXTVAL operator vary based on the minor engine version of your RDS instance. If the minor engine version is 20201231 or earlier, the priority of the NEXTVAL operator is higher than the priority of the UDF. If the minor engine version is later than 20201231, the priority of the UDF is higher than the priority of NEXTVAL operator.

5.7 MySQL version	Reserved keyword	Description
	CURRVAL	 An operator that is used to access the value of a sequence in SQL statements. If a UDF has the same name as the CURRVAL operator, the priorities of the UDF and the CURRVAL operator vary based on the minor engine version of your RDS instance. If the minor engine version is 20201231 or earlier, the priority of the CURRVAL operator is higher than the priority of the UDF. If the minor engine version is later than 20201231 the priority of the VDF.
		• If the minor engine version is later than 20201231, the priority of the UDF is higher than the priority of CURRVAL operator.
	RDS_AUDIT	None.
5.6	ASYNC_COMMIT	None.
	CACHED	None.
	CLUSTERING	None.
	FORCE_UPDATE_P LAN_CACHE	None.
	NO_PLAN_CACHE	None.

26.2. Commonly used SQL statements for MySQL

This topic lists some of the commonly used SQL statements.

For more information about the SQL statements including parameters and restrictions, see MySQL 5.7 Reference Manual.

Database-related SQL statements

Operation	Example
Create a database and designate a character set.	create database db01 DEFAULT CHARACTER SET gbk COLLATE gbk_chinese_ci;
Delete a database.	drop database db01;

Account-related SQL statementss

? Note If an RDS instance has a premier account, the passwords of the other accounts under this instance cannot be changed by using the premier account. To change the password of another account, you must delete this account and create a new one.

Operation	Example
Create an account.	CREATE USER 'username'@'host' IDENTIFIED BY 'password';
Delete an account.	DROP USER 'username'@'host';
Authorize the account.	GRANT SELECT ON db01. * TO 'username'@'host';
Query the created accounts in the database.	SELECT user, host, password FROM mysql.user_view; or show grants for xxx
Reclaim permissions.	 Reclaim all permissions: REVOKE ALL PRIVILEGES, GRANT OPTION FROM 'username'@'host'; Reclaim specific permissions: REVOKE UPDATE ON *. * FROM 'username'@'host';

26.3. Grant backup file download permissions to a RAM user with readonly permissions

This topic describes how to grant backup file download permissions to a RAM user who only has read permissions. For security purposes, a RAM user with read-only permissions cannot download backup files.

Procedure

- 1. Log on to the RAM console.
- 2. In the left-side navigation pane, choose **Permissions > Policies**.

3. Click Create Policy and specify the parameters:

The policy contains the following content:

```
{
    "Statement": [
        {
         "Effect": "Allow",
         "Action": [
            "rds:Describe*",
            "rds:ModifyBackupPolicy",
            "rds:CheckRegionSupportBackupEncryption"
        ],
        "Resource": "*"
        }
    ],
    "Version": "1"
}
```

- 4. Click OK.
- 5. In the left-side navigation pane, choose **Permissions > Grants**.
- 6. Click Add Authorization to attach the new permission policy to the RAM user.
- 7. Click **OK**.

26.4. Authorize an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance to access KMS

To use the disk encryption feature for an ApsaraDB RDS for MySQL instance, you must authorize the instance to access Key Management Service (KMS). This topic describes how to authorize your RDS instance to access KMS by using the RAM console.

Prerequisites

You are logged on to the RAM console by using your Alibaba Cloud account.

Create a permission policy named AliyunRDSInstanceEncryptionRolePolicy

- 1. Go to the Policies page.
- 2. Click Create Policy.

(?) Note A permission policy is a set of permissions that are described by using a specific syntax. You can use permission policies to describe the authorized resource sets, authorized operation sets, and authorization conditions. For more information, see Terms.

3. Configure the following parameters.

Parameter

Description

Parameter	Description
Policy Name	The name of the permission policy. Enter AliyunRDSInstanceEncryptionRolePolicy.
Note	The information that is used to identify the permission policy. Example: Allows ApsaraDB RDS to access KMS.
Configuration Mode	The configuration mode of the permission policy. Select the Script configuration mode. Then, copy the following script and paste it to the edit box below Policy Document.

```
Copy and paste the following script:
```

```
{
    "Version": "1",
    "Statement": [
       {
            "Action": [
                "kms:List*",
                "kms:DescribeKey",
                "kms:TagResource",
                "kms:UntagResource"
            ],
            "Resource": [
                "acs:kms:*:*:*"
            ],
            "Effect": "Allow"
        },
        {
            "Action": [
                "kms:Encrypt",
                "kms:Decrypt",
                "kms:GenerateDataKey"
            ],
            "Resource": [
                "acs:kms:*:*:*"
            ],
            "Effect": "Allow",
            "Condition": {
                "StringEqualsIgnoreCase": {
                    "kms:tag/acs:rds:instance-encryption": "true"
                }
            }
       }
   ]
}
```

4. Click OK.

Create and authorize a RAM role named AliyunRDSInstanceEncryptionDefaultRole After you create the AliyunRDSInstanceEncryptionRolePolicy permission policy, you must create a RAM role and attach the permission policy to the RAM role. Then, ApsaraDB RDS can access KMS.

- 1. Go to the RAM Roles page.
- 2. Click Create RAM Role.
- 3. In the Create RAM Role panel, select Alibaba Cloud Service and click Next.
- 4. Configure the following parameters and click **OK**.

Parameter	Description
Role Type	The type of the RAM role. Select Normal Service Role.
RAM Role Name	The name of the RAM role. Enter AliyunRDSInstanceEncryptionDefaultRole.
Note	The information that is used to identify the RAM role.
Select Trusted Service	The trusted service of the RAM role. Select RDS .

5. After the message "The Role has been created" appears, click Add Permissions to RAM Role.

(?) Note If you have closed the panel in which the message "The Role has been created" appears, you can open the RAM Roles page, find the AliyunRDSInstanceEncryptionDefaultRole role, and then clickAdd Permissions in the Actions column.

- 6. In the Add Permissions panel, click the AliyunRDSInstanceEncryptionRolePolicy permission policy to add the permission policy to the Selected list.
- 7. Click OK.

(Optional) View the ARN of a RAM user

Alibaba Cloud Resource Name (ARN) is the global resource descriptor of a RAM role. The ARN of a RAM role describes the resources that the RAM role can access. When you call an API operation to enable the disk encryption feature, you must specify the ARN of a RAM role that has the permissions to access KMS. For more information, see CreateDBInstance.

- 1. Go to the RAM Roles page.
- 2. Find the RAM role that you want to use. Then, click the name of the RAM role.
- 3. In the Basic Information section of the page that appears, view the ARN of the RAM role.

26.5. Cached data persistence

ApsaraDB RDS can be used together with ApsaraDB Memcache and Redis to form storage solutions with high throughput and low delay. This document describes the cached data persistence solution based on the combined use of RDS and Memcache.

Background information

Compared with RDS, Memcache and Redis have the following features:

• Quick response: The request delay of ApsaraDB Memcache and Redis is usually within several

milliseconds.

• The cache area supports a higher Queries Per Second (QPS) than RDS.

System requirements

• bmemcached (with support for SASL extension) has been installed in the local environment or ECS.

bmemcached download address: Click Here to download.

The bmemcached installation command is as follows:

```
pip install python-binary-memcached
```

• Python is used as an example. Python and pip must be installed in the local environment or ECS.

Sample code

The following sample code realizes the combined use of ApsaraDB RDS and Memcache:

```
/usr/bin/env python
import bmemcached
Memcache_client = bmemcached.Client(('ip:port'), 'user', 'passwd')
#Search for a value in ApsaraDB Memcache
res = os.client.get('test')
if res is not None:
    return res #Return the value found
else:
    #Query RDS if the value is not found
    res = mysql_client.fetchone(sql)
    Memcache_client.put('test', res) #Write cached data to ApsaraDB for Memcache
    return res
```